

EWS Server

SQL Manager for SQL User's Manual

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development



SQL Manager for SQL Server User's Manual

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

All rights reserved.

This manual documents EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server

No parts of this work may be reproduced in any form or by any means - graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, or information storage and retrieval systems - without the written permission of the publisher.

Products that are referred to in this document may be either trademarks and/or registered trademarks of the respective owners. The publisher and the author make no claim to these trademarks.

While every precaution has been taken in the preparation of this document, the publisher and the author assume no responsibility for errors or omissions, or for damages resulting from the use of information contained in this document or from the use of programs and source code that may accompany it. In no event shall the publisher and the author be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damage caused or alleged to have been caused directly or indirectly by this document.

Use of this documentation is subject to the following terms: you may create a printed copy of this documentation solely for your own personal use. Conversion to other formats is allowed as long as the actual content is not altered or edited in any way.

Document generated on: 14.01.2025

Table of Contents

Part I	Welcome to SQL Manager for SQL Server!	20
	What's new	21
	System requirements	22
	Feature Matrix	23
	Installation	24
	Registration	25
	How to register SQL Manager	27
	EMS SQL Manager FAQ	29
	Other EMS Products	34
Part II	Getting Started	41
	Selecting style and language	43
	First time started	45
	Using Desktop Panel	47
	Database navigation	49
	Working with database objects	51
	Using context menus	53
	Host context menu	
	Object context menu	
	Working with windows	58
Part III	Database Explorer	63
	Managing database registration info	66
	Connecting to databases	68
	Operations with database and server objects	71
	Selecting multiple objects	74
	Using tabs for database navigation	77
	Recently opened objects	80
	Managing favorite objects	81
	Searching within the tree	83
	SQL Assistant	85
	Configuring Database Explorer	87
	Managing Favorite queries	90
	Managing scripts	91

Part IV Database Management

Create Database wizard	97
Setting database name	97
Setting connection properties	
SQL Server Database	100
Defining database files	100
Defining transaction log files	101
Defining files for memory-optimized data	103
Defining filestream files and filegroups	104
Setting recovery model and collation	106
SQL Azure Database	107
Setting SQL Azure Database options	107
Setting database collation	108
Viewing result SQL statement	109
Register Database wizard	111
Setting connection parameters	111
Selecting databases	113
Setting specific options	113
Database Registration Info	116
Options	
Display options	
Logs	
Data options	
Options for staring chiest definitions	
Object file serves	120
Object the hartes	129
Information	
Options	
Recovery options	
SQL options	
Automation options	
Cursor options	
Resource usage	
Data files	
Log files	
wemory-optimized data files	
rilegi oups	
ritestream files and filegroups	
Fille Option	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	159
Server Properties	161
General options	162

94

Memory options	163
Processor options	
Security options	
Active Directory	
Connection settings	
Database Settings	
Misc Server Settings	
Advanced settings	
Find Option	

Part V Database and Server Objects Management

1	7	8
	-	-

New Object	
Duplicate Object Wizard	
Selecting the source database	
Selecting object to duplicate	
Selecting destination database or server	
Modifying the new object's definition	
Database objects	
Schemas	
Schema Editor	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing schema	
Schema Objects	
Tables	
New table	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Setting table properties	
Specifying columns	
Specifying FileTable options	
Specifying memory-optimized table indices	
Table Editor	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Managing columns	
Changing columns order	
Managing foreign keys	
Managing checks	
Managing indices	
Managing triggers	
Working with table data	210
Table properties	
Columns	
Column Editor	
Setting column name and type	
Setting column identity	
Setting XML properties	
Setting column defaults	
Setting column description	
Foreign Keys	
Foreign Key Editor	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing foreign key	
Checks	

Check Editor	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing check	2
Indices	
Index Editor	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing index	
Defining index storage	
Setting spatial index options	
Viewing index info	2
Triggore	Z
Trigger Editor	Z
Liging Novigation has and Taalbar	Z
Osing Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating procedures from table	2
Options	ź
SELECT Procedure	
INSERT Procedure	
UPDATE procedure	
DELETE Procedure	
View s	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	2
Creating/editing view	
Managing columns	
Managing indexes	
Managing triggers	2
Working with data	2
Procedures	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing procedure	
Brow sing procedure parameters	
Specifying input parameters	2
Executing procedure/function	
	2
Liking Navigation bar and Toolbar	ے ر
	ے
Creating/editing ODF	
BIOW SING OUP PARAMETERS	2
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing UD1	
Managing UDT checks	
Table Type Check Constraint dialog	
Managing UDT Primary/Unique Keys	
Table Type Constraint dialog	
Sequences	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing sequence	
Synonyms	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing synonym	2
Aggregates	
Liging Novigation has and Toolhas	
Creating/editing aggregate	ຸົາ

Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing XML Schema Collection	
Defaults	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing default	
Rules	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing rule	
Queues	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing queue	
Viewing queue messages	
External Tables	
Creating/editing external tables	
Non-schema Objects	
Users	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing user	
Defining user membership	
Specifying permissions	
Roles	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing role	
Defining role membership	
Assemblies	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing assembly	
DDL Triggers	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing DDL trigger	
Partition Functions	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing partition function	
Partition Schemes	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing partition scheme	
Full-Text Catalogs	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing full-text catalog	
Managing full-text indexes	
Symmetric Keys	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing symmetric key	
Asymmetric Keys	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing asymmetric key	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing certificate	
Backup Certificate dialog	
Message Types	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Greating/editing message type	
Contracts	

Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing contract	
Services	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing service	
View ing service dialogs	
Routes	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing route	
Remote Service Bindings	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Creating/editing remote service binding	
DB Scoped Credentials	
Creating/editing db scoped credential	
External Data Sources	
Creating/editing external data source	
External File Formats	
Creating/editing external file format	
ver Objects	353
Logins	354
Setting login parameters	355
Allocating members	350
Defining server permissions	360
Defining server role permissions	361
	362
Defining oppoint permissions	
Defining database permissions	364
Liser manning	366
Backun Devices	366
New backup device	367
lohs	368
Satting ich properties	360
Managing job stans	370
Managing job steps	
Managing potifications	
Managing torget servers	
Schodulos	376
Liging Novigation has and Toolbar	
Satting school lo proportion	
Viewing scheduled isba	
	380
Liena Newigation has and Toolhar	
Softing plot proportion	
Setting additional proportion	
Setting auditional properties	
Manaying nullications	
Uper alors	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Setting operator properties	
Setting additional properties	
Ivianaging alert notifications	
ivianaging job notifications	
Proxies	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	

Setting proxy properties	
View ing proxy jobs	
Credentials	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Setting credential properties	
Linked Servers	
Configuring Linked server	
Security settings	
Setting server options	
Linked Server content	
Endpoints	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Setting endpoint properties	
Setting protocol options	
Setting payload options	
DDL Triggers	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Setting DDL trigger properties	
Server roles	
Setting server role parameters	
Defining server permissions	
Defining server role permissions	
Defining login permissions	
Defining endpoint permissions	
DTS Packages	
DTS Package properties	
•	

Part VI Query Management Tools

426
429
430
432
433
434
435
437
439
440
442
442
444
446
448
451
452
453
454
455
457
459
459

Part VII Data Management

Using Navigation har and Toolhars	
Grid View	403
Customizing columns	
Grouping and sorting data	467
Filtering records	469
Using the context menu	472
Working in multi-level mode	473
Create Grid Level wizard.	474
Specifying master level	475
Defining source for detail level	
Binding master and detail levels	
Query parameterization	
Setting additional parameters	
Working in card view mode	
Column Summary	
Copying records	
Form View	
Print Data	
Page Setup	
Page	
Margins	
Header/Footer	
Scaling	
Report Formatter	
View	
Behaviors	
Formatting	
Styles	
Preview	
Cards	
Charts	
Setting report options	
Print dialog	
BLOB View	
Navigation w ithin BLOB Editor	
Editing as Hexadecimal	
Editing as Text	
Editing as Rich Text	
Editing as Image	
Editing as HTML	
Editing as XML	
Editing as PDF	
Applying changes	
om Filter	517
er Builder dialog	519
Invoking the Filter Builder dialog	
Adding a new condition	
Setting filter criteria	
Setting filter operator	

Setting filter criteria values	523
Adding a new group	
Setting group operator	
Applying filter conditions	526
Data Truncating	

Part VIII Import/Export Tools

Export Data Wizard	531
Setting destination file name and format	
Selecting columns for export	
Adjusting data formats	
Setting header and footer	
Setting format-specific options	
Excel 97-2003 options	
Data format	
Columns	
Options	
Styles	
Extensions	
Hyperlinks	
Notes	
Charts	
Cells	
Merged Cells	
Advanced	
Access options	
Word 97-2003 / RTF options	
Base Styles	
Strip Styles	
HTML options	
Preview	
Basic	
Multi-file	
Advanced	
PDF options	
TXT options	
CSV options	
XML options	
MS Excel / ODS options	
MS Word / ODT options	
Setting common export options	
Exporting data	
Import Data Wizard	
Selecting source file name and format	
Selecting data source	
Setting columns correspondence	
Excel 97-2003	
Access/DBF/XML Datapacket	
TXT	
CSV	
HTML	
XML Generic	

MS Excel/Word, ODF	
Adjusting data formats	
Setting advanced column formats	
Setting import mode	
Customizing bulk insert options	
Customizing common options	590
Importing data	592
Export as SQL Script	
Selecting destination DBMS	
Setting destination file name	595
Setting BLOB options	596
Selecting columns to export	
Editing table definition	598
Setting export options	599
Exporting as SQL Script	600
Bulk Insert Wizard	602
Selecting a table or view and the data file	603
Setting bulk insert options	604
Customizing data file format	606
Viewing the result SQL statement	608
Running bulk insert	608

Part IX Tools

Dependency Tree	612
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	612
Viewing dependency tree	614
SQL Monitor	616
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	616
Working with SQL Monitor	617
Execute Script	619
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	619
Working with Execute Script area	621
Using Script Explorer	623
Script execution	624
Extract Database Wizard	626
Selecting source database	626
Specifying destination file name	627
Setting extraction mode	628
Setting BLOB options	629
Selecting objects for structure extraction	630
Selecting server objects for extraction	631
Selecting objects for data extraction	632
Customizing script options	633
Start of extraction process	635
Database Comparer Wizard	637
Selecting source database	637
Selecting target database	638
Selecting type of synchronization script	639
Defining options for destination script	640
Performing operation	641

Print Metadata	643
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	643
Printing options	645
Print Preview	646
Search in Metadata	
Using navigation bar and toolbar	647
Setting search condition	
Viewing search result	
HTML Boport Wizord	651
Coloring detabase and directory	
Selecting database and directory	
Selecting object types	
Specifying CSS	
Creating HTML report	
Reports management	659
Create Report Wizard	659
Specifying database name and report options	660
Selecting report bands	661
Selecting report style	662
Specifying page settings	663
Specifying paper settings	663
Specifying margins	663
Specifying other page settings	
Report Designer	665
Basic elements	
Toolbars	
Adding database and query components	
Adding report components	
Viewing the report	
Saving the report	
Adding dialog form	
Report Viewer	
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
Server-level principals	680
Logins	681
Login Manager	681
Grant Manager	682
Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu	684
Managing database-specific privileges	686
Object permissions	686
Managing column permissions	
Filtering objects in list	
Database permissions	
View ing effective permissions	
Server Roles	693
Database Designer	695
Using Navigation bar and Toolbars	696
Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane	
Using context menus	
Working with diagram objects	
Adding/removing objects to/from diagram	703

Incremental search	
Creating objects	
Creating relations	
Working with diagram pages	
Reverse engineering	
Printing diagram	
Print Preview	
Print Setup dialog	
Saving/loading diagram	
Setting diagram options	

Part X Services

Backup Database	718
Selecting database to backup	
Setting backup type and options	
Selecting database files to backup	
Selecting backup devices	
Setting media options	
Setting advanced media options	
Setting data transfer and/or transaction log backup options	
Setting schedule options	
Running database backup	730
Restore Database	732
Selecting destination database	
Setting restore type and recovery options	
Selecting backup set to restore	
Selecting files to restore	
Setting advanced restore options	
Running database restore	741
Backup Devices	743
Backup devices manager	
Backup Device properties	745
Attach Database	747
Setting connection properties	
Defining database files and general options	
Attaching database	
Detach Database	
Setting connection properties	
Selecting the database	
Detaching database	
Shrink Database	755
Selecting database and setting shrink mode	755
Defining shrink action for database	756
Defining shrink action for files	757
Shrinking database	758
Indicas Managamant	760
Colocting detabase for indices management	700
Selecting database for indices management	
Selecting tables	
Specifying actions and setting options	
Editing and executing the result script	

Update Statistics	766
Selecting database for statistics update	
Selecting tables and views	
Specifying update statistics options	
Browsing indices	770
Browsing statistics	770
Editing and executing the result script	771
Check Database	773
Selecting database to check	
Specifying arguments and options	
Editing and executing the result script	
Instance Manager	778
Iking Navigation bar and Toolbar	778
Start/Ston Service	
Stat UStop Service	
SQL Server Agent services	
Jobs	
Jobs manager	
Job History	
View ing job history	
Filtering job history list	
Alerts	
Alerts manager	
Operators	
Operators manager	
Schedules	
Shared schedules manager	
Provies manager	
Floxies Italiagei	
Target Servers manager	
Database Snapshots	804
Managing database snapshots	
Database snapshot properties	805
Linked Servers	807
Linked servers manager	808
DTS Packages	
DTS Packages manager	
Bacquiros Covernor	04.2
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	
working with Resource Governor	814
Server Log Viewer	817
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	818
Working with Server Log Viewer	818
Activity Monitor	820
Using Navigation bar and Toolbar	821
Working with Activity Monitor	821

Part XI Options

Environment Options	825
Preferences	
Full mode activation	
Confirmations	
Appearance	
Tools	
Timeouts	
DB Explorer	
Search	
Object Editors	
Query Data	
SQL Monitor	
Execute Script	
Design Query	
Style & Color Palette	
Default Data Options	
Database Designer	
Print Metadata	
Data Export	
SQL Server Reference	
Fonts	
Grid	
Data Options	
Print Data	
Color & Formats	
Advanced	
Column Options	
Localization	
Global Shortcuts	
Find Option	
Editor Options	
General	
Display	
Color Scheme	
Code Completion	
SQL Formatter	
SQL Words	
Key Mapping	
Spell Checking	
Find Option	
Save Settings	885
Sposifying doctination file	
Solocting sottings	
Selecting databases	
Selecting udiabases	
Saving Settings	
Localization	
Localization Editor	
Select Program Language	
Keyboard Templates	
Object Templates	
Views/Functions/Procedures templates	

	SIUD Procedures templates	
	Database Object Names	899
	Column Names	
	Foreign Key Names	
	Uneck Names	
	Trigger Names	904
	Server Object Names	
	Find Option dialog	
Part XII	External Tools	909
	External Tools dialog	911
	External Tool Info editor	913
Part XIII	Appendix	915
	Program interface	915
	Viewing object DDL structure	919
	Editing object description	920
	Browsing object dependencies	921
	Setting object permissions	922
	Changing Metadata window	923
	Find Text dialog	925
	Replace Text dialog	927
	Format specifiers	930
	Language Info Editor Using templates	933
		934
Supported file formats To-Do List Windows List Customize toolbars and menus SQL Manager Direct Database Login dialog Overwriting existing output file Script conversion SQL Server Folders Select Object dialog	Supported file formats	935
	To-Do List	937
	Windows List	939
	Customize toolbars and menus	940
	SQL Manager Direct	944
	Database Login dialog	947
	Overwriting existing output file	948
	Script conversion	949
	SQL Server Folders	950
	Select Object dialog	951
	SQL Manager shortcuts	952
Part XIV	How To	957
	Work with Databases	959
	Connect to a database	

Make work with a database faster	
Design a visual database structure	
View an ER diagram	
Backup a database	
Restore a database from a backup	
Create a database copy	
Document a database	
Save metadata reports to file	
Log database changes	
Get an SQL dump	
Reduce database size	
Transfer database from one server to another	
Work with Database Objects	
Group objects	
Find objects	
View dependecies	
Get an object DDL	
Store objects definitions in VCS	
Work with Data	
View tables with many records	
Set data filter	966
Sort and group data	
Export/import data	
Export data as SQL Script	
Edit data of master-detail tables	
Add image to table	
Set data display format	
Work with Queries and Scripts	
Create SQL statements ranidly	970
Control a query productivity	970
Work with several queries at once	
Save most frequently used queries	
Execute queries with parameters	
Export query results into file	
Execute scripts	
Execute a large SQL script	
Make SQL script work faster	
Customize work with Query/Script text	
View executed queries and scripts	
Create a simple report in Report Designer	
Create a scheduled job	975
Transfer program settings	076
Indate SOL Manager	
Opuale Sec Manager	
Report bugs and suggestions	



1 Welcome to SQL Manager for SQL Server!

EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server is a powerful tool for SQL Server administration and development. SQL Manager for SQL Server works with all SQL Server versions from 2000 to the newest one and supports all the latest SQL Server features including memory-optimized tables, backup encryption, FileTables, columnstore indices and other. It offers plenty of powerful SQL tools such as Visual Database Designer that allows designing SQL Server database in few clicks, Design Query and advanced SQL editor to build complicated SQL Server queries and many more useful features for efficient SQL Server development and administration. SQL Manager has a new state-of-the-art graphical user interface with well-described wizard system, so clear in use that even a newbie will not be confused with it.

Visit our web-site for details: https://www.sqlmanager.net/

Key features

- Support of SQL Server versions up to 2022 and Azure SQL Database
- Easy management of all SQL Server objects
- Excellent visual and text tools for query building
- Visual Database Designer to handle database structure in a few clicks
- Powerful Transact-SQL debugger to trace procedures, functions, SQL scripts
- Comparison and synchronization of database structure
- Simple getting your database under source control
- Rapid database management and navigation
- Impressive data export and import capabilities
- Advanced data manipulation tools
- Effective security management
- Easy-to-use wizards performing SQL Server administrative tasks
- Report designer with clear in use report construction wizard

Product information

Homepage:	https://www.sqlmanager.net/products/mssql/manager
Support Ticket System:	https://www.sqlmanager.net/support
Register on-line at:	https://www.sqlmanager.net/products/mssql/manager/buy

1.1 What's new

21

Version

Release date

SQL Manager for SQL Server 5.2.1

December 26, 2024

What's new in SQL Manager for SQL Server 5.2.1?

- Added support for user-defined table type indexes.
- The 'Show data types' option has been improved.
- The error occurred on switching 'Sort by aliases' option with connected databases. Fixed now.
- The error occurred on executing procedures with VARCHAR parameter. Fixed now.
- In some cases sorting of data worked inconsistently. Fixed now.
- On selecting OLE DB provider connection, the OLE DB 19 version is used, if installed.
- The parsing of parameters in SQL editor has been improved.
- The issues of reordering columns have been fixed.
- Some DBs were missing on switching to the Lite version. Fixed now.
- Other fixes and improvements.

1.2 System requirements

22

System requirements for SQL Manager for SQL Server

- Microsoft Windows XP, Microsoft Windows Server 2003, Microsoft Windows Server 2008, Microsoft Windows Server 2008 R2, Microsoft Windows Server 2012, Microsoft Windows Server 2012 R2, Microsoft Windows Server 2016, Microsoft Windows Server 2019, Microsoft Windows Vista, Microsoft Windows 7, Microsoft Windows 8/8.1, Microsoft Windows 10, Microsoft Windows 11, Microsoft Windows 11 ARM
- 512MB RAM or more; 1024MB or more recommended
- 100MB of available HD space for program installation
- Microsoft® Data Access Components (MDAC) or SQL Server Native Client
- Possibility to connect to any local or remote Microsoft® SQL Server[™]
- Supported Microsoft SQL Server versions: from 2000 up to 2022 (We do not support SQL Server Compact Edition), Azure SQL Databases and Amazon RDS for Microsoft SQL Server

1.3 Feature Matrix

The **FREE** Lite version of SQL Manager for SQL Server does not include all features of the *Full version* and has some limitations concerning the number of the databases that can be registered and the set of data manipulation and server maintenance tools. The detailed feature matrix is given below.

Note that when using the **FREE** *Lite version* of SQL Manager for SQL Server you can activate[127] a 30-day period of fully-functional usage. After the period expires, you will be able to continue using the **Lite** version.

For more information on activating the **Full** version features see <u>Full Mode activation</u> [827].

To browse the **Feature Matrix**, visit the following page: <u>https://www.sqlmanager.net/</u> products/mssql/manager/matrix

1.4 Installation

If you are installing SQL Manager for SQL Server for the first time on your PC:

- download the SQL Manager for SQL Server distribution package from the <u>download</u> page available at our site;
- unzip the downloaded file to any local directory, e.g. C:\unzipped;
- run *MSManagerFull.msi* (**Full** version) or *MSManagerLite.msi* (**Lite** version) from the local directory and follow the instructions of the installation wizard;
- after the installation process is complete, find the SQL Manager shortcut in the corresponding group of Windows Start menu.

If you want to **upgrade an installed copy of SQL Manager for SQL Server** to the latest version:

- download the SQL Manager for SQL Server distribution package from the <u>download</u> page available at our site;
- unzip the downloaded file to any local directory, e.g. C:\unzipped;
- close SQL Manager application if it is running;
- run *MSManagerFull.msi* (**Full** version) or *MSManagerLite.msi* (Lite version) from the local directory and follow the instructions of the installation wizard.

See also:

SQL Manager FAQ 29

1.5 Registration

25

All purchases are provided by **PayPro Global** registration service. The **PayPro Global** order process is protected via a secure connection and makes on-line ordering by credit/ debit card quick and safe.

PayPro Global is a global e-commerce provider for software and shareware sales via the Internet. It accepts payments in US Dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling, Japanese Yen, Australian Dollars, Canadian Dollars or Swiss Franks by Credit Card (Visa, MasterCard/EuroCard, American Express, Diners Club), Bank/Wire Transfer.

If you want to review your order information, or you have questions about ordering or payments please visit our <u>PayPro Global Shopper Support</u>, provided by **PayPro Global**.

Please note that all of our products are delivered via ESD (Electronic Software Delivery) only. After purchase you will be able to immediately download the registration keys. Also you will receive a copy of registration keys by email. Please make sure to enter a valid email address in your order. If you have not received the keys within 2 hours, please, contact us at sales@sqlmanager.net.

Product distribution	PayPro Global	
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Business license) + 1-Year Maintenance*		
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Business license) + 2-Year Maintenance*		
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Business license) + 3-Year Maintenance*		
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Non-commercial license) + 1-Year Maintenance*	<u>Register now!</u>	
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Non-commercial license) + 2-Year Maintenance*		
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Non-commercial license) + 3-Year Maintenance*		
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server (Trial version)	<u>Download</u> <u>Now!</u>	
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server Freeware	<u>Download</u> <u>Now!</u>	

*EMS Maintenance Program provides the following benefits:

- Free software bug fixes, enhancements, updates and upgrades during the maintenance period
- Free unlimited communications with technical staff for the purpose of reporting Software failures
- Free reasonable number of communications for the purpose of consultation on operational aspects of the software

After your maintenance expires you will not be able to update your software or get technical support. To protect your investments and have your software up-to-date, you need to renew your maintenance.

You can easily reinitiate/renew your maintenance with our on-line, speed-through Maintenance Reinstatement/Renewal Interface. After reinitiating/renewal you will receive a confirmation e-mail with all the necessary information.

See also: How to register SQL Manager 27

1.6 How to register SQL Manager

27

If you have not registered your copy of SQL Manager for SQL Server yet, you can do it by pressing the **Register Now** button and entering your registration information in the **Register SQL Manager for SQL Server** dialog.

About SQL Mar	ager for SQL Server	Х
	SQL Manager for SQL Server 4.4.0 (build 48904) © 1999-2017 EMS Database Management Solutions, Ltd. All rights reserved.	
	Developers: Alexander Zhiltsov, Alexey Butalov, Dmitry Goldobin, Dmitry Schastlivtsev, Nicolay Sezganov	
	Company Home Page: <u>http://www.sqlmanager.net/</u>	
	Product Home Page: <u>http://www.mssqlmanager.com/</u>	
	Registered to : EMS (Business license) Software Maintenance Period Valid Till 01.03.2018.	
	Read the License Agreement	
Warning: This p treaties. Unauth and criminal per under the law.	rogram is protected by copyright law and international orized reproduction or distribution may result in severe civil valties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum extent possible Register Now	,

To register your newly purchased copy of EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server, perform the following steps:

- receive the notification letter from **Digital River** with the registration info;
- enter the **Registration Name** and the **Registration Key** from this letter;
- make sure that the registration process has been completed successfully check the registration information in the About SQL Manager for SQL Server dialog (use the Help | About menu item to open this dialog).

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

Register SQL Manager for SQL Server	\times
Please enter the registration information you received when purchasing SQL Manager for SQL Server.	
Registration Name	
EMS	
Registration Key	
<u>R</u> egister <u>L</u> ater <u>H</u> elp	

See also: Registration 25

1.7 EMS SQL Manager FAQ

Please read this page attentively if you have questions about EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Table of contents

- 1. What is EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server? [29]
- 2. What is the difference between Full and Freeware editions of EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server? [29]
- 3. What do I need to start working with EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server?
- 4. Why cannot I connect to SQL Server? 30
- 5. How can I customize data formats in a grid? 30
- 6. How can I speed up my work with large tables? 301
- 7. <u>I need to perform some changes in database objects of my test database and then</u> <u>make the same changes on master database. Are there any tools for this purpose in</u> <u>EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server</u>?
- 8. <u>How to connect to a named instance of SQL Server 2000 in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server?</u> [31]
- 9. <u>I can access my server via an alternative port</u>. <u>I have searched for a setting in EMS</u> <u>SQL Manager for SQL Server to alter the connection port</u>, <u>but have not yet been able</u> <u>to locate this. How would I go about altering this port</u>?
- 10.What is the difference between the Export/Import functions in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server tool and EMS Data Export/Import for SQL Server utilities?
- 11. What is the difference between the Design Query module in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server tool and EMS SQL Query for SQL Server utility?
- 12.<u>I can't modify DDL. Why?</u>
- 13. When I create database objects, their names are always converted to lower case. How can I prevent it?
- 14.I have a table with ~ 1000 records only and a large number of columns. Opening this table on Data tab takes too much time.
- 15. What is the difference between the Extract Database and Export As SQL Script functions?
- 16. I'm trying to export table, but TEXT columns are not exported. [33]
- 17. How do I change the default directory where exported data will be saved? [33]
- 18.I get an error 'Timeout expired' when I try to execute a query in Query Data or when I perform some operations with database objects.
- 19.I get the error "Debugger interface not registered on client" when trying to run the T-SQL Debugger. 33

Question/answer list

Q:

What is EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server?

A:

EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server is a powerful graphical tool for Microsoft SQL Server development and administration. It makes creating and editing MS SQL Server database objects easy and fast, and allows you to run SQL scripts, manage users and their privileges, build SQL queries visually, extract, print and search metadata, export data to 14 available formats and import them from most popular formats, view and edit BLOB fields, and much more.

Q:

What is the difference between Full and Freeware editions of EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server?

A:

These editions of SQL Manager for SQL Server differ in their functionality. Being a light edition, SQL Manager Freeware has certain restrictions, for example, it can handle not more than 5 databases, and some others. You can view the list of all functional differences between full and freeware versions at our Feature Matrix Page.

Q:

What do I need to start working with EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server? A:

First of all you must have an opportunity to connect to some local or remote SQL Server from 2000 up to the latest one (We do not support SQL Server Compact Edition), Azure SQL Databases or Amazon RDS for Microsoft SQL Server. Besides you need your computer to satisfy the system requirements of SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Q:

Why cannot I connect to SQL Server?

A:

1. If your server is installed as named instance, use server name in form . SQL Server 2005 Express Editor has by default SQLEXPRESS instance name.

2. If you connect to the remote server, make sure that the connection is not blocked by firewall. Ask your system administrator to correctly open appropriate ports.

3. Make sure that SQL Server is started and you have correct login to access it.

 Make sure that client protocols are correctly tuned. User SQL Server Configuration Manager on connection to SQL Server 2005 (it is installed with Native Client) or SQL Server Client Network Utility (system32 cliconfg.exe) on connection to earlier versions.
Make sure that remote connection is enabled on server and server protocols are correctly tuned. Use SQL Server Surface Area Configuration on SQL Server 2005 and SQL

Server Network Utility (Program FilesMicrosoft SQL Server80ToolsBinnsvrnetcn.exe) on earlier server versions.

6. If you use named instance of server with dynamic TCP/IP port, make sure that SQL Browser service is running.

7. If you connect remotely, try using server IP address instead of its name to ensure that DNS works well.

Q:

How can I customize data formats in a grid? A:

You can customize all display formats: integer, float, date, time and date/time in the Environment Options window on the Grid | Color & Formats tab.

Q:

How can I speed up my work with large tables? A:

For your convenience and to speed up your work Data Grid allows customizing many data display parameters. Here are the most important of them (accessible through Database Registration Info dialog):

• Limit options in table and view editors. The "Select all records of a table" option will enable you to see all table records without extra references to the server, yet in case of large tables or low speed connection channel the data may be fetched with huge delays and the incoming traffic might grow considerably. This mode is recommended when working with local databases or in a private network.

31 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

- The "Select only" mode restricts the maximum number of records returned after the query. Man can't process a massive amount of information at once. Hence, we came up with this mode. This mode speeds up table data viewing considerably, prevents hanging and connection timeout. It is recommended to work with large tables, in case of low speed connection channels and when the traffic volume is of importance. This is a default mode.
- Default Grid Mode. This option defines whether the requested rows will be loaded in the Grid all at once ("Load all rows"), or in parts ("Load visible rows") as the user scrolls down table data. The first mode increases the query opening time but speeds up scrolling. In the second mode the query opens very fast but there might be delays when navigating the grid.

We recommend that you set the following option values to achieve maximum efficiency when working with large tables:

- Select only On
- · Load visible rows On

Q:

I need to perform some changes in database objects of my test database and then make the same changes on master database. Are there any tools for this purpose in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server?

A:

Database Registration Info dialog contains Log tab where you can enable logging metadata changes that are performed on a database and SQL statements that are executed in Query Data.

Q:

How to connect to a named instance of SQL Server 2000 in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server?

A:

If you have troubles in connection to a named instances of SQL Server 2000 please try the following:

- Run SQL Server Client Network Utility (system32cliconfg.exe) on client computer where EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server runs.

- Go to the second (Alias) tab of the Utility.

- Add a new server alias with Server Name in form and TCP/IP as Network library.

- Use the server alias name as host name on Database Registration Info dialog of EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Q:

I can access my server via an alternative port. I have searched for a setting in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server to alter the connection port, but have not yet been able to locate this. How would I go about altering this port?

A:

To connect to SQL Server 2005 on alternative port, do the following:

- Run SQL Server Configuration Manager (it is installed with Native Client) on client computer where SQL Manager runs.

- Select SQL Native Client Configuration | Aliases node.
- Add a new server alias and set port number, TCP/IP as protocol and server name.

- Use the server alias name as host name on Database Registration Info dialog of SQL Manager.

To connect to SQL Server 2000 or earlier on alternative port, do the following:

- Run SQL Server Client Network Utility (system32cliconfg.exe) on client computer where SQL Manager runs.

- Go to the second (Alias) tab of the Utility.

- Add a new server alias and set server name, port number and TCP/IP as Network library.

- Use the server alias name as host name on Database Registration Info dialog of SQL Manager.

Q:

What is the difference between the Export/Import functions in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server tool and EMS Data Export/Import for SQL Server utilities? A:

EMS Data Export/Import for SQL Server includes some additional features, which are not available in SQL Manager for SQL Server such as:

export/import data from/to several tables at once;

export/import data from/to tables selected from different databases on one host; command line utility to export/import data using the configuration file with all the export/ import options.

Q:

What is the difference between the Design Query module in EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server tool and EMS SQL Query for SQL Server utility?

A:

First of all, EMS SQL Query for SQL Server works faster as it is a much lighter product. Besides it provides additional features for query building, e.g.: keeping query history, which allows you to rollback to any edited query;

various interface improvements for more productive and easy work.

Q: I can't modify DDL. Why?

A:

The 'DDL' tabs of the Table Editor, View Editor, etc. are read-only. They display the definition of tables. To modify this text you can copy it to the clipboard and modify it using Query Data.

Q:

When I create database objects, their names are always converted to lower case. How can I prevent it?

A:

You need to switch off the "Convert created object's names to lower case" option in Environment Options dialog on the Tools | Object Editors tab.

Q:

I have a table with \sim 1000 records only and a large number of columns. Opening this table on Data tab takes too much time.

A:

You need to set Grid Mode for the table to 'Load Visible Rows'. Please right click on the table's grid and select Grid Mode \mid Load Visible Rows.

Q:

What is the difference between the Extract Database and Export As SQL Script functions?

A:

Export As SQL Script is intended to export table data that will be inserted into a database system other than MS SQL Server. Use Extract Database to copy data to a table on MS SQL Server.

Q:

I'm trying to export table, but TEXT columns are not exported. A:

Columns of types TEXT, BINARY, IMAGE, etc. are not exported by default. You should select these columns manually on the columns tab.

Q:

How do I change the default directory where exported data will be saved? A:

Follow the steps below to change directory.

- Right click on the database you need in DB Explorer and click on "Database Registration Info..." item in popup menu (you can also find this item in main menu "Database"). The Database Properties form will be opened.

- Click on the "Save Options" tab.

- In the "Default Directory for Export Data" section you can choose the default directory for export file.

Q:

I get an error 'Timeout expired' when I try to execute a query in Query Data or when I perform some operations with database objects.

A:

You need to increase timeout values on Tools | Timeouts tab of Environment Options dialog, or set them to 0 - unlimited.

Q:

I get the error "Debugger interface not registered on client" when trying to run the T-SQL Debugger.

A:

In order to debug code on the remote host the client machine must be configured as follows <u>http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/cc646024.aspx</u>.

Scroll to top 29

If you still have any questions, contact us at our <u>Support Center</u>.

1.8 Other EMS Products

Quick navigation



MySQL

SQL Management Studio for MySQL

EMS SQL Management Studio for MySQL is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



SQL Manager for MySQL

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



Data Export for MySQL

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more.



Data Import for MySQL

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.

Data Pump for MySQL

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, Oracle, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to MySQL.



Data Generator for MySQL

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



DB Comparer for MySQL

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.

DB Extract for MySQL

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



SQL Query for MySQL

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



Data Comparer for MySQL

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top 34

Microsoft SQL Server

SQL Management Studio for SQL Server

EMS SQL Management Studio for SQL Server is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



EMS SOL Backup for SOL Server

Perform backup and restore, log shipping and many other regular maintenance tasks on the whole set of SQL Servers in your company.



SQL Administrator for SQL Server

Perform administrative tasks in the fastest, easiest and most efficient way. Manage maintenance tasks, monitor their performance schedule, frequency and the last execution result.



SQL Manager for SQL Server

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



Data Export for SQL Server

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more



Data Import for SQL Server

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.



Data Pump for SQL Server

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, Oracle, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to Microsoft® SQL Server™.



Data Generator for SQL Server

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



DB Comparer for SQL Server

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



DB Extract for SQL Server

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



SQL Query for SQL Server

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



Data Comparer for SOL Server

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top 34

PostgreSQL

SQL Management Studio for PostgreSQL

EMS SQL Management Studio for PostgreSQL is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



EMS SQL Backup for PostgreSQL

Creates backups for multiple PostgreSQL servers from a single console. You can use automatic backup tasks with advanced schedules and store them in local or remote folders or cloud storages



SQL Manager for PostgreSQL

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



Data Export for PostgreSOL

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more



Data Import for PostgreSOL

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.



Data Pump for PostgreSOL

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, SQL Server, Oracle, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to PostgreSQL.



Data Generator for PostgreSOL

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



DB Comparer for PostgreSOL

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



DB Extract for PostgreSOL

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.

- 1		
	-	н
E	10	-
	1.0	

SQL Query for PostgreSQL

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.

Data Comparer for PostgreSOL

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top 34

InterBase / Firebird

SQL Management Studio for InterBase/Firebird

EMS SOL Management Studio for InterBase and Firebird is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!
SQL Manager for InterBase/Firebird

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



Data Export for InterBase/Firebird

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more

Data Import for InterBase/Firebird

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.



Data Pump for InterBase/Firebird

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, SQL Server, Oracle, DB2, PostgreSQL, etc.) to InterBase/Firebird.



Data Generator for InterBase/Firebird

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



DB Extract for InterBase/Firebird

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



SQL Query for InterBase/Firebird

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



Data Comparer for InterBase/Firebird

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top 34

Oracle



SQL Management Studio for Oracle

EMS SQL Management Studio for Oracle is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



SQL Manager for Oracle

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



Data Export for Oracle

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more.

Data Import for Oracle

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.

<u>Data Pump for Oracle</u>

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, MySQL, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to Oracle

5

Data Generator for Oracle

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



DB Comparer for Oracle

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



DB Extract for Oracle

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



SQL Query for Oracle

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



Data Comparer for Oracle

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top 34

IBM DB2

<u>- 1</u>	
	- 2
-	

SQL Manager for DB2

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



Data Export for DB2

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more.



Data Import for DB2

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.



Ŧ4

Data Pump for DB2

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, Oracle, MySQL, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to DB2

Data Generator for DB2

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



DB Extract for DB2

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



SQL Query for DB2

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.

Scroll to top 34

Tools & components



Advanced Data Export for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Data Export for RAD Studio VCL allows you to save your data in the most popular office programs formats.



Advanced Data Export .NET

Advanced Data Export .NET is a component for Microsoft Visual Studio .NET that will allow you to save your data in the most popular data formats for the future viewing, modification, printing or web publication. You can export data into MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word (RTF), PDF, TXT, DBF, CSV and more! There will be no need to waste your time on tiresome data conversion - Advanced Data Export will do the task quickly and will give the result in the desired format.



Advanced Data Import for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Data Import for RAD Studio VCL will allow you to import your data to the database from files in the most popular data formats.



Advanced PDF Generator for RAD Studio

Advanced PDF Generator for RAD Studio gives you an opportunity to create PDF documents with your applications written on Delphi or C++ Builder.



Advanced Query Builder for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Query Builder for RAD Studio VCL is a powerful component for Delphi and C++ Builder intended for visual building SQL statements for the SELECT, INSERT, UPDATE and DELETE clauses.



Advanced Excel Report for RAD Studio

Advanced Excel Report for RAD Studio is a powerful band-oriented generator of template-based reports in MS Excel.



Advanced Localizer for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Localizer for RAD Studio VCL is an indispensable component for Delphi for adding multilingual support to your applications.

Scroll to top 34



2 Getting Started

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides you with an ability to contribute to efficient SQL Server administration and development using a variety of available tools easily and quickly.

The succeeding chapters of this document are intended to inform you about the tools implemented in SQL Manager for SQL Server. Please see the instructions below to learn how to perform various operations in the easiest way.

- <u>Selecting style and language</u> [43]
- How the application looks when you start it for the first time 45
- Using Desktop Panel 47
- Database navigation 49
- Working with database objects 51
- Using context menus 53
- Working with child windows 58

See the <u>How to...</u> [957] chapter to view brief instructions on how to perform some operations on databases, database objects, etc.

🖀 SQL Manager for SQL Server - [Table - [dbo.DimProduct] - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]] - 🗆 X							
Database View Tools Services Options	<u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp						_ @ ×
i el	🦻 🖹 🖶 🗳 📬 🞼	▶, :66		→			
🗄 🌇 Create 🔻 🔁 📉 🍡 📳 👘 🕶 🙄 🗸	🗧 🗧 Databases 👻 🌾 ह 🕻	🖱 🖶 🛛 🔁 🕌 📑 Diml	Product 🗸 🔡	🛃 🗸 🗙 📑 🖻	8 🖷 🖷 🛛	8 🛃 🐺 🛷	-
Search:	Object \$	Colu <u>m</u> ns Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta D <u>e</u> so	ript < >
Databases	🧧 AdventureWorks on do 🗸	Find:	2			1000	
doom_SERVER\T SERV2005	DimProduct V					_	^
😑 📴 Databases (4)		Drag a column header h	here to group by that				
🖨 📒 AdventureWorks on doom_SE	General 🎗	I ProductKey Product	tAlternateKey E	nglishProductName	StartDate	FinishedGoods	Flag
🖨 👩 Schemas (2)	C Refresh		31 A	djustable Race	01.07.2003		
⊖ (∰ dbo	Print	2 BA-832	27 B	earing Ball	01.07.2003		
	Table Editor options	3 BE-234	9 B	B Ball Bearing	01.07.2003		
	******	4 BE-290	18 H	eadset Ball Bearings	01.07.2003		
Procedures	Tools 🏠	5 BL-203	6 B	lade	01.07.2003		
	Indices management	6 CA-596	55 L	L Crankarm	01.07.2003		
	Update statistics	7 CA-673	38 N	IL Crankarm	01.07.2003		
	Truncato tablo	8 CA-745	57 H	L Crankarm	01.07.2003		
		9 CB-290)3 C	hainring Bolts	01.07.2003		
Supprom	Be Dependency tree	10 CN-613	37 C	hainring Nut	01.07.2003		_
Synonyma V	Create procedure	11 CR-783	33 C	hainring	01.07.2003		_
	Data Management 🛛 🛠	12 CR-998	31 C	rown Race	01.07.2003		
	Export data	13 CS-281	12 C	hain Stays	01.07.2003		
Tablas Create Data Madify Data A		14 DC-873	32 D	ecal 1	01.07.2003		
	Export as SUL script	15 DC-982	24 0	lecal 2	01.07.2003		
Advanture/VerkeDWR 27 10 2017 (27 10 2017 (Import data	16 DT-237	7 0	own Tube	01.07.2003		
Databasel og 27.10.2017 27.10.2017	Bulk insert	17 EC-M09	92 N	lountain End Caps	01.07.2003		
Diracoust 27.10.2017 27.10.2017		18 EC-R09	98 R	load End Caps	01.07.2003		
DimAccount 27.10.2017 27.10.2017		19 EC-T20	19 T	ouring End Caps	01.07.2003		
DimCurrency 27.10.2017 27.10.2017		20 FE-376	0 F	ork End	01.07.2003		
DimCustomer 27.10.2017 27.10.2017		24 EU 200		reawheel	01 07 2002		<u>``</u>
Dimbate 27.10.2017 27.10.2017		S	Dist Data Dist 1				
DimbepartmentGroup 27.10.2017 127.10.2017 1		Grid View Form View	Print Data Blob V	iew			
E DIREMPIOYEE 27.10.2017 16.08.2023 V		Fetched: 606/606]	
🔲 dbo.DimProduct 🔀 HumanResources.usp_GetLeaveRe 📑 dbo.DimEmployee 🗧 Server Log Viewer							

Enjoy your work with EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server!

See also:

Database Explorer ि Database Management ि Database Objects Management ि Query Management Tools ि Data Management 462 Data Management 462 Import/Export Tools 530 Database Tools ि Database Tools ि Personalization ि Personalization ि A External Tools 90 How To... 957

43 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

2.1 Selecting style and language

Before you start SQL Manager for the first time, you have to choose the environment style and the interface language. You can change these settings any time using the **Environment Options Descriptions Descriptions Description Descri**

Environment style

This switch allows you to define the main window behavior style - *MDI* (like in MS Office applications) or *Floating windows* (like Borland Delphi IDE).

Bar style for child forms

Here you can define the location of action buttons:

within the Navigation bar (on the left) and/or
on the Toolbar.

Program Language

Select the interface language from the list of available languages.

Welcome to SQL Manager for SQL Server	
Welcome to SQL Manager for SQL Set tool to administer your database! Choose the program's environment, language style for child forms.	rver - an excellent
Environment style	
MDI environment (like Microsoft Office app MDI environment)	olications)
C Floating windows environment (like Borland	d Delphi IDE)
Bar style for child forms	
Navigation bar	
Toolbar	-
Both	
Program language	
Default - no localization (English)	
English	
Russian	
	<u>OK</u> <u>H</u> elp

See also: First time started 45 Using Desktop Panel 47 Database navigation 49 <u>Working with database objects</u> <u>Using context menus</u> <u>Working with windows</u> जि

2.2 First time started

This is how SQL Manager for SQL Server looks when you start it for the first time. Use the <u>Desktop panel</u> [47] to fulfill any of common tasks: <u>Create a new database</u> [97], <u>Manage existing database(s)</u>[11], and several tasks that do not require database registration, i.e. <u>Execute Script</u> [619], accessing the **reference system** or using available **Internet resources**.

The main menu [913] allows you to perform various **Database** operations, open <u>To-Do List</u> [937] and activate/deactivate <u>Database Explorer</u> [63], <u>SQL Assistant</u> [85] and various <u>toolbars</u> [917] within the **View** menu, manage your databases using items of the **Tools** and **Services** menus, <u>customize</u> [824] the application using the **Options** menu, manage SQL Manager **Windows** using <u>Window List</u> [939] and other tools, view the Tip of the Day and access <u>Registration</u> [25] information and product documentation, <u>update</u> [944] the product to the latest version using the corresponding items available within the **Help** menu.

To start working with your SQL Server, you should first register one or several databases using <u>Register Database Wizard</u> [11].

By default the corresponding **A Register Host**, **A Register Database** buttons are available on the <u>toolbar</u> and within the **Database** menu.

When the database connection settings are specified, you can set connection to your database and proceed to <u>Database navigation</u> [49], <u>Database Objects management</u> [178], <u>working with SQL queries</u> [424] and other tools of SQL Manager.



See also:

Selecting style and language 43 Using Desktop Panel 47 Database navigation 49 Working with database objects 51 Using context menus 53 Working with windows 58

2.3 Using Desktop Panel

47

Desktop Panel is the area that is visible when no child windows are open in SQL Manager for SQL Server. The working area of **Desktop Panel** is divided into four sections: *Getting Started, Database Tools, Help and Support, Internet Resources.*



Using the **Desktop Panel** items you can:

Getting Started

妹 <u>create</u> जिन्ने a new SQL Server database

📴 register 🖽 existing database(s) to operate them afterwards in SQL Manager

tem is available if there is at least one active database connection)

there is at least one active database connection)

Database Tools

😾 execute a script using <u>Execute Script</u> लि9 editor

execute a SQL query using <u>Query Data</u> [426] editor (this item is available if there is at least one active database connection)

grant permissions on database objects to SQL Server users using <u>Grant Manager</u> [682] (this item is available if there is at least one active database connection)

Help and Support

🥝 show this help file

🕜 use SQL Server reference

Internet Resources

衸 visit **SQL Manager** Home Page

browse SQL Manager on-line documentation

go to <u>Technical Support Center</u>

look through the <u>Frequently Asked Questions</u> [29] page

See also:

Selecting style and language 43 First time started 45 Database navigation 49 Working with database objects 51 Using context menus 53 Working with windows 58

2.4 Database navigation

49

After you have registered the required database(s), the corresponding alias(es) appear in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree on the left. If the **Show Hosts** option is checked on the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] | <u>DB Explorer</u> [832] page, the host nodes are also displayed in the tree (alternatively, you can use the **Show Hosts** item of the <u>Database context menu</u> [54], or the drop-down menu of the <u>Show Mode toolbar</u> [88] button for the same purpose). If necessary, you can also specify that empty schemas should be hidden in the tree: use the corresponding option available on the <u>DB Explorer</u> [832] page of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog.



<u>DB Explorer</u> [63] displays all registered databases. Connected/disconnected databases can be easily distinguished in the tree: aliases of disconnected databases are grayed out.



To <u>connect</u> [68] to a database, simply double-click its alias (or select the database alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] and press **Enter**). If the connection is successful, the database node expands into a tree of objects. To select the types of objects to be expanded upon successful database connection, you can use the **Expand on connection** group of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] | <u>DB Explorer</u> [832] page.

Now you can navigate within the database objects. Use SQL Assistant s to get extended information about the currently selected object.

For your convenience objects having different status (e.g. enabled/disabled) are displayed with different icons in Database Explorer [63].

See also: <u>Selecting style and language</u>[43] <u>First time started</u>[45] <u>Using Desktop Panel</u>[47] <u>Working with database objects</u>[51] <u>Using context menus</u>[53] <u>Working with windows</u>[58]

2.5 Working with database objects

51

The nodes of the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree allow you to access <u>server objects</u> [53] and <u>objects of</u> <u>the selected database</u> [178] respectively. If SQL Server you are connected to supports certain types of objects, their nodes will appear in the tree.

Double-click an object group to expand/collapse the corresponding tree node. Double-click an object to open it in the corresponding editor. Right-click an object to display its <u>context menu</u>^[56] which allows you to perform various operations over the selected object or database.



If you want to use the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63³] tree for working with **table subobjects** (columns, indexes, Foreign keys, etc.), check the **Show table subobjects** option which is available within the **General options** group of the <u>Environment Options</u> [82⁵] | <u>DB Explorer</u> [83²] page (you can also use the **Show Table Subobjects** menu item in the drop-down menu of the **Given Mode** toolbar [88³] button for the same purpose.)



© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

See also:

Selecting style and language 43 First time started 45 Using Desktop Panel 47 Database navigation 49 Using context menus 53 Working with windows 58

2.6 Using context menus

53

The **context menus** are aimed at facilitating your work with SQL Manager for SQL Server: you can perform a variety of operations using context menu items.

Select an object in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] and right-click its alias to open the context menu.

- Host context menu
- <u>Database context menu</u> 54
- Object context menu 56

See also:

Selecting style and language 43 First time started 45 Using Desktop Panel 47 Database navigation 49 Working with database objects 51 Working with windows 58

2.6.1 Host context menu

The **context menu of a host** in the <u>DB Explorer</u> allows you to:

- access <u>server objects</u> and some common <u>services</u> available in the **Tasks** submenu;
- view/edit the selected host properties within the <u>Server Properties</u> [161] dialog;
- 🗟 <u>create a new database</u> 🕫 on the selected host;
- register a new database using 🔩 <u>Register Database Wizard</u> 111;
- 😼 <u>unregister [94</u>] the selected host;
- configure representation of hosts and databases in <u>Database Explorer</u> [63];
- create a new tab for the selected host to access it through this tab quickly and/or manage the existing tab;
- $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \frac{1}{n$



See also:

Database context menu 54 Object context menu 56

2.6.2 Database context menu

The **context menu of a registered database** in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree allows you to:

- \mathbf{X} <u>connect</u> with the selected database (if connection to the database is not active yet);
- disconnect stress from the selected database (if connection to the database has been already set);
- access database tools and available in the Tasks submenu;
- view/edit the Mathematical Database properties [133];
- 🗟 create a new database 🗐 on the host where the selected database resides;
- 😼 drop 🗐 the selected database;
- register a new database using 🔩 <u>Register Database Wizard</u> 🖽;
- view/edit the selected database registration information within the **Database** <u>Registration Info</u> 116 dialog;
- 🔒 <u>unregister</u> 94) the selected database;
- 🚽 unregister 翊 the host where the selected database resides;
- generate the script and open it in <u>Query Data</u> [428];

- generate the script and copy its text to Windows clipboard;
- configure representation of hosts and databases in Database Explorer [63];
- 🗟 refresh the selected database;
- test connection to the database (or reconnect if connection has been already established);
- and/or manage the existing tab;
- $p = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2$

Databases				
TESTER2\SQL2017				
🖨 📋 Databases (2)				
Adventure E test on dool	Mork	Connect to Database Shift+Ctrl+C		
	2	Disconnect from Database Shift+Ctrl+D		
ASCHEL\SQL2008		Tasks	-	Backup Database
⊞ प्य pai\SQL2014	[]	Database Properties	E	Restore Database
	2*	Create Database	Ę,	Detach Database
	=×	Drop Database	J.	Shrink Database
	2 +	Register Database Shift+Alt+R	8	Indices Management
		Database Registration Manager	-8	Update Statistics
	₽,	Database Registration Info	-	Check Database
	2-	Unregister Database Shift+Alt+U	p	Grant Manager
		Script to Query Data	. 💦	Extract Database
		Script to Clipboard		Print Metadata
	D	Show <u>H</u> osts	- B	HTML Report
		Sort by Aliases	ŝ=	To-Do List
		Hide Disconnected Databases		DDL to Files
	C	Refresh Database F5		
		Test Connection (Reconnect)		
	-	New Tab from Here		
		Rename Current Tab		
		Delete Current Tab		
	Q	Find Object Ctrl+F		

Tasks submenu allows you to:

- 🦆 <u>backup database</u> 718ो
- 摩 restore database 732
- 矏 <u>detach database</u> 751

- Image indices
 [758]

 Image indices
 [768]

 Image indices
 [768]

 Image indices
 [768]

 Image indices
 [768]

 Image indices
 [773]

 Image indices
- 📕 create <u>to-do list</u> छित्री

See also:

<u>Host context menu</u> ि उ । <u>Object context menu</u> ि ६ ।

2.6.3 Object context menu

The **context menu of an object** (e.g. *table* or *view*) in the <u>DB Explorer</u> allows you to:

- create 180 a new database object of the same type;
- <u>edit</u> 1781 the selected object in its editor;
- <u>rename</u> 178 the selected object;
- drop 178 the selected object from the database;
- 🖾 <u>duplicate</u> (182) the selected object (create a new object with the same DDL [919) structure and properties as the selected object has);
- access common Tasks applied to this object;
- perform data manipulation 530 operations (for tables 192 and views 246);
- add object to <u>favorite objects</u> 81
- <u>table properties</u> 211;
- define 🦆 grants 📖 for the selected object;
- generate the object script and open it in Query Data [426];
- generate the object script and copy its text to Windows clipboard;
- a refresh all objects of the selected object type;
- view/edit the database registration information within the **Database Registration** <u>Info</u>[16] dialog (for <u>database objects</u>[178]);
- and/or manage the existing tab;
- Search^[83] for an object within the tree.

Databases			
🖃 🖵 TESTER2\SQL2017		^	
🖨 📋 Databases (2)			
🖨 🛢 AdventureWorks on TESTI	ER2\S	QL2017	
🖨 🐻 Schemas (1)			
Ė∵[Щ dbo			
🖨 🧰 Tables (35)			
🕀 📰 AdventureWo	rksD\	VBuildVersion	
⊡ E Contact			
🕀 📑 dat_imp			
⊡ DatabaseLog			
DimCustomer	E 7	New Table	Ctrl+N
⊡ ⊡ DimDate	E,	Edit Table 'DimCurrency'	Ctrl+O
⊡ imDate2		Rename Table 'DimCurrency'.	Ctrl+R
⊡ ⊡ DimDepartmer		Drop Table 'DimCurrency'	Shift+Del
		lasks	•
⊡ ⊡ DimProductCa		Data Manipulation	•
		Add to Favorite Objects	•
🕀 🖳 DimPromotion	[]	Table Properties	
⊡ <mark>≣</mark> DimReseller		Grants for Table 'DimCurrenc	v
⊡ " <mark>∭</mark> DimSalesReas	1		-
⊡ ⊡ DimSalesTerri		Script to Query Data	•
DimScenario		Script to Clipboard	•
	C	Refresh Tables	F5
FactCallCente			
	*	New Tab from Here	
E : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :		Rename Current Tab	
Databases		Delete Current Tab	
The Window List	Q	Find Object	Ctrl+F
		» *	

See also: <u>Host context menu</u> जि <u>Database context menu</u> जिभी

2.7 Working with windows

The **Windows Toolbar** of SQL Manager allows you to switch between child windows easily, like in Windows Task Bar.

To activate the window you need, simply click one of the window buttons. To perform some additional actions with the window, right-click its tab and select the corresponding menu item from the popup menu.



If you have multiple windows opened, you can also switch between them using the $Ctrl+Tab \frac{shortcut}{952}$.

The **Number of open editors is restricted** option available in the <u>Windows</u> (829) section of the <u>Environment Options</u> (825) options dialog allows you to set the maximum number of editors that may be opened simultaneously. When the number of editors exceeds the specified value, the previously opened editors will be closed automatically.

The **Windows** menu facilitates your work with SQL Manager windows.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	Services	<u>O</u> ptions	Wind	dows	<u>H</u> elp		
					G	Wind	ow List	Ctrl+Alt+0	
					ß	Case	ade		
						Minim	ize All		
						Rest	ore All		
					⊟	Tile H	lorizontal		
						Tile V	/ertical		
						Set D	efaults to All Windows	Ctrl+Alt+D	
						Rese	t All Toolbars and Menus		
					e	Close	e All		
						<u>C</u> lose	•		۲
					€	Previ	ous Window	Ctrl+F6	
					∍	Next	Window	F6	
					8	Adve	ntureWorks on dooM_SER\	/ER\TSERV2005	۲
					B	SQL	Script [Untitled]		

The Windows menu allows you to:

- view the Windows List [939] within the corresponding tab [77] of DB Explorer;
- set all current windows cascade:



- minimize all windows;
- restore all windows;
- tile all current windows horizontally:

🦆 Grant Manager - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]				
🗄 🧧 Databases 🔻 👶 public		• S 🏘 🍓 🍇 🕹 💩 🕫 🖻		
Database ☆	^	Database-specific privileges		
🗧 AdventureWorks on doom_ 🗸		Object Permissions Database Permissions		
General 🛠	<	A		
C Refresh	•	III A_FLD1 ✓ III A_FLD2 ✓		
Procedure - [dbo.HumanReso	urces]	- [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]		
📒 🛢 Databases 🔻 🌾 🔚 🕨	- 1	k 📵 S 🖶 🖻 📲		
Object 🛠	^	Procedure Description DDL Permissions		
🗧 AdventureWorks on doom_ 🗸	0	1 SET ANSI_NULLS ON ^		
HumanResources V	0	2 SET QUOTED_IDENTIFIER ON		
	¥	Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)		
Table - [dbo.DimEmployee] - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]				
Chiect				
		Coloren Name		
Adventureworks on doom_ ~		EmployeeKey int Int Int Int		
DimEmployee V	Ù	ParentEmployeeKey int		
General 🋠	•	EmployeeNationalIDAlt nvarchar(15)		

• tile all current windows *vertically*:



- set defaults to all windows;
- reset all toolbars and menus 940;
- close all windows;
- close all editors of the specified object type (can be selected from the submenu);
- switch to the previous window;
- switch to the next window;
- activate one of currently opened windows.

See also:

Selecting style and language 43 First time started 45 Using Desktop Panel 47 Database navigation 49 Working with database objects 51 Using context menus 53



3 Database Explorer

Database Explorer (or **DB Explorer**) is the basic window of SQL Manager for SQL Server for <u>navigation</u>^[49] within databases and working with database and server objects. The tree-like structure of DB Explorer allows you to manage the databases, database and server objects and perform other everyday operations quickly and easily.

The following list contains the most frequently used features provided by Database Explorer.

- Managing database registration info
- <u>Connecting to databases and hosts</u> [68]
- Performing basic operations upon database objects
- <u>Selecting multiple objects</u>
- <u>Navigating database objects using multiple tabs</u>
- Easy access to recently opened objects 80
- <u>Managing favorite objects</u>
- <u>Searching within the tree</u> [83]
- <u>Viewing extended information about database objects</u>
- <u>Configuring Database Explorer</u> 87
- <u>Managing Favorite queries</u>
- Managing scripts 91

All objects are structured by their types and are available within the corresponding nodes of the tree. The number of objects of each type is displayed in brackets after the node name denoting the object type. To expand/collapse a node, you can double-click it or use the +/- icons. Alternatively, yu can use "Right"/"Left" buttons: when pressing "Left", first the subnodes of the current node are collapsed, after pressing again the parent node is focused and so on; when pressing "Right" the current node expands.



To view/hide the Database Explorer window, use the **View | DB Explorer** main menu [915] item or press the **F11** key.

666 ⁰	DB Explorer F11					
	SQL Assistant					
	Toolbars					
Ξ	To-Do List Shift+Ctrl+T					

Use the Ctrl+Shift+C shortcut [952] to collapse current **DB Explorer** tree branch and switch to the parent node.

Note that you can change host and database aliases order by dragging them within the

DB Explorer tree.

See also:

Getting Started 41 Database Management 94 Database Objects Management 178 Query Management Tools 424 Data Management 462 Import/Export Tools 530 Database Tools 611 Server Tools 718 Personalization 824 External Tools 909 How To... 957

3.1 Managing database registration info

66

After you have created and/or registered your database in SQL Manager for SQL Server, you can perform a number of operations with the database using the <u>context menu</u> [54].

If you need to view/edit the registration information of a database, right-click the database alias in DB Explorer and select the **Database Registration Info...** context menu item to open the <u>Database Registration Info</u>[116] dialog.

Databases	
📮 🖵 (local)	
🖃 📄 Databases (3)	
🗧 DWConfigu	ration on (local)
🛛 🧧 localize 🔀	Connect to Database Shift+Ctrl+C
Syspro	Disconnect from Database Shift+Ctrl+D
asCHEL\SQL20	Tasks •
doom_SERVE	Database Properties
	Create Database
5	Drop Database
=	Register Database Shift+Alt+R
9	Database Registration Info
€.	Unregister Database Shift+Alt+U
	Database Registration Manager
	Script to Query Data
	Script to Clipboard
	Show <u>H</u> osts
	Sort by Aliases
	Hide Disconnected Databases
S	Refresh Database F5
	Test Connection (Reconnect)
	New Tab from Here
	Rename Current Tab
	Delete Current Tab
Q	Find Object Ctrl+F
	Collapse All
	Expand All

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

See also: <u>Register Database</u> <u>Database Registration Info</u> <u>Database Properties</u> 133

3.2 Connecting to databases

68

When the <u>database registration 11</u> is complete, you can establish connection to your database.



The simplest way to connect to a database is to double-click its alias in the <u>Database</u> <u>Explorer</u> [63] tree. The same operation can be performed by selecting the **Connect to Database** item of the database alias <u>context menu</u> [54], or by using the **Database** | **Connect to Database** <u>main menu</u> [915] item.



Before working with server-scoped objects and services, a host connection must be established by selecting the **Connect to Host** item of the **Server Objects** node context menu, or by using the **Database | Connect to Host** main menu[915] item.



Alternatively, you can use the *Shift+Ctrl+C* shortcut [952] or the X Connect to Database (X Connect to Host) toolbar [87] buttons.



See also: <u>Register Database</u> Database Registration Info गाही

3.3 Operations with database and server objects

Database Explorer allows you to perform various operations with <u>database objects</u> [178] and <u>server objects</u> [353].

To open an object in its editor, you can double-click the object in the **DB Explorer** tree.

You can also right-click an object within the **DB Explorer** tree and use its <u>context menu</u> [56] to perform a number of operations:

- create a new object (the **New <object>...** item);
- edit currently selected object (the **Edit <object_name>...** item);
- rename currently selected object (the Rename <object_name>... item);
- drop the selected object from the database (the **Drop <object_name>...** item);
- duplicate the selected object (the **Duplicate <object_name >...** item);
- define grants for the selected object (the **Grants for <object_name>...** item).

Note that the context menu contains object-specific items only when the object is currently selected in **DB Explorer**.



Using drag-and-drop operations you can add objects to <u>Query Data</u> 426, <u>Design Query</u> 442 or <u>Execute Script</u> 619 editor. For your convenience the **Insert to editor** dialog is implemented. The dialog allows you to specify the **statement** to be inserted into the editor: *Name*, *SELECT*, *INSERT*, *UPDATE*, *DELETE*, *CREATE*, *DROP*, Columns *list*, *Name* and *Type*. If necessary, set the **Alias** and **Prefix for variable**.

If more convenient, you can edit the generated statement manually (see <u>Working with</u> <u>Query Data area</u> 429).


See also:

<u>Database and Server Objects Management</u> गिरहे <u>Query Data</u> 42हे <u>Selecting multiple objects</u> 74ो

3.4 Selecting multiple objects

You can select more than one object in **Database Explorer** by pressing the *Ctrl* or the *Shift* key and selecting multiple objects one by one.

The **context menu** of several selected objects allows you to:

- <u>create</u> 178 a new database object of the same type;
- edit the selected objects;
- drop the selected objects;
- perform other operations with the first of the selected objects (see <u>Operations with</u> <u>database objects</u> [71]).



Hint: You can move several objects to your <u>projects</u> [81]: just drag and drop the selected objects to the previously created subfolder within the **Projects** node of **DB Explorer**.

See also:

<u>Operations with database and server objects</u> <u>Database and Server Objects Management</u> Managing favorite objects शि

	76	SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual
--	----	--

3.5 Using tabs for database navigation

To make your work with **Database Explorer** even more convenient, the capability of **working with several tabs** is implemented.

You can use tabs when you wish to work with a particular node of the DB Explorer tree only: with one specific schema, or with tables of some schema, or with a specific database <u>project</u> [81]. Creating such tabs will minimize scrolling within large trees, you only need to switch between them with a single click on the corresponding tab.

Creating tabs

77

In order to create a new tab:

• right-click the node (e.g. the **Tables** node) for which you wish to create a tab and select the **New Tab from Here...** context menu item.

Note: A tab can be created only on the basis of a tree node. For example, if the **Show Table Subobjects** option is disabled in the <u>View Mode</u> and the **New Tab from Here...** item will not be available for tables, since none of them will be a tree node anymore.

-	3	Refresh Tables	F5
	*	New Tab from Here	
		Rename Current Tab	
		Delete Current Tab	
3	ρ	Find Object	Ctrl+F

The specified tabs can be displayed in either of the two views:

• as *icons* on the lower pane of DB Explorer:



• as *tabs* with captions:

E Databases
C Window List
Employee table [AdventureWorks on loc
Eq Logins [localhost\sqlexpress]
HumanResources schema [AdventureW
Tables of Production [AdventureWorks
Databases [aschel\sql2014]
Favorite Objects [AdventureWorks on Io
» •

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

Hint: You can reorder items in the *tabs* view by dragging their captions up and down.

To add/remove items to/from the *tabs* view, you can drag the horizontal splitter and up/ down:



or click the **Configure buttons** icon available in the bottom right corner of the **DB Explorer** window, and select **Show More Buttons** / **Show Fewer Buttons** / **Add or Remove Buttons** items from the popup menu.

Olivia Olivia Olivia Olivia AdventureWorks on olivia		
Server Objects (12)		Databases
Databases		₩indow List
To Window List		Employee table [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]
Employee table [AdventureWorks on loc		Seg Logins [localhost\sqlexpress]
Tables of Production [AdventureWorks		HumanResources schema [AdventureWorks on localhost]
	Show <u>M</u> ore Buttons	Tables of Production [AdventureWorks on localhost]
Databases [aschel\sql2014]	Show <u>F</u> ewer Buttons	Databases [aschel\sql2014]
P Favorite Objects [AdventureWorks on Io	Add or Remove Buttons	Eavorite Objects [AdventureWorks on localhost]
÷		

Note: Navigation through the tabs is also possible with the help of the following <u>shortcuts</u>

- *Ctrl+Shift+N* move to the next tab;
- *Ctrl+Shift+P* move to the previous tab.

Renaming tabs

In order to rename a tab:

- switch to the tab by clicking its caption or icon (there can be only one active tab, and it is highlighted with a different color);
- right-click within the DB Explorer area and select the Rename Current Tab... context menu item.

Removing tabs

In order to remove a tab:

- switch to the tab by clicking its caption or icon (there can be only one active tab, and it is highlighted with a different color);
- right-click within the DB Explorer area and select the **Delete Current Tab** context menu item.

See also:

<u>Managing favorite objects</u> [81] <u>Windows List</u> [939] Database and Server Objects Management 178

3.6 Recently opened objects

80

Use the **Recent Objects** State button available on the DB Explorer to access the list of recently opened database objects (during the current session).

This list is common for all registered databases. Next to the object name the database name and the host/address are displayed. Select an object from this list to open it using its editor.

🗄 🧧 Create 🔻 📿 📜 📉 🍡 🔚 🎼 🗸	9-	
Search:	5	report1 [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]
		HumanResources.product [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]
	*	HumanResources.uspUpdateEmployeeHireInfo [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]
	<i>/</i> >	asymmetric_key [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]
		HumanResources.dEmployee [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]
		HumanResources.employee [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]
	å	tester [testing-ms\SQL2022]
	3	test_application_role [testing-ms\SQL2022]
		HR [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]

To change the number of objects that are considered 'recent', select the **Options** | **Environment Options** <u>main menu</u>[915] item, proceed to the **Tools** | **DB Explorer** section within the **Environment Options** dialog, and set the **Recent objects count** option value (see <u>Environment Options</u> [925] for details).

See also:

<u>Database and Server Objects Management</u> गिरो <u>Environment Options</u> बिटेडी

3.7 Managing favorite objects

Use the **Favorite Objects** node for each database to work with the selected objects of this database only. You can place any object from the database tree here.

You can also create a separate tab for your favorite object folder. See <u>Using tabs for</u> <u>database navigation</u> section for details.



Creating favorite objects folders

In order to create a new folder:

- create a folder (if necessary, you can create subfolders inside the favorite objects folder) by right-clicking the Favorite Objects node and selecting the New Sub Folder... context menu item;
- enter the folder name within the **New Folder** dialog.



Adding objects

In order to add a new object to the favorite objects folder:

- extent the Favorite Objects node in DB Explorer;
- drag an object (or multiple objects) from the database tree to the favorite objects folder

or

- right-click the favorite objects folder and select the **Add Object...** context menu item, or use the *Ins* key;
- use the <u>Select Object</u> and dialog to specify objects to be added to the favorite objects folder.

Removing objects from the favorite objects

In order to remove an object from the favorite objects:

- right-click the object and select the Remove <object_name> from Favorite
 Objects context menu item, or use the Shift+Ctrl+Del shortcut [952];
- confirm removing in the dialog window.

Note: This operation does not drop the object from the database, but only removes its alias from the favorite objects tree.

See also: <u>Using tabs for database navigation</u> <u>Select Object dialog</u> <u>Database and Server Objects Management</u> <u>17</u>ही

3.8 Searching within the tree

83

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides an ability to search for items within the **DB Explorer** tree. Searching for items may be useful if you have a lot of database objects, and it may be sometimes hard to find the one you need.

There are two search facilities implemented in SQL Manager for your convenience. You can search for objects within the **DB Explorer** tree in either of the following ways:

• using the **Find Object** dialog

To call the **Find Object** dialog, right-click the **Database** alias, any database object group nodes or objects in the **DB Explorer** tree and select the **Find Object...** <u>context menu</u> sitem, or use the Ctrl+F <u>shortcut</u>.

Find Object	×
Text to find HR	~
Options	Direction
Case sensitive	Eorward
<u>Negular expressions</u>	O Backward
Scope	Origin
Obal	• From c <u>u</u> rsor
○ Selected text	◯ <u>E</u> ntire scope
Mark search result with stack mark	ker
OK Show <u>A</u> ll	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Available search options are similar to those provided by the **Find Text** dialog. For detailed description of the search options refer to the Find Text dialog page.

Note: You can specify whether the search will be performed within the entire tree or within the currently selected node only: toggle search mode using the Search by **categories** button on the Search Panel 187, or use the corresponding option available in the Tools | DB Explorer 1832 section of the Environment Options 1825 dialog.

using the Search Panel

Type in the first letters in the edit-box, and the corresponding object will be highlighted in the tree, as displayed in the picture below. The \square buttons allow you to define the search direction.



By default, the **Search Panel** is activated in the upper area of DB Explorer. To disable the panel, right-click within the panel and deselect the checkbox at the corresponding popup menu item.



Hint: The Search Panel is dockable, i.e. you can drag it to any location within the DB Explorer form.

See also: <u>Find Text dialog</u> ୭୦୦ ଚ

3.9 SQL Assistant

85

SQL Assistant which is located at the bottom of the **Database Explorer** window helps you to work with your <u>database objects</u> 178. Depending on the current selection in DB Explorer, the SQL Assistant area displays additional information pertaining to the selected object.

doo	M_SERVER\TSERV2005\Databases\Adventure	Works
E	CREATE UNIQUE NONCLUSTERED INDEX	[A] 🔺
2	([LoginID])	
E	WITH (=
4	PAD_INDEX = OFF,	
5	IGNORE_DUP_KEY = OFF,	
6	DROP_EXISTING = OFF,	
7	STATISTICS_NORECOMPUTE = OFF,	
8	SORT_IN_TEMPDB = OFF,	
9	ONLINE = OFF,	
10	$ALLOW_ROW_LOCKS = ON$,	Ŧ
1 •		P.

If you select a **host** in DB Explorer, SQL Assistant displays the list of registered *databases* that reside on this host.

If you select a **database** in DB Explorer, SQL Assistant displays the list of the database *object groups* and *the number of objects* in each group.

If you select a **schema** in DB Explorer, SQL Assistant displays the schema *definition* (by default).

Selecting an **object group** in DB Explorer displays the list of the *objects* in SQL Assistant. Double-clicking the object name in **SQL Assistant** makes the object available for editing in the appropriate editor. The context menu of the object or group of objects (selected with the *Ctrl* or *Shift* keys pressed) allows you to edit or drop the selected objects.

If you select a **table** or a **view** in DB Explorer, SQL Assistant displays the list of the table subobjects (e.g. columns and their *types*) by default. What is displayed in **SQL Assistant** when a table or a view is selected in DB Explorer depends on the **Table Details** / **View Details** selection. Click the **W View Mode** toolbar **188** button and select the **Table Details** | **Show...** (or **View Details** | **Show...**) drop-down menu item, or use the context menu of SQL Assistant. Possible values are: Show Columns, Show Foreign Keys, Show Checks, Show Indexes, Show Triggers, Show Table Info, Show DDL, Show Description (for **tables**); Show Columns, Show Indexes, Show Triggers, Show DDL, Show Description (for **views**).

If you select a **procedure** or a **user-defined function** in DB Explorer, SQL Assistant lists its parameters by default. Use the **Procedure and UDF Details | Show...** context menu item within the SQL Assistant area to define the content of SQL Assistant when a procedure or a user-defined function is selected in DB Explorer. Possible values are: *Show Parameters, Show DDL, Show Description.*

Selecting other objects in **DB Explorer** displays the definition in **SQL Assistant** by

default. Use the **Other Objects' Details | Show...** context menu item within the SQL Assistant area to define the content of SQL Assistant when an object is selected in DB Explorer. Possible values are: *Show DDL, Show Description*.

doo	doom_SERVER\TSERV2006\Databases\AdventureWorks on do								
Tab	oles			Create Date	Modify Date	^ <			
	[PROVDEN (200	9090	1_0	26.12.2023 16	26.12.2023 1€				
	AdventureWork	sDWB	Buil	27.10.2017 14	27.10.2017 14		1		
	DatabaseLog	P	Ed	lit Objects					
	DimAccount	R	Dr	op Objects					
	DimCurrency		Та	bles' Details		•		Show Columns	
	DimCustomer							Chave Familia Kava	
	DimDate		VI	ews Details		•		Show Foreign Keys	
	DimDepartment		Pr	ocedures' and	UDF's Details	•		Show Checks	
	DimEmployee		Ot	ther Objects' De	etails	•		Show Indices	
	DimGeography			27.10.2017 14	27.10.2017 14			Show Triggers	
	DimOrganization	I		27.10.2017 14	27.10.2017 14			Show Table Info	
	DimProduct			27.10.2017 14	16.08.2023 14			Show DDL	
	DimProductCate	gory		27.10.2017 14	27.10.2017 14			Show Description	
	DimProductSub	cateor	orv	27.10.2017.14	27.10.2017.14			Show Description	

You can also use **SQL Assistant** to work with your <u>queries</u> 424 quickly. You can drag-anddrop object aliases to the <u>Query Data</u> 426, <u>Design Query</u> 442 or <u>Execute Script</u> 619 editor working area, in the same way as <u>this operation</u> 71 is performed in **Database Explorer**.

See also:

Database and Server Objects Management गिरही

3.10 Configuring Database Explorer

87

Configuring DB Explorer toolbar

The <u>toolbar and</u> of Database Explorer contains most frequently used tools for working with databases and database objects, and a tool for configuring DB Explorer. The following actions are available in the toolbar by default:

• <u>create</u> 178 a new object;

ł

- refresh the current tree branch;
- <u>connect</u> 68 to a database;
- <u>disconnect</u> [95] from a database;
- view the selected object properties;
- configure Database Explorer using the View Mode 881 menu;
- view the list of <u>recently opened objects</u> [80];
- jump to any of registered databases quickly.

Click **More buttons...** on the right side of the toolbar and use the **Add or Remove Buttons** popup menu items to define the set of actions available in the toolbar. To <u>customize</u> [940] the toolbar, select the **Add or Remove Buttons | Customize...** item from the popup menu.

📄 Create 🔻 🔁 🛛 📉 🍡 📴 🎼 🚱 👻 🚭 👻 🚽 🥊						
	<u>A</u> dd o	r R	emove Buttons 👻			
	 Image: A set of the set of the		Create			
	✓ 🧉	3	Refresh Database	F5		
	~ >	Χ.	Connect to Database	Shift+Ctrl+C		
	~ ×	4	Disconnect from Database	Shift+Ctrl+D		
	 I 		Object Properties			
	~ 3		View Mode			
	× 1	Э	Recent			
	~	5	Quick Jump to Database			
			<u>R</u> eset Toolbar			
			<u>C</u> ustomize			

Configuring the Search Panel

Click **More buttons...** on the right side of the <u>Search Panel</u> and use the **Add or Remove Buttons** popup menu items to define the set of the panel elements. To <u>customize</u> and the panel, select the **Add or Remove Buttons | Customize...** item from the popup menu.



Using View Mode menu

Use the **View Mode** to configure **Database Explorer** according to your needs.

The drop-down menu called upon clicking this button allows you to:

- show/hide table subobjects as child nodes of tables [192];
- show/hide view subobjects as child nodes of views 246;
- show/hide host nodes for registered databases [11];
- sort the list of databases by their aliases in the DB Explorer tree;
- show/hide disconnected databases 68;
- show/hide empty <u>schemas</u> [189];
- configure table/view/procedure/UDF/other objects' details for the <u>SQL Assistant</u> area.



Use the <u>DB Explorer</u> [32] section of the <u>Environment Options</u> [32] dialog (**Options** | **Environment Options...**) to see more options to configure **Database Explorer**.

See also: Customize toolbars and menus DB Explorer options 832

3.11 Managing Favorite queries

90

Favorite Queries is a new feature of SQL Manager. Now you are provided with an opportunity to save the most frequently used SQL queries as Favorite Queries.

Use the **Favorite Queries** node of DB Explorer to access the list of your Favorite queries quickly. Queries stored in the database and those stored in Windows registry can be easily distinguished by their icons.

Using the context menu you can create a new Favorite query or edit an existing one using $\frac{Favorites editor}{439}$, open any of the existing queries in $\frac{Query Data}{Pata}$ or remove a query if you don't need it any longer.

📴 Reports ⊟ 🔭 Favorite Que	eries	s (2)	
Address → Employe → Scripts (3) → Favorite Ob	und A A	New Favorite Query Edit Favorite Query 'Address_upd' Delete Favorite Query 'Address_upd'	
E DemoDB on testi E LargeDB on door E TestDB on door E Server Objects	4	Open in Query Data New Sub Folder Refresh Favorite Queries F5	
		Tabs Search	•
		Collapse All Expand All	

You can also create a separate tab for your Favorite queries. See <u>Using tabs for database</u> <u>navigation</u> 77 section for details.

See also:

<u>Using tabs for database navigation</u> Favorites editor

3.12 Managing scripts

<u>Script</u> िग्री files stored locally on the server can be easily accessed from the <u>DB Explorer</u> ि within the **Scripts** branch.

Databases				
Reports Reports Favorite G Scripts (2 Create Favorite C Create Favorite C Create Large DB on tes Large DB on dr	Queri) Sal A A A	es (2) New Script Open in Script Editor Rename Script Drop Script Set Directory for Script Refresh Scripts Tabs Search Collapse All	ift+E)el F5 •
		Expand All		

To create new script right-click the appropriate branch in the DB Explorer tree and select the **New Script** item. You will be asked for the script name. When the name is assigned the script appears in the DB Explorer tree and the Execute Script of editor is opened.

New Script	×
Enter the script's new name	
new_script	
OK Cancel	

If a script is created in Execute Script editor and saved to the <u>default folder [12]</u>, it will appear in the DB Explorer tree automatically.

It is also possible to create subfolders in the **Scripts** branch by selecting the **New script folder** context menu item. Folders created there are created physically as subfolders to the folder assigned as default for local scripts in the **DB Registration info** | **Directories**.

To change directory where local scripts to be stored use the **Select Directory** item of the **Scripts** context menu, or use the respective column of the **DB Registration info** | **Directories** dialog. If specified folder already contains scripts, these scripts will be added to the <u>DBExplorer</u> [63] tree.

Using the context menu of a script you can:

- the script in the <u>Execute Script</u> ित । अ editor, rename the script,
- 🇯 drop the script.

See also: Execute Script ମେହା Database Explorer ସେ Database Registration Info



4 Database Management

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides a number of tools you may need to manage your SQL Server databases.

Find the list of common database management operations for working in SQL Manager below.

Unregistering Hosts

In order to unregister a host in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the host to unregister in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- select the **Database | Unregister Host** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding **Unregister Host** toolbar [917] button

or

- right-click the host alias and select the **Unregister Host** <u>context menu</u> [53] item in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- confirm unregistering in the corresponding dialog window.

Creating Databases

In order to create a database in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the **Database | Create Database** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding **Create Database** toolbar[917] button;
- set all the necessary options using <u>Create Database wizard</u> which guides you through the entire process of creating a new database.

Dropping Databases

In order to drop a database in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the database to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> 63 tree;
- select the Database | Drop Database main menu [915] item;
- confirm dropping in the corresponding dialog window.

Registering Databases

In order to register a single database in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

• select the **Database | Register Database...** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the

corresponding 🔄 **Register Database** <u>toolbar</u>জাৰ্শ button or

- right-click any database alias and select the **Register Database...** <u>context menu</u> [54] item in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- set all the necessary options using <u>Register Database wizard</u> which guides you through the entire process of database registration.

Unregistering Databases

In order to unregister a database in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the database to unregister in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- select the **Database | Unregister Database** <u>main menu</u>গ্রাহী item or use the corresponding **b Unregister Database** <u>toolbar</u> গ্রানী button

or

- right-click the database alias and select the **Unregister Database** context menu [54] item in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- confirm unregistering in the corresponding dialog window.

Connecting to Databases

In order to connect to a database in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the database to connect to in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- select the Database | Connect to Database main menu [913] item or use the corresponding X Connect to Database toolbar

or

• right-click the database alias and select the **Connect to Database** context menu item in the DB Explorer 63 tree.

Disconnecting from Databases

In order to disconnect from a database in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the database to disconnect from in the DB Explorer [63] tree;
- select the Database | Disconnect from Database main menu [913] item or use the corresponding **Disconnect from Database** toolbar 87 button

or

• right-click the database alias and select the **Disconnect from Database** context menu [54] item in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

Viewing and Editing Database Registration Info

In order to view/edit database registration info in SOL Manager for SOL Server:

- select the database or any of its objects in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- select the Database | Database Registration Info... main menu or
- right-click the database alias or any of its objects and select the Database **Registration Info...** <u>context menu</u> [54] item in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

Viewing and Editing Database Properties

In order to view/edit database properties in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the database in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the database alias and select the **Database Properties...** context menu [54] item or use the corresponding **Properties** toolbar 87 button.

Viewing and editing Server Properties

In order to view/edit server properties in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- select the host or a database that resides on this host in the DB Explorer [63] tree;
- right-click the host or the database alias and select the Server Properties context menu 53 item.

See also: Getting Started 41 Database Explorer 63 Database Objects Management 178 Query Management Tools 424 Data Management 462 Import/Export Tools 530 Database Tools 611 Server Tools 715 Personalization 824 External Tools 609 How To.... 657

4.1 Create Database wizard

97

Create Database wizard allows you to create a new database on your SQL Server host.

To start the wizard, select the **Database | Create Database...** <u>main menu</u> बाडी item, or use the **Latabase** button on the main <u>toolbar</u> बारी.



- <u>Setting database name</u> 97
- <u>Setting connection properties</u> [98]
- Defining database files 100
- Defining transaction log files 101
- Defining filestream files and filegroups 104
- <u>Setting recovery model and collation</u>
- Viewing result SQL statement 109

See also:

<u>Register Database wizard</u> <u>Database Registration Info</u> <u>Database Properties</u> 133

4.1.1 Setting database name

Use this step of the wizard to enter a **name** for the database being created.

Create Database Wizard				×
Create Database				
Specify the name for a n	ew database			
SQL Manager	Welcome to the Crea This wizard allows y Explorer. This wizard will gen it on MS SQL server.	ate Database Wizard! you to create a new database a erate the SQL statement for cre	and register it in the Database eating the database and exec	ute
SQL Server	<u>D</u> atabase name	new_db		
	Register after cre	eating		
<u>H</u> elp		< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cance	1

Register after creating

Check this option to register 111 the newly created database in SQL Manager (the Database Registration Info 116 dialog will be opened after database creation).

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting connection properties</u> step of the wizard.

4.1.2 Setting connection properties

Use this step of the wizard to set the necessary **connection parameters** for the database being created. Use the corresponding boxes and options: *Server name*, *Authentication*, *User name* and *Password*.

Create Database Wizard					×
Create Database					
Set connection properties	•				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Server <u>n</u> ame Note! Use server_r Authentication <u>W</u> indows auth <u>U</u> ser name Pa <u>s</u> sword	DOOM_SERVER\ name\instance_nam entication screans	TSERV2005 he form for name	ed instances of erver authentica	v the SQL Server.
Help			< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

Specify the host where the database being created will reside: type in the host name in the **Server name** field or select one in the drop-down list.

Please note that if Microsoft® SQL Server[™] is installed as a named instance, you should enter the name of your machine and the instance name in the **Server name** field in the following format: computer_name\sqlserver_instance_name (e.g. " MYCOMPUTER\SQLEXPRESS").

Authentication type

If 'SQL Server' has been selected as the *authentication type*, you should also provide *authorization* settings: **User name** and **Password**.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining database files</u> for step of the wizard.

4.1.3 SQL Server Database

4.1.3.1 Defining database files

This step of the wizard allows you to define **database files** for the new database.

Here you can specify that the disk files used to store the data portions of the database (data files) are defined explicitly, and fill the list of file items defining the data files for the primary file group.

To add a data file, right-click in the main working area and select the **+ Add File** popup menu item.

To remove a data file, right-click the file in the list and select the **— Delete File** popup menu item.

Create Database Wizard		:	X
Create Database			
Define database files for	a new database	3	
	Name	File Name and Path Size, MB Filegroup	
	TestDB	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MS: 3 PRIMARY	
SQL Manager for SQL Server			
	File size, MB	3 💌	_
	C Enable auto	omatic file growth	
	File growth -	Megabytes Percent Maximum file size 2 Unlimited	
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel	

The **Name** is a logical name used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements. The logical file name must conform to the rules for SQL Server identifiers and must be unique within the database.

The **File Name and Path** is the name of the physical file including the directory path. The path must follow the rules for operating system file names.

File Group

The *Primary* file group contains the primary data file and any other files not specifically

assigned to another file group. All pages for the system tables are allocated in the primary file group. *User-defined* file groups are any other file groups specified by the user. **Note:** You can manage file groups for an existing database using the <u>Filegroups</u> section of the <u>Database Properties</u> database.

File size

Use the spinner control to specify the original size of the selected database file (in megabytes).

SQL Server 2005 (and higher) database files can grow automatically from their originally specified size. When you define a file, you can specify a **file growth** increment (in *megabytes* or in *percent*). Each time the file fills, it increases its size by the growth increment. If there are multiple files in a file group, they do not autogrow until all the files are full. Growth then occurs using a round-robin algorithm.

Each file can also have **maximum file size** specified. If \blacksquare **Unlimited** is specified, the file can continue to grow until it has used all available space on the disk.

Note: After the database is created, you can manage database files using the <u>Data files</u> 148 section of the <u>Database Properties</u> 133 dialog.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining transaction log files</u> and step of the wizard.

4.1.3.2 Defining transaction log files

This step of the wizard allows you to define **transaction log files** for the new database.

Log files hold all of the log information used to recover the database. There must be at least one log file for each database, although there can be more than one. The recommended file name extension for log files is **.ldf*.

To add a log file, right-click in the main working area and select the **+ Add File** popup menu item.

To remove a log file, right-click the file in the list and select the **— Delete File** popup menu item.

Create Database Wizard					×
Create Database					
Define transaction log fi	les for a new datab	ase			
	Name	File Name and Pat	th		Size, MB
	TestDB	C:\Program Files\	/licrosoft SQL Ser	ver\MSSQL16.SQL2()2 3
SQL Manager for SQL Server					
	File size, MB		3		
	Enable autom	natic file growth			
	File growth	Megabytes Megabytes Percent 	Max	imum file size 2	mited
<u>H</u> elp			< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

The **Name** is a logical name used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements. The logical file name must conform to the rules for SQL Server identifiers and must be unique within the database.

The **File Name and Path** is the name of the physical file including the directory path. The path must follow the rules for operating system file names.

File size

Use the spinner control to specify the original size of the selected transaction log file (in megabytes).

SQL Server 2005 (and higher) transaction log files can grow automatically from their originally specified size. When you define a file, you can specify a **file growth** increment. Each time the file fills, it increases its size by the growth increment. If there are multiple files in a file group, they do not autogrow until all the files are full. Growth then occurs using a round-robin algorithm.

Each file can also have **maximum file size** specified. If **Unlimited** is specified, the file can continue to grow until it has used all available space on the disk.

Note: After the database is created, you can manage transaction log files using the Log files field section of the Database Properties field dialog.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining filestream files and filegroups</u> 104 step (for SQL Server 2008) or to the <u>Setting recovery model and collation</u> 106 step of the wizard.

4.1.3.3 Defining files for memory-optimized data

This step of the wizard allows you to define filegroup and files for memory-optimized data tables of the new database.

Note: This step is available for SQL Server 2014.

Creating a memory-optimized filegroup is necessary for creating memory-optimized tables. The memory-optimized filegroup holds one or more containers.

Use the **Memory-optimized data files** grid to add containers to the memory-optimized filegroup.

Create Database Wizard				×
Create Database				
Define files for memory-o	optimized data			
	Logical File Name	Data Folder	Unlimited Si	Maximum Size,
	MOFG1	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SC 📄	\checkmark	0
SQL Manager for SQL Server				
	Filegroup name	MOFG		
<u>H</u> elp		< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

To add a memory-optimized data file, right-click in the main working area and select the **New Memory-Optimized Data File** popup menu item.

To remove a memory-optimized data file, right-click the file in the list and select the **Delete Memory-Optimized Data File** popup menu item.

The **Logical File Name** is the name of the logical file storing the data used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements.

Data Folder

The physical location of the data. The directory must be located on the server where the database resides. Use the button to open the <u>SOL Server Folders</u> dialog to select the preferable directory.

Each file can also have **Maximum size** specified. Use the spinner control to specify the original size of the selected database file (in megabytes). If \blacksquare **Unlimited Size** is specified, the file can continue to grow until it has used all available space on the disk.

Name of filegroup for memory-optimized data

Specify the name of the memory-optimized filegroup on the database.

4.1.3.4 Defining filestream files and filegroups

This step of the wizard allows you to define **filestream files and filegroups** for the new database.

Note: This step is available for SQL Server 2008 (and higher).

In SQL Server 2008, FILESTREAM enables the application to store unstructured data (such as text documents, images, videos, etc.) on the file system. FILESTREAM integrates the SQL Server Database Engine with an NTFS file system by storing varbinary (max) binary large object (BLOB) data as files on the file system. Transact-SQL statements can insert, update, query, search, and back up FILESTREAM data. Win32 file system interfaces provide streaming access to the data.

To add a filestream file, right-click in the main working area and select the **+ Add Filestream File** popup menu item.

To remove a filestream file, right-click the file in the list and select the **— Delete Filestream File** popup menu item.

Create Database Wizard					×
Create Database					
Define filestream files an	d filegroups				
	Logical File Name	Data Folder	Filegroup Name	Read Only	Default
	FS01	C:\Program Files\EMS' 📄	FSGroup1		
SQL Manager for SQL Server	<				>
Help		< <u>B</u> a	ick <u>N</u> ext >	C	ancel

The **Logical File Name** is the name of the logical file storing the data used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements.

Directory

The physical location of the data. The directory must be located on the server where the database resides.

Filegroup Name

Specify the name of the filestream filegroup.

Read Only

Specifies that the filestream filegroup is read-only. Updates to objects that reside in this filestream filegroup are not allowed. The default fiestream filegroup cannot be read-only.

Default

The filestream fields data will be stored in this filestream filegroup if none was specified for the table.

Note: After the database is created, you can manage filestream files using the <u>Filestream</u> <u>files and filegroups</u> [154] section of the <u>Database Properties</u> [133] dialog.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting recovery model and collation</u> step of

the wizard.

4.1.3.5 Setting recovery model and collation

This step of the wizard allows you to set **recovery model** and **collation** for the new database.

Create Database Wizard		×
Create Database		
Set recovery model and o	ollation. Click the Run button to create a new database.	
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Recovery model Full Bulk-logged Simple Database collation <server default=""> Click 'Run' to create the database.</server>	~
<u>H</u> elp	< <u>B</u> ack <u>R</u> un Can	cel

Recovery model

SQL Server recovery models are used for backup and restore operations. A *recovery model* is a database property that controls the basic behavior of backup and restore operations for a database: how transactions are logged, whether the transaction log requires backup, what kinds of restore operations are available, etc.

🖲 Full

When this recovery model is set, all transactions are fully logged and all the transaction log records are retained until after they are backed up. In the Enterprise Edition of SQL Server, the full recovery model allows a database to be recovered to the point of failure, assuming that the tail of the log has been backed up after the failure.

Bulk-logged

When this recovery model is set, most bulk operations are minimally logged (e.g. index creation and bulk loads), and other transactions are fully logged.

Simple

When this recovery model is set, most transactions are minimally logged: only the information required to ensure database consistency after a system crash or after restoring a data backup.

For detailed information concerning recovery models refer to SQL Server documentation.

Database collation

Use the drop-down list to specify collation for the database being created. By default, the server collation is used.

When you are done, click the **Run** button to view the <u>result SQL statement</u> 109.

4.1.4 SQL Azure Database

4.1.4.1 Setting SQL Azure Database options

On this step of the wizard you can set options specific for Azure SQL Database.

Create Database Wizard		
Create Database		
Specify Azure SQL Datab	ase options	
	Specify Azure SQL Da	tabase options.
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Database edition	 Basic Standard Premium Web Business
	Performance level	P1 (100 DTU)
	Note! Web and Busine	ss editions will be retired September 2015.
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Database Edition

Here you can set the edition of the SQL Azure database.

Basic

Small databases with a single operation at a given point in time.

Standard

Workgroup and cloud applications with multiple concurrent transactions.

Premium

Mission-critical, high transactional volume with many concurrent users.

🖲 Web

Web apps, workgroup, dept. apps, and other lightweight database workloads.

Business

Lightweight database workloads that require larger sizes than supported with Web.

Note: Web and Businesss editions will be retired September 2015.

Performance Level

Use the drop-down list to select the Performance Level for the database. Performance levels are specific for the selected database edition.

Maximum size

Specifies the maximum size of the database. This value must be valid for the specified Edition.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting database collation</u> step of the wizard.

4.1.4.2 Setting database collation

This step of the wizard allows you to set the **collation** for the new database.


Database collation

Use the drop-down list to specify collation for the database being created. By default, the server collation is used.

Note: SQL Azure Database collation cannot be changed after the database is created.

When you are done, click the **Run** button to view the <u>result SQL statement</u> المعالم.

4.1.5 Viewing result SQL statement

View the result *CREATE DATABASE* statement issued for the new database creation. You can alter the script manually, if necessary. For more information see <u>Changing Metadata</u> window [923].

```
Changing Metadata
Compile SQL
  CREATE DATABASE new db
                                                             ~
    ON PRIMARY
2
  ( NAME = TestDB,
        FILENAME = N'C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL
4
    Server\MSSQL16.SQL2022\MSSQL\DATA\TestDB Data.mdf',
5
        SIZE = 3 MB,
        MAXSIZE = UNLIMITED,
6
7
        FILEGROWTH = 10 % ),
8
    FILEGROUP FSGroup1 CONTAINS FILESTREAM
  \dot{\Box} (NAME = FS01,
10
        FILENAME = N'C:\Program Files\EMS\' ),
   FILEGROUP MOFG CONTAINS MEMORY OPTIMIZED DATA
11
  Image: Original ( NAME = MOFG1,
        FILENAME = N'C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL
13
    Server\MSSQL16.SQL2022\MSSQL\DATA\MOFG1',
        MAXSIZE = UNLIMITED )
14
15
    LOG ON
  ( NAME = TestDB,
        FILENAME = N'C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL
17
    Server\MSSQL16.SQL2022\MSSQL\DATA\TestDB Log.ldf',
18
        SIZE = 3 MB,
        MAXSIZE = UNLIMITED,
19
20
        FILEGROWTH = 10 %)
21
   GO
22
  EALTER DATABASE new db
24 SET RECOVERY FULL
25
  GO
      Copy Information to Clipboard
                                        Execute
                                                     Cancel
 Don't show this window on su
```

If the **Register after creating** option was checked at the <u>Setting database name</u> of the wizard, the <u>Database Registration Info</u> dialog will appear.

4.2 Register Database wizard

Register Database Wizard allows you to register a single database.

To start the wizard, select the **Database | Register Database...** <u>main menu and menu and item</u>, or use the **Register Database** button on the main <u>toolbar and</u>. You can also use the Shift+Alt+R <u>shortcut</u> [552] for the same purpose.

<u>D</u> ata	abase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	<u>S</u> ervices	<u>O</u> ptions	Windows	<u>H</u> elp	
🤮 Register Database		Shift	+Alt+R					
Database Registration Info								

- <u>Setting connection parameters</u>
- <u>Setting specific options</u> 113

See also: Create Database wizard Database Registration Info Database Properties

4.2.1 Setting connection parameters

Use this step of the wizard to set the necessary **connection parameters** for the new database using the corresponding boxes and options: *Host name*, *Authentication*, *User name* and *Password*.

Register Database Wizard		×			
Register Database					
Specify the connection pa	arameters				
Ē	Welcome to the Reg This wizard allows only once, giving yo This wizard will guik parameters, selectin	ister Database Wizard! you to set the connection parameters for the selected databases u the possibility to connect them quickly afterwards. de you through the process of setting the connection ng databases, and customizing their specific options.			
SOL	Server <u>n</u> ame	dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005 ~			
Manager for SQL Server	Note! Use server_na Authentication O <u>W</u> indows authe	ame\instance_name form for named instances of the SQL Server.			
	User name	screens			
	Pa <u>s</u> sword	•••••			
	Trust server cer	tificate			
	✓ Register a single	database			
		Start SQL Server Client Network Utility			
Help		< Back Next > Cancel			

Specify the host where the database being registered resides: type in the host name in the **Server name** field or select one in the drop-down list.

Please note that if Microsoft® SQL Server[™] is installed as a named instance, you should enter the name of your machine and the instance name in the **Host name** field in the following format: *computer_name\sqlserver_instance_name* (e.g. "*MYCOMPUTER\SQLEXPRESS*").

Authentication type

Specify the type of Microsoft® SQL Server[™] authentication to be used for the connection: *Windows* authentication or *SQL Server* authentication. It is strongly recommended to avoid using SQL Server authentication with "sa" as the login.

If 'SQL Server' has been selected as the *authentication type*, you should also provide *authorization* settings: **User name** and **Password**.

Trust server certificate

If you use this option, the connection process skips the trust chain validation. In this case, the application connects even if the certificate can't be verified.

If necessary, you can **start SQL Server Configuration Manager** which is provided by Microsoft® for configuration management of SQL Server services, server/client protocols and client aliases.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting specific options</u> 113 step or to the <u>Selecting databases</u> 113 step of the wizard, depending on whether the **Register a single database** option has been selected or not.

4.2.2 Selecting databases

This step of the wizard allows you to select the database(s) that reside on the host for registration in SQL Manager.

To select a database, you need to move it from the **Available databases** list to the **Selected databases** list. Use the **Selected databases** list. Use the **Selected databases** list to another.

Register Database Wizard X					
Register Database					
Select databases to regis					
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Available databases AdventureWorks AdventureWorks_dev comp_source_db LA1 Localizer master model msdb new_db123test newtest_db newtest_db2 temndb		Selected databases EMS gmv_rest testDoc		
Help		< [Back Next > Cano	el	

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting specific options</u> 113 step of the wizard.

4.2.3 Setting specific options

This step of the wizard allows you to set the **database name**, **database alias**, and **registration options** (using the *General* and *Logs* tabs).

Register Database Wizard		:	X
Register Database			
Set some specific option	s for registered database(s) and click the 'Finish' button	
	Database <u>n</u> ame	AdventureWorks	7
PID	Database <u>a</u> lias	AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005(1)	
	General Logs		
SQL Manager for SQL Server	□ Login prompt before ☑ Refresh objects on □ Always use client o	e connection Autoconnect at startup connection Show system objects cursor to get data (should be ON on remote connections)	
Help		< Back Finish Cancel	

The **General** tab allows you to set common database registration options:

Database name

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the database to be registered.

Database alias

Enter the alias to be used to display the database in <u>DB Explorer</u> and SQL Manager tools. By default, a database alias generated by the application has the following format: <database_name> on <host_name[\instance_name]>

Login prompt before connection

Enables SQL Manager for SQL Server to prompt [947] for user name and password each time you <u>connect</u> [68] to the database.

Autoconnect at startup

With this option set, <u>connection</u>⁶⁸ to the registered database is established automatically at application startup.

Refresh objects on connection

This option allows you to enable/disable refreshing objects on connection to the database. It is highly recommended to uncheck this option if your database contains many objects or if connection to the database is slow.

Show system objects

If this option is checked, SQL Server system objects will be displayed in <u>DB Explorer</u> 63.

General Logs		
Enable log of me	tadata changes	Is Unicode
Log <u>f</u> ile	MS\SQL Manager for SQL Ser	ver\metadata_changes.sql 듽
🗹 Enable log of Qu	iery Data <u>q</u> ueries	Is Unicode
Log file	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL	.Server\editor_changer.sql 듽

The **Logs** tab allows you to set log options for the database:

Enable log of metadata changes

Check this option if you wish to log metadata changes of your database in a file.

Log file

This field is enabled if the **Enable log of metadata changes** option is selected. Type in or use the \blacksquare **Save as** button to specify the path to the *.sql file to store the metadata logs.

Enable log of Query Data queries

Check this option if you wish to log your <u>Query Data 426</u> queries in a file.

Log file

This field is enabled if the **Enable log of Query Data queries** option is selected. Type in or use the \blacksquare **Save as** button to specify the path to the *.sql file to store the logs of SQL queries.

🗹 Is Unicode

Enable this option to save logs in Unicode. If the option is disabled, ANSI will be used.

Click the **Finish** button when done to start working with the newly registered database in SQL Manager for SQL Server.

4.3 Database Registration Info

Use the **Database Registration Info** dialog to view and edit the registration properties of the database.

To open the dialog, select the database or any of its objects in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree, then select the **Database | Database Registration Info...** main menu[915] item, or rightclick the database alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] and use the **Database Registration Info...** <u>context menu</u> [54] item. You can also use the **B tabase Registration Info...** button on the main toolbar [917].



- Editing connection properties [116]
- <u>Setting database options</u> 118
- Setting display options 120
- Setting default directories 121
- <u>Setting log options</u>121
- Setting data options 123
- Find Option 131

See also:

<u>Register Database wizard</u> विभि <u>Create Database wizard</u> जिरी <u>Database Properties</u> विअये

4.3.1 Connection

The **Connection** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to view and/or edit the connection properties in the corresponding boxes: *Host name*, *Authentication*, *User name*, *Password*, *Database name*, *Database alias*, *Font charset*, *OLE DB Provider*.

Database Registration Info			×
Connection	Connection		
Options Options Display Options Urectories Logs Data Options ODL to Files Find Option	Server <u>n</u> ame Authentication O <u>W</u> indows authenticati User name Pa <u>s</u> sword	doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 on SQL Server authentication tester	
	Database name Database alias Server alias Trust server certificate Data type compatibility OLE DB Provider OLE DB Provider OLE DB Provider for Server ver OLE DB Provider for Server ver OLE DB Provider for Server ver OLE DB Provider for Server ver	AdventureWorks AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 sion SQL Native Client 2005 SQL Server SQL Native Client 2008 SQL Native Client 2012	~
Test Connection	Load Connection Info	▼ OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp)

Server name

Stores the name of the Host where the database resides.

Authentication

Specifies the type of Microsoft[®] SQL Server[™] authentication used for the connection:

Windows authentication

Select this type if you wish to use Windows Integrated Security for the login.

SQL Server authentication

Select this type if you wish to use SQL Server Authentication for the login. SQL Server Authentication stores logins and passwords in SQL Server and does not depend upon Windows. You can select SQL Server Authentication only if SQL Server Authentication has been enabled on the server.

User name

If necessary, edit the User name used to access the database (SQL Server authentication).

Password

If necessary, edit the Password used to access the database (SQL Server authentication).

Trust server certificate

If you use this option, the connection process skips the trust chain validation. In this case, the application connects even if the certificate can't be verified.

Data type compatibility

Use this option to apply date time custom mask to query results specified at $\frac{\text{Color }\&}{\text{Formats}}$

Database name

Stores the name of the database.

Database alias

Stores the database alias which is displayed in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and SQL Manager tools. By default, a database alias generated by the application has the following format: <database_name> on <host_name[\instance_name]>

Font charset

Stores the character set used to display data in the grid 465.

OLE DB Provider

The list of drivers is based on the ones available in the system. Select the preferable OLE DB Provider to be used for the connection; it affects the program behaviour on processing some specific data types, such as XML and TIME, and on performing T-SQL statements.

Once you have specified the connection properties, you can check whether it is possible to establish connection to the database: click the **Test Connect** button for this purpose. If connection is successful, you will get the 'Connected!' message; otherwise an error message will be returned.

The **Copy Alias from...** menu allows you to select the alias of a previously registered database and use it for the newly created/configured database.

4.3.2 Options

The **Options** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to set various options for the database.

Database Registration Info		×
Connection	Options	
Options Options Display Options Logs Obta Options Obta Options Obta Options Find Option	 Login grompt before connection Autoconnect at startup Show system objects Refresh objects on connection Don't use this database registration info to get server objects Schema-organized database tree (for SQL Server 2005 and higher) Ping server every 600 ★ seconds 	
Test Connection	Load Connection Info)

Customize common database options according to your needs. The detailed description is given below.

Login prompt before connection

Enables SQL Manager for SQL Server to prompt [947] for user name and password each time you <u>connect</u> [68] to the database.

Autoconnect at startup

Check this option to specify that SQL Manager for SQL Server automatically establishes connection to the registered database at application startup.

Show system objects

This option determines whether SQL Server system objects are displayed in the \underline{DB} $\underline{Explorer}$ and tree.

Refresh objects on connection

This option allows you to enable/disable refreshing objects on connection to the database. It is highly recommended to uncheck this option if your database contains many objects or if connection to the database is slow.

Don't use this database registration info to get server objects

If this option is enabled, the registration info of this database will not be used to establish server connection and get server objects (when expanding the **Server Objects** node in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63]).

Schema-organized database tree

If this option is disabled, the object tree is built without grouping into $\frac{189}{189}$ (for SQL Server 2005 and higher).

Ping server every ... seconds

If this option is ON, the program sends 'SELECT 1' statement every period specified to keep active connection to the server.

4.3.3 Display options

The **Display Options** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to specify which <u>objects</u> 178 will be displayed in the <u>Database Explorer</u> 63 tree.

Use custom color for DB editors

With this option unchecked the text color for editor tabs is black. To apply user font color check the option and select the color.

Database Registration Info		×
Connection	Display Options	
Options	Use custom color for DB editors	#FF00FF
	Objects to display in DB Explorer	
E Logs	✓ Tables	Asymmetric Keys
Data Options	Views	Certificates
DDL to Files	Procedures	✓ Defaults
Find Option	UDFs	✓ Rules
	UDTs	Message Types
	✓ Triggers	Contracts
	✓ Indices	Queues
	Sequences	Services
	Users	Routes
	Roles	Remote Service Bindings
	Assemblies	DB Scoped Credentials
	DDL Triggers	External Data Sources
	Synonyms	External File Formats
	Partition Functions	External Tables
	Partition Schemes	Reports
	Full-Text Catalogs	Favorite Queries
	Aggregates	Scripts
	XML Schema Collections	Favorite Objects
	Symmetric Keys	
Test Connection	Load Connection Info	OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

For your convenience the *Select All* and *Deselect All* functions are implemented in the **context menu** of the objects list area.

See also:

Database and Server Objects Management

4.3.4 Default directories

The **Directories** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to set the directories to be used by default for <u>database extract</u> [526], <u>data export</u> [531], <u>data import</u> [571], <u>saving HTML reports</u> [659], <u>creating reports</u> [659], saving <u>scripts</u> [619] operations.

Database Registration Info	×
Connection	Directories
Options	Default directory for Extract Metadata
Directories	D:\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Metadata\AW on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005\
E Logs	Default directory for Export Data
Data Options	D:\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Exports\AW on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005\
DDL to Files	Default directory for Import Data
	D:\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Imports\AW on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005\
	Default directory for <u>H</u> TML Report
	D:\SQL Manager for SQL Server\HTMLReports\AW on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005\
	Default directory for <u>R</u> eports
	D:\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Reports\AW on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005\
	Default directory for Scripts
	D:\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Scripts\AW on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005\
Test Connection	Load Connection Info - OK <u>Cancel H</u> elp

4.3.5 Logs

The **Logs** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to specify log file names for metadata changes logging and SQL query logging, if necessary.

Logging can be useful when you are going to move the changes made in the development database to the production database.

Database Registration Info		×
Connection	Logs	
Display Options	Metadata changes Image: Metadata change Image: Metadata log file	
Data Options	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\metadata_changes.sql	
A Find Option	Query Data log file	
	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\editor_changes.sql	
-		
Test Connection	Load Connection Info	<u>H</u> elp

Metadata changes

Enable log of metadata changes

Check this option if you wish to log metadata changes of your database in a file.

Metadata log file

This field is enabled if the **Enable log of metadata changes** option is selected. Type in or use the **Save as** \blacksquare button to specify the path to the *.sql file to store the metadata logs.

Query Data

Enable log of Query Data queries

Check this option if you wish to log your <u>Query Data 426</u> queries in a file.

Query Data log file

This field is enabled if the **Enable log of Query Data queries** option is selected. Type in or use the **Save as** is button to specify the path to the **.sql* file to store the logs of SQL queries: date/time of query execution, SQL text, execution result or errors (if any).

In Unicode

Enable this option to save logs in Unicode. If the option is disabled, ANSI will be used.

4.3.6 Data options

The **Data Options** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to define options for <u>data view</u> [463]. These options will be applied only to this database. Default settings for newly registered databases can be defined on the <u>Grid | Data Options</u> [857] page of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog.

Database Registration Info	×
Connection Options Display Options Directories Logs Data Options DDL to Files Find Option	Data Options Default limit options in table and view editors Select all records from a table Select only 1000 → records Advanced Asynchronous query execution * Use transactions in object editors, Query Data and Design Query Use separate connections for each data view within a database * Optimize fetching for connection with long response time (e.g. by Internet)
	Default Grid Mode Load all records Load visible rows mode if records more than 3000
Test Connection	Note: Changes of these options do not influence the way data are viewed in currently opened windows. Load Connection Info OK Cancel Help

Default limit options in table and view editors

Define the number of records to be selected on opening the **Data** tab of Table Editor

and <u>View Editor</u> 2461:

Select all records from a table

Select only ... records (you should set the number of records using the corresponding spinner control)

Advanced

Asynchronous query execution

Check this option to allow executing queries in background mode (asynchronously).

W Use transactions in object editors, Query Data and Design Query

If this option is enabled, a transaction is active until the 'Data' tab is closed or the 'Commit' button is pressed; all edited records are blocked until the transaction is committed. If this option is disabled, the transaction starts and is immediately committed (autocommit) on saving each record which is blocked only for a short period of time.

W Use separate connections for each data view within a database

Select this option to use a separate connection for each <u>data view</u> [463] within a database. Disabling this option is recommended if maximum allowed number of connections is too low. Note that this option is only available when the *Use transactions in Data tab of object editors, Query Data and Design Query* option is enabled.

Optimize fetching for connection with long response time

Select this option to use optimized methods of fetching data from the database if the response time for the connection is long (e.g. the database resides on a server in Internet).

Default Grid Mode

Load visible rows

The grid loads only a fixed number of dataset records into memory. This option minimizes dataset loading time. The automatic sorting, filtering, summary calculations are not supported in this mode.

Load all rows

The grid loads all records from a dataset. This option increases the grid performance by reloading only changed dataset records when updating. In this mode all features (automatic sorting, filtering and summary calculations) are available.

Default Grid Mode defines grid mode which will be used by default.

With the **Load all rows** option enabled, when loading data, all the records are loaded into grid buffers. In this mode opening the tables with many records may take a very long time. But in this case you have some advantages: e.g. in the filter drop-down list the column headers are displayed with the values for quick filter; it is possible to open several sublevels at the same time when viewing data in master-detail view, etc. Because opening and other operations with an object consisting of many records takes

sufficient time the **Load visible rows** mode should be used instead. It can be set individually for each table and is saved between sessions (can be set through the <u>context</u> $\underline{\text{menu}}_{472}$ of the grid).

Load visible rows mode if records more than...

Set this option to switch to the **Load visible rows** mode when the number of records in the dataset exceeds the specified value.

See also: <u>Grid View</u>46ର୍ଗ <u>Grid options</u>85ର୍ଗ

4.3.7 DDL to Files

The **DDL to Files** section of the **Database Registration Info** dialog allows you to set options for saving database objects definitions to files. Saving objects definitions to files allows using external tools for processing database scripts or using version control systems for their storage.

To launch the **Database Registration Info** dialog with **DDL to Files** tab opened use the **Tools | DDL to Files | G Options** main menu item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> **G** tree and select the **Tasks | DDL to Files | G Options** item of the <u>context menu</u> **S I**.

Database Registration Info		×
Connection	DDL to Files	
Options Options Display Options Consecutive Directories Coss Data Options ODL to Files Find Option	Write object definition to a file after compilation Root folder for storing object definitions C:\wc\aschellAW File to store common options (relative path) CommonOptions.txt File to store object file names (relative path) ObjFileNames.txt Image: Confirm file name for new objects OS command after creating a file (available tags: {file_name}) svn add (file_name) OS command before updating a file (available tags: {file_name})	
	OS command after deleting a file (available tags: {file_name})	
	svn delete (file_name)	
	Write All Objects Now Generate Script	
Test Connection	Load Connection Info – OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Write object definition to a file after compilation

Check this option if you want to save objects DDL after changing their definition and subsequent compilation.

Root folder for storing object definitions

Use the button to select the directory for storing files with objects DDL. In order to make this data be under version control this directory must be a working copy.

File to store common options (relative path)

Enter the name of *.xml file that will contain the list of types of objects which definitions should be stored in files. This file contains templates of object file names as well. **Note:** If you do not provide the full path to the file it is stored in the directory defined in the **Root folder for storing object definitions** field. To select another location use the button.

Click the **Edit File** button to select object types and set templates for file names in the Options for Storing Object Definitions 128 dialog.

File to store object file names (relative path)

Enter the name of *.txt file that will contain object names and file names respective to

those objects.

Note: If you do not provide the full path to the file it is stored in the directory defined in the **Root folder for storing object definitions** field. To select another location use the button.

Click the **Edit File** button to set file names in the Object File Names 129 dialog.

Confirm file name for new object

If this option is checked then you will be asked to set a file name for a newly created object in the **Confirm Object File Names** dialog. The file name for a new object is generated automatically based on defined <u>templates</u> 128 but you can change it if needed.

onfirm Object File Names			×
Object file names			
Object Name	Map to File	File Name	
HumanResources.Departments		Tables\HumanResources_Departments.sql	
		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	p

The following fields can be used for working with version control systems.

OS command after creating a file

Enter any command that will be executed after a file with object definition is created. If you are using version control system then, for example, the following command can be entered: *svn add* {*file_name*} (for Subversion revision control system) where {*file_name*} stands for the respective newly created name of a file with object definition.

OS command before updating a file

Enter any command that will be executed before a file with object definition is updated. If you are using version control system then, for example, the following command can be entered: *ss checkout* {*file_name*} -*C*- (for Visual Source Safe revision control system) where {*file_name*} stands for the respective name of a file with object definition being updated.

OS command after deleting a file

Enter any command that will be executed after a file with object definition is deleted. If you are using version control system then, for example, the following command can be entered: *svn del {file_name}* (for Subversion revision control system) where *{file_name}* stands for the respective name of a file with object definition being deleted.

Click the **Write All Objects Now** button to save immediately all selected objects definitions to respective files set in the <u>Object file names</u> dialog. The content of already existing files will be updated.

Click the **Generate Script...** button to create an *.sql file containing definitions of all objects. The order of objects definitions is the same as in the <u>Object file names</u> 129 dialog.

4.3.7.1 Options for storing object definitions

This dialog is used for selecting object types to be saved and setting templates for file names.

For objects of non-selected types definition is saved.

Options for Storing Object Definitions				
Include the following object types				
Object Type	Included	Subfolder for Object Files	^	
Tables	\checkmark	Tables		
Le Views		Views		
Frocedures	\checkmark	Procedures		
≰ UDFs	\checkmark	UDFs		
🛀 UDTs		UDTs		
🛃 Triggers		Triggers		
Indices	\checkmark	Indices		
Sequences		Sequences		
Select All		Users		
🔊 Roles Unselect All		Roles		
E Assemblies	\checkmark	Assemblies		
📳 Schemas	\checkmark	Schemas	~	
Note. If subobjects (e.g. triggers) are included to save definition to separate files, their definition is excluded from definition of container object.				
Schema objects (available tags: {schema_name},	{object_name})	{schema_name}_{object_name}.sql		
Non-schema objects (available tags: {object_name})	4	{object_name}.sql		
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> e	lp	

Include the following object types

This grid contains the list of object types presented in a database. To select an object type check the corresponding checkbox in the *Included* column. For your convenience the *Select All* and *Unselect All* functions are implemented in the **context menu** of the list area.

Note: If subobjects (e.g. triggers) are included to save definition to separate files, their definition is excluded from definition of container object.

If you create or edit an object of the selected object type its definition is written to its corresponding *.sql file. Existing objects of the selected types can be chosen in the <u>Object file names</u> 129 dialog.

The directory for storing same type objects is defined in the *Subfolder for Object Files* column. By default all folders have the same names as the corresponding object types. **Note:** If you do not provide the full path to the folder it is stored in the directory defined in the **Root folder for storing object definitions** field. To select another location use

the 🖄 button. This button appears on clicking the corresponding cell.

Templates of object file names

Use this group of options to define templates for file names that are used for storing objects definitions.

For your convenience tags are provided. You can use {*object_name*} tag both for **schema** and **non-schema objects** files templates. For schema objects a {*schema_name*} tag is available as well. Files extension is optional.

4.3.7.2 Object file names

This dialog is used for managing objects that should be written to files and respective file names.

The order of objects definitions in the general script that is created on clicking the **Generate Script...** button coincides with the objects order in this list.

🌃 Object File Names					×
Database objects file names					
Object Name	Object Type		File Name		
E HumanResources.employee	Table		Tables\Huma	nResources_er	mployee.sql
E HumanResources.product	Table		Tables\Huma	nResources_pr	roduct.sql
dbo.udfBuildISO8601Date	User-Defined	Func	tion UDFs\dbo_ud	dfBuildISO8601[Date.sql
dbo.udfMinimumDate	User-Defined	Func	tion UDFs\dbo uo	dfMinimumDate.	sal
dbo.vAssocSeqLineItems	View		Add Objects	Ins	ms.sql
dbo.vAssocSeqOrders	View		Insert Objects	. Ctrl+Ins	s.sql
dbo.vDMPrep	View		Add All Objects		
dbo.vTargetMail	View		Add Files		
dbo.vTimeSeries	View		Insert Files		
HumanResources.dEmployee	View		Delete	Del	ployee.sql
			Delete	Del	
			Select Not Foun	id Objects	
			Generate File Na	ame	
			Move Up	Ctrl+Up	1
			Move Down	Ctrl+Down	
		_			
			<u>О</u> К	<u>C</u> an	cel <u>H</u> elp

If a database object is not added to this list its definition is not saved to file. To manage this list use the grid context menu.

To add all already existing database objects of <u>selected types</u> [128] use the **Add All Objects** context menu item.

To add separate objects use the **Add Objects...** or **Insert Objects...** context menu item. Pick up needed object(s) in the opened <u>Select Object dialog</u> जित्ती.

File names are generated automatically according to templates defined in the <u>Options for</u> storing object definitions dialog. You can change the file name and its path if needed

by pressing the \bowtie button. For your convenience the **Generate File Name** option is available. If the **File Name** field is empty due to some reasons you can use this option to set the default file name based on corresponding templates 128.

You can add any *.sql files to this list that are not associated with objects definitions. For example, you can add a file with a script for filling up a table with data. Use the **Add Files...** or **Insert Files...** commands for this purpose. After the file is added to the list select the *SQL* as the *Object Type* for it and define the *Object Name*.

To remove files from the list use the **Delete...** context menu item. The multiple select is

available.

Use the **Select Not Found Objects** context menu item to reveal objects that are presented in the list but do not exist in the database.

Use the **Move up** and the **Move down** context menu items to reorder the objects.

4.3.8 Find Option

The **Find Option** section allows you to search for options available within the **Database Registration Info** dialog easily and quickly.

Option

In this field you can enter the name of the option to search for within the database registration options.

Database Registration Info					×
Connection	Find Option				
Options	Option	use			
Directories Logs Data Options DDL to Files	Available Opt Use custom o Use separate Use r name Don't use this Use transacti	tions color for DB edito connections fo database regis ions in object ed	Option Kind Database Registrat Database Registrat Database Registrat Database Registrat Database Registrat	Category Display Options Data Options Connection Options Data Options	Group Advanced Authentication Advanced
					Show Option
Test Connection	Load Conne	ection Info	• OK	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp

The **Available options** area lists all options of the Database Registration category according to the specified name. The **Option Kind**, **Category** and **Group** columns specify option type and location.

Select the required option in the list and click \swarrow **Show Option** to open the corresponding section where you can view/edit the value of this option. For your convenience the required option is marked with an animated \aleph icon.

4.4 Database Properties

The **Database Properties** dialog allows you to view/edit a number of properties which can be changed to optimize database performance.

To open the dialog, right-click the database alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] and select the **Database Properties...** <u>context menu</u> [54] item, or use the **Properties** button on the DB Explorer toolbar [87].

A number of database-level options that determine the characteristics of the database can be set for each database. Only the system administrator, database owner, members of the **sysadmin** and **dbcreator** fixed <u>server roles</u> and **db_owner** fixed <u>database roles</u> and **db_owner** fixed <u>database roles</u> and **db_owner** fixed <u>database</u> roles. These options are unique to each database and do not affect other databases.

X	Connect to Database	Shift+Ctrl+C
•	Disconnect from Database	Shift+Ctrl+D
	Tasks	•
*	Database Properties	
₿.	Create Database	
6	Drop Database	
е,	Register Database	Shift+Alt+R
8	Database Registration Info	
8	Unregister Database	Shift+Alt+U
Ģ	Unregister Host	
	Script to New SQL Editor	•
	Script to Clipboard	•
9	Show <u>H</u> osts	
	Sort by Aliases	
	Hide Disconnected Databas	es
2	Refresh Database	F5
	Test Connection (Reconnection	t)
1	New Tab from Here	
	Rename Current Tab	
	Delete Current Tab	
\mathcal{P}	Find Object	Ctrl+F

- Information 134
- Options 135

- ✓ <u>Recovery options</u> 138
- ANSI options 139
- ✓ <u>SQL options</u> 141
- <u>Automation options</u> 142
- ✓ Cursor options 144
- ✓ Advanced database options 146
- Data files 148
- Transaction log files 150
- Filegroups 153
- Filestream files and filegroups 154
- Find Option 156

See also: <u>Register Database wizard</u> <u>Create Database wizard</u> Database Registration Info

4.4.1 Information

The **Information** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to view the database summary: Database name, Database owner, Total database size, Database available space, Total data size (used by data, used by indices, unused space), Total transaction log size (used space, unused space), Last full/differential/transaction log backup dates.

Database Properties - product on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 < product>				
Information	Information			
⊕	Database name	product		
Memory-optimized data files	Total database size	13,00 MB		
Filestream files/filegroups	Total data size Used by data	4,55 MB 1,52 MB		
	Used by indices Unused space	1,45 MB 1,59 MB		
	Total transaction log size Used space	5,00 MB 0,41 MB		
	Unused space Last full backup date	4,59 MB 28.03.2024 11:22:00		
	Last differential backup date Last transaction log backup date	28.03.2024 11:22:16 28.03.2024 11:22:23		
		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp		

See also: Options Data files Log files Filegroups Filestream files and filegroups Find Option 15ଣ

4.4.2 Options

The **Options** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to view/edit options pertaining to the SQL Server database in groups: *General, Recovery, ANSI, SQL, Auto, Cursor, FileTable, Advanced*.

- <u>Recovery options</u> 138
- ANSI options 139
- <u>SQL options</u> 141
- Automation options 142
- <u>Cursor options</u>
- FileTable options
- Advanced 146

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	\times
Information	Options	
Options Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	Read-only mode (READ_ONLY) Can be source or target of cross-database ownership chain (DB_CHAINING) Database modules can access resources outside of database (TRUSTWORTHY) State Online (ONLINE) Closed and shutdown (OFFLINE) Read-only, logging disabled except sysadmin members (EMERGENCY) Connection mode Multi user (MULTI_USER) Members of db_owner, dbcreator, or sysadmin only (RESTRICTED_USER) Single user (SINGLE_USER) Transparent data encryption (ENCRYPTION)	
	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel H</u> elp)

Options

Read-only mode (READ_ONLY)

When this option is enabled, the database is in read-only mode. Users can retrieve data from the database, but cannot modify the data, because a read-only database does not allow data modifications:

a. Automatic <u>recovery</u> [138] is skipped at system startup.

b. <u>Shrinking</u> [755] the database is not possible.

c. No locking takes place in read-only databases, which can result in faster $\frac{query}{424}$

Can be source or target of cross-database ownership chain (DB_CHAINING)

When this option is checked, *DB_CHAINING* is enabled and the database can be the source or target of a cross-database ownership chain. When the option is unchecked, the database cannot participate in cross-database ownership chaining. You can change this option for user databases, but not for system databases.

W Database modules can access resources outside of database (TRUSTWORTHY)

When this option is on, database modules (for example, <u>views</u>^[246], <u>user-defined functions</u> ^[259], or <u>stored procedures</u>^[253]) that use an impersonation context are allowed to access resources outside of the database.

State

ONLINE

The database is open and available for use (enabled by default). OFFLINE

The database is closed and shutdown, and marked offline. The database cannot be modified while it is in the offline state.

EMERGENCY

The database is marked *READ_ONLY*, logging is disabled, and only members of the **sysadmin** fixed server role can access the database.

Connection mode

MULTI_USER

Allows all users with the appropriate permissions to connect to the database (enabled by default).

RESTRICTED_USER

Allows only members of the **db_owner** fixed database role and **dbcreator** and **sysadmin** fixed server roles to connect to the database, but it does not limit their number. SINGLE_USER

Allows one user at a time to connect to the database. All other user connections are broken.

Interpret Interpret Inter

Enable the option to use encryption. Encryption of the database file is performed at the page level. The pages in an encrypted database are encrypted before they are written to disk and decrypted when read into memory.

Note: This option is available only for SQL Server 2008 databases and higher.

For SQL Azure databases the Options tab looks the following way:

Database Properties - sashadb on w69e0uwdsx.database.windows.net,1433 <sashadb></sashadb>				
Information	Options			
Options Resource usage	Read-only mode (REAL	D_ONLY)		
Find Option	Database edition	© Basic		
		Standard		
		Premium		
		⊘ Web		
		Business		
	Performance level	S0 (10 DTU)		
	Maximum size	100 GB		
	Note! Web and Business e	ditions will be retired September 2015.		
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp		

Database Edition

Here you can view the current edition of the SQL Azure database and change it, if necessary.

Basic

Small databases with a single operation at a given point in time.

Standard

Workgroup and cloud applications with multiple concurrent transactions.

Premium

Mission-critical, high transactional volume with many concurrent users.

Web

Web apps, workgroup, dept. apps, and other lightweight database workloads.

Business

Lightweight database workloads that require larger sizes than supported with Web.

Note: Web and Businesss editions will be retired September 2015.

Performance Level

Use the drop-down list to select the Performance Level for the database. Performance levels are specific for the selected database edition.

Maximum size

Specifies the maximum size of the database. This value must be valid for the specified Edition.

See also: Information 134 Data files 1148 Log files 150 Filegroups 153 Filestream files and filegroups 154 Find Option 156

4.4.2.1 Recovery options

Recovery model

FULL

Database <u>backups</u> [718] and transaction log <u>backups</u> [718] are used to provide full recoverability from media failure. All operations, including bulk operations such as *SELECT INTO*, *CREATE INDEX*, and <u>bulk loading</u> [602] data, are fully logged.

BULK_LOGGED

Logging for all SELECT INTO, CREATE INDEX, and <u>bulk loading</u> at a operations is minimal and therefore requires less log space.

SIMPLE

The database can be recovered only to the last full database backup or last differential backup.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	×
Information	Recovery	
Options Recovery ANSI SQL Auto Cursor FileTable Advanced Gord files Log files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filed Option	Recovery model (RECOVERY) Image: Full recoverability after media failure (FULL) Image: Better performance, minimal log space for large-scale or bulk copy operations (BULK_LOGGED) Image: Can be recovered to last backup only (truncate log on checkpoint) (SIMPLE) Image: Detection of incomplete I/O operations (PAGE VERIFY) Image: Checksum of entire page (CHECKSUM) Image: Bit for each 512-byte sector (TORN_PAGE_DETECTION) Image: Don't verify (NONE)	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Detection of Incomplete I/O Operations

This group can be used to specify three options to discover incomplete I/O transactions caused by disk I/O errors:

CHECKSUM

A checksum is taken over the contents of the entire page and stored in the page header when a page is written to disk. When a page is read from disk, the checksum is recomputed and compared to the checksum value stored in the page header.

• TORN_PAGE_DETECTION

A bit is reversed for each 512-byte sector in the 8-kilobyte (KB) database page when the page is written to disk. If a bit is in the wrong state when the page is later read, the page was written incorrectly; a torn page is detected.

NONE

PAGE_VERIFY is set to OFF and future data page writes will not contain a *CHECKSUM* or *TORN_PAGE_DETECTION* bit and the page will not be verified at read time.

See also:

<u>ANSI options</u> 13 की <u>SQL options</u> 14 में <u>Automation options</u> 14 में <u>Cursor options</u> 14 में FileTable options Advanced 14 की

4.4.2.2 ANSI options

W NULL is default for UDTs and columns (ANSI_NULL_DEFAULT)

When this option is enabled, all <u>user-defined data types</u>²⁶³ or <u>columns</u>²¹³ that are not explicitly defined as *NOT NULL* during a *CREATE TABLE* or *ALTER TABLE* statement default to allowing null values. Columns that are defined with constraints follow constraint rules regardless of this option.

Comparisons to null value evaluate to NULL (ANSI_NULLS)

When this option is enabled, all comparisons to a null value evaluate to *NULL* (unknown). When disabled, comparisons of non-Unicode values to a null value evaluate to *TRUE* if both values are *NULL*.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	×
1 Information	A <u>N</u> SI	
Options Ecovery	NULL is default for UDTs and columns (ANSI_NULL_DEFAULT)	
	Comparisons to null value evaluate to NULL (ANSI_NULLS)	
SQL	Warn on divide by zero and nulls in aggregate (ANSI_WARNINGS)	
Cursor	Not trim trailing blanks in varchar and varbinary (ANSL_PADDING)	
FileTable		
Data files		
Log files		
Filegroups		
Filestream files/filegroups		
	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel H</u> elp	>

Warn on divide by zero and nulls in aggregate (ANSI_WARNINGS)

When this option is enabled, errors or warnings are issued when conditions such as "divide by zero" occur or null values appear in <u>aggregate functions</u> [278]. When disabled, no warnings are raised when null values appear in aggregate functions, and null values are returned when conditions such as "divide by zero" occur.

Not trim trailing blanks in varchar and varbinary (ANSI_PADDING)

When this option is enabled, trailing blanks in character values inserted into *varchar* or *nvarchar* columns and trailing zeros in binary values inserted into *varbinary* columns are not trimmed. Values are not padded to the length of the column. When disabled, the trailing blanks (for *varchar* or *nvarchar*) and zeros (for *varbinary*) are trimmed. This option affects only the definition of <u>new columns</u> [213].

See also:

<u>Recovery options</u> गिउछै <u>SQL options</u> गि4गै <u>Automation options</u> गि42ै <u>Cursor options</u> गि44ै FileTable options <u>Advanced</u> गि46ै

4.4.2.3 SQL options

Concatenation is NULL if operand NULL (CONCAT_NULL_YIELDS_NULL)

When this option is enabled, if one of the operands in a concatenation operation is *NULL*, the result of the operation is *NULL*.

When disabled, concatenating a null value with a character string yields the character string as the result; the null value is treated as an empty character string.

Mathematik Allows identifiers in double quotation marks (QUOTED_IDENTIFIER)

When this option is enabled, identifiers can be delimited by double quotation marks and literals must be delimited by single quotation marks.

When disabled, identifiers cannot be in quotation marks and must follow all Transact-SQL rules for identifiers. Literals can be delimited by either single or double quotation marks.

Allow triggers to fire recursively (RECURSIVE_TRIGGERS)

When this option is enabled, triggers are allowed to fire recursively. When disabled, triggers cannot be fired recursively.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\	TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	×
Information	S <u>Q</u> L		
Options Recovery ANSI Sol Sol Cursor FileTable Advanced Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filestream files/filegroups	Concatenation is N Allows identifiers in Allows triggers to Terminate on overf Error on loss of pre Compatibility level Collation	ULL if operand NULL (CONCAT_NULL_YIELD: n double quotation marks (QUOTED_IDENTIFIE fire recursively (RECURSIVE_TRIGGERS) low or divide by zero (ARITHABORT) ecision (NUMERIC_ROUNDABORT) ver. 16 SQL_Latin1_General_CP1_CL_AS	S_NULL) R)
		<u>о</u> к	<u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp

I Terminate on overflow or divide by zero (ARITHABORT)

When this option is enabled, an overflow or divide-by-zero error causes the query or batch to terminate. If the error occurs in a transaction, the transaction is rolled back. When disabled, a warning message is displayed if one of these errors occurs, but the query, batch, or transaction continues to process as if no error occurred.

Error on loss of precision (NUMERIC_ROUNDABORT)

If this option is enabled, an error is generated when loss of precision occurs in an expression. When disabled, losses of precision do not generate error messages and the result is rounded to the precision of the column or variable storing the result.

The **Compatibility Level** option group controls the behavior of an instance of Microsoft® SQL Server[™], setting behavior to match a specified version of SQL Server.

Collation can be either a Windows collation name or a SQL collation name. By default, the server collation is used.

See also:

<u>Recovery options</u> 13क्षे <u>ANSI options</u> 1िउ छै <u>Automation options</u> 1ि42 <u>Cursor options</u> 1ि44 FileTable options <u>Advanced</u> 1ि46

4.4.2.4 Automation options

Shut down if no connected users (AUTO_CLOSE)

When this option is enabled, the database is closed and shut down when the last user of the database exits and all processes in the database complete, thereby freeing any resources. The database reopens automatically when a user tries to use the database again. When disabled, the database remains open even if no users are currently using the database.

W Auto create statistics on columns in predicates (AUTO_CREATE_STATISTICS)

When this option is enabled, statistics are automatically created on columns used in a predicate. Adding statistics improves query performance because the SQL Server query optimizer can better determine how to evaluate a query. If the statistics are not used, SQL Server automatically deletes them. When disabled, statistics are not automatically created; instead, statistics can be manually created.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	×
Information	Auto	
Options Recovery ANSI SQL Auto Cursor FileTable Advanced Gata files Log files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	 Shut down if no connected users (AUTO_CLOSE) Auto create statistics on columns in predicates (AUTO_CREATE_STATISTICS) Auto update statistics when out-of-date (AUTO_UPDATE_STATISTICS) Asynchronous update (AUTO_UPDATE_STATISTICS_ASYNC) Auto shrink data and log files (AUTO_SHRINK) 	
	OK Cancel Help)

Auto update statistics when out-of-date (AUTO_UPDATE_STATISTICS)

When this option is enabled, existing statistics are automatically $\underline{updated}$ when the statistics become out-of-date because the data in the tables have been changed. When disabled, existing statistics are not automatically updated; instead, statistics can be manually updated.

Asynchronous update (AUTO_UPDATE_STATISTICS_ASYNC)

When this option is enabled, queries do not wait for the statistics to be <u>updated</u> before compiling. Instead, the out-of-date statistics are put on a queue for updating by a worker thread in a background process. The query and any other concurrent queries compile immediately by using the existing out-of-date statistics.

Auto shrink data and log files (AUTO_SHRINK)

When this option is enabled, the database files are candidates for periodic <u>shrinking</u> [755]. Both <u>data files</u> [148] and <u>log files</u> [150] can be shrunk automatically by SQL Server. *AUTO_SHRINK* reduces the size of the transaction log only if the database is set to *SIMPLE* <u>recovery model</u> [138] or if the log is backed up. When disabled, the database files are not automatically shrunk during periodic checks for unused space.

See also:

<u>Recovery options</u>138 <u>ANSI options</u>139 <u>SQL options</u>1141 <u>Cursor options</u> 14मे FileTable options <u>Advanced</u> 14ही

4.4.2.5 Cursor options

Close cursor when transaction committed (CURSOR_CLOSE_ON_COMMIT)

When this option is enabled, any open cursors are closed automatically (in compliance with SQL-92) when a transaction is committed. When disabled, cursors remain open across transaction boundaries, closing only when the connection is closed or when they are explicitly closed.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	×
Information	Cursor	
Options Recovery ANSI SQL SQL Auto Cursor FileTable Advanced Gus Data files Log files Log files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	Close cursor when transaction committed (CURSOR_CLOSE_ON_COMMIT) Cursor default (CURSOR_DEFAULT) O Local (LOCAL) O Global (GLOBAL)	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> e	lp

Cursor default (CURSOR_DEFAULT)

LOCAL

The scope of the cursor is local to the batch, <u>stored procedure</u> [253], or <u>trigger</u> [236] in which the cursor was created. The cursor name is valid only within this scope. The cursor can be referenced by local cursor variables in the batch, <u>stored procedure</u> [253], or <u>trigger</u> [236], or a <u>stored procedure</u> [253] OUTPUT parameter.

GLOBAL

The scope of the cursor is global to the connection. The cursor name can be referenced in any stored procedure 253 or batch executed by the connection.

See also:
<u>Recovery options</u> गिउसे <u>ANSI options</u> गिउसे <u>SQL options</u> गि४मे <u>Automation options</u> गि4टे FileTable options <u>Advanced</u> गि४ही

4.4.2.6 FileTable options

These options are available for SQL Server 2012 only.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventu< th=""><th>reWorks></th><th>Х</th></adventu<>	reWorks>	Х
Information	FileTable		
Options Recovery ANSI SQL Cursor Cursor Cursor	Non-transactional access to FILESTREAM d O Disabled Readonly Full	lata in FileTables	
File I able Advanced Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	Directory name for FileTable data		
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Non-transactional access to FILESTREAM data in FileTables

Disabled

Check this option to disable non-transactional access. All the FileTable directories and their contents are no longer accessible or visible.

Readonly

If this option is checked then all the FileTable directories and their contents are read-only $\textcircled{\sc order}$ Full

Check this option to enable full non-transactional access to FILESTREAM FileTables.

Directory name for FileTable data

Define the directory name to store in the FileTable.

4.4.2.7 Advanced

Allow snapshot transaction isolation level (ALLOW_SNAPSHOT_ISOLATION)

If this option is enabled, SQL Server will execute <u>snapshot</u> at transactions against the specified database when transactions are explicitly set to the *SNAPSHOT* transaction isolation level.

Row versioning in Read Comitted level (READ_COMMITTED_SNAPSHOT)

If this option is enabled, transactions setting the read-committed isolation level use row versioning instead of locking.

Additional log information for third party products (SUPPLEMENTAL_LOGGING) When this option is enabled, additional information is added to the log for third-party products. Setting this option on will increase log space usage and may impact performance.

Date correlation statistics in linked tables (DATE_CORRELATION_OPTIMIZATION)

If this option is enabled, SQL Server maintains correlation statistics between any two tables in the database that have *DATETIME* columns and are linked by a one-column foreign key [221] constraint.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	rks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>	×		
Information Options Recovery ANSI SQL	Adyanced Allow snapshot transaction isolation level (ALLOW_SNAPSHOT_ISOLATION) Row versioning in Read Committed level (READ_COMMITTED_SNAPSHOT) Additional log information for third party products (SUPPLEMENTAL_LOGGING)			
Auto Cursor FileTable Advanced Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Filed Option	Date correlation statistics in linked tables (DATE_CORRELATION_OPTIMIZATION) Service Broker options Enabled (ENABLE_BROKER) Disabled (DISABLE_BROKER) Database should receive new broker identifier (NEW_BROKER) Conversations receives error when db attached (ERROR_BROKER_CONVERSATIONS)			
	Parameterization Simple Parameterization (SIMPLE) Forced Parameterization (FORCED) Containment None Partial			
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp			

Service Broker options

ENABLE_BROKER
 Specifies that Service Broker is enabled for the specified database. The
 IS_BROKER_ENABLED flag is set to TRUE in the sys.databases catalog view and message delivery is started.
 DISABLE_BROKER

Specifies that Service Broker is disabled for the specified database. The *IS_BROKER_ENABLED* flag is set to FALSE in the sys.databases catalog view and message delivery is stopped.

NEW_BROKER

Specifies that the database should receive a new broker identifier. Because the database is considered to be a completely new service broker, all existing conversations in the database are immediately removed without producing end dialog messages.

ERROR_BROKER_CONVERSATIONS

Specifies that conversations in the database should receive an error message when the database is attached. This allows your applications to perform normal clean up for existing conversations.

Parametrization

Simple Parametrization (SIMPLE)

<u>Queries</u> 424 are parameterized on the basis of the default behavior of the database. Forced Parametrization (FORCED)

SQL Server parameterizes all $\underline{queries}$ [424] in the database.

Containment

Contained Database is independent of the SQL Server Instance. All the database metadata and user information is stored inside the database itself.

None

Check this option to make a non-contained database.

💿 Partial

Check this option to make a database partially contained. A partially contained database is a contained database that can allow some features that cross the database boundary (The boundary between a database and the instance of SQL Server or between a database and other databases). SQL Server includes the ability to determine when the containment boundary is crossed. The partially contained database can store important information in the database so the database still has the information after it is moved.

See also:

<u>Recovery options</u> 138 <u>ANSI options</u> 1िउ मे <u>SQL options</u> 1ि४ मे <u>Automation options</u> 1ि४ मे <u>Cursor options</u> 1ि४ मे File Table options

4.4.3 Resource usage

On this tab the results of the *sys.resource_stats* command are displayed. It returns CPU usage and storage data for an Azure SQL Database.

Database Properties - sashadb on	w69e0uwdsx.database.windows.net,1433 <sashadb></sashadb>	- ×				
Information	Resource usage					
4 Options	🔿 Usage for the last 14 days from 10:00 to 18:00 without weekend	•				
Resource usage	Average CPU utilization (% of limit)	1,55				
Find Option	Maximum CPU utilization (% of limit)	8,95				
	Average physical data read (% of limit)	0,05 =				
	Maximum physical data read (% of limit)	0,69				
	Average log write (% of limit)	0,00				
	Maximum log write (% of limit)	0,01				
	Average number of active sessions	0,83				
	Maximum number of active sessions	4,00				
	O Usage for the last working day from 10:00 to 18:00					
	Average CPU utilization (% of limit)	0,00				
	Maximum CPU utilization (% of limit)	0,00				
	Average physical data read (% of limit)	0,00				
	Maximum physical data read (% of limit)	0,00				
	Average log write (% of limit)	0,00				
	Maximum log write (% of limit)	0.00 🔻				
	Maximum values are calculated on average values of 5-minutes intervals.					
L	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	Help				

4.4.4 Data files

The **Data files** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to specify that the disk files used to store the data portions of the database (data files) are defined explicitly, and fill the list of file items defining the data files for the primary file group.

To add a data file, right-click in the main working area and select the + Add file popup menu item.

To remove a data file, right-click the file in the list and select the **— Delete file** popup menu item.

1 Information	Data files							
Options Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	Name AdventureWorksD	File Name and Path C:\Program Files\Microsoft S(QL Server\MSSQ	Size, MB 136	Filegroup PRIMARY			
	File size, MB	136	Maximum file si	ze Vnlim	ited			

The **Name** is a logical name used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements. The logical file name must conform to the rules for SQL Server identifiers and must be unique within the database.

The **File Name and Path** is the name of the physical file including the directory path. The path must follow the rules for operating system file names.

File Group

The *Primary* file group contains the primary data file and any other files not specifically assigned to another file group. All pages for the system tables are allocated in the primary file group. *User-defined* file groups are any other file groups specified by the user. **Note:** You can manage file groups for an existing database using the <u>Filegroups</u> 153 section of the <u>Database Properties</u> 133 dialog.

File size

Use the spinner control to specify the original size of the selected database file (in megabytes).

SQL Server 2005 (and higher) database files can grow automatically from their originally specified size. When you define a file, you can specify a **file growth** increment (in *megabytes* or in *percent*). Each time the file fills, it increases its size by the growth increment. If there are multiple files in a file group, they do not autogrow until all the files are full. Growth then occurs using a round-robin algorithm.

Each file can also have **maximum file size** specified. If \blacksquare **Unlimited** is specified, the file can continue to grow until it has used all available space on the disk.

See also: Information ^[134] Options ^[135] Log files ^[150] <u>Filegroups</u> ^[153] <u>Filestream files and filegroups</u> ^[154] <u>Find Option</u> ^[156]

4.4.5 Log files

The **Log files** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to manage **transaction log files** for the database.

Log files hold all of the log information used to recover the database. There must be at least one log file for each database, although there can be more than one. The recommended file name extension for log files is **.ldf*.

To add a log file, right-click in the main working area and select the **+ Add file** popup menu item.

To remove a log file, right-click the file in the list and select the **— Delete file** popup menu item.

Information	Log files							
Options Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups File Option	Name AdventureWorksDW	File Name and Path C:\Program Files\Microso	Size, MB 72					
	File size, MB	72 💌	Maximum file size					

The Name is a logical name used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL

statements. The logical file name must conform to the rules for SQL Server identifiers and must be unique within the database.

The **File Name and Path** is the name of the physical file including the directory path. The path must follow the rules for operating system file names.

File size

Use the spinner control to specify the original size of the selected transaction log file (in megabytes).

SQL Server 2005 (and higher) transaction log files can grow automatically from their originally specified size. When you define a file, you can specify a **file growth** increment. Each time the file fills, it increases its size by the growth increment. If there are multiple files in a file group, they do not autogrow until all the files are full. Growth then occurs using a round-robin algorithm.

Each file can also have **maximum file size** specified. If **Unlimited** is specified, the file can continue to grow until it has used all available space on the disk.

See also:

<u>Information</u> गिउमे <u>Options</u> गिउमे <u>Data files</u> गि4मे <u>Filegroups</u> गि5जे <u>Filestream files and filegroups</u> गि5मे <u>Find Option</u> गि5मे

4.4.6 Memory-optimized data files

The **Memory-optimized data files** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to manage containers of the **memory-optimized filegroup** for the database.

Note: This section is only available for SQL Server 2014.

Creating a memory-optimized filegroup is necessary for creating memory-optimized tables. The memory-optimized filegroup holds one or more containers. Use the **Memory-optimized data files** grid to add containers to the memory-optimized filegroup.

1 Information	Memory-optimiz	zed data files			
Options Data files Log files Log files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	Logical File Name MOFG1	Data Folder C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL S	Unlimited Size	Maximum Size, 0	MB
	Filegroup name	MOFG			

To add a memory-optimized data file, right-click in the main working area and select the **New Memory-Optimized Data File** popup menu item.

To remove a memory-optimized data file, right-click the file in the list and select the **Delete Memory-Optimized Data File** popup menu item.

The **Logical File Name** is the name of the logical file storing the data used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements.

Data folder

The physical location of the data. The directory must be located on the server where the database resides. Use the 🖹 button to

open the <u>SQL Server Folders</u> bold dialog to select the preferable directory.

Each file can also have **Maximum size** specified. Use the spinner control to specify the original size of the selected database file (in megabytes).

If \blacksquare **Unlimited** is specified, the file can continue to grow until it has used all available space on the disk.

Name of filegroup for memory-optimized data

Specify the name of the memory-optimized filegroup on the database.

Drop the filegroup

If the memory-optimized filegroup is no longer needed enable this checkbox. Note that the filegroup can be deleted only in case it is empty.

4.4.7 Filegroups

The **Filegroups** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to manage **filegroups** for the database.

Each database has a *PRIMARY* filegroup which contains the primary data file and any secondary files that are not put into other filegroups. User-defined filegroups can be created to group data files together for administrative and data allocation/placement purposes.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	orks on doom_SERVER\TSE	RV2005 <adventureworks></adventureworks>			Х
Information	Filegroups				
Options Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups Find Option	Filegroup Name PRIMARY	Number of Files 1	Read Only	Default	
	<u> </u>	<u>0</u> K	Cancel	l <u>H</u> elp	

All data files are stored in filegroups:

- *PRIMARY*: the filegroup that contains the primary file. All system tables are allocated to the primary filegroup.
- *User-defined*: any filegroup that is specifically created by the user when first creating or later altering the database.

Read Only

Specifies that the filegroup is read-only. Updates to objects that reside in this filegroup are not allowed. The *PRIMARY* filegroup cannot be marked read-only.

Default

When objects are created in the database without specifying to which filegroup they belong, they are assigned to the default filegroup. At any time, exactly one filegroup is designated as the default filegroup. The files in the default filegroup must be large enough to hold any new objects not allocated to other filegroups. Initially, the *PRIMARY* filegroup is the default filegroup.

See also: Information 134 Options 13ଶ୍ Data files 148 Log files 150 Filestream files and filegroups 154 Find Option 156

4.4.8 Filestream files and filegroups

The **Filestream files and filegroups** section of the **Database Properties** dialog allows you to manage **filestream filegroups** for the database.

Note: This section is only available for SQL Server 2008 and higher.

In SQL Server 2008, FILESTREAM enables the application to store unstructured data (such as text documents, images, videos, etc.) on the file system. FILESTREAM integrates the SQL Server Database Engine with an NTFS file system by storing varbinary (max) binary large object (BLOB) data as files on the file system. Transact-SQL statements can insert, update, query, search, and back up FILESTREAM data. Win32 file system interfaces provide streaming access to the data.

To add a filestream file, right-click in the main working area and select the **Add Filestream File** popup menu item. To remove a filestream file, right-click the file in the list and select the **Delete**

Filestream File popup menu item.

Database Properties - Adventurewo	orks on doorn_SERVI	EK(15EKV2005 KAdventure	works>					
1 Information	Filestream files/filegroups							
Options Data files Data files Log files Memory-optimized data files Filegroups Filestream files/filegroups File Option	Logical File Name FileStreamDocumen	Data Folder C:\Program Files\Micros(Filegroup Name fg	Read Only	Default			
	<					>		
		[<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp			

The **Logical File Name** is the name of the logical file storing the data used to refer to the physical file in all Transact-SQL statements.

Data folder

The physical location of the data. The directory must be located on the server where the database resides. Use the 🚵 button to

open the <u>SQL Server Folders</u> bool dialog to select the preferable directory.

Filegroup Name

Specify the name of the filestream filegroup.

Read Only

Specifies that the filestream filegroup is read-only. Updates to objects that reside in this filestream filegroup are not allowed. The default fiestream filegroup cannot be read-only.

Default

The filestream fields data will be stored in this filestream filegroup if none was specified for the table.

See also: Information 0ptions 13वी Data files Log files 150 <u>Filegroups</u>153 Find Option

4.4.9 Find Option

The **Find Option** section allows you to search for options available within the **Database Properties** dialog easily and quickly.

Option

In this field you can enter the name of the option to search for within the database properties.

Database Properties - AdventureWo	rks on doom_S	ERVER\TSERV200)5 <adventurework< th=""><th>s></th><th></th><th>×</th></adventurework<>	s>		×
Information	Find Option					
🕀 🔱 Options	- <i>i</i>					
Tata files	Option	allow				
Log files	Available Opti	ons	Option Kind	Category	Group	
Elegroups	Allows trigger	s to fire recursive	Database Properties	SQL		
Filestream files/filegroups	Allows identif	ers in double quo	Database Properties	SQL		
Find Option	Allow snapsh	ot transaction iso	Database Properties	Advanced		
					O Change	Deties
					> Snow (puon
				<u>o</u> ĸ	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp

The **Available options** area lists all options of the Database Properties category according to the specified name. The **Option Kind**, **Category** and **Group** columns specify option type and location.

Select the required option in the list and click \swarrow **Show Option** to open the corresponding section where you can view/edit the value of this option. For your convenience the required option is marked with an animated \aleph icon.

See also: Information Options Data files 148 <u>Log files</u>।150) <u>Filegroups</u>।153) <u>Filestream files and filegroups</u>।154)

4.5 Database Registration Manager

158

Database Registration Manager allows you to register new databases and delete the registration of no longer needed databases, including non-existing ones.

To open **Database Registration Manager** use the corresponding item of the <u>database</u> <u>context menu</u> ि or the <u>host context menu</u> ि ।

📮 Database Registration Manager - [doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]									
i 🖵 doom_SERVERITSERV200! 🗸 🥩 🖓 🕄 🕄									
Host	*		D	atabase			Register	ed with alias	Register
doom_SERVER\TSERV2005	\sim			AdventureWorks			Adventu	reWorks on doom_SERVER	
General	\$	d		AdventureWorks_dev					
Contrai	~	1	15	AdvW					
C Refresh			15	clean_test_db					
Selection	~	d	15	comp_source_db					
Selection	~	n	15	comp_target_db					
Ev Select all		I	15	EMS			EMS on o	loom_SERVER\TSERV2005	
R Uncheck all		I	15	gmv_rest					
Uncheck deleted DB		<	15	LA1			LA1 on d	loom_SERVER\TSERV2005	
		J	15	master		Select All			
Legend	*	l	15	model	R	Uncheck All			
Exist on host				msdb		Unchack Deleted	DB		
Removed from host			15	newtest_db	Ľ	Uncheck Deleted	00	on testing-ms\SQL2005	
			15	newtest_db_02	C	Refresh	F5	n doom_SERVER\TSERV2005	
			15	newtest_db2			LargeDB	on doom_SERVER\TSERV20(
				product			product of	on doom_SERVER\TSERV200!	
				tempdb					
									//

The grid contains all databases located on the selected host. You can change **Host** selection using the appropriate drop-down list in the <u>navigation bar</u> 159. Check databases you want to be registered.

Using the context menu you can:

- select all databases,
- uncheck all databases,
- uncheck deleted databases,
- refresh the list.

After the selection is made click the \checkmark **Apply changes button** to register selected databases.

Availability: Full version (for Windows) Yes Lite version (for Windows) No Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also:

<u>Register Database wizard</u> Database Registration Info

4.5.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Database Registration Manager**.



The Navigation bar of Database Registration Manager allows you to:

Host

🧟 select a host

General

- refresh the list of databases
- ✓ apply changes register selected databases

Selection

- 😼 select all databases located on the host
- 🖶 uncheck all databases in the list
- H uncheck databases deleted from the host

Legend

- 🗄 database existing on the host
- b database removed from the host

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Schema Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

4.6 Server Properties

The **Server Properties** dialog allows you to view/edit a number of server options which can be changed to optimize Microsoft® SQL Server performance.

To open the dialog, right-click the database or host alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Server Properties...** context menu item.

	Tasks		۲
*	Server Properties		
8	Create Database		
е,	Register Database	Shift+Alt+R	
Ģ	Unregister Host		
Q	Show <u>H</u> osts		
	Sort by Aliases		
	Hide Disconnected Databases		
	Refresh Server Objects of MERLIN\SQL2008 on	Connection	
1	New Tab from Here		
	Rename Current Tab		
	Delete Current Tab		
\mathcal{P}	Find Object	Ctrl+F	

- General options 162
- Memory options 163
- Processor options 164
- Security options 166
- <u>Active Directory</u>
- Connection settings 169
- Database Settings
- Misc Server Settings 173
- Advanced settings 174
- Find Option 176

Configured values

This option displays the configured values for options on this page. If you change these values, select **Running Values** to see whether the changes have taken effect. If they have not, the instance of SQL Server must be restarted first.

Running values

This option displays the currently running values for options on this page. These values are read-only.

4.6.1 General options

The **General** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to take a brief look at the general server configuration properties: *Name*, *Product*, *Operating System*, *Platform*, *Version*, *Language*, *Memory*, *Processors*, *Root Directory*, *Server Collation*.

Note: These properties are read-only.

Server Properties - testing-ms\SQL2022						
General	General					
Processors	Name	testing-ms\SQL2022				
Security	Product	Microsoft SQL Server Developer Edition (64-bit)				
Active Directory	Operating System	6.3 (19043)				
Connections	Platform	NT x64				
Database Settings	Version	16.0.1000				
Misc Server Settings	Language	English (United States)				
d'-d'- g-g- Advanced	Memory	4095 (4294410240)				
Find Option	Processors	2				
	Root Directory	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL16.:				
	Server Collation	Cyrillic_General_CI_AS				
		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp				

Name

Indicates the name of the instance of SQL Server in the following format: computer_name\sqlserver_instance_name

Product

Indicates the full product name of SQL Server.

Operating System

Indicates the OS version and its build.

Platform

Indicates the OS and hardware configuration used on the server.

Version

Indicates SQL Server version.

Language

Indicates SQL Server language.

Memory

Indicates the amount of memory available on the machine where SQL Server is running.

Processors

Indicates the quantity of CPUs on the server machine.

Root Directory

Indicates the installation directory of SQL Server instance

Server Collation

Indicates the collation used on the server.

4.6.2 Memory options

The **Memory** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting options pertaining to memory usage in groups: *Server memory options, Other memory options.*

Server Properties - testing-n	ns\SQL2022	×
General	Memory	
Memory	Server memory options	
← 💡 Security ⊷ 🔛 Active Directory ⊷ 🏹 Connections	Minimum server memory (in MB) Maximum server memory (in Control of the server memory (in Control of th	ו MB)
→ Database Settings → Misc Server Settings	Lock working set (in MB) 128 Use AWE memory	
	Other memory options Index creation memory (in KB) 0	
	Configured values	
	<u>o</u> k <u>c</u>	ancel <u>H</u> elp

Server memory options

Oynamic memory configuration

Use the two server memory options, *Minimum server memory* and *Maximum server memory*, to reconfigure the amount of memory (in megabytes) in the buffer pool used by the instance of SQL Server.

By default, SQL Server can change its memory requirements dynamically on the basis of available system resources. The default setting for *Minimum server memory* is 0, and the default setting for *Maximum server memory* is 2147483647. The minimum amount of memory that can be specified for *Maximum server memory* is 16 MB.

Locking working set

Allowing SQL Server to use memory dynamically is recommended; however, you can set the memory options manually and restrict the amount of memory that SQL Server can access.

Use AWE memory

Under Windows Server 2003, SQL Server 2005 (and higher) can use Address Windowing Extensions (AWE) memory to further assist in balancing its own memory requirements with those of the operating system. This balancing between SQL Server and the operating system is subject to the constraints of the *Minimum server memory* and *Maximum server memory* options.

Other memory options

In SQL Server 2000/2005/2008 the **Index creation memory** option controls the maximum initial amount of memory allocated for index creation. If additional amount of memory is required for index creation operation, and it is available, the server will use additional memory thus exceeding the setting of this option. If additional memory is not available, the memory that has been already allocated will be used for index creation.

Use the **Minimum memory per query** option to specify the minimum amount of memory (in kilobytes) that will be allocated for execution of a query. For example, if **Minimum memory per query** is set to 2,048 KB, the query is guaranteed to get at least that much total memory. You can set **Minimum memory per query** to any value from 512 up to 2,147,483,647 KB (appr. 2 GB). The default value is 1,024 KB.

4.6.3 **Processor options**

The **Processors** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting options pertaining to processors usage in groups: *Enable processors, Threads, Parallelism*.

Enable processors

To carry out multitasking, it is possible to distribute process threads among different processors. Although efficient from an operating system point of view, this activity can reduce SQL Server performance under heavy system loads, as each processor cache is repeatedly reloaded with data. Assigning processors to specific threads can improve performance under these conditions by eliminating processor reloads and reducing thread migration across processors (thereby reducing context switching); such an association between a thread and a processor is called *processor affinity*.

You can enable any or both two affinity mask options supported by SQL Server 2005 (and higher): Automatically set processor affinity mask (also known as CPU affinity

mask) and **Automatically set I/O affinity mask for all processors**.

Server Properties - testing-m	ns\SQL2022	×
General	Processors	
Memory Processors Processors Connections Connections Misc Server Settings For Advanced K End Option	Enable processors Automatically set processor affinity mask for all processors Automatically set I/O affinity mask for all processors Processor Processor Affinity VO Affinity CPU0 Image: CPU1 Image: CPU1 Image: CPU1 Threads	
Sec. 32 Find Option	Maximum worker threads 0 Boost SQL Server priority Use Windows fibers (lightweight pooling)	
	Parallelism 5 Cost threshold for parallelism 5 Max degree of parallelism 2 Max number of locks 5000 Query wait (sec) 0	
	Configured values OK Cancel Help	

Threads

Use the **Maximum worker threads** option to configure the number of working threads available to Microsoft® SQL Server processes. SQL Server uses the native thread services of the Microsoft® Windows 2000 and Windows Server 2003 operating systems so that one or more threads support each network that SQL Server supports simultaneously, another thread handles database checkpoints, and a pool of threads handles all users.

Use the **Boost SQL Server priority** option to specify whether SQL Server should run at a higher Windows 2000 or Windows 2003 scheduling priority than other processes on the same computer. If you set this option to 1, SQL Server runs at a priority base of 13 in the Windows 2000 or Windows Server 2003 scheduler. The default is 0, which is a priority base of 7.

Select the **W** Use Windows fibers (lightweight pooling) option to provide a means of reducing the system overhead associated with the excessive context switching sometimes seen in symmetric multiprocessing (SMP) environments. When excessive context switching is present, lightweight pooling can provide better throughput by performing the context switching inline, thus helping to reduce user/kernel ring transitions.

Parallelism

Use the **Cost threshold for parallelism** option to specify the threshold at which SQL Server creates and runs parallel plans for queries. SQL Server creates and runs a parallel plan for a query only when the estimated cost to run a serial plan for the same query is higher than the value set in **Cost threshold for parallelism**. The cost refers to an estimated elapsed time in seconds required to run the serial plan on a specific hardware configuration. Only set **Cost threshold for parallelism** on symmetric multiprocessors.

Use the **Max number of locks** option to set the maximum number of available locks, thereby limiting the amount of memory the Database Engine uses for them. The default setting is 0, which allows the Database Engine to allocate and deallocate lock structures dynamically, based on changing system requirements. When the server is started with locks set to 0, the lock manager acquires sufficient memory from the Database Engine for an initial pool of 2,500 lock structures. As the lock pool is exhausted, additional memory is acquired for the pool. Allowing SQL Server to use locks dynamically is the recommended configuration.

Use the **Query wait** option to specify the time in seconds (from 0 through 2147483647) that a query waits for resources before timing out. If the default value of -1 is used, or if -1 is specified, then the time-out is calculated as 25 times of the estimated query cost. In Microsoft SQL Server, memory-intensive queries (such as those involving sorting and hashing) are queued when there is not enough memory available to run the query. The query times out after a set time calculated by SQL Server (25 times the estimated cost of the query) or the time specified by the nonnegative value of the query wait.

When SQL Server 2005 (and higher) runs on a computer with more than one CPU, it detects the best degree of parallelism for each instance of a parallel query execution. You can use the **Max degree of parallelism** option to limit the number of processors to use in parallel plan execution. The default value of 0 indicates that all available processors are used. Set **Max degree of parallelism** to 1 to suppress parallel plan generation. Set the value to a number greater than 1 (up to a maximum of 64) to restrict the maximum number of processors used by a single query execution. If a value greater than the number of available processors is specified, or in case the **II use all processors** option is selected, the actual number of available processors is used. If the computer has only one processor, the **max degree of parallelism** value is ignored.

4.6.4 Security options

The **Security** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting options pertaining to server security in groups: *Server Authentication*, *Login auditing*, *Server Proxy Account*, *Other security options*.

Server Authentication

Windows Authentication mode

When a user connects through a Microsoft® Windows user account, SQL Server validates the account name and password using information in the Windows operating system. This is the default authentication mode, and is much more secure than the mixed mode. Windows Authentication utilizes Kerberos security protocol, provides password policy enforcement in terms of complexity validation for strong passwords, provides support for account lockout, and supports password expiration.

Interpretation Solution Server and Windows Authentication mode

This option enables the mixed mode and allows users to connect using either Windows Authentication or SQL Server Authentication. Users who connect through a Windows user account can make use of trusted connections that are validated by Windows.

Server Properties - testing-ms\SQL2022			
General	Security		
Memory Processors Security Connections	Server Authentication Windows Authentication mode SQL Server and Windows Authent	ication mode	
→ Database Settings	Login auditing None Failed logins only	 Successful logins only Both successful and failed logins 	
Find Option	Server Proxy Account Enable server proxy account Proxy account Password		
	Other security options Other security options Allow direct updates Use C2 audit tracing		
	Configured values	O Running values	
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

The Login auditing property exposes SQL Server Authentication logging behavior:

- None (does not log authentication attempts)
- Successful logins only (logs successful authentication)
- Failed logins only (logs failed authentication)

 Both successful and failed logins (logs all authentication attempts regardless of success or failure)

Server Proxy account

This option allows SQL Server users that do not belong to the *sysadmin* fixed server role to execute *xp_cmdshell* commands and to own SQL Server jobs. To get access to this feature, you must enter **Proxy account** name and **Password**.

Note that this option is only available when you use SQL Server 2005 (and higher). The login used by the server proxy account should have the least privileges required to perform the intended work. Excessive privileges for the proxy account could be used by a malicious user to compromise your system security.

Other security options

Allow direct updates system tables

Turn this option on to modify system tables directly.

Note: System tables should not be changed directly by any user. It is not recommended to modify system tables with *DELETE*, *UPDATE*, *INSERT* statements or user-defined triggers.

Use C2 audit tracing mode

Selecting this option will configure the server to record both failed and successful attempts to access statements and objects. This information can help you profile system activity and track possible security policy violations.

4.6.5 Active Directory

The **Active Directory** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by managing its Active Directory: *Add*, *Refresh*, *Remove*.

Add SQL Server to Microsoft Active Directory when you want users to be able to use Active Directory to find this instance of SQL Server. This may be useful in large organizations with many instances of SQL Server.

Server Properties - testing-m	s\SQL2022	×
General	Active Directory	
Memory	Add	
Security	Add this instance of SQL Server to Active Directory. Add	
Connections	Refresh	
Database Settings	Refresh the attributes of this instance of SQL Server in Active Directory.	
"" Advanced	Remove	
Find Option	Remove this instance of SQL Server from Active Directory. Remove	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Add

Add this instance of SQL Server to Active Directory.

Connects to Active Directory and registers the instance of ${\tt Microsoft} \circledast {\tt SQL}$ Server in the Active directory.

Refresh

Refresh the attributes of this instance in Active Directory.

Updates Active Directory with the current Microsoft® SQL Server properties.

Remove

Remove this instance of SQL Server from Active Directory.

Unregisters the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server from the Active Directory.

4.6.6 Connection settings

The **Connections** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting options pertaining to connection in groups: *Connections, Remote server connections.*

Connections

Maximum number of concurrent connections

If this option is set to a value other than zero, the number of connections that SQL Server will allow is limited. The default value is 0 (unlimited).

Server Properties - testing-m	s\SQL2022		×
General	Connections		
Memory Processors Security Connections Database Settings Misc Server Settings Kitting Kitting Find Option	Connections Maximum number of concurent connection Default connection options Disable deferred constraint checking Implicit transactions Close cursor on COMMIT ANSI warnings ANSI paddings ANSI paddings ANSI NULLs Arithmetic abort Remote server connections Allow remote connections to this served and the server connections of	ver to timeout) 600 erver-to-server communication	×
	Configured values	O Running values	
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp

Default connection options

Specifies the default connection options as described in the table below:

Configuration option	Description
Disable deferred constraint checking	Controls interim or deferred constraint checking.
🗹 Implicit transactions	Controls whether a transaction is started implicitly when a statement is run.
Cursor close on COMMIT	Controls behavior of cursors after a commit operation has been performed.
🗹 ANSI warnings	Controls truncation and NULL in aggregate warnings.
🗹 ANSI padding	Controls padding of fixed-length variables.
🗹 ANSI NULLS	Controls NULL handling when using equality operators.
🗹 Arithmetic abort	Terminates a query when an overflow or divide-by-zero error occurs during query execution.
🗹 Arithmetic ignore	Returns NULL when an overflow or divide-by-zero error occurs during a query.
🗹 Quoted identifier	Differentiates between single and double quotation marks when evaluating an expression.

🗹 No count	Turns off the message returned at the end of each statement that states how many rows were affected.
☑ ANSI NULL default on	Alters the session's behavior to use ANSI compatibility for nullability. New columns defined without explicit nullability are defined to allow nulls.
☑ ANSI NULL default off	Alters the session's behavior not to use ANSI compatibility for nullability. New columns defined without explicit nullability are defined not to allow nulls.
✓ Concat NULL yields NULL	Returns NULL when concatenating a NULL value with a string.
Numeric round abort	Generates an error when a loss of precision occurs in an expression.
🗹 Xact abort	Rolls back a transaction if a Transact-SQL statement raises a run-time error.

Remote Server Connections

Allow remote connections to this server

Controls the execution of stored procedures from remote servers running instances of SQL Server. Selecting this check box has the same effect as setting the $sp_configureremote$ access option to 1. Clearing it prevents execution of stored procedures from a remote server.

Remote query timeout (in seconds, 0 = no timeout)

Specifies how long (in seconds) a remote operation may take before SQL Server times out. The default is 600 seconds, or a 10-minute wait.

Require distributed transactions for server-to-server communication

Protects the actions of a server-to-server procedure through a Microsoft® Distributed Transaction Coordinator (MS DTC) transaction.

4.6.7 Database Settings

The **Database Settings** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting options pertaining to database in groups: Default index fill factor, Backup and restore, Recovery, Database default locations.

Default index fill factor

This value specifies how full SQL Server should make each page when it creates a new index using existing data. The fill factor affects performance because SQL Server takes time to split pages when they fill up.

The default value is 0; valid values range from 0 to 100. A fill factor of 0 or 100 creates clustered indexes with full data pages and nonclustered indexes with full leaf pages, but it leaves some space within the upper level of the index tree. Fill factor values 0 and 100 are identical in all respects.

With low fill factor values specified, SQL Server creates indexes with pages that are not

full. Each index takes more storage space, but there is more room for subsequent insertions without requiring page splits.

Server Properties - testing-ms\SQL2022 X					
General	Database Settings				
Memory Memory Processors Security	Default index fill factor Default index fill factor		0	•	
Active Directory Connections Database Settings Misc Server Settings Connections Database Settings Advanced Find Option	Backup and restore Specify how long SQL Server will Wait indefinitely Try for Default backup media retention (in Compressed backups by defa	I wait for a new tape Try once minute(s) a days) ult	0	•	
	Recovery Recovery interval (minutes)		0		
	Dataoase default locations Data			•••	
	Configured values	O Running values	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp	

Backup and restore

Wait indefinitely

Specifies that SQL Server will never time out while waiting for a new backup tape.

Try once

Specifies that SQL Server will time out if a backup tape is not available when needed.

Try for ... minute(s)

Specifies that SQL Server will time out if a backup tape is not available within the defined period of time.

Default backup media retention (in days)

Provides a system-wide default for the length of time to retain each backup medium after it has been used for a database or transaction log backup. This option helps protect backups from being overwritten until the specified number of days has elapsed.

Compressed backups by default

Check this option to enable default compression of backups.

Recovery

Recovery interval (minutes)

Sets the maximum period of time to recover a database. The default is 0, it stands for automatic configuration by SQL Server. In practice, this means a recovery time of less than one minute and a checkpoint approximately every one minute for active databases.

Database default locations

Data

Specify the default location for data files: type in the path in the **Data** field or use the ellipsis button to browse for directory using the <u>SQL Server Folders</u> dialog.

Log

Specify the default location for log files: type in the path in the **Log** field or use the ellipsis button to browse for directory using the **SQL Server Folders** dialog.

4.6.8 Misc Server Settings

The **Misc Server Settings** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting miscellaneous server options in groups: *General settings*, *Two-digit year support*, *Network settings*.

General settings

Use the **Default language for user** drop-down list to select the default language for all newly created user logins.

Allow triggers to fire other triggers

Use this option to specify whether server-level triggers can be fired recursively.

W Use query governor to prevent long-running queries

This option allows you to specify a limit on the time period in which a query can run. The query governor disallows execution of any query that has an estimated cost exceeding that value.

Server Properties - testing-n	ns\SQL2022		Х
General	Misc Server Settings		
Memory Processors Security Security Connections Database Settings Misc Server Settings Security Find Option	General settings Default language for user Allow triggers to fire other triggers Use query governor to prevent long-ru Use query governor to prevent long-ru Two-digit year support Interpret two-digit year as falling between 1950 and 2049	English v	
	Network settings Network packet size (in bytes) 4096	Remote login timeout (in seconds)	
	C compared raised		_
		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Two-digit year support

Interpret two-digit year as falling between 1950 and ...

Use this option to specify an integer from 1950 to 9999 that represents the cutoff year for interpreting two-digit years as four-digit years.

Use the **Network packet size** option to set the packet size (in bytes) used across the entire network.

Use the **Remote login timeout** option to specify the time interval (in seconds) to wait before returning from a failed attempt to log in to a remote server.

4.6.9 Advanced settings

The **Advanced** section of the **Server Properties** dialog allows you to configure the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server by setting advanced server options in groups: *Filestream access level, Database containment.*

Server Properties - testing-ms\SQL2022 X				
General	Advanced			
Memory	Filestream access level			
Processors	O Disable FILESTREAM support for this ins	tance		
Active Directory	O Enable FILESTREAM for Transact-SQL a	ccess		
Connections	Enable FILESTREAM for Transact-SQL a	nd Win32 streaming access		
Database Settings	Database containtment			
Misc Server Settings	Allow contained database authentication	n		
Advanced				
	Configured values	O Running values		
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp	

Filestream access level

FILESTREAM enables SQL Server-based applications to store unstructured data, such as documents and images, on the file system. Applications can leverage the rich streaming APIs and performance of the file system and at the same time maintain transactional consistency between the unstructured data and corresponding structured data.

Disable FILESTREAM support for this instance

Check this option to disable FILESTREAM feature for handling unstructured data.

Enable FILESTREAM for Transact-SQL access

Enable this option to manage FILESTREAM data with Trancast-SQL statements (*insert*, *update*, *query*, *search*, and *back up*).

Inable FILESTREAM for Transact-SQL and Win32 streaming access

Win32 file system interfaces provide I/O streaming access to the data. You can use Win32 to read and write data to a FILESTREAM BLOB.

Database containment

Contained Database is independent of the SQL Server Instance. All the database metadata and user information is stored inside the database itself.

Allow contained database authentication

If this option is checked then contained databases can be created, or attached to the

Database Engine.

4.6.10 Find Option

The **Find Option** section allows you to search for options available within the **Server Properties** dialog easily and quickly.

Option

In this field you can enter the name of the option to search for within the server properties.

Server Properties - testing-m	s\SQL2022				×
General	Find Option				
····• Memory ···· · · · · Processors	Option	use			
Security Active Directory Connections Database Settings Misc Server Settings Set Advanced Misc Server Settings Set Advanced	Available Option	ons nemory ory fibers (lightweight sors racing mode ge for <mark>use</mark> r rernor to prevent lo	Option Kind Server Properties - te Server Properties - te	Category # Memory # Processors # Processors # Security # Misc Server Settings # Misc Server Settings	Group Other memory options Server memory option Threads Parallelism Other security options General settings General settings
					Show Option
				<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> anc	el <u>H</u> elp

The **Available options** area lists all options of the Server Properties category according to the specified name. The **Option Kind**, **Category** and **Group** columns specify option type and location.

Select the required option in the list and click \swarrow **Show Option** to open the corresponding section where you can view/edit the value of this option. For your convenience the required option is marked with an animated \aleph icon.



5 Database and Server Objects Management

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides powerful tools to manage **database** and **server objects**.

To obtain detailed information concerning SQL Server database and objects, refer to the official Microsoft® SQL Server[™] documentation.

Note: Before working with database and objects in SQL Manager for SQL Server you should <u>connect to the database</u> [68] first.

Creating Database and Server Objects

To create a database or server objects:

- select the Database | New Object... main menu [915] item;
- define whether to <a>O Create Database Object or <a>O Create Server Object;
- select the type of object within the <u>New Object</u> [180] dialog;
- follow the steps of the wizard which guides you through the entire process of creating the object, or set the object properties using its editor - depending on the selected object type.

Note that you can also create a database object by selecting the appropriate <u>context</u> $\frac{1}{133}$ item of the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree or using the *Ctrl+N* <u>shortcut</u> [952].

Editing Database and Server Objects

To edit a database or server object:

- select the database object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object to call its <u>context menu</u> and select the **Edit <object type> <object name>** context menu item, or double-click the object to open it in its editor.

Renaming Database and Server Objects

To rename a database or server object:

- select the object to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the **Rename <object type> <object name>...** item from the <u>context menu</u>[56];
- edit the object name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Note: This operation is possible for all objects except for <u>schemas</u> 1ि89, <u>XML Schema</u> <u>Collections</u> वि81, <u>Assemblies</u> 304, <u>Certificates</u> वि29, <u>Asymmetric Keys</u> 323, <u>Symmetric Keys</u> 322, <u>Full-Text Catalogs</u> 317.

Dropping Database and Server Objects

To drop a database or server object:

- select the database or server object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree;
- right-click the object to call its <u>context menu</u> and select the **Drop <object type> <object name>** context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

When using an object editor, you can benefit from **tabs**. To switch between tab views, click on their respective tabs at the top of the main editor window. You can do it at any time, since the tab views are absolutely independent.

To compile a newly created or edited object, you can use the $\frac{5}{2}$ **Compile** item available within the <u>Navigation bar bis</u> or <u>Toolbar bis</u> of the object editor.

See also:

Getting StartedDatabase ExplorerDatabase ManagementDatabase ManagementQuery ManagementJata M

5.1 New Object

The **Create New Object** dialog allows you to select the type of the object to be created and run the appropriate wizard or editor.

To open the dialog, select the **Database | New Object...** main menu [915] item.



Specify whether object of the *database* or *server level* is to be created. Use the **Database** or **Server** drop-down list to select the alias of the database or server where the new object should be created. Pick an object type icon and click **OK** to invoke the corresponding wizard or dialog.


Note: The **O Create server object** option is available only if you are <u>connected to the</u> <u>host</u>

See also:

<u>Operations with database and server objects</u> <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> <u>Database objects</u> <u>Server Objects</u> अहरू

5.2 Duplicate Object Wizard

Use the **Duplicate Object Wizard** to create a new database or server object of the same type and having the same properties as one of the existing ones.

To run the wizard, select the **Database | Duplicate Object...** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or right-click an object of the desired type in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and use the **Duplicate <object type> <object name>...** <u>context menu</u> [56] item.

Note: Duplicate Object Wizard can be launched on drag-and-drop operation, when you drag an object from one server in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] to another.



- <u>Selecting the source database</u> [182]
- <u>Selecting object to duplicate 183</u>
- <u>Selecting destination database</u>
- Modifying the new object's definition

See also:

<u>New Object dialog</u> 1801 <u>Database objects</u> 1871 <u>Server Objects</u> 353

5.2.1 Selecting the source database

This step of the wizard allows you to specify whether object of the database or server level is to be duplicated, and to select the **source database** / **server** containing the source object for duplication.

🎬 Duplicate Object Wizard			— ×
Duplicate Object			
Select the source databa	ise or server		
EFFECTIVE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the Duplicat This wizard allows you to properties as one of the This wizard will request SQL statement for creat Duplicate database Duplicate server objuicate server 	te Object Wizard! to create a new database or server object with the same existing objects has. the source object, the name of the new object, generate ting the new object, and execute this statement. bbject tempdb on 192.168.66.57\bi2012 [tempdb] ect MERLIN\SQL2008	e the
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Canc	el

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting object to duplicate</u> [183] step of the wizard.

5.2.2 Selecting object to duplicate

Use the **Objects** drop-down menu to select the type of object you intend to duplicate.

Select a database/server object to copy its properties to the new object.

Hint: The **context menu** of the objects list area allows you to specify whether objects of the specified type should be displayed as *icons* or as *list*.

🚰 Duplicate Object Wizard			
Duplicate Object			
Select the object to dupl	icate		
	<u>O</u> bjects	Tables 💌	
	Tables		
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Address ADDRES A	e (Person) SS (HR) SS (HumanResources) sType (Person) SSTYPE (HR) SSTYPE (HumanResources) Version terials (Production) (Person) CreditCard (Sales) Type (Person) Region (Person)	CountryRegionCurre CreditCard (Sales) Culture (Production) Currency (Sales) CurrencyRate (Sales) Customer (Sales) Customer Address (S DatabaseLog DatabaseLog_kozma Department (HumanF Department1 Document (Productio
Help		< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting destination database</u> [184] step of the wizard.

5.2.3 Selecting destination database or server

Select the **target database** / **server** and **schema** (for a database object) to create the new object in, set the **name** of the new database/server object.

Check the **Copy data** option to copy data from the source table to the new one.

猫 Duplicate Object Wizard		—
Duplicate Object		
Select the target databas	e and the new object name	
Control of the termination of term	<u>T</u> arget database New object schema <u>N</u> ew object name Table options ☐ Copy <u>d</u> ata	AdventureWorks on localhost [AdventureW Person Address_new
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Modifying the new object's definition</u> [185] step of the wizard.

5.2.4 Modifying the new object's definition

This step of the wizard allows you to browse **the result SQL statement**.

If necessary, you can edit the definition of the new object.

🌃 Duplicate Object Wizard									
Duplicate Object	Duplicate Object								
Modify the new object de	finition and click the Finish button to create the object								
	New object definition								
SQL Manager for SQL Server	SQL Manager for SQL Server Image: Server Image: Solution of the server Image: Server Image: Server Image: Server								
Help	<u>H</u> elp <u>Sack</u> <u>Einish</u> Cancel								

Close the wizard after duplicating

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the new object is created.

Open object when finished

Select this option to open the newly created object in its editor.

Click the **Finish** button to create the object.

5.3 Database objects

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides all necessary facilities for working with database objects.

Note: To start working with database objects you need to connect to database a.

Database Objects: Schemas 189

Schema Objects:

Tables192Views248Procedures253UDTs263UDFs259Synonyms278Aggregates278XML Schema Collections281Defaults283Rules283

Non-schema Objects:

Assemblies 304 DDL Triggers 307 Partition Functions 310 Partition Schemes 314 Full-Text Catalogs 317 Symmetric Keys 322 Asymmetric Keys 322 Certificates 329 Message Types 334 Contracts 337 Services 340 Routes 343 Remote Service Bindings 348

Creating Database Objects

To create a database object:

- select the **Database | New Object...** main menu [915] item;
- select the type of object within the <u>New Object</u> [180] dialog;
- follow the steps of the wizard which guides you through the entire process of creating the object, or set the object properties using its editor depending on the selected object type.

Note that you can also create a database object by selecting the appropriate <u>context</u> <u>menu</u> [53] item of the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree or using the Ctrl+N <u>shortcut</u> [952].

To create a new object with the same properties as one of existing objects has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... main menu [915] item;
- follow the instructions of **Duplicate Object Wizard** 182].

Alternatively, you can right-click an object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> (a) tree and select the **Duplicate Object <object_name>...** context menu item.

Editing Database Objects

To edit a database object:

- select the database object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object to call its <u>context menu</u> and select the **Edit <object type**>
 <object name> context menu item, or double-click the object to open it in its editor;

Renaming Database Objects

To rename a database object:

- select the object to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the **Rename <object type> <object name>...** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- edit the object name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Note: This operation is possible for all objects except for <u>schemas</u>ाक्ष्मे, <u>XML Schema</u> <u>Collections</u> विश्वी, <u>Assemblies</u> अ०4, <u>Certificates</u> विश्वी, <u>Asymmetric Keys</u> विश्वी, <u>Symmetric Keys</u> विश्वी, <u>Full-Text Catalogs</u> वि17.

Dropping Database Objects

To drop a database object:

- select the database object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree;
- right-click the object to call its <u>context menu</u> [56] and select the **Drop <object type> <object name>** context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u> [952]: *Ctrl+N* to create a new object; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected object; *Ctrl+R* to rename the object; *Shift+Del* to drop the object from the database.

When using an object editor, you can benefit from **tabs**. To switch between tab views, click on their respective tabs at the top of the main editor window. You can do it at any time, since the tab views are absolutely independent.

To compile a newly created or edited object, you can use the $\frac{5}{7}$ **Compile** item available within the <u>Navigation bar set</u> or <u>Toolbar set</u> of the object editor.

See also: <u>Operations with database and server objects</u> <u>New Object</u> <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> <u>Server Objects</u> <u>Server Objects</u> <u>Server Objects</u> <u>Server Objects</u>

5.3.1 Schemas

A **Schema** is essentially a namespace: it can be defined as a collection of database <u>objects</u> [192] that form a single namespace. A namespace is a set in which each element has a unique name.

Creating Schemas

To create a new schema:

- select the Database | New Object... main menu [915] item;
- select Schema in the Create New Object 180 dialog;
- define schema properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Schema Editor</u> [190].

Hint: To create a new schema, you can also right-click the **Schemas** node or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Schema** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56].

To create a new schema with the same properties as one of existing schemas has:

- select the **Database | Duplicate Object...** <u>main menu [915]</u> item;
- follow the instructions of Duplicate Object Wizard 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click a schema in the <u>DB Explorer</u> alternatively tree and select the **Duplicate Schema < schema_name > ...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the database to create a new schema in, and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the schema.

Editing Schemas

To edit an existing schema:

- select the schema for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the schema name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Schema <schema_name>... context menu item, or simply double-click the schema;
- edit schema properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Schema Editor</u> 1901.

Dropping Schemas

To drop a schema:

- select the schema to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Schema <schema_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u>[952]: *Ctrl+N* to create a new schema; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected schema; *Shift+Del* to drop the object from the database.

See also: Schema Objects

5.3.1.1 Schema Editor

Schema Editor allows you to manage SQL Server schemas efficiently. It opens automatically when you create a new schema and is available on editing an existing one (see <u>Create schema</u>¹⁸⁹ and <u>Edit schema</u>¹⁸⁹ for details).

To open a schema in **Schema Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar
- <u>Creating/editing schemans</u>
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing schema description 920
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.1.1.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Schema Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Schema Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a schema for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the schema (if it is being created/modified)
- 🗟 save the schema <u>description</u> वियो (if it has been modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- لمج print metadata
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the schema:

Description

- save object description [920] to file
- i copy <u>description</u> ियी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଡ଼ୀ୩ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>୭า୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Schema Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (a) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (a) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.1.1.2 Creating/editing schema

Use the **Schema** tab of **Schema Editor** to create/edit a schema and specify its properties.

🛄 New Schema - [AdventureWork	s on lo	calhost]			- • •
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😽 💼 👌	> 🛃				- 12
Database	*	Schema	Dependencies	Description	DDL
AdventureWorks on localhost	•	<u>N</u> ame	Demo	Schema	
General	*	Owner	dbo		
Gompile					
Restore default size					

Name

Specify the name by which the schema is identified within the database.

Owner

Specify the name of the database-level principal (<u>user</u>व्रज्ञो or <u>role</u>ाउ०ो) that will own the schema. This principal may own other schemas, and may not use the current schema as its default schema.

5.3.2 Schema Objects

A **schema** is a collection of logical structures of data, or **schema objects**. A schema is owned by a database user. Each user can own a single schema. Schema objects can be created and manipulated with SQL and include the following types of objects:

- <u>Tables</u> 192
- <u>Views</u>246
- Procedures 253
- <u>User-defined types</u> 263
- User-defined functions 259
- <u>Synonyms</u>275
- <u>Aggregates</u> 278
- XML Schema Collections 281
- Defaults 284
- <u>Rules</u>287
- <u>Queues</u>289
- External Tables 293

Use the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree to <u>navigate</u> [49] within the existing schemas and their objects.

See also:

<u>New Object dialog</u> 180 Duplicate Object Wizard 18थे

5.3.2.1 Tables

Relational databases store all their data in **Tables**. A table is a data structure consisting of an unordered set of horizontal rows, each containing the same number of vertical columns. The intersection of an individual row and column is a field that contains a specific piece of information. Much of the power of relational databases comes from defining the relations among the tables.

Creating Tables

To create a new table:

- select the **Database | New Object...** <u>main menu</u> [915] item;
- select **Table** in the <u>Create New Object</u> [180] dialog;

• define table properties and columns using the appropriate tabs of <u>Table Editor</u>[193]. **Hint:** To create a new table, you can also right-click the **Tables** node or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u>[63] tree and select the **New Table...** item from the <u>context menu</u>[56].

To create a new table with the same properties as one of existing tables has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... main menu [915] item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 1821.

Alternatively, you can right-click a table in the <u>DB Explorer</u> of tree and select the **Duplicate Table <table_name>...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the database to create a new table in, and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the table.

Editing Tables

To edit an existing table (manage its <u>columns</u> 204), <u>indexes</u> 208), <u>data</u> 210), etc.):

- select the table for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the table name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Table <table_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the table;
- edit table subobjects and data using the appropriate tabs of Table Editor 2001.

To change the name of a table:

- select the table to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the table alias and select the **Rename Table <table_name>...** item from the <u>context menu</u>[56^h];
- edit the table name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Dropping Tables

To drop a table:

- select the table to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Table <table_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following shortcuts [952]:

Ctrl+N to create a new table; Ctrl+O to edit the selected table; Ctrl+R to rename the table; Shift+Del to drop the object from the database.

5.3.2.1.1 New table

The **New Table** window is a mode of <u>Table Editor</u>²⁰⁰ that opens automatically when you create a new table (see <u>Create table</u>¹⁹² for details) and allows you to create a new table, set table <u>properties</u>¹⁹⁵, specify table <u>columns</u>¹⁹⁶ and edit table description.

To call **Table Editor** for creating a new table, you can right-click the **Tables** node or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and use the Ctrl+N shortcut [952].

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 193
- Setting table properties 195
- Specifying table columns 196

5.3.2.1.1.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Table Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Table Editor (in the New table mode) allows you to:

Database

号 select a database to create a new table in

General

f <u>compile</u> هوعاً the newly created table

restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the table:

Columns

- 🐺 add 🖽 a new column
- 🐱 edit 🖽 selected column
- 🙀 drop वाउँ) selected column(s)

Description

save object <u>description</u> छिटे to file ि copy <u>description</u> छिटे to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Table Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (a), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (a) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (a) section there and select (a) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (a) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (a) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.1.1.2 Setting table properties

Use the **Table** tab of **Table Editor** to create a table and specify its properties.

Table name

Enter a name for the new table. Note that table names must comply with the rules for identifiers and must be unique within the <u>schema</u> 189. A table name can contain a maximum of 128 characters.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>schema</u> 189 to which the table belongs. The default selection is the default schema for the current <u>user</u> 295.

T <u>a</u> ble	<u>C</u> olumns	FileTable Options	Description	DD <u>L</u>			
Table j	name		table1				FileTable
Schen	na		[<mark>] dbo</mark>			\sim	As Node
Data s	pace		Cefa	ult >		\sim	Memory-optimized table
Partitic	oning colum	n				\sim	 Durability Schema and data
Text a	nd <u>i</u> mage fil	e group	Cefa	ult >		\sim	O Schema only
Filestr	eam datasp	ace	Cefa	ult >		\sim	
Compr	ression (by	partitions)					
#	Filegroup		Compression				
1	< Default >		None		ORow		○ Page

File table

Check this option to enable file and directory storage in the database. A FileTable is a specialized user table with a pre-defined schema that stores FILESTREAM data, as well as file and directory hierarchy information and file attributes.

🗹 As Node

Check this option to create a node table for SQL Graph.

🗹 As Edge

Check this option to create an edge table for SQL Graph.

Memory-optimized table

Check this option to enable memory-optimized table creation. Memory-optimized tables are in memory user tables, the schema of which is persisted on disk similar to other user tables.

If you have selected to create a memory-optimized table, you must specify <u>memory-optimized table indices</u> [198].

Durability

Schema and data

This value indicates that the table is a durable memory-optimized table. This option provides durability of both schema and data.

Schema only

This value indicates that the table is non-durable. This option ensures durability of the table schema, including indexes.

Such tables are not logged and their data is not persisted on disk.

Data space

Use the drop-down list to specify the new table data storage (a file group or a <u>partition</u> <u>scheme</u> (314).

Partitioning column

This drop-down list is only available if a <u>partition scheme</u> [314] is specified for **Data space**. Select a <u>column</u> [36] that will be used as the partitioning column for the table.

Text and image file group

Use the drop-down list to select the file group where data of the *text* and *image* types will be stored.

If necessary, you can also use the **Description** area to supply a *description* for the table being created.

For SQL Server 2008 and higher, **Table Editor** provides some additional table properties to define:

Filestream dataspace

Select the needed <u>Filestream filegroup</u> [154] from the drop-down list.

Compression (by partitions)

Use this area to set compression options for the table. Compression type can be different for each table partition. Set the partition compression to *Row* or *Page*. Set *None* to leave a partition uncompressed.

To compile the table, use the 🗳 **Compile** item available within the <u>Navigation bar</u>गिओ.

5.3.2.1.1.3 Specifying columns

The **Columns** tab is intended for setting up table <u>column</u> 213. Double-click a row to open <u>Column Editor</u> 214 for editing the column.

Right-click within the Table Columns area to display the context menu allowing you to

add, insert, edit or delete columns.

Columns management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> [193] of **Table Editor**.

📴 New Table - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]											
📒 🛢 Databases 🕶 🖊 🖊	🗄 🛢 Databases 👻 🗲 🛛 📷										
Database	*	T <u>a</u> ble	<u>C</u> olum	ns FileTable Options	D <u>e</u> scriptio	on DD <u>L</u>					
🗧 AdventureWorks on d	~	Primary	Key	Column Name (Alt+N)	Data Type	Size/Pre	Max Size	Scale	Not Null	Unique	Identity
General	\$	7	1 i	d	int	0		0	\checkmark	\checkmark	
oonoru.	~			10	varcha 🗸	10 🚔		0	\checkmark		
🗲 Compile	n					0		0			
Restore default size											
Columns	*										
Add column	U										
Edit column											
Delete column											
🕥 Move column up											
		<									>

The **Table Columns** list provides the following attributes of each field of the new table: *Primary Key*

Column Name Data Type Size Max Size Precision Not Null Unique Identity Default Value Default Object Comment

For details see <u>Columns</u> 213.

To compile the table, use the **Gompile** item available within the <u>Navigation bar</u> गिउं।

5.3.2.1.1.4 Specifying FileTable options

Use the **FileTable Options** tab to configure settings for the FileTable being created. This tab is available only for SQL Server 2012. The fields on this tab are enabled only if the $\boxed{\mbox{Pile table}}$ potion is checked on the Table 1951 tab.

📑 New Table - [AdventureWo	📑 New Table - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]								
🚦 🗧 Databases 👻 🗲 🛛 🖃									
Database 🛠	Table Columns FileTable Options Description DDL								
🗧 AdventureWorks on d 🗸	FileTable directory name Documents	FileTable directory name Documents							
General	File table directory name Documents Collation of the Name column < Default > Primary key constraint name								

FileTable directory name

Specifies the windows-compatible FileTable directory name. This name should be unique among all the FileTable directory names in the database. If this value is not specified, the name of the filetable is used.

Collation of the Name column

Select the name of the collation to be applied to the *Name* column in the FileTable. If this value is not specified, the database default collation is used.

Primary key constraint name

Set the name to be used for the primary key constraint that is automatically created on the FileTable. If this value is not specified, the system generates a name for the constraint.

stream_id unique key constraint name

Define the name to be used for the unique constraint that is automatically created on the *stream_id* column in the FileTable. If this value is not specified, the system generates a name for the constraint.

Full path unique key constraint name

Specify the name to be used for the unique constraint that is automatically created on the *parent_path_locator* and *name* columns in the FileTable. If this value is not specified, the system generates a name for the constraint.

5.3.2.1.1.5 Specifying memory-optimized table indices

Use the **Indices** tab to specify indices for the newly created memory- optimized table.



The **Indexes** list provides the following attributes of each index of the table: Name Primary Key Columns

Hash index Number of Hash Bucket

Right-click an index to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit* or *drop* an index.

Double-click an index or use the *New/Edit Index* context menu item to open Memoryoptimized table index editor for editing the index.

Memory-Optimized	Table Index		×
Name	id_idx		
Index type Primary Key Index		Options Image: Options Image: Hash index Number of hash buckets	
Columns			
Available Columns		Selected Columns	
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> anc	el

Index type

Primary Key

This selection indicates that the primary key index is created.

Index

This selection specifies a regular, non-unique index.

Options

Hash index

Checking this option indicates that a HASH index is created. A hash index consists of a collection of buckets organized in an array.

Number of hash buckets

Define the number of buckets that should be created in the hash index.

Columns

To include column(s) in the index, you need to move it from the **Available Columns** list to the **Selected Columns** list. Use the **Selected Columns** list. Use the **Selected Columns** list to another.

5.3.2.1.2 Table Editor

Table Editor is the basic SQL Manager tool for working with tables [192]. It opens automatically in the <u>New table</u> [193] mode when you create a new table and is available on

editing an existing one (see Create table 192) and Edit table 193) for details).

 Table Editor allows you to create, edit and drop table's columns 213, indexes 228, foreign keys 221 and other table subobjects, manage table data 210, properties 211 and much more.

To open a table in **Table Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 201
- Managing table columns 2041
- Changing columns order 205
- <u>Managing table foreign keys</u>
- Managing table checks 207
- <u>Managing table indexes</u>
- Managing table triggers 209
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Working with table data 210
- Editing table description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>
- <u>Setting object permissions</u>
- Table properties 211

5.3.2.1.2.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Table Editor**.

Object 🛠							
📒 AdventureWorks_dev on as 🗸							
DimCustomer 🗸 🗸							
General 🋠							
 ♂ Refresh ➡ Print ◆ Table Editor options 							
Tools \$							
 Indices management Update statistics Truncate table Dependency tree Create procedure 							
Columns 🌣							
 New column Edit column 'CustomerKey' Drop column 'CustomerKey' 							
Data Management 🛛 🛠							
Export data Export as SQL script Import data Rulk insect							

The **Navigation bar** of **Table Editor** (in the *Edit table* mode) allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a table for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the table (if it is being modified)
- save the table <u>description</u> [20] (if it has been modified)
- is refresh the content of the active tab
- چه print metadata ها of the table
- adjust <u>Table Editor options</u>ههها
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Tools

- 题 manage table indexes using <u>Indices Management Wizard</u>760
- d update table statistics using <u>Statistics Update Wizard</u>
- Itruncate data of the table (with the TRUNCATE TABLE statement used)
- Rebuild the dependent objects (for views only)
- iew the <u>dependency tree</u> [612] for the table
- 🤹 <u>create</u> विषे a <u>procedure</u> विदेश based on the table

Explorer

browse the table subobjects using the Explorer tree

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the table:

Columns

- 🐺 add 💷 🕯 a new column
- 🐱 <u>edit</u>वाउँ। selected column
- 🙀 drop वाउँ) selected column(s)

Foreign keys

- add 221 a new foreign key
- 🔁 edit 221 selected foreign key
- 🗟 drop 222 selected foreign key(s)

Checks

- 🌃 <u>add</u> 223 a new check
- 🔀 edit 225 selected check
- drop 2261 selected check(s)

Indices

- <u>add</u> 228 a new index
- 🐱 edit 228 selected index
- لا معنو <u>drop</u> العداد dindex (-es)

Triggers

- <u>add</u>237 a new trigger
- 😼 edit विजेग selected trigger
- <u>م drop</u>237) selected trigger(s)

Data Management

- 🜱 commit transaction
- X rollback transaction
- 🕆 export data from the table using Export Data Wizard
- resport data from the table as SQL script using Export as SQL Script Wizard চিত্ৰী
- 节 import data into the table using Import Data Wizard जिनी
- ବ load data into the table using <u>Bulk Insert Wizard</u> 🔤

Description

📕 save object <u>description</u> 920 to file

opy <u>description</u> ियी to clipboard

DDL save DDL save DDL open DDL open A open B

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Table Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.1.2.2 Managing columns

The **Columns** tab is intended for managing table <u>columns</u> [213]. Double-click a row to open <u>Column Editor</u> [214] for editing the column.

Right-click a row to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *rename*, *duplicate* the selected column, or <u>reorder</u>^[205] columns of the table. Using the menu you can also <u>export</u>^[531] the list of the table columns to any of supported <u>formats</u>^[935].

Columns management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> for **Table Editor**.

Table - [DimCustomer] - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]														
🗄 🛢 Databases 🗸 🖉 📲 🛃 🦺 💽 🎄 🔚 📴 ImCustomer 🔷 😼 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖏 🖏 🗮 😻 👘 👘 🗮 🛃 🐺 🚿											Ţ			
Object	*	^	Colu <u>m</u> n	s Foreign <u>K</u> eys	<u>C</u> he	cks Indices Triggers	Properties	Dep	endencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> scr	iption DD <u>L</u>	Permissions	s
AdventureWorks on doom_	\sim		Column	Name		Data Type	Not Null		Unique	ld	lentity	Default Valu	e /	~
DimCustomer	~		<i>></i> 🔳	CustomerKey		int					\checkmark			
	-		•	GeographyKey	16-1	int (45)					<u> </u>			
General	*			CustomerAlternate	Key	nvarchar(15)								
C Refresh				FirstName		nvarchar(50)								
📳 Print				MiddleName		New Column		In	is 🗍					
Table Editor options				LastName	I,	Edit Column 'FirstNan	ie'	Ente	er 🗌					
🛃 Restore default size				NameStyle		Rename Column 'Firs	tName'							
Tools	\$			BirthDate		Drop Column 'FirstNa	me'	D	el 📮		<u> </u>			
				MaritalStatus	- 1	Duralla ata Batarra					<u> </u>			
Indices management				Gender		Duplicate Column			H		$\overset{\square}{\vdash}$			
Update statistics		<		EmailAddress		Reorder Columns					$\overline{\Box}$			
Truncate table				YearlyIncome		Export List			5					
Dependency tree				TotalChildren		Copy List of Columns	' Names to Cl	ipboar	d 🗆					
Create procedure				NumberChildrenAt		Fit Column Widths								
Columns	*			EnglishEducation	-	interonar(10)	· · ·	_						-
New column Edit column 'FirstName' Drop column 'FirstName'			Colum	n Description <fi< td=""><td>rstN</td><td>ame></td><td>~</td><td></td><td>,</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>></td><td></td></fi<>	rstN	ame>	~		,				>	
Data Management	\$													
Export data														
Export as SQL script			<										2	>
E Import data		~		Modified		Modified Inse	rt							

The **Columns** list provides the following attributes of each column of the table: *Column Name Data Type Not Null Unique Identity Default Value*

For details see <u>Columns</u> 213.

If necessary, you can also use the **Column Description** area to supply a *description* for each column.

5.3.2.1.2.3 Changing columns order

The **Reorder Columns** dialog allows you to change the columns order in the table.

To open this dialog, open the table in **Table Editor**, proceed to the <u>Columns</u> at tab there, right-click within the **Columns** list and select the **Reorder Columns** item from the context menu.

The columns are displayed in the **Column name** list in the current order.

To change the columns order, use the O O buttons or drag-and-drop operations within the list. Click the **OK** button to view the modification script in the <u>Changing Metadata</u> window and apply changes.

Reorder Columns							
Column Name	Data Type						
Accountid	int						
Serviceld	int						
ItemTypeld	int						
Frequencyld	int						
Runld	int						
PurchaseOrderNo	int						
Units	int						
Rate	int						
NextDate	date						
Notations	int						
О Ок	Cancel Help						

Note: This operation is performed by dropping/recreating the table.

5.3.2.1.2.4 Managing foreign keys

The **Foreign Keys** tab is provided for managing table <u>foreign keys</u> [221]. Double-click a foreign key to open <u>Foreign Key Editor</u> [222] for editing the foreign key.

Right-click a foreign key to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *enable/disable* the selected foreign key, or *enable/disable* all foreign keys. Using the menu you can also export and the list of the table foreign keys to any of supported formats pash.

Foreign keys management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> 2011 of **Table Editor**.

Table - [dbo.DTA_progress] - [I	Demo	DB on testing-ms	\SQL	2005]							- • •
🗄 🛢 Databases 🕶 🥤 📇 🔁	81	🛃 🔆 📑 DTA	_prog	ress			,	- 128 🗛			-16 🖪 🛃 🦉
Object 🛠	^	Colu <u>m</u> ns Foreig	n <u>K</u> eys	s <u>C</u> hecks	Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> scription	DDL <u>P</u> e < >
😑 DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL 🗸		Foreign Key Name	e	Colu	mns	For	eign Table	Foreign Colu	imns	Disabled	On Update
DTA_progress ~		FKDTA	prog	r_Set Sest	sionID	dbo	.DTA_input	SessionID	Ine		NO ACTION
General 🛠			111 111	Edit Foreign	Key 'FK_	_DTA_pro	gr_Sessi_	0697FACD' Er	iter		
C Refresh			5	Drop Foreig	in Key 'Fk	DTA_pr	ogr_Sessi_	_0697FACD'	Del		
Print				Export List.							
🔆 Table Editor options				Enable Fore	eian Kev 'l	FK DTA	progr Sess	i 0697FACD'			
Restore default size	<	<		Disable For	eign Key '	FK_DTA	_progrSes				>
Tools 🖈		Foreign Key De		Enable All							
📧 Indices management	U	Foreign key cons		Disable All							^
🛃 Update statistics				Fit Column	Nidths						
Truncate table			_							-	
Bependency tree											~
Create procedure		<									>
Foreign Keys 🏾 🛠	Υ.	23:	1	Mo	dified	Inser	t				

The **Foreign Keys** list provides the following attributes of each foreign key of the table: *Foreign Key Name*

Columns Foreign Table Foreign Columns Disabled On Update On Delete

For details see Foreign Keys 221.

If necessary, you can also use the **Foreign Key Description** area to supply a *description* for each foreign key.

5.3.2.1.2.5 Managing checks

The **Checks** tab is provided for managing table <u>check constraints</u> [225]. Double-click a check to open <u>Check Editor</u> [226] for editing the check.

Right-click a check to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *enable/disable* the selected check, or *enable/disable* all checks. Using the menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of the table checks to any of supported <u>formats</u> [935].

Check constraints management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u>²⁰¹ of **Table Editor**.

Table - [dbo.DTA_progress]	- [D	emo	DB on test	ting-ms\SQL20	005]									
🕴 🧧 Databases 👻 👫 🔚 🕻	3	81	🖻 🌵 🛛	DTA_progre	:55					- 128 🗛	V X			18 🛃 🦉
Object	*	^	Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	Trigg	ers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> scriptio	on DD <u>L</u>	<u>_</u> e < >
🛢 DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL	\sim		Name		Defi	nition				[Disabled	Desc	ription	
DTA progress	\sim		==== C	KDTA_progr_	_Wo [Wo	rkloadCo	nsumpt	ion]>=	=(0) AND [W	orkloadConsu		Chec	k constra	int [Workload
							目	lew C	Check Const	raint			Ins	
General	*						й е	dit Ch	heck 'CK_D	TA_progrWo	rkl_1BC	821DD' Er	nter	
C Refresh							X	rop C	Check 'CK	DTA_progrW	orkl_1B	C821DD'	Del	
Print							E	xport	t List					
🔱 Table Editor options							-	nable	Check ICK	DTA progr	Norki 1	BC821DD		
Restore default size		<						linabl	a Chaok 'CK		Workl	BC924DD		
Tools	\$		•					isable		DIA_progr	WUIKI	10002100		,
			Check D	escription <cl< td=""><td>KDTA_p</td><td>rogr</td><td></td><td>nable</td><td>= All</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></cl<>	KDTA_p	rogr		nable	= All					
Indices management			Спеск со	nstraint (workio	adconsum	iption]>=	Ľ	Isabi	e All					<u>^</u>
Update statistics							F	it Col	umn Widths					
Truncate table														
Dependency tree														~
Create procedure			<											>
Checks	*	v		77: 1	Mo	odified		nsert						

The **Checks** list provides the following attributes of each check constraint of the table: Name Definition

Definition Disabled Description

If necessary, you can also use the **Check Description** area to supply a *description* for each check constraint.

5.3.2.1.2.6 Managing indices

The **Indices** tab is provided for managing table $\frac{\text{indexes}}{228}$. Double-click an index to open Index Editor²²⁸ for editing the index.

Right-click an index to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *enable/disable* the selected index, or *enable/disable* all indexes. Using the menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of the table indexes to any of supported <u>formats</u> [935].

Indexes management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> 201 of **Table Editor**.

📰 Table - [dbo.Archiv] - [DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL2005]											
🗄 🛢 Databases 🔹 👘 🖶 🛃 🛃 🗃 🕼 🖑 📴 Archiv 💦 💙 📽 🚳 🖓 🖓 🖓 🐘 🗮 😻 🐺 💉 🔤											
Object \$	Colu <u>m</u> n	s Foreign <u>K</u> eys <u>C</u>	hecks Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta D	escription DDL	Permissions		
$\stackrel{\bigcirc}{=}$ DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 \checkmark	Index N	ame	Columns		Clustered	Prim	ary Key	Unique	Disabled	^	
Archiv 🗸	<u>*</u>	Archiv_idx Archiv_idx2	Zaehler_Prod	, Zeit_Prod, J	z [
General ¥	<u>*</u>	Archiv_idx3	Uhrzeit_Sort								
Tools ¥	2	Archiv_idx4	Auftrag_Nr, A	blieferung							
Indices 🌣	1 🛃	idx_Archiv_aktiv	aktiv								
New index		idx_Archiv_Auftrag_ idx Archiv Maschin	_N Auftrag_Nr e Maschinen N	r						<u> </u>	
Drop index 'Archiv_idx2'	Index [escription <archiv< th=""><th>/_idx2></th><th>(</th><th></th><th>*</th><th>)</th><th></th><th></th><th></th></archiv<>	/_idx2>	(*)				
Data Management 🛛 🛠	J										
Export data											
Export as SQL script											
📑 Import data											
Bulk insert	<									>	
		Modified	Modified	Insert							

The **Indexes** list provides the following attributes of each index of the table:

Index Name Columns Clustered Primary Key Unique Disabled

For details see Indexes 228.

If necessary, you can also use the **Index Description** area to supply a *description* for each index.

5.3.2.1.2.7 Managing triggers

The **Triggers** tab is provided for managing table $\underline{\text{triggers}}_{236}$. Double-click a trigger to open $\underline{\text{Trigger Editor}}_{237}$ for editing the trigger.

Right-click the area to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *enable/disable* the selected trigger, or *enable/disable* all triggers. Using the menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of the table triggers to any of supported <u>formats</u> [935].

Triggers management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> for **Table Editor**.

📴 Table - [production.product_audits] - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]														
🗧 🗧 Databases 🕶 🌾 🖷 🛛 🔁 🖶	2	华 [[product_aud	its					~		<u>, ~</u>	$^{\prime} \times$		
Object 🎗	Colu	u <u>m</u> ns	Foreign <u>K</u> eys	<u>C</u> hec	ks l	ndices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Propertie	es [Depender	icies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	$\langle \rangle$
🗧 AdventureWorks on doom_SEF 🗸	Nam	ne		l	nsert		Update	0	elete		Туре		Disabled	
product_audits ~		😹 tr	g_product_audit		2	New 1	√ Trigger			✓ Ins	After			
General ¥						Edit Tr	igger 'trg_p	product_a	udiť	Enter				
Tools ¥					2	Drop 1	Frigger 'trg_	_product_	audiť	Del				
Triggers 🛠						Export	t List							
📴 New trigger						Enable	Trigger Vr	a produci	t aud	644				
Edit trigger 'trg_product_audit'	` <					Disabl	o Trigger 1	g_produc	t auu	diff.	-			>
🛃 Drop trigger 'trg_product_audit'	Trig	iger D)escription <tr< td=""><td>g_pro</td><td></td><td>Enable</td><td>e migger u</td><td>rg_produc</td><td>a_au</td><td>uit</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></tr<>	g_pro		Enable	e migger u	rg_produc	a_au	uit				
Data Management 🖈						Dieabl	eΔII							
Export data						Fit Col	umn Widths	s						
Export as SQL script														
🖺 Import data	<													>
■ Bulk insert			Modified		Mod	ified	Insert	t						

The **Triggers** list provides the following attributes of each trigger of the table:

Name Insert Update Delete Type Disabled

For details see Triggers 236.

If necessary, you can also use the **Trigger Description** area to supply a *description* for each trigger.

5.3.2.1.2.8 Working with table data

The **Data** tab displays the table data as a grid by default (see <u>Data View</u> 463) for details). The context menu of this tab allows you to <u>Export Data</u> कि ते, <u>Import Data</u> कि ते, <u>Export as SQL</u> <u>Script</u> कि ते, <u>Bulk Insert</u> 602].

Data management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u>²⁰¹ of **Table Editor**.

While working with data, you are provided with a number of <u>filtering</u> and <u>grouping</u> (467) facilities.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

Table - [dbo.DimCustomer] - [٨dv	/en	tureWork	cs on MEF	RLIN\SQL200	8]						
🗄 🛢 Databases 🔹 👫 📲 🕄	8		3 🔱 🛛	📑 DimCu	stomer				 128 4 	$\times \times $		ቼ 📮
Object	*		Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign	Keys Check	s Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	s Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> sc	ript < >
AdventureWorks on MERLIN/SC	\sim		Find:		2					1000		• » -
DimCustomer	\sim		Drag a	column he	ader here to g	roup by that	t column					^
General	¥		E Custo	merKey	FirstName	LastName	Geogra	phyKey	CustomerAlternat	еКеу	Title	Mide
Tools	¥			11 000	Jon	Yang		26	AW00011000		Null	v
Data Management	*			11 001	Eugene	Huang		37	AW00011001		Null	L
Export data				11 002	Ruben	Torres		31	AW00011002		Null	Null
Export as SQL script		1		11 003	Christy	Zhu		11	AW00011003		Null	Null
To Import data				11 004	Elizabeth	Johnson		19	AW00011004		Null	Null
Bulk insert				11 005	Julio	Ruiz		22	AW00011005		Null	Null
		<	₽	11 006	Janet	Alvarez		8	AW00011006		Null	G
Explorer	¥			11 007	Marco	Mehta		40	AW00011007		Null	Null
				11 008	Rob	Verhoff		32	AW00011008		Null	Null
				11 009	Shannon	Carlson		25	AW00011009		Null	С
		U		11 010	Jacquelyn	Suarez		22	AW00011010		Null	С
				11 011	Curtis	Lu		22	AW00011011		Null	Null
				11 012	Lauren	Walker		611	AW00011012		Null	М
				11 013	lan	Jenkins		543	AW00011013		Null	М
				11 014	Sydney	Bennett		634	AW00011014		Null	Null
				11 015	Chloe	Young		301	AW00011015		Null	Null 🧹
			<						-			>
			<u>G</u> rid Vie	w Eorm	View Pri <u>n</u> t D	ata <u>B</u> lob V	/iew					
			Fetched:	1000/1848	4					TOP 100	00	

See also:

Data View 463

5.3.2.1.2.9 Table properties

The **Properties** tab allows you to view/edit common properties of the table: Table name, Schema name, Table options (Storage attributes, Table lock usage, etc.), Table information.

Hint: These properties are also available within a modal dialog which is called through the **Table Properties...** context menu item of the table alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63].

212 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Table - [dbo.DimCustomer] - [Adv	entureWorks on MERLIN\SQL2008]	
📒 🛢 Databases 🕶 🗍 👘 📑 😂 🖶	🔄 🔱 📑 DimCustomer	<mark>│</mark> 📲 🚽 🗸 🕹 🚏
Object \$	Columns Foreign Keys Checks	Indices Triggers Properties Dependencies Data Descript < >
AdventureWorks on MERLIN\S(~	Name	DimCustomer
DimCustomer 🗸 🗸	Schema	[I dbo
General 🎗	Filestream filegroup	<pre>None></pre>
 Refresh Print Table Editor options Restore default size 	Table options □ Store text, ntext and image file Data length limit ✓ Store varchar(max), nvarchar □ Use table lock on bulk load	elds in data rows
Tools 🏠	Compression (by partitions)	
Indices management	# Filegroup	Compression Rows
Update statistics	1 PRIMARY	None O Row O Page 18484
Truncate table Dependency tree Create procedure	<	
Data Management 🛛 🛠	Table information	Ne
📑 Export data	Bow count	18 484
Export as SQL script	Allocated space	9.078 MB
📑 Import data	Space used by data	7,656 MB
Bulk insert	Space used by indices	0,688 MB
	Creation date	27.10.2017 14:36:29
	ANSI nulls on creation	On
	Quoted identifier on creation	On
	Filegroup	PRIMARY
	Text filegroup	(none)

Name

Edit the name of the table. Note that table names must comply with the rules for identifiers. The name of the table must be unique within the schema. A table name can contain a maximum of 128 characters.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select a <u>schemaner</u> for the table.

Filestream dataspace

Select the needed <u>Filestream filegroup</u> [154] from the drop-down list. This option is available only for SQL Server 2008 and higher.

Table options

This group allows you to specify to **I** Store text, ntext and image fields in data rows, set the Data length limit, specify to **I** Store varchar(max), nvarchar(max), varbinary(max) and xml fields in data rows, and select whether to **I** Use table lock on bulk load or not.

Compression (by partitions)

Use this area to set compression options for the table. Compression type can be different for each table partition. Set the partition compression to *Row* or *Page*. Set *None* to leave a partition uncompressed.

The **Table information** group allows you to view the table summary: System (Yes/No), Row count, Space used by data, Space used by indices, Creation date, ANSI nulls on creation (On/Off), Quoted identifier on creation (On/Off), File group, Text file group.

Durability

This group of options is available for memory-optimized tables only.

Schema and data

This value indicates that the table is a durable memory-optimized table. This option provides durability of both schema and data.

Schema only

This value indicates that the table is non-durable. This option ensures durability of the table schema, including indexes.

Such tables are not logged and their data is not persisted on disk.

5.3.2.1.3 Columns

Table columns are managed within the **Columns** tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 2001.

Creating Columns

To create a new table column:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u>²⁰⁰;
- proceed to the **Columns** tab there;
- right-click the tab area and select the New Column context menu item, or press the Ins key;
- define the column properties using the <u>Column Editor</u>²¹⁴ dialog.

Editing Columns

To edit an existing table column:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u>²⁰⁰;
- proceed to the **Columns** tab there;
- right-click the row and select the Edit Column <column_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the column;
- edit the column properties using the <u>Column Editor</u> [214] dialog.

To change the order of table columns:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u>²⁰⁰;
- proceed to the Columns tab there;
- right-click the row and select the Reorder Columns <column_name> context menu item;
- edit columns' order using the <u>Reorder Columns</u>²⁰⁵ dialog.

Dropping Columns

To drop a table column:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> [200];
- proceed to the **Columns** tab there;
- right-click the row and select the Drop Column <column_name> context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

5.3.2.1.3.1 Column Editor

Column Editor allows you to specify column definition and set column properties. It opens automatically when you create a new column and is available on editing an existing one (see <u>Create column</u> 213) and <u>Edit column</u> 213) for details).

To open a column in **Column Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree, or use the **Edit Column...** item of the context menu within the <u>Columns</u> [204] tab of <u>Table Editor</u> [200].

- <u>Setting column name and type</u>
 ²¹⁴
- <u>Setting column identity</u>217
- <u>Setting column defaults</u>219
- <u>Setting column description</u>

Column name

Enter a name for the new column, or modify the name of the column being edited. Note that the name of a column must be unique among all the column names in the table.

The **Data type** tab defines the type of the column.

Column type kind

This group allows you to select whether the column being created/edited is based on a standard data type, a <u>user-defined type</u> 263, or is a computed column.

Standard data type

Specifies that the column is based upon a built-in SQL Server data type.

Add New Column		×
Column <u>n</u> ame Column type kind St <u>a</u> ndard data typ User-defined dat Computed	FirstName pe a t <u>v</u> pe	
Data Type Type Size / precision Scale Collation	Description nvarchar 30 ♥ Maximum size 0 ♥ Not Null Latin1_General_100_€ RowGuid Primary key Unique key Sparse Filestream	>
2	<u>D</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Туре

Here you can set the column type by selecting it from the drop-down list of the standard SQL Server data types.

Size

Specify the size value (for certain types). Check the \blacksquare **Maximum size** option to use the maximum values set by SQL Server.

Scale

Defines the maximum number of decimal digits that can be stored to the right of the decimal point of the value (for numeric and decimal data types).

Collation

Use the drop-down list to specify the collation for text and char columns. By default, the column is assigned the default collation of the database.

Not NULL

Check this option to specify that the values for the column should never contain a null value. *NOT NULL* affects all INSERT and UPDATE operations on a column.

🗹 RowGuid

This option specifies that the *ROWGUIDCOL* property is added to the column. *ROWGUIDCOL* indicates that the column is a row GUID column.

Primary key

Check this option to include the column into the primary key. Note that if you include a column to a primary key, you should also make it *Not Null*.

A table typically has a column or combination of columns that contain values that uniquely identify each row in the table. This column, or columns, is called the primary key (PK) of the table and enforces integrity of the table.

Unique key

Check this option to create a unique key on the column that provides entity integrity for a particular column or columns using a unique index.

Sparse

Check this option to make the column a Sparse column. Sparse columns are ordinary columns that have an optimized storage for null values. Sparse columns reduce the space requirements for null values at the cost of more overhead to retrieve non-null values.

Filestream

Check this option to store the data from this column in the <u>Filestream filegroup</u> 154. This option is available if any filestream file group is specified for the table.

🗹 Online

Check this option to enable ONLINE mode on column modification.

User-defined data type

Specifies that the column is based upon a user-defined data type.

Туре

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>user-defined type</u> 263 for the column being created/ edited.

Computed

Specifies that the column is computed from an expression that can use other columns in the same table.
Add New Col	lumn		×
Column <u>n</u> ame Column typ St <u>a</u> ndare User-de O Compute	e kind d data type fined data ty ed	Discount	
Expression	Description	1	
1 [(P1	omputed val rice)/(2	ues in table	^
<			>
	<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Store computed values in table

This option determines whether computed values are stored in the table or the column is not physically stored in the table.

Specify an expression that defines the value of the computed column. For example, a computed column can have the following definition:

cost AS price * qty.

The expression can be a noncomputed column name, constant, function, variable, and any combination of these connected by one or more operators. The expression cannot be a subquery or include an alias data type.

The **Identity** tab is only available for integer column types and for <u>user-defined types</u> and based on integer types. Using this tab you can create an identity column.

Identity

This option specifies that the new column is an identity column.

Seed

Specify the value used for the first row that is loaded into the table.

Increment

Specify the value added to the identity value of the previous row that is loaded.

Edit Column 'EmailPromotion' X
Column name EmailPromotion Column type kind Image: Column type kind Image: Standard data type Image: Column type kind Image: User-defined data type Image: Column type kind Image: Computed Image: Column type kind
Data Type Identity ☑ Identity Seed 1 Increment 1 Not for replication Note! Changes of these properties are performed by dropping/recreating the table.
OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

Not for replication

This option allows you to specify that the Identity property should not be enabled when a replication agent modifies the table that contains the identity column.

NB: This operation is performed by dropping/recreating the table.

The **XML** tab is only available for XML column type and for <u>user-defined types</u> and based on XML type.

The **xml** data type is a built-in data type in SQL Server and is somewhat similar to other built-in types such as *int* and *varchar*. As with other built-in types, you can use the **xml** data type as a column type when you create a table as a variable type, a parameter type, a function-return type, or in CAST and CONVERT.

Edit Column 'AdditionalConractInfo' X					
Column name AdditionalConractIn fo Column type kind Image: Standard data type User-defined data type Image: Computed					
Data Type XML Default Description XML schema collection AdditionalContactInfoSchemaCollecti v					
Content Occument					
<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp					

XML schema collection

Use the drop-down list to select an XML Schema Collection 281 to be used by this column.

The **XML schema collection** stores the imported XML schemas.

The schemas in the collection are used to validate the XML instances. By default, instances stored in the typed xml column are stored as XML content. For typed xml columns, you can constrain the column to allow only single, top-level elements for each instance stored in it. You can do this by selecting the **Document** option.

The **Stored as** group allows you to select the way your xml data will be stored: as **Content** or as a **Document**.

The **Default** tab allows you to define the default value for the column. You can either select the default object from the list of database $\frac{defaults}{284}$ or define a default value for the column. The second option is not available for the **Computed** column type.

Edit Column	'Catalo	ogDescrip	ption' ×
Column <u>n</u> an Column ty St <u>a</u> nda O User-du Comput	ne pe kind - rd data t efined da ted	Cata ype ata t <u>v</u> pe	alogDescription
Data Type	XML	De <u>f</u> ault	Desc <u>r</u> iption
○ O <u>b</u> ject	int name		
<			>
		<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

Constraint name

This box allows you to set a name for the constraint which is automatically created when you set a default value for the data column. If you leave this field empty, the constraint will be named by the server.

The **Description** tab allows you to enter optional text as a description for the column.

Edit Column 'CatalogDescription'	×
Column name CatalogDescription	
Column type kind	
User-defined data type	
○ Computed	
Data Type Identity Default Description	
Detailed product catalog information in xml format.	^
	~
<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Note: Changing object description is performed by means of *sp_updateextendedproperty 'MS_Description'*.

5.3.2.1.4 Foreign Keys

A **Foreign key** constraint (also called a *referential integrity constraint*) designates a column as the Foreign key and establishes a relationship between that foreign key and a specified *Primary* or *Unique* key called the *referenced key*. A composite Foreign key designates a combination of columns as the foreign key.

Table Foreign keys are managed within the **Foreign Keys** tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 2001.

Creating Foreign Keys

To create a new Foreign key:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u>200;
- proceed to the Foreign Keys tab there;
- right-click the tab area and select the New Foreign Key context menu item, or press the Ins key;
- define the Foreign key properties using the Foreign Key Editor 222 dialog.

Editing Foreign Keys

To view/edit an existing Foreign key:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> 200;
- proceed to the Foreign Keys tab there;
- right-click the Foreign key to edit and select the Edit Foreign Key
 <foreign_key_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the Foreign key;
- edit the Foreign key properties using the <u>Foreign Key Editor</u>222 dialog.

Dropping Foreign Keys

To drop a Foreign key:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> 200;
- proceed to the Foreign Keys tab there;
- right-click the Foreign key and select the Drop Foreign Key <foreign_key_name> context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

5.3.2.1.4.1 Foreign Key Editor

Foreign Key Editor allows you to specify foreign key definition and set foreign key properties. It opens when you create a new foreign key or edit an existing one (see <u>Create Foreign Key</u>^[221] and <u>Edit Foreign Key</u>^[221] for details).

To open a foreign key in **Foreign Key Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree, or use the **Edit Foreign Key...** item of the context menu within the <u>Foreign Keys</u> [206] tab of <u>Table Editor</u> [200].

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 222
- <u>Creating/editing foreign key</u>
 ²²³
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing foreign key description 920
- Viewing DDL definition [919]

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Foreign Key Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Foreign Key Editor allows you to:

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the foreign key (if it is being created/modified)
- ቘ save the foreign key <u>description</u>ष्ठ्यी (if it has been modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the foreign key
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the foreign key:

Description

- save object <u>description</u> [920] to file
- ो copy <u>description</u> ियी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ୋ୩ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ୋ୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Foreign Key Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (Foreign Couldar (if you need the toolbar only) or (Foreign Couldar (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Use the **Foreign Key** tab of **Foreign Key Editor** to create/edit a foreign key constraint and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new foreign key, or modify the name of the foreign key being edited.

Table

The drop-down list of <u>tables</u> 192 allows you to select the table for which the foreign key is created.

🗟 Foreign Key - [FK_DimC	ustomer_DimGeography on dbo.Dim	Customer] - [AdventureWorks on doom_S	ERV 🗖 🗖 💌
: 🗲 🕞 🕃 🕞 😫			
General 🎗	Foreign Key Description DDL		
🗲 Compile	Name FK_D	imCustomer_DimGeography	Enabled
C Refresh	Table dbo.D	vimCustomer 🗸 🗸	Check existing data
Dependency tree	Available Columns	Included Columns	Not for replication
Restore default size	CustomerKey	GeographyKey	
	CustomerAlternateKey		
ſ	FirstName		
	MiddleName		
	Foreign table dbo.D	limGeography 🗸	
<	Available Columns	Included Columns	
	City	GeographyKey	
	StateProvinceCode		
	CountryRegionCode		
	EnglishCountryRegionName		
	Update action	Delete action	
	No action	No action	
	Cascade	Cascade	
	O Set default	Set Null	

The **Table Columns** area allows you to select Foreign key column(s).

To select a column, you need to move it from the **Available Columns** list to the **Included Columns** list. Use the **Section** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the columns from one list to another.

Foreign table

Use the drop-down list to select the foreign table.

The **Foreign Table Columns** area allows you to select the column(s) of the Foreign table.

To select a column, you need to move it from the **Available Columns** list to the **Included Columns** list. Use the **Section** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the columns from one list to another.

If the referenced column(s) are changed frequently, it may be wise to add an index to the foreign key column so that referential actions associated with the foreign key column were performed more efficiently. See Indexes 228 for details.

Update action / Delete action

No action

Produce an error indicating that the deletion or update would create a foreign key constraint violation. If the constraint is deferred, this error will be produced at constraint check time if there still exist any referencing rows. This is the default action.

• Cascade

Delete any rows referencing the deleted row, or update the value of the referencing column to the new value of the referenced column, respectively.

• Set NULL

Set the referencing column(s) to null.

• Set default Set the referencing column(s) to their default values.

🗹 Enabled

Enables/disables the foreign key immediately after it is created.

Check existing data

This option specifies whether the data in the table is or is not validated against a newly added or re-enabled foreign key.

Not for replication

This option allows you to specify that the foreign key should not be enabled when a replication agent modifies the table that is involved in the foreign key.

5.3.2.1.5 Checks

A **Check** specifies an expression producing a Boolean result which new or updated rows must satisfy for an insert or update operation to succeed. Expressions evaluating to TRUE or UNKNOWN succeed. Should any row of an insert or update operation produce a FALSE result an error exception is raised and the insert or update does not alter the database. A check constraint specified as a column constraint should reference that column's value only, while an expression appearing in a table constraint may reference multiple columns.

Table checks are managed within the **Checks** tab of <u>Table Editor</u>²⁰⁰.

Creating Checks

To create a new check:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u>^[200];
- proceed to the **Checks** tab there;
- right-click the tab area and select the New Check Constraint context menu item, or press the Ins key;
- define the check properties using the <u>Check Editor</u>^[226] dialog.

Editing Checks

To view an existing check:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> 200;
- proceed to the **Checks** tab there;
- right-click the check and select the Edit Check <check_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the check;
- edit the check properties using the <u>Check Editor</u>^[226] dialog.

Dropping Checks

To drop a check:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> 200;
- proceed to the Checks tab there;
- right-click the check and select the Drop Check <check_name> context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

5.3.2.1.5.1 Check Editor

Check Editor allows you to specify check definition and set check properties. It opens automatically when you create a new check and is available on editing an existing one (see <u>Create check</u>^[225] and <u>Edit check</u>^[225] for details).

To open a check constraint in **Check Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree, or use the **Edit Check...** item of the context menu within the <u>Checks</u> 207 tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 200.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 226
- <u>Creating/editing check</u>
 227
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing check description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> [919]

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Check Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Check Editor allows you to:

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> [923] the check (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the check <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> [612] for the check
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the check:

Description

🚽 save object <u>description</u> छिये to file 🛅 copy <u>description</u> छिये to clipboard

DDL save DDL ଡ open DDL open DDL ଜୀଗ in <u>Ouery Data</u> 428

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Check Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Use the **Check** tab of **Check Editor** to create/edit a check constraint and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new check, or modify the name of the check being edited.

Table

The drop-down list of <u>tables</u> allows you to select the table for which the check is created.

🐒 Check - [CK_Product_SafetyStockLevel on Product (Production)] - [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexp 👝 💷 📧						
🦸 🖪 🖻 🖻 🌬						
General *		Check Description	on DDL			
Gompile		<u>N</u> ame	CK_Product_SafetyStockLevel	Enabled		
Refresh		Table	Product (Production)	✓ Check existing data		
Dependency tree	5		Vot for replication			
Restore default size		Definition				
		1 [Safety	StockLevel]>(0)	<u> </u>		
	- 3					
				E		
				-		
		 ■ 		• · · · · ·		
1: 1		Ins	ert Highlighting Unico	de (UCS-2) ,;;		

Enabled

Enables/disables the check immediately after it is created.

Check existing data

This option specifies whether the data in the table is or is not validated against a newly added or re-enabled check.

Not for replication

This option allows you to specify that the check should not be enabled when a replication agent modifies the table that is involved in the check.

Definition

This area represents the condition implied by the check constraint. You can specify any logical (Boolean) expression that returns *TRUE* or *FALSE* based on the logical operators. For example, *salary* > = 15000 AND salary < = 100000.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area [429] and <u>Using the context menu</u> [430].

5.3.2.1.6 Indices

Table indexes are managed within the **Indices** tab of <u>Table Editor</u>²⁰⁰.

Creating Indices

To create a new table index:

- open the table in Table Editor 200;
- proceed to the **Indices** tab there;
- right-click the tab area and select the New Index context menu item, or press the Ins key;
- define the index properties using the <u>Index Editor</u>²²⁸ dialog.

Editing Indices

To edit an existing table index:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> 200;
- proceed to the Indices tab there;
- right-click the index and select the Edit Index context menu item, or simply doubleclick the index;
- edit the index properties using the <u>Index Editor</u>^[228] dialog.

Dropping Indices

To drop a table index:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u>^[200];
- proceed to the **Indices** tab there;
- right-click the index and select the **Drop Index** context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

5.3.2.1.6.1 Index Editor

Index Editor allows you to specify index definition and set index properties. It opens automatically when you create a new index and is available on editing an existing one

(see <u>Create Index</u>228) and <u>Edit Index</u>228) for details).

To open an index in **Index Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree, or use the **Edit Index...** item of the context menu within the <u>Indices</u> [208] tab of <u>Table Editor</u> [200].

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 229
- Creating/editing index 230
- Defining index storage 233
- Viewing index info 236
- Editing index description 920
- Viewing DDL definition 919

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Index Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Index Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- select an index for editing

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> 23 the index (if it is being created/modified)
- 퇴 save the index <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- م print metadata ها والم print metadata
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Tools

- rebuild the index using the ALTER INDEX ... REBUILD statement
- reorganize the index using the ALTER INDEX ... REORGANIZE statement
- 🛃 update statistics using the UPDATE STATISTICS statement
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> [612] for the index

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the index:

Description

- save object <u>description and</u> to file
- in copy description विश्वी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ to file 🗹 open DDLଜୀ୩ in Query Data42ଶି

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Index Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Use the **Index** tab of **Index Editor** to create/edit an index on a specified <u>table 192</u> or <u>view</u> [246], or an XML index on a specified <u>table 192</u>, and specify index properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new index, or modify the name of the index being edited.

Table or view

The drop-down list of <u>tables</u> [192] and <u>views</u> [246] allows you to select the table or view to be indexed.

Fill factor

Specify a percentage that indicates how full the Database Engine should make the leaf level of each index page during index creation or rebuild.

🧾 Index - [IX_JobCandidate_En	nployee	ID on HumanResources.JobCan	didate] - [AdventureWorks on .\sql	2014]
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😽 📠 🛛 🗟) 😓 🛙	🛃 🛛 🕅 K_JobCandidate_Employe		
Object	*	Index Storage Spatial Info	Dependencies Description DD) <u>L</u>
AdventureWorks on .\sql2	\sim	<u>N</u> ame	X_JobCandidate_EmployeeID	
X_JobCandidate_Employe	\sim	Table or view	lumanResources.JobCandidate	✓
General	*	Fill factor (0 - default)	0	Enabled
	^	Index type	Index creation CPUs for indexing (0 - all)	XML index options Type:
Refresh		O Unique key Unique index	0 🔶 🗸 Default	Value index
Drint Print		O XML index	Online operation	O Path index
Restore default size	j.	Columnstore index	Sort in tempdb	Property index
Tools	*	Index		
Rebuild Reorganize		Index options Clustered Don't recompute statistics	Ignore duplicate keys	☐ Pad index ✓ Allow page locks
Dependency tree		Hash index	Number of hash buckets	0
	ana an	Index filter		
		Available Resume ModifiedDate	Selected EmployeeID DobCandidate	Order Include Only Ascending eID Ascending

Index type

Primary Key

This selection indicates that the primary key index is created.

Onique key

This selection indicates that the unique key index is created (no two rows are permitted to have the same index value). A clustered index on a view must be unique.

Onique index

This selection indicates that the unique index is created (ensures that the index key contains no duplicate values and therefore each row in the table or view is in some way unique). Both clustered and nonclustered indexes can be unique.

XML index

This selection indicates that the XML index on the specified XML column is created.

Spatial index

This selection indicates that the spatial index is created. These indexes are used by

spatial databases (databases which store information related to objects in space).

Columnstore index

This selection indicates that the columnstore index is created. These indices group and store data for each column and then join all the columns to complete the whole index.

Index

This selection specifies a regular, non-unique index.

Index creation

CPUs for indexing

This option allows you to limit the number of processors used in a parallel plan execution. Set a value to restrict the maximum number of processors used in a parallel index operation to the specified number or fewer based on the current system workload. If 0 is specified, the actual number of processors is used.

Default

If this option is checked, the default setting for the number of processors is applied.

Online operation

This option specifies whether underlying tables and associated indexes are available for queries and data modification during the index operation.

Sort in tempdb

This option specifies whether temporary sort results should be stored in **tempdb**.

XML Index options

Select the XML index type:

Value index

This selection indicates creation of a secondary XML index on columns where key columns are (node value and path) of the primary XML index. If your workload involves querying for values from XML instances without knowing the element or attribute names that contain the values, VALUE index may be useful.

Path index

This selection indicates creation of a secondary XML index on columns built on path values and node values in the primary XML index. If your queries generally specify path expressions on xml type columns, a PATH secondary index may be able to speed up the search.

Property index

This selection indicates creation of a secondary XML index on columns (PK, path and node value) of the primary XML index where PK is the primary key of the base table. Queries that retrieve one or more values from individual XML instances may benefit from a PROPERTY index.

Index options

Clustered

Use this option to create an index in which the logical order of the key values determines the physical order of the corresponding rows in a table. The bottom, or leaf, level of the clustered index contains the actual data rows of the table. A <u>table</u> 192 or <u>view</u> 246 is allowed one clustered index at a time.

Ignore duplicate keys

This option is available if the Unique option is checked. This option specifies the error response to duplicate key values in a multiple-row insert operation on a unique clustered or unique nonclustered index.

Pad index

This option determines whether the percentage of free space that is specified by fillfactor is applied to the intermediate-level pages of the index.

Do not recompute statistics

This option specifies that out-of-date index statistics are not automatically recomputed.

In cases when access patterns are well understood and consistent, limiting the locking levels available for an index can be beneficial. Disallowing a locking level can affect the concurrency for a <u>table 192</u> or index.

Allow row locks

This option specifies whether row locks are allowed when accessing the index.

Allow page locks

This option specifies whether page locks are allowed when accessing the index.

Hash index (for memory-optimized tables)

Checking this option indicates that a HASH index is created. A hash index consists of a collection of buckets organized in an array.

Number of hash buckets (for memory-optimized tables)

Define the number of buckets that should be created in the hash index.

Index filter

Use this field to set the filter for the data from the column(s) included in this index. Available for SQL Server 2008 and higher.

Columns for index

To include column(s) in the index, you need to move it from the **Available** list to the **Selected** list. Use the **Selected** list. Use the **Selected** list to another.

To change the sorting order for a column, select the column in the **Selected** list and change the **Order** value (*ascending*/*descending*).

Set the \blacksquare **Include Only** flag to specify that the non-key column is added to the leaf level of the nonclustered index.

At the **Storage** tab of the **Index Editor** you need to define the storage for the index.

🛿 Index - [AK_Product_Name on Product (Production)] - [AdventureWorks on localhost\ 👝 📼 💌						
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😼 📠	ର 🍃	🛛 🛃 🕺 AK_	Product_Name on	Product	-	🛛 🚳 📴
Object *	lr	ndex Storage	Spatial Info	Dependen <u>c</u> ies	Description	DD <u>L</u>
AdventureWorks on	F	Data space	ın	PRIM	IARY	▼ ▼
General \$		Filestream datas	pace (partitions)	< Def	ault >	T
Compile		# Filegroup 1 PRIMARY	Compress None	sion Row	Rows	504
Print Restore default size						
Tools ¥						

Data space

Use the drop-down list to specify the new index data storage (a file group or a <u>partition</u> scheme β_{14}) that defines the filegroups onto which the partitions of a partitioned index will be mapped).

Note: When creating an index you need not specify the data space; the data space of the <u>table</u> is used by default.

Partitioning column

This drop-down list is only available if a <u>partition scheme</u> 314 is specified for **Data space**. Select a <u>column</u> should be used as the partitioning column for the table.

Filestream dataspace

Select the needed <u>Filestream filegroup</u> [154] from the drop-down list. This option is available only in SQL Server 2008 and higher.

Compression (by partitions)

Use this section to set the compression options for the index. Compression type can be different for each partition. Set the index compression to *Row* or *Page*. Set *None* to leave a partition uncompressed.

Use the **Spatial** tab to set spatial index options. The settings on this tab are available only if the **Spatial index** was selected on the Index 230 tab. Spatial indices are enabled in SQL Server 2008 and higher.

🧾 New Index - [AdventureWo	orks on localhost\sqlexpress]		
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😽 💼 🗌	ð 🚴 🖻		- 38	
Database *	Index Storage Spatial	Dependen <u>c</u> ies	Description DDL	
AdventureWorks	Bounding box Lower-left corner	x	Y (
General *	Upper-right corner	x 0	Y (
✓ Compile ■ Restore default size	Grid tessellation Automatic grid tessell Level 1 grid size Level 2 grid size Level 3 grid size	ation C Low Low Low	○ Medium ○ High ○ Medium ○ High ○ Medium ○ High	 Default Default Default
	Level 4 grid size	© Low	🔘 Medium 🔘 High	O Default
	Spatial index options Max cells per object (ex	cept level 1)	16	✓ Default

Bounding box

Specifies a numeric four-tuple that defines the four coordinates of the bounding box: the x-min and y-min coordinates of the **Lower-left corner**, and the x-max and y-max coordinates of the **Upper-right corner**.

Grid tessellation

Define the density of the grid at each level of a tessellation scheme.

Automatic grid tessellation

Check this option to set default values for this data type.

Level n grid size

Low

Specifies the lowest possible density for the grid at a given level. LOW equates to 16 cells (a 4x4 grid).

Medium

Specifies the medium density for the grid at a given level. MEDIUM equates to 64 cells (an 8x8 grid).

Itigh

Specifies the highest possible density for the grid at a given level. HIGH equates to 256 cells (a 16x16 grid).

Default

If the database compatibility level is set to 100 or lower, then the default is MEDIUM on all levels. When the database compatibility level is set to 110 or higher, then the default

is an auto grid scheme.

Spatial index options

Max cells per object (except level 1)

Set the number of tessellation cells per object that can be used for a single spatial object in the index by the tessellation process. If the $\boxed{\ensuremath{\mathbb{Z}}}$ **Default** option is checked then the default value is used for the specified tessellation.

The **Info** tab of **Index Editor** allows you to view the index summary:

🕼 Index - [AK_Product_Name on Product (Production)] - [AdventureWorks on localho 👝 💷 🞫							
🗄 🖯 Databases 🔻 🐬 🖳 😥 🖕 🛃 💹 AK_Product_Name on Product 🔹 📲 📓 🏭 🦉							
Object	*	1	Index Storage Spatial Info	Dependencies Description DDL			
			🧉 General				
AdventureWorl	ks o 💌		Average row size	45,825			
AK_Product_N	ame 💌		Depth	2			
			Forwarded records	0			
General	*		Ghost rows	0			
			Index type	NONCLUSTERED INDEX			
2 Defreeh			Leaf-level rows	504			
Refresh			Maximum row size	73			
Print			Minimum row size	17			
Restore default	size		Pages	4			
Task	~		Partition ID	1			
IOOIS	Ŷ		Version ghost rows	0			
		5	Fragmentation				
			Page fullness	74 %			
			Total fragmentation	75 %			

<u>General</u>: Average row size, Depth, Forwarded records, Ghost rows, Index type, Leaf-level rows, Maximum row size, Minimum row size, Pages, Partition ID, Version ghost rows; Fragmentation: Page fullness, Total fragmentation.

5.3.2.1.7 Triggers

A **Trigger** is a special kind of <u>stored procedure</u> [253] that automatically executes when an event occurs in the database server.

DML Triggers execute when a user tries to modify data through a data manipulation language (DML) event. DML events are *INSERT*, *UPDATE*, or *DELETE* statements on a <u>table</u>

192 or <u>view</u> 246.

Table triggers are managed within the **Triggers** tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 2001.

Creating Triggers

To create a new trigger:

- open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> 200;
- proceed to the **Triggers** tab there;
- right-click the tab area and select the New Trigger context menu item, or press the Ins key;
- define the trigger properties using the <u>Trigger Editor</u> and dialog.

Editing Triggers

To edit an existing trigger:

- open the table in Table Editor 200;
- proceed to the **Triggers** tab there;
- right-click the trigger and select the Edit Trigger <trigger_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the trigger;
- edit the trigger properties using the <u>Trigger Editor</u>237 dialog.

Dropping Triggers

To drop a trigger:

- open the table in Table Editor 200;
- proceed to the **Triggers** tab there;
- right-click the trigger and select the Drop Trigger <trigger_name> context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

5.3.2.1.7.1 Trigger Editor

Trigger Editor allows you to specify trigger definition and set trigger properties. It opens automatically when you create a new trigger and is available on editing an existing one (see <u>Create Trigger</u>^[237] and <u>Edit Trigger</u>^[237] for details).

To open a trigger in **Trigger Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> ि tree, or use the **Edit Trigger...** item of the context menu within the <u>Triggers</u> 2009 tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 2009.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 237
- Creating/editing trigger 239
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing trigger description 920
- Viewing DDL definition 919

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Trigger Editor**.

Object	*
AdventureWorks on local	•
General	*
 Compile Refresh Print Dependency tree Restore default size 	
Description	*
Save description to file	ard

The Navigation bar of Trigger Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- 🚼 select a trigger for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the trigger (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the trigger <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- lateral refresh the content of the active tab
- لمج print metadata
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the trigger
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the trigger:

Description

- 📕 save object description ७२० to file
- ि copy <u>description</u> िटी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ୋ୩ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ୋ୩ in <u>Query Datar</u>42ଶ

Items of the Navigation bar are also available on the ToolBar of Trigger Editor. To

enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select O *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or O *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Use the **Trigger** tab of **Trigger Editor** to create/edit a DML trigger and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new trigger, or modify the name of the trigger being edited.

Table or view

The drop-down list of tables and views and views allows you to select the table or view on which the trigger is executed.

Trigger - [product_audits_trd on pr	oduction.product_audits] - [AdventureWorks on doom_	SERVER\TSERV2005]	
🔋 🛢 Databases 🔻 👎 🖷 😂 🖶	🛃 🔯 product_audits_trd on product_audits		-
Object 🛠	<u>Trigger</u> Description DDL		
e AdventureWorks on doom_SEF v	Name product_audits_trd	Table or view prod	uction.product_audits ~
$\overline{\&}$ product_audits_trd on product_ \sim	Code source	Options	Execute as
General 🛠	SQL statements Assembly method	Enabled	Caller
Compile	Туре	Encrypted	Owner
Refresh	After Instead of	Not for replication	O Current user
Print	On event	ANSI Nulls	OUser
Bependency tree	☐ Insert ☐ Update ☑ Delete	Quoted identifier	×
Restore default size	SQL statements or assembly method		
	<pre>BEGIN SET NOCOUNT ON DECLARE @Count int; S SET @Count = @@ROMWCOUNT; IF @Count = 0 RETURN; 9 10 SET NOCOUNT ON; 11 12</pre>		^
4: 14	Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS	5-2)	

Туре

Select the trigger behavior type:

After

This selection specifies that the trigger is fired only when all operations specified in the triggering SQL statement have executed successfully.

Instead of

This selection specifies that the trigger is executed instead of the triggering SQL statement.

On event

Specify the data modification statements that activate the trigger when it is tried against this table or view: *Insert*, *Update* or *Delete*. At least one option must be specified.

Options

🗹 Enabled

Enables/disables the trigger immediately after it is created. Enabling a trigger causes it to fire when any Transact-SQL statements on which it was originally programmed are executed. A disabled trigger still exists as an object in the current database, but does not fire.

Not for replication

This option allows you to specify that the trigger should not be executed when a replication agent modifies the table that is involved in the trigger.

Encrypted

You can check this option to encrypt the text of the *CREATE TRIGGER* statement if you want to ensure that other <u>users</u> cannot view the trigger definition.

ANSI Nulls

This option specifies ISO compliant behavior of the Equals (=) and Not Equal To (<>) comparison operators when they are used with null values. When this option is switched on, a *SELECT* statement that uses *WHERE column_name* = *NULL* returns zero rows even if there are null values in *column_name*. A *SELECT* statement that uses *WHERE column_name* + *NULL* returns zero rows even if there are nonnull values in *column_name*.

Quoted identifier

This option causes SQL Server to follow the ISO rules regarding quotation mark delimiting identifiers and literal strings. When this option is switched on, identifiers can be delimited by double quotation marks, and literals must be delimited by single quotation marks. When it is switched off, identifiers cannot be quoted and must follow all Transact-SQL rules for identifiers.

Execute as

Specify the security context under which the trigger is to be executed: Owner, O

Code Source

Select the trigger code source: it can be a direct set of SQL statements or an external procedure call from a .NET assembly or DLL.

SQL statements or assembly method

This area allows you to set the trigger conditions and actions. Trigger conditions specify additional criteria that determine whether the tried DML statements cause the trigger actions to be performed.

The trigger actions take effect when the DML operation is performed.

5.3.2.1.8 Creating procedures from table

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides you with an ability to create SELECT/INSERT/ UPDATE/DELETE procedures from a table and set their properties using the **Create Procedures** dialog. To open the dialog, right-click the table in DB Explorer and select the **Tasks | Create SIUD Procedures...** <u>context menu</u> [56] item, or open the table in <u>Table Editor</u> [200] and use the **Create Procedure** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> [201].

- Options 241
- <u>SELECT procedure</u> 242
- INSERT procedure 244
- UPDATE procedure 243
- DELETE procedure 245

See also:

Procedures 253

5.3.2.1.8.1 Options

The **Options** section of the **Create Procedures** dialog allows you to specify common options for the procedures being created.

Options Procedure type Create SELECT procedure Create INSERT procedure Create UPDATE procedure Create DELETE procedure		
Procedure schema	dbo	\sim
	OK Cancel Help	
	Procedure schema	Procedure schema

Procedure type

Select procedure 254 type(s) to be created with the help of the corresponding flags:

☑ Create SELECT procedure

- ☑ Create INSERT procedure
- Create UPDATE procedure

Create DELETE procedure

Procedure schema

Select the <u>schemananana</u> where the procedure should be created.

5.3.2.1.8.2 SELECT Procedure

The **Select** section of the **Create Procedures** dialog provides the definition of the SELECT procedure generated from the table.

🌃 Create Procedure		×
Options	Select	
<mark>≰</mark> Select ≰ Insert ≰ Update	Name DimCustomer_S Columns to select	
Telete	Name	Туре 🔨
	CustomerKey	int
	GeographyKey	int
	CustomerAlternateKey	nvarchar(15) V
	Key columns	
	Name	Туре 🔨
	CustomerKey	int
	GeographyKey	int 🗸 🗸
	ECREATE PROCEDURE dbo. Dim	Sustomer S
	2 @CustomerKey int	
	3 AS	
	BEGIN	
	5 SET NOCOUNT ON	¥
Object Templates	<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

Name

Specifies procedure name (if necessary, you can edit the one assigned by default).

The **Columns** list displays columns as specified in the *columns clause* of the procedure definition.

The list provides the following attributes of each column:

Name

Туре

To add/remove columns to/from the construction, check/uncheck flags available in the first column of the **Columns** list.

For your convenience the *Select All, Deselect All* and *Invert Selection* functions are implemented in the **context menu** of the columns list area.

The lower area represents the SELECT procedure definition as SQL statement. It is possible to edit the definition directly using the editor area to make appropriate changes. Edit the block of statements within the BEGIN / END pair according to your needs. For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area 423 and Using the context menu 430.

5.3.2.1.8.3 INSERT Procedure

The **Insert** section of the **Create Procedures** dialog provides the definition of the INSERT procedure generated from the table.

🌃 Create Procedure				×	
Options	Insert				
···· ≭ ⊒ Select ···· ⊻ ⊒ Insert	Name	DimCustomer_I			
Update		Name	Туре	^	
Telete		CustomerKey	int		
		GeographyKey	int		
		CustomerAlternateKey	nvarchar(15)		
		Title	nvarchar(8)		
		FirstName nvarchar(50)			
		MiddleName	nvarchar(50)		
		LastName	nvarchar(50)	×	
		ATE PROCEDURE dbo.I)imCustomer_I	^	
	2 @	CustomerKey int,	_		
	3 @	GeographyKey int,			
	4 @	CustomerAlternateKe	y nvarchar(15),		
	5 (3)	fitle <u>nvarchar</u> (8),	(50)		
	7 61	MiddleName nvarchar((50), (50)		
		inductional invariant	(00);		
Object Templates		<u>о</u> к	Cancel <u>H</u> el	р	

Name

Specifies procedure name (if necessary, you can edit the one assigned by default).

The **Columns** list displays columns as specified in the *columns clause* of the procedure definition.

The list provides the following attributes of each column:

Name

Туре

To add/remove columns to/from the construction, check/uncheck flags available in the first column of the **Columns** list.

For your convenience the *Select All, Deselect All* and *Invert Selection* functions are implemented in the **context menu** of the fields list area.

The lower area represents the INSERT procedure definition as SQL statement. It is possible to edit the definition directly using the editor area to make appropriate changes. Edit the block of statements within the BEGIN / END pair according to your needs. For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area 423 and Using the context menu 430.

5.3.2.1.8.4 UPDATE procedure

The **Update** section of the **Create Procedures** dialog provides the definition of the UPDATE procedure generated from the table.

Create Procedure		×
Options	Update	
ilizie Select ilizie Insert	Name DimCustomer_U	
🛛 🌠 Update	Columns to update	
Delete	Name	Туре
	CustomerKey	int
	GeographyKey	int
	CustomerAlternateKey	nvarchar(15) V
	Rey columns	-
	Name	Туре
	CustomerKey	int
	GeographyKey	int
	CustomerAlternateKey	nvarchar(15) ¥
	ECREATE PROCEDURE dbo. DimC	ustomer U
	2 ACustomerKey int	
	3 AGeographyKey int	
	4 ACustomerAlternateKey n	warehar (15)
	SecusionerArcernateRey I	varonar (15),
Object Templates	<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

Name

Specifies procedure name (if necessary, you can edit the one assigned by default).

The **Columns** list displays columns as specified in the *columns clause* of the procedure definition.

The list provides the following attributes of each column:

Name

Туре

To add/remove columns to/from the construction, check/uncheck flags available in the first column of the **Columns** list.

For your convenience the Select All, Deselect All and Invert Selection functions are

implemented in the **context menu** of the columns list area.

The lower area represents the UPDATE procedure definition as SQL statement. It is possible to edit the definition directly using the editor area to make appropriate changes. Edit the block of statements within the BEGIN / END pair according to your needs. For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see Working with Query Data area 429 and Using the context menu 430.

5.3.2.1.8.5 DELETE Procedure

The **Delete** section of the **Create Procedures** dialog provides the definition of the DELETE procedure generated from the table.

Create Procedure		×
Create Procedure Options Select Select Delete Object Templates	Delete Name DimCustomer_D CREATE PROCEDURE dbo.DimCustomer_D CREATE PROCEDURE dbo.DimCustomer_D CREATE PROCEDURE dbo.DimCustomer_D CREATE PROCEDURE dbo.DimCustomer_D CREATE PROM CREATE FROM CREATE FROM CREATE FROM CREATE FROM CREATE FROM CREATE	×
	8 CustomerKey = @CustomerKey 9 END <u>OK</u> <u>Cancel Help</u>	>

Name

Specifies procedure name (if necessary, you can edit the one assigned by default).

The lower area represents the DELETE procedure definition as SQL statement. It is possible to edit the definition directly using the editor area to make appropriate changes. Edit the block of statements within the BEGIN / END pair according to your needs. For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see Working with Query Data area 429 and Using the context menu 430.

5.3.2.2 Views

A **View** is a logical table based on one or more tables are called base tables. A view contains no data itself. The tables upon which a view is based are called base tables.

Views are useful for allowing users to access a set of relations (<u>tables</u>¹⁹²) as if it were a single table, and limiting their access to just that. Views can also be used to restrict access to rows (a subset of a particular table).

View Editor allows you to create new views and define their properties (view name and the SELECT statement it implements). It opens automatically when you create a new view and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a view in **View Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 246
- <u>Creating/editing view</u>
 ²⁴⁸
- <u>Managing columns</u>
 249
- Managing indexes 250
- Managing triggers 251
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Working with data 252
- Editing view description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.2.2.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **View Editor**.



The Navigation bar of View Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a view for editing

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> 923) the view (if it is being created/modified)
- 尾 save the view <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- k edit the view query using Design Query
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata 643 of the view
- 🤹 <u>create</u>व्यिगे a <u>procedure</u>व्टि based on the view
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> الما for the view الم
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the view:

Indices

- 🙀 add 🕬 a new index
- 🐱 edit 🕬 selected index
- د <u>drop</u> العدام drop العدام drop العدام drop

Triggers

- 😼 add 🖙 a new trigger
- 😼 edit विषे selected trigger
- لات selected trigger(s) ها drop

Data Management

- ✓ commit transaction
- X rollback transaction
- 🕆 export data from the view using Export Data Wizard
- 🕆 export data from the view as SQL script using Export as SQL Script Wizard
- import data 571
- bulk insert 602

Description

- जि save object <u>description</u> विशेष file
- 🐚 copy <u>description</u> विषेते to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ตา୩ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ตา୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **View Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.2.2 Creating/editing view

Use the **View** tab of **View Editor** to create/edit a view and specify its definition.

This tab represents the view definition as SQL statement, hence it is enough to simply edit the whole definition using the editor area to make appropriate changes, and recompile the view.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area [429] and <u>Using the context menu</u> [430].



To compile a view, you can use the $\frac{5}{246}$ **Compile** item available within the Navigation bar [246].

5.3.2.2.3 Managing columns

The Columns tab is provided for viewing columns represented in the view.

Right-click a row to display the context menu allowing you to export and column name list or copy it to clipboard.

📑 Table - [HumanResources.Employee] - [DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL2005]															
📔 🗧 Databases 🔹 👫 🖷 🔀	8	🖻 🔱 [Employee								~		\sim	$\times $	**
Object 🛠	^	Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	Dep	endencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> sci	ription	DDL	<u>P</u> ermi: <	>
😑 DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL 🗸		Column Na	ame	Data	а Туре		Not Null		Unique	ł	dentity	Default	Value		^
Employee 🗸		🤌 🔲 Bu	isinessEntityID	int	rober(15)										
General 🛠		Lo	ginID	nva	rchar(256)									
C Defresh		Or 🔝	ganizationNode	hier	archyid										
		Or 🔝	ganizationLevel	sma	llint										
		Jo	bTitle	nva	rchar(50)						<u> </u>				
Peetore default size			rtnDate aritalStatus	oate	er(1)						\square				
E- Restore default size		Ge	ender	nch	ar(1)						$\overline{\Box}$				
Tools 🛠		Hir	reDate	date											~
📧 Indices management		<					1		-			-		>	
🛃 Update statistics	L	Column)escription <b< td=""><td>usiness</td><td>EntityID></td><td></td><td>Ý</td><td></td><td>,</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></b<>	usiness	EntityID>		Ý		,						
😽 Truncate table															
Dependency tree															
Create procedure															
Columns 🌣															
New column	~	<													>

The **Columns** list provides the following attributes of each column of the view:

Column Name Data Type Not Null Unique Identity Default Value Description

For details see <u>Columns</u> 213.

If necessary, you can also use the **Column Description** area to supply a *description* for each column.

5.3.2.2.4 Managing indexes

The **Indices** tab is provided for viewing indexes represented in the view. Double-click an index to open Index Editor [228] for editing the index.

Right-click an index to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *enable/disable* the selected index, or *enable/disable* all indexes. Using the menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of the view indexes to any of supported <u>formats</u> [935].

🔚 View - [production.vProductAndDe	escription] - [Demo	DB on testing-ms	SQL2005]				- • ×
🔋 🛢 Databases 🕶 🗲 🖷 🔛 🕄 🕄	🖶 🖃 🔣 vPro	ductAndDescription		~		/ × 🖳	
Object 🎗	View Columns	Indices Triggers	Dependen <u>c</u> ies D <u>at</u>	Description	DDL Permi	issions	
$\stackrel{\textstyle{\scriptsize{\bigcirc}}}{=}$ DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 \lor	Index Name	Column	s Clustered	Prim	агу Кеу	Unique	Disabled
vProductAndDescription ~	IX_vProdu	New Index	D. ProductiD	Ins			
General ¥		Edit Index 'IX_	vProductAndDescriptio	n' Enter			
Indices 🛠		Drop Index 'D	_vProductAndDescript	ion' Del			
🌠 New index		Export List			1		
Edit index 'IX_vProductAndDes				otion'			
Drop index 'IX_vProductAndDe		Disable Index	IX vProductAndDescr	intion'			
Data Management 🛠		Enable All					
Export data	<	Disable All					>
Export as SQL script	Index Description	Fit Column Wi	dths				
Import data	Clustered index o	n the view vProduct4	ndDescription.				^
Bulk insert							
		_					¥
	Modifi	ed Modif	ied Insert				
▶ ● ■ 1: 1	Insert	Highlighting) Unicode (UCS-2)	, 			

The **Indexes** list provides the following attributes of each index of the view: Index Name Columns Clustered Primary Key Unique Disabled

For details see Indexes 228.

If necessary, you can also use the **Index Description** area to supply a *description* for each index.

5.3.2.2.5 Managing triggers

The **Triggers** tab is provided for managing triggers represented in the view. Double-click a trigger to open <u>Trigger Editor</u> 237 for editing the trigger.

Right-click the area to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, *drop*, *enable/disable* the selected trigger, or *enable/disable* all triggers. Using the menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of the view triggers to any of supported <u>formats</u> [935].

View - [production.vProductAndD	escription] - [Demo	DB on testi	ng-ms\SQL200)5]				
🔋 🛢 Databases 🔹 👎 🖷 🔛 🛛 🕄	🖶 🖃 🔣 vPro	ductAndDesc	ription		~		🗸 🗙 📑 📑	
Object \$	View Columns	Indices Ti	riggers Deper	iden <u>c</u> ies D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DDL P	ermissions	
■ DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 ∨	Name		Insert	Update	Delete	Туре	Disabled	Description
VProductAndDescription V	VProductA	ndDescripti	New Trigger		l lin	Instead o S	of 📃	
General ¥			Edit Trigger 'vP	roductAndDescri	ption_tri Ente	er		
Triggers 🎗		E	Drop Trigger 'v	ProductAndDesc	ription_tri' D	el		
🚰 New trigger			E <u>x</u> port List					
Edit trigger 'vProductAndDescri			Enable Trigger	'vProductAndDes	cription tri			
Drop trigger 'vProductAndDesc			Disable Trigger	'vProductAndDe	scription_tri			
Data Management 🛛 🛠			Enable All					
Export data	<	_	Disable All			-		>
Export as SQL script	Trigger Descript	ion <	Fit Column Widt	ths				
Import data								
⊟the Bulk insert								
	< Modifie	ed .	Modified	Insert				>
▶ ● ■ 1: 1	Insert	Hig	hlighting	Jnicode (UCS-2)	,			

The **Triggers** list provides the following attributes of each trigger of the view:

Name Insert Update Delete Type Disabled

For details see Triggers 236.

If necessary, you can also use the **Trigger Description** area to supply a *description* for each trigger.

5.3.2.2.6 Working with data

The **Data** tab displays the view data as a grid by default (see <u>Data View</u> 463 for details). The context menu of this tab and the <u>Navigation bar</u> 246 allow you to <u>Export Data</u> 531, <u>Import Data</u> 571, <u>Export as SQL Script</u> 593, <u>Bulk Insert</u> 602.

While working with view data, you are provided with a number of $\frac{\text{filtering}}{\text{filtering}}$ and $\frac{\text{grouping}}{\text{filtering}}$ facilities.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

Data management 462 tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> 246 and <u>toolbar</u> 248 of **View Editor**.

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development
View - [HumanResources.vEmploy	yee] - [DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL2005]							
🔋 🛢 Databases 🔹 🗧 🔚 🔛 🛛 😂	🖶 🗃 🚰 vEmployee 🔷 🖓 😫 🙀 🗸 🗶 😤 🐔	Ŧ						
Object 🎗	View Columns Indices Triggers Dependencies Data Description DDL Permissions							
■ DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 ∨	i Hi Hi Hi H H H + − ▲ ✓ X @ ¥ ½ ♀ Find:	> 7						
VEmployee V	Drag a column header here to group by that column	^						
General ¥	BusinessEntityID JobTitle FirstName MiddleName	LastName						
Data Management 🛛 🛠	O Chemical Engineer Jordan Null	King						
Export data	1 Junior Accountant Caden Null	Charles						
Export as SQL script	2 Account Executive Averi Null	Arellano						
E Import data	3 Purchasing assistant Mariam Null	Mccall						
Bulk insert	4 Research Scientist Elijah Null	Fry						
A	5 Logistics manager Lorelei Null	Mays						
	6 Nuclear Engineer Yadira Null	Delacruz						
	7 Desktop Support Technician Cameron Null	Gentry						
	8 Sales Executive Beckham Null	Moon						
	9 Employment Manager Anabel Null	Bradshaw						
	10 Architect Jaden Null	Calhoun 🗸						
	<	>						
	Grid View Form View Print Data Blob View							
	Fetched: 100/100							
Image: A triangle of the second se								

See also: Data View 463

5.3.2.3 Procedures

A **Procedure** is a set of procedural constructs and embedded SQL statements that is stored in the database and can be called by name.

When you create an application with Microsoft SQL Server 2005 (and higher), the Transact-SQL programming language is the primary programming interface between your applications and the Microsoft SQL Server database. When you use Transact-SQL programs, two methods are available for storing and executing the programs. You can store the programs locally and create applications that send the commands to SQL Server and process the results, or you can store the programs as stored procedures in SQL Server and create applications that execute the stored procedures and process the results.

A **stored procedure** is a saved collection of Transact-SQL statements or a reference to a Microsoft .NET Framework common language runtime (CLR) method that can take and return user-supplied parameters. Procedures can be created for permanent use or for temporary use within a session, local temporary procedure, or for temporary use within all sessions, global temporary procedure.

Procedure Editor allows you to create new procedure, execute the existing procedure or edit its definition. It opens automatically when you create a new procedure and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a stored procedure in **Procedure Editor**, double-click it in the DB Explorer 63

tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 254
- <u>Creating/editing procedure</u> 255
- <u>Browsing procedure parameters</u>
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing procedure description 920
- Specifying input parameters 257
- Executing procedure 258
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.2.3.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Procedure Editor**.

Object	*
AdventureWorks on local	ł
procedure1	•
General	*
😼 Compile	
Execute	
Oon't get info messages	
Refresh	
े Print	
Dependency tree	
Restore default size	
🀞 Debug	
DDL	*
Save DDL to file	
Open DDL in SQL Editor	

The Navigation bar of Procedure Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a procedure for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the procedure (if it is being created/modified)
- 🗟 save the procedure <u>description</u> वियो (if it has been modified)
- ▶ <u>execute</u>²⁵⁸ the procedure
- 👽 enable/disable information messages
- refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata ها الله procedure ها من print metadata
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> هاکا for the procedure افتار الم
- restore the default size and position of the editor window
- 🧯 debug 🖏 the procedure

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the procedure:

Description

save object <u>description</u> ि हि कि save object <u>description</u> ि कि file कि save object <u>description</u> ि कि save object of the sav

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଡ଼ୀ୩ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଡ଼ୀ୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Procedure Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.3.2 Creating/editing procedure

Use the **Procedure** tab of **Procedure Editor** to create/edit a stored procedure and specify its definition.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area [429] and <u>Using the context menu</u> [430].

🐴 Procedure - [uspUpdateEmployeeL	ogin (HumanResources)]
🚦 🔒 Databases 🕶 🐬 💼 📔 🕨 🔳 🕻	🇯 💽 🗟 😓 🛃 🙀 uspUpdateEmployeeLogin 🔽 😫 🗸 🗙 📑 🐩
Object *	Progedure Parameters Dependencies Description DDL Permissions
AdventureWorks on locali	1 SET ANSI_NULLS ON 2 SET QUOTED_IDENTIFIER ON
uspUpdateEmployeeLogin 💌	3 GO 4
General 🎗	CREATE PROCEDURE [HumanResources].[uspUpdateEmployeeLogin] [] 6 @EmployeeID [int],
Compile	<pre>7 @ManagerID [int], 8 @LoginID [nvarchar](256),</pre>
Execute Don't get info messages	9 @Title [nvarchar](50), 10 @HireDate [datetime],
Refresh	11 @CurrentFlag [dbo].[Flag] 12 WITH EXECUTE AS CALLER
Dependency tree	
Restore default size	16 BECIN EDV
······	18 UPDATE [HumanResources].[Employee]
	20 , [LoginID] = @LoginID 21 [Title] = @Title
	22 , [HireDate] = @HireDate 22 [CurrentElac] = @CurrentElac
	<pre>/[currentring] = courrentring / m</pre>
1: 1	Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)

To $\underline{execute}^{258}$ a procedure, you can use the **Execute** item available within the <u>Navigation bar</u>²⁵⁴.

5.3.2.3.3 Brow sing procedure parameters

The **Parameters** tab is provided for browsing the list of parameters of the stored procedure.

Right-click the list to display the popup menu allowing you to export िउनी this list to any of supported formats अडी.

😰 Procedure - [uspUpdateEmployeeLogin (HumanResources)]								
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 🐬 🖳 🖡 🕨 🔳	۱	8 😓 🖬 🗷	uspUpdateEmployeeLog	gin 🔽 📴 🗸 🗙 🛛	7 7	-		
Object *	Proce	dure Parameters	Dependencies Descript	tion DD <u>L</u> <u>P</u> ermission	ns			
	Name		Data Type	Default Value	Output	Description		
AdventureWorks on locall	14	@EmployeeID	int			Input param		
uspUpdateEmployeeLogin 👻	(4)	@ManagerID	int			Input param		
	(4)	@LoginID	nvarchar(256)			Input param		
General *	(A	@Title	nvarchar(50)			Input param		
-	(4	@HireDate	datetime			Input param		
Compile		@CurrentFlag	Flag			Input param		
Execute			I					
Don't get info messages	8							
2 Refresh								
a Print								
			III			4		
	Para	meter Descriptio	n «@EmployeeID»					
M Debug	Inpu	t parameter	for the stored p	rocedure uspUp	dateEmploy	veeLogir 🔺		
						=		
						-		
		11				Þ		
		Modified	Modified In	sert				
1: 1		Insert	Highlighting Unicode	e (UCS-2)				

The parameter list provides the following attributes of each parameter used in the procedure:

Name (parameter name specified by using an at (@) sign as the first character) *Data Type* (the parameter data type)

Default Value (a default value for the parameter)

Output (indicates that the parameter is an output parameter)

If necessary, you can also use the **Parameter Description** area to supply a *description* for each parameter.

5.3.2.3.4 Specifying input parameters

If the stored procedure (or user-defined function) has parameters, the **Input Parameter dialog** appears before the procedure execution. It allows you to specify the values for all procedure parameters. After changes are done, click the **OK** button to execute the stored procedure, or the **Cancel** button to abort the execution.

寶 Input Paramete	ers		—
@EMP_NO	Null	V Default value	
@PHONE_EXT	Vull		
@HIRE_DATE	Null		01.05.2014 💌 00:00:00 🚔
@DEPT_NO	Null		25
@JOB_CODE	Vull		
@JOB_GRADE	Null		5
@JOB_COUNTRY	VII		
			OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

Check the **Default** option to apply specified default input parameters.

See also:

Executing procedure/function 258

5.3.2.3.5 Executing procedure/function

Procedure Editor / **UDF Editor** provide an ability to execute procedures and user-defined functions. Click the **Execute** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> or use the corresponding toolbar button to execute the procedure/UDF.

If the procedure/UDF has input parameters, SQL Manager allows you to specify the values for these parameters in the Input Parameters 257 dialog which appears just before execution.

The result of the successfully executed procedure/UDF, as well as the error message in case of execution failure, appears in the message panel at the bottom of the **Procedure Editor** / **UDF Editor** window.



Note: If any unsaved changes are applied to the stored procedure/UDF being currently edited, the execution of the procedure/UDF is impossible unless changes are saved through the **Compile** item of the **Navigation bar**.

See also: Specifying input parameters Procedure Editor UDF Editor 259

5.3.2.4 UDFs

A **Function** is a mapping embodied as a program (the function *body*) that can be invoked by using zero or more input values (*arguments*) to a single value (the *result*). A **User-Defined Function** is stored as a database object providing reusable code.

The Transact-SQL programming language provides the following types of functions: *Rowset functions* (can be used like table references in an SQL statement) *Aggregate functions* (operate on a collection of values but return a single, summarizing value)

Ranking functions (return a ranking value for each row in a partition) *Scalar functions* (operate on a single value and then return a single value; scalar functions can be used wherever an expression is valid)

UDF Editor allows you to define user-defined function properties. It opens automatically when you create a new user-defined function and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a user-defined function in **UDF Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 260
- Creating/editing user-defined function 261
- Browsing user-defined function parameters 262
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing user-defined function description 920
- Specifying input parameters 257

- Executing function 258
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.2.4.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **UDF Editor**.



The Navigation bar of UDF Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- select a user-defined function for editing

General

- $\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$ compile [923] the UDF (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the UDF <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- ▶ <u>execute</u> 258 the UDF
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- print metadata ها الله print metadata ها الله brint metadata ما الله brint metadata
- view the dependency tree [12] for the UDF
- restore the default size and position of the editor window
- 🦉 debug 🖓 the procedure

Depending on the current tab selection, the Navigation bar expands to one or more

additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the UDF:

Description save object <u>description</u> ହେଥି to file copy <u>description</u> ହେଥି to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ୋ୩ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ୋ୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **UDF Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (a) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (a) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.4.2 Creating/editing UDF

Use the **Function** tab of **UDF Editor** to create/edit a user-defined function and specify its definition.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area [429] and <u>Using the context menu</u> [430].

🤩 User-Defined Function - [dbo.ufn0	ietPurcl	haseOrderStatusText] - [DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL2005]					
🗄 🛢 Databases 🔹 🗲 👘 🕨 = 🐞 😅 🖶 💽 🞼 ufnGetPurchaseOrderStatusText 🔷 🖓 📲 🖉 🦉							
Object 🎗	Fun <u>c</u>	tion Parameters Dependencies Description DDL Permissions					
📒 DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 🗸	1	SET ANSI_NULLS ON					
≰ufnGetPurchaseOrderStatusTe: ∨	2	GO					
General 🎗	4						
🧲 Compile	• 6	CREATE FUNCTION [dbo].[ufnGetPurchaseOrderStatusText]([@Status [tinvint])					
 Execute 	е	RETURNS [nvarchar] (15)					
C Refresh	7	AS Returns the sales order status text representation for					
🖶 Print	\$	the status value.					
Bar Dependency tree	< 10 E	BEGIN DECLARE @ret [nvarchar](15):					
Restore default size	11						
📥 Debug	12	SET @ret =					
	14	WHEN 1 THEN 'Pending'					
	15	WHEN 2 THEN 'Approved'					
	16	WHEN 3 THEN 'Rejected'					
	18	ELSE '** Invalid **'					
	19	END;					
	20 21	RETURN @ret.					
5:22		Insert Highlighting Unicode (UUS-2)					

Note: A UDF is a Transact-SQL or common language runtime (CLR) routine that returns a value. User-defined functions, like system functions, can be invoked from a $\frac{\text{query}}{424}$. Scalar functions can be executed by using an *EXECUTE* statement like stored procedures $\frac{1}{253}$.

To <u>execute</u> विद्वहि a UDF, you can use the **Execute** item available within the <u>Navigation bar</u> विद्वही.

5.3.2.4.3 Brow sing UDF parameters

The **Parameters** tab is provided for browsing the list of parameters of the user-defined function.

Right-click the list to display the popup menu allowing you to export [531] this list to any of supported formats [935].

🔄 User-Defined Function - [dbo.u	fnG	etProductL	.istPrice] - [A	dvent	ureWorks	on MERLIN	SQL200	3]	- • •
🔅 🛢 Databases 🕶 🖊 🚝 🖡 🕨	ģ	k 🖉 🖣) 🖻 🛃	ufnGeti	ProductList	Price	~		
Object	*	Function	Parameters	Depe	nden <u>c</u> ies	D <u>e</u> scription	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions	
AdventureWorks on MERLIN\S(\	/	Name			Data Type	;	Defaul	t Value	Description
≇ ufnGetProductListPrice	/		ProductID OrderDate		int datetime				Input parameters for the scalar Input parameters for the scalar
General	*								
 Compile Execute Refresh Print Dependency tree Restore default size 	<								
🎽 Debug		<			[~)	>
	U	Paramet	ter Descripti	on <@	Productl)>			
		Input para	meters for the	e scala	r function (ud fMinimumD	ate. Enter	a valid integer.	~
22: 19		<	80: 1	Hi	Modifie	t Ins	ert ^ (UCS-2)		>

The parameter list provides the following attributes of each parameter used in the UDF: *Name* (parameter name specified by using an 'at' (@) sign as the first character) *Data Type* (the parameter data type) *Default Value* (a default value for the parameter)

If necessary, you can also use the **Parameter Description** area to supply a *description* for each parameter.

5.3.2.5 UDTs

A **User-Defined Data Type** is internally represented as an existing type, but is considered to be a separate data type. In fact, this is an *alias data type* in an instance of SQL Server, a *CLR data type*, or a *table data type* (for SQL Server 2008). An alias data type's implementation is based on a SQL Server native system type. A user-defined type is implemented through a class of an assembly in the Microsoft .NET Framework common language runtime (CLR).

UDT Editor allows you to define user-defined type properties. It opens automatically when you create a new type and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a user-defined type in **UDT Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 263
- <u>Creating/editing user-defined type</u>
- Managing UDT checks 268
- <u>Managing UDT Primary/Unique Keys</u>
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing user-defined type description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.2.5.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **UDT Editor**.



The Navigation bar of UDT Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- 🖄 select a user-defined type for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the user-defined type (if it is being created/modified)
- 尾 save the UDT description छिटे (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- <u>print metadata</u> هم و print metadata مجامع هم و print metadata مجامع المح
- 🧏 view the dependency tree बिग्दी for the UDT
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the user-defined type:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u> ୭୦୦ to file
- 🗅 copy <u>description</u>໑20 to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ to file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **UDT Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select () *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or () *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.5.2 Creating/editing UDT

Use the **Type** tab of **UDT Editor** to create/edit a user-defined data type and specify its properties.

If you create a new user-defined type, you should first specify its implementation kind.



Alias data type

This selection specifies that an alias data type will be created on the basis of an existing SQL Server data type.

CLR data type

This selection specifies that the user-defined will be taken from an assembly 304.

Table data type

This selection specifies that a new user-defined table type will be created.

Name

Enter a name for the new user-defined type, or modify the name of the user-defined type being edited.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>schema</u> [189] to which the user-defined type belongs. The default selection is the default schema for the current user. For Microsoft® SQL Server 2000 or SQL Server 7.0, specify the owner of the UDT (the default value is the current <u>user</u> [295]).

😼 User-Defined Type - [dbo.int data type] - [DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL2005]										
🗄 🛢 Databases 🔹 🌾 🕞 🥵 🖶 🛃 🎼 int data type 🔷 🗸										
Object 🛠	<u>T</u> ype	Dependen <u>c</u> ies	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions					
E DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 ∨	<u>N</u> ame		int data typ	e						
Tint data type 🗸 🗸	Scher	na	(🛄 dbo		~					
General 🎗	Туре		Te int		~	Not Null				
🗲 Compile	Size/precision				10 🜲	Maximum size				
C Refresh	Scale				0					
B Dependency tree	Rule	Rule				For new columns only				
Restore default size	Defau	t			~	For new columns only				

Alias Data Type Properties

Туре

Use the drop-down list to select SQL Server supplied data type on which the alias data type is based (*base_type*). The base type of an existing UDT is not editable.

🗹 Not Null

Specify whether the UDT can accept NULL values. The nullability of an existing UDT is not editable.

Size

Specify the size value (for certain types). Check $\overline{\mathbb{V}}$ Maximum size to use the maximum values set by SQL Server.

Scale

Defines the maximum number of decimal digits that can be stored to the right of the decimal point of the value (for numeric and decimal data types).

Rule

Use the drop-down list to select a <u>rule</u> rule to bind to the user-defined data type (optional). Check \square **For new columns only** to apply the selected rule only to newly added columns.

Default

Use the drop-down list to select a $\frac{\text{default}}{284}$ to bind to the user-defined data type (optional). Check **For new columns only** to apply the selected default only to newly

added columns.

Note: Some properties cannot be modified because of dependent objects. Open the <u>Dependencies</u> [921] tab to browse the list of dependent objects, or view the <u>dependency</u> <u>tree</u> [612] for the user-defined type.

CLR Data Type Properties

🚹 New User-Defined Type - [Advent	New User-Defined Type - [AdventureWorks on MERLIN\SQL2008]							
🗄 📴 Databases 🕶 🗲 📲 💭 🚍 🛃								
Database 🏾 🛠		Type Description	DD	DL				
E AdventureWorks on MERLIN\S(∨		Name		new_clr_type				
General *	Π	Schema		(🛄 dbo 🗸 🗸				
Restore default size	<	Assembly		Assembly				1
	U	class name]		
			_					

Assembly

Use the drop-down list to select the SQL Server <u>assembly</u> 304 that references the implementation of the user-defined type in the common language runtime (CLR). The assembly must have been already created in the database.

Class name

Specifies the class within the assembly that implements the user-defined type. The class name can be a namespace-qualified name (if the programming language that is used to write the class uses the concept of namespaces, such as C#).

Table Data Type Properties



Columns

This area lists the columns of the user-defined type as a grid.

Double-click a row to open <u>Column Editor</u>²¹⁴ for editing the column.

Right-click within the **Columns** area to display the context menu allowing you to *add* new, *insert*, *edit* using Column Editor 214, *delete* the selected column, or move it up/down within the list.

The **Columns** list provides the following attributes of each column of the UDT:

Primary Key Column Name Data Type Size/Precision Max Size Scale Not Null Unique Identity Sparse Filestream Default Value Comment

For details see <u>Columns</u>²¹³.

5.3.2.5.3 Managing UDT checks

The **Checks** tab is provided for viewing and editing UDT checks. This tab is only available for <u>Table Data Type</u> 267.

New User-Defined Type - [AdventureWorks on MERLIN\SQL2008]							
🔋 🛢 Databases 🔹 🖊 🚝 🛛 📿 🛛		E	2				
Database	*		<u>Т</u> уре	Checks	Primary/Unique Keys Description	DDL	
AdventureWorks on MERLIN\SC	\sim		Conditio	on			
General	¥		💷 [Na	me] IS N	DT NULL		
Check Constraints	*				New Check Constraint		
		1			Edit Check Constraint		
New check constraint					Delete Check Constraint		
Edit check constraint		<				-	
Delete check constraint		U					

Double-click a check to edit the condition of the check using the <u>Table Type Check</u> <u>Constraint</u> and dialog.

Right-click a check to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, or *drop* the selected check constraint.

5.3.2.5.3.1 Table Type Check Constraint dialog

The **Table Type Check Constraint** dialog allows you to specify the UDT check condition.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area 429 and <u>Using the context menu</u> 430.

	Table Type	Check Co	nstraint				×
1	[Name]	IS NOT	NULL				^
							¥
				<u>c</u>	<u>)</u> K	Cancel	

5.3.2.5.4 Managing UDT Primary/Unique Keys

The **Primary/Unique Keys** tab is provided for viewing and editing UDT primary/unique keys. This tab is only available for <u>Table Data Type</u>^[267].

Double-click a constraint to edit it using the <u>Table Type Constraint</u> 270 dialog.

Right-click a constraint to display the context menu allowing you to *create* new, *edit*, or *drop* the selected constraint.



The **Columns** list provides the following attributes of each constraint of the UDT:

Primary Key Unique Key Columns Clustered Ignore Duplicates

5.3.2.5.4.1 Table Type Constraint dialog

The **Table Type Constraint** dialog allows you to specify the UDT Primary/Unique Key properties.



Constraint Type

This group allows you to specify the UDT constraint type: *Primary Key*Specifies a primary key constraint. *Unique Key*Specifies a unique key constraint.

Options

Clustered

If this option is selected, the logical order of the key values determines the physical order of the corresponding rows in a table.

Ignore duplicate keys

This option specifies the error response to duplicate key values in a multiple-row insert operation on a unique clustered or unique nonclustered constraint.

Columns

To specify column(s) for the UDT constraint, you need to move it from the **Available Columns** list to the **Selected Columns** list. Use the **Selected Columns** list to another buttons or drag-anddrop operations to move the columns from one list to another.

To change the sorting order for a column, select the column in the Selected Columns list

and change the **Order** value (ascending/descending).

5.3.2.6 Sequences

A **Sequence** is a database object from which multiple users may generate unique integers. You can use sequences to automatically generate primary key values. When a sequence number is generated, the sequence is incremented, independently of the transaction committing or rolling back. If two users concurrently increment the same sequence, then the sequence numbers each user acquires may have gaps, because sequence numbers are being generated by the other user. One user can never acquire the sequence number generated by another user. After a sequence value is generated by one user, that user can continue to access that value regardless of whether the sequence is incremented by another user.

Sequence Editor allows you to define sequence properties. It opens automatically when you create a new sequence and is available on editing an existing one (see Create sequence and Edit sequence for details).

To open a sequence in the **Sequence Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar
 272
- Creating/editing sequence 273
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919
- Setting object permissions 922

5.3.2.6.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Sequence Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Sequence Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- 🕮 select a sequence for editing

General

- $\frac{4}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the sequence (if it is being created)
- له set <u>printing options</u> المعالم مع معالم المعالم المعالم المعالم المعالم المعالم المعالم معالم معالم المعالم معالم معالم معالم المعالم معالم مع معالم مع معالم معال معالم مع معالم معالم معالم معالم مع
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> أواعاً for the sequence
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the sequence:

Description

save object <u>description</u> छिटे to file ि copy <u>description</u> छिटे to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>बाभे to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>बाभे in <u>Query Data</u>42क्षे

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Sequence Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.6.2 Creating/editing sequence

Use the **Sequence** tab of **Sequence Editor** to create/edit a sequence and specify its properties.

Name

Specify the name of the sequence to be created, or view the name of the sequence being edited. Note that the sequence name must be unique within its schema.

🛛 Cycle

This option indicates that the sequence continues to generate values after reaching either its maximum or minimum value. After an ascending sequence reaches its maximum value, it generates its minimum value. After a descending sequence reaches its minimum, it generates its maximum value.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to specify the schema in which the sequence will be created.

Sequence - [id_sequence (Person)] - [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]
📔 Databases 🕶 😼 💼 🔕 😓	🛃 🔛 id_sequence 🔹 🕞
Object *	Sequence Dependencies Description DDL Permissions
AdventureWorks on local	Name id_sequence Cycle
id_sequence	Schema Person
General \$	Type int 💌
Roma	Precision 18
Refresh	Current value 1
la Print	Start value 1
Bar Dependency tree	Increment 1
Restore default size	Min value 1
	Max value 500
	Value cache
	No cache
	Default cache size
	This cache size 50

Туре

Specify the type of generated sequence numbers.

Precision

Specify the size value (for the *decimal* type).

Start value

Specify the first sequence number to be generated. Use this setting to start an ascending sequence at a value greater than its minimum or to start a descending sequence at a value less than its maximum.

Increment

Specify which value is added to the current sequence value to create a new value. A positive value will make an ascending sequence, a negative one - a descending sequence. The default value is 1.

Min value

Specify the minimum value of the sequence.

Max value

Specify the maximum value for the sequence.

Value Cache

Specify how many sequence numbers are to be preallocated and stored in memory for

faster access in the

This size cache field or select
Default cache size or
No cache.

To <u>compile</u> [923] the object, use the corresponding $\frac{1}{7}$ **Compile** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> [272] or <u>toolbar</u> [272].

5.3.2.7 Synonyms

You can use **Synonyms** in place of their referenced base object in a number of SQL statements and expression contexts. When working with synonyms in these contexts, the base object is affected. For example, if you have a synonym that references a base object that is a <u>table</u> when you insert a row into the synonym, you are actually inserting a row into the referenced table.

Synonym Editor allows you to define synonym properties. It opens automatically when you create a new synonym and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a synonym in **Synonym Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63¹] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar²⁷⁵
- <u>Creating/editing synonym</u>277
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing synonym description
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u>
 922

5.3.2.7.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Synonym Editor**.

Object	*
B DemoDB on dooM_SERVE	R
syn_address	•
General	*
Gompile	
Refresh	
📚 Print	
Dependency tree	
Restore default size	
Description	*
Save description to file	
Copy description to clipboar	ď

The Navigation bar of Synonym Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- 档 select a synonym for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the synonym (if it is being created/modified)
- 🕫 save the synonym <u>description</u>छियी (if it has been modified)
- is refresh the content of the active tab
- م print metadata الم print metadata الم الم
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the synonym
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the synonym:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u>७२० to file
- 🐚 copy <u>description</u> विषेते to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Synonym Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.7.2 Creating/editing synonym

Use the **Synonym** tab of **Synonym Editor** to create/edit a synonym and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new synonym, or modify the name of the synonym being edited.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>schema</u> [189] in which the synonym is created.

🐴 Synonym - [syn_address (Info)] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]				×
🕴 😑 Databases 🔹 😼 📻	1	🚴 🛃 🔤 syn_addres	ss 🔹 🔹	-
Object *		Synonym Dependencies	s Description DDL Permissions	
😑 DemoDB on dooM 💌		Name	syn_address	
syn_address		Schema	Info	
General *	200	Object name	1 [Address] Select	
Gompile	1000			
Refresh	3			
😓 Print				
Dependency tree				
Restore default size				
	L			

Object name

This box displays the base object that the synonym references. To change the object, click the **Select...** button.

The **Select Object** dialog allows you to specify a database object to use as the referenced object.



Hint: The context menu of the **Select Object** dialog allows you to toggle the *Icons/List* object representation mode.

5.3.2.8 Aggregates

Aggregate functions, or **Aggregates**, perform a calculation on a set of values and return a single value. Traditionally Microsoft® SQL Server supported only built-in aggregate functions, such as *SUM* or *MAX*, that operate on a set of input scalar values and generate a single aggregate value from that set. SQL Server integration with the . NET Framework common language runtime (CLR) now allows developers to create custom aggregate functions in managed code and make these functions accessible to Transact-SQL or other managed code.

Aggregate Editor allows you to define aggregate properties. It opens automatically when you create a new aggregate and is available on editing an existing one.

To open an aggregate in **Aggregate Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 279
- <u>Creating/editing aggregate</u>280
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing aggregate description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> p19
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.2.8.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Aggregate Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Aggregate Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- ling select an aggregate for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{92}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the aggregate (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the aggregate <u>description</u> 😡 (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- <u>print metadata</u> هما of the aggregate هما be be appreciate ه
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> [612] for the aggregate
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the aggregate:

Description

- save object <u>description</u> [920] to file
- ि copy <u>description</u> िट्ये to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>वार्ग to file

🗹 open <u>DDL</u>ब्राबी in <u>Query Data</u> 426ी

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Aggregate Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.8.2 Creating/editing aggregate

Use the **Aggregate** tab of **Aggregate Editor** to create/edit an aggregate function and specify its definition.

Name

Enter a name for the new aggregate, or modify the name of the aggregate being edited.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>schema</u> 18th to which the user-defined aggregate function belongs.

E New Aggregate - [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]				
🔒 Databases 🔹 🗳 💼 🗋 🔈				
Database *	Aggregate Dependencies Description DDL			
AdventureWorks on local	Name aggrConcatenate Schema	dbo		
General *	Name Data Type Size/Pre Max Sci	ale Description		
Gompile	@input nvarchar 0	×		
Restore default size				
	Return value			
	Type nvarchar			
	Size			
	Maximum size			
	Scale 0			
	Assembly			
	Assembly name Microsoft.SqlServer.T)			
	Class name Microsoft.Samples.SqlServer.Concatenat	te		

Parameter

Name

Specify the parameter name for the user-defined aggregate. The value of the parameter is supplied by the user when the aggregate function is executed. Specify a parameter

name using an at (@) sign as the first character.

Туре

Use the drop-down list to select one of the SQL Server system scalar data types to hold the value of the input parameter or return value.

Size

Specify the size value (for certain types). Check the \blacksquare **Maximum size** option to use the maximum values set by SQL Server.

Scale

Defines the maximum number of decimal digits that can be stored to the right of the decimal point of the value (for float data types).

Return value

Туре

Use the drop-down list to select the name of an existing data type to be used as the return value type.

Size

Specify the size value (for certain types). Check the \blacksquare **Maximum size** option to use the maximum values set by SQL Server.

Assembly

Assembly name

Use the drop-down list to select the SQL Server <u>assembly</u> and to bind with the userdefined aggregate function. The assembly must already have been created in the database.

Class name

Specify the name of the class in the assembly that implements the user-defined aggregate. This value must be a valid SQL Server identifier and match the name of a class that exists in the assembly. This may be a namespace-qualified name if the programming language used to write the class uses namespaces, such as C#.

5.3.2.9 XML Schema Collections

Microsoft® SQL Server[™] provides native storage of XML data through the XML data type. The **XML Schema Collection** stores the imported XML schemas and is then used to do the following:

- Validate XML instances
- Type the XML data as they are stored in the database

The XML stored in a column or variable that a schema is associated with is referred to as typed XML, because the schema provides the necessary data type information for the instance data. SQL Server uses this type information to optimize data storage.

Note that XML Schema Collection is a metadata entity like a table in the database, hence the XML Schema Collection can be created, modified and dropped.

XML Schema Collection Editor allows you to define XML schema collection properties. It opens automatically when you create a new XML schema collection and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a XML schema collection in **XML Schema Collection Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 282
- Creating/editing XML Schema Collection 283
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing object description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919
- Setting object permissions 922

5.3.2.9.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **XML Schema Collection Editor**.



The Navigation bar of XML Schema Collection Editor allows you to:

Object

- 📙 select a database
- 🛅 select a XML schema collection for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the XML schema collection (if it is being created/modified)
- 🔁 save the XML schema collection <u>description</u> छिठी (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab

- له print metadata
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> هاکا for the XML schema collection
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the XML schema collection:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u> 920 to file
- े copy description ियी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ to file 📝 open DDLଜୀ୩ in Query Data42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **XML Schema Collection Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u>[917], open the <u>Environment Options</u>[825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u>[829] section there and select () *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or () *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u>[915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.9.2 Creating/editing XML Schema Collection

Use the **XML Schema Collection** tab of **XML Schema Collection Editor** to create/edit a XML Schema Collection and specify its definition.

Name

Enter a name for the new XML Schema Collection, or view the name of the XML Schema Collection being edited.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>schema</u> [189] to which the XML Schema Collection belongs.

📇 XML Schema Collection - [ManuInstructionsSchemaCollection (Info)] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
🗄 📴 Databases 🔹 🐬 🛤 🛛 🏖 🕞 🌁 ManuInstructionsSchemaCollection 💽 🔹						
Object	*	XML Schema Collection Dependencies Description DDL Permissions				
DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\T ManuInstructionsSchemaColleg	SER 💌	Name ManuInstructionsSchemaCollect Schema Info				
General	*	XML schema components to add to the collection (can be added only) 1 xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-16"?				
 ✓ Compile ☑ Refresh ➢ Print □ Dependency tree ☑ Restore default size 		<pre>2 <xsd:schema xmlns:<br="" xmlns:xsd="http://www.w3.org/2001/XMLSchema">3 <!-- new elements can be added here--> 4 </xsd:schema></pre>				
15: 4		III Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)				

The lower area of the editor window allows you to specify the XML Schema Collection definition. You can add a new schema or its component(s) to **XML Schema Collection**. After successful compilation, the **DDL** tab will display the changes made to the schema. To compile the schema, use the corresponding item of the <u>Navigation bar</u>^[282].

5.3.2.10 Defaults

When bound to a <u>column</u> 213 or a <u>user-defined data type</u> 259, a **Default** specifies a value to be inserted into the column to which the object is bound (or into all columns, in case of <u>UDF</u> 259) when no value is explicitly supplied during an insert operation.

Default Editor allows you to define default properties. It opens automatically when you create a new default and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a default in **Default Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 284
- Creating/editing default 286
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing default description 920
- Viewing DDL definition

5.3.2.10.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Default Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Default Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- 둼 select a default for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the default (if it is being created/modified)
- 尾 save the default <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- له print metadata ها المعالية print metadata
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the default:

Description

- 📕 save object <u>description</u>920 to file
- 🐚 copy <u>description</u> 🕬 to clipboard

DDL save DDL ଡୀ open DDL ତା <u>DDL</u>

Items of the Navigation bar are also available on the ToolBar of Default Editor. To

enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select O *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or O *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.10.2 Creating/editing default

Use the **Default** tab of **Default Editor** to create/edit a default and specify its definition.

Name

Enter a name for the new default, or modify the name of the default being edited.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>schema</u> 189 to which the default belongs.

📴 Default - [D_0] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]			
🔋 🔒 Databases 🕶 😼 🔒 🔕	> 🗷	📴 D_0	
Object *	:	Default Dependencies Description DDL	
DemoDB on dooM_SERVER		Name D_0	
General	1 : }	Definition	
Compile Refresh Print Dependency tree Restore default size			
		Highlighting	
		Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2) ,;;	

Definition

This area represents an expression that contains only constant values (it cannot include the names of any <u>columns</u> and <u>columns</u> or other database objects). Any constant, built-in function, or mathematical expression can be used, except those containing alias data types.

The definition must conform to the following rules:

- character and date constants are enclosed in single quotation (') marks;
- monetary, integer, and floating-point constants do not require quotation marks;
- binary data must be preceded by 0x
- monetary data must be preceded by a dollar (\$) sign.

5.3.2.11 Rules

When bound to a <u>column</u> 213 or a <u>user-defined data type</u> 253, a **Rule** specifies the acceptable values that can be inserted into that column or to the fields having the specified data type.

Rule Editor allows you to define rule properties. It opens automatically when you create a new rule and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a rule in **Rule Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar
- Creating/editing rule 288
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing rule description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919

5.3.2.11.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Rule Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Rule Editor allows you to:

Object

📙 select a database

😻 select a rule for editing

General

- $\frac{4}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the rule (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the rule <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- late refresh the content of the active tab
- له print metadata
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the rule
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the rule:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u> ियी to file
- े copy <u>description</u> ियी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save DDL ଡାଡି open DDLଡାଡି in Query Data 42ଶି

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Rule Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (a) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (a) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.11.2 Creating/editing rule

Use the **Rule** tab of **Rule Editor** to create/edit a rule and specify its definition.

Name

Enter a name for the new rule, or modify the name of the rule being edited.

Schema

Use the drop-down list to select the $\frac{189}{189}$ to which the rule belongs.
Rule - [R_Year] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
📔 Databases 🕶 🐓 💼 🗟 🍃	2	R_Year	=				
Object *		Rule Dependencies Description DDL					
BemoDB on dooM_SERVER		Name R_Year					
🛃 R_Year 💌		Schema dbo					
General *	3	Definition					
Compile Compile Refresh Print		<pre>1 @column is null or (@column between 1900 and 2099) </pre>					
52: 1		Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)	.::				

Definition

This area represents the condition(s) that define the rule (*condition_expression*). This can be any expression valid in a *WHERE* clause and can include elements such as arithmetic operators, relational operators, and predicates (for example, *IN*, *LIKE*, *BETWEEN*). Rule definition includes one variable. The at (@) sign precedes each local variable. The expression refers to the value entered with the UPDATE or INSERT statement. Any name or symbol can be used to represent the value when creating the rule, but the first character must be the at (@) sign.

5.3.2.12 Queues

A **Queue** is a schema object that holds incoming messages for a <u>service</u> [340]. When a message arrives for a service, Service Broker puts the message on the queue associated with the service.

Queue Editor allows you to define queue properties. It opens automatically when you create a new queue and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a queue in **Queue Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 290
- <u>Creating/editing queue</u> 291
- <u>Viewing queue messages</u>
 292
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing rule description 920
- Viewing DDL definition 919

5.3.2.12.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Queue Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Queue Editor allows you to:

Object

号 select a database
↓ select a queue for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the queue (if it is being created/modified)
- ቘ save the queue <u>description</u>छि। (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata 643 of the queue
- 🧮 view the <u>dependency tree</u> ि12ी for the queue
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the queue:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u> 🕬 to file
- 🐚 copy <u>description</u> 🕬 to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଢ଼ୀଣ୍ଧ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଢ଼ୀଣ୍ଧ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ୍

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Queue Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.2.12.2 Creating/editing queue

Use the **Queue** tab of **Queue Editor** to create/edit a queue and specify its properties.

🗟 Queue - [EventNotificationErrorsQueue] - [ayz_replica on vads\sql2016]										
😑 Databases 🔹 😼 🔚 🛛 🗞 🕞 🗍 🔛 EventNotificationErrorsQu 🔽 🔡										
Queue Queue Messages	Dependencies Description DDL Permissions									
Name	EventNotificationErrorsQueue									
Schema	dbo									
Enabled	Retain messages									
Activation options										
Enabled activation										
Max queue readers										
Procedure name										
Execute as										
Filegroup	PRIMARY 👻									
	ueue] - [ayz_replica on vads Image: EventNotificationError Queue Queue Messages Name Schema Image: Enabled Activation options Enabled activation Max queue readers Procedure name Execute as Filegroup									

Name

Is the name of the queue to create. This name must meet the guidelines for SQL Server identifiers.

Schema

Is the name of the schema to which the new queue belongs. The schema defaults to the default schema for the user that executes the statement.

Enabled

Specifies whether the queue is enabled (available) or disabled (unavailable). When the queue is disabled, no messages can be added to the queue or removed from the queue.

Retain messages

Specifies the retention setting for the queue. If the option is enabled, all messages sent or received on conversations that use this queue are retained in the queue until the

conversations have ended.

Activation options

Enabled activation

Specifies whether Service Broker starts the stored procedure to process messages in this queue.

Procedure name

Enter the name of the activation <u>stored procedure</u> [253], i.e. the stored procedure that has to be started to process messages in this queue.

Max queue readers

Specifies the maximum number of instances of the activation stored procedure that the queue starts at the same time.

Execute as

Use the drop-down list to select the SQL Server database user account under which the activation stored procedure runs.

Filegroup

Specifies the SQL Server <u>filegroup</u> 154 on which the queue is created.

5.3.2.12.3 Viewing queue messages

Use the **Queue Messages** tab of **Queue Editor** to view queue messages within a request-reply message cycle.

🗟 Queue - [queue1] - [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]										
🗄 🔒 Databases 👻 🐓	🔒 Databases 🔹 😼 🔚 🛛 🌦 🛃 💵 queue1 🔹 🔹									
Object	*	(Queue Que	ue Messages	Dependen <u>c</u> ies	Description DDL	Permission	IS		
AdventureWorks (•		Drag a column header here to group by that column							
Ja queue1	•	3	Status 💌	Priority 💌	Order 💌	Service Name	-	Message Type Nam 💌	Service Contract Name	
			3	5	1	service1		http://schemas.microsof	contract1	
General	*		3	5	3	service1		http://schemas.microsof	contract1	
S Compile			3	5	5	service1		http://schemas.microsof	contract1	
2 Defreeb			3	5	7	service1		http://schemas.microsof	contract1	
Reliesh		3								
Bependency tree										
Restore default size										
			•						•	

The **Queue Messages List** displays the messages as a grid with the following columns: Status, Priority, Order, Message Sequence Number, Service Name, Service Contract Name, Message Type Name, Validation, Message Body. If more convenient, you can <u>change the order</u> 467 of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the

descending mode.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

5.3.2.13 External Tables

External tables are used in SQL Server to access data stored in a Hadoop cluster or Azure blob storage. It can also be used to create an external table for Elastic Database query.

To open an external table double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Creating/editing external tables 293
- Editing external table description 920
- Viewing DDL definition 919

5.3.2.13.1 Creating/editing external tables

Name

Specify the name for the new external table.

Schema

Select schema for the external table location.

Data source

Select the name of the external data source.

P	External Table - [dbo.EXTtbl] - [new_db on TESTER2\SQL2017]									
Ŀ	🛢 Databases 🕶 🗲 🖷		3				5			
	Properties Columns Dep	enden <u>c</u> ies	Data Description	n DD <u>L</u>	Permissions					
	Name	EXTtbl								
	Schema	dbo			~					
	Data source	external	_hadoop_source2		\sim	Table information	0.04.004.0			
n	File format	external	_hadoop_format		~	Creation date	8/31/2018			
	Remote schema					Max column ID used	2			
>	Remote name				Import	ANSI nulls on creation	On			
	Location	/apps/hi	/e/warehouse/sam	ole_09/						
U	Distribution				Reject options					
				~	Value	O Percentag	e			
					Value	0 🛓				
	REPLICATED				Sample value	0 🔺				
	O ROUND_ROBIN				Row location					

File format

Select the existing external file format object that stores file type and compression method for external data.

Remote schema

Specify the different schema on the remote database to map the external table definition.

Remote name

Set the remote table name

Location

Specify the folder or the full path to the file for the actual data in Hadoop or Azure blob storage. The location starts from the root folder; the root folder is the data location specified in the external data source.

Distribution

This option is only required SHARD_MAP_MANAGER databases. Select how the table is treated:

SHARDED table so data from different tables is not overlapped;

REPLICATED table so that tables have the same data on every shard;

ROUND_ROBIN so that application-specific method is used to distribute the data.

Reject options

Reject parameters are used to determine how PolyBase will handle dirty records.

Select if the values will be specified as literal
Value or
Percentage.

Value

Specifies the value or the percentage of rows that can be rejected before the query fails.

Sample value

This attribute is required when you specify Percentage value type. It determines the number of rows to attempt to retrieve before the PolyBase recalculates the percentage of rejected rows.

Row location

Input the directory within the External Data Source to write rejected rows and the error file.

5.3.3 Non-schema Objects

Other types of objects are also stored in the database and can be created and manipulated with SQL, but are not contained in a schema:

- <u>Assemblies</u> 304
- DDL Triggers 307
- Partition Functions 310
- Partition Schemes 314
- Full-Text Catalogs 317
- Symmetric Keys
- Asymmetric Keys
- Certificates 329
- Message Types 334
- <u>Contracts</u>337
- Services 340
- Routes 343
- <u>Remote Service Bindings</u> 346
- DB Scoped Credentials 349
- External Data Sources 350
- External File Formats 351

Use the <u>DB Explorer and the objects</u>. Use the <u>DB Explorer and the objects</u>.

See also:

<u>New Object dialog</u> 180 Duplicate Object Wizard 182

5.3.3.1 Users

A database **User** is a database-level security principal enabling object access permission control at the finest level of granularity. A user represents a single SQL Server login within the scope of the database in which the user is defined.

User Editor allows you to define user properties and membership. It opens automatically when you create a new user and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a user in **User Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 296
- Creating/editing user 297
- Defining user membership 298
- Editing object description 920
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

See also: <u>Roles</u> ^{[30}ी Logins ^[354] Grant Manager ^{[682}]

5.3.3.1.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **User Editor**.



The Navigation bar of User Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- Select a user for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the user (if it is being created/modified)
- 🕫 save the user <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata 643 of the user

view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the user

restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the user:

Description

save object <u>description</u> छिटे to file ि copy <u>description</u> छिटे to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>୭1୩ to file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>୭1୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **User Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.1.2 Creating/editing user

Use the **User** tab of **User Editor** to create/edit a user and specify its properties.

🕹 New User - [DemoDB on testing-	s\SQL2005]	
🚦 🛢 Databases 🔹 🗲 👘 💭 🖶		
Database ☆	User Member Of Description DDL	
😑 DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 🗸	User type/source	
General 🎗	⊖ Login	~
🗲 Compile	Windows principal Local account of	on ser
Restore default size	O User/custom gro	oup 🔵 Built-in group
	Domain	EMS
	User/group name	test_user
	O With password Password	
	Confirm password	
	◯ Certificate	~
	O Asymmetric key	~
	◯ Without login	
	User name EMS\test_user	
	Default schema dbo	~
	Default language < Default >	~
	The "With password" and "Default language" of the "With password" and "Default language" of the test of	ptions are allowed only in contained databases.
1		

Login

If this option is selected, use the drop-down list to specify the SQL Server $\log n \otimes 1$ for which the database user is being created.

Windows principal

Check this option to specify the Windows principal for which the database user is being created. The Windows principal can be a Windows user, or a Windows group. The user will be created even if the Windows principal does not have a login. When connecting to SQL Server, if the Windows principal does not have a login, the Windows principal must authenticate at the Database Engine through membership in a Windows group that has a login, or the connection string must specify the contained database as the initial catalog.

Local account on server

Select this option to specify a built-in server account for the user, or specify the Windows **Domain**. After that specify **User/group name** in the corresponding field. You can select whether a new user will be created in a **Ouser/custom group** or in a **Ouser/custom group**.

Oertificate

If this option is selected, use the drop-down list to specify the <u>certificate</u> [329] for which the database user is being created.

Asymmetric key

If this option is selected, use the drop-down list to specify the <u>asymmetric key</u> [325] for which the database user is being created.

Without login

This option specifies that the user should not be mapped to any of existing logins and.

User Name

Specifies the name by which the user is identified inside this database.

Default schema

Use the drop-down list to specify the first <u>schema</u> 189 that will be searched by the server when it resolves the names of objects for this database user.

Default language

Specify the default language for the new user. If no default language is specified, the default language for the user will be the default language of the database. **Note:** Default language can be specified only for contained database users.

5.3.3.1.3 Defining user membership

The **Member of** tab of **User Editor** allows you to define user membership, i.e. to select the built-in database role(s) and the user will belong to. The selected roles determine the tasks that can be performed through the user.

🕹 New User - [DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL2005]								
📒 🛢 Databases 🕶 🗲 🖷 🛛 🖓		-						
Database	User Member Of Description DDL							
😑 DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL200 🗸	Available Roles							
General	👶 DatabaseMailUserRole 🕹 db_accessadmin							
General	🕺 db_backupoperator 🕹 db_owner							
두 Compile	db_datareader 🔊 🕉 db_securityadmin							
Restore default size	🕹 db_datawriter							
	k 🕹 db_ddladmin							
	🕹 db_denydatareader							
	db_denydatawriter							
	🕉 db_ssisadmin							
	🕹 db_ssisttduser							
	S db_ssisoperator							
	👶 dc_admin							
	de operator							

To select a role, you need to move it from the **Available Roles** list to the **Selected Roles** list. Use the **Selected** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the roles from one list to another.

5.3.3.1.4 Specifying permissions

Use the **Permissions** tab to grant permissions to a user.

🗧 Databases 🕶 🖊 🌾 🔚	C 🖶 🖻	EMSDOMA	IN\aschel			~ 38
Object	*	User Member (Of Dependen <u>c</u> ies	D <u>e</u> scription	DDL Permiss	ions
DemoDB on testing-ms\SQL	L200 ~	Grantee	Alter	Control	View definition	Impers
EMSDOMAIN/aschel		💰 Roles				
	~	DatabaseMailU	serRole			
General	*	db_ssisadmin				
🗲 Compile		db_ssisltduser	·			
C Refresh		db_ssisoperate	pr			
E Print		dc_admin				
		dc_operator				
Be Dependency tree		dc_proxy				
Restore default size		PolicyAdministr	ratorRol			
		public	۲			
		role1				
		RSExecRole	12	2	12	12
		ServerGroupA	dministr			
		ServerGroupR	eaderRo			
		SQLAgentOpe	ratorRol			
		SQLAgentRead	derRole			
		SQLAgentUser	Role			
		UtilityCMRRead	er			
	U	UtilityIMRReade	er -			
		UtilityIMRWriter				
		LUSERS				
		##MS_PolicyTs	qlExect			
		guest				
		INFORMATION	SCHEN			
		MS_DataCollec	torinteri			
		sys				
		TargetServers	Role			
		test_alieas				
		tester3				

The **Grantee** column contains the list of roles and users; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected user: *ALTER*, *CONTROL*, *VIEW DEFINITION*, *IMPERSONATE*.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain user or role. To grant a permission on a user, you should find the object in the **Grantee** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission to the user;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) to the user;
- deny a permission to the user;

- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions to the user;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) to the user;
- deny all permissions to the user;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all users and roles to the user;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all users and roles to the user;
- deny a permission on all users and roles to the user;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all users

5.3.3.2 Roles

All users [295] interact with SQL Server within the context of a database-level principal -**Role**. A user can belong to multiple groups and have multiple roles, and the operations that are permitted by each role determine the actions that the user can perform. It is necessary to create SQL Server database roles when a group of users needs to perform a specified set of activities in the database.

Role Editor allows you to define role properties and membership. It opens automatically when you create a new role and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a role in **Role Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 301
- Creating/editing role 303
- Defining role membership 304
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u>
 922

See also:

<u>Users</u> २९०३ Grant Manager बिश्वरी

5.3.3.2.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Role Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Role Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- ቖ select a role for editing

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> 23 the role (if it is being created/modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- 📚 <u>print metadata</u>ब्दिओ of the role
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> هاعاً for the role
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the role:

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ब्राग्रे to file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>ब्राग्रे in <u>Query Data</u>428

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Role Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select O *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or O *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.2.2 Creating/editing role

Use the **Role** tab of **Role Editor** to create/edit a role and specify its properties and membership.

Name

Enter a name for the new role, or view the name of the role being edited.

Role type

Select whether the preferable role type:

- Standard (user-defined) role
- Application role

🔗 Role - [TestRole] - [DemoDB on do	oM_SERVER\TSERV2005]	- • •
🔋 🔒 Databases 🕶 🐬 💼 🛛 😂 🖕	TestRole	
Object \$	Role Member Of Description DDL Permissions	
DemoDB on dooM_SERVI TestRole	Name TestRole Role type Standard	
General *	Role membership	
 Compile Refresh Print Dependency tree Restore default size 	Available Users S guest S scr_user Image: Contract of the second se	
	Application Password Confirm password Default schema	

If a **Standard** role is being created/edited, you should add members to the role, i.e. add the <u>users as in the role</u> (or other roles) that will inherit the permissions of the role.

To add a user, you need to move it from the **Available Users** list to the **Selected Users** list. Use the a a b buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the users from one list to another.

An *Application role* is a database principal that enables an application to run with its own, user-like permissions. You can use application roles to enable access to specific data to only those users who connect through a particular application.

If an **Application** role is being created/edited, you should specify a **password** for the role.

Default schema

Specify the first schema that will be searched by the server when it resolves the names of objects for this role.

Note: If this field remains <Default>, the application role will use DBO as its default schema. The schema defined may not exist in the database.

Note that in the <u>Database Explorer</u> and **S** User role.

5.3.3.2.3 Defining role membership

The **Member of** tab of **Role Editor** allows you to define role membership, i.e. to select the built-in database role(s) the current role will be a member of. The selected roles determine the tasks that can be performed through the current role.



To select a role, you need to move it from the **Available Roles** list to the **Selected Roles** list. Use the **Selected** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the roles from one list to another.

5.3.3.3 Assemblies

An **Assembly** is a managed application module containing class metadata and managed code as an object in SQL Server, against which CLR functions, <u>stored procedures</u> [253], <u>triggers</u> [307], user-defined <u>aggregates</u> [278], and <u>user-defined types</u> [263] can be created in SQL Server.

Assembly Editor allows you to define assembly properties. It opens automatically when you create a new assembly and is available on editing an existing one.

To open an assembly in **Assembly Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> 63¹ tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 305
- Creating/editing assembly 309
- Browsing object dependencies 921

- Editing object description 920
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.3.3.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Assembly Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Assembly Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- select an assembly for editing

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> [923] the assembly (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the assembly <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- late refresh the content of the active tab
- print metadata هم print metadata من المعامي المعامي المعامي المعامي المعامي المعامي المعامي المعامي المعامي الم
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> الأكثار for the assembly
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the assembly:

Description

save object <u>description</u> छिटे to file ि copy <u>description</u> छिटे to clipboard

DDL save DDL open DDL open DDL bin Ouery Data 428

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Assembly Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.3.2 Creating/editing assembly

Use the **Assembly** tab of **Assembly Editor** to create/edit an assembly and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new assembly, or view the name of the assembly being edited.

Owner

Use the drop-down list to select the owner of the assembly (the name of a database <u>user</u> 295) or <u>role</u> 301).

Assembly - [assembly1] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
📔 Databases 🕶 😽 💼 🗌	e	📚 🛃 🌆 asse	mbly1 🔹 🔤 🥫				
Object *		Assembly Depen	den <u>c</u> ies Description DDL Permissions				
DemoDB on dooM_:		<u>N</u> ame Owner	assembly1 Image: Wisible for creating CLR objects dbo Image: Don't check data that depends on assembly				
General *			Code access permissions Safe (can't access external system resources) External access (can access certain external resources e.g. files)				
 ✓ Compile ☑ Refresh ➢ Print 		Assembly info	 Unsafe (allows unrestricted access to resources) stringutilities, version=1.0.2061.29554, culture=neutral, publickeytoken=0f152244995ad2ef, 				
Dependency tree	1	Files	File Name StringUtilities				
			- Delete Row				

Visible for creating CLR objects

This option specifies whether the assembly is visible for creating common language runtime (CLR) functions, <u>stored procedures</u> [253], <u>triggers</u> [307], user-defined <u>aggregates</u> [278], and <u>user-defined types</u> [263] against it. If disabled, the assembly is intended to be called only by other assemblies. If there are existing CLR database objects already created

against the assembly, the visibility of the assembly cannot be changed.

Don't check data that depends on assembly

If this option is unchecked, SQL Server refreshes even those assemblies upon which persisted data in the database is dependent.

Code access permissions

Specifies a set of code access permissions granted to the assembly when it is accessed by SQL Server.

Safe

The most restrictive permission set. Code executed by an assembly cannot access external system resources such as files, the network, environment variables, or the registry.

External access

Allows assemblies to access certain external system resources such as files, networks, environmental variables, and the registry.

Onsafe

Allows assemblies unrestricted access to resources, both within and outside SQL Server. Code executing from within an Unsafe assembly can call unmanaged code.

The **Assembly info** panel is used to display information about the assembly or application, including a description, version information, company name, product name, and more. This information corresponds to the values of global assembly attributes.

The **Files** list allows you to manage files that correspond to the assembly, and specify the local path or network location.

To add a file, right-click within the *Files* area and select the **+ Add Row** popup menu item.

To remove a file, right-click the file name within the *Files* area and select the **— Delete Row** popup menu item.

5.3.3.4 DDL Triggers

A **Trigger** is a special kind of <u>stored procedure</u> [253] that automatically executes when an event occurs in the database.

DDL Triggers fire in response to a variety of data definition language (DDL) events which are primarily *CREATE*, *ALTER* and *DROP* statements; logon triggers fire in response to the *LOGON* event that is raised when a user sessions is being established.

DDL Trigger Editor allows you to define DDL trigger properties (the scope of the DDL triggers is applied to the current database, i.e. the trigger fires whenever *event_type* or *event_group* happens in the current database). It opens automatically when you create a new DDL trigger and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a DDL trigger in **DDL Trigger Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar
- Creating/editing DDL trigger 309

- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Editing object description
- Viewing DDL definition 919

5.3.3.4.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **DDL Trigger Editor**.



The Navigation bar of DDL Trigger Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a DDL trigger for editing

General

 $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the DDL trigger (if it is being created/modified)

ه save the DDL trigger <u>description</u>هه (if it has been modified) ه

refresh the content of the active tab

🛸 print metadata ها المعامة print metadata

view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the DDL trigger

restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the DDL trigger:

Description

save object <u>description</u> छिटे to file ि copy <u>description</u> छिटे to clipboard

DDL save DDL ଡ open DDL open DDL ଜୀଗା in Ouery Data 428

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **DDL Trigger Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (*Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (*Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.4.2 Creating/editing DDL trigger

Use the **DDL Trigger** tab of **DDL Trigger Editor** to create/edit a database-scoped DDL trigger and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new DDL trigger, or modify the name of the DDL trigger being edited.

🐴 DDL Trigger - [ddlDatabaseT	🔄 DDL Trigger - [ddlDatabaseTriggerLog] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
🕴 🔒 Databases 🔹 😼 💼 🛛 🗟	🔪 🛃 🛃 ddlDatabaseTriggerLog 🔹 🛛	-					
Object *	DDL Irigger Dependengies Description DDL						
DemoDB on dooM.	Name ddlDatabaseTriggerLog Code source Image: DDL database level events Image: SQL statements Assembly method						
General \$ Image: Complie Image: Complie Image: Complie Image: Complie Image: Print Image: Complie Image: Complie Image: Complie	Options Create table Image: Enabled Encrypted Image: ANSI Nulls Image: Quoted identifier Image: ANSI Nulls <t< td=""><td>V V V V V V T T T</td></t<>	V V V V V V T T T					
	11 SET @scnema = @data.value('(/EVENI_INSTANCE/Scnemaname)[1] 12 SET @object = @data.value('(/EVENT_INSTANCE/ObjectName)[1] 13 ("")	', 'sysname ', 'sysname •					
6: 1	Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)	.::					

Enabled

Enables/disables the trigger immediately after it is created. A disabled trigger still exists as an object in the current database, but does not fire.

Encrypted

If this option is selected, the text of the *CREATE TRIGGER* statement is encrypted. Using this option prevents the trigger from being published as part of SQL Server replication.

Execute as

Specify the security context under which the trigger is to be executed: O *Caller*, *Self* or *User* (select which <u>user</u> 295) account should be used to validate permissions on any database objects that are referenced by the trigger).

Code Source

Select the trigger code source: it can be a direct set of SQL statements or an external procedure call from a .NET assembly or DLL.

Events

This area lists the DDL events as groups. The trigger will fire after execution of any data definition language event selected in this list. Set the corresponding flag next to an event or event group name.

SQL statements or assembly method

This area allows you to set the trigger conditions and actions. Trigger conditions specify additional criteria that determine whether the tried DDL statements cause the trigger actions to be performed.

The trigger actions take effect when the DDL operation is performed.

5.3.3.5 Partition Functions

A **Partition function** specifies how a <u>table</u> [192] or <u>index</u> [228] is partitioned. The function maps the domain into a set of partitions. When creating a partition function, you specify the number of partitions, the partitioning column, and the range of partition column values for each partition. Note that when you specify the partitioning column, you can only specify one.

Partition Function Editor allows you to define partition function properties. It opens automatically when you create a new partition function and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a partition function in **Partition Function Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB</u> <u>Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 310
- Creating/editing partition function 312
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing object description 920
- Viewing DDL definition [919]

5.3.3.5.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Partition Function Editor**.

Object	*
B DemoDB on dooM_SERVER	•
pfuncRange100	•
General	*
🞸 Compile	
2 Refresh	
😓 Print	
Dependency tree	
Restore default size	
Description	\$
Save description to file	
Copy description to clipboard	

The Navigation bar of Partition Function Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- 🖄 select a partition function for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the partition function (if it is being created/modified)
- 尾 save the partition function <u>description</u>छ्यी (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- لمجتمع print metadata هما والمجتمع معامل المحتفظ ا
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> الما for the partition function
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the partition function:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u> ७२०१ to file
- copy <u>description</u> [920] to clipboard

DDL

- 🚽 save <u>DDL</u>919 to file
- 🗹 open DDL 💵 in Query Data 426

312 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Partition Function Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u>(917), open the <u>Environment Options</u>(825) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u>(829) section there and select (*Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (*Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u>(915)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.5.2 Creating/editing partition function

Use the **Partition Function** tab of **Partition Function Editor** to create/edit a partition function and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new partition function, or view the name of the partition function being edited.

Parameter

Туре

Specifies the data type of the column used for partitioning.

Size

Specifies the size of the data type. This box is not editable if the size of the selected data type is fixed or not applicable.

Scale

Specifies the maximum number of decimal digits that can be stored to the right of the decimal point. This box is editable only for *numeric* and *decimal* data types only.

Collation

Defines the collation for *text*, *char*, *nchar*, *varchar*, *nvarchar* values.

🚈 Partition Function - [pfuncRange100] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
🔒 Databases 🕶 🐬 🖳 🛛 🌦 🛃 🏂 pfuncRange100 🔹 🕞							
Object *	Partition <u>Function</u> Dependencies Descri	ption DDL					
DemoDB on dooM_ fill fill	Name pfuncRange Parameter						
 ⋧ Refresh ⋧ Print ₽ Dependency tree Restore default size 	Boundary values belong to left interval Boundary values	Partition Schemes					
	# Value Interval	pschemeRanges					
	1 Value <= 1						

Boundary values belong to left interval

This option specifies to which side of each boundary value interval, left or right, the **boundary value** belongs, when interval values are sorted by the Database Engine in ascending order from left to right. If checked, *LEFT* is specified.

Boundary values

This area lists the boundary values specified by the partition function.

To add a value, right-click within the Boundary values area and select the + Add Value

popup menu item, or press the corresponding **Add value** 👉 button.

To remove a value, right-click the value within the Boundary values area and select the =

Delete Value popup menu item, or press the corresponding **Delete value** 📛 button.

Use the **Move up and the Move down buttons or popup menu items to reorder the intervals.**

To add a partition scheme which will use the current partition function, right-click within the *Boundary values* area and select the **Add Partition Scheme...** popup menu item. To drop the partition scheme which uses the current partition function, right-click within the *Boundary values* area and select **Drop Partition Scheme** <partition_scheme_name> popup menu item.

5.3.3.6 Partition Schemes

A **Partition scheme** maps the partitions produced by a <u>partition function</u> and to a set of filegroups that you define. A partition scheme can use only one partition function. However, a partition function can participate in more than one partition scheme.

Partition Scheme Editor allows you to define partition scheme properties. It opens automatically when you create a new partition scheme and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a partition scheme in **Partition Scheme Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> ढिंगे tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 314
- <u>Creating/editing partition scheme</u>
 ³¹⁶
- Browsing object dependencies
- Editing object description
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>

5.3.3.6.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Partition Scheme Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Partition Scheme Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- 📑 select a partition scheme for editing

General

- 🖸 <u>compile</u> 23 the partition scheme (if it is being created/modified)
- 퇴 save the partition scheme <u>description</u> छिछी (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- <u>print metadata</u> المعامة و print metadata
- iew the <u>dependency tree</u> الأكار for the partition scheme الأكار المراجعة المراجعة
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the partition scheme:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u> िये to file
- i copy <u>description</u> विषेते to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ to file 🗹 open DDLଜୀ୩ in Query Data42ଶ Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Partition Scheme Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (*Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (*Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.6.2 Creating/editing partition scheme

Use the **Partition Scheme** tab of **Partition Scheme Editor** to create/edit a partition scheme and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new partition scheme, or modify the name of the partition scheme being edited.

Partition function

Use the drop-down list to select the name of the partition function bid that will use the partition scheme.



Filegroups

Partitions created by the <u>partition function</u> are mapped to the filegroups specified in the partition scheme.

Select the filegroup name in the **Filegroup** drop-down list for each of the intervals specified by the <u>partition function</u> [310]. If *PRIMARY* is selected, the partition is stored in the primary filegroup.

Hint: Filegroups can be created on the Filegroups 153 page of the Database Properties 133

317 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

dialog.

5.3.3.7 Full-Text Catalogs

Full-text catalogs and **Full-text indexes** are the objects that are implemented in Microsoft® SQL Server for efficient full-text administration which is carried out at the server, database, table and column levels.

Like regular indexes 228, **Full-text indexes** can be automatically updated as data are modified in the associated tables. Index updating is normally performed as an asynchronous process that runs in the background during periods of low database activity. Tables with the same update characteristics (e.g. small number of changes and large number of changes) should be grouped together and assigned to the same **Full-text catalog**.

One **Full-text catalog** can have several *full-text indexes*, but a full-text index can only be part of one full-text catalog.

Full-Text Catalog Editor allows you to define full-text catalog properties. It opens automatically when you create a new full-text catalog and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a full-text catalog in **Full-Text Catalog Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> ^[63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 317
- Creating/editing full-text catalog 319
- Managing full-text indexes 320
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.3.7.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Full-Text Catalog Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Full-Text Catalog Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a full-text catalog for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> [323] the full-text catalog (if it is being created/modified)
- is a content of the active tab
- <u>print metadata</u> المعة of the full-text catalog المعامية (ما معنى المحمد)
- 📲 view the <u>dependency tree</u>612 for the full-text catalog
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the full-text catalog:

DDL

📕 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶି to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶି in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Full-Text Catalog Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.7.2 Creating/editing full-text catalog

Use the **Full-Text Catalog** tab of **Full-Text Catalog Editor** to create/edit a full-text catalog and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new full-text catalog, or view the name of the full-text catalog being edited.



Owner

Use the drop-down list to select the owner of the full-text catalog (the name of a database user 295) or role 301).

File group

Use the drop-down list to select the filegroup which will include the new catalog. The default full-text filegroup is the *PRIMARY* filegroup for the database.

Path

Use the ellipsis \square button to specify the root directory for the catalog using the <u>SQL</u> <u>Server Folders</u> dialog.

Note: Full-text catalogs must be created on a local hard drive associated with an instance of SQL Server.

Set as default catalog

This option specifies that the catalog is the default catalog. When full-text indexes are created without a full-text catalog explicitly specified, the default catalog is used.

Accent sensitivity

Specify whether the catalog is *accent* o *sensitive* or *insensitive* for full-text indexing.

5.3.3.7.3 Managing full-text indexes

The **Indices** tab of **Full-Text Catalog Editor** allows you to manage full-text indexes and specify their properties.

Indices

This area lists the tables containing indexes that will be used by the full-text catalog.

To add a full-text index, right-click within the *Indices* area and select the **+ Add index** popup menu item, or use the corresponding button at the bottom.

The **Select Object** dialog allows you to specify a <u>table respective</u> or an indexed <u>view</u> 246 to use indexes from.

ſ	🎬 Select Obj	ect				—
	Tables	Indexed	views	Person		
	Address (Person)	AddressType (Person)	BusinessE (Person)	BusinessE (Person)	BusinessE (Person)	ContactType (Person)
	CountryRe (Person)	EmailAddress (Person)	Password (Person)	Person (Person)	PersonPhone (Person)	PhoneNumb (Person)
	StateProvince (Person)					
				<u>o</u> k (Cancel	Help

Hint: The context menu of the Select Object dialog allows you to toggle the Icons/List

object representation mode.

To remove a full-text index, right-click the index within the *Indices* area and select the **— Delete index** popup menu item, or use the corresponding button at the bottom.

🝓 Full-Text Catalog - [ftcatalog1] - [AdventureWorks2016 on vads\sql2016]							
🚦 🔒 Databases 🔹 🐬 💼 🛛 😂 😓 🖬	🛛 🖟 ftcatalog1	▼ 3	3		-		
Object \$	Full-Text Catalog	DDL Per	missions				
AdventureWorks2016 on 💌	Indices Table Name DimSalesReason FactResellerSales Add Index Delete Index				Enabled V V		
🧝 Refresh	Delete Index						
Dependency tree	Options						
Restore default size	Unique index PK_DimAccount Filegroup Cefault >						
	Stop list	SYSTEM			_		
	Search property list	OFF					
	Track changes	Auto	Manual	© Off			
	Columns	~					
	Column Name Column Name AccountDescri Coperator CustomMember	ption 's 'Options	Language British English	Data Type	Statistical Semantics		

Options

Select the unique not null key index from **Unique index** dropdown list, which is required for a full-text index.

Select the **Filegroup** for creating a full-text index. If 'Default' value is selected the fulltext index is placed in the same filegroup as base table or view for a nonpartitioned table or in the Primary filegroup for a partitioned table.

Select the full-text **Stop list** for the index. The index is not populated with any tokens that are part of the specified stoplist.

Use **Search property list** to associate with the index.

If a table index is enabled (i.e. the I Enabled flag is set in the **Indices** list), you can

select the unique index and set the **Track changes** property:

Outorial Autorial Autoria Autorial Autoria Autorial Autoria Autorial Autorial Autorial Autorial Autoria Autorial Autorial Auto

Specifies that SQL Server automatically updates the full-text index as the data are modified in the associated tables.

💿 Manual

Specifies that the change-tracking log will be propagated either on a schedule using SQL Server Agent, or manually by the user.

Off

Specifies that SQL Server does not keep a list of changes to the indexed data.

Columns

This area lists the columns of the selected table. Set the **Language** of the data stored in each column. Specifies the Data Type that is used to hold the document type for a varbinary(max) or image document. Tick **Statistical Semantics** on to create the additional key phrase and document similarity indexes that are part of statistical semantic indexing.

5.3.3.8 Symmetric Keys

In SQL Server 2005 and higher, data can be encrypted with a hierarchical encryption and key management infrastructure. Each layer encrypts the layer below it by using a combination of the following mechanisms for encryption: **symmetric keys**, <u>asymmetric keys</u>, <u>asymmetric keys</u>, <u>certificates</u> (325), <u>certificates</u> (325).

A **Symmetric key** is a single key that is used for both encryption and decryption. Encryption and decryption by using a symmetric key is fast and suitable for routine use with sensitive data in the database.

Symmetric Key Editor allows you to define symmetric key properties. It opens automatically when you create a new symmetric key and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a symmetric key in **Symmetric Key Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar
 322
- <u>Creating/editing symmetric key</u> 324
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Viewing DDL definition [919]
- Setting object permissions 922

5.3.3.8.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Symmetric Key Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Symmetric Key Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a symmetric key for editing

General

- $\frac{4}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [23] the symmetric key (if it is being created/modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- <u>print metadata</u> المعة من print metadata من المعام المعامين ألب المعام المعامين في المعام المعام
- 🗏 view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the symmetric key
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the symmetric key:

DDL

📕 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶି to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀଶି in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Symmetric Key Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar and the Environment Options</u> and the <u>toolbar and the Environment Options</u> dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> and the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (if you need the toolbar only) or **a** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> and the <u>Bar style for child forms</u> group.

5.3.3.8.2 Creating/editing symmetric key

Use the **Symmetric key** tab of **Symmetric Key Editor** to create/edit a symmetric key and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new symmetric key, or view the name of the symmetric key being edited.

Symmetric Key - [symmetrickey1] - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
🗄 📴 Databases 🔻 😼 🔚 😥 😓 🖙 💠 🗕 🤌 symmetrickey1 🔹 🗦							
Object *	Symmetric key	Dependen <u>c</u> ies DDL <u>P</u> ermis	sions				
BemoDB on dooM_SERVER'	Name	symmetrickey1					
🤌 symmetrickey1 💌	Key options						
0	Key source		Create date	05.09.2007 19:18:50			
General ×	Algorithm	DES	 Modify date 	05.09.2007 19:18:51			
😼 Compile	Identity valu	e					
2 Refresh							
😓 Print	Encrypted by						
E Dependency tree	Encryptor Typ	e Encryptor Name					
Restore default size	Password						
		Add Encryption					
Encryption *		Drop Encryption					
+ Add encryption							
 Drop encryption 							

Key options

Key source

Specify a passphrase that will be used to derive the key from.

Algorithm

Use the drop-down list to specify an algorithm to be used by the symmetric key. Possible values are: DES, TRIPLE_DES, RC2, RC4, DESX, AES_128, AES_192, AES_256.

Identity value

Specify an identity phrase from which to generate a GUID for tagging data that is encrypted with a temporary key.

Create date

Stores the date when the symmetric key was created.

Modify date

Stores the date when the symmetric key was last modified.

Symmetric key encrypt by
This area lists the encrypting mechanisms used by the symmetric key (the *ENCRYPTION BY* clause).

To add an encrypting mechanism, right-click within the Symmetric key encrypt by area and select the + Add Encryption popup menu item.

The **Add Encryption By** dialog allows you to specify a password, a <u>certificate</u> (329), an <u>asymmetric key</u> (325), or a <u>symmetric key</u> (322) to be used to encrypt the key that is being created.

Add Encryption By	—
Open key options	
Confirm password	
Certificate	
 Asymmetric key 	
Symmetric key	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

To remove an encrypting mechanism, right-click the encrypting mechanism within the *Symmetric key encrypt by* area and select the **— Drop Encryption** popup menu item.

5.3.3.9 Asymmetric Keys

In SQL Server 2005 and higher, data can be encrypted with a hierarchical encryption and key management infrastructure. Each layer encrypts the layer below it by using a combination of the following mechanisms for encryption: <u>symmetric keys</u> [322], **asymmetric keys**, <u>certificates</u> [329].

An **Asymmetric key** is composed of a private key and the corresponding public key. Each key can decrypt data encrypted by the other. Asymmetric encryption and decryption provide a higher level of security than <u>symmetric</u> [322] encryption. An asymmetric key can be used to encrypt a <u>symmetric key</u> [322] for storage in a database.

Asymmetric Key Editor allows you to define asymmetric key properties. It opens automatically when you create a new asymmetric key and is available on editing an existing one.

To open an asymmetric key in **Asymmetric Key Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> a) tree.

- <u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbar</u>326
- <u>Creating/editing asymmetric key</u>
- Browsing object dependencies

- Viewing DDL definition 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u> 922

5.3.3.9.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Asymmetric Key Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Asymmetric Key Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select an asymmetric key for editing

General

- $\frac{4}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the asymmetric key (if it is being created/modified)
- lateral refresh the content of the active tab
- م <u>print metadata</u> المع من print metadata من print metadata من من من من من print metadata من من من من من من من من
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> [612] for the asymmetric key
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the asymmetric key:

DDL save DDL ଡୀ open DDL ଡୀ in <u>Query Data</u>42ବ Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Asymmetric Key Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (*Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (*Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.9.2 Creating/editing asymmetric key

Use the **Asymmetric key** tab of **Asymmetric Key Editor** to create/edit an asymmetric key and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new asymmetric key, or view the name of the asymmetric key being edited.

🔗 New Asymmetric Key - [Adventu	reWorks on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]	- • •
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😼 💼 🗋 👌		
Database	Asymmetric key Dependencies DDL	
AdventureWorks on dooM.	Name askey	
General *	C File	Executable
Gompile	Assembly	
Restore default size	Agorithm RSA_512	
	Encryption by password Confirm password	

Asymmetric key source

File

If this option is selected, you should specify the path to a strong-name file to be used to load the key pair from. Use the B button to specify the complete path and the name of the strong-name file.

Executable

If this option is selected, the file is a DLL used by the asymmetric key.

Assembly

If this option is selected, use the drop-down list to specify an <u>assembly</u> [304] to be used to load the public key from.

Algorithm

If this option is selected, use the drop-down list to specify an algorithm to be used by the asymmetric key (the *WITH ALGORITHM* clause). Possible values are: *RSA_512*, *RSA_1024*,

RSA_2048.

Encryption by password / Confirm password

Specify the password that will be used to encrypt the private key, and confirm the password in the corresponding boxes.

The **Asymmetric key** tab of **Asymmetric Key Editor** allows you to edit properties of an exiting asymmetric key.

🔗 Asymmetric Key - [asymmetrickey]	- [AdventureWorks on dooM_SER	VER\TSERV2005]	- • •
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😽 💼 🗟 😓	🛃 🤌 asymmetrickey		-
Object *	Asymmetric key Dependencies	DDL Permissions	
AdventureWorks on dooM Image: Symmetrickey	<u>N</u> ame Options ⊚ Remove private key	e Change password	
General *	Decryption by password		
😼 Compile	Encryption by password		
Refresh	Confirm password		
😓 Print			
Dependency tree			
Restore default size			

Options

Remove private key

If this option is selected, the private key will be removed from the asymmetric key.

Change password

If this option is selected, you can change the password used to encrypt the private key.

Decryption by password / Encryption by password / Confirm password

Specify the current password, a new password that will be used to encrypt the private key, and confirm the password in the corresponding boxes.

5.3.3.10 Certificates

In SQL Server 2005 and higher, data can be encrypted with a hierarchical encryption and key management infrastructure. Each layer encrypts the layer below it by using a combination of the following mechanisms for encryption: <u>symmetric keys</u> [322], <u>asymmetric keys</u> [322], <u>asymmetric keys</u> [322], <u>asymmetric keys</u> [323], <u>certificates</u>.

A **Certificate** is a digitally-signed statement that binds the value of a public key to the identity of the person, device or service that holds the corresponding private key. Certificates are database-level securable objects that follow the X.509 standard and support X.509 V1 fields. A certificate can be loaded from a file or <u>assembly</u> [304] upon its creation.

Certificate Editor allows you to define certificate properties. It opens automatically when you create a new certificate and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a certificate in **Certificate Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 330
- <u>Creating/editing certificate</u> B31
- Backup Certificate dialog 334
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919
- <u>Setting object permissions</u>

5.3.3.10.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Certificate Editor**.

Object 🎗
ewtest_db on TESTER2\SQL2 v
certificate1
General 🛠
Compile
🔁 Refresh
Print Print
Bependency tree
DDL 🛠
E Save DDL to file

The Navigation bar of Certificate Editor allows you to:

Object

elect a database

select a certificate for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the certificate (if it is being created/modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata [643] of the certificate
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> [612] for the certificate
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the certificate:

Actions

🚽 save the certificate using the <u>Backup Certificate</u> [334] dialog

DDL save DDL ଡୀ open DDL ଜୀଶ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Certificate Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (917), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (825) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (829) section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (915)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.10.2 Creating/editing certificate

Use the **Certificate** tab of **Certificate Editor** to create/edit a certificate and specify its properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new certificate, or view the name of the certificate being edited.

Authorization

Use the drop-down list to select the name of the user that will own this certificate, or view the user selected upon the certificate creation.

Databases Database Certificate Dependencies DDL	
Database <u>Certificate</u> Dependencies DDL<	
AdventureWorks on dooM,	
Authorization tester	
General Active for begin dialog	
Compile Assembly	
Restore default size	able
With private key	
Decryption by password	
Encryption by password	
Confirm password	
Generate new key	
Password *******	
Confirm pasword *******	
Subject	
Start date 08.04.2013 12:00:00 💌	
End date 08.04.2014 12:00:00 💌	

Active for begin dialog

This option makes the certificate available to the initiator of a Service Broker dialog conversation.

Assembly

If this option is selected, use the drop-down list to specify a signed <u>assembly</u> 304 that has been already loaded into the database.

File

If this option is selected, you should specify the complete path and name of a DERencoded file that contains the certificate.

Executable

If this option is used, the file is a DLL that has been signed by the certificate.

With private key

Check this option to specify that the private key of the certificate is loaded into SQL Server. This option is only available when the certificate is being created from a file.

Use the 🖻 button to specify the complete path and name of the private key.

Decryption by password

Specify the password required to decrypt a private key that is retrieved from a file.

Encryption by password / Confirm password

Specify the password that will be used to encrypt the private key, and confirm the password in the corresponding box.

Generate new key

If this option is selected, a new key will be generated for the certificate. In this case you should specify the **password** for the new key, and the **subject** (a field in the metadata of the certificate as defined in the X.509 standard).

Start date

Set the date when the certificate becomes valid.

Expire date

Set the date when the certificate expires.

The **Certificate** tab of **Certificate Editor** allows you to edit properties of an exiting certificate.

Certificate - [certificate] - [AdventureWorks on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😽 📻	🗟 😓 🕻	🛃 📕 🗟 certificate	-				
Object	*	Certificate Dependencies DDL	Permissions				
AdventureWorks on d	∞0M_▼	<u>N</u> ame Authorization	certificate tester				
General	*	Tasks					
Compile Compile Refresh Print Dependency tree Restore default size		 Remove private key Change certificate password Change private key password Import private key for a certific Protect private key by using the Protect certificate by password 	ate le database master key d				
Actions	*	Private key file					
Backup certificate		Decryption by password Encryption by password Confirm password	******				

Tasks

Remove private key

If this option is selected, the private key will be removed from the certificate.

Change certificate password

If this option is selected, you can change the password used to protect the certificate.

Change private key password

If this option is selected, you can change the password used to encrypt the private key.

Import private key for a certificate

If this option is selected, you can import a private key to the certificate.

Protect private key using the database master key

If this option is selected, the private key used for the certificate will be protected with the database master key.

Protect certificate by password

If this option is selected, you can set a password to protect the certificate.

Private key file

Use the B button to specify the complete path and name of the private key.

Decryption by password / Encryption by password / Confirm password

Specify the current password, a new password that will be used to encrypt the certificate / private key, and confirm the password in the corresponding boxes.

5.3.3.10.3 Backup Certificate dialog

The **Backup Certificate** dialog allows you to set saving certificate options.

To call this dialog, use the **Backup Certificate** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> अणे or <u>toolbar</u> अगे

Backup Certificate	
Certificate	certificate
Backup options	
File	D:\SecureBox\certAcces
With private key	D:\SecureBox\PrivateKe
Decryption by password	******
Encryption by password	******
Confirm password	******
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

File

Type in or use the button to specify the path and name of the file that will contain the certificate.

With private key

Check this option to specify that the certificate has a private key. Type in or use the \blacksquare button to specify the path and name of the private key file.

Decryption by password

Specify the password required to decrypt the private key.

Encryption by password / Confirm password

Specify the password that will be used to encrypt the private key, and confirm the password in the corresponding box.

5.3.3.11 Message Types

A **Message type** object defines a name for a message type and defines the type of data that the message contains. Message types persist in the database where the message type is created. You create an identical message type in each database that participates in a conversation.

Message Type Editor allows you to define message type properties. It opens automatically when you create a new message type and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a message type in **Message Type Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 335
- Creating/editing message type 336
- Browsing object dependencies
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- 5.3.3.11.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Message Type Editor**.

Object	*
AdventureWorks	on dooM 🔻
Provide the second	crosoft.c
General	*
Compile	
la Print	
Dependency tree	
Restore default siz	e
Description	*
Save description to	file
Copy description to	clipboard

The Navigation bar of Message Type Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- select a message type for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{92}$ <u>compile</u> $\frac{1}{923}$ the message type (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the message type <u>description</u> 💷 वे (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab

- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the message type
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the message type:

Description

- save object <u>description</u> [920] to file
- े copy description 920 to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ to file 📝 open DDLଜୀ୩ in Query Data42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Message Type Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (17), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (1825) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (1929) section there and select (19) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (19) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (1915)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.11.2 Creating/editing message type

Use the **Message Type** tab of **Message Type Editor** to create/edit a message type and specify its properties.

🚽 Message Type - [DEFAULT] - [ayz_replica on vads\sql2016]						
🗄 🖯 Databases 🕶 😼 💼	1 🗟 😓	🛃 📴 DEFAULT 💽 🔤				
Object	*	Message type Dependencies Description DDL Permissions				
e ayz_replica on vads\s	q12(👻	Name DEFAULT Authorization dbo Validation				
General	*	None				
		 Empty Well-formed XML Valid XML with schema 				
■ Restore default size		Some properties cannot be modified because the object has dependent objects.				

Name

Enter a name for the new message type, or view the name of the message type being edited.

Authorization

Use the drop-down list to set the owner of the message type to the specified database <u>user</u>[295] or <u>role</u>[301].

Validation

Specifies how Service Broker validates the message body for messages of this type.

None

Specifies that no validation is performed. The message body can contain data, or it can be NULL.

Empty

Specifies that the message body must be NULL.

Well-formed XML

Specifies that the message body must contain well-formed XML.

Valid XML with schema

Specifies that the message body must contain XML that complies with a schema in the specified schema collection. Use the drop-down list below to select an existing \underline{XML} schema collection and the schema collection below.

Note: Some properties cannot be modified because of dependent objects. Open the <u>Dependencies</u> [921] tab to browse the list of dependent objects, or view the <u>dependency</u> <u>tree</u> [612] for the message type.

5.3.3.12 Contracts

Contracts define the name of a specific business task and list the message types used in that task. Service Broker contracts define two different service roles: the initiator and the target. The initiator of a conversation begins the conversation by sending a message to the target. The contract that the conversation uses defines which service role can send messages of a given message type [334].

Contract Editor allows you to define contract properties. It opens automatically when you create a new contract and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a contract in **Contract Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 338
- <u>Creating/editing contract</u> 339
- Browsing object dependencies
- Viewing DDL definition 919

5.3.3.12.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Contract Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Contract Editor allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- select a contract for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the contract (if it is being created/modified)
- 🕫 save the contract <u>description</u>ब्र्य्गे (if it has been modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata 643 of the contract
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> [12] for the contract
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the contract:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u>ြား to file
- opy <u>description</u> ियी to clipboard

DDL save DDL ଡା୬ to file ଡ open DDLଡା୬ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Contract Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.12.2 Creating/editing contract

Use the **Contract** tab of **Contract Editor** to create/edit a contract and specify its properties.

Contract - [DEFAULT] - [AdventureWorks on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
🗄 😑 Databases 🕶 😼 🕞 🔕	🗾 🗏 DEFAULT	•		-		
Object *	Contract Dependencies	Description DDL				
AdventureWorks on dooM	<u>N</u> ame	DEFAULT				
DEFAULT 💌	Authorization	dbo		•		
General \$	Message type list					
	Message Type Name		Include	Conversation		
😴 Compile	DEFAULT		1	ANY		
R Save description	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/Notifications/EventNotification				
Refresh	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/Notifications/QueryNotification				
Drint .	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/BrokerConfigur				
	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/BrokerConfigur	V	INITIATOR		
Be Dependency tree	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/BrokerConfigur				
Restore default size	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/BrokerConfigur				
2	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/DialogTimer				
	http://schemas.mi	crosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/EndDialog				
	http://schemas.mi	crosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/Error				
	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/ServiceDiagnos				
	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/ServiceDiagnos				
	http://schemas.mi	icrosoft.com/SQI /ServiceBroker/ServiceDiagnos				
	http://schemae.mi	icrosoft.com/SQL/ServiceBroker/ServiceEcho/Ec				
	r mp.//sendids.ill					

Name

Enter a name for the new contract, or modify the name of the contract being edited.

Authorization

Use the drop-down list to set the owner of the contract to the specified database \underline{user}^{295} or \underline{role}^{307} .

Message type list

This area contains the list of message types [334] to be included as part of the contract.

Conversation field

Specifies which endpoint can send a message of the indicated message type. Contracts document the messages that services can use to have specific conversations. Each conversation has two endpoints: the initiator endpoint, the service that started the conversation, and the target endpoint, the service that the initiator is contacting.

INITIATOR

Indicates that only the initiator of the conversation can send messages of the specified message type. A service that starts a conversation is referred to as the initiator of the conversation.

TARGET

Indicates that only the target of the conversation can send messages of the specified message type. A service that accepts a conversation that was started by another service is referred to as the target of the conversation.

ANY

Indicates that messages of this type can be sent by both the initiator and the target.

Note: Some properties cannot be modified because of dependent objects. Open the <u>Dependencies</u> [921] tab to browse the list of dependent objects, or view the <u>dependency</u> <u>tree</u> [612] for the contract.

5.3.3.13 Services

A Service Broker **Service** is a name for a specific task or set of tasks. Service Broker uses the name of the service to route messages, deliver messages to the correct $\underline{queue}^{[289]}$ within a database, and enforce the <u>contract</u> $\underline{sa7}$ for a conversation.

Service Editor allows you to define service properties. It opens automatically when you create a new service and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a service in **Service Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63¹] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 340
- <u>Creating/editing service</u>³⁴²
- Viewing service dialogs 343
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- Viewing DDL definition 919

5.3.3.13.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Service Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Service Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a service for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the service (if it is being created/modified)
- لا save the service <u>description</u> ها (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the service
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the service:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u>ြား to file
- 🐚 copy description 🕬 to clipboard

DDL

🌄 save <u>DDL</u>ଣୀର୍ଶ to file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ଣୀର୍ଶ in <u>Query Data</u>42ର୍ଶ Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Service Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (a) ते, open the <u>Environment Options</u> (a) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (a2) section there and select (a) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (a) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (a) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.13.2 Creating/editing service

Use the Service tab of Service Editor to create/edit a service and specify its properties.



Name

Enter a name for the new service, or modify the name of the service being edited.

Authorization

Use the drop-down list to set the owner of the service to the specified database \underline{user}^{295} or \underline{role}^{307} .

Queue

Use the drop-down list to specify the <u>queue</u>²⁸⁹ that will receive messages for the service.

Contract list

This area contains the list of <u>contracts</u> [337] for which this service may be a target. Service programs initiate conversations to this service using the contracts specified. If no contracts are included, the service may only initiate conversations.

5.3.3.13.3 Viewing service dialogs

Use the **Service Dialogs** tab of **Service Editor** to view service dialogs within a requestreply message cycle.

Service	Service Dialogs	Dependencies	Description	DDL Permiss	sions			
Drag a (column header her	e to group by that	column					
'= T	Chate	Denste Ce			Custom/Harro	Contract	Next	and Mana D
i≡ Type	 Started outbour 	Remote Se	rvice	com/SOL/Notifi	System/User		■ Next S	
Finnoada	Started outbot		mas.microson		USCI			<u> </u>
<				111				+

The **Service Dialogs List** displays the messages as a grid with the following columns: State, Remote Service, System/User, Contract, Next Send Message, Next Receive Message. If more convenient, you can <u>change the order</u> 467 of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

5.3.3.14 Routes

A **Route** is a non-schema object which can be added to the routing table for the current database. For outgoing messages, Service Broker determines routing by checking the routing table in the local database. For messages on conversations that originate in another instance, including messages to be forwarded, Service Broker checks the routes in msdb.

Route Editor allows you to define route properties. It opens automatically when you create a new route and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a route in **Route Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 344
- <u>Creating/editing route</u> 345
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>

5.3.3.14.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Route Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Route Editor allows you to:

Object

select a database
select a route for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the route (if it is being created/modified)
- 😼 save the route <u>description</u> 🕬 (if it has been modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- brint metadata ها الله print metadata ما الم
- view the <u>dependency tree</u> 612 for the route
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the route:

Description

- save object description [920] to file
- ि copy <u>description</u> िटी to clipboard

DDL save DDL ଡା୬ to file ଡ open DDLଡା୬ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Route Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (917), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (825) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (829) section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (915)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.14.2 Creating/editing route

Use the **Route** tab of **Route Editor** to create/edit a route and specify its properties.

🎭 Route - [AutoCreatedLo	cal] - [ayz	z_replica on vads\sql2016]		
🕴 🔒 Databases 🔹 😼 💼	12 😓	🛃 🐂 AutoCreatedLoca		-
Object	*	Route Dependencies	Description DDL Permissions	
extraction addition addition addition addition and the second addition and the second addition addition and the second addition a	q12(🔻	<u>N</u> ame	AutoCreatedLocal	
AutoCreatedLocal	-	Authorization	dbo	•
General	\$	Service		
	^	Broker instance		
Compile		Lifetime		
le Print		Address	LOCAL	
Dependency tree		Mirror address		
🛃 Restore default size				

Name

Enter a name for the new route, or modify the name of the route being edited.

Authorization

Use the drop-down list to set the owner of the route to the specified database <u>user</u> and <u>role</u> and <u>role</u>.

Service

Specifies the name of the remote $\underline{\text{service}}$ and that this route points to. It must exactly match the name the remote service uses.

Broker instance

Specifies the database that hosts the target service.

Lifetime

Specifies the time, in seconds, that SQL Server retains the route in the routing table. At the end of the lifetime, the route expires, and SQL Server no longer considers the route when choosing a route for a new conversation.

Address

Specifies the network address for this route.

Mirror address

Specifies the network address for a mirrored database.

5.3.3.15 Remote Service Bindings

A **Remote service binding** establishes a relationship between a local database <u>user</u> [295], the <u>certificate</u> [329] for the user, and the name of a remote <u>service</u> [340]. Service Broker uses the remote service binding to provide dialog security for conversations that target the remote service.

Remote Service Binding Editor allows you to define remote service binding properties. It opens automatically when you create a new remote service binding and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a remote service binding in **Remote Service Binding Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> of tree.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 346
- <u>Creating/editing remote service binding</u>
- Browsing object dependencies
- Viewing DDL definition 919

5.3.3.15.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Remote Service Binding Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Remote Service Binding Editor allows you to:

Object

- 😑 select a database
- 💐 select a remote service binding for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> [323] the remote service binding (if it is being created/modified)
- 尾 save the remote service binding <u>description</u>印 (if it has been modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- م print metadata المعامة of the remote service binding
- 💐 view the dependency tree 📭 for the remote service binding
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the remote service binding:

Description

- 🚽 save object <u>description</u>୭20 to file
- 🗅 copy <u>description</u> ियी to clipboard

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ଣୀର୍ଶ to file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀର୍ଶ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Remote Service Binding Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (if you need the <u>toolbar</u>), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (15) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (15) section there and select (15) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (15) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (15)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.3.3.15.2 Creating/editing remote service binding

Use the **Remote Service Binding** tab of **Remote Service Binding Editor** to create/edit a remote service binding and specify its properties.

🜻 Remote Service Binding - [rsb_manager] - [ayz_replica on vads\sql2016]									
🗄 🔒 Databases 🕶 😽	R 🛛 🕹		🗷 🛛 🌞 rsb_manager		- 13				-
Object	*		Remote service binding	Depend	en <u>c</u> ies	D <u>e</u> scription	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions	
🔒 ayz_replica on va	ids\sql2(💌		Name		rsb_ma	anager			
糞 rsb_manager	•		Authorization		dbo				•
General	*	2022	Service bck_manager						
 ✓ Compile ➢ Refresh ➢ Print ❑E Dependency tree ☑ Restore default size 	e		User		dbo				•

Name

Enter a name for the new remote service binding, or modify the name of the remote service binding being edited.

Authorization

Use the drop-down list to set the owner of the remote service binding to the specified database <u>user</u>[295] or <u>role</u>[301].

Service

Enter the name of the remote <u>service</u> [340] to bind to the user identified in the **User** field.

User

Use the drop-down list to specify the database principal that owns the <u>certificate</u> $[32^{\circ}]$ associated with the remote service set within the **Service** field. This certificate is used for encryption and authentication of messages exchanged with the remote service.

Anonymous

Specifies whether anonymous authentication is used when communicating with the remote service.

5.3.3.16 DB Scoped Credentials

A DB scoped credential is used by the database to access to the external location anytime the database is performing an operation that requires access. It is not connected with any server login or database user.

To open a DB scoped credential in the editor, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Creating/editing db scoped credential 349
- Browsing object dependencies
- Viewing DDL definition 919
- 5.3.3.16.1 Creating/editing db scoped credential

Name

Specify the name of the database scoped credential.

Identity

Specify the name of the account to be used when connecting outside the server.

For Azure Blob Storage

Select this option to create SHARED ACCESS SIGNATURE identity for Azure Blob storages.

Secret

Specify the secret for outgoing authentication.

Database Scoped Ci	redential Dependen <u>c</u> ies DDL <u>P</u> ermissions	
<u>N</u> ame	AppCred	
Identity	Mary5	For Azure Blob Storage
Secret	******	
Create date	7/24/2018 1:32:16 PM	
Modify date	7/24/2018 1:32:16 PM	

Create date

Displays date and time when the credential was created.

Modify date

Displays date and time when the credential was last modified.

5.3.3.17 External Data Sources

An **external data source** is used for PolyBase or Elastic Database queries.

To open an external data source in the editor, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- <u>Creating/editing external data source</u>
 350
- Browsing object dependencies 921
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>

5.3.3.17.1 Creating/editing external data source

Name

Specify the unique name for the data source being created.

Туре

Select the type of the data source: HADOOP or BLOB_STORAGE.

Location

Specify connection string for HADOOP or Azure blob storage in the special format.

2	👗 New External Data Source - [AdventureWorksDW on TESTER2\SQL2017]							
1	🛢 Databases 🔹 🗲 🖷 🛛 📿							
	External Data Source DDL							
	Name	TestEMS						
	Туре	Blob Storage 🗸						
Π	Location emsdb.database.windows.net							
>	Credential	~ ·						
U	Resource manager location							
	Database							
	Shard map manager							

Credential

Specify the <u>database-scoped credential</u> [349] for authenticating to the external data source.

Resource manager location

Specify the Hadoop resource manager location to improve query performance.

Database

Specify the name of the database that functions as the shard map manager or the remote database.

Shard map manager

Set the name of the shard map.

5.3.3.18 External File Formats

An external file format is the object defining external data stored in Hadoop, Azure Blob Storage, or Azure Data Lake Store. Creating an external file format is a prerequisite for creating an External Table 293. It stores the actual layout of the data referenced by an external table.

To open an external file format double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

- Creating/editing external file format 351
- Browsing object dependencies
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>

5.3.3.18.1 Creating/editing external file format

Name

Specify the name for the new external file format being created.

🖀 External File Format - [1	textdelimited1] - [AdventureWorksDW on TESTER2\SQL2017]
📒 🗧 Databases 🔹 🗲 🖷	
External File Format Dep	enden <u>c</u> ies DDL
<u>N</u> ame	textdelimited1
Туре	DELIMITEDTEXT ~
Data Compression	org.apache.hadoop.io.compress.GzipCodec
SerDe Method	
Format Options	
Field Terminator	
String Delimiter	
Date Format	MM/dd/yyyy
First Row	
Encoding	UTF8 V
	Use Type Default

Туре

Select the type for the external file format from the list: PARQUET, ORC, RCFILE or DELIMITEDTEXT.

Data compression

Set the data compression method for external data. If not specified, data will not be compressed.

SerDe method

Specify the SerDe method to be used for RCFiles.

Format options

Set the options for the text format with column delimiters (DELIMITEDTEXT).

Field terminator

Set one or more characters that mark the end of each field in the text-delimited file. The default terminator is the ??character.

String delimiter

Specify the field terminator for string type in the text-delimited file. The default is the empty string "".

Date format

Set custom date and time format for the file.

First row

Specify the row number that is read first in all files during a PolyBase load (1-15).

Encoding

Set the UTF8 or UTF16 encoding.

Use type default

Check this option to use default values in delimited text files if the value is missing.

5.4 Server Objects

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides all necessary facilities for working with server objects.

Note: To start working with server objects you need to <u>connect to server</u> [68].

Server Objects:

Logins 354 Backup Devices 366 Jobs 368 Schedules 376 Alerts 380 Operators 386 Proxies 391 Credentials 395 Linked Servers 398 Endpoints 402 DDL Triggers 412 DTS Packages 421

Creating Server Objects

To create a server object:

- select the Database | New Object... main menu [915] item;
- select the type of object within the <u>New Object</u> [180] dialog;
- follow the steps of the wizard which guides you through the entire process of creating the object, or set the object properties using its editor - depending on the selected object type.

Note that you can also create a server object by selecting the appropriate <u>context menu</u> [53] item of the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree or using the Ctrl+N <u>shortcut</u> [952].

To create a new object with the same properties as one of existing objects has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... main menu [915] item;
- follow the instructions of Duplicate Object Wizard 1821.

Alternatively, you can right-click an object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Duplicate Object <object_name>...** context menu item.

Editing Server Objects

To edit a server object:

- select the server object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object to call its <u>context menu</u> and select the **Edit <object type**>
 <object name> context menu item, or double-click the object to open it in its editor;

Renaming Server Objects

To rename a server object:

• select the object to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;

- right-click the object and select the Rename <object type> <object name>... item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- edit the object name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Note: This operation is possible for all objects except for <u>Logins</u>ाउटमे, <u>Credentials</u>ाउछी, <u>Linked</u> <u>Servers</u>छिछी, <u>Endpoints</u>402, <u>DTS Packages</u>421.

Dropping Server Objects

To drop a server object:

- select the server object in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree;
- right-click the object to call its <u>context menu</u> and select the **Drop <object type> <object name>** context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u> [952]: *Ctrl+N* to create a new object; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected object; *Ctrl+R* to rename the object; *Shift+Del* to drop the object from the server.

When using an object editor, you can benefit from **tabs**. To switch between tab views, click on their respective tabs at the top of the main editor window. You can do it at any time, since the tab views are absolutely independent.

To compile a newly created or edited object, you can use the $\frac{4}{5}$ **Compile** item available within the <u>Navigation bar set</u> or <u>Toolbar set</u> of the object editor.

See also: Database objects

5.4.1 Logins

 $\mathsf{Microsoft} \circledast \mathsf{SQL} \: \mathsf{Server}^{\mathsf{TM}} \: \mathsf{uses} \: \mathsf{two} \: \mathsf{ways} \: \mathsf{to} \: \mathsf{validate} \: \mathsf{connections} \: \mathsf{to} \: \mathsf{SQL} \: \mathsf{Server} \: \mathsf{databases} :$

Windows Authentication which uses Windows-level principals and

SQL Server Authentication which uses logins to validate the connection. A **login** is an indivisible principal which is used to connect to the server and use its resources.

Login Editor allows you to define login properties. It opens automatically when you create a new server login and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a login in **Login Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63¹] tree or in the <u>Login</u> <u>Manager</u> [68¹]. Alternatively, you can right-click the login alias and select the **Edit Login** context menu item.

- <u>Setting login parameters</u> 355
- <u>Allocating members</u> 359
- <u>Defining server permissions</u>360

- Defining server role permissions 361
- Defining endpoint permissions 363
- Defining database permissions 364
- User mapping 366
- Viewing DDL definition 919

See also:

<u>Users</u>वि98ी <u>Server roles</u>418 <u>Grant Manager</u>682ी Login Manager688ी

5.4.1.1 Setting login parameters

Use the **Login** tab of **Login Editor** to configure login authentication and default parameters.

Specify the way used by the login to connect to the instance of SQL Server:

- Windows authentication
- SQL Server authentication
- Mapped to certificate
- Mapped to asymmetric key

Enabled

Enables/disables the login immediately after it is created. A disabled login still exists in the server, but it cannot be used to connect to the instance of SQL Server.

Login is locked out

This option is used to indicate whether the login is locked out.

Windows authentication

When Windows Authentication is used to connect to SQL Server, Microsoft Windows is completely responsible for authenticating the client. In this case, the client is identified by its Windows account (Windows-level login).

Built-in account on server

Select this option to specify a built-in server account for the login (*User* or *Group*), or specify the Windows **Domain** and **User or group name**.

⁸ ្ត New Login - [localhost\sqlexpr	ress]					- • •
i localhost\sqlexpress	-		- 5	š 🖻 🔈 🖻		-
Object *	Lo <u>gi</u> n	Member Of	Server Permissions	Server Role Permissions	Login Permissions	Endpoint Permission
General	<u>۷ W</u> in	ndows authent Windows acco	ication punt	Enable	d 🗌 Lo	gin is locked out
	[Built-in acc	ount on server			
Compile	0	🔵 User		Group		
Restore default size	(Domain	emsde	omain		
	L L	User or group	name demol	ogin		
3		Access denie	ed			
	Login r	name				
	<u>୍ର s</u> ଦ	L Server auth	entication			
	Pa	ssword			Enforce passwor	d policy
	Co	onfirm Passwo	rd 📃		Enforce passwor	d expiration
	Cr	edential		*		
	⊙ Ma	pped to certific	ate			
	Ce	ertificate name		-		
	🔘 Ma	pped to asymm	netric key			
	As	ymmetric key	name	-		
	Defa	ault parameters				
	Defa	ult Database				
	Defa	ult Language				•

Access denied

Select this option to forbid any connections to the server for the login.

Login name

Enter a name for the new login, or modify the name of the login being edited.

SQL Server authentication

When SQL Server Authentication is used, SQL Server authenticates the client by comparing the client-supplied user name and password to the list of valid user names and passwords maintained within SQL Server.

Enforce password policy

This option specifies that the Windows password policies of the computer where SQL Server is running should be enforced on this login.

Enforce password expiration

This option specifies whether password expiration policy should be enforced on this login.

Credential

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>credential</u> that will be mapped to the new SQL Server login.

357 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Mindows authentication		Enable	d	Login is locked out
Windows account				
Built-in account on serv	ren			
🔘 User		C Group		
Domain				
User or group name				
Access denied				
Login name	demologin			
SQL Server authentication				
Password	*****		Enforce pa	ssword policy
Confirm Password	•••••		Enforce pa	ssword expiration
Credential	credential_dsd	-		
Mapped to certificate				
Certificate name		-		
Mapped to asymmetric key				
Asymmetric key name		-		
Default parameters				
Default Database	DemoDB			•
Default Language	English			•

Mapped to certificate

Select this option to specify a certificate-mapped login.

Certificate name

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>certificate</u> [329] that will be associated with this login.

SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual 358

Mindows authentication	Enabled Login is locked out
Windows account	
Built-in account on serv	ŧr
🔘 User	O Group
Domain	
User or group name	
Access denied	
Login name	demologin
© SQL Server authentication	
Password	Enforce password policy
Confirm Password	Enforce password expiration
Credential	~
Mapped to certificate	
Certificate name	testlogincert
Mapped to asymmetric key	
Asymmetric key name	·
Default parameters	
Default Database	▼
Default Language	▼

Mapped to asymmetric key Select this option to specify an asymmetric key-mapped login.

Asymmetric key name

Use the drop-down list to select the asymmetric key [325] that will be associated with this login.

359 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Mindows authentication	Enable	led Login is locked out
Windows account		
Built-in account on serve	er	
🔘 User	Group	p
Domain		
User or group name		
Access denied		
Login name	demologin	
© SQL Server authentication		
Password		Enforce password policy
Confirm Password		Enforce password expiration
Credential	▼	r
Mapped to certificate		
Certificate name	▼	-
Mapped to asymmetric key		
Asymmetric key name	MS_SQLEnableSystemAsse -	•
Default parameters		
Default Database		*
Default Language		▼

The lower group allows you to set the **Default parameters** pertaining to the login: **Default Database** and **Default Language**. Use the corresponding drop-down lists to select the required values that will be assigned to the login.

5.4.1.2 Allocating members

The **Member Of** tab of **Login Editor** allows you to define the login membership, i.e. to select the built-in <u>server role(s)</u> at the login will belong to. The selected server roles determine the tasks that can be performed through the login.

⁸ ្ច New Login - [localhos	st∖sqle	express]							
localhost\sqlexpress		-		- 9	1 🛛 ا 🚴				
Object	*	Login	Member Of	Server Permissions	Server Role	e Perm	issions	Login Permissions	Endpoint Permission
localhost\sqlexpress	•	Availab	le Server Role ver Administra	ators			Selecte	d Server Roles	
General	*	Set Set	up Administrat	ors			😽 Sec	curity Administrators	
✓ Compile Restore default size		Pro	cess Administ k Administrato abase Creato k Insert Admin	rators rs istrators					

To select a server role, you need to move it from the **Available Server Roles** list to the **Selected Server Roles** list. Use the **Selected Server Roles** list. Use the **Selected Server Roles** list. Use the **Selected Server** roles from one list to another.

5.4.1.3 Defining server permissions

This tab allows you to grant **Server permissions** to the login.


The **Permission** column contains the list of server permissions that can be granted to the login: CONNECT SQL, SHUTDOWN, CREATE ANY DATABASE, CREATE ENDPOINT, ALTER ANY LOGIN, ALTER ANY CREDENTIAL, ALTER ANY LINKED SERVER, ALTER ANY CONNECTION, etc.

Right-click a cell within the **State** column to grant a permission to the login. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) to the login;
- deny a permission to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions to the login;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) to the login;
- deny all permissions to the login;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions.

5.4.1.4 Defining server role permissions

This tab is available in SQL Server 2012 only. It allows to define Server role permissions

.

😂 🛛 New Login - [loc	alhost\s	qlexpre	ss]							(- • •
localhost\sqlexp	ress	-				- 😽	2	🛛 📥 🛛 🖂			
Object	;		Login	Member Of	Serv	er Permissions	Sen	ver Role Pen	missio	Login Permissions Er	ndpoint Permi:
localhost\sqlex	press 🗖	•	Se	rver Role Nan	ne 🔻	ALTER	•	CONTRO)L	V TAKE OWNERSHIP D	
General	,		🌸 se	rver_role_1		8		8		₿	B
-			🈽 se	rver_role_2		•		•	•	Grant	
Compile			🈽 se	rver_role_3		8			8	Grant With Grant Options	
Restore default	size		🌸 tes	t_role_1					۲	Deny	
										Revoke	
		0.000							•	Grant All	
									ø	Grant All With Grant Option	ns
									••	Deny All	
		2								Revoke All	
									8	Grant On All	
									8	Grant On All With Grant O	ptions
									8	Deny On All	
										Revoke On All	

The **Server Role Name** column contains the list of server roles; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected server role: *ALTER*, *CONTROL*, *TAKE OWNERSHIP*, *VIEW DEFINITION*.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain server role. To grant a permission on a server role, you should find the object in the **Server role name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission on the server role to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on the server role to the login;
- deny a permission on the server role to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on the server role to the login;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on the server role to the login;
- deny all permissions on the server role to the login;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all server role to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all server role to the login;
- deny a permission on all server role to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all server role

5.4.1.5 Defining login permissions

This tab allows you to define **Login permissions** to the login.

🛛 New Login - [:	L92.168.66.57\k	oi201	12]											
9192.168.66.5	7\bi2012	•		-	- 🗳			•						
Object	*		Login	Member Of Server Permis	sions	Server Ro	ole Pe	rmissi	ions	Login Pe	missions	Endpoint	Permissions	User
9 192.168.66.	57\bi2012 🔻		L	.ogin Name	•	ALTER	•	СС	NTR	OL 🔻	IMPERSO			N .
General	*		80 2	2										
-			8 ₀ E	EMSDOMAIN\aakud					- 0		8	•	•	
Compile			8 ₀ E	EMSDOMAIN\aschel		•			0		•		•	
🛃 Restore defa	ult size		8 ₀ E	EMSDOMAIN\ayz		8			8	•	6	}	e	
			8, 6	EMSDOMAIN\nb					•	Grant				
			8 ₀ E	EMSDOMAIN\pai										
			8_ ε	emsdomain\tio					8	Grant W	ith Grant O	ptions		
			8, 1	NT Service\MSSQL\$Bl2012					۲	Deny				
			8, 1	NT SERVICE\SQLAgent\$BI2012	2				Revoke					
			8, 1	NT SERVICE\SQLWriter	😞				Grant All					
			8, 1	NT SERVICE\Winmgmt					Grant All With Grant Ontions					
		2	8 ₀ t	ester						Giant A	i with Gran	it Options		
									•	Deny Al				
										Revoke	All			
									8	Grant O	n All			
									8	Grant O	n All With G	Frant Optio	ons	
									8	Deny Or	n All			
									Revoke	On All				

The **Login Name** column contains the list of server logins; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected login: *ALTER*, *CONTROL*, *IMPERSONATE*, *VIEW DEFINITION*.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain login. To grant a permission on a login, you should find the object in the **Login name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) to the login;
- deny a permission to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions to the login;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) to the login;
- deny all permissions to the login;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all logins to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all logins to the login;
- deny a permission on all logins to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all logins

5.4.1.6 Defining endpoint permissions

This tab allows you to grant **Endpoint permissions** to the login.

8 New Login - [192	2.168.66.57	\bi20	12]														
192.168.66.57\b	😨 192.168.66.57\bi2012 🔹																
Object	\$		Login	Member Of	Server Per	missions	Server	Role	Permiss	ions	Login	n Permissions	Endp	oint Permissi	ons U	Iser Mapping	DDL
9 192.168.66.57	\bi2012 🔻		En	dpoint Name	-	ALT	TER	•	CONN	ЕСТ	•	CONTROL	-	TAKE OWNERSH	IIP 🔽	VIEW DEFINITION	л 🗖
General	*		🖺 De	dicated Admin	Connection	1	8			3		8		🔒		8	
-			占 TS	QL Default T	CP		8			3		8		8		0	
Gompile			L TS	QL Default VI	A		•			•	Gra	nt					
Restore default	t size		STS	QL Local Mad	chine					e	Gra	nt With Grant O	ptions	;			
		2	TS	QL Named Pi	pes					0	Den	v					
		- 22									Rev	oke					
		1															
		- 22								0	Gra	nt All					
		- 22								ø	Gra	nt All With Gran	t Opti	ons			
		- 2								•)	Den	y All					
											Rev	oke All					
										8	Gra	nt On All					
										8	Gra	nt On All With G	Grant (Options			
										8	Den	y On All					
											Rev	oke On All					

The **Endpoint Name** column contains the list of server <u>endpoints</u>[402]; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected endpoint: *ALTER, CONNECT, VIEW DEFINITION, TAKE OWNERSHIP, CONTROL.*

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain endpoint. To grant a permission on an endpoint, you should find the object in the **Endpoint name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission on the endpoint to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on the endpoint to the login;
- deny a permission on the endpoint to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on the endpoint to the login;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on the endpoint to the login;
- deny all permissions on the endpoint to the login;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all endpoints to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all endpoints to the login;
- deny a permission on all endpoints to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all endpoints

5.4.1.7 Defining database permissions

This tab allows you to grant **Database permissions** to the user. This tab is only available on <u>editing</u> an existing server login.

8g Login - [login] - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]									×				
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005 • Seelogin • 😴 🗟 🆕 🖻										=			
	Log	in Member Of	Server Permissions	Login Permis	sions	Endpoint Permi	ission	is D	atabase Permis	ssions	User Mapping	DDL	
		Permission		-	Adver	ntureWorks 💌		Dem	ioDB 💌	La	argeDB	•	*
	P	ALTER ANY ME	SSAGE TYPE			•			•		٨		
	P	ALTER ANY REI	MOTE SERVICE BIND	DING		•			8		٨		
	P	ALTER ANY RO	LE			•			8		٨		
	P	ALTER ANY RO	UTE			•			8		٨		
	P	ALTER ANY SCI	HEMA						A		<u> </u>		
	P	ALTER ANY SEP	RVICE					•	Grant			_	-
	P	ALTER ANY SYN	MMETRIC KEY			•		₿	Grant With G	rant Op	tions		=
	P	ALTER ANY US	ER					۵	Deny				
	P	AUTHENTICATE	E			•			Revoke				
	P	BACKUP DATAE	BASE			•		•	Grant All				
	P	BACKUP LOG								C	0-1		
	P	CHECKPOINT						ø	Grant All With	Grant	Options		
1	P	CONNECT				•		•	Deny All				
	P	CONNECT REP	LICATION			•			Revoke All				
	P	CONTROL				•		8	Grant On All				
	P	CREATE AGGR	EGATE			•			Grant On All	With Gra	ant Options		
	P	CREATE ASSEM	IBLY			•			Deeu On All		an opiono		
	P	CREATE ASYM	METRIC KEY			•		•	Deny On All				
	P	CREATE CERTI		•			Revoke On A	NI					
	P	CREATE CONT	RACT			•					🔒		-

The **Permission** column contains the list of database permissions that can be granted to the login: *CREATE ANY VIEW*, *CREATE PROCEDURE*, *CREATE FUNCTION*, *CREATE RULE*, *CREATE DEFAULT*, *BACKUP DATABASE*, etc.; each subsequent column corresponds to a database that resides on the selected server.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain database that has a user <u>mapped</u> [366] to the login. To grant a permission on a database, you should find the permission in the **Permission** list and the column with the corresponding database. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission on the database to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on the database to the login;
- deny a permission on the database to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on the database to the login;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on the database to the login;
- deny all permissions on the database to the login;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all databases to the login;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all databases to the login;
- deny a permission on all databases to the login;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all databases

5.4.1.8 User mapping

The **User Mapping** tab allows you to browse the list of databases available on the specified server, and to map their <u>users</u> and to the login.

8 New Login - [localhost\sc	qlexpres	is]							- • •		
icalhost\sqlexpress	😨 localhostisqlexpress 🔹 🔽 😴										
Object *	<u>۽</u>	Login	Member Of	Server Permissions	Sen	ver Role Permissions	Login Pe	missions	Endpoint Permissio		
localhost/solexpress	. [Мар		Database		User			Default Schema		
19	- 1	V	Adventure	eWorks		tester		dbo			
General	*		master								
			model			tester		dbo			
Restore default size			msdb								
IT Restore delaur size			ReportSe	rver\$SQLEXPRESS							
			ReportSe	rver\$SQLEXPRESSTe	emp[
		1	tempdb			tester		dbo			
			est account is	enabled in the 'model'	data	hase					
		00	cor account is	Chabica In the model	Gata	5650	_	_			
		Datab	ase role me	embership for: mod	el						
		🔲 db_a	ccessadmin								
		db_b	ackupoperate	or							
		db_c	latawriter								
		db_c	Idladmin								
		db_d	lenydataread Ienydatawrite	er r							
		db_c	wner								
		db_s	ecurityadmin								

Set the **Map** flag next to a database name, and specify the **User** and the **Default Schema** of the database using the corresponding drop-down lists.

If necessary, use the **Database role membership for** area at the bottom to define $\frac{database role(s)}{301}$ for each mapped user.

5.4.2 Backup Devices

A **Backup device** is a tape drive or a disk drive used in <u>backup</u> [718] and <u>restore</u> [732] operations. When creating a backup, you must <u>select a backup device</u> [721] where the data will be written. Microsoft SQL Server 2005 (and higher) can back up databases, transaction logs, and files to disk and tape devices.

Creating Backup Devices

To create a new backup device:

- right-click the **Backup Devices** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Backup Device** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- define backup device properties using the appropriate boxes of the New Logical

Backup Device 367 dialog

or

• select the Database | New Object... main menu [915] item;

• select **Backup Device** in the <u>Create New Object</u> [180] dialog;

• define backup device properties using the <u>New Logical Backup Device</u> and dialog. **Hint:** To create a new backup device, you can also select the **Services | Backup**

Devices main menu [915] item to open the **Backup devices manager** and select the **Add Device...** item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new backup device with the same properties as one of existing backup devices has:

• select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu item;

• follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click a backup device in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Duplicate Backup Device <backup_device_name>...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard 182 allows you to select the server to create a new backup device and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the backup device.

To create, rename and drop backup devices, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Backup devices manager</u> 1743.

See also:

<u>Backup Database</u>718 <u>Backup Devices</u>743

5.4.2.1 New backup device

The **New Logical Backup Device** dialog opens automatically when you create a new backup device and allows you to define the new backup device parameters.

To call the dialog, you can right-click the **Backup Devices** node or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and use the Ctrl+N shortcut [952].

New Logical Backup Device	— ו
Device Type	
File	🔘 Таре
Logical Name	
AW	
Physical Device Name and Path	
C:\BackupDevices\AW	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

Device Type

Select the logical backup device type: If the select the logical backup device type:
File,
Pipe (for SQL Server versions earlier than 2005), or
Tape.

Disk backup devices are files on hard disks or other disk storage media are the same as regular operating system files.

Tape backup devices are used in the same way as disk devices, but the tape device must be connected physically to the computer running an instance of SQL Server, and if a tape backup device is filled during the backup operation, but more data still needs to be written, SQL Server prompts for a new tape and continues the backup operation.

Logical Name

Enter a name for the new backup device.

Physical Device Name and Path

Define the physical location of the device. If **Device Type** is set to *File*, enter the path and the full name of the file. If **Device Type** is set to *Tape*, enter the physical name of the device.

5.4.3 Jobs

A **job** is a specified set of operations performed sequentially by SQL Server Agent. A job can perform a wide range of activities, including running Transact-SQL scripts, command-line applications, Microsoft ActiveX scripts, Integration Services packages, Analysis Services commands and queries, or Replication tasks. Jobs can run repetitive or <u>scheduled</u> tasks, and they can automatically notify <u>operators</u> and job status by generating <u>alerts</u> 788.

Before using SQL Server jobs, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

Job Editor allows you to define job properties. It opens automatically when you create a new job and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a job in **Job Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree or in the <u>Jobs</u> <u>manager</u> [784]. Alternatively, you can right-click the job alias and select the **Edit Job** context menu item.

- <u>Setting job properties</u> 369
- Managing job steps 370
- Managing job schedules 373
- Managing notifications 374
- Managing target servers 376
- Viewing DDL definition 919

To create, edit, rename and drop jobs, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Jobs manager</u> 184.

See also:

<u>Jobs manager</u>7ि8मे <u>Schedules</u> (उरहे) <u>Alerts</u> (उरहे) Operators (उठहे)

5.4.3.1 Setting job properties

Use the **Job** tab of the **Job Editor** to configure/view job properties. If necessary, you can use items of the **Navigation bar** to manage the currently opened job (see <u>Jobs manager</u> 1784).

Name

Enter a name for the new job, or modify the name of the job being edited. Enable/disable the job using the \blacksquare **Enabled** option.

🔚 Job - [syspolicy_purge_hist	ory] - [localhost\sqlexpress]		
icalhost\sqlexpress	-	syspolicy_purge_history	- 😼 🖻 🕨	= 🔒 😓 🖻 💦
Object	*	Job Steps Schedul	es <u>N</u> otifications Targets	s DD <u>L</u>
Iocalhost\sqlexpress	•	<u>N</u> ame	syspolicy_purge_history	C Enabled
syspolicy_purge_history	•	Category	[Uncategorized (Local)]	•
General	*	Owner	sa	•
 ✓ Compile ☑ Refresh ➢ Start job Stop job 		Description	No description	available.
 Show Job History Print Restore default size 		Created Modified	04.04.2013 12:26:32 04.04.2013 12:26:33	Last run date Last run status
		version	5	Next run date

Category

Use the drop-down list to select the job category.

Job categories help you organize your jobs for easy filtering and grouping. For example, you can organize all your database backup jobs in the *Database Maintenance* category.

Owner

Use the drop-down list to select the job owner.

Note: To create a job, a user must be a member of one of the SQL Server Agent fixed database roles or the sysadmin fixed server role. A job can be edited only by its owner or members of the sysadmin role.

Description

In this memo field you can supply an optional description for the job.

The lower area displays the following job events and properties:

Created Modified Version Last run date Last run status Next run date

5.4.3.2 Managing job steps

Use the **Steps** tab of **Job Editor** to manage job steps (operations). A **job step** is an action that the job takes on a database or a server. Every job must have at least one job step.

🍓 Job - [syspolicy_purge_hist	ory] -	[loca	alhost∖s	qlexpr	ess]						_	- • •
localhost\sqlexpress	-	20	syspolic	:y_pur	ge_his	tory	- 😼 🛛		🛯 🍓 😓 🛛	2		Ŧ
Object	*		<u>J</u> ob	St <u>e</u> ps	Sch	edules	s <u>N</u> otifications	T <u>a</u> rgets	DDL			
localhost/solevoress		\$	Start ste	p Id		Nan	ne	Туре		On success	On failure	Last run outcon
le localitostisque press	8		1			1 Veri	fy that automatic	Transact	-SQL statemen	Go to next step	Quit job with succes	
syspolicy_purge_history	•				:	2 Purç	ge history.	Transact	-SQL statemen	Go to next step	Quit job with failure	
General	\$					3 Eras	se Phantom Sys	PowerSh	ell Script	Quit job with succe	s Quit job with failure	
General	~	3					Add Step					
🞸 Compile						_	Insert Sten	_				
Refresh							5 m or					
Start job							Edit Step					
Startjob							Delete Step					
Stop job						0	Maria Lia					
Show Job History						•	wove op					
🖕 Print							Move Down					
Restore default size			•				III	_				•

The current job steps are displayed as a grid with the following columns: Start step, ID, Name, Type, On success, On failure, Last run outcome, Last run date, Command.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new job step and specify its properties using the **Edit Step** dialog, *insert* a step, *edit* or *delete* the selected step.

The Add New Job Step / Edit Step dialog allows you to define job step parameters.

The **General** tab allows you to define basic parameters of the step.

🎬 Edit Step 'Verify that a	utomation is enabled.' of Job 'syspolicy_purge_history' on 'KA\SQLEXPRE 🗾
Job step name	Verify that automation is enabled. Start job with this step
General Advanced	
Command type	Transact-SQL statement
Database name	master Run as user <current></current>
Add output to step his	story
Output file name	V Overwrite
Log step output to ms	dbsysjobstepslogs table
Command text	
1 IF (msdb.db	<pre>o.fn_syspolicy_is_automation_enabled() != 1) IN</pre>
3	RAISERROR (34022, 16, 1)
•	4
	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel H</u> elp

Job step name

Enter a name for the new step, or modify the name of the step being edited. If necessary, you can specify to \blacksquare **Start job with this step**. Note that a job can have only one start step.

Specify the **Command Type** of the step indicating the subsystem used by Microsoft SQL Server Agent service to execute the job command:

- ✓ Transact-SQL statement
- ✓ Active Script
- Operating-system command or executable program
- Replication Distribution Agent job
- Replication Snapshot Agent job
- Replication Log Reader Agent job
- Replication Merge Agent job
- Replication Queue Reader Agent job
- ✓ Analysis Services query (MDX, DMX)
- ✓ Analysis Services command (XMLA)
- ✓ Integration Services package execution
- ✓ PowerShell Script

Use the **Database name** drop-down list to select the database for which the current step will be executed (for *Transact-SQL* command type step; for an *ActiveX* job step, you are to specify the name of the scripting language that the step uses), and specify the security context under which the command is executed using the **Run as user** drop-down

list.

SQL Server Agent can write output from some job steps either to the *sysjobsteplogs* table in the *msdb* database or to an operating system file.

To use this feature, check the \blacksquare Add output to step history option and set the path and the file name in the Output file name field, and/or check \blacksquare Log step output to msdb..sysjobsteplogs table.

You can select the \blacksquare **Overwrite** option to specify that the existing destination log file / table will be overwritten.

Use the **Command text** memo field to enter the job step command code: *SQL* code (for **Transact-SQL** step), *Visual Basic Script / Java Script / other script* code (for **Active Script** step), or *OS command / executable program* (for **Operating-system command** step).

The **Advanced** tab provides flexible job step control of flow for success and failure.

🌃 Edit Step 'Verify that at	utomation is enabled.' of Job	'syspolicy_purge_history' on 'KA\SQLEXPRE
Job step name	Verify that automation is enable	ed. Start job with this step
General Advanced		
On success action		On failure action
Quit job with succe	SS	Quit job with success
Quit job with failure		Quit job with failure
Go to next step		O Go to next step
◎ Go to step	~	🔘 Go to step 💌
Retry attempts if step	fails	
Number of attempts	0	Interval, minutes
Info		
Last run date		Last run attempts
Last run status		Last run duration
		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

Specify the **On success action**, i.e. the action the job will take if the step succeeds:

- Quit job with success
- Quit job with failure
- 🧕 Go to next step
- Go to step ... (select the step from the drop-down list)

Specify the **On failure action**, i.e. the action the job will take if the step fails:

- Quit job with success
- Quit job with failure
- Go to next step
- Go to step ... (select the step from the drop-down list)

The **Retry attempts if step fails** group allows you to set optional parameters for the job step: the *Number of attempts* and the *Interval* between attempts (in minutes).

The **Info** group contains common information about the job step: Last run date Last run status Last run attempts Last run duration

5.4.3.3 Managing job schedules

The **Schedules** tab allows you to manage <u>schedules</u> 794 assigned to the job.

Scheduling administrative jobs consists in defining the condition(s) that cause the job to begin running. It is possible to schedule any type of job. More than one job can use the same job schedule.



The current job schedules are displayed as a grid with the following columns: *ID*, *Name*, *Run type*, *Enabled*, *Next Run Date*, *Description*.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new job schedule and specify its properties using the **Add New Job Schedule** dialog, *add an existing schedule, edit* or *delete* the selected schedule.

The **Add New Job Schedule / Edit Schedule** dialog allows you to define schedule parameters.

Add New Job Schedul	e to 'syspolicy	_purge_histor	y' on 'KA\SQL	EXPRE 💌					
Schedule name	purge_schee	lule	🔽 Enab	led					
Execution Type	Execution Type O Start when SQL Server Agent starts								
Start when CPU us	age is low								
Start once on			▼ 00:00:0						
Recurrent execution	'n								
Recurring Interval	Daily Frequenc	y Duration							
Occurs	Every		1 🚔 weel	k(s) on					
 Weekly 	Mor	n 🕅 Tue	Wed	Thur					
Monthly	🔲 Fri	🔽 Sat	🔽 Sun						
9	9		<u>C</u> ancel	Help					

Schedule name

Enter a name for the new schedule, or modify the name of the schedule being edited. Enable/disable the schedule using the \square **Enabled** option.

Specify the **Execution Type** of the schedule indicating when the job is to be executed:

- Start when SQL Server Agent starts
- Start when CPU usage is low
- Start once on...
- Recurrent execution

If the **Recurrent execution** type is selected, you should also set the **Recurring Interval** , **Daily Frequency** and **Duration** properties of the current job schedule.

For details see <u>Schedule Editor</u> 794.

5.4.3.4 Managing notifications

The **Notifications** tab allows you to specify actions that the SQL Server Agent service will take after the job completes (succeeds or fails). Job responses ensure that database administrators know when jobs complete and how frequently they run.

🧤 Job - [syspolicy_purge_history	[localhost\sqlexpress]	
localhost\sqlexpress	🍓 syspolicy_purge_history 💿 🗸 😵 🛛 🕨 🔳 🍓 😓 🖃	
Object *	Job Steps Schedules Notifications Targets DDL	
Vicalhost\sqlexpress	Use e-mail operator When job succeed	ds
syspolicy_purge_history	Operator_EMS	
General *	Use page operator When job succeed	ds
7	▼ When job fails	
Compile	Use net send operator When job succeed	ds
Start job	Operator_EMS	
Stop job	Write to Windows Application Log	ds
Bhow Job History	When job fails	
a Print	Delete job	ds
Restore default size	When job fails	

Use e-mail operator

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>operator</u> that will be notified via e-mail, and specify the job status for the notification to be performed:

When job succeeds and/or

When job fails

Use page operator

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>operator</u> that will be notified using *electronic paging*, and specify the job status for the notification to be performed: When job succeeds and/or

When job fails

Use net send operator

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>operator</u> that will be notified using a *net send* message, and specify the job status for the notification to be performed:

- When job succeeds and/or
- 🗹 When job fails

Write to Windows Application Log

If necessary, specify the job status for writing to Microsoft Windows Application Log: When job succeeds and/or

When job fails

Delete job

If you are certain that you do not need to rerun this job later, you can specify the job status deleting the job:

- When job succeeds and/or
- 🗹 When job fails

5.4.3.5 Managing target servers

The **Targets** tab allows you to target the job at the specified <u>target server</u> 180th.

🍓 Job - [avg_stats] - [dooM_SER	/ER\TSERV2005]	- • •
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	🔹 🎭 avg_stats 🔹 🔹 🐓 🗟 🕨 💻 🚑 😓 🗃	
Object *	Job Steps Schedules Notifications Targets DDL	
dooM_SERVER\TSERV20	Target server VVP\TEST	✓ Add To List
General A	: Target servers	
Gompile		
Refresh	Delete target server	
Start job	Refresh	
Stop job		
Bhow Job History		
le Print		
Restore default size	< III	•

Target server

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>target server</u> and press the **Add To List** button to add the selected server to the list of target servers available for the multiserver job operation.

Right-click an item within the **Target servers** area to call the **context menu** allowing you to – *delete* the selected target server or *refresh* the list.

5.4.4 Schedules

Shared schedules are multipurpose items that contain ready-to-use schedule information. You can create a shared schedule once, and then reference it in a subscription or property page when you need to specify schedule information.

Before using SQL Server schedules, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

Schedule Editor allows you to define schedule properties. It opens automatically when you create a new schedule and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a schedule in **Schedule Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and tree or in the <u>Shared schedules manager</u> and select the <u>Edit Schedule context</u> menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 377
- <u>Setting schedule properties</u> 378
- <u>Viewing scheduled jobs</u> 379
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919

To create, edit and drop schedules, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Shared schedules manager</u>

See also: Shared schedules manager

5.4.4.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Schedule Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Schedule Editor allows you to:

Object

- 🧟 select a server instance
- select a schedule for editing

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> [923] the schedule (if it is being created/modified)
- lateral refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the schedule:

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>बाभी to an external *.*sql* file 📝 open DDLबाभी in <u>Query Data</u>428

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Schedule Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.4.2 Setting schedule properties

Use the **Schedule** tab of **Schedule Editor** to configure/view schedule properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new schedule, or modify the name of the schedule being edited. Enable/disable the schedule using the \blacksquare **Enabled** option.

👜 Schedule - [CollectorSchedule	Every_10min] - [localhost\sqlexpress]
localhost\sqlexpress	🔹 🔤 CollectorSchedule_Every_10r 🔹 🐓 🛛 🌏 🖓
Object [*]	Schedule Scheduled Jobs DDL
CollectorSchedule_Ev	Name CollectorSchedule_Every_10m Execution Type
General *	Start when CPU usage is low
Refresh	Recurrent execution
Restore default size	Recurring Interval Daily Frequency Duration

Specify the **Execution Type** of the schedule indicating when the scheduled \underline{iob} is to be executed:

- Start when SQL Server Agent starts
- Start when CPU usage is low

Start once on... (set the date using the date editor which is activated when you click the Arrow-Down element of the combo-box; specify the time value using the spinner control)

Recurrent execution

If the **Recurrent execution** type is selected, you should also set the **Recurring Interval** , **Daily Frequency** and **Duration** properties of the current schedule.

The **Recurring Interval** tab allows you to specify the **daily/weekly/monthly** recurrence rule, define the **Every ... days/weeks** value, and select the **days of the week/month** that can be set for the schedule.

The **Daily Frequency** tab allows you to select whether the scheduled job will be run **once at** ... or **every** ... **hours/minutes from** ... **to** ... (specify the day/time values using the drop-down menu and spinner controls).

Recurring Ir	nterval Daily	Frequency	Duration		
Occurs	once at	00:00:00	×		
Occurs	every	10	Minute	•	
from	00:00:00	🚔 to	23:59:59	×.	

The **Duration** tab allows you to set the **Start date** and the **End date** threshold values for the interval using the **date editor** which is activated when you click the Arrow-Down element of the combo-box.

Recurring Interval	Daily Frequency	Duration
Start date	10.02.2012	▼ Unlimited

Unlimited

Check this option if you are uncertain when the scheduled job should be finished, or if no limitations on the job duration are required.

5.4.4.3 Viewing scheduled jobs

The **Scheduled Jobs** tab allows you to browse the list of jobs tab allows the schedule, and to attach/detach them to/from the schedule.



Specify the **Attached** attribute for the jobs that should be attached to the schedule. Set the corresponding flag next to the job name.

5.4.5 Alerts

An **alert** is as an automated response to one or more events. You can define an alert to specify how SQL Server Agent should respond to their occurrence. An alert can respond to an event by notifying an administrator or running a job^{782} , or both. An alert can also forward an event to the Microsoft Windows application log on a different computer. By defining alerts, database administrators can monitor and manage SQL Server more effectively.

Before using SQL Server operators, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

Alert Editor allows you to define alert properties. It opens automatically when you create a new alert and is available on editing an existing one.

To open an alert in **Alert Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63th] tree or in the <u>Alerts</u> <u>manager</u> [790]. Alternatively, you can right-click the alert alias and select the **Edit Alert** context menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 381
- <u>Setting alert properties</u> 382
- <u>Setting additional properties</u> 385
- <u>Managing notifications</u>
 ³⁸⁶
- Viewing DDL definition 919

To create, edit, rename and drop alerts, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Alerts manager</u>⁷⁹⁰.

See also:

Alerts manager 790

5.4.5.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Alert Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Alert Editor allows you to:

Object

- 🧟 select a server instance
- select an alert for editing

General

- **Gradient States and S**
- lateral refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the alert:

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>वाभी to an external **.sql* file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>वाभी in <u>Query Data</u>42की

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Alert Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> and the <u>Environment Options</u> and the <u>toolbar</u> of the <u>Windows</u> and the <u>toolbar</u> of the <u>Windows</u> and the <u>toolbar</u> (if you need the toolbar only) or **Both** (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (if you need the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.5.2 Setting alert properties

Use the Alert tab of Alert Editor to configure/view alert properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new alert, or modify the name of the alert being edited. Enable/ disable the alert using the \mathbb{Z} **Enabled** option.

An alert responds to an event of a specific type: server event, server performance condition or WMI event.

Event alert

Specify properties for the alert that responds to a *server event*.

New Alert - [localhost\sqlexpress]						
localhost\sqlexpress		-	🔽 🖓 🖻 🔈 🖻			
Object	*	Alert Additional Notifications	DDL			
localhost\sqlexpress	•	Name alert1	C Enabled			
General	*	Alert type Event alert 	Performance alert			
Gompile						
Restore default size		C Error	7953 📥 - Avg. Bytes Free per Page: %3.' 💌			
		 Severity 	01: Miscellaneous System Information			
		Database name	tempdb 💌			
		Error message like				

Use the following parameters to specify the events that will trigger the alert:

Error

Select this option to specify that SQL Server Agent will fire the alert when a specific error occurs. Use the spinner control to specify the *Error ID* and the drop-down list to select the *Error message*.

Severity

Select this option to specify that SQL Server Agent will fire the alert when any error of the specific severity occurs. Use the drop-down list to select the *Severity level*: 01-25. For example, you can specify a severity level of 15 to respond to syntax errors in Transact-SQL statements.

Database name

SQL Server Agent fires an alert only when the event occurs in a particular database. Select a database from the list of databases that reside on the specified SQL Server instance (see <u>Using Navigation bar [381]</u>).

Error messages like

SQL Server Agent fires an alert when the specified event contains a particular text string in the event message.

Performance alert

Specify properties for the alert that responds to a server performance condition.

💄 Alert - [alert1] - [192.1	68.66.5	57∖bi	2012]			[- • •
192.168.66.57\bi2012		-	💄 alert1		- 🐓 🗟 😓 🖻 🚽		-
Object	*	1	Alert Additional	Notifications	DDL		
🥃 192.168.66.57\bi201;	2 💌		<u>N</u> ame	alert1		Enabled	
💄 alert1	•		Alert type				
General	*	3	Event alert		Performance alert	WMI aler	t
Gompile		10000	Object		MSSQL\$Bl2012:Locks		•
Refresh		2	Counter		Average Wait Time Base		•
Restore default size			Instance Alert when counte	r becomes	> • 0		•

Use the following parameters to specify the server performance conditions that will trigger the alert:

Object

Use the drop-down list to select the area of performance to be monitored.

Counter

Use the drop-down list to select the attribute of the area to be monitored.

Instance

Use the drop-down list to define the specific instance (if any) of the attribute to be monitored.

Alert when counter becomes / Value

Using these boxes you should specify the threshold for the alert and the behavior that produces the alert. Use the drop-down list to select the behavior value: < (falls below), = (becomes equal to), > (rises above). Use the **Value** edit-box to specify the threshold number that describes the performance condition counter.

WMI alert

Specify properties for the alert that responds to a *WMI event*.

💄 Alert - [alert1] - [192.16	8.66.57	/\bi2012]		
192.168.66.57\bi2012		🔹 📕 alert1	• 🐓 🗟 😓 🛃	
Object	*	Alert Additional N	otifications DDL	
9192.168.66.57\bi2012	•	<u>N</u> ame a	lert1	Enabled
alert1	•	Alert type		
General	*	© Event alert	Performance alert	WMI alert
Gompile		WMI namespace	\\.\root\Microsoft\SqlServer\Server	Events\BI2012
Refresh		WMI query		
Print				<u>^</u>
Restore delault size				
				Ŧ
				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

WMI is an acronym for *Windows Management Instrumentation*. WMI is the Microsoft's implementation of Web-Based Enterprise Management (WBEM) - a new management technology that allows software to monitor and control managed resources throughout the network. Such managed resources include hard drives, file systems, settings of operating system, processes, services, shares, registry settings, networking components, event logs, users, groups, etc.

WMI allows monitoring of performance counters as well. Microsoft® SQL Server[™] has the WMI Event Provider built-in.

One common way to use the WMI Event Provider is to create SQL Server Agent <u>alerts</u> rate that respond to specific events. SQL Server Agent submits a WQL request, receives WMI events, and runs a <u>job</u> rate in response to the event.

WMI namespace

Specify the WMI namespace on the machine where SQL Server is running.

WMI Query

Use this area to specify the WMI query text for the alert.

The WMI Query Language (WQL) is a subset of standard American National Standards Institute Structured Query Language (ANSI SQL) with minor semantic changes to support WMI.

Examples:

SELECT * FROM Win32_OperatingSystem WHERE Caption="Microsoft Windows XP Professional" AND CSDVersion="Service Pack 2"

If one needs to monitor the number of processes which use more than 10 threads, the following query can used: SELECT ThreadCount FROM Win32_Process WHERE ThreadCount>10

The following WQL query retrieves specific event properties for any event that occurs in the AdventureWorks database and exists under the DDL_DATABASE_LEVEL_EVENTS event

group:

SELECT SPID, SQLInstance, DatabaseName FROM DDL_DATABASE_LEVEL_EVENTS WHERE DatabaseName = 'AdventureWorks'

5.4.5.3 Setting additional properties

The **Additional** tab provides additional settings used for the specified alert.

💄 Alert - [alert1] - [192.168.	66. 57 \b	2012]	
🔋 📮 192.168.66.57\bi2012	•	💄 alert1 🗾 🚽 😼 🛛 😓 🛛 🖂	
Object	*	Alert Additional Notifications DDL	
Ige 192.168.66.57\bi2012 alert1 •	•	Delay between responses, seconds 0 v Job to run in response to alert syspolicy_purge_history.	
General :	*	Include event description in Include event description in Image: Comparison of the service of the	
Refresh		Additional message	
Restore default size		Last occurrence	
		Occurrence count 0 Reset	

Delay between responses, seconds

Specify the wait period, in seconds, between responses to the alert.

Job to run in response to alert

Use the drop-down list to select the name of the \underline{job} real to be executed in response to this alert.

Include event description in

Specify in which way the description of the server error should be included as part of the notification message:

📝 E-mail, 🗹 Pager, 📝 Net send

Additional message

Use this box to specify an optional additional message sent to the <u>operator</u> as part of the e-mail, net send, or pager notification.

The lower area displays the following alert events: Last occurrence Last response Occurrence count If necessary, you can **reset** the occurrence history by clicking the corresponding button.

5.4.5.4 Managing notifications

The **Notifications** tab allows you to specify actions that the SQL Server Agent service will take after the alert fires. Alert notifications ensure that database administrators know when events/errors occur and which measures are taken in response.

💄 Alert - [error] - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]								
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	🚽 💄 error	- 😼 🗟 😓 🗖	2					
Object *	Alert Additional Notification	s DDL						
	Operator Name	E-mail	Pager	Net Send				
GOOM_SERVER(ISEF -	MSXOperator							
💄 error 🔽	Operator1_dsd		v					
General \$. Operator2_nb							
Contra	Operator3_nm							
😴 Compile	Operator4_aschel							
Refresh	Operator5_ayz							
🖕 Print								
🛃 Restore default size								
_								

The main area lists all currently available <u>operators</u> [791]. Specify the method by which an operator is to be notified: *E-mail, Pager, Net Send*. Set the corresponding flag next to the operator name.

5.4.6 Operators

An **operator** is the object that represents a single SQL Server operator. SQL Server operators receive <u>alert</u> [788] and <u>job</u> [782] status notification in response to events generated by the server. You can assign <u>alert notifications</u> [386] and <u>job notifications</u> [374] for any operator defined for the instance of SQL Server.

Before using SQL Server operators, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

Operator Editor allows you to define operator properties. It opens automatically when you create a new operator and is available on editing an existing one.

To open an operator in **Operator Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree or in the <u>Operators manager</u> [793]. Alternatively, you can right-click the operator alias and select the **Edit Operator** context menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 387
- <u>Setting operator properties</u>
- Setting additional properties 389
- Managing alert notifications 389
- Managing job notifications 390
- <u>Viewing DDL definition 919</u>

To create, edit, rename and drop operators, you can also use the **context menu** and

the Navigation bar of Operators manager 793.

See also:

Operators manager 793

5.4.6.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Operator Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Operator Editor allows you to:

Object

- 🧟 select a server instance
- Select an operator for editing

General

- $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>compile</u> 23 the operator (if it is being created/modified)
- late refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the operator:

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>बाभी to an external **.sql* file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>बाभी in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Operator Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.6.2 Setting operator properties

Use the **Operator** tab of **Operator Editor** to configure/view operator (notification recipient) properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new operator, or modify the name of the operator being edited. Enable/disable the operator using the \blacksquare **Enabled** option.

😤 Operator - [MSXOperator] - [doo	M_SERVER\TSERV20	05]	- • •
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2	005 -	S MSXOperator	• 🐓 🗟 😓 🖻	
Object	*	Operator Addition	al Alert Notifications Job Notifications	DDL
dooM_SERVER\TSERV	-	Name	MSXOperator	Enabled
S MSXOperator	•	E-mail address	support@sqlmanager.net	
General	*	Pager address	452365	
Gompile		Net send address	192.168.66.52	
Refresh				
Destars defect size		Last e-mail notifica	tion	
Restore default size		Last pager notifica	tion	
		Last net send notif	ication	

E-mail address

Specify the e-mail address of the operator.

Pager address

Specify the pager address of the operator.

Net send address

Specify the network address of the operator to whom the network message will be sent.

The lower area displays the latest operator notifications: Last e-mail notification Last pager notification Last net send notification

5.4.6.3 Setting additional properties

The **Additional** tab provides additional settings used for the specified operator.

😤 Operator - [MSXOperator] - [dool	1_SERVER\TSERV2005]	
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	💲 MSXOperator 🚽 😼 🛃 😓 🖃	
Object ^{\$}	Operator Additional Alert Notifications Job Notifications DDL	
dooM_SERVER\TSERV: SMSXOperator	Ability to send pager messages	Friday
General *	From 00:00:00 to 23:59:59	
🦸 Compile	Saturday	
🗟 Refresh	From 00:00:00 to 23:59:59	
Restore default size	✓ Sunday From 00:00:00 ▼ to 23:59:59	

Ability to send pager messages

Specify when SQL Server Agent service can send pager notification to the operator: Monday, Mathematical Wednesday, Mathematical Priday, Mathematical Service Can Service Contents of the operators of the operato

From ... To ...

Set the day time interval values using the spinner controls.

5.4.6.4 Managing alert notifications

The **Alert Notifications** tab allows you to specify methods that the SQL Server Agent service uses to notify the operator when each of existing <u>alerts</u> 1788 fires.

😤 Operator - [MSXOpe	erator] - [dool	M_SERVER\TSERV200	5]		
dooM_SERVER\TS	ERV2005 -	8 MSXOperator	- 😼	🗟 😓 🖻	-
Object	\$	Operator Additional	Alert Notifications	Job Notification	s DD <u>L</u>
		Alert Name	E-mail	Pager	Net Send
g doom_SERVER(1)	SERV.	error		V	V
S MSXOperator	•	information			V
General	*	notification			
		performance		V	V
Gompile	3				
Refresh					
😓 Print					
Restore default size	e				

The main area lists all currently available <u>alerts</u> $\overline{rs8}$. Specify the method by which the operator is to be notified: *E-mail*, *Pager*, *Net Send*. Set the corresponding flag next to the alert name.

5.4.6.5 Managing job notifications

The **Job Notifications** tab allows you to specify methods that the SQL Server Agent service uses to notify the operator when each of existing jobs [782] is tried (succeeded or failed).

S Operator - [operator_sa] - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]								×			
🕴 🔄 dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005 🔹 💲 operator_sa 💿 😴 🚱 😓 🕞											
Object	*		Operator	Additional A	le <u>r</u> t Notifica	tions <u>J</u> o	b Notification	DDL			
			E-ma		nail	Pager		Net Send			
g doom_SERVER	₹ ▼		Job Name		Success	Failure	Success	Failure	Success	Failure	
S operator_sa	•		Adventure	Works_check	V	V			V	V	
Conoral	•	3	Adventure	Works_mainter	i 🔽	V			V	V	
General	<u></u>	- 3	DemoDB_s	shrink	1	1			1	1	
🞸 Compile			Stats_upd		V	1			V	1	
Refresh		2									
📚 Print											
Restore default	size										
		l	L								

The main area lists all currently available \underline{jobs} [782]. Specify the method by which the operator is to be notified: *E-mail*, *Pager*, *Net Send*. Set the corresponding flag next to the alert name.

5.4.7 Proxies

A Microsoft® SQL Server Agent **proxy** defines the security context for a job 782 step. A proxy provides SQL Server Agent with access to the security <u>credentials</u> 395 for a Microsoft Windows user. Each proxy can be associated with one or more subsystems. A job step 370 that uses the proxy can access the specified subsystems by using the security context of the Windows user. Before SQL Server Agent runs a job step 370 that uses a proxy, SQL Server Agent impersonates the <u>credentials</u> 395 defined in the proxy, and then runs the job step by using that security context.

SQL Server **proxies** can be used to help database administrators ensure that each job step runs with the minimum permissions required to perform its task.

Before using SQL Server proxies, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

Proxy Editor allows you to define proxy properties. It opens automatically when you create a new proxy and is available on editing an existing one.

A SQL Server Agent proxy manages security for job steps 370 that involve subsystems other than the Transact-SQL subsystem. Each proxy corresponds to a security credential 395. A proxy may have access to any number of subsystems.

To open a proxy in **Proxy Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree or in the <u>Proxies manager</u> and <u>Stree</u>. Alternatively, you can right-click the proxy alias and select the **Edit Proxy** context menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 391
- <u>Setting proxy properties</u> [392]
- Viewing proxy jobs 395
- Viewing DDL definition 919

To create, edit and drop proxies, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Proxies manager</u> [800].

See also: <u>Proxies manager</u>®୦୦୩

5.4.7.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Proxy Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Proxy Editor allows you to:

Object

- 🧟 select a server instance
- Select a proxy for editing

General

- $\frac{4}{9}$ <u>compile</u> [923] the proxy (if it is being created/modified)
- is a content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the proxy:

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ब्राभे to an external **.sql* file 🗹 open DDLब्राभे in Query Data42के

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Proxy Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.7.2 Setting proxy properties

Use the **Proxy** tab of **Proxy Editor** to configure/view proxy properties. SQL Server Agent uses **proxies** to manage security contexts.

Name

Enter a name for the new proxy, or modify the name of the proxy being edited. Enable/

Proxy - [Proxy_CatalogApp] - [6	looM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	🔹 🚷 Proxy_CatalogApp 💿 🔹 🚱 😓	2					
Object *	Proxy Proxy Jobs DDL						
dooM_SERVER\TSERV	Name Proxy_CatalogApp	Enabled					
Proxy_CatalogApp	Credential credential_CatalogApp	•					
General *	Description A proxy for the creder	ntial CatalogApp 🔹					
Gompile							
Refresh		*					
😓 Print	Active to the following subsystems:						
Restore default size	ActiveX script	Replication Queue Reader					
	Operating system	Replication Transaction-Log Reader					
	Replication Distributor	Analysis Services Command					
	Replication Merge	Analysis Services Query					
	Replication Snapshot	Integration Services Package					
	Proxy principals	Proxy principals					
	SQL Logins Server Roles MSDB Roles						
	SQL login (with defined credential and	Add To List					
	non-System Administrators)						
	Granted SQL Logins						

disable the proxy using the \blacksquare **Enabled** option.

Credential

Each proxy corresponds to a security <u>credential</u> [395]. Use the drop-down list to select a credential for the proxy.

Description

In this memo field you can supply an optional description for the proxy.

Each proxy can be associated with a set of subsystems and a set of logins 681.

Active to the following subsystems

Tick off the subsystem(s) to grant access to:

- ActiveX script
- Operating system
- Replication Distributor
- 🗹 Replication Merge
- Replication Snapshot
- Replication Queue Reader

- Replication Transaction-Log Reader
- Malysis Services Command
- Analysis Services Query
- Integration Services Package

The **Proxy principals** group allows you to grant security principal access to the proxy.

Use the **SQL Logins** tab to grant access to SQL logins [681] (with defined <u>credentials</u> [395]). To specify a login, select it in the drop-down list and click the **Add to List** button.

Use the Server Roles tab to grant access to fixed server roles 693.

To specify a server role, select it in the drop-down list and click the **Add to List** button.

roxy principals	
SQL Logins Server Roles	MSDB Roles
Server role	securityadmin Add To List
Granted Server Roles	
securityadmin	
	- Delete Server Role
	Refresh
L	

Use the **MSDB Roles** tab to grant access to the <u>database roles</u> with the *msdb* database. To specify a database role, select it in the drop-down list and click the **Add to List** button.

roxy principals	Pales
SQL Logins Server Roles MSDL	Roles
MSDB database role	SQLAgentReaderRole Add To List
Granted MSDB Database Roles	
SQLAgentUserRole	
SQLAgentReaderRole	
·	Delete MSDB Role
	Refresh

Right-click an item within the **Granted SQL Logins** / **Server Roles** / **MSDB Database Roles** list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *delete* a the selected principal and to refresh the list.

5.4.7.3 Viewing proxy jobs

The **Proxy Jobs** tab allows you to browse the list of job steps and that use the proxy.

Note: The proxy can be used only for <u>job steps</u> [370] that use a subsystem associated with the proxy. To create a job step that uses a specific proxy, the job owner must either belong to a <u>login</u> [681] associated with that proxy or be a member of a <u>role</u> [693] with unrestricted access to proxies.

🚷 Proxy - [proxy] - [dooM_SEF	RVER	TSERV2005]			- • •
dooM_SERVER\TSERV200	5 🔹	🏀 proxy	-	🐓 🖻 🖕 🖻 🦳	Ŧ
Object *		Proxy Proxy Jobs	DDL		
		Job Name	Job Step	Subsystem	
	-	ayz backup	2	DISTRIBUTION	
28 proxy	1				
General A					
Gompile	- 8				
Refresh	- 2				
💩 Print					
Restore default size					
		<u> </u>			

A proxy can be used in more than one job step 370.

The list displays the job steps as a grid with the following columns: *Job Name*, *Job Step*, *Subsystem*.

5.4.8 Credentials

A **Credential** is a record containing the authentication information required to connect to a resource outside of SQL Server. Most credentials consist of a Windows login and password.

Credentials allow <u>users</u> and that connect to SQL Server using SQL Authentication to connect to Windows or other resources outside of SQL Server.

After creating a credential, you can map it to a <u>login</u> छिगे. A single credential can be mapped to multiple SQL Server <u>logins</u> छिगे. But a SQL Server <u>login</u> छिगे can be mapped to only one credential.

Credential Editor allows you to define credential properties. It opens automatically when you create a new credential and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a credential in **Credential Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree. Alternatively, you can right-click the credential alias and select the **Edit Credential** context menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 396
- <u>Setting credential properties</u> 397
- Viewing DDL definition 919

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also: Logins 354

5.4.8.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Credential Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Credential Editor allows you to:

Object

🧟 select a server instance
🇞 select a credential for editing

General

- 🐓 <u>compile</u> [923] the credential (if it is being created/modified)
- refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the credential:

DDL

😾 save <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ to an external **.sql* file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>ଜୀ୩ in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶ

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Credential Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (a), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (a) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (a) section there and select (a) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (a) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (a) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.8.2 Setting credential properties

Use the **Credential** tab of **Credential Editor** to configure/view credential properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new credential, or view the name of the credential being edited.

🇞 Credential - [credential_dsd] - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]					
dooM_SERVER\TSER	V2005 -	🎥 credential_dsd	- 🐓 🖻 😓 🖻 💦 📮		
Object	*	Credential DDL			
dooM_SERVER\TSE	RV 💌	Name	credential_dsd		
🎥 credential_dsd	-	Identity with	EMSDOMAIN\dsd		
General	*	S <u>e</u> cret			
Gompile		Confirm secret	******		
Refresh	3	Creation date	03.07.2012 14:43:15		
 Print Restore default size 		Modification date	03.07.2012 14:43:15		

Identity with

Use the drop-down list to select the name of the <u>account</u> [580] to be used when connecting

outside the server.

Secret

Specify the secret required for outgoing authentication, and **confirm the secret** in the corresponding box.

The lower area displays the following credential events: Creation date Modification date

5.4.9 Linked Servers

A **Linked server** is a virtual server that can be defined to SQL Server 2005 (and higher) with all the information required to access an OLE DB data source. A **Linked server** configuration enables SQL Server to execute commands against OLE DB data sources on remote servers. **Linked servers** provide a number of features: remote server access; the ability to issue distributed queries, updates, commands and transactions on heterogeneous data sources; the ability to address diverse data sources universally.

Linked Server Editor allows you to define linked server properties. It opens automatically when you create a new linked server and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a linked server in **Linked Server Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree or in the <u>Linked servers manager</u> all. Alternatively, you can right-click the linked server alias and select the **Edit Linked Server** context menu item.

- <u>Configuring Linked server</u> [398]
- <u>Security settings</u> 399
- Setting server options 401
- Linked Server content 402
- Viewing DDL definition 919

To create, edit and drop linked servers, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of Linked servers manager [808].

See also: Linked servers manager

5.4.9.1 Configuring Linked server

Use the **Linked Server** tab of **Linked Server Editor** to configure/view linked server properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new linked server, or view the name of the linked server being edited.

P New Linked Server - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	•	-	🦸 I 🗟 I 🗟 📃 📲				
Object *		Linked Server Security Server	Dptions DDL				
dooM_SERVER\TSERV -]	<u>N</u> ame	linked_server_new				
General *		SQL Server					
Gompile	3	Provider	Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider				
Restore default size	1	Product name	MSAccess				
		Data source	C:\Employee.mdb				
		Provider string	Provider=Microsoft.Jet.OLEDB.4.0;Data Source=D:\SQL Manager\Employee.n				
		Location					
		Catalog					

SQL Server

Select this option to identify the linked server as an instance of Microsoft® SQL Server[™]. If you use this method of defining a SQL Server linked server, the name of the linked server must be the network name of the server. Also, any tables retrieved from the server are from the default database defined for the login on the linked server.

Provider

Use the drop-down list to select the name of the OLE DB Provider to be used for access to the specified linked server.

Product name

Specify the product name of the OLE DB data source you want to add as a linked server.

Data source

Specify the OLE DB data source property corresponding to the linked server.

Provider string

Specify the OLE DB provider string corresponding to the linked server.

Location

Specify the OLE DB location property corresponding to the linked server.

Catalog

Specify the OLE DB catalog property corresponding to the linked server.

5.4.9.2 Security settings

The **Security** tab provides security settings used for the specified linked server connection.

Local Login

Specify the local login IDs that can connect to the linked server.

Impersonate

Set this flag to specify that the local login ID will be used to connect to the linked server.

Select this option if you are certain that the local login ID exactly matches a login ID with sufficient permissions on the linked server.

Remote user

Use the remote user to map the users that are not defined in **Local login**.

Remote password

Specify the password used to map the users that are not defined in **Local login**.

Linked Server - [linked_server_access] - [DOOM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
🛿 💭 DOOM_SERVER\TSERV200! 🗸 🍘 linked_server_access 💿 🖓 😥 😓 🕞						
Object *	Linked Server Security Server Options Content DDL					
	Local server login to remote server login mappings					
inked_server_access	Local Login Impersonate Remote User Remote Password					
General *	Add login mapping					
😴 Compile	Remove login mapping					
Refresh						
😓 Print						
🛃 Restore default size						
	Security context for logins without mapping					
	Connecting is not allowed					
	On't use security context					
	Use security context of local login					
	O use this security context.					
	Remote login					
	Remote password					

Connecting is not allowed

Select this option to specify that the connection will not be established for logins that are not defined in the mapping list.

Don't use security context

Select this option to specify that for logins that are not defined in the list, the connection will be established without using a security context.

Use security context of local login

Select this option to specify that for logins that are not defined in the list, the connection will be established using the security context of the local login.

• Use this security context

Select this option to specify that for logins that are not defined in the list, the connection will be established using the login and password specified in the **Remote Login** and **Remote password** boxes below.

5.4.9.3 Setting server options

The **Security** tab allows you to set server options that will be used for the specified linked server connection.

[P] Linked Server - [linked_server_new] - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	-	🌮 linked_server_new 💽 😽 😥 😓 🕻	2			
Object * Image: Complementary of the server_new Image: Complementary of the server of the		Linked Server Security Server Options Content Option Name Collation Compatible Data Access RPC RPC RPC Out Use Remote Collation Collation Name	Value			
 Print Restore default size 		Connection Timeout Query Timeout	0			

Collation Compatible

If this option is enabled, SQL Server assumes that all characters in the linked server are compatible with the local server, with regard to character set and collation sequence (or sort order). This enables SQL Server to send comparisons on character columns to the provider.

This option should be set only if it is certain that the data source corresponding to the linked server has the same character set and sort order as the local server.

Data Access

This option enables/disables a linked server for distributed query access.

RPC

This option enables/disables RPC from the given server.

RPC Out

This option enables/disables RPC to the given server.

Use Remote Collation

This option determines whether the collation of a remote column or of a local server will be used.

If checked, the collation of remote columns is used for SQL Server data sources, and the collation specified in collation name is used for non-SQL Server data sources.

If unchecked, distributed queries will always use the default collation of the local server, while collation name and the collation of remote columns are ignored.

Collation Name

This drop-down list allows you to specify the name of the collation used by the remote data source if use remote collation is true and the data source is not a SQL Server data

source.

Connection Timeout

Use this edit-box to set the time-out value for connecting to the linked server.

Query Timeout

Use this edit-box to set the time-out value for queries against the linked server.

5.4.9.4 Linked Server content

The **Content** tab allows you to browse the contents of the linked server.

Linked Server -	[SQL Server] - [dod	M_SERVER\TSE	RV2005]			- • •
dooM_SERVER	R\TSERV2005	-	👘 SQL Server		- 🐓	2 😂 🗖	
Object	\$		Linked Server	Security	Server Options	Content DDL	
dooM_SERVE			Linked Serve	er Conter	nts	Show Co	ontents
P SQL Server	•					40	
General	*						
Gompile		100000					
la Print							
Restore defau	t size						

To display the actual linked server contents, press the **Show Contents** button.

5.4.10 Endpoints

Communication of SQL Server Database Engine with an application is formatted in a Microsoft communication format called a tabular data stream (TDS) packet. The TDS packet is encapsulated inside a standard communication protocol (such as TCP/IP or Named Pipes) by the Net-Libraries on both the server and the client computers. On the server side the Net-Libraries are part of the Database Engine, whereas on the client side the Net-Libraries are part of the SQL Native Client. To configure Net-Libraries, the server and the SQL Native Client are configured to use a network protocol. The server creates a SQL Server object called a TDS **Endpoint** for each network protocol.

Endpoint Editor allows you to define endpoint properties. It opens automatically when you create a new endpoint and is available on editing an existing one.

To open an endpoint in **Endpoint Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> of tree. Alternatively, you can right-click the endpoint alias and select the **Edit Endpoint** context menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 403
- <u>Setting endpoint properties</u> 404
- <u>Setting protocol options</u>
- <u>Setting payload options</u> 407
- Viewing DDL definition 919

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

5.4.10.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Endpoint Editor**.



The Navigation bar of Endpoint Editor allows you to:

Object

- Select a server instance
- here an endpoint for editing

General

- 🖸 compile 📴 the endpoint (if it is being created/modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the endpoint:

DDL

🚽 save <u>DDL</u>ब्राभी to an external *.*sql* file 📝 open <u>DDL</u>ब्राभी in <u>Query Data</u>426

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Endpoint Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.10.2 Setting endpoint properties

Use the **Endpoint** tab of **Endpoint Editor** to configure/view endpoint properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new endpoint, or view the name of the endpoint being edited.

New Endpoint - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]						
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2	005 👻		- 🐓 🖻 🔈 🖃			
Object	*	Endpoint Protocol Payle	pad DDL			
dooM_SERVER\TSERV	-	Name endpo	sint1			
General	*	Endpoint state Stopped	Started	Disabled		
Gompile		Protocol type				
Restore default size		 Http 	🔘 Тср	Named pipes		
	1	Shared memory	🔘 Via			
		Payload type				
		Soap	🔘 S	ervice broker		
		─ TSQL	0	atabase mirroring		

Endpoint state

Specify the state of the endpoint when it is created:

Stopped

This option indicates that the endpoint is stopped. In this state, the server listens to port requests but returns errors to clients.

Started

This option indicates that the endpoint is started and is actively listening for connections. Disabled

This option indicates that the endpoint is disabled. In this state, the server does not listen to the endpoint port or respond to any attempted requests to use the endpoint.

Protocol type

```
Specify the transport protocol to use:
```

- 🖲 HTTP
- TCP
- Named Pipes
- Shared memory
- 💿 Via

New Endpoint - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
dooM_SERVER\TSE	RV2005 -		- 🐓 🖻 🔈 🖃 -				
Object	*	Endpoint Protocol Paylo	ad DDL				
dooM_SERVER\TS	SERV -	Name endpoi	nt1				
General	*	Endpoint state Stopped	Started	O Disabled			
Gompile		Protocol type					
Restore default size		⊘ Http	Tcp	Named pipes			
		Shared memory	🔘 Via				
		Payload type					
		Soap	0 5	Service broker			
		TSQL	0	Database mirroring			

Payload type

Specify the payload type:

- Soap (available for HTTP protocol only)
- TSQL (available for TCP protocol only)
- Service broker (available for TCP protocol only)
- Database mirroring (available for TCP protocol only)

5.4.10.3 Setting protocol options

The **Protocol** tab allows you to specify HTTP/TCP protocol options pertaining to the endpoint.

HTTP options

Path

Specify the URL path that identifies the location of the endpoint on the host computer. This string is a logical partitioning of the URL namespace that is used by the listener to route requests appropriately.

New Endpoint - [dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]							
dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005	🔅 😡 dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005 🔽						
Object *	Endpoint Protocol Payload DDL Http options						
General â	Path http://server_name/sql Authentication Ports						
🐓 Compile 🛃 Restore default size	Basic Ntlm Clear 80 Digest Kerberos Ssl 443						
	Auth_realm Site Default domain Compression						

Authentication

Specify the authentication type(s) to be used to authenticate users that log on to the instance of SQL Server:

V Basic

It is one of the two required authentication mechanisms in the HTTP 1.1 specification. Basic authentication is made up of an Authentication header that contains the base64encoded user name and password separated by a colon.

☑ Digest

It is the second authentication mechanism required by HTTP 1.1. This authentication is made up of the user name and password. This is then hashed with MD5, a one-way hashing algorithm, and sent to the server. The server has access to either the raw password, or a stored MD5 hash that was created when the password was set. The server can then compare the stored calculated value to the one provided by the client. This way, the client can prove that it knows the password without actually giving it to the server.

Integrated

Endpoints configured to support integrated authentication can respond with either of the following authentication types as part of the authentication challenge: *Kerberos* or *NTLM*. Under this configuration, the server will try to authenticate the client with whichever type the client uses in requesting authentication.

📝 NTLM

It is the authentication mechanism supported by Windows 9x and Windows NT 4.0 (client and server). This authentication mechanism is a challenge-response protocol that offers stronger authentication than either basic or digest. NTLM is implemented in Windows 2000 and later versions by a Security Support Provider Interface (SSPI).

🗹 Kerberos

This authentication is an Internet standard authentication mechanism. Kerberos authentication is supported in Windows 2000 and later versions by an SSPI. When Kerberos authentication is used, the instance of SQL Server must associate a Service Principal Name (SPN) with the account it will be running on.

Ports

Use this group to specify the listening port type(s) to be associated with the endpoint: 🗹 Clear

🔽 SSL

Auth realm

Specify the hint that returns to the client, which sent the SOAP request to the endpoint, as part of HTTP authentication challenge (applied when **Authentication** is set to *Digest*).

Default domain

Specify the default login domain (applied when **Authentication** is set to *Basic*).

Site

Specify the name of the host computer, or one of the specific signs: * (asterisk)

Implies that a listening operation applies to all possible host names for the computer that are not otherwise explicitly reserved.

+ (plus sign)

Implies that a listening operation applies to all possible host names for the computer.

Compression

If this option is selected, SQL Server will honor requests where gzip encoding is accepted, and return compressed responses. That is, if a request comes in with an HTTP header specifying GZIP as a valid "accept-encoding", the server returns the response gzipencoded.

TCP options

When TCP/IP is enabled for SQL Server, the Database Engine will listen for incoming connections on a connection point consisting of an IP address and TCP port number.

E	Endpoint Proto	Col Payload DDL		
	C Tcp options	4022	Listener IP	255.1.1.1

Listener port

Specify the port number that will be listened to for connections by the service broker TCP/IP protocol. The default port number is 4022.

Listener IP

Specifies the IP address that the endpoint will listen on.

5.4.10.4 Setting payload options

The **Payload** tab allows you to define the payload that is supported on the endpoint.

408 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

ndpoint Protocol P	ayload DDL			
Soap options				
Webmethod Na	mespace Procedure Na	me	Schema	Format
DayAsNumber	[master].[sys].	[fn_MSdayasnumber]	DEFAULT	ALL_RESULTS
GetSqlInfo	[master].[dbo].	[xp_msver]	STANDARD	ALL_RESULTS
+	Add Webmethod Drop Webmethod			
O WINDOWS	© MIXED	WSDL	t	
Batches				
Database				
Namespace	DEFAULT	Schema		
Header limit		 None Standar 	d	
Session		Character	set	
Session timeout	60	XML		
		SQL		

Soap options

This group is available if O *HTTP* is selected as the **Protocol type** and O *Soap* is specified as the **Payload type** at the Endpoint 404 tab of the editor.

The upper area of the group displays the webmethods (the methods for which HTTP SOAP requests can be sent to the endpoint) as a grid with the following columns: *Webmethod*, *Namespace*, *Procedure name*, *Schema*, *Format*.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to # add a new webmethod or = drop the selected one.

Login type

Specify the SQL Server authentication mode for the endpoint: *WINDOWS*This option allows only Windows authentication to be used to authenticate endpoint users. *MIXED*

This option allows either SQL Server authentication or Windows authentication to be used to authenticate endpoint users.

Batches

This option specifies whether special SQL requests are supported on the endpoint. If checked, SOAP requests for queries that use the *sqlbatch* method can be sent to this

endpoint.

Database

Use the drop-down list to select the database in the context of which the requested operation will be executed.

Namespace

Specify the namespace for the endpoint.

Header limit

This value specifies the maximum size, of the header section in the SOAP envelope (in bytes).

Session

This option specifies whether the instance of SQL Server allows sessions support. If checked, SQL Server allows sessions support, whereby multiple SOAP request/response message pairs can be identified as part of a single SOAP session.

Session timeout

Specify time that is available before a SOAP session expires at the server when no further requests are received (in seconds).

WSDL

This group indicates whether WSDL document generation is supported for this endpoint: *None*, *Default* (a default WSDL response is generated and returned for WSDL queries submitted to the endpoint), or specify <u>stored procedure</u> by name that will return a modified WSDL document.

Schema

This group specifies whether an XSD schema is returned by the endpoint when SOAP results are sent.

NONE

This option omits inline schema from SOAP responses.

STANDARD

This option includes inline schema in endpoint responses.

Character set

This group defines the character set behavior: O XML (by default), or O SQL (the characters that are not valid as character references are encoded, and then returned in the result).

410 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Service broker options Authentication options Windows Certificate Windows, Certificate Certificate, Windows	Windows auth type Certificate name	NEGOTIATE 💌
Encryption Required Supported Disabled	Algorithm Message forwarding Message buffer size, Mb	RC4 💌

Service Broker options

This group is available if \bigcirc *TCP* is selected as the **Protocol type** and \bigcirc *Service broker* is specified as the **Payload type** at the Endpoint 404 tab of the editor.

Authentication options

Windows

Specifies that the endpoint is to connect using Windows Authentication protocol to authenticate the endpoints. In this case you should also select an authorization method (*NTLM* or *KERBEROS*) to be used as the authentication protocol, or *NEGOTIATE* that causes the endpoint to use the Windows negotiation protocol to choose either NTLM or Kerberos.

Certificate

Specifies that the endpoint is to authenticate the connection using a <u>certificate</u> (you should select one from the drop-down list) to establish identity for authorization. *Windows, Certificate*

Specifies that the endpoint is to try to connect by using Windows Authentication and, if that attempt fails, to then try using the specified <u>certificate</u> [329].

Certificate, Windows

Specifies that the endpoint is to try to connect by using the specified <u>certificate</u> and, if that attempt fails, to then try using Windows Authentication.

Windows auth type

Use the drop-down list to select an authorization method (*NTLM* or *KERBEROS*) to be used as the authentication protocol, or *NEGOTIATE* that causes the endpoint to use the Windows negotiation protocol to choose either NTLM or Kerberos.

Certificate name

Use the drop-down list to select a <u>certificate</u> (329) to be used to authenticate the connection.

Encryption

This group specifies whether encryption is used in the process.

Required

Specifies that connections to this endpoint must use encryption. Therefore, to connect to this endpoint, another endpoint must have ENCRYPTION set to either SUPPORTED or REQUIRED.

Supported

Specifies that the data is encrypted only if the opposite endpoint specifies either SUPPORTED or REQUIRED.

💿 Disabled

Specifies that data sent over a connection is not encrypted.

Algorithm

Specify the form of encryption used by the endpoint:

RC4 (specifies that the endpoint must use the RC4 algorithm)

AES (specifies that the endpoint must use the AES algorithm)

AES RC4 (specifies that the two endpoints will negotiate for an encryption algorithm with this endpoint giving preference to the AES algorithm)

RC4 AES (specifies that the two endpoints will negotiate for an encryption algorithm with this endpoint giving preference to the RC4 algorithm)

Message forwarding

This option determines whether messages received by this endpoint that are for services located elsewhere will be forwarded.

Message buffer size, Mb

Use the spinner control to specify the maximum amount of storage (in megabytes) to allocate for the endpoint to use when storing messages that are to be forwarded (if **Message forwarding** is selected).

Endpoint Protocol Payload	DDL	
Database mirroring options Windows Certificate Role Witness	NEGOTIATE 💌	Encryption Required Supported Disabled
 Partner All 		Algorithm RC4

Database mirroring options

This group is available if O *TCP* is selected as the **Protocol type** and O *Database mirroring* is specified as the **Payload type** at the <u>Endpoint</u> [404] tab of the editor.

Specify the TCP/IP authentication requirements for connections for this endpoint: Windows

Specifies that the endpoint is to connect using Windows Authentication protocol to

authenticate the endpoints. In this case you should also select an authorization method (*NTLM* or *KERBEROS*) to be used as the authentication protocol, or *NEGOTIATE* that causes the endpoint to use the Windows negotiation protocol to choose either NTLM or Kerberos.

Certificate

Specifies that the endpoint is to authenticate the connection using a <u>certificate</u> (you should select one from the drop-down list) to establish identity for authorization.

Encryption

This group specifies whether encryption is used in the process.

These options are common for *Service broker* and *Database mirroring* payload types. For details see **Service Broker options**.

Algorithm

Specifies the form of encryption used by the endpoint.

This option is common for *Service broker* and *Database mirroring* payload types. For details see **Service Broker options**.

Role

Enables the endpoint to perform in the role of a witness in the mirroring process. **•** Partner

Enables the endpoint to perform in the role of both a witness and a partner in the mirroring process.

5.4.11 DDL Triggers

A **Trigger** automatically executes when an event occurs in the database server.

DDL Triggers are a special kind of trigger that fire in response to Data Definition Language (DDL) statements. They can be used to perform administrative tasks in the database server.

DDL Trigger Editor allows you to define DDL trigger properties (the scope of the DDL triggers is applied to the current server, i.e. the trigger fires whenever *event_type* or *event_group* happens anywhere in the current server). It opens automatically when you create a new DDL trigger and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a DDL trigger in **DDL Trigger Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree. Alternatively, you can right-click the DDL trigger alias and select the **Edit DDL Trigger** context menu item.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 413
- <u>Setting DDL trigger properties</u>
- <u>Viewing DDL definition</u> 919

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

5.4.11.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **DDL Trigger Editor**.



The Navigation bar of DDL Trigger Editor allows you to:

Object

select a server instance
select a DDL trigger for editing

General

- 🖸 compile 📴 the DDL trigger (if it is being created/modified)
- a refresh the content of the active tab
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the DDL trigger:

DDL

岃 save <u>DDL</u>बाभी to an external **.sql* file 🗹 open <u>DDL</u>बाभी in <u>Query Data</u>42ଶି Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **DDL Trigger Editor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **()** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **()** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

5.4.11.2 Setting DDL trigger properties

Use the **DDL Trigger** tab of **DDL Trigger Editor** to configure/view server-scoped DDL trigger properties.

Name

Enter a name for the new DDL trigger, or modify the name of the DDL trigger being edited.

🗐 New DDL Trigger - [192.168.66.57\bi2012]							
192.168.66.57\bi2012		₽					
Object A Image: 192.168.66.57 Image: 192.168 General A Compile A Restore default size A	DDL Irigger DDL Name ddl_trig_database Code Source SQL statements Assembly method Options V Enabled Encrypted V ANSI Nulls V Quoted identifier Execute as Caller Login SQL statements or assembly method BEGIN 2 /* Trigger body */ BND	Events DDL server level events Greate database drop database drop database drop database drop database drop database drop database DDL linked server drop linked server DDL linked server DDL linked server DDL linked server					
1: 1	Insert Highlighting Ur	nicode (UCS-2) .;;					

Enabled

Enables/disables the trigger immediately after it is created. A disabled trigger still exists as an object in the server, but does not fire.

Encrypted

If this option is selected, the text of the CREATE TRIGGER statement is encrypted.

Execute as

Specify the security context under which the trigger is to be executed: O *Caller*, *Self* or *Login* (select which login account should be used to validate permissions on any server objects that are referenced by the trigger).

Code Source

Select the trigger code source: it can be a direct set of SQL statements or an external procedure call from a .NET assembly.

Event type

This group is available for SQL Server 2008. Specifies trigger type: Server level
Logon

Events

This area lists the DDL events as groups. The trigger will fire after execution of any data definition language event selected in this list. Set the corresponding flag next to an event or event group name.

SQL statements or assembly method

This area allows you to set the trigger conditions and actions. Trigger conditions specify additional criteria that determine whether the tried DDL statements cause the trigger actions to be performed.

The trigger actions take effect when the DDL operation is performed.

5.4.12 Server roles

SQL Server provides server-level roles to help you manage the permissions on a server. These roles are security principals that group other principals. Server-level roles are server-wide in their permissions scope.

Fixed server roles are provided for convenience and backward compatibility. Assign more specific permissions whenever possible.

SQL Server provides nine fixed server roles. The permissions that are granted to the fixed server roles cannot be changed. Beginning with SQL Server 2012, you can create user-defined server roles and add server-level permissions to the user-defined server roles.

Server Role Editor allows you to define server role properties. It opens automatically when you create a new server role and is available on editing an existing one.

To open a server role in **Server Role Editor**, double-click it in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree or in the <u>Server Role Manager</u> [63]. Alternatively, you can right-click the server role alias and select the **Edit Server Role** context menu item.

- <u>Setting server role parameters</u> 416
- <u>Defining server permissions</u>417
- Defining server role permissions 418
- Defining login permissions [419]
- Defining endpoint permissions 420

See also: Server Role Managerब्छि

5.4.12.1 Setting server role parameters

Use the **Server Role** tab of **Server Role Editor** to specify server role properties and membership.

Server Role - [test_role_1] - [localhost\sqlexpress]						
i localhost\sqlexpress	🔹 😽 test_role_1 🔹 😽 😥 😓 🖃					
Object *	Server Role Server Permissions Server Role Permissions Login Permissions Endpoint					
localhost\sqlex	Name test_role_1 Owner EMSDOMAIN\tio					
General [*]	Members of the role					
 ✓ Compile ☑ Refresh ➢ Print ☑ Restore default size 	Available Principals Available Principals Selected Principals NT Service\MSSQL\$SQLEXPRESS NT SERVICE\ReportServer\$SQLEXF NT SERVICE\Winmgmt server_role_1 server_role_2 server_role_3 The role is member of Selected Principals					
	Available Server Roles Selected Server Roles bulkadmin bulkadmin					

Name

Enter a name for the new server role, or view the name of the server role being edited.

Owner

Use the drop-down list to select the owner of the server role (the name of a server login 354).

Members of the role

Add members to the role, i.e. add the logins (or other server roles) that will inherit the permissions of the server role.

To add a login, you need to move it from the **Available Principals** list to the **Selected Princpals** list. Use the **Selected** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the logins from one list to another.

The role is member of

Define role membership, i.e. select the server role(s) the current server role will be a member of. The selected server roles determine the tasks that can be performed through the current server role.

To select a server role, you need to move it from the **Available Server Roles** list to the **Selected Server Roles** list. Use the 2 2 2 3 buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the roles from one list to another.

5.4.12.2 Defining server permissions

This tab allows you to grant **Server permissions** to the server role.

😵 New Server Role - [192.168.66.57\bi2012]					
🚦 🥃 192.168.66.57\bi2012	🖌 🔽 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸	Ŧ			
Object *	Server Role Server Permissions Server Role Permissions Login Permissions Endpoint				
Compile	Server Bole Server Permissions Server Role Permissions Login Permissions Endpoint Permission State Permission State Permission State Permission State Patter Any AVAILABILITY GROUP Permission Patter Any CONNECTION Permission Patter Any CREDENTIAL Permission Patter Any Event NotiFication Frant Patter Any Event Session Grant Patter Any Event Session Permission Patter Any Event Session Permission Patter Any Linked Server Permission Patter Any Server Audit Permission Patter Any Server Role Grant All Patter Any Server Role Grant All Patter Server State Pervoke Patter Server State Pervolution				
	Image: Construction Image: Construction Imag				
	P CREATE ANY DATABASE Revoke On All P CREATE AVAILABILITY GROUP P CREATE DDL EVENT NOTIFICATION	Ŧ			

The **Permission** column contains the list of server permissions that can be granted to the server role: CONNECT SQL, SHUTDOWN, CREATE ANY DATABASE, CREATE ENDPOINT, ALTER ANY LOGIN, ALTER ANY CREDENTIAL, ALTER ANY LINKED SERVER, ALTER ANY CONNECTION, etc.

Right-click a cell within the **State** column to grant a permission to the server role. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission to the server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) to the server role;
- deny a permission to the server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions to the server role;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) to the server role;
- deny all permissions to the server role;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions.

5.4.12.3 Defining server role permissions

This tab allows to define **Server role permissions** to the current server role.

Server Role - [server_role_1] - [localhost\sqlexpress]						
localhost\sqlexpress	🔹 😽 server_role_1 🔹 😽 😥 😓 🕞					
Object *	Server Role Server Permissions Server Role Permissions Login Permissions Endp	oint Permissions DDL				
Iocalhost\sqlex	Server Role Name ALTER CONTROL TAKE OWNERSHIP					
server_role_1 💌	server_role_1					
General *	Server_role_2 Grant	•				
7	Server_role_3					
Compile	leny					
Refresh	Revoke					
Print	Grant All					
Restore default size	Creat All With Creat Onlines					
	Grant All With Grant Options					
	Deny All					
	Revoke All					
	8 Grant On All					
	Srant On All With Grant Optio	ns				
	Beny On All					
	Revoke On All					

The **Server Role Name** column contains the list of server roles; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected server role: *ALTER*, *CONTROL*, *TAKE OWNERSHIP*, *VIEW DEFINITION*.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain server role. To grant a permission on a server role, you should find the object in the **Server Role Name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission on the server role to the current server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on the server role to the current server role;
- deny a permission on the server role to the current server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on the server role to the current server role;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on the server role to the current server role;
- deny all permissions on the server role to the current server role;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;

- grant a permission on all server role to the current server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all server role to the current server role;
- deny a permission on all server role to the current server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all server role.

5.4.12.4 Defining login permissions

This tab allows you to define **Login permissions** to the server role.

😵 New Server Role - [192.168.66.57\bi2012]							
🚦 😡 192.168.66.57\bi2012 🔹 🔄 🚽 🗸 🖓 👔 😓							
Object	*	Server Role Server Permissions Server Role Permissions Login Permissions Endpoint Permissions DDL					
192.168.66.57	•	Login Name ALTER CONTROL IMPERSONATE VIEW DEFINITION					
General	*	Image: Second state					
Gompile		EMSDOMAIN\aschel					
Restore default	size	C EMSDOMAINIayz Deny	-				
		Image: Second Aliana Image: Second Aliana Image: Second Aliana Image: Second Aliana	-				
		emsdomain/tio					
		NT Service\MSSQL\$BI2012 Deny All Deny All	-				
		Revoke All	-				
		NT SERVICE\Winmgmt 6 Grant On All					
		Seg tester Sector Secto					
		Beny On All					
		Revoke On All					

The **Login Name** column contains the list of server logins (354); each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected login: *ALTER*, *CONTROL*, *IMPERSONATE*, *VIEW DEFINITION*.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain login. To grant a permission on an login, you should find the object in the **Login Name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission on the login to the server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on the login to the server role;
- deny a permission on the login to the server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on the login to the server role;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on the login to the server role;
- deny all permissions on the login to the server role;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all logins to the server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all logins to the server role;
- deny a permission on all logins to the server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all logins.

5.4.12.5 Defining endpoint permissions

This tab allows you to grant **Endpoint permissions** to the server role.

🔋 🧔 192.168.66.57\bi2012	-	- 😽 🖻 🕻	۵. 🖂			
Object *	Server Role Server Permissions	Server Role Permissio	ons Login Permissions Endpoint Permis	sions DDL		
92.168.66.57	Endpoint Name	ALTER - CONN	ECT CONTROL CONTROL			
General *	Dedicated Admin Connection					
-	TSQL Default TCP		Grant			
🤤 Compile	TSQL Default VIA	8	Grant With Grant Options			
Restore default size	TSQL Local Machine		3 Denv			
	TSQL Named Pipes		Dony			
			Revoke			
		•	Grant All			
			Grant All With Grant Options			
		•	Deny All			
			Revoke All			
			Grant On All			
		2	Grant On All With Grant Options			
		1	Deny On All			
			Revoke On All			

The **Endpoint Name** column contains the list of server <u>endpoints</u>[402]; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected endpoint: *ALTER, CONNECT, CONTROL, TAKE OWNERSHIP, VIEW DEFINITION.*

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain endpoint. To grant a permission on an endpoint, you should find the object in the **Endpoint name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. The context menu of a cell allows you to:

- grant a permission on the endpoint to the server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on the endpoint to the server role;
- deny a permission on the endpoint to the server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on the endpoint to the server role;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on the endpoint to the server role;
- deny all permissions on the endpoint to the server role;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions;
- grant a permission on all endpoints to the server role;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all endpoints to the server role;
- deny a permission on all endpoints to the server role;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all endpoints

5.4.13 DTS Packages

In SQL Server 2000, **Data Transformation Services (DTS)** is a component built to take data from one OLE DB data source, perform certain operations and store it in a destination OLE DB data source. DTS consists of **packages** which define a particular set of work that forms a logical work item. **DTS Packages** contain multiple connections to data sources, tasks to be performed, workflows. Examples of tasks include copying data from source to destination connections, transforming data from a source connection and placing the transformed data in the destination connection, executing a set of Microsoft ActiveX scripts or Transact-SQL statements against a connection.

In SQL Server 2005 (and higher), **Integration Services** (**SSIS**) packages are provided for data warehousing purposes.

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides running **Data Transformation Services (DTS)** packages that were developed by using SQL Server 2000 tools. These can be run in SQL Server 2005 and higher, alongside **Integration Services (SSIS**) packages.

Importing DTS Packages

To import DTS Package:

• right-click **DTS Package** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks** | **Import DTS Package...** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56].

Exporting DTS Packages

To export DTS Package:

• right-click **DTS Package** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks** | **Export DTS Package...** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56].

Running DTS Packages

To run DTS Package:

• right-click any object in the **DTS Package** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks** | **Run DTS Package...** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56].

To import, export, run **DTS Packages** you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>DTS Packages manager</u> [81f]. You can view package properties in the <u>DTS Package properties</u> [42f] dialog.

5.4.13.1 DTS Package properties

The **DTS Package Properties** dialog allows you to browse the **DTS package** common information.

To open the dialog, right-click the DTS package in <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **DTS Package Properties...** context menu item.



The dialog displays common properties pertaining to the DTS package: *Create Date*, *Version ID*, *Description*.



6 Query Management Tools

When using SQL Manager for SQL Server, you are provided with two basic tools you may need to manage your SQL queries: <u>Query Data 426</u> for editing SQL query text directly and <u>Design Query 442</u> for building queries visually. Find the list of common SQL query management operations below.

Creating New Queries

In order to create a new query in *Query Data*:

- select the **Tools | Query Data** <u>main menu</u> জাটী item or use the corresponding 🗹 <u>toolbar</u> জাগী button;
- click the **Add new query** item of the Navigation bar 426;
- edit the query text within the **Edit** tab of <u>Query Data</u> [426].

In order to create a new query in Design *Query*:

- select the **Tools | Design Query** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding key toolbar [917] button;
- build the query visually within the **Builder** tab of <u>Design Query</u> [442].

Editing Queries

In order to open a query in *Query Data*:

- select the **Tools | Query Data** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding **i** <u>toolbar</u> [917] button;
- use the numbered tabs at the bottom of the editor window to switch between previously edited queries. The last edited query is displayed automatically on opening the editor;
- edit the query text within the **Edit** tab of <u>Query Data</u> [426].

In order to open a query in *Design Query*:

- select the **Tools | Design Query** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding <u>toolbar</u> [917] button;
- the last edited query is displayed automatically on opening Design Query;
- to load a previously saved diagram, click the **Load diagram** item of the Navigation bar 442;
- to load a query from an *.sql file, open the **Edit** tab and click the **Load SQL** button of the Navigation bar;
- edit the query visually within the **Builder** and/or the **Edit** tabs of <u>Design Query</u> 442.

In order to load a query from an *.sql file:

- select the **Tools | Query Data** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding 🖻 <u>toolbar</u> [917] button;
- click the Load from file item of the Navigation bar 426;
- browse for the query file using the **Open SQL File** dialog;
- edit the query text within the **Edit** tab of <u>Query Data</u> [426].

Executing Queries

In order to execute a query:

• create a new query or open an existing one;

- click the ▶ **Execute** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> [426] or use the *F9* hot-key to execute the query;
- view/edit the returned data within the **Results** tab of <u>Query Data</u> 426.

Saving Queries

In order to save a query:

- create a new query or open an existing one;
- click the **Save to file** <u>Navigation bar</u>[426] item (in *Query Data*) or the **Save SQL** <u>Navigation bar</u>[442] item (in *Design Query*), or use the *Ctrl+S* <u>shortcut</u>[952] to save the query using the **Save as...** dialog;
- click the **Save diagram** <u>Navigation bar[442</u>] item in <u>Design Query</u>[442] to save the designed diagram;

or

• use the **Save all** <u>Navigation bar</u>[426] item in <u>Query Data</u>[426] if you need to save all the queries to one file.

See also:

<u>Getting Started</u> 411 <u>Database Explorer</u> 633 <u>Database Management</u> 941 <u>Database Objects Management</u> 1778 <u>Data Management</u> 4622 <u>Import/Export Tools</u> 530 <u>Database Tools</u> 611 <u>Server Tools</u> 715 <u>Personalization</u> 8224 <u>External Tools</u> 903 How To... 957

6.1 Query Data

Query Data is the basic tool of SQL Manager for SQL Server for creating and executing queries. The tool allows you to create and edit the SQL text of a query, prepare and execute queries and view the results of query execution.

To open Query Data, select the **Tools | Query Data** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>toolbar</u> [917] button. You can also use the *F12* <u>shortcut</u> [952] for the same purpose.

To open **New Query Data** use the Shift+F12 shortcut.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	Tools	Services	<u>O</u> ptions	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp
		🖻 (Query Data		F12	
		🔛 C)esign Query			
		<u>ت</u>	QL Monitor	Sł	nift+Ctrl+M	

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 426
- Working with Query Data area 429
- Using the context menu 430
- Viewing query plan [432]
- Using object links 433
- Executing queries and viewing results [434]
- <u>Viewing query logs</u> 435
- Favorites editor 439
- Merging queries 440

See also:

<u>Design Query</u> 442 Query parameters 459 <u>Execute Script</u> ଜୀ୩ <u>Editor Options</u> ଛେ୬

6.1.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Query Data**.

Database 🎗					
enewtest_db on TESTER2\SQL2 ~					
General 🛠					
Execute					
Show estimated execution plan					
Get info messages					
🔛 Run Design Query					
E Open client cursor					
Results on separate tab					
🔱 Query Data options					
Queries 🛠					
Add new query					
Rename current query					
Explored Delete current query					
🖳 Delete all queries					
🛓 Add to Favorite Queries					
Edit 🛠					
P Find text					
📔 Load from file					
🔒 Save to file					
Ę <mark>.</mark> Save to file as					
🗐 Save all					
Debug 🎗					
厳 Start debugging					

The Navigation bar of Query Data allows you to:

Database

🗄 select a database for the query

General

- execute the current query
- 🗏 view estimated <u>query execution plan</u> [432]
- show/hide information messages
- لا run <u>Design Query</u> المعنفة to design the query as a diagram

e open cursor on client (server) side. If the server cursor is selected then the query dataset is processed with server resources, otherwise it's processed on the client side.

- switch the results representation mode: on Edit tab or on separate tab
- I configure Query Data within the <u>Tools | Query Data</u> छिन्ने page of the <u>Environment</u> Options छिट्डी dialog
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Queries

- 🛍 add a new query (note that the current query text will not be lost)
- discrete the current query
- 😼 delete the query
- 😼 delete all queries from the editor

🔹 edit the query text using <u>Favorites editor</u>विओ and add the query to the <u>Favorite Queries</u> 1901 list

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with queries:

Edit

- 🔑 activate the <u>Find Text</u> 🔤 dialog
- load a query from an **.sql* file using the **Open SQL File** dialog
- save the query to an *.sql file
- dialog save the query to an *.*sql* file using the **Save as...** dialog
- save all queries to an *.sql file

Logs

- 🔎 activate the <u>Find Text</u> 🔤 dialog
- 🚽 save the query log to a file
- 📝 clear logs

Data Management

- ✓ commit transaction
- X rollback transaction
- 🕆 export the returned dataset using Export Data Wizard हि आ
- ी export the returned dataset as SQL script using the Export as SQL Script जिओ wizard ो import data जिंगी
- Import data

Debug

bebug the code using the Debug T-SQL [437] tool

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Query Data**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

See also: <u>Working with Query Data area</u> 42औ <u>Viewing query plan</u> 432ी <u>Executing queries</u>मिउने <u>Viewing query logs</u>मिउने <u>Favorites editor</u>मिउने

6.1.2 Working with Query Data area

The **Editor area** of Query Data is available within the **Edit** tab and is provided for working with SQL queries in text mode.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented:

- using object links [433] allowing you to open the object in the associated editor;
- ability to display line numbers;
- code folding for statements and clauses;
- customizable margins and gutters;

• formatting code for better representation and more.

If necessary, you can enable/disable or customize most of Query Data features using the <u>Editor Options</u> dialog.

The example of code completion is illustrated in the picture below. You can set the delay within the $\underline{\text{Quick code}}$ section of the $\underline{\text{Editor Options}}$ dialog or activate the completion list manually by pressing the $Ctrl+Space \underline{\text{shortcut}}$ section.



For your convenience the possibility to use **macros** is implemented.

To *start recording* a macro, click the • **Record** button available in the status bar area, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+R* shortcut.

To *stop recording*, click the **Stop** button, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+R* shortcut. To *call* the recorded macro, use the **Play** button, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+P* shortcut.

Hint: To paste input parameters 256 of a procedure 253 quickly, use the *Ctrl+Shift+P* shortcut 952 after the procedure name.

Hint: To use a <u>keyboard template [894]</u>, type the template name and press the Ctrl+J <u>shortcut [952]</u>: the text associated with the template will be inserted automatically.

If necessary, you can **print** the SQL text of your query using the corresponding item of the context menu 430.

See also: Using Navigation bar and Toolbar Using the context menu Editor Options Keyboard Templates Pavorites editor Find Text dialog Replace Text dialog श्विरी Replace Text dialog

6.1.3 Using the context menu

The **context menu** of Query Data area contains execution commands, most of the standard text-processing functions (*Cut, Copy, Paste, Select All*) and functions for working with the query as a whole, e.g. you can *move the cursor to a particular line, change the case* of selected text, view the query *properties* or *print* the text of the query. Each of these operations can be also performed with the corresponding hot keys used.

	Execute	F9	►		
₽	Execute Selected Only	Alt+F9			
II	Execute under Cursor	Ctrl+Alt+F9			
	Reset Execution Point	Ctrl+Alt+F2			
	Markers		►		
	Toggle Bookmarks		۲		
e	Go to Line Number	Alt+G			
	<u>U</u> ndo	Ctrl+Z			
a	Redo	Shift+Ctrl+Z			
Ж	Cu <u>t</u>	Ctrl+X			
Đ	<u>C</u> opy	Ctrl+C			
8	<u>P</u> aste	Ctrl+V			
<u>(ā)</u>	Select <u>A</u> ll	Ctrl+A			
ρ	<u>F</u> ind	Ctrl+F			
Aoo	Replace	Ctrl+R			
Я	Search Next	F3			
==	Incremental Search	Ctrl+I			
ø	Load	Ctrl+L			
	Save	Ctrl+S			
*	Save as Favorite Quer	y			
ø	Preview				
۵	Print				
	Quick Code		•	\$ =	Format Shift+Ctrl+F
	Properties			^	Select Character Ctrl+Alt+Space
				(*	Toggle Comment Ctrl+/
				Bb	Selection Lower Case
				bB	Selection Upper Case
				вь	Selection Toggle Case Alt+Down
				• =	Indent Shift+Ctrl+I
				• =	Unindent Shift+Tab

Implementation of the Find Text 925 / Replace Text 927 dialogs and Incremental search 917 bar contributes to more efficient work with the SQL code.

Find the complete list of **Query Data** context menu items below. The context menu allows you to:

- add the selected text to dictionary or correct text (see <u>Spell checking</u> [882] for details);
- execute the query/selected text/text under cursor, and reset execution point (if necessary);
- manage markers: Drop Marker, Collect Marker, Swap Marker;
- toggle bookmarks allowing you to navigate through the query text and jump to a line with a particular number;
- perform editing operations: Undo/Redo, Cut, Copy, Paste, Select all;
- perform <u>search</u> [925] and <u>replace</u> [927] operations;
- save/load a query to/from an external *.sql file;
- perform preview/print operations;
- use the *Quick code* group allowing you to format the selected code using *SQL Formatter* to make the code easier to read, toggle comments for code fragments, change case of the selected text, indent/unindent code lines;
- add the query to the <u>Favorite Queries</u> [686] list;
- open the <u>Editor Options</u> 869 dialog.

See also:

<u>Working with Query Data area</u> 429 Executing gueries 434ी

6.1.4 Viewing query plan

Using SQL Manager for SQL Server, you can view **the plan** for each of the queries created and executed in the application. The query plan is available within the corresponding **Plan** tab.

To view the **Plan** of a query, open the query in **Query Data** and use the **Show** estimated execution plan item of the Navigation bar 426 or toolbar 428.

The **Plan** tab allows you to view the sequence of actions performed by the database server in the process of the query execution, and the amount of system resources used for the query execution.
Edit	<u>P</u> lan	Results	Logs									
										Properties	Valu	es 🔺
										Operation	Nested Loops	
			_	_	_		_			Logical Operation	Inner Join	
		♣ ←		5 ←		<	· 👪	┍──╷┋		Subtree Cost	16,466%	
	SE	LECT	Nested	Loops	Hash Mat	ch Ne	sted Loops	Clustered Inde	ə	IO Cost	0,00%	=
	100	,000%	100,0	000%	85,1789	6	6,466%	3,504%	3	CPU Cost	0,03%	
										Estimated Executions	1	
					Clustered In	de Clus	tered Inde	Clustered Inde	. 8	Estimated Rows	6	
					14,7629	6 1	4,342%	12,932%	···· ·	Actual Executions	;	
										Actual Rows		
										Row Size	8125	
										Parallel	False	
•									•	Statement	Nested Loops	(Inner Join, 👻
Operati	on			Logical Op	peration	Subtree Cos	t IO Cost	CPU Cost	Estimated .	Estimated	Actual Exe Ac	tual Rows Row
SELI	ECT					100,0009	6 0,009	6 0,00%		9		
	lested Lo	oops		Inner Join		100,000	6 0,009	6 0,06%		1 9		
ļ	Hash I	Match		Inner Join		85,1789	6 0,009	6 54,37%		1 14		
	🖹 Ne	sted Loops		Inner Join		16,4669	6 0,009	6 0,03%		1 6		
		Clustered In	dex Scan	Clustered	Index Scan	3,5049	6 3,339	6 0,18%		1 7		
		Clustered In	dex Seek	Clustered	Index Seek	12,9329	6 3,339	6 0,17%		7 1		
	^L Clu	stered Index	Scan	Clustered	Index Scan	14,3429	6 13,589	6 0,76%		1 504		
	··· Cluste	red Index Se	eek	Clustered	Index Seek	14,7629	6 3,339	6 0,17%	13,5208339	165		
•				III								+

The **Operation** panel below displays the operations as a tree list with the following columns: Operation, Logical Operation, Subtree Cost, IO Cost, CPU Cost, Estimated Executions, Estimated Rows, Actual Executions, Actual Rows, Row Size, Parallel, Statement, Argument, Defined Values, Output, Warnings.

Right-click within the panel to display the **context menu** allowing you to configure the set of *visible columns* or export state the plan to any of supported formats state.

If necessary, you can specify that the **Plan** tab appears automatically upon query execution in Query Data: select the **V** Show actual execution plan on query execution option available within the Tools | Query Data B37 section of the Environment Options B25 dialog.

See also:

<u>Query Data options</u> छिउँगे <u>Executing queries</u> 434ो

6.1.5 Using object links

Objects that exist in the database are highlighted in the text as hyperlinks. You can open an object in the appropriate editor by clicking the object name in the text with the *Ctrl* key pressed.

```
SELECT

EmployeeID,

NationalIDNumber,

ContactID,

LoginID,

ManagerID,

Title,

BirthDate,

MaritalStatus,

Gender,

HireDate

FROM

HumanResources.Employee;
```

Please note that you can change the way highlighted objects look in the editor: use the <u>Display | Highlight and section of the Editor Options and dialog.</u>

See also: Working with Query Data area 42୬ Editor Options ଜେ୭

6.1.6 Executing queries

When all the query parameters are set, you can immediately **execute the query** in **Query Data**.

To execute a query, click the **Execute** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> 426. You can also use the <u>context menu</u> 430 or F9 hot key for the same purpose.

If the SQL syntax is correct, the query is executed and, in case the query statement is supposed to return data (e.g. as SELECT statement), the returned dataset appears within the **Results** tab. The position of the tab depends on the **Results on Edit tab / Results on separate tab** selection in the <u>Navigation bar 426</u>.

If SQL syntax of the query contains any errors, the query execution is stopped and the corresponding error message is displayed in the status bar area at the bottom of the editor window.

▶	Execute F9	Þ		Execute Selected Only Alt+F9
₽	Execute Selected Only Alt+F9		~	Switch to Results Tab
I.	Execute under Cursor Ctrl+Alt+F9			Show Actual Execution Plan
	Reset Execution Point Ctrl+Alt+F2		٢	Try to Open Server Cursor and Get Info Messages
	Markers	۲		
	Toggle Bookmarks	►		

By default, data returned by a query are displayed as a grid (see <u>Data View</u>[463] for details). The <u>context menu</u>[469] of the grid allows you to <u>Export Data</u> ित्र ते, <u>Export as SQL</u> <u>Script</u> [593].

	Que	ery Data - atabases	[AdventureWorksDW on tester2 ▼ 🚔 📮 ▼ 🗊 😃 💽 🔎	.sql2017] ▶ ▾ ■ 🔎 💷 🔛 🗎 🔐				
T	Edit Plan Results Loos							
lí	- :			Eind:				
	: _ · · ·	11		* • T mu.	E			
	Dra					^		
	∃ Pi	roductKe	EnglishProductCategoryName	EnglishProductSubcategoryName	FrenchProductName	FinishedGoo		
	₽	210	Components	Road Frames				
		211	Components	Road Frames				
		212	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, rouge			
		213	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, rouge			
Π		214	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, rouge			
Ш		215	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, noir			
Ш		216	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, noir			
Ш		217	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, noir			
>		218	Clothing	Socks	Chaussettes de VTT, taille M			
Ш		219	Clothing	Socks	Chaussettes de VTT, taille L			
		220	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, bleu			
		221	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, bleu			
U		222	Accessories	Helmets	Casque sport 100, bleu			
		223	Clothing	Caps				
		224	Clothing	Caps				
		225	Clothing	Caps				
		226	Clothing	Jerseys	Maillot manches longues avec logo, taille S			
	<			·	·	>		
	Grid	View Fo	or <u>m</u> View Pri <u>n</u> t Data					
ĺ	Fetch	ed: 397/3	97	Read Only	94 ms			
				v				
3	397 ro	w(s) retu	rned (execution time: 0 ms; total time	a: 94 ms)		^		
L						~		
	•							

See also:

<u>Data View</u> बिठे <u>Export Data</u> िउगे <u>Export as SQL Script</u> ब्लिअे

6.1.7 Viewing query logs

This tab allows you to view the query **log**. The log is available within the **Logs** tab of **Query Data**.

Using this tab you can view *log entries* containing the following details:

- date and time of the query execution;
- text of the query;
- number of rows fetched and fetch time, or the text of the error (if any).

Date/time and the execution result information are embedded as code comments conforming with the rules of SQL.

With the help of the **context menu** the log can be *printed*, *saved* to file or *cleared*. You can also use a number of Query Data <u>context menu</u> [430] generic functions.



See also: Executing queries Using the context menu[430]

437 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

6.1.8 Debugging T-SQL

T-SQL Debugger is the cutting edge feature of SQL Manager for SQL Server. This tool is provided for step-by-step code debugging of SQL scripts, <u>procedures</u> [253], <u>UDFs</u> [259]. Much of the power of the debugger comes from toggling breakpoints, getting variables' values, and fetching call stacks.

Note: For debugging on the remote server the host that is running the instance must be configured as follows <u>http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/cc646024.aspx</u>.

The **Edit** tab of the **T-SQL Debugger** window contains the following areas:

- the *Debug* panel of the <u>Navigation bar</u>⁴²⁶;
- the Watches list;
- the T-SQL code area;
- the *Call stack* box;
- the Breakpoints list.

Note: All areas within the **Edit** tab of the **PL/SQL Code Debugger** window are dockable, i.e. you can drag an area to any location within the parent form.

The Logs tab of the PL/SQL Code Debugger window displays the debug log.



- Start: this command is used to start the debugging session;
- Break: this command stops the current debugging session;
- Continue: use this command to continue execution up to the next breakpoint;
- 📝 Step over: traces the code disregarding the object body (procedure 253), UDE 259);
- 龙 Trace into: traces the code using the object body (procedure व्याद्र), UDF व्या);
- *ं Trace out*: traces the code up to the point of leaving the object body (<u>procedure</u>व्टिज्जे, <u>UDF</u>व्टजे);
- Toggle breakpoint: use this command to add/remove breakpoints;
- Clear watches: allows you to clear the variables added to the Watches list.

The **T-SQL code** area presents the statement being debugged. All points that have been set within the code are marked with corresponding signs. Active breakpoints are highlighted red, and inactive breakpoints are highlighted green.

The **Watches** list allows you to watch (on the **Local** tab) the variables that have been declared in the code, and the value of each variable. The following attributes are listed for each watched variable:

Watch name Value To add custom watch proceed to the **Custom** tab and specify the watch name. You can delete the selected watch by using the *Ctrl+U* shortcut. Use the **Global** tab to view values of the server global variables.

The **Call stack** box lists the call stacks, if applicable.

The **Breakpoints** list displays the currently toggled breakpoints. The following attributes are listed for each breakpoint: Status Line Owner Name Using the context menu you can enable/disable the selected breakpoint or delete it.

6.1.9 Favorites editor

For your convenience the **Favorite Queries** list is implemented in SQL Manager for SQL Server. This list is available within the **Favorite Queries** node of <u>Database Explorer</u> and allows you to store the most frequently used SQL queries in one location.

To add a query to the **Favorite Queries** list, use the **Add to Favorite Queries** <u>Navigation bar</u>^[426] item in **Query Data**. The corresponding item is also available in the <u>context menu</u>^[430] of Query Data working area.

You can edit any of your Favorite Queries using **Favorites editor**.

Fav	vorites Editor			—
<u>N</u> a	ame Employee	<u>S</u> torage	Registry	-
	□ SELECT			*
2	EmployeeID,			
3	NationalIDNumber,			
4	ContactID,			
5	LoginID,			
6	ManagerID,			E
7	Title,			
8	BirthDate,			
9	MaritalStatus,			
10	Gender,			
11	HireDate,			
12	SalariedFlag,			
13	VacationHours			
14	FROM			
15	HumanResources.Employee;			
				-
4	_ m_			
		<u>O</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel	Help

Name

Set the name of the Favorite query.

Storage

Specify where the Favorite query will be stored: in *Windows Registry* or in the *Database*.

See also:

<u>Managing Favorite queries</u> ଡିଏ <u>Working with Query Data area</u> 429

6.1.10 Merging queries

When editing the same query in several copies of <u>Query Data</u> [426], on attempt to close the **Query Data** window the **Merging a Query** dialog will appear like the one displayed below.

Merging a Query	X
There is a conflict on merging the que	ry ' <u>1</u> ':
SQL is changed in the current and in a	another copy of SQL Editor.
Select the action: Save the both changed queries	
Current editor query name	&Emp
O Use changes in the current copy	of SQL Editor
Ignore changes in the current co	py of SQL Editor
<u>O</u> K	Cancel Help

The actions offered are the following:

Save the both changed queries

The query opened in the first copy of Query Data will be saved as its original name; the query in the current copy will be saved under the name with additional postfix (by default it is (1)).

• Use changes in the current copy of Query Data

The query will be saved as the original name; the modifications of SQL made within the current copy of **Query Data** will be applied.

Ignore changes in the current copy of Query Data

The query will be saved as its original name; the modifications of SQL made within the current copy of **Query Data** will be ignored.

6.2 Design Query

Design Query is implemented in SQL Manager for SQL Server for building queries visually. The tool allows you to create and edit queries without deep knowledge of SQL. You can also prepare and execute queries, and view the results of their execution.

To open Design Query, select the **Tools | Design Query** $\underline{\text{main menu}}$ item or use the corresponding $\underbrace{\text{toolbar}}_{\text{bolbar}}$ button.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	Services	<u>O</u> ptions	<u>W</u> indows	H	elp
		🖻 (Query Data		F12		
		🔛 ()esign Query				
		۔ چ	SQL Monitor	Sh	ift+Ctrl+M		
		🐺 E	xecute Scrip	t Sł	nift+Ctrl+S		

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 442
- <u>Working with diagram area</u>
 444
- Joining two database objects by columns [446]
- Setting the selection criteria 448
- <u>Setting output columns for selection</u> [451]
- <u>Setting the grouping criteria</u>[452]
- <u>Setting parameters of sorting</u> 453
- Working with editor area 454
- Executing queries and viewing results 455
- <u>Viewing query plan</u>457

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also: Query Data42ଣ Query parameters45ଣ୍ଣ

6.2.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Design Query**.



The Navigation bar of Design Query allows you to:

Database

🗏 select a database for the query

General

- execute the current query
- ¹ view estimated <u>query execution plan</u>457
- 😼 clear the query
- k create a view 246

be configure Design Query using the <u>Design Queryr Options</u> من page of the <u>Environment</u> <u>Options</u> من والمعادية والمعادي والمعادية والمعادي والمعادي والمعا

restore the default size and position of the builder window

Objects

browse objects of the database; you can also add tables and views to the diagram using drag-and-drop operations

Depending on the current tab selection, the **Navigation bar** expands to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with queries:

Visual Builder

- Ioad a diagram from a *.vqb file using the Open diagram dialog
- save the diagram to a *.vqb file using the **Save diagram as...** dialog

Edit

- load a query from an **.sql* file using the **Open SQL File** dialog
- save the query to an *.sql file

Data Management

- ✓ commit transaction
- × rollback transaction
- 🕆 export the returned dataset using Export Data Wizard हाओ
- size the returned dataset as SQL script using the Export as SQL Script wizard

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Design Query**. To enable the <u>toolbar and</u>, open the <u>Environment Options</u> and the <u>toolbar and</u> select **a** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **a** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (15)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

See also:

<u>Working with diagram area</u> 44मे <u>Query execution</u> बिठ्ठी

6.2.2 Working with diagram area

The main working area of **Design Query** is the diagram area available within the **Builder** tab. Here you can create a query by placing the database <u>tables</u> and <u>views</u> and views and views and views

To add an object to the query, you can simply drag it from the <u>DB Explorer</u> 71 tree to the diagram area.

To include a column in the query, check the corresponding box located to the left from the column name in the list, or just double-click it. To include all columns of the table/ view, check the box located to the left of the table/view caption. If you do not check any columns, the SQL statement is generated as *SELECT * FROM <table/view_name>*, i.e. all the columns are included in the query.

To *collapse/expand* the list of table/view columns, click the minimize/maximize button at the object caption.

To exclude a column from the query, uncheck the respective box. In order to remove the entire table/view from the query, close it by clicking the corresponding cross-button at the object caption, or right-click the object and select **Delete** from the context menu. You can also select the object and press the **Del** key.

To edit the alias of a table/view, double-click the object caption and enter the new name,

or right-click the object and select **Rename** from the context menu.

🔛 Design Query - [AdventureWorks on TESTER2\SQL2017]
🗄 🛢 Databases 🗸 📴 🗧 🖛 🖛 🕨 🕨 🖛 🖛 👘 🗸 🖡 🗸 🖉 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 👘
Builder Edit Result
Select
Query 1 Query 1
✓ Info.Employee
✓ EmployeeD
NationalDNumber
Position
✓ Title ✓ Info.Contact _ × ✓ BirthDate ✓ ContactD
Title FirstName
✓ MiddleName
✓ LastName
u u v
Criteria Selection Grouping criteria Sorting
All of the following are met
1. Info.Employee.NationalIDNumber BETWEEN 1 AND 250
2. Into.Employee.Gender IS NOT NULL 3. Info Employee VacationHours >= 50
It 1 Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)

Design Query allows you to create complex queries consisting of two or more queries combined in one with the UNION operator, or add nested queries. The panel to the left of the diagram area displays the tree of subqueries.

To add a query, right-click within the tree of subqueries area and select **Add union** from the context menu. A tab for the new query will appear in the diagram area.

To remove a query from the tree, right-click the query and select **Delete union** from the context menu.

To add the UNION ALL operator to the query, right-click the newly added query and select the corresponding context menu item.

Builder	Edit					
Select	:				•]
Q	uery 1		Query 1	Query 2 [union all]		
Q	uery 2 [union all]	ļſ				1
	Add union					
	Delete union					
	Vnion All					

Note: Depending on which query type you need to execute, you can select one from the drop-down list above the tree of subqueries: *Select, Insert, Update,* or *Delete*.

Builder Edit	
Select	-
Select	
Insert	
Update	
Delete	

See also: Joining two objects Working with the editor area Ouery execution मिठ्ठी

6.2.3 Joining two objects

The **diagram area** allows you to associate two objects by their columns: this operation is performed by dragging a column from one object list to another. This will set a link between these objects by the selected columns. It is indicated by a bidirectional arrow between the linked columns.

Note: Once two or more tables related by a foreign key are added to the diagram area, the corresponding visual joining of these tables appears at the **Builder** tab and the *JOIN* statement appears under the **Edit** tab.



You can *view the link properties* of objects association: set the mouse cursor over the linking arrow, and a hint containing the association condition will popup after a short delay.

To edit the link properties, double-click the linking arrow or right-click it and select the **Property** popup menu item. The **Link properties** dialog allows you to change the association condition by choosing it from the drop-down list (=, >, <, >=, <=, <>).

Link properties	x
join tables: dbo.FactResellerSales and dbo.DimReseller	
ResellerKey 🗧 🗸 ResellerKey	
Include all from dbo.FactResellerSales	
Include all from dbo.DimReseller	
OK Cancel	

For your convenience the **Include all** option is available for each object of the association:

if the option is enabled for the left table, the *LEFT JOIN* operator will be used for the association;

if the option is enabled for the right table, the *RIGHT JOIN* operator is used for the association;

if the option is enabled for neither of the tables, the *INNER JOIN* operator is used for the association.

Click **OK** to apply the changes you have made.

To remove a link between objects, right-click the linking arrow and select the **Delete link** popup menu item.

To add a point to the link line, right-click the linking arrow and select the **Insert point** popup menu item. Using the point you can move the link line easily. The point does not cause any changes to the query, it is only used for the diagram representation and makes visual building handy and more comprehensible.



See also: <u>Working with diagram area</u>444े <u>Setting criteria</u>448े

6.2.4 Setting criteria

Use the **Criteria** tab to set the selection conditions.

The way the conditions are used is set in the upper string of the area (*All, Any, None* or *Not all of the following are met*). Click the green link to change it.

All
Any
None
Not all
Not

To add a condition, click the ellipsis button on the left, and select the **Add condition** popup menu item.

Edit the condition by clicking the elements of the condition pattern and setting the necessary values. Clicking the numbered button to the left of the condition string activates the popup menu which allows you to *add a new condition* at the same enclosure level, *make composite condition* by adding a new enclosure level, *delete the current condition*, *expand* or *collapse* enclosure levels of the condition (if the condition is composite).

Add condition
Make composite condition Delete condition
Expand condition

A simple condition pattern contains three elements: an argument, a condition operator and a second argument (if required for the condition).

Clicking each element column allows you to set its value. You can add a column by dragand-dropping it from the working area to Criteria, Selection, Grouping criteria or Sorting tabs. When clicking an argument field, you can edit the argument as a text string: set an object name or a certain value in this field. Right-clicking the field in the edit mode activates the popup menu with the **Insert column** (also called by the *Shift+Enter* <u>shortcut</u> (952); this item allows you to select a column from the list of all the table columns) and **Insert query** (this item adds a nested query) items.



Clicking the condition operator field activates the popup menu from which you can select the operator you need.

=
\diamond
<
>
<=
>=
!<
!=
!>
LIKE
NOT LIKE
IN
NOT IN
BETWEEN
NOT BETWEEN
IS NULL
IS NOT NULL

See also: <u>Setting output columns</u>[451] <u>Setting grouping criteria</u>[452] <u>Setting sorting parameters</u>[453]

6.2.5 Setting output columns

The **Selection** tab displays the output columns of the query as a grid.

The grid allows you to edit the names of the query output columns, specify their display order and set the aggregate functions for each column. To remove a column from the list, right-click the row and select the **Delete current row** popup menu item.

Delete selected rows
Insert query
Insert CASE

The popup menu also allows you to *insert a nested query* and add a *CASE* clause. To edit the CASE clause, use the **CASE END AS** dialog.

CASE editor			×
Name	Human	Resources.	vEmployee.Genc 🔻
Alias	1		
W	/hen		Then
М		1	
F		2	
		ОК	Cancel

To change the *Source column name*, click it and then type the column name or select it from the drop-down list.

To change the *Name of output column*, set the cursor at the corresponding column and type the required column name.

To reorder columns in the list, use the \Box \Box buttons.

С	riteria	Selection	Grouping	criteria	Sorting					
٢	Sele	ct only uniqu	ue records					up	dowr	n
	Source column name				ne of outp	out column	Aggrega	ate	Grouping	^
	HumanResources.vEmployee			SalariedFlag				`	Yes	
	Huma	nResources	vEmployee	SickLeaveHours				`	Yes	
	HumanResources.vEmployee			CurrentFlag				`	Yes	
	Huma	nResources	vEmployee	rowguid				`	Yes	
	Huma	nResources	vEmployee	ModifiedDate				`	Yes	
	Huma	nResources	vEmployee	Busine	ssEntityID)		`	Yes	
	Huma	nResources	vEmployee	FirstNa	ame			1	Yes	
۶	Huma	nResources	vEmployee	COLUN	/N_1		MAX			
										¥

To set an aggregate function for a column, click the row within the **Aggregate** column, and then type in the function name or select one from the drop-down list (*SUM*, *MIN*, *MAX*, *AVG*, or *COUNT*).

The **Grouping** column displays the grouping state for each of the output columns.

Select only unique records

If you check this option, the duplicate records (if any) are not included into the query result (i.e. the *DISTINCT* keyword is added to the SQL query text).

See also:

<u>Setting criteria</u>[448] <u>Setting grouping criteria</u>[452] <u>Setting sorting parameters</u>[453]

6.2.6 Setting grouping criteria

The **Grouping criteria** tab allows you to set conditions for grouping query records.

The grouping condition pattern fields are set in the same way as those of the Criteria 448 pattern.



These conditions will be included in the HAVING statement of the generated SQL query.

See also: Setting criteria Setting output columns Setting sorting parameters 453

6.2.7 Setting sorting parameters

The **Sorting** tab allows you to set sorting parameters for the records returned by the query.

The working area contains the **Output columns** list (at the left) which represents all fields of the objects used in the query, and the **Sorted columns** list (at the right) which contains the columns to sort records by.

To move a column from one list to another, drag the selected column or use the **Add** and **Remove** buttons: **(D) (C) (C)**.

To change the sorting order for a sorted column, select the field in the **Sorted columns** list and move it using the **Up** and **Down** buttons.

To change the sorting direction, select the column in the **Sorted columns** list and switch the direction (*Ascending*, *Descending*) using the corresponding **A..Z/Z..A** button.

Criteria	Selection	Grouping criteria	Sorting					
						Up Down		A
Output o	olumns			^		Sorted columns	Sort order	
HumanR	esources.vl	Employee.Organiza	tionNode			HumanResources.vEmplo	Ascending	
HumanR	esources.v	Employee.Organiza	tionLevel		<u> </u>	HumanResources.vEmplo	Ascending	
HumanR	esources.v	Employee.BirthDate	1			HumanResources.vEmplo	Ascending	
HumanR	esources.v	Employee.MaritalSta	atus					
HumanR	esources.vl	Employee.Gender						
HumanR	esources.vl	Employee.HireDate						
HumanR	esources.vl	Employee.SalariedF	lag					
HumanR	esources.v	Employee.CurrentFl	lag					
HumanR	esources.v	Employee.rowguid						
HumanR	esources.v	Employee.Business	EntityID	~				

See also: Setting criteria विभेषे Setting output columns विङ्गी Setting grouping criteria विङ्गी

6.2.8 Working with the editor area

The **Editor area** of **Design Query** is available within the **Edit** tab and is provided for working directly with the SQL query text which is generated automatically while you build the query visually.

You can edit this text according to the rules of SQL, and all the changes will be displayed within the **Builder** tab respectively.

To learn more about the Query Data features available within the **Edit** tab, see <u>Working</u> with Query Data area 429.

Ŀ	🔛 Query Builder - [DemoDB on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005]										
	🔒 Da	atabases 🔻	· 🕵 🏞 • 💭 • 🕨 • = 📓 🖳 🗸 🗙 🛸 🛸 🚱 • 🖂								
	Builde	er Edit	Result								
	E	SELECT									
	2	Info	.Employee.EmployeeID,								
	з	Info	.Employee.NationalIDNumber,								
	4	Info	.Employee.Position,								
	5	Info	.Employee.Title,								
	6	Info	.Employee.MaritalStatus,								
	7	Info	. Employee.Gender,								
	8	Info	.Employee.BirthDate,								
	9	Info	. Contact. ContactID,								
	10	Info	. <u>Contact</u> .Title,								
	11	Info	. <u>Contact</u> .FirstName,								
	12	Info	. Employee.VacationHours,								
	13	Info	.Contact.LastName,								
	14	Info	.Contact.Suffix,								
	15	Info	.Contact.LastName,								
	16	Info	. Employee.VacationHours,								
	17	MAX (Info.Contact.ModifiedDate) AS Latest_modified								
	18	FROM									
	19	Info	.Contact								
	20	INNE	R JOIN <u>Info.Employee</u> ON (<u>Info.Contact</u> .ContactID = <u>Info.Employee</u> .Conta								
	21	WHERE									
	22	Info	.Employee.NationalIDNumber BETWEEN 1 AND 250 AND								
	23	Info	Employee.Gender IS NOT NULL AND								
	24	Info	. <u>Employee</u> .vacationHours >= 50								
	25	ORDER	BY								
	26	Info	. Employee . ModifiedDate,								
	27	Info	Employee Sicklesse Meure DEC								
	28		. Emproyee. SICKLEAVEROURS DESC								
	•										
	•	= 25	5 Modified Insert Highlighting Unicode (UCS-2)								

See also: Working with diagram area Query execution Query Data 42ଶ

6.2.9 Query execution

When all the query parameters are set, you can immediately **execute the query** in **Design Query**.

To execute a query, click the **Execute query** item of the Navigation bar 442. You can also use the *F9* hot key for the same purpose.

If the query parameters are specified correctly, the query is executed and, in case the

query statement is supposed to return data (e.g. as SELECT statement), the returned dataset appears within the **Result** tab.

If SQL syntax of the query contains any errors, the query execution is stopped and the corresponding error message is displayed in the status bar area at the bottom of the Design Query window.

Database 🎗								
AdventureWorks on TESTER2\{ >								
General 🛠								
Execute query								
Show estimated execution plan								
🛃 Clear query								
Le Create view								
🔱 Design Query options								
Restore default size								
Visual Builder 🛛 🕹								
Data Management 🛛 🕹								

By default, data returned by a query are displayed as a grid (see <u>Data View</u> 463) for details). The <u>context menu</u> 469) of the grid allows you to <u>Export Data</u> िंउने, <u>Export As SQL</u> <u>Script</u> विष्ठी.

Design Query - [AdventureWorks on TESTER2\SQL2017]											
Builder Edit Result											
<u>; </u>	m m ·= * *	- The									
Drag a column I						<u>^</u>					
∃ EmployeeID	NationalIDNumber	FirstName	LastName	Position	Title	MartialStatus					
1	687685941	Greg	Alderson	197	Production Technican - WC45	i S					
2	498138869	David	Johnsos	184	Production Technican - WC30	S					
3	360868122	Zheng	Mu	21	Production Technican - WC10	S					
4	964089218	lvo	Salmre	108	Production Technican - WC20	M					
≥ 5	384162788	Paul	Komosinski	87	Production Technican - WC40) S					
6	749389530	Ashvini	Sharma	150	Network Administrator	S					
7	571668797	Kendall	Keil	14	Production Technican - WC50	M					
8	538145551	Paula	Barreto de Mattos	140	Human Resources Manager	M					
9	761597760	Alejandro	McGuel	210	Production Technican - WC40	S					
10	271438431	Garrett	Young	184	Production Technican - WC30	S					
11	160739236	Jian Shhuo	Wang	135	Production Technican - WC30	S					
12	586486572	Susan	Eaton	85	Stocker	S					
13	337752649	Vamsi	Кирра	85	Shipping	м					
Grid View Forg	m View Pri <u>n</u> t Data <u>E</u>	lob View									
Fetched: 50/50			Read Only								
			v								
50 row(s) returned 50 rows returned (execution time: 0 ms; total time: 125 ms)											
23:	: 7 Modifi	ed Insert	Highlighting	g Unicode	(UCS-2)						

See also:

<u>Working with diagram area</u> बिक्से <u>Working with the editor area</u> बिठसे <u>Data View</u> बिठअे

6.2.10 Viewing query plan

Using SQL Manager for SQL Server, you can view **the plan** for each of the queries created and executed in the application. The query plan is available within the corresponding **Plan** tab.

To view the **Plan** of a query, open **Design Query** and use the **Plan** of a query, open **Design Query** and use the **Plan** item of the Navigation bar 442 or toolbar 444.

The **Plan** tab allows you to view the sequence of actions performed by the database server in the process of the query execution, and the amount of system resources used for the query execution.



If necessary, you can specify that the **Plan** tab appears automatically upon query execution in Design Query: select the **Show actual execution plan on query execution** option available within the <u>Tools | Design Query</u> [84] section of the <u>Environment</u> <u>Options</u> [825] dialog.

See also:

Query execution 455

6.3 Query parameters

Both <u>Query Data</u> [426] and <u>Design Query</u> [442] support parameters usage inside the query text. A parameter is a kind of variable for which a value can be specified just before the query execution. In the query text the parameter should appear as an identifier with a colon (':') at the beginning, e.g.

SELECT * FROM MYTABLE WHERE ID = :param1;

Note: The **Allow using of parameters in query text** option should be checked on the <u>Tools</u> [330] page of the <u>Environment Options</u> [325] dialog for this feature to be enabled.

See also:

<u>Query Data</u> 428 <u>Design Query</u> 442

6.3.1 Input parameters dialog

The **Input Parameters** dialog is used to specify the query parameters as well as values of the input parameters of the query before execution.

\\ Input P	arameters		x
prod_id	Null	1	•
mod_date	Null	01.01.2013 💌 14:00:00	
		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

The edit field for input parameters varies according to the column data type. For your convenience the *Calculator* and *Date editor* are implemented for *Numeric* and *Date and Time* types respectively: click the arrow-down button to call the *Calculator / Date editor* popup window.

Click **OK** button to apply the values and execute the query or click **Cancel** button to

abort execution.



7 Data Management

Table data and query results are displayed on the **Data** or **Results** tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 200, <u>Query Data</u> [426], <u>Design Query</u> [442], etc.

Data can be displayed in one of the following modes: **Grid View**, **Form View**, **Print Data**, **BLOB View**. See <u>Data View</u>^[463] to learn more about these modes. You are also provided with a number of <u>filtering tools</u>^[463] when working with your data.

- Data View 463
- <u>Custom Filter</u>517
- Filter Builder dialog 519

See also:

<u>Getting Started</u> 41 <u>Database Explorer</u> 63 <u>Database Management</u> 94 <u>Database Objects Management</u> 178 <u>Query Management Tools</u> 424 <u>Import/Export Tools</u> 530 <u>Database Tools</u> 511 <u>Server Tools</u> 715 <u>Personalization</u> 824 <u>External Tools</u> 909 <u>How To...</u> 957

7.1 Data View

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides you with powerful tools for **viewing, editing and printing data** from tables and queries:

- table / view data are available within the **Data** tab of <u>Table Editor</u>^[200] / <u>View Editor</u>^[246] correspondingly;
- upon a query execution [434] the returned dataset appears within the Result(s) tab of Query Data [426] / Design Query [442] (in Query Data the position of the tab depends on the Results on Edit tab / Results on separate tab selection in the Navigation bar [426]).

The data can be displayed in one of four available **modes**: *Grid View, Form View, Print Data* and *BLOB View*. The **status bar** at the bottom displays the number of records in the current dataset, the time the records were fetched by the application and the status of the records (whether the data are read-only or editable).

Please see the succeeding chapters to learn how to work with your data in the simplest and most efficient way.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbars 463
- Grid View 465
- Form View 484
- Print Data 485
- BLOB View 505
- Applying changes 516

See also:

<u>Custom Filter</u>ୋମୀ <u>Filter Builder dialog</u>ନୀ୭ <u>Table Editor</u>ା2୦୦୦ <u>View Editor</u>1246

7.1.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbars

When the **Data** tab (in <u>Table Editor</u> مراجعة), <u>View Editor</u> (246)) or the **Result(s)** tab (in <u>Query</u> <u>Data</u> (426), <u>Design Query</u> (442)) is selected, the <u>Navigation bars</u> (15) of these tools contain the **Data Management** group which allows you to:

***** commit transaction (if the Use transactions in object editors, Query Data and Design Query option is selected in the <u>Data Options</u> 123 section of the <u>Database Registration Info</u> 116 dialog)

X rollback transaction (if the Use transactions in object editors, Query Data and Design Query option is selected in the <u>Data Options</u> 123 section of the <u>Database Registration Info</u> 116 dialog)

📲 <u>export data</u>व्यक्ते

- export data as SQL script 593
- 👕 import data जिनी (in Table Editor only)
- 🕆 bulk insert ि (in Table Editor only)



Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select O *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or O *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

The Navigation pane contains toolbars allowing you to:

- go to the first record of the dataset;
- go to the previous page;
- go to the previous record;
- go to the next record;
- go to the next page;
- go to the last record of the dataset;
- insert a new record (in Table Editor only);
- delete the selected record (in Table Editor only);
- edit the selected record (in Table Editor only);
- post 518 edit (in Table Editor only);
- cancel edit (in Table Editor only);
- refresh data;
- set bookmark;
- go to saved bookmark;
- call the <u>Filter Builder</u> 519 dialog;
- search for a string in the currently selected column data;
- show linked details table;
- specify the maximum number of records (record limit) for displaying data (in *Table Editor*, *View Editor* only);
- navigate within the dataset using the specified record limit (in *Table Editor*, *View Editor* only).

• \times (≥ | * Find: 1000

The **Toolbar** of the <u>Print Data</u> [485] mode allows you to:

- customize the report using <u>Report Formatter</u> [491] and the <u>Report Options</u> [499] dialog;
- load a report from an external *.rps file;
- save the current report to an external *.rps file;
- print the report using the default printer;
- set printing options using the standard Print 504 dialog;
- call the <u>Page Setup</u> [486] dialog;

- show/hide report thumbnails;
- customize the <u>Report Title</u> 500;
- add <u>Date and Time</u> [502], <u>Page Numbering</u> [502], show/hide empty pages;
- shrink the report to the page;
- specify background color;
- zoom in/out, setup zoom 503, zoom page width, whole page, two/four/multiple pages;
- select the active page of the report;
- go to first/previous/next/last page of the report.

```
i 👍 - 🤌 🖟 🔒 🍇 🗋 🔠 🗐 - 嗋 🗞 🖹 - 🖶 🗐 🖽 🗐 100% 🕒 🦛 🖛 1 👘 🌩 🖚 💂
```

The **Toolbar** of the <u>BLOB View</u> [505] mode allows you to:

- select a BLOB column;
- select encoding (ANSI, UTF-8, UNICODE-16);
- load BLOB content from an external file;
- save the BLOB column content to an external file;
- cut/copy/paste selected text to/from clipboard (enabled for the Text and Rich Text tabs only);
- undo changes;
- print the text (enabled for the Text, Rich Text and HTML tabs only);
- select font to be applied to the selected text (enabled for the Rich Text tab only);
- select font size to be applied to the selected text (enabled for the Rich Text tab only);
- make the selected text bold/italic/underlined (enabled for the Rich Text tab only);
- align left/center/right (enabled for the Rich Text tab only);
- add/remove list bullets (enabled for the *Rich Text* tab only).

DESCRIPTION -	ANSI 👻	🤌 🔚 🕷 🖻 🙆 🦘	🕂 🕂 Arial Unicode M: 🔹	8	≑ 🖪 🖊 🖳		Ŧ
---------------	--------	-------------	------------------------	---	---------	--	---

See also: Grid View 46ଟି Form View 484 Print Data 48ଟି BLOB View 50ଟି Applying changes 51ଟି Customize toolbars and menus 94୩

7.1.2 Grid View

By default, data returned by a query are displayed as a grid. It is indicated by the **Grid View** tab selected on the View mode panel at the bottom of the **Results** area of the window.

When in the **Grid View** mode, the columns correspond to the fields and the rows correspond to the records.

If more convenient, you can <u>change the order</u> of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally. Clicking the column caption sorts data by the values of this column

in the ascending or the descending mode. The <u>navigation pane</u> 464 at the top of the grid allows you to browse the data quickly, to insert, update and delete records, and to set a <u>filter</u> 469 for the records using the <u>Filter Builder</u> 519 dialog and other tools.

The <u>Navigation bar</u>[463] of the parent window, <u>toolbars</u>[464] and the <u>context menu</u>[472] of the grid provide you with a number of data management functions: <u>Export Data</u>[531], <u>Import</u> <u>Data</u>[571], <u>Export as SQL Script</u>[593] and more.

- <u>Customizing columns</u> 467
- Grouping data within the grid 467
- Filtering records 469
- Using the context menu 472
- Working in multi-level mode 473
- Browsing data in card view 481
- Column Summary 482
- Copying records 483

Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign	Keys Checks	Indices Trigge	rs Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions		
	4 🕨 🙌	₩ + - + •	/ × 🛥 \star 😽 🕇	Find:	F	2	1000 🗘				
Drag a	column he	ader here to gr	oup by that column								^
Emple Emple	oyeeKey	FirstName	LastName	Title				Mid	IdleName	NameStyle	
	1	Guy	Gilbert	Prod	uction Technician	- WC60		R			
	2	Kevin	Brown	Mark	eting Assistant			F			
•	3	Roberto	Tamburello	Engi	neering Manager			Nul	I		
	4	Rob	Walters	Seni	or Tool Designer			Nul	I		
	5	Mike	Mayers	Cont	rol Specialist			Nul	I		
	6	Thierry	D'Hers	Tool	Designer			В			
	7	David	Bradley	Mark	eting Manager			М			
•	8	David	Bradley	Mark	eting Manager			М			
	9	JoLynn	Dobney	Prod	uction Supervisor	- WC60		М			
	10	Ruth	Ellerbrock	Prod	uction Technician	WC10		An	n		
	11	Gail	Erickson	Desi	gn Engineer			A			
	12	Barry	Johnson	Prod	uction Technician	WC10		к			
₽	13	Jossef	Goldberg	Desi	gn Engineer			Н			
	14	Terri	Duffy	Vice	President of Engin	eering		Lee	;		
	15	Sidney	Higa	Prod	uction Technician	WC10		М			
	16	Taylor	Maxwell	Prod	uction Supervisor	- WC50		R			~
<											>
Grid Vie	w <u>F</u> orm	View Pri <u>n</u> t Da	ta <u>B</u> lob View								
Fetched:	296/296								Recor	rds selected: 3	

Hint: To increase the speed of opening tables and views with extremely large number of records, you can use options of the **Limit options in table and view editors** group available in the <u>Grid | Data Options</u> [857] section of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog.

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u> बिडो Form View बि8यी <u>Print Data</u>48ଶ୍ର <u>BLOB View</u>5୦୫ <u>Applying changes</u>51ଶ୍ର

7.1.2.1 Customizing columns

Selecting visible columns

When working in the **Grid View** mode, you can specify which columns of the current

dataset will be visible. Click the \exists button available in the top left corner of the data grid and select/deselect columns in the drop-down list to specify their visibility/invisibility.



Changing columns order

For your convenience the possibility to *change the order* of the columns in the data grid is available. To reorder columns, drag a column header horizontally to a place in between two other column headers indicated with green arrows.

			- • -	
	FIRST_NAME LAST_NAME	POSITION		BIRTH_DATE
			⊕	

See also: <u>Grouping data</u>467 <u>Filtering records</u>469 <u>Working in multi-level mode</u>473 <u>Working in card view mode</u>481 <u>Column Summary</u>482

7.1.2.2 Grouping and sorting data

In order to **sort data**, do the following: open data at the **Data** or **Results** tab, choose the column by which you need to sort data and click the column title.

If the column was not sorted, the first click will sort it in the ascending order and the

second one - in the descending order.

Clear Sorting

To cancel the sorting, open the context menu by right-clicking the necessary column and choose the **Clear Sorting** item, or press the *Ctrl* button and click the column title.

If necessary, you can group the data in grid by any of the columns.

This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray "**Group by**" **box** area at the top. In order to display this area, select the \boxed{V} **Show** "**Group by**" **box** option available in the <u>Grid</u> states section of the <u>Environment Options</u> states dialog.

When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the records are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value as displayed in the screenshot below. The grouping row can contain the column summary information specified in the **Group header** group of the <u>Column Summary</u> [482] dialog.

To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back. Hint: While dragging the column header back, you can also <u>change the column position</u> 467।

Colu <u>m</u> n		ns	Foreign <u>K</u> ey	s <u>C</u> hecks	Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	ies Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> scriptio	n DD <u>L</u>	Permissions	
	44	44	4 🕨 🗰	₩ + - 4	• ~ X	◦ * *	🗧 🕈 🕴 Fi	ind:	6	🖕 i 100	0 🔹 🔊	Ŧ	
													^
1	EmployeeKey FirstN			FirstName	La	astName		MiddleName	NameStyle		HireDate	BirthDate	
Title : Network Administrator													
			30	Ashvini	Sh	arma		R			04.07.200	8 25.10.1976	_
			192	Peter	Co	nnelly		1			23.09.200	8 27.12.1979	_
	Title : Network Manager												
	Title : North American Sales Manager												
	Title : Pacific Sales Manager												
Title : Production Control Manager													
			23	Peter	Kre	ebs		J			01.07.200	8 03.06.1982	
Title : Production Supervisor - WC10													
			27	Zheng	Mu			w			03.07.200	8 26.05.1983	
			66	Cristian	Pet	tculescu		к			22.07.200	8 10.11.1983	
			189	Andrew	Hill			R			22.09.200	8 06.04.1988	
Title : Production Supervisor - WC20												· · ·	
	Title : Production Supervisor - WC30												
			138	Cynthia	Ra	ndall		S			27.08.200	8 18.03.1981	
			177	Michael	Ra	у		Sean			15.09.200	8 29.08.1988	
			188	Jack	Ric	hins		S			21.09.200	8 20.01.1983	_
Title : Production Supervisor - WC40												1	
Title - Production Supervisor - WC45													~
< >>													
Grid View Form View Print Data Blob View													
Fe	tch	ed: 2	96/296										
If necessary, you can group data by two or more columns. In this case column headers are displayed hierarchically, and data are grouped by these columns in the order the column headers appear in the **Group by** area.

Colu <u>m</u> ns Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks Indices	Triggers Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions
	+ ×	🛥 米 🦮 👻 Find	t:	6	= 1000	+ >	Ŧ
HireDate △ Gende	r 🛆						^
EmployeeKey	FirstName	LastName	Title				MiddleName
□ HireDate : 28.01.20	06						
Gender : M	1	I	1				
1	Guy	Gilbert	Production Techn	iician - W	C60		R
HireDate : 26.08.20	06						
Gender : M							
2	Kevin	Brown	Marketing Assista	ant			F
HireDate : 11.06.20	07						
Gender : M							
3	Roberto	Tamburello	Engineering Mana	iger			Null
HireDate : 05.07.20	07						
Gender : M		1					
4	Rob	Walters	Senior Tool Desig	iner			Null
5	Mike	Mayers	Control Specialist				Null
□ HireDate : 11.07.20	07						
Gender : M	1						
6	Thierry	D'Hers	Tool Designer				В
HireDate : 20.07.20	07						
Gender : M							×
<	·	·	·				>
Grid View Form View	Pri <u>n</u> t Data <u>B</u> lob	View					
Fetched: 296/296							

See also:

<u>Customizing columns</u>बित्ने <u>Filtering records</u>बित्के <u>Working in multi-level mode</u>बिन्जे <u>Working in card view mode</u>बिन्ने <u>Column Summary</u>बिश्चे

7.1.2.3 Filtering records

A number of **filtering** facilities are implemented in the grid for your convenience. You can filter records in the grid in either of the following ways:

• right-click a row and select the **Quick Filter** context menu item to filter records by the current value of the selected column;

Colu <u>m</u> ns Foreign <u>K</u> eys <u>C</u> h	ecks Indices Tr	iggers Properties	Dependencies	s D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions	
		* 铼 🔻 Find:		0	= 1000	‡ >>	÷	
Drag a column header here	to group by that co	olumn					-	^
EmployeeKey FirstNar	ne LastName	e Title				Mid	IdleName	Nar
I Guy	Gilbert	Produc	ction Technicia	n - WC60		R		
2 Kevin	Copy Ce	ell Ctri	i+ins ant			F		
3 Roberto	Paste Ce	ell Shift	t+Ins ager			Nul	I	
4 Rob	Copy All	Records Shift+Ci	trl+C iner			Nul	I	
5 Mike	Copy Se	elected Records				Nul	I	
6 Thierry	Basta Da	ecorde Shift+O	trla V			В		
7 David		ecords Sillit+Ci	er			М		
8 David	Data Mar	nipulation	▶ er			М		
9 JoLynn	Quick Fil	lter	•	= Value	Ctrl+Q	М		
10 Ruth	Disable F	Filter		<> Value		An	n	
11 Gail	Clear Se			< Value	, 	A		
12 Barry	Clear So	orung		< value		к		
13 Jossef	Set <u>V</u> alu	e	•	> Value		н		
14 Terri	Edit BLO)B Ct	trl+B	<= Value		Lee	•	
15 Sidney	Save BL	OB to File		>= Value		M		
16 Taylor			VISO	or - WC50		R		
17 Jeffrey	Grid Lev	/els	icia	n - WC10		L		
18 Jo	Column S	S <u>u</u> mmary	viso	or - WC60		A		
19 Doris	Visible C	Columns	icia	n - WC10		М		
20 John	Eit Colum	na Widtha Ctrl+A	viso	or - WC60		T		× *
<	Pil Colum	nns <u>w</u> idths Ctri+A						>
Grid View Form View Pr	Int C Grid Mod	de	•					
Fetched: 296/296	Propertie	es						

 click the Arrow-Down button next to the column caption to display the drop-down list and select any of the column values to filter records by this value of the selected column;

Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign	<u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Proper	rties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD	L	\sim
	4 🕨	• •••	+ - +	• ~ X	★ 🐄	T F	Find:		2	1000	+	»	Ţ
Drag a (column he	ader h	nere to gro	up by tha	it column								^
≣ Emplo	oyeeKey	First	Name	LastN	ame	בן	Title				Y	Midd	1
≥	1	Guy		Gilber	1		(All) etom)			^	R	
	2	Kevir	ı	Brown	ı		,cu ⊐ Aco	countant				F	
	3	Robe	rto	Tambu	irello			counts Manager				Null	-
	4	Rob		Walter	s		Ac	counts Payable S	pecialist			Null	-
	5	Rob		Walter	s		Aco	counts Receivab	le Specia	list		Null	-
	6	Thier	ry	D'Hers	\$			plication Specialis	st			в	-
	7	David	ł	Bradle	y		_ Ass	sistant to the Chi	ef Financ	ial Officer		М	-
	8	David	ł	Bradle	y] Ber	er specialist				М	-
	9	JoLy	nn	Dobne	y		Chi	ef Executive Offi	cer			М	-
	10	Ruth		Ellerbr	ock		_ Chi	ef Financial Offic	er			Ann	-
	11	Gail		Ericks	on		Cor	ntrol Specialist				A	-
	12	Barry	/	Johns	on		Dat	abase Administra	ator			к	-
	13	Joss	ef	Goldb	erg	—Ļ	_ Des	sign Engineer			×	н	-
	14	Terri		Duffy		v	/ice Pi	resident of Engin	eering			Lee	-
	15	Sidne	ey	Higa		P	roduc	tion Technician -	WC10			М	-
	16	Taylo	r	Maxw	ell	P	roduc	tion Supervisor	WC50			R	-
	17	Jeffr	ev	Ford		P	roduc	tion Technician -	WC10			L	~
<												>	
Grid Viev	W Eorm	View	Print Dat	a <u>B</u> lob	View								
Fetched: 2	296/296												

or

- click the Arrow-Down button next to the column caption to display the drop-down list, then select the **Custom** item and build a simple filter using the <u>Custom Filter</u> [517] dialog;
- use the **Set filter I** button on the <u>navigation pane</u>⁴⁶⁴ to invoke the <u>Filter Builder</u>⁵¹⁹ dialog and create a composite filter using the dialog.

After the filter is set, the gray **filtering panel** becomes visible at the bottom of the grid. This panel allows you to see the active filtering condition and easily enable or disable it using the checkbox on the left. The Arrow-down button opens the drop-down menu which allows you to browse the filter history for this dataset.

If necessary, you can click the **Customize...** button on the right to customize your filter and add more complicated filtering conditions within the Filter Builder and dialog.



To remove the current filter, click the 🗳 Close button.

See also: <u>Customizing columns</u> 467 <u>Grouping data</u> 467 <u>Custom Filter</u> 517 <u>Filter Builder dialog</u> 519

7.1.2.4 Using the context menu

The **context menu** of the grid is aimed at facilitating your work with data: you can perform a variety of operations using the context menu items:

Ē	Copy Cell	Ctrl+Ins		echni	cian - WC60			
	Beete Cell	Chiffulne		sista	nt			
••••	Paste Cell	Shift+ins		lana	ger			
	Copy All <u>R</u> ecords	Shift+Ctrl+C		esigi	ner			
	Copy Selected Reco	ords		alist				
	Paste Records	Shift+Ctrl+V		-				
	Data Manipulation		•	nage	r			
				nage	r			
	Quick <u>F</u> ilter		►	Iper	visor - WC60			
	Disable Filter			chnician - WC10				
	Clear Sorting			eer				
	Sat Value				chnician - WC10			
			·	eer				
-	Edit BLOB	Ctrl+B		nt of Engineering				
	Save BLOB to File			chnician - WC10				
	Grid Levels		•	pervisor - WC50				
			·	chni	cian - WC10			
	Column Summary			Jper\	visor - WC60			
	Visible <u>C</u> olumns		►	chni	ician - WC10			
	Fit Columns Widths	Ctrl+Alt+W		Iper	visor - WC60			
	Grid <u>M</u> ode		•		Load <u>A</u> ll Rows			
华	Properties				Load <u>V</u> isible Rows			
]]]	J	_	~	<u>D</u> efault			

- copy the selected cell value to Windows clipboard;
- paste the clipboard content to the currently selected cell;
- copy/paste multiple records;
- data manipulation: <u>Export Data</u> [531] from the table, <u>Import Data</u> [571] to the table, <u>Export Data as SQL Script</u> [593], <u>Bulk Insert</u> [502];
- set/disable Quick Filter 469;
- clear sorting;
- set a value for the selected cell: NULL, Empty string (for string columns), Now (for

TIME columns), "Zero" (for DATE columns);

- edit the BLOB value or save the BLOB to file using BLOB viewer/editor 505;
- show linked details (automatically add <u>grid levels</u> [473] on the basis of existing foreign keys)
- expand/collapse grid levels 473 and navigate within the tabs;
- manage grid levels: <u>add a new grid level</u> [474], delete the current grid level (this item is enabled only when the detail level exists and is currently focused);
- switch to the <u>Card View</u> [481] mode;
- view <u>Column Summary</u> [482];
- select visible/invisible columns of the dataset;
- fit column width for better representation;
- specify the grid mode: Load All Rows, Load Visible Rows, Default;
- view/edit <u>grid properties</u> 855].

Note: If the Show editor immediately and Always show editor options on the <u>Environment options</u> | Grid [855] tab are checked then the context menu of a grid can be evoked by selecting the necessary cell and right-clicking the table header. Otherwise, right-clicking the cell evokes the cell editing menu.

7.1.2.5 Working in multi-level mode

One of unique features of SQL Manager for SQL Server is the ability to work with data in multi-level mode to view and modify data in several related tables simultaneously.

To manage grid levels, right-click the grid and select the **Grid Levels** $\frac{\text{context menu}}{\text{group. Items of this group allow you to: ____}}$

- add a new grid level using Create Grid Level Wizard 474;
- delete the current grid level;
- switch between the ordinary *Table View* and the <u>Card View</u> [481] modes.

474 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Colur	<u>m</u> ns	Foreign	<u>K</u> eys <u>C</u> h	ecks Indices	Triggers Propert	es Dependencies	Data Description DDL F	ermissions				
144	44	4 🕨)	+ **	×	🛥 🗶 🐂 🔽 🛛 Fi	nd:	🗟 📮 🗄 1000 🔹 🔊 🚬	-				
Dra ;₌ D	ig a i epai	column he rtmentG	ader here	to group by tha	t column			^				
rc "	roupKey Societation											
B Document Control												
	d	bo.DimEm	ployee	-								
	1	Employee	Key	FirstName	LastName	MiddleName	Title	NameStyle				
	►		216	Chris	Norred	к	Control Specialist					
			165	Karen	Berge	R	Document Control Assistant					
			130	Sean	Chai	N	Document Control Assistant					
			92	Zainal	Arifin	Т	Document Control Manager					
			56	Tengiz	Kharatishvili	Ν	Control Specialist					
	<		I					>				
+]	9	Engineerin	g								
+]	10	Executive									
+]	11	Facilities a	nd Maintenance	e							
	ا ا	12	Finance									
	d	bo.DimEm	ployee									
	1	Employe	eKey	FirstName	LastName	MiddleName	Title	NameStyle 🔨				
			220	Mike	Seamans	к	Accountant					
			205	Janet	Sheperdigian	L	Accounts Payable Specialist					
			182	Barbara	Moreland	С	Accountant					
			170	Dragan	Tomic	к	Accounts Payable Specialist					
			61	Deborah	Poe	E	Accounts Receivable Specialist					
			133	Bryan	Walton	А	Accounts Receivable Specialist					
	<				l	1.						
Orid	View		View Dri	nt Data Blob \	/iew							
Grid	viev	W 101	FIL									
etch	ied: /	21/21					J					

See also:

Using the context menu⁴⁷²

Create Grid Level wizard 474

7.1.2.5.1 Create Grid Level wizard

Create Grid Level Wizard allows you to add a new detail level to the grid in order to get master-detail representation of your data.

To start the wizard, right-click the grid, select the **Grid Levels** context menu[472] group and proceed to the **Add Grid Level...** item within this group.



- Specifying master level 475
- Selecting source table 476
- Binding master and detail levels 478
- Query parameterization 479
- Setting additional parameters [480]
- 7.1.2.5.1.1 Specifying master level

Use the drop-down list to select the table of the **master level** to which a new level will be added.

Source of new level data

Select the source type of the new level data:
 Table or
 Query.

Create Grid Level Wizard	×
Create Grid Level Wizar	3
Specify master level ar	d data source of new level
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the Create Grid Level Wizard! This wizard allows you to add a new detail level to a grid in order to get master-detail representation of your data. This wizard will guide you through the process of choosing a destination (master) level which a new level will be added to, specifying the source of the new data level and its binding to the existing one. Select master level to add a new level to dbo.DimCustomer
<u>H</u> elp	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining source for detail level</u> [476] step to select a table for the detail level or input a query, depending on whether the **O Table** or the **O Query** option has been selected.

7.1.2.5.1.2 Defining source for detail level

If the **Table** option has been selected at the <u>previous step</u> 475, you should now specify a table for the detail view using the **Table name** drop-down list. Set the **Show tables related by foreign keys only** option to narrow the list of tables by including only tables linked by Foreign keys.

Create Grid Level Wizard			×
Create Grid Level Wizard			
Select table			
	Select the source ta	able for the level	
	Table name	dbo.FactInternetSales ~	•
	Show tables related	lated by foreign keys only	
SQL			
for			
SQL Server			
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > C	ancel

If the **Ouery** option has been selected at the previous step 475, you should now enter a query that will be used as the source of the new grid level. If necessary, you can use Design Query 442 to build the SQL query visually.

Create Grid Level Wizard		×
Create Grid Level Wizard		
Input query text		
276	Input Quer colur	SQL query that will be a data source of new grid level. y should be ordered by columns that will be bound to mns of the master level.
	1	SELECT
	2	dbo.DimCustomer.CustomerKey,
SQL	3	dbo.DimCustomer.GeographyKey,
Manager	4	dbo.DimCustomer.Title,
for	5	dbo.DimCustomer.FirstName,
SQL Server	6	dbo.FactInternetSales.CustomerKey,
	7	dbo.FactInternetSales.ProductKey,
	8	dbo.FactInternetSales.UnitPrice
	9	FROM
	10	dbo.DimCustomer
		INNER JOIN dbo.FactInternetSales ON (dbo.
	101	$\underline{\text{DimCustomer}}$.CustomerKey = $\underline{\text{dbo}}$.
	•	LFactInternetSales.CustomerKev)
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Binding master and detail levels</u> [478] step of the wizard.

7.1.2.5.1.3 Binding master and detail levels

Define pairs of columns to link the Master Level and the Detail Level data sources:

- select a column in the Master Level Key Columns list;
- select a corresponding column in the Detail Level Key Columns list;
- click **Add** to set correspondence between the selected columns.

The newly created correspondences are listed in the **Links Between Master and Detail Levels** area. If necessary, you can delete any correspondence using the the **Remove** button.

The **From Foreign Key...** menu is available if the **Show tables related by foreign keys only** option has been selected at the <u>previous step</u> 476. This menu allows you to select the <u>foreign key</u> 221 to be used for identifying master-detail levels (if the table has more than one foreign key relation).

Create Grid Level Wizard				Х
Create Grid Level Wizard				
Bind master and detail leve	ls			
SQL Manager	Master Level Key Columns CustomerKey GeographyKey CustomerAlternateKey Title FirstName	^ ~	Detail Level Key Columns CustomerKey PromotionKey CurrencyKey SalesTerritoryKey SalesOrderNumber	^
for SQL Server	Add Links Between Custome	n Mas rKey	Remove ster and Detail Levels = CustomerKey	
Help		< <u>E</u>	Back Next > Cancel	

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting additional parameters</u> [480] step or to the <u>Query parameterization</u> [479] step of the wizard if **Query** was selected at the <u>Specifying</u> <u>master level</u> [475] step of the wizard.

7.1.2.5.1.4 Query parameterization

If **Query** was selected at the <u>Specifying master level</u> [475] step of the wizard, you should now transform the query to a parameterized form that will be used in the 'Load visible rows' Grid Mode (see the <u>Grid | Data Options</u> [857] section of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog to get more information about grid modes offered by SQL Manager).

Create Grid Level Wizard		×
Create Grid Level Wizard		
Make parameterized form	n of the query	
	At this step you need to transform your query to a parameterized form. It will be used in "Load Visible Rows" mode in the Grid. NOTE that you need to add conditions to WHERE parts of the query that bind the query columns to the columns of the master level. The master column names shou be written as query parameters (started with ':' symbol). Please correct the WHERE part that is added to the end of the query. Also you can edit or remove ORDER BY clause.	ıld
SQL Manager for SQL Server	<pre>8 dbo.FactInternetSales.UnitPrice 9 FROM 10 dbo.DimCustomer INNER JOIN dbo.FactInternetSales ON (dbo. 11 DimCustomer.CustomerKey = dbo. 12 FactInternetSales.CustomerKey) 12 /* Correct the WHERE clause below and move 13 it to appropriate part of 14 the query code */ 15 WHERE CustomerKey = :CustomerKey</pre>	~
<u>H</u> elp	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel	

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting additional parameters</u> [480] step of the wizard.

7.1.2.5.1.5 Setting additional parameters

Level caption

Set the caption to be used for the new level in the grid.

Level type

Select the type of view you wish to be applied to the grid level:

Table view or
Card view.

Create Grid Level Wizard		×
Create Grid Level Wizard		
Enter level caption and se	t its type	
	You have completed the steps required to create a grid level. Set the caption of the level that will be displayed at the top of the level data if the corresponding option is on. Also select a type of the level: table or card view.	
	Level caption dbo.FactInternetSales	
SQL	Level type	
for	Table view	
SQL Server	O Card view	
	Click "Finish" to create a new grid level.	
<u>H</u> elp	< <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> inish Cancel	

When you are done, click the **Finish** button to complete the operation.

7.1.2.6 Working in card view mode

Depending on your preferences, you can represent data in the **Table View** or in the **Card View** modes.

To switch to the **Card View** mode of data representation, right-click the grid, expand the **Grid Levels** context menu 472 group and select the **Card View** item within this group.

Columns Foreign Keys Ct	hecks Indices	Triggers Properties Dep	endencies Dat	a Description DDL	Permissions	
	• × × •	* 🐂 🔽 Find:	2	1000 🗘 🔊 🥊		
EmployeeKey:	1	EmployeeKey:	2	EmployeeKey:	3	EmployeeKey:
FirstName:	Guy	FirstName:	Kevin	FirstName:	Roberto	FirstName:
LastName:	Gilbert	LastName:	Brown	LastName:	Tamburello	LastName:
MiddleName:	R	MiddleName:	F	MiddleName:	Null	MiddleName:
NameStyle:		NameStyle:		NameStyle:		NameStyle:
Title:	Production T	Title:	Marketing As	Title:	Engineering	Title:
HireDate:	28.01.2006	HireDate:	26.08.2006	HireDate:	11.06.2007	HireDate:
BirthDate:	12.11.1981	BirthDate:	01.12.1986	BirthDate:	12.06.1974	BirthDate:
LoginID:	adventure-w	LoginID:	adventure-w	LoginID:	adventure-w	LoginID:
EmailAddress:	guy1@adve	EmailAddress:	kevin0@adv	EmailAddress:	roberto0@a(EmailAddress:
Phone:	320-555-019	Phone:	150-555-018	Phone:	212-555-018	Phone:
MaritalStatus:	М	MaritalStatus:	s	MaritalStatus:	М	MaritalStatus:
EmergencyContactName:	Guy Gilbert	EmergencyContactName:	Kevin Browr	EmergencyContactName:	Roberto Tam	EmergencyContactNar
EmergencyContactPhone:	320-555-019	EmergencyContactPhone:	150-555-018	EmergencyContactPhone:	212-555-018	EmergencyContactPho
SalariedFlag:		SalariedFlag:		SalariedFlag:	\checkmark	SalariedFlag:
Gender:	М	Gender:	М	Gender:	М	Gender:
PayFrequency:	1	PayFrequency:	2	PayFrequency:	2	PayFrequency:
BaseRate:	12,4500	BaseRate:	13,4615	BaseRate:	43,2692	BaseRate:
VacationHours:	21	VacationHours:	42	VacationHours:	2	VacationHours:
SickLeaveHours:	30	SickLeaveHours:	41	SickLeaveHours:	21	SickLeaveHours:
CurrentFlag:	\checkmark	CurrentFlag:	\checkmark	CurrentFlag:	\checkmark	CurrentFlag:
SalesPersonFlag:		SalesPersonFlag:		SalesPersonFlag:		SalesPersonFlag:
DepartmentName:	Production	DepartmentName:	Marketing	DepartmentName:	Engineering	DepartmentName:
Y		¥		¥		×
<						>
Grid View Form View Pr	rint Data Blob \	/iew				
Established: 206/206	<u></u>					
Fetched. 290/290				J	ļ	

See also:

Using the context menu 472

7.1.2.7 Column Summary

If necessary, you can select the **Column Summary...** <u>context menu</u> 472 item to open the **Column Summary** dialog which allows you to set the summary for each particular column that will be displayed in the grid *footer*, *group header* and *group footer* areas.

Column Summary							×			
Column	~	Summary								
EmployeeKey		Group header		Group footer		 Footer summary — None 				
ParentEmployeeKey EmployeeNationalIDAltern		⊖ Sum		Sum		⊖ Sum				
ParentEmployeeNationallE		Minimum		Minimum		Minimum				
SalesTerritoryKey FirstName		Maximum		Maximum		Maximum				
LastName		Count		◯ Count		◯ Count				
MiddleName NameStyle		○ Average		○ Average		O Average				
Title										
HireDate		Number format	_	Number format		Number format	_			
BirthDate	•									
				<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> a	ncel <u>H</u> elp				

The **Column** list displays all columns of the dataset. Select a column and specify which information should be displayed in the grid as summary for this column:

- 💿 None
- Sum (for numeric types only)
- Minimum (for numeric and date/time types only)
- Maximum (for numeric and date/time types only)
- 💿 Count
- Average (for numeric types only)

Use the **Number format** edit boxes in each group to specify the preferable format summary info representation.

See also:

Using the context menu⁴⁷²

7.1.2.8 Copying records

When you copy several records to clipboard and paste them into the grid, you are offered to set correspondence between columns of the clipboard and columns of the target SQL Server table using the **Associate Columns** dialog.

Associate Columns			×						
Clipboard Columns	^	Grid Columns	^						
LoginID		LoginID							
EmailAddress		EmailAddress							
Phone		Phone							
MaritalStatus		MaritalStatus							
EmergencyContactName	\mathbf{v}	EmergencyContactName	v						
Add Add All Remove Remove All									
ParentEmployeeKe	00a	ParentEmployeeKey							
EmployeeNationalIDAlternateKe	y -	EmployeeNationalIDAlternateKey							
FirstNam	e =	FirstName							
LastNam	e =	LastName	•						
First row is a header									
	(<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp							

The **Clipboard Columns** and **Grid Columns** lists display the source and target dataset columns respectively. Set correspondence between the source clipboard columns and the table columns:

- select a source clipboard column in the Clipboard Columns list;
- select the corresponding column the target table in the **Grid Columns** list;
- click the Add button to set correspondence between the selected columns;
- the pair of columns appears in the Links between... list below;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need copy.

Use the **Add All** button to add all columns to the **Links between...** list on the basis of their order.

To remove a correspondence, select the pair of columns in the **Links between**... list and press the **Remove** button.

To remove all correspondences, press the **Remove All** button.

First row is a header

This option specifies that the first row of the associated columns will be taken as the column header.

7.1.3 Form View

The **Form View** tab allows you to view data as a form. To activate this type of data view, select the **Form View** tab on the View mode panel at the bottom of the window.

The form displays the current record: column names on the left and the corresponding

values on the right. If the columns are available for editing, you can edit the record directly on this form. The <u>navigation pane</u> 464 at the top of the form allows you to browse the data quickly, to insert, update and delete records, and to set a filter for the records using the <u>Filter Builder</u> 519 dialog.

Colu <u>m</u> ns Foreign Keys Checks Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions
	△ * *	Find:		6	1000	+ >	Ŧ
DepartmentGroupKey int	Null			6			
ParentDepartmentGroupKey	Null			1 🚔			
DepartmentGroupNameivarchar(50)	Null	Researc	h and Developme	ent			
<							>
Grid View Form View Print Data							
Fetched: 7/7							

Each row has a \blacksquare **Null** checkbox which allows you to clear the column value and set it to NULL (if the column is nullable).

See also: Using Navigation bar and Toolbars 4ଶ୍ରେ Grid View 46ଣି Print Data 48ଣି BLOB View 60ଣି Applying changes 51ଣି

7.1.4 Print Data

Using the **Print Data** tab you can view data in the way they are printed, in WYSIWYG mode.

When in **Print Data** mode, you are provided with a powerful *context menu* and <u>toolbar</u>^[464] allowing you to design a report, change the view scope, save reports and load previously saved ones, set <u>report options</u>^[499], and specify a number of <u>printing</u>^[504] parameters using <u>Report Formatter</u>^[491] and the <u>Page Setup</u>^[486] dialog.

Colum	ns Properti	es Foreign <u>K</u> eys	<u>C</u> h	necks	Ind	lices T <u>r</u> iggers F	lules	Policies D	ependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	De	scrip	tion DDL	<u>P</u> i < - 2
<u></u>	• 📔 🔒	C	; ;;;		P	🔊 🗈 📲		🗄 🗐 100	₩ •	+ 1		÷	→ →> _₹	
Marg	gins Le	ft: 12,7 mm	То	op:	12	2,7 mm Right:	12,	7 mm E	Bottom: 1	2,7 mr	n He	ader	: 6,4 m	n Fc
[^			`
	public.Order	s										11		
	Order ID	Order Date	Or Qu	der Jantity		Sales	Ship M	lode	Profit	l	Unit			
	3	13.10.2010			6	261,54	Regula	ar Air	-2	13,25				
	6	20.02.2012			2	6,93	Regula	ar Air		-4,64				
	31	15.07.2011			26	2 808,08	Regula	ar Air	1 0	54,82	_			ר ו
	32	15.07.2011			24	1 761,4	Delive	ry Truck	-17	48,56				
	33	15.07.2011			23	160,2335	Regula	ar Air	-8	5,129		>		
	34	15.07.2011			15	140.56	Denuls	r Air	-13	28,38				
	35	22.10.2011		₩.	De	sign Report Ctrl	+D	r Air		50,72				
	36	22.10.2011		ß	Pag	ge Setup		r Air	4	8,987		Ч		
	37	02.11.2011			Shr	rink To Page		r Air	65	7,477				
	65	17.03.2011			_			r Air	1.	470,3				
	38	15.07.2008		1	Zo	om	•	r Air					Press.	
	39	15.07.2008		1	Firs	st Page Ctrl+Ho	me	y Truck						
	40	15.07.2008		1	Pre	evious Page Ctrl+	Up	r Air			~			\sim
<				-	Ne	xt Page Ctrl+Do	wn				>	ŀ	٢	>
Pa	ige: 1	Of 90	Pa		Las	st Page Ctrl+E	ind) mm x 297	mm Stat	us: Re	ady			
<u>G</u> rid	View For <u>m</u>	View Print Data		_										
Fetche	ed: 2000/395	1						00:26:20			LIM	T 20	00 OFFSET 0	

<u>Availability</u>:

 Full version (for Yes

 Windows)

 Lite version (for No

 Windows)

 Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u> 46ିଶ Grid View ^{46ିଶ} Form View ⁴⁸4 <u>BLOB View</u> ଦେଶ Applying changes ଦୋଷ

7.1.4.1 Page Setup

The **Page Setup** dialog allows you to specify a number of settings pertaining to the report page.

To open the dialog, use the Decision Page Setup button available on the toolbar 464.

Use the following tabs of the **Page Setup** dialog:

- <u>Page</u> 487
- Margins 488
- Header/Footer 489
- Scaling 491

When you are done, you can click the **Print...** button at the bottom to call the Print solar dialog.

See also:
<u>Report Formatter</u> 491
Setting report options 499
Print dialog 504

7.1.4.1.1 Page

The **Page** tab of the **Page Setup** dialog allows you to specify the *paper*, page *orientation*, *print order* and *shading* settings.

📭 Page Setup	
Page Margins Header/Footer Scaling	
Paper Type Letter Letter Legal Executive A5 A4	Orientation © P <u>o</u> rtrait © <u>L</u> andscape
■ B4 ▼ Dimension	Print Order Print Order Down, then over Over, then down
Paper source	Shading Print using gray shading
Print	OK Cancel

Paper

Select one of the standard paper types in the **Type** list, or specify custom *width* and *height* using the **Dimension** group (in inches or millimeters, depending on the *unit of measure* specified in the <u>Options</u>[499] dialog).

Use the **Paper source** drop-down list to select the paper feed type.

Orientation

Select the preferable page orientation (your selection is illustrated in the chart on the left):

Portrait
Landscape

Print Order

Select the preferable order for printing report pages (your selection is illustrated in the chart on the left):

Down, then over
 Over, then down

Shading

Print using gray shading

If this option is selected, gray shading (along with black and white) will be used for printing the report.

7.1.4.1.2 Margins

The **Margins** tab of the **Page Setup** dialog allows you to specify the size of the *margins* and *running titles*.



Use the spinner controls to specify the size of **top** / **bottom** / **left** / **right** margins and **header** / **footer** (in inches or millimeters, depending on the *unit of measure* specified in the <u>Options</u> 499 dialog). The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

If you have specified an improper value, you can click the **Fix** button to correct it. To restore the default size values, click the **Restore Original** button.

Center on page

This group allows you to specify whether the text should be centered **horizontally** and/ or **vertically** on the page.

7.1.4.1.3 Header/Footer

The **Header/Footer** tab of the **Page Setup** dialog allows you to specify properties of the *header* and *footer* running titles.

📭 Page Setup		×							
Page Margins Header\For	oter <u>S</u> caling								
Header									
Eont 8 pt. Tahoma	<u>B</u> ackground [No Fill] ▼								
Header text	*	•							
	v	v v							
Footer									
Fo <u>n</u> t 8 pt. Tahoma		Background [No Fill] 🗸 🗸							
[Machine name] [User name]	 [Date printed] [Time printed] 	[Page # of Pages #] A							
	-	• •							
Vertical Alignment Pro	edefined Functions								
▼ ‡ ±									
<u>Reverse on even pages</u>									
Print		OK Cancel							

Header / Footer

Click the **Font...** button to specify font properties using the standard **Font** dialog. The font name and size are displayed in the gray area next to the **Font...** button. Use the **Background** drop-down list to select the background color that will be applied to the page header/footer, or to customize the color using the **Color** and **Fill Effects** dialogs.

For each of the running titles you are provided with three separate text editing fields. You can use any, all or none of the fields to enter the header and footer text.

The **Vertical Alignment** group allows you to specify vertical alignment for the header/ footer text according to any of the three available patterns.

Predefined Functions

This group allows you to add the following standard functions to the header and footer: [Machine Name] [User Name] [Time Printed] [Date Printed] [Date & Time Printed] [Page # of Pages #] [Total Pages] [Page #]

Reverse on even pages

If this option is selected, the header and footer text will be reversed on even pages of the printing report.

7.1.4.1.4 Scaling

The **Scaling** tab of the **Page Setup** dialog allows you to specify the page *scaling* options.

📭 Page Setup	×
Page Margins Header/Footer Scaling	
Adjust To: 100 % normal size	
Eit To: 1	
Print OK Can	cel

Select the preferable scaling mode:

Adjust to ... % normal size

Use the spinner control to set the percentage of the regular page size to which the page size will be adjusted.

💿 Fit to ... page(s) wide by ... tall

Use the spinner controls to set the maximum number of pages (by width and by height) on one page to fit its size.

7.1.4.2 Report Formatter

Report Formatter allows you to specify a number of settings pertaining to the printing form of the report.

To open the tool, click the **Design Report** button available on the <u>toolbar</u>464, or use the *Ctrl+D* <u>shortcut</u>ब्रिडी.

Use the following tabs of the **Format Report** dialog:

- View 492
- Behaviors 493
- Formatting 494
- Styles 496
- Preview 497
- Cards 498
- Charts 499

The **Title Properties...** button allows you to customize the report title using the Report Title sold dialog.

See also:

<u>Page Setup</u>488ी <u>Setting report options</u>499 <u>Print dialog</u>504ी

7.1.4.2.1 View

The **View** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify report elements to show in the report.

iew	Behaviors	Formatting	Styles	Preview	Cards	Charts				
show						Pre	eview			
		<u>Caption</u>					Cars			
1	4	<u>B</u> ands						Manufacturer Data	Car Data	a
		Headers				1	Name	Logo	Model	SUV
		/ Footers				I	BMW		X5 4.8is	
		Group Foote	rs							
		Expand Butt	ons				Germ:	any		
)n Ever	v Page —	Eilter Bar					ford	Time	Excursion	
	,	Caption					Unite	d States		
	4	Bands				A	Audi	0000	S8 Quattro	
		Headers					Germa	any		-
		/ Footers / Filter Bar				I	and Rov	LAND- ROVER	G4 Challenge	•
							Unite	d Kingdom		
							Count =	4		
							<filter is<="" td=""><td>Empty></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	Empty>		

Tick off the elements to **show** in the report (*caption*, *bands*, *headers*, *footers*, *group footers*, *expand buttons*, *filter bar*) and **on every page** of the report (*caption*, *bands*, *headers*, *footers*, *filter bar*).

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.2.2 Behaviors

The **Behaviors** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify the way (behavior) the report elements will appear on the printing form.

View Behaviors Formatting Styles Preview Cards Charts	Preview							
Selection	Cars							
Process Selection	Man	ufacturer Data		Car Dat	2			
	Name	Logo	Model	SUV	Speed Count			
Process Exact Selection	BMW	٢	X5 4.8is		5			
Expanding	Germany							
	Ford	Fird	Excursion	✓	6			
	United Stat	United States						
Size	Audi	COOD	S8 Quattro		5			
Auto Width	Germany	Germany						
	Land Rover	-ROVER	G4 Challenge	•	5			
-	United Kin	United Kingdom						
	Count = 4 <filter emp<="" is="" td=""><td>ti></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	ti>						
Title Properties Footnote Properties			ок с	Cancel	Apply			

Selection

I Process selection / **I** Process exact selection

Specify whether the text selection should or should not be processed (precisely) for the printing form.

Expanding

Tick off the elements to expand in the report: groups, details, cards.

Size

🗹 Auto Width

If this option is selected, the table will be resized automatically to fit the page by width.

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.2.3 Formatting

The **Formatting** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify *Look and Feel*, *Refinements* and *Pagination* options.

495 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

View Behavio	ors Formatting	Styles	Preview	Cards	Cha	rts							
Look and Feel	LiltraElat					Preview Cars							
	Oldanac					Manu	facturer Data	Car Dat	a				
Refinements -						Name	Logo	Model	SUV				
	Transparen	t Graphic	s			BMW	٢	X5 4.8is					
	📃 Display Grap	ohic As T	ext			Germany							
	V Flat Check	larks				Ford	Time	Excursion					
	Suppress Ba	ackgroun	d Textures	s		United States							
	Consume Se	election S	Style			Audi		S8 Quattro					
Pagination —						Germany							
:	By TopLeve	l Groups				Land Rover	LAND- -ROVER	G4 Challenge					
		r er i uge				United Kingdom							
						Count = 4							
						<filter empt<="" is="" td=""><td>ty></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	ty>						

Look and Feel

This setting determines the manner in which the cells are painted. Use the drop-down list to select the painting style that will be applied to the cells on the printing form: *Flat Standard UltraFlat*

Refinements

Options of this group allow you to reduce the report size.

Transparent graphics

If this option is selected, the images will be drawn transparent in the report.

Display graphic as text

If this option is selected, text will be displayed instead of the images.

Flat CheckMarks

If this option is selected, the checkboxes will be drawn flat.

Pagination

Specify the way pagination will be performed for the report: **By TopLevel groups** or **One group per page**.

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.2.4 Styles

The **Styles** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify styles to be applied to the report elements.

View	Behaviors	Formatting	Styles	Preview	Cards	Char	rts			
🔽 Us	e Native Styl					_	Preview			
						_	Cars			
Band	Header		8 pt. T	<u> </u>	Fo <u>n</u> t		Manuf	Testure Data	Car Date	
Caput	on Caption Row		Set T		Color		Ivianui	actorer Data	Car Data	07.77
Card	Caption Row		Set T	im			Name	Logo	Model	SUV
Conte	ent		8 pt. Ti	im F	Texture		BMW		X5 4.8is	
Conte	ent Even Row	S	8 pt. Ti	in E	-	51				
Conte	ent Odd Rows	;	8 pt. T	im	Cl <u>e</u> ar		Germany		-	
Filter	Bar		8 pt. Ti	im			Ford	(Time)	Excursion	
Foote	r		8 pt. T	im				Constant of the local diversion of the local		
Group)		8 pt. T	im			United State	25		
Heade	er		8 pt. T	im			Audi	0000	S8 Quattro	
Previe	2W		8 pt. Ti	im 👻				0000		
٩ E				•			Germany			
Res	tore Default	s Sa	ave <u>A</u> s				Land Rover	LAND- ROVER	G4 Challenge	☑
Style S	heets —					_	United King	dom		
						-	Count = 4			
<u>N</u> e	w	<u>С</u> ору	<u>D</u> elete	<u>R</u>	ename		<filter empt<="" is="" td=""><td>y></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	y>		

Use native styles

This option determines whether the native Windows style will be applied to the report elements.

Note: The **Native style** option is currently supported for the Windows® XP operating system only.

The elements list displays the names of all report elements, with background color and font properties specified by default. You can **Use native styles** for them or customize them according to your preferences.

To edit an element, select it in the list and use the buttons to the right to edit the style for it.

Click the **Font...** button to specify font properties using the standard **Font** dialog. Click the **Color...** button to customize the background color using the standard **Color** dialog.

Click the **Texture...** button to load an image that will be used as the texture for the element.

To rollback the changes, click the **Clear** button.

To restore the default stylesheet properties, click the **Restore Defaults** button. If you need to save the current style sheet, you can click the **Save as...** button.

These items are also available through the **context menu** of the elements list.

Style Sheets

Use the drop-down menu to select the style sheet you need. To manage the style sheets, use the corresponding buttons below: **New...**, **Copy...**, **Delete...**, **Rename...**

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.2.5 Preview

The **Preview** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify report preview options.

View	Behaviors Fo	rmatting	Styles	Preview	Cards	Char	ts			
Options	s ———						Preview			
	Vis	sible					Cars			
	🗸 A <u>i</u>	<u>u</u> to Height					Man	uufacturer Data	Car Data	1
	<u>M</u> ax I	Line Count	:	0	*		Name	Logo	Model	SUV
							BMW	٢	X5 4.8is	
							Germany			
							Ford	Time	Excursion	
							United Sta	ates		
							Audi	CIID	SS Quattro	
							Germany			
							Land Rover	LAND- -ROVER	G4 Challenge	
							United Ki	ngdom		
							Count = 4			
							<filter em<="" is="" td=""><td>pty></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	pty>		

Visible

This option specifies visibility of the grouping rows.

Auto height

If this option is selected, the table will be resized automatically to fit the page by height.

Max line count

Use the spinner control to specify the maximum possible number of lines.

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.2.6 Cards

The **Cards** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify properties for the card view.

View	Behavior	s Formatting	Styles	Preview	Cards	Chart	ts			
Sizes						P	review			
		Auto <u>W</u> idth					Cars			
,		✓ Keep Same	Width				Name:	BMW	Name:	Ford
Spacing	ı ——	Keep Same	<u>H</u> eight				Logo:	Õ	Logo:	Flored
		Horizontal:		4			Country Model:	: Germany X5.4.8is	Country Model:	: United States
-	<u>10 4</u>	Vertical:		4			SUV:		SUV:	
Framing	g					_				
		✓ Border					Name:	Audi	Name:	Land Rover
•		Horizontal L	ines				Logo:		Logo:	LAND- ROVER
		Vertical Line	s				Country	: Germany	Country	: United Kingdom
Shadov	v —					-	Model:	S8 Quattro	Model:	G4 Challenge
		Color:		Custom	. ·	•	SUV:		SUV:	✓
		Depth:	4							
							<filter is<="" td=""><td>Empty></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	Empty>		

Sizes

🗹 Auto Width

If this option is selected, the cards will be resized automatically to fit the page by width.

Keep same width

Select this option to keep the card width fixed.

Keep same height

Select this option to keep the card height fixed.

Spacing

This group allows you to specify **horizontal** and **vertical** spacing between cards.

Framing

Border

This option specifies visibility of the card borders.

Horizontal lines

This option specifies visibility of the horizontal lines (row delimiters) within cards.

Vertical lines

This option specifies visibility of the vertical lines (column delimiters) within cards.

Shadow

Use the **Color** drop-down list to select the color that will be applied to the card shadows. If necessary, specify the color **depth** using the corresponding spinner control.

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.2.7 Charts

The **Charts** tab of the **Format Report** dialog allows you to specify options for the charts used in the report.

View	Behaviors	Formatting	Styles	Preview	Cards	Char	ts			
Ontion						F	Preview			
		<u>T</u> ransparen	t				Cars			
							Manufa	acturer Data	Car Data	1
							Name	Logo	Model	SUV
							BMW	٢	X5 4.8is	
							Germany			
							Ford	Time	Excursion	☑
							United State	5		
							Audi	COOD	SS Quattro	
							Germany			
							Land Rover	LAND- -ROVER	G4 Challenge	☑
							United Kinge	dom		
							Count = 4			
							<filter empty<="" is="" td=""><td>y></td><td></td><td></td></filter>	y>		

Transparent

If this option is selected, the charts will be drawn transparent in the report.

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

7.1.4.3 Setting report options

Options dialog

The **Options** dialog allows you to specify a number of settings pertaining to the printing

report.

To open the dialog, open the **Design Report** 45 menu available on the <u>toolbar</u> 46 and select the **Preferences** item.

Options	—		
General			
Show	Zoom Parameters		
Margins	Zoom on roll with IntelliMouse		
✓ Margins <u>H</u> ints	Zoom Step: 10 %		
Margins Hints While Dragging			
Measurement <u>U</u> nits:	Margins <u>C</u> olor:		
Default 🔹	Auto 👻		
	OK Cancel		

Show

Tick off the elements to **show** in the printing report (*margins*, *margins* hints, *margins* hints while dragging).

Use the **Measurement Units** drop-down list to select the unit of measure that will be used in report settings: *default*, *inches*, or *millimeters*.

Zoom Parameters

Zoom on roll with IntelliMouse

If this option is selected, you can zoom in/out by scrolling up/down (with a Microsoft \mathbb{R} mouse or a compatible mouse used).

Zoom Step

Use the spinner control to specify the percentage of the original page size to be considered as one zoom step.

Use the **Margins Color** drop-down list to select the color that will be applied to the report margins.

Report Title dialog

The **Report Title** dialog allows you to specify the report title text and properties.

To open the dialog, use the **Title...** $\boxed{1}$ button available on the <u>toolbar</u> 464.

Report Title
Mode: On Every Top Page
Text Properties
Color: Auto
ኳ
Font 14 pt. Times New Roman [Bold]
Adjust on Scale
Alignment
Horizontally: E Center \checkmark Vertically: \ddagger Center \checkmark
<u>R</u> estore Defaults
OK Cancel

Mode

Use the drop-down list to select where the report title should be displayed on the first page, on every top page, or not displayed at all.

Text

Use the edit box to enter the text of the report title.

Properties

Transparent

If this option is selected, the report title will be drawn transparent.

Use the **Color** drop-down list to select the color that will be applied to the report title (enabled if the \blacksquare **Transparent** option is not selected).

Click the **Font...** button to specify title font properties using the standard **Font** dialog. The font name and size are displayed in the gray area next to the **Font...** button.

Adjust on scale

If this option is selected, the title can be adjusted on scale.

Alignment

Use the **Horizontally** drop-down list to select the type of horizontal alignment to be applied to the report title: *Left, Center,* or *Right*.

Use the **Vertically** drop-down list to select the type of vertical alignment to be applied to the report title: *Top*, *Center*, or *Bottom*.

To restore the default title properties, click the **Restore Defaults** button.

Date and Time dialog

The **Date and Time** dialog allows you to specify the date/time formats to be used in the report.

To open the dialog, open the **Title...** \blacksquare menu available on the <u>toolbar</u> and select the **Date and Time...** item.

Date and Time	X
Available Date Formats:	
7/26/2012	
Thursday, July 26, 2012	
July 26, 2012	
7/26/12	
2012-07-26	
26-Jul-12	
7.26.2012	
July , 2012	
26 July 2012	
Jul-12	
Available Time Formats:	
9:46 AM	
9:46:52 AM	
9:46	
9:46:52	
Update Automatically	Default
	OK Cancel

Select the preferable values from the **Available Date Formats** and the **Available Time Formats** lists. If necessary, you can specify that the date/time will be *updated automatically*.

To apply the default date/time format, click the **Default...** button.

Page Number Format dialog

The **Page Number Format** dialog allows you to specify the formats for page numbers to be used in the report.

To open the dialog, open the **Title...** \blacksquare menu available on the <u>toolbar</u>⁴⁶⁴ and select the **Page Numbering...** item.

Page Number For	mat	—					
Number <u>F</u> ormat:	1, 2,	3, 4, 5, 🔹					
Page Numbering -							
\bigcirc <u>C</u> ontinue from Previous Section							
Start <u>A</u> t:	1	▲ ▼					
		Default					
	OK	Cancel					

Select the preferable number format from the **Number Format** drop-down list.

Use the **Page Numbering** section to specify whether page numbering should *continue from the previous section* (if any) or *start at the specified number*.

To set the default numbering values, click the **Default...** button.

Zoom dialog

The **Zoom** dialog allows you to zoom the report page more better representation.

To open the dialog, open the **Zoom** \blacksquare menu available on the <u>toolbar</u> 464 and select the **Setup zoom...** item.



Select the preferable percentage of zoom value (500%, 200%, 150%, 100%, 75%, 50%, 25%, 10%) or specify one of frequently used values:

- Page Width
- Whole Page
- Two Pages
- Four Pages
- Many Pages (click the chart below and select the item you need)

If necessary, you can set a custom percent value using the **Percent** spinner control below.

The **Preview** area on the right illustrates the changes you have made.

See also: <u>Page Setup</u>486 <u>Report Formatter</u>491 Print dialog504

7.1.4.4 Print dialog

The standard **Print** dialog allows you to specify printing settings for the report in groups: *printer*, *page range*, *copies*.

To open the dialog, click the **Print dialog** 🖉 button available on the <u>toolbar</u>464, or use the *Ctrl+P* <u>shortcut</u>1955.


When you are done, click the **Print** button to start printing.

If you need to change any page settings before printing, you can click the **Page Setup**... button at the bottom to call the Page Setup^[486] dialog.

See also: <u>Page Setup</u>48की <u>Report Formatter</u>49गे <u>Setting report options</u>499

7.1.5 BLOB View

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides BLOB Viewer/Editor to view and edit BLOB (Binary Large Object) fields content. The BLOB Viewer/Editor can be invoked from the data grid within <u>Table Editor</u> 000, <u>Query Data</u> 420, <u>Design Query</u> 442, etc.

- Navigation within the BLOB Viewer/Editor
- Viewing/Editing BLOB field as Hexadecimal dump 507
- <u>Viewing/Editing BLOB field as plain Text</u> 508
- <u>Viewing/Editing BLOB field as Rich Text (RTF)</u>
- <u>Viewing/Editing BLOB field as Image</u>
- <u>Viewing/Editing BLOB field as HTML</u>
- <u>Viewing/Editing BLOB field as XML</u>

• Viewing/Editing BLOB field as PDF 514



<u>Availability</u>: **Full** version (for Yes Windows) **Lite** version (for No Windows)

Note: To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u> [23] page.

See also: Using Navigation bar and Toolbars Grid View 46ଣ Form View 484 Print Data ⁽⁴⁸³)

Applying changes 516

7.1.5.1 Navigation within BLOB Editor

The **BLOB Viewer/Editor** provides an ability to navigate within the records using **DB Navigation** buttons on the <u>navigation pane</u> 464 at the top of the viewer window.

Using items of the <u>navigation pane 464</u> and the drop-down menu you can browse the data quickly, insert, update and delete records, set a filter for the records using the <u>Filter</u> <u>Builder 519</u> dialog, load new BLOB content and save the current content to files.

The <u>toolbar</u>^[465] allows you to switch the fields and perform a number of editing operations. The set of toolbar items depends on the current selection and view mode.

Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> scrip	tion DD <u>l</u>	<u>P</u> erm	nissions	
H H	∢ ▶ ₩ ₩	+ - 4	• ~ ×	★ 🐄	Find:		-	1000		-		
SQLMa	anager	- 6		X 🖻 🖻	s (🖶)	🚽 🚇 Arial		• 8	◆ B	Ι] 🗉 💂
Hexade	cimal Text	Rich text	Image	HTML	KML PDF	JSON						
		+ +		+	+ +		+ +		+	+	+ +	+

See also:

Editing as Hexadecimal िली Editing as Text िली Editing as Rich Text िली Editing as Image िगि Editing as HTML िगी Editing as XML िगि Editing as PDF िगमे

7.1.5.2 Editing as Hexadecimal

The **Hexadecimal** tab allows you to view/edit the BLOB data as hexadecimal.

The <u>toolbar</u> [465] provides additional functionality for BLOB Viewer/Editor: use the $\boxed{1000}$ Save to file and the $\boxed{2000}$ Load from file toolbar buttons to save the hexadecimal data to a file, or load data from a file.

Use the Ins key to switch between the Insert and Overwrite modes.

Colu <u>m</u> ns	For	eigr	n <u>K</u> ey	/s	<u>C</u> hec	ks	Indice	es 1	r <u>rigg</u> e	ers	Prop	erties	D	epend	lenci	es	D <u>a</u> ta	Description DDL Permissions	
H H	4	Þ	₩ 1	•		*	<	×	*	*	7	Find	t:				2	a 📮 🗄 1000 🗢 🖂 💂	
SQLMa	anag	er			•	f		X					Ŧ						
Hexade	cimal		Text	R	ich te	xt	Image	e H	TML	Х	ML	PD	F	JSON	L				
0x000	1: 3	С	70	3E	0D	0A	3C	73	74	72	6F	6E	67	ЗE	45	$4\mathrm{D}$	53	(p) EMS	
0x010	I: 2	0	53	51	4C	20	4D	61	6E	61	67	65	72	20	66	6F	72	SQL Manager for	
0x020	1: 2	0	53	51	4C	20	53	65	72	76	65	72	5C	66	30	20	3C	SQL Server\f0 <	
0x030	1: 2	F	73	74	72	6F	6E	67	ЗE	20	69	73	20	61	20	70	6F	∕strong> is a po	
0x040	l: 7	7	65	72	66	75	6C	20	74	6F	6F	6C	20	66	6F	72	0D	werful tool for.	
0x050	l: 0	A –	53	51	4C	20	53	65	72	76	65	72	20	61	64	6D	69	.SQL Server admi	
0x060	1: 6	Е	69	73	74	72	61	74	69	6F	6E	20	61	6E	64	20	64	nistration and d	
0x070	1: 6	5	76	65	6C	6F	70	6D	65	6E	74	2E	20	53	51	4C	20	evelopment. SQL	
0x080	1: 4	D	61	6E	61	67	65	72	20	66	6F	72	20	53	51	4C	20	Manager for SQL	
0x090	1: 5	3	65	72	76	65	72	0D	ΟA	77	6F	72	6B	73	20	77	69	Serverworks wi	
0x0x0	l: 7	4	68	20	61	6C	6C	20	53	51	4C	20	53	65	72	76	65	th all SQL Serve	
0x0B0	l: 7	2	20	76	65	72	73	69	6F	6E	73	20	66	72	6F	6D	20	r versions from	
0x0C0	1: 3	2	30	30	30	20	74	6F	20	74	68	65	20	6E	65	77	65	2000 to the newe	
0x0D0	1: 7	3	74	20	6F	6E	65	20	61	6E	64	0D	0A	73	75	70	70	st one and supp	
0x0E0	1: 6	F	72	74	73	20	61	6C	6C	20	74	68	65	20	6C	61	74	orts all the lat	
0x0F0	1: 6	5	73	74	20	53	51	4C	20	53	65	72	76	65	72	20	66	est SQL Server f	
0x100	1: 6	5	61	74	75	72	65	73	20	69	6E	63	6C	75	64	69	6E	eatures includin	
<u>Nx110</u>	l · fi	7	211	6D	65	6D	6F	72	79	2D	6F	20	74	69	6D	69	7 A	a memory-ontimiz	į.
0:2							0	verw	/rite										
Grid Vie	w E	orn	n Vie	w	Pri <u>n</u> t I	Data	Blo	b Vie	w										
Fetched:	0/0							1	Not										_

See also: Navigation within BLOB Editor Editing as Text Editing as Rich Text Editing as Image Editing as HTML Editing as HTML Editing as XML [512]

7.1.5.3 Editing as Text

The **Text** tab allows you to view/edit the BLOB data as plain text.

The <u>toolbar</u> [465] provides additional functionality for BLOB Viewer/Editor: use the **Save** to file and the **Subsection** toolbar buttons to save the text to a **.txt* file, or load text from a file. Additionally, you can use the *Cut*, *Copy*, *Paste*, *Select All*, *Undo*, *Word Wrap* context menu items for editing the text efficiently, and the **Print** context menu item to print the content of the **Text** tab.

509 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Columns Foreign Keys Checks Indices Triggers Properties Dependencies	Data Description DDL < >
Find:	🗟 💂 i 1000 🔹 🔊 💂
🚦 SQLManager 💿 🚰 🔚 💥 🖆 👘 🦐 🚔 📑 ANSI	• -
Hexadecimal Text Rich text Image HTML XML PDF JSON	
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server\f0 is a powerful tool for SQL Server administration and development. SQL Manager for SQL Server works with all SQL Server versions from 2000 to the newest one and supports all the latest SQL Server features including memory-optimized tables, backup encryption, FileTables, columnstore indices and other. It offers plenty of powerful SQL tools for experianced users to saticfy all their needs.\par Visit our web-site for details: https://www.sqlmanager.net/	
<	>`
<u>G</u> rid View <u>Form View</u> Print Data <u>Blob View</u>	
Fetched: 1/1	

See also:

<u>Navigation within BLOB Editor</u> Editing as Hexadecimal Editing as Rich Text Editing as Image Editing as HTML Editing as HTML Editing as XML [চাহ]

7.1.5.4 Editing as Rich Text

The **Rich Text** tab allows you to view/edit the BLOB data in Rich Text format (RTF).

The <u>toolbar</u> [465] provides additional functionality for BLOB Viewer/Editor: use the **Save** to file and the **Save** to file and the **Save** toolbar buttons to save the Rich Text to a *.*rtf* file, or load text from a file. Additionally, you can use the *Cut*, *Copy*, *Paste*, *Select All*, *Undo* context menu items for editing the text efficiently, and the **Print** context menu item to print the content of the **Rich Text** tab.

Colu <u>m</u> ns Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	T <u>riggers</u>	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions	
HI 41 4 > >> >>	+	× ×	a * *	🗧 🔽 🕴 Find:		6	, i 1000	+ >>	-	
SQLManager	• 6		X 🖻 🕇	5 🕤 🖶	💂 🚇 Arial		• 8 🔹	BI		
Hexadecimal Text	Rich text	Image	HTML	XML PDF	JSON					
		+			+ +	+			+ + +	
<pre>EMS SQL Man SQL Server administrat works with all SQL Ser supports all the latest S backup encryption, File powerful SQL tools for Visit our web-site for d Line: 1 Col: 514 Grid View Form View</pre>	ager for S(ion and de ver version QL Server Tables, col experiance etails: https dodified Print Dat	AL Serve velopmer ns from 2 features umnstore ed users s://www a <u>B</u> lob	r it. SQL Mar 2000 to the including r indices ar to saticfy i .sqlmanage	is a powerfu ager for SQL newest one a memory-optim d other. It off all their needs er.net/	I tool for _ Server and iized tables, fers plenty of b. SCRL INS					
Fetched: 0/0	_		Mot							

See also: Navigation within BLOB Editor Editing as Hexadecimal Editing as Text Editing as Image Editing as Image Editing as HTML Editing as XML E12

7.1.5.5 Editing as Image

The **Image** tab allows you to view the BLOB data as image.

The <u>toolbar</u> [465] provides additional functionality for BLOB Viewer/Editor: use the **Save** to file and the **\textcircled{P}** Load from file toolbar buttons to save the image to a *.png, *.wmf, *. *ico*, *.png or *.png file, or load an image from a file.



See also: Navigation within BLOB Editor Editing as Hexadecimal Editing as Text Editing as Rich Text Editing as HTML Editing as XML Editing as XML Editing as XML হি12

7.1.5.6 Editing as HTML

The **HTML** tab allows you to view the BLOB data as HTML (Hyper-Text Markup Language format) - in the way this data would be displayed by your Internet browser.

The toolbar 465 provides additional functionality for BLOB Viewer/Editor: use the 🗾 Save

to file and the **b Load from file** toolbar buttons to save the content as a *.html, or *. htm file, or load content from a file.

End	
i SQLManager 🔹 🚰 🔚 I 🗶 🖻 ቬ 🕤 I 🖶 🖕	
Hexadecimal Text Rich text Image HTML XML PDF JSON	
EMS SQL Manager for SQL Server\f0 is a powerful tool for SQL Server administration and development. SQL Manager for SQL Server works with all SQL Server versions from 2000 to the one and supports all the latest SQL Server features including memory-optimized tables, backup encryption, FileTables, columnstore indices and other. It offers plenty of powerful SQL tools for experianced users to saticfy all their needs.\par Visit our web-site for details: https://www.sqlmanager.net/	e newest
Grid View Form View Print Data Blob View Fetched: 0/0 Mod Image: Comparison of the second	

See also:

Navigation within BLOB Editor Editing as Hexadecimal Editing as Text Editing as Rich Text Editing as Image Editing as Image Editing as XML Editing as XML

7.1.5.7 Editing as XML

The **XML** tab allows you to view/edit the XML (eXtensible Markup Language) data.

The <u>toolbar</u>[465] provides additional functionality for BLOB Viewer/Editor: use the **Save** to file and the **b** Load from file toolbar buttons to save the content as *.xml or load XML content from a file.

Columns Foreign Keys Checks Indices Trigge	rs Properties Dependenci	es D <u>a</u> ta D <u>e</u> scription DI	DL Permissions
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	🐂 👻 Find:	🗟 🚽 i 1000 🌲	D .
SQLManager 🔹 📑 🔚 💥 🖻	🔁 🕤 🖶 📮		
Hexadecimal Text Rich text Image HTML	XML PDF JSON		
Name Unique Attri	outes	Value	^
⊟-Root ■			
-xml vers	ion="1.0" encoding="utf-8" sta	ndalone="no"	
dataroot xmin	s:od="urn:schemas-microsoft	-com:officedata	
DimEmployee2			
-EmployeeKey - Ramovo	B	1	
- ParentEmployeeKey	de Source to Cliphoard	18	
- EmployeeNationalID,		14417807	
- ParentEmployeeNati		null	
- SalesTerritoryKey	1e	11	
- FirstName	ue	Guy	
LastName		Gilbert	
- MiddleName		R	
-NameStyle		false	
Title		Production Tec	chnician - WC60
HireDate		28.01.2006	~
Modified			,
Grid View Form View Print Data Blob View			
Fetched: 0/0 Mod			

The XML content is represented as a tree-like structure consisting four editable fields: **Name, Unique, Attributes** and **Value**. You can edit data and modify the structure using drag-n-drop operations and items of the context menu.

Hint: Hold the **Shift** key when you drag-and-drop a node to insert it as a child one.

The **context menu** allows you to:

- add a node (a child node relatively to the selected one);
- remove the selected node;
- copy the selected node source to clipboard;
- cut the selected node;
- copy the selected node;
- paste a node from clipboard.

Press the **Item attributes** which button in the editing mode of an **Attribute** item to add or edit attributes.

Item attributes	
Attribute	Value
FieldName	EMP_ID
DisplayLabel	EMP_ID
FieldType	Integer
FieldClass	TField
+	OK Cancel

Use the 🛨 🚍 buttons to add or remove an attribute. Click the required attribute name or value to edit.

See also:		
Navigation within BLOB Editor		
Editing as Hexadecimal		
Editing as Text 508		
<u>Editing as Rich Text</u> ⁵⁰⁹		
<u>Editing as Image</u> နာ၀ါ		
Editing as HTML जागे		

7.1.5.8 Editing as PDF

The **PDF** tab allows you to view the BLOB data as PDF using Adobe Acrobat Reader. You need to have Adobe Acrobat Reader installed to view PDF data.

The <u>toolbar</u> [465] provides additional functionality for PDF Viewer/Editor: use the \square Save to file and the \bowtie Load from file toolbar buttons to save or load the document from the file.



See also:

<u>Navigation within BLOB Editor</u> তিলী <u>Editing as Hexadecimal</u> চিলী <u>Editing as Text</u> তিজী <u>Editing as Rich Text</u> চিজী <u>Editing as Image</u> চিগী <u>Editing as HTML</u> চিগী <u>Editing as XML</u> চিগী

7.1.6 Applying changes

After changes are done, click the **Post Edit** \checkmark button on the <u>navigation pane</u> 464 to apply the changes or the **Cancel Edit** \checkmark button to discard the changes.



See also: <u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u>[463] <u>Grid View</u>[465] <u>Form View</u>[484] <u>Print Data</u>[485] <u>BLOB View</u>[505]

7.2 Custom Filter

The **Custom Filter** dialog is one of the <u>filtering</u> facilities implemented in <u>Data View</u> (463) for your convenience.

To open the dialog, click the Arrow-Down button next to the column caption, and select the **Custom** item from the drop-down list.

Select a logical operator for checking the column values (*like*, *is less than*, *is greater than*, etc.) and set a value to be checked by this operator in the corresponding box on the right.

Co	lu <u>m</u> ns	Foreig	n <u>K</u> e	ys <u>C</u>	heck	s <u>I</u> nd	lices	T <u>r</u> ig	gers	Prop	erties	Dependencies	s D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions
ł	4	•	₩	₩ +	-	^ V	×	a :	* *	۲	Find:		0	; 1000	‡ >>	-
C)rag a	column I	nead	ler her	e to g	roup b	y tha	t colu	mn							
3	Employ	уееКеу		First	lame		Las	tNam	e		Title			Y	MiddleN	ame Na
►			43	Peng			Wu				Qua	lity Assurance	Superviso	r	J	
			79	Sean			Alex	ande	r		Qua	lity Assurance	Technician	1	Р	
			114	Mark			Harr	ingto	ו		Qua	lity Assurance	Technician	1	L	
			149	Andre	eas		Berg	lund			Qua	lity Assurance	Technician	1	т	
			204	Haze	m		Abo	rous			Qua	lity Assurance	Manager		E	
			257	Sooth	а		Char	nche	rngkh	а	Qua	lity Assurance	Technician	1	Т	
	Custom Filter × Show rows where: Title Cuality% AND OR Use % to represent any series of characters Use _ to represent any single character OK Cancel									cel						
2		(Title Ll	KE C	luality	%)											Customize
<		_														>
G	rid Vie	w <u>F</u> orr	n Vi	ew F	Pri <u>n</u> t D	ata <u>I</u>	Blob \	/iew								
Fet	ched:	296/296								Rec						

If necessary, you can set the second condition and specify the relation between the two conditions: whether both of them should be satisfied (*AND*) or just any of them (*OR*). Use the '_' character to represent any single symbol, and use the '%' character to represent any series of symbols in the condition string.

See also: <u>Data View</u> 463 <u>Filter Builder dialog</u> हा9

7.3 Filter Builder dialog

The **Filter Builder** dialog is a powerful <u>filtering</u> [469] tool implemented in <u>Data View</u> [463] for your convenience.

The dialog is aimed at facilitating the procedure of creating and applying complex filter criteria for data. In addition, the tool allows you to save filter criteria to an external *.flt file for future use.

To open the **Filter Builder** dialog, use the \square **Set filter** button on the navigation pane available within the <u>Data</u> 210 tab of <u>Table Editor</u> 200 and the **Result(s)** tabs of <u>Query Data</u> 426 and <u>Design Query</u> 442.

- Invoking the Filter Builder dialog 519
- <u>Adding a new condition to the filter</u>
- Setting filter criteria 521
- Setting filter operator 522
- <u>Setting filter criteria values</u>
 523
- Adding a new group 524
- <u>Setting group operator</u> 525
- Applying filter conditions 526

See also: <u>Data View</u>463 Custom Filter 517

7.3.1 Invoking the Filter Builder dialog

The **Filter Builder** dialog can be invoked in either of the following ways:

• if a <u>simple filter</u> [469] or the <u>Custom Filter</u> [517] is being used, click the **Customize...** button on the gray **filtering panel**;

Colu <u>m</u> ns I	Foreign <u>K</u>	eys <u>C</u> heck	s Indices	T <u>r</u> iggers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	D <u>e</u> scription	DD <u>L</u>	Permissions		
H H H	► ₩ H	× + - +	~ × a	* 7	Find:	Ĩ	2	1000 🗘	» 📮			
Drag a co	olumn hea	der here to g	roup by the	at column								^
Employe	eKey I	FirstName	LastN	ame	Title				Mide	dleName	NameStyle	
►	1 (Guy	Gilber	t	Produ	ction Technician	- WC60		R			
	2 H	Kevin	Brown	n	Marke	eting Assistant			F			
	3 F	Roberto	Tambu	urello	Engin	eering Manager			Null			
	4 F	Rob	Walter	rs	Senio	r Tool Designer			Null			
	5 1	/like	Mayer	s	Contro	ol Specialist			Null			
	6 1	Thierry	D'Hers	3	Tool D	Designer			в			
	7 [David	Bradle	ey	Marke	eting Manager			м			
	8 [David	Bradle	ey	Marke	eting Manager			м			
	12 E	Barry	Johns	on	Produ	ction Technician	- WC10		к			
	13 J	lossef	Goldb	erg	Desig	n Engineer			н			
	15 9	Sidney	Higa		Produ	ction Technician	- WC10		м			
	16 T	Taylor	Maxw	ell	Produ	ction Supervisor	- WC50		R			
	17 J	leffrey	Ford		Produ	ction Technician	- WC10		L			
	20 J	lohn	Campl	bell	Produ	ction Supervisor	- WC60		т			
× 🗹 ((Gender =	M) 🔽									Customize	V
<											>	
Grid View	<u>F</u> orm V	iew Pri <u>n</u> t D	ata <u>B</u> lob	View								
Fetched: 29	6/296				Record							

• use the **Set filter ▽** button on the <u>navigation pane</u>464 and create a composite filter using the dialog.



The succeeding pages of this chapter are intended to illustrate usage of the **Filter Builder** dialog. Please see the instructions below to learn how to perform various operations in the easiest way.

See also: Adding a new condition 520 Setting filter criteria 521 Setting filter operator 522 Setting filter criteria values 523 Adding a new group 524 Setting group operator 525 Applying filter conditions 526

7.3.2 Adding a new condition

Suppose we need to select data from the sample table *Employee* to view the list of male engineers belonging to the *Engineering* and *Tool Design* departments that were hired

after 10/1/2007. These criteria are applied to the *Gender*, *HireDate*, *Position* and the *DepID* columns.

Click **press the button to add a new condition** - this will add a new condition to the criteria. Alternatively, you can click the **Filter** button and select the **Add Condition** popup menu item.

😵 Filter builder - [untitled.flt]	×
Filter AND <root></root>	
press the button to add a new condition	
Open Save As	OK Cancel Apply

See also:

Invoking the Filter Builder dialog [519] Setting filter criteria [527] Setting filter operator [522] Setting filter criteria values [523] Adding a new group [524] Setting group operator [525] Applying filter conditions [526]

7.3.3 Setting filter criteria

As we need to apply the filter criteria to the *HireDate* column, we click the column box (next to the ellipsis button) to open the drop-down list displaying the available column names and select the *HireDate* item.



See also:

Invoking the Filter Builder dialog 519 Adding a new condition 520 Setting filter operator 522 Setting filter criteria values 523 Adding a new group 524 Setting group operator 525 Applying filter conditions 526

7.3.4 Setting filter operator

Since we need the list of employees hired after 10/1/2007, we need to select the *IS* GREATER THAN operator from the corresponding drop-down list.



See also: Invoking the Filter Builder dialog जिन्छे Adding a new condition जिट्टेणे Setting filter criteria जिट्टेगे Setting filter criteria values जिट्टेजे Adding a new group जिट्टेमे Setting group operator जिट्टेजे Applying filter conditions जिट्टेजे

7.3.5 Setting filter criteria values

Next, we need to specify value '10/1/2007' for the IS GREATER THAN operator.

Similarly, if, for example, we need to get the list of employees hired during the 9/1/2007 - 10/1/2007 term, we set the BETWEEN filter operator [522] (this will add two empty value boxes to specify the inclusive range for the BETWEEN condition) and specify the range for the operator, i.e. the '9/1/2007' and the '10/1/2007' values in the corresponding value boxes.

It is possible to set the date value **manually** by typing it in, or using the **date editor** which is activated when you click the value box.

🚏 Filter builder - [untitled.flt]	×
Filter AND <root></root>	
<u>HireDate</u> is greater than 01.10.2007 ✓	
press the button to add a new condition	
Open Save As OK Cancel	Apply

Editors used in value boxes are determined by the **data type** assigned to the corresponding columns.

See also:

<u>Invoking the Filter Builder dialog</u> <u>Adding a new condition</u> <u>Setting filter criteria</u> <u>Setting filter operator</u> <u>Setting filter operator</u> <u>Adding a new group</u> <u>Setting group operator</u> <u>Setting group operator</u> <u>Setting filter conditions</u> <u>Setting filter conditions</u>

7.3.6 Adding a new group

Since we also need to get the list of male specialists-engineers (i.e. those registered in the *Engineering* and *Tool Design* departments and having an engineering-oriented position), we can add a complex filter condition combining simple conditions with the *AND* operator. (However, in this particular case we can just add them at the same root level as for the existing condition).

If you need to add a group of conditions, click the ellipsis button for the *HIRE_DATE* condition and select the **Add Group** popup menu item.

🚏 Filter builder - [untitled.flt]	×
Filter AND <root></root>	
HireDate equals 27.09.2007	
Add Condition v condition	
The second secon	
X Remove Row	
Open Save As OK Cancel Apply	

See also:
Invoking the Filter Builder dialog 519
Adding a new condition 520
<u>Setting filter criteria</u> 521
Setting filter operator 522
<u>Setting filter criteria values</u> 523
Setting group operator 525
Applying filter conditions 528

7.3.7 Setting group operator

Conditions of complex criteria can be combined with any of the four logical operators used: *AND*, *OR*, *NOT AND*, *NOT OR*.

In our case it is enough to click the **group operator** box and select the *AND* item from the drop-down menu.

🚏 Filter bi	uilder - [untitled	flt]			×
Filter AND	<u>)</u> <root></root>				
<u>Hir</u>	<u>eDate</u> <u>equals</u> <	empty>			
<u>AN</u>	D applies to the	ollowing conditions			
a	D AND	<u>auals</u> <empty></empty>			
	OR OR	ld a new condition			
0	NOT AND				
0	NOT OR				
-		1			
<u>O</u> pen.	<u>S</u> av	e As	ОК	Cancel	<u>A</u> pply

See also:
<u>Invoking the Filter Builder dialog</u> हा9
Adding a new condition 520
Setting filter criteria 521
Setting filter operator 522
<u>Setting filter criteria values</u> 523
<u>Adding a new group</u> 524
Applying filter conditions 526

7.3.8 Applying filter conditions

Suppose we have created a condition within the new group. If we need, we can <u>add more</u> <u>conditions</u> at the same level and specify the required values using the value boxes. When the operation is completed, the **Filter Builder** dialog will look like in the screenshot below.

Click the **Apply** button to see the result of the filtering you have made, and click **OK** or **Cancel** to close the dialog with or without saving your filter conditions respectively.

🦻 Filter builder - [untitled.flt]	×
Filter AND <root></root>	
···· <u>HireDate</u> is greater than 27.09.2007	
AND applies to the following conditions	
···· <u>Gender</u> equals M	
···· <u>Title</u> <u>like</u> %Engineer%	
press the button to add a new condition	
Open Save As OK Cancel	<u>A</u> pply

The **Filter Builder** dialog allows you to save filter criteria to and load them from external files. Clicking the **Save As...** or the **Open...** buttons activates the corresponding dialogs. Filter settings are stored in **.flt* files.

Please be informed that a column in the file is referenced by its position within a view, hence filter settings cannot be correctly restored if columns have been deleted from the view after saving the filter to a file.

See also: Invoking the Filter Builder dialog 519 Adding a new condition 520 Setting filter criteria 521 Setting filter operator 522 Setting filter criteria values 523 Adding a new group 524 Setting group operator 525

7.4 Data Truncating

In the **Data** tab of the Table Editor you can truncate data for the table or for the selected partitions.

To truncate table data select **Truncate Table** on the Tools navigation bar or Toolbar and confirm your action in the opened dialog.

Use **Truncate Table Partitions** item from the Tools navigation bar or Toolbar to open the dialog for selecting partitions to be truncated.

Partition Number	Number of Rows	*
QG 1	102	
Q 2	0	
QG 3	0	
Q 4	0	
QG 5	0	= =
9 <mark>8</mark> 6	0	
Q 7	0	
9 <mark>8</mark> 8	0	
9 <mark>9</mark> 9	0	
Qg 10	0	
Q 11	0	

Select the partitions to truncate and click **OK** button.

See also:

<u>Partition Functions</u> छा० <u>Partition Schemes</u> छाथे



8 Import/Export Tools

Using SQL Manager for SQL Server you are provided with powerful tools to import and export data to/from your SQL Server database.

Export Data Wizard 531

Exports data to various supported formats including MS Excel, MS Access, RTF, HTML, PDF, CSV, XML, MS Excel 2007 and more.

Import Data Wizard

Imports data from any of supported formats: MS Excel, MS Access, DBF, TXT, CSV, XML, MS Excel 2007, MS Word 2007 and more.

Export Data as SQL Script 593

Exports data to an SQL script as a number of INSERT statements.

Bulk Insert Wizard 593

Imports data with the BULK INSERT statement used.

Using templates 934

Facilitates using import/export wizards.

See also:

<u>Getting Started</u> [41] <u>Database Explorer</u> [63] <u>Database Management</u> [94] <u>Database Objects Management</u> [178] <u>Query Management Tools</u> [424] <u>Data Management</u> [462] <u>Database Tools</u> [611] <u>Server Tools</u> [718] <u>Personalization</u> [824] <u>External Tools</u> [909] <u>How To...</u> [957]

8.1 Export Data Wizard

Export Data Wizard allows you to export data from a <u>table</u> [192] / <u>view</u> [246] or from a query result to any of supported formats (*MS Excel, MS Access, MS Word, RTF, HTML, PDF, TXT, CSV, XML, DBF, MS Excel 2007, MS Word 2007,* etc.). You can save your settings as a <u>template</u> [934] any time for future use.

To start the wizard, right-click the object in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u> [56] group and proceed to the **Export Data...** item within this group.

Alternatively, you can open the **Data** tab of <u>Table Editor</u>^[200] / <u>View Editor</u>^[240] or the **Result** (s) tab of <u>Query Data</u>^[426] / <u>Design Query</u>^[442], right-click the <u>grid</u>^[465] there, then select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u>^[472] group and proceed to the **Export Data of <object_name>...** item within this group, or use the **Export Data** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u>^[915].

-	New Table	Ctrl+N			
	Edit Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+O			
	Rename Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+R			
	Drop Table 'Employee' S	Shift+Del			
i de la composición de la comp	Duplicate Table 'Employee'				
	Tasks		۲		
	Data Manipulation		•	-	Export Data
~ 1	Table Properties			P	Export Data as SQL Script
2	Grants for Table 'Employee'			-	Import Data
	Script to New SQL Editor		•		Bulk Insert
	Script to Clipboard		۲		
2	Refresh Tables	F5			
8	Database Registration Info				
1	New Tab from Here				
	Rename Current Tab				
	Delete Current Tab				
\mathbf{p}	Find Object	Ctrl+F			

- <u>Setting name and format for the destination file</u> 532
- <u>Selecting columns for export</u> 533
- Adjusting formats applied to exported data 534
- Setting header and footer text for the destination file [535]
- Setting format-specific options 536
- <u>Setting common export options</u>

• Exporting data 570

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Import Data Wizard</u> इनी <u>Export as SQL Script</u> बिऔ <u>Bulk Insert Wizard</u> बिण्ये <u>Using templates</u> बिओ

8.1.1 Setting destination file name and format

This step of the wizard allows you to select the destination file format you need to export data into.

Destination file name

Type in or use the \bowtie button to specify the path to the file using the **Save as...** dialog. The file name extension changes automatically according to the selected **Destination** format.

Note: If the target file already exists, the application will show a <u>warning</u> dialog where you can choose the action you need.

Export Data Wizard - [ItemBook on TESTER1] - 🗆 🗙					×
Data Wizard - Export Data					
Specify destination file na	ame and format for exporting) your data			
a	Welcome to the Export Da This wizard allows you to Excel, MS Access, HTML, Destination format	ta Wizard! export table data to most p XML, PDF and much more.	opular data forr	mats, suc	h as MS
	O MS Excel	O Text file	MS Exce	el 97-2003	
501	O MS Word	◯ CSV file	O MS Word 97-2003		
Manager	MS Access	◯ RTF	O MS Access 97-2003		
for	ODF Spreadsheets	○ HTML	O DIF file		
SQL Server	ODF Text		O SYLK file		
		◯ XML	◯ LaTeX		
	Destination file name				
	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for S	SQL Server\ExportsHumanF	Resources on T	ESTER1\d	bo_ 🖯
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	 ▼ 	ick <u>N</u> ext >	<u>R</u> un	Can	cel

Destination format

Specify the format of the destination file. For details refer to Supported file formats 935.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting columns for export</u> [533] step of the wizard.

8.1.2 Selecting columns for export

This step of the wizard allows you to select the table column(s) to be exported. To select a column, you need to move it from the **Available columns** list to the **Selected columns** list. Use the **D G G** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the columns from one list to another.

Export Data Wizard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - × Data Wizard - Export Data ×				
Select columns for export	ting. If none of columns are selected, all <u>Columns for exporting</u> Available columns	of them	Selected columns	
SQL Manager for SQL Server	 BaseRate VacationHours DepartmentName StartDate 	> < <	EmployeeKey ParentEmployeeKey EmployeeNationalIDAlternateKe ParentEmployeeNationalIDAlterr SalesTerritoryKey FirstName LastName MiddleName NameStyle Title HirsDate	
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	✓ Allow captions	<u>N</u> ext >	Run Close	

If you leave all the columns in the **Available columns** list, all columns of the table (except BLOBs) will be exported.

Allow captions

Check this option if you need to export the column captions as well.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.1.3 Adjusting data formats

This step allows you to customize formats applied to exported data.

Data formats

Edit the format masks to adjust the result format in the way you need: Integer, Float, Date, Time, DateTime, Currency, Boolean True, Boolean False, NULL string, Decimal separator, Thousand separator, Date separator, Time separator.

Export Data Wizard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - X					
Data Wizard - Export Data					
Adjust formats for export	ed data in necessary				
	Data formats				
	Integer format				
	Float format				
	Date format	dd/MM/yyyy			
SOL	Time format	h:mm			
Manager	DateTime format	dd/MM/yyyyy h:mm			
for	Currency format				
SQL Server	Boolean True	true			
	Boolean False	false			
	Null string	null			
	Decimal separator	Thousand separator			
	Date separator	Time separator			
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext > <u>R</u> un Cancel			

Hint: The formats used by default are specified in the <u>Data Export</u> [851] section of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog.

For more details refer to Format specifiers 930.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting header and footer</u> step of the wizard.

8.1.4 Setting header and footer

Set **Header text** and **Footer text** for the result file. This text will appear at the beginning and at the end of the result file respectively.

Export Data Wizard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - 🗆 🗙			×
Data Wizard - Export Data			
Define headers and foot	ers for the result files		
	Header text		
SQL	Export from [HumanResources].[Employee]		< >
for	< Footer text		<u>></u>
SQL Server	SQL Manager for SQL Server		~
			~
	<		>
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>R</u> un	Clo	se

Click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting format-specific options</u> 536.

8.1.5 Setting format-specific options

This step of the wizard allows you to customize **Format-specific options**:

- Excel 97-2003 options 536
- Access options 551
- Word 97-2003 / RTF options 552
- HTML options 555
- PDF options 560
- TXT options 562
- CSV options 562
- XML options 563
- MS Excel / ODS options 564
- MS Word / ODT options 566

To get more information about the file formats, see the <u>Supported file formats</u> page.

8.1.5.1 Excel 97-2003 options

This step allows you to set options for the target **MS Excel** (*.*xls*) file.

You can customize **Data format**, **Extensions** and set **Advanced** options available within the corresponding tabs:

- Data format 537
- Extensions 541
- Advanced 550

Export Data Wizard - [Ad	IventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] — 🗆 🗙
Data Wizard - Export Data	
Customize MS Excel 97-2	2003 export options.
	Data format Extensions Advanced
	Columns Options Styles Eont Borders Fill Aggregate
SQL Manager for SQL Server	EmployeeKey ParentEmployeeKey EmployeeNationalIDAlterna ParentEmployeeNationalIDA ParentEmployeeNationalIDA SalesTerritoryKey FirstName LastName MiddleName
Help Templates	NameStyle Title HireDate BirthDate LoginID ✓ < Back

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> $\overline{568}$.

8.1.5.1.1 Data format

The **Data Format** tab contains general options which allow you to adjust the format for each kind of Excel cells. This means that you can specify such parameters as *font*, *borders*, *filling color* and *method*, etc. for each entity (such as *data column*, *header*, *footer*, *caption*, *data*, *hyperlink* and so on) separately. Also it is possible to create *styles* to make the target Excel file striped by columns or rows.

- Columns 538
- Options 540
- <u>Styles</u>541

For your convenience the previews illustrating the changes are displayed in the Sample

Group area on each page of Data Format tab.

8.1.5.1.1.1 Columns

Using the **Columns** tab you can set *font* options, *border* and *fill* options and *aggregate functions* for all the **Columns** you want to export.

The **Font** tab allows you to specify properties of the font that will be used in the output Excel file cells.

Use the **Font** and **Size** drop-down lists to select the *font* and *size* to be applied to the output text.

Use the buttons below to set *font color*, make text *bold*, *italicized*, *strikethrough* text, set *underline* effects, specify text *horizontal* and *vertical align*.

<u>D</u> ata format	E <u>x</u> tens	ions A	dvanced					
Columns O	ptions	Styles		<u>F</u> ont	Borders	Fjill	Aggregate	
custome first_nam last_nam company passwor	r_numbo ne ne / rd	er	^	Font Size <u>A</u> [74 10 ■ I ■ ■	Arial	<u>M</u> <u>M</u>	~
email email title doubleop	otinregis	tration sentdate	e	Aa Z	z Reset Item		Reset All	

The **Borders** tab allows you to specify properties of the borders of the output Excel file cells.

Press the 🔟 🛄 🔠 buttons on the left to show/hide the borders they indicate.

Use the drop-down list for each border to select the *line type* and the \rightarrow button on the right to select the *line color* for each border.

Eont Borders Fill Aggregate	
Image: Second	インノン
l I IAa Zz	
Reset Item Reset All	

The **Fill** tab allows you to specify the fill pattern for the output Excel file cells.

Use the drop-down list to select the preferable fill pattern type.

Press the button on the left to set the background color for the fill pattern. Press the button on the right to set the foreground color for the fill pattern.

<u>F</u> ont	Borders	Fill	Aggregate	
٨				•
Aa Zz				
R	eset Item		Reset	All

The **Aggregate** tab allows you to specify an aggregate function for the column in the output Excel file.

Select a **function** that will be applied to the field:

- 💿 None
- AVG
- MAX

540	SQL Manager for SQL Ser	rver - I	Jser's M	anual		
(● SUM ● MIN					
		<u>F</u> ont	Borders	Fill	Aggregate	
		Func N S	tion one UM	© avg © min	⊚ MAX	
		Aa Zz	eset Item		Reset All	

You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

8.1.5.1.1.2 Options

Using the **Options** tab you can set *font* options, *border* and *fill* options for all **elements** of the Excel sheet (*header*, *caption*, *footer*, *aggregates* and *hyperlinks*).

Data format	Extens	ions 🥖	Advanced						
Columns	Options	Styles		<u>F</u> ont	<u>B</u> orde	ers	F <u>i</u> ll		
HEADER CAPTIO AGGRE FOOTER HYPERI	R GATE R .INK			Font Size A [E]	B J E I Z Reset It	"Tr 10 [] [Arial	Reset All	*

The **font**, **borders** and **fill** options are specified in the same way as for output **Columns**. For details refer to the <u>Columns</u> are page.
You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

8.1.5.1.1.3 Styles

Using the **Styles** tab you can make a style template: set *font* options, *border* and *fill* options and save them.

To add a style template, click the **+ Plus** button. To delete a style template, select it and click the **- Minus** button. To reorder style templates in the list, use the **O O** buttons. To load a style template, click the **P** button. To save the current style template, click the **P** button.

If you have created or loaded more than one style template, they can be ignored, or used *column-by-column* or *row-by-row* (it depends on the **Strip type** selection).

Data format Extensions Advanced	8
Columns Options Styles	Font Borders Fill
+ - ĵ ♥ 🚰 🚍	Font "Interview Size 10 ∨ A B I S U U U U E E E E E E E E E
Strip style None Col Row	Aa Zz Reset Item Reset All

The **font**, **borders** and **fill** options are specified in the same way as for output **Columns**. For details refer to the <u>Columns</u> [38] page.

You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

8.1.5.1.2 Extensions

The **Extensions** tab provides an ability to add <u>hyperlinks</u> [542] and <u>notes</u> [542] and to any cell of the target file, to specify a value of a cell, to create a <u>chart</u> [543] and to <u>merge cells</u> [549].

Click the **+ Plus** button to add an element; click the **- Minus** button to delete an element.

- <u>Hyperlinks</u>542
- <u>Notes</u>542

- Charts 545
- Cells 548
- Merged Cells 549

8.1.5.1.2.1 Hyperlinks

If you need to create a **hyperlink**:

- set the cell coordinates (Col and Row);
- specify whether this is a *local* link or URL;
- enter the *title* of the hyperlink;
- specify the *target* file location or address.

 Col Whyperlinks Hyperlink_1 Hyperlink_2 Notes Charts Cells Merged Cells 	Data format	Extensions	<u>A</u> dvan	iced			
	Hyper Hyper Hi Notes Charts Cells Merge	finks /perlink_1 /perlink_2 s		Col Row Title Hyperlin Target http://ww	0 vv.sqimanager.	Style URL Local file	

Use the **Col** and **Row** spinner controls to specify the column and row for the hyperlink in the output file.

The **Style** group allows you to select the preferable hyperlink style:

- 🧿 URL
- Iccal file (i.e. the file is located on your local machine or on a machine in the LAN)

Use the **Title** box to specify the hyperlink name.

The **Target** box lets you enter the path to the target file or URL. Use the Solution to check whether the specified location is available.

8.1.5.1.2.2 Notes

If you need to create a **note**:

- set the cell coordinates (Col and Row);
- enter *text* of a note for the cell;
- set the *font* and *fill* properties using the corresponding tabs.

The **Base** tab allows you to specify basic properties of the note to be added to the output Excel file.

Use the **Col** and **Row** spinner controls to specify the column and row for the note in the file.

Use the edit-box below to enter the text of the note.



The **Font** tab allows you to specify properties of the font that will be used for the note.

Use the **Font** and **Size** drop-down lists to select the *font* and *size* to be applied to the output text.

Use the buttons below to set *font color*, make text *bold*, *italicized*, *strikethrough* text, set *underline* effects, specify text *horizontal* and *vertical align*.

The **Orientation** group allows you to select the note text orientation:

- 💿 No rotation
- Top to bottom
- Counterclockwise
- Clockwise



The **Fill** tab allows you to specify the fill type and transparency for the note.

The **Fill Type** group allows you to select whether the fill color will be **solid** or **gradient**: Interpretation

- Vertical
- Diagonal up
- Diagonal down
- From corner
- From center

Press the 🅍 button to set the background color for the fill pattern.

Press the 🎽 button to set the foreground color for the fill pattern.

The **Transparency** control allows you to set the transparency degree for the note. Move the slider between the **0%** and **100%** threshold values to select the required transparency value within this scope.



8.1.5.1.2.3 Charts

If you need to create a **chart**:

- enter the chart *title*;
- select the chart style;
- set the legend position;
- specify if you want to show the legend;
- specify if you want to set the chart color automatically;
- define the chart *position* and *category labels* using the corresponding tabs.

The **Base** tab allows you to specify basic properties of the chart to be added to the output Excel file.

Use the **Title** box to specify the chart name.

Use the **Style** drop-down list to select the preferable chart style (*Column, Column 3D, Bar, Bar 3D, Line, Line Mark, Line 3D*, etc.).

The **Legend** position group allows you to specify position of the chart legend:

- Bottom
- 🖲 Тор
- 🧕 Left
- Orner
- Right

Show legend

This options specifies whether the chart legend will be visible or not.

Auto color

If this option is selected, each series will be automatically differentiated with different colors on the chart, otherwise one color will be applied for all series.



The **Position** tab allows you to specify properties pertaining to the chart position on the output file sheet.

💿 Auto

Specifies automatic position of the chart.

The **Placement** group allows you to specify the chart position relative to the data:

- 🖲 Bottom
- 🧕 Right

Use the **Left** and **Top** spinner controls to specify the spacing between the chart and data at the left and at the top respectively.

Use the **Height** and **Width** spinner controls to specify the chart *height* and *width* respectively.

💿 Custom

Specifies absolute position of the chart (irrelative to the data). Use the spinner controls to set the coordinates you need.



The **Category Labels** tab allows you to specify in which rows and columns the chart will be built.

Column

Use the drop-down list to select the column that will be used to take values for x-axis.

💿 Custom

Specify the range of cells from which x-axis values will be taken. Use the spinner controls to set the range you need.



To build a chart, you also need to create series that will be used to take values for y-

axis. To add **series** for the chart:

- add one or more series using the + button;
- enter the *titles*;
- set data ranges (select a column from the drop-down list or set the custom range);
- define colors for all the graphs.

Use the **Title** box to specify the series name.

Data range

```
Column
```

Use the drop-down list to select the column that will be used to take values for the series.

Oustom

Specify the range of cells from which the series will be formed. Use the spinner controls to set the range you need.

Press the 🕍 button to set the color for the series.

Data format Extensions Adva	nced
+ -	Title Series_1
Hyperlinks	Data range
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Olumn
🖻 🋄 Charts	DEPT_ID 💌
🖻 🛄 Chart_1	Custom
🖻 🖾 Series	Col 1 0 🔶 Col 2 0 🔶
Series_1	Row 1 0 🚔 Row 2 0 🚔
merged Cells	<u>ab/</u>

8.1.5.1.2.4 Cells

If you need to add a value in a specific cell:

- set the cell coordinates (*Col* and *Row*);
- select the cell type;
- enter a value;
- if you are adding a numeric or a date/time value, you can set the cell format;
- set the *font*, *borders* and *fill* properties using the corresponding tabs.

Data format	nced	
+ -	Base <u>F</u> ont	Borders Fill
🗄 🕲 Hyperlinks	Col	1 - Row 1
Notes	Cell type	Numeric
E Els	Value	47
Cell(Col: 1 Row: 1)	- Formats -	
Ell(Col: 0 Row: 0)	Date time	dd.MM.yyyy h:mm:ss
Merged Cells	Numeric	###,###,#0.00
	Aa 77	

The **Base** tab allows you to specify basic properties of the cell.

Use the **Col** and **Row** spinner controls to specify the column and row denoting the cell. Use the **Cell** type drop-down list to select the data type for the cell (Boolean, DateTime, Numeric or String).

Set the required value in the **Value** edit box.

The **Formats** group allows you to specify data format for numeric or a date/time types.

The **font**, **borders** and **fill** options are specified in the same way as for output **Columns**. For details refer to the <u>Columns</u> [538] page.

8.1.5.1.2.5 Merged Cells

If you want to merge two or more cells, set the range of cell coordinates: *First col, Last col, First row, Last row*. Use the spinner controls to set the range you need.



8.1.5.1.3 Advanced

The **Advanced** tab allows you to set a number of advanced options to be applied to the result MS Excel file.

Page header

If necessary, enter some text for the page header.

Page footer

If necessary, enter some text for the page footer.

Hint: It is also possible to set macros in the **Page header** and **Page footer** fields: *&N* stands for the quantity of pages; *&P* - the number of the current page.

Sheet title

Specify the sheet title for the target file.

Page background

If necessary, use the **Ellipsis** button to browse for a graphical file to be applied as the page background.

Data format Extensions	dvanced		
Page header	Export data		
Page footer	Page &P of &N		
Sheet title	Sheet 1		
Page background			
Calculate column width automatically			

Calculate column width automatically

This option allows the wizard to determine column width in the target file automatically according to column size.

8.1.5.2 Access options

This step allows you to set options for the target **MS Access/Access 97-2003** (*. *accdb*, *.*mdb*) file.

Set the name for the target table and specify whether the wizard should **create a new table** in the MS Access/Access 97-2003 database if it does not exist yet, or use the existing table to export data into.

Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - X				
Data Wizard - Export Data				
Customize MS Access ex	port options.			
<u>e</u> r	Table options Table name EXPORT_TABLE Create new table if it does not exist			
SQL Manager for SQL Server				
Help Templates	▼ < <u>Back</u> <u>Next</u> > <u>Back</u>	<u>ł</u> un	Clos	se

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> $\overline{568}$.

8.1.5.3 Word 97-2003 / RTF options

This step allows you to set options for the target **MS Word** (*.*doc*) and **Rich Text Format** (*.*rtf*) files.

- Base Styles 53
- Strip Styles 554

For your convenience the previews illustrating the changes are displayed in the **Sample Group** area within the *Base Styles* and the *Strip Styles* tabs.

Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - X					
Data Wizard - Export Data					
Customize MS Word 97-2	2003 (RTF) export options.				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Base Styles Strip Styles HEADER CAPTION DATA FOOTER	Font The Arial Size 10 A B I S U Image: Second			
	Page orientation Portrait O Landscape	Aa Zz Reset Item Reset All			
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext > <u>R</u> un Close			

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> $\overline{568}$.

8.1.5.3.1 Base Styles

The **Base Styles** tab contains the list of target file entities: *HEADER, CAPTION, DATA, FOOTER.* You can customize style options, such as *font* and *size, background* and *foreground colors, text alignment,* etc. for each of them by clicking the corresponding item in the list and setting the options in the right-side panel. You can also switch **page orientation** for the target Word/RTF file using this tab.



Use the **Font** and **Size** drop-down lists to select the *font* and *size* to be applied to the text.

Use the buttons below to set font color, make text bold, italicized, underlined, strikethrough text, specify horizontal align.

Highlight

Enables/disables text highlight.

Background

Enables/disables background for text.

Press the 🅍 button to set the background color for the text.

Press the 🛎 button to set the highlight color for the text.

You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

8.1.5.3.2 Strip Styles

Using the **Strip Styles** tab you can create a style template: set *font*, *size*, *background* and *foreground colors*, *text alignment*, *highlight* and save them.

To add a style template, click the **Plus** + button. To delete a style template, select it and click the **Minus** - button. To reorder style templates in the list, use the • • • • buttons. To load a style template, click the ³ button. To save the current style template, click the ³ button.

If you have created or loaded more than one style template, they can be ignored, or used *column-by-column* or *row-by-row* (it depends on the **Strip type** selection).

Base Styles Strip Styles	Font The Arial Size 10 Image: Size Image: S
Strip type	Aa Zz
None Col Row	Reset item Reset All

You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

8.1.5.4 HTML options

This step allows you to set options for the target **HTML** (*.*html*) file.

- Preview 556
- Basic 557
- <u>Multi-file</u> 558ो
 <u>Advanced</u> 559ो

Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - X					
Data Wizard - Export Data					
Customize HTML export of	options.				
	Preview Basic	Multi-file <u>A</u> dvanc	ed		
-	Default text			Template	
	Num	Name	Age	Classic ~	
	1	John	34	Sava templata	
SQL	2	Marcella	27	Save template	
for	3	Alex	25	Load template	
SQL Server	4	Julia	48		
	Non-visited li	nk Visited linl	k Active link		
Help Templates	~	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Run Close	

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> $\overline{568}$.

8.1.5.4.1 Preview

The **Preview** tab allows you to customize the style that will be applied to the target HTML file using a number of built-in templates provided in the **Templates** drop-down list.



You can select any of the pre-defined templates and customize it by clicking objects in the preview panel, and save the settings as a custom template using the **Save template...** button. Use the **Load template...** button to load a previously saved custom template from your hard disk.

Click on an element of the table to select the color that will be applied for this element (background, font, header row, odd row, even row, non-visited link, visited link, active link).

8.1.5.4.2 Basic

The **Basic** tab allows you to specify the basic parameters of target HTML file:

- specify the title of the result file;
- select whether the cascade style sheet (CSS) should be internal or external (the Ellipsis button to browse for a *.css file);
- determine whether boolean fields of the table should be exported as HTML check boxes.

Preview	<u>B</u> asic	Multi-file	Advanced		
Title Film Cascade style sheet options O Internal External					
CS	SS file nar	me	Export.css		
Export boolean fields as HTML check boxes					

8.1.5.4.3 Multi-file

The **Multi-file** tab provides you with an ability to split the target HTML file into several separate files. This tab allows you to specify the *record count* for a single file, set an option *to generate an index HTML file*, and add an ability to navigate between the exported files.

Preview Basic Multi-file export	Multi-file Advanced		
Record(s) in	a single file index	Prefix	1000 💌 Page_
Navigation	📝 On bottom	Prior link	Prior
Index link	Index	Next link	Next
First link	First	Last link	Last

Multi-file export

Use multi-file export

Enables/disables the multi-file export feature.

Record(s) in a single file

Use the spinner control to specify the number of records to be exported into each of the files.

Generate index

Specifies that an index file containing links to all the data files will be generated. Use the edit-box next to the checkbox to set a name for the index file.

Navigation

This group allows you to specify properties for navigation elements, i.e. the elements that provide quick access to pages of the multi-file document. Navigation is implemented as a set of hyperlinks.

🗹 On top

Specifies that the hyperlinks will be placed at the top of the page.

On bottom

Specifies that the hyperlinks will be placed at the bottom of the page.

Use the **Index link**, **First link**, **Prior link**, **Next link** and **Last link** boxes to specify captions for the corresponding navigation elements.

8.1.5.4.4 Advanced

The **Advanced** tab allows you to set a number of advanced options to be applied to the result HTML file.

Preview	<u>B</u> asic	Multi-file	Advanced	
- Body o	options -			
Defaul	t font		ΈrΑ	rial 💌
Backg	round		D:\EM	S_logo.bmp 💮
Advan	ced attrit	outes		
Table	Options			
Cell pa	dding			4
Cell sp	acing			1
Border	r			1
Backg	round		D:\Ex	port_to_HTML_background.jpg
Advan	ced attrit	outes		

Body options

Default font

Use the drop-down list to select the font that will be used in the result file by default.

Background

If necessary, use the Ellipsis button to browse for a graphical file to be applied as the page background.

Table options

Use the spinner controls to specify common table options: **cell padding**, **cell spacing**, **border**.

Background

If necessary, use the Ellipsis button to browse for a graphical file to be applied as the table background.

It is also possible to define **advanced attributes** for both the HTML body and table.

8.1.5.5 PDF options

This step allows you to set options for the target **PDF** (*.*pdf*) file.

Fonts

This group of options allows you to customize fonts for the *header*, *caption*, *data*, *footer* of the result file.

Use the **Base font name** and **Font encoding** drop-down lists to select the preferable font (*Helvetica, Courier, Times Roman*, etc.) and encoding (*Standard, WinANSI, MacRoman, PDFDoc*) respectively, and the **Font size** spinner control to specify the font size.

Click the **Font color...** button to select the color to be applied to the font.

For your convenience the preview illustrating the changes is displayed in the **Sample** area.

Export Data Wizard - [nev	Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - 🗌 🗙					
Data Wizard - Export Data						
Customize PDF export op	tions.					
Ē	Header Font Caption Font Data Font Footer Font	Base font name Font encoding Font size T] Font color	Helvetica WinAnsiEnco Sam	ding ∨ 10 ↓ nple		
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Page options Page size Width Height Units Orientation Grid options	A4 ~ 0 • 0 • Inches ~ Portrait ~	Margins Left Right Top Bottom			
Help Templates	Col spacing 3	Row spacing 1	Line width	1 <u>↓</u> Close		

Page options

Use the **Page size** drop-down list to select one of the standard page formats (*Letter*, *Legal*, A3, A4, etc.).

Use the **Width** and **Height** spinner controls to specify the page *width* and *height* respectively.

Use the **Units** drop-down list to select the unit of measure that will be used in report settings: *inches*, *millimeters*, or *dots*.

Use the **Orientation** drop-down list to select the preferable page orientation: *portrait* or *landscape*.

Margins

Use the **Left**, **Right**, **Top**, **Bottom** spinner controls to specify the corresponding page margins for the output PDF file.

Grid options

Use the **Col spacing**, **Row spacing**, **Line width** spinner controls to specify spacing for grid columns, rows, and grid line width respectively.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> [568].

8.1.5.6 TXT options

This step allows you to set options for the target **text** (*.*txt*) file.

Set the **Calculate column width** option on if you want each column of the target file to be adjusted to the maximum number of characters in it. The **Spacing** option specifies the number of spaces between columns in the target file.

Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - 🗌 🗙						
Data Wizard - Export Data						
Customize TXT export option	ons.					
	TXT options					
20	Calculate column width		Spacing	1		
SQL Manager						
for SQL Server						
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	<u>R</u> un	Close		

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> $\overline{568}$.

8.1.5.7 CSV options

This step allows you to set options for the target **CSV** (*.*csv*) file.

Quote strings

Check this option to apply quoting for string values in the target file.

Quote captions

Check this option to apply quoting for captions in the target file.

Specify the column separator using the **Delimiter** drop-down list and the preferable quote character using the **Quote** drop-down list.

Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - 🗌 🗙						
Data Wizard - Export Data						
Customize CSV export opti	ons.					
SQL SQL Server	CSV options Quote strings Quote Delimiter	Quo ■ ;	te captions			
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u>	ack <u>N</u> ext >	<u>R</u> un	Clos	e	

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> [568].

8.1.5.8 XML options

This step allows you to set options for the target **XML** (*.*xml*) file.

Specify XML document encoding in the **Encoding** edit box and set the **Standalone** option on if you intend to create a standalone XML document (*standalone="yes"*).

XML type

Select the type of the result XML document: *Datapacket 2.0* or *Access*. Conversion between generic XML documents and documents of the *XML-Datapacket* (*CDS*) format can be performed with the help of XML Mapper by Borland®.

Export Data Wizard - [newtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EXE] - ×								
Data Wizard - Export Data								
Customize XML export op	otions.							
	XML options							
	Encoding	iso-8859-1	~	Standal	one			
	XML type	Datapacket 2.0	~	Export)	(SD Sche	ma		
201								
Manager								
for SQL Server								
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >		<u>R</u> un	Clos	e		

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> [568].

8.1.5.9 MS Excel / ODS options

This step allows you to set options for the target **MS Excel 2007** (*.*xlsx*) or **ODF Spreadsheets** (*.*ods*) file.

Using the **Base Styles** tab you can set *font* and *border* options for all **elements** of the Excel 2007 / ODS sheet (*HEADER, CAPTION, DATA, FOOTER*). You can customize style options, such as *font* and *size, background* and *foreground colors, text alignment,* etc. for each of them by clicking the corresponding item in the list and setting the options in the right-side panel.

If necessary, you can also specify the **sheet name** for the target Excel 2007 / ODS file.

Use the **Font** and **Size** drop-down lists to select the *font* and *size* to be applied to the text.

Use the buttons below to set font color, make text bold, italicized, underlined, specify horizontal and vertical align.

Background

Enables/disables background for text.

Press the button to set the background color for the text. Press the **Wrap Text** button to enable/disable the text wrapping feature.

🗹 Use border

Enables/disables borders in the output file.

Press the button to set the color to be applied to the borders. Use the **Border Style** drop-down list to select the preferable style that will be used for borders (*thin*, *dashed*, *dashdot*, *dotted*, etc.).

For your convenience the previews illustrating the changes are displayed in the **Sample Group** area within the *Base Styles* and the *Strip Styles* tabs.

Export Data Wizard - [new	wtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014E	XE] — 🗆 X
Data Wizard - Export Data		
Customize MS Excel exp	ort options.	
	Base Styles Strip Styles	Font "Tr Calibri 🗸
	HEADER	Size 11 V
		ABIU
801	TOOTER	
Manager		Background 🖏 Wrap Text
for		Use Border 📉
SQL Server		Border Style Thin 🗸
	Sheet Name	Aa Zz
	Export	Reset Item Reset All
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext > <u>R</u> un Close

Using the **Strip Styles** tab you can create a style template: set *font*, *size*, *background color*, *text alignment*, *wrap text* options and save them.

To add a style template, click the **Plus** \clubsuit button. To delete a style template, select it and click the **Minus** — button. To reorder style templates in the list, use the **O O** buttons. To load a style template, click the **P** button. To save the current style template, click the **P** button.

If you have created or loaded more than one style template, they can be ignored, or



used *column-by-column* or *row-by-row* (it depends on the **Strip type** selection).

You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> 568.

8.1.5.10 MS Word / ODT options

This step allows you to set options for the target **MS Word 2007** (*.*docx*) or **ODF text** (*.odt) file.

Using the Base Styles tab you can set font options for all elements of the Word 2007 / ODT document (HEADER, CAPTION, DATA, FOOTER). You can customize style options, such as font and size, background and foreground colors, text alignment, text highlight, etc. for each of them by clicking the corresponding item in the list and setting the options in the right-side panel.

Use the **Font** and **Size** drop-down lists to select the *font* and *size* to be applied to the text.

Use the buttons below to set font color, make text bold, italicized, underlined, strikethrough text, specify horizontal align.

Background

Enables/disables background for text.

Press the 🖄 button to set the background color for the text.

Highlight

Enables/disables text highlight.

If this option is enabled, you should select the preferable highlight color from the dropdown list.

For your convenience the previews illustrating the changes are displayed in the **Sample Group** area within the *Base Styles* and the *Strip Styles* tabs.

Export Data Wizard - [ne	wtest_db on tester1\MSSQL2014EX	E] — 🗆 🗙
Data Wizard - Export Data		
Customize MS Word exp	ort options.	
SQL Manager	Base Styles Strip Styles < > HEADER CAPTION □ DATA □ FOOTER	Font The Calibri ~ Size 11 ~ A B I S U E E E E E Background A Highlight hcNone ~
SQL Server	Page orientation Portrait O Landscape	Aa Zz Reset Item Reset All
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext > <u>R</u> un Close

Using the **Strip Styles** tab you can create a style template: set *font*, *size*, *background color*, *text alignment*, *highlight* options and save them.

To add a style template, click the **Plus** + button.

To delete a style template, select it and click the **Minus** – button.

To reorder style templates in the list, use the $\bigcirc \bigcirc$ buttons.

To load a style template, click the 🖻 button.

To save the current style template, click the \square button.

If you have created or loaded more than one style template, they can be ignored, or used *column-by-column* or *row-by-row* (it depends on the **Strip type** selection).

Strip Styles Border	Font The Calibri Size 11 Image: Size Image:
Strip type	Aa Zz
None Col Row	Reset Item Reset All

You can reset the changes any time using the **Reset Item** and the **Reset All** buttons.

Using the ${\bf Border}$ tab you can enable borders in the result Word 2007 / ODT document and customize them.

V Use border

Enables/disables borders in the output file.

Press the button to set the color to be applied to the borders. Use the **Border Style** drop-down list to select the preferable style that will be used for borders (*single*, *thick*, *double*, *hairline*, etc.).



When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Setting common export options</u> $\overline{568}$.

8.1.6 Setting common export options

Use this step of the wizard to set common export options. The detailed description of these options is given below.

Export Data Wizard - [Ad	ventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]	_		×		
Data Wizard - Export Data	Data Wizard - Export Data					
Specify common export	options					
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Constraints Export empty tables Skip Export all records Export only Open files after export Print files after export					
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > <u>F</u>	<u>ł</u> un	Clos	se		

Export empty tables

If checked, you can export the table even if it does not contain any data.

Skip ... record(s)

Specifies the number of records to be skipped before export starts.

Export all records

Specifies that all records of the table will be exported.

Export only ... record(s)

Specifies the number of records to be exported.

Open files after export

If this option is checked, the result file will be opened with the currently associated program after the export operation is completed.

Print files after export

If this option is checked, the result file will be sent to the default printer after the export operation is completed.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the last step [570] of the wizard.

8.1.7 Exporting data

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all export options have been set, and you can start the export process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Export Data Wizard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - 🗌 🗙						
Data Wizard - Export Data						
Click "Run" to start export process						
	Export finished successfully!					
	Exported		296			
	Time		0:00:00			
		0				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Preparing to export the data Exporting data Export finished successfully! Skipped records: 0 Exported records: 296					
Close the Wizard after successful completion						
Help Templates	▼ < <u>Back</u> <u>Next</u> > <u>Ru</u>	n	Close	Ð		

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the export process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> अभी for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the export process.

After the operation is completed, you can view the number of *exported* records, elapsed *time*, estimated export *speed*, and the *log* of operations and errors (if any).

8.2 Import Data Wizard

Import Data Wizard allows you to import data to a <u>table</u> 1921 / <u>view</u> 2461 from any of supported formats (*MS Excel, MS Access, DBF, XML, TXT, CSV, HTML, MS Excel 2007, MS Word 2007, ODF*). You can save your settings as a <u>template</u> 9341 any time for future use.

To start the wizard, right-click the table/view in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u> [56] group and proceed to the **Import Data...** item within this group.

Alternatively, you can open the **Data** tab of <u>Table Editor</u>^[200] / <u>View Editor</u>^[246], right-click the <u>grid</u>^[465] there, then select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u>^[469] group and proceed to the **Table Table Total to <object_name>...** item within this group, or use the **Table Total Table Editor Table Editor**^[246], right-click the <u>grid</u>^[465] **Import Data to <object_name>...** item within this group, or use the **Table Editor Table Editor**^[246], right-click the <u>grid</u>^[465] **Import Data to <object_name>...** item within this group, or use the **Table Editor**^[161].

	New Table	Ctrl+N			
	Edit Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+O			
	Rename Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+R			
	Drop Table 'Employee' S	hift+Del			
æ	Duplicate Table 'Employee'				
	Tasks		►		
	Data Manipulation		•	-	Export Data
4	Table Properties			P	Export Data as SQL Script
۵	Grants for Table 'Employee'			-	Import Data
	Script to New SQL Editor		•		Bulk Insert
	Script to Clipboard		۲		
2	Refresh Tables	F5			
8	Database Registration Info				
	New Tab from Here				
	Rename Current Tab				
	Delete Current Tab				
ρ	Find Object	Ctrl+F			

- <u>Setting source file name and format</u>
- <u>Selecting the source to import data from</u> 573
- Setting correspondence between the source and target columns 574
- Setting advanced column formats 585
- Setting import mode and data write type 587
- <u>Customizing common import options</u>
- Importing data 592

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also: Export Data Wizard बिजी Export as SQL Script बिजी Bulk Insert Wizard बिज्ये Using templates बिजे

8.2.1 Selecting source file name and format

This step of the wizard allows you to select the source file format you need to import data from.

Source file name

Type in or use the 🚵 button to specify the path to the file using the **Open file...** dialog. The file name extension changes automatically according to the selected **Import Type**.

📑 Import Data Wizard			- 🗆 X				
Import Data							
Specify import format and	l source file name						
	Welcome to the Data Impor This wizard allows you to such as MS Excel, MS Acc The wizard will guide you Import Type	t Wizard! import data into table from m ess, DBF, XML and more. through the process of impo	ost popular data formats, rting data into the table.				
SOL	MS Excel	() TXT	O MS Excel 97-2003				
Manager	O MS Word	Ocsv	O MS Access 97-2003				
for	○ MS Access		ODBF				
SQL Server	ODF Spreadsheets	O XML Generic					
	ODF Text	XML Datapacket					
	Source file name						
	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for S	QL Server\HumanResources	s_Employee.xlsx 👌				
	- CSV format parameters -						
Delimiter ; 🗸 Quote " 🗸							
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	T	< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel				

Import Type

Specify the format of the source file. For details refer to Supported file formats [935].

CSV format parameters

For <u>CSV</u>^[579] import you should define **Delimiter** and **Quote** settings using the corresponding drop-down lists.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting columns correspondence</u> [574] step or to the <u>Selecting data source</u> [573] step of the wizard if you have selected **MS Access** as the source file format.

8.2.2 Selecting data source

This step of the wizard is only available when you are importing data from *MS Access*. Select a **table** from the table list or input a **query** in the corresponding text boxes to specify the data source.

If you choose a query as the data source, you also can load a SQL query from a *.sql file or save the current query text to a file using the **Load from File...** and the **Save to File...** buttons correspondingly.

🖺 Import Data Wizard		_		×
Import Data				
Select MS Access table of	or create SQL query for import			
	I would like to import data from a table			
	EXPORT_TABLE			
SQL				
for	O I would like to import data from a SQL query			
SQL Server				
	I and From File		Sava Ta	File
	Load Promitie		Save 10	r ne
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	>	Canc	el

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting columns correspondence</u> at step of the wizard.

8.2.3 Setting columns correspondence

This step of the wizard allows you **to set correspondence** between columns of the source file and columns of the target SQL Server table.

- <u>MS Excel 97-2003</u>574
- <u>MS Access / DBF / XML Datapacket</u> 577
- <u>TXT</u> 578
- <u>CSV</u> 579
- HTML 580
- XML Generic 582
- MS Excel / Word, ODF 583

To get more information about the file formats, see the <u>Supported file formats</u> page.

8.2.3.1 Excel 97-2003

Specify ranges in the grid for the target and source columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the Columns list;
- proceed to the Sheet grid: click a column caption to select the whole column or click the row number to select the whole row;

- the selected column/row of the source file gets green highlight, and a new range indicating the source and target columns correspondence appears in the **Ranges** list;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

If the source Excel file and the destination SQL Server table have the same order of columns or rows, you can use the **I** Auto Fill Cols or the **I** Auto Fill Rows buttons to set correspondence between them automatically.

If necessary, you can choose to **skip** a defined number of the source file columns and/or rows using the **Col(s)** and **Row(s)** spinner controls of the **Skip** group (e.g. if you need to exclude column headers from the imported data range).

Import Data Wizard — X Import Data								
SQL SQL Server	Columns	<	Exp 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Auto Fill Cols Auto Fill Rows ort A EmployeeKe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Clear R Clea ParentEmplo 18 7 14 3 3 267 112	C EmployeeNa 14417807 253022876 509647174 112457891 112457891 480168528 24756624	p ((s) 0 (c) 1 ParentEmplo null null null null null null null nu	E A S 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11
Help Templates ▼ < Back Next > Cancel								

To clear ranges for a column, select the column in the Columns list and press the \times Clear **Ranges** button.

To clear all ranges specified for the target table columns, press the **X** Clear All button.

Right-click a range in the **Ranges** list to call its popup menu. Using the popup menu you can *add* or *edit* ranges manually, *remove* them or change their *order*.



The **Range** dialog allows you to edit the data range for import manually.

Range Type

Use the drop-down list to select whether a *column*, a *row*, or a *cell* of the source Excel file will be mapped to the target table column.

Depending on the selected range type you should specify the column (e.g. B), the row (e. g. 2) or the cell (e.g. A2).

Start / Finish

These groups allow you to set the precise data range for import: select **Where data started** / **finished** or use the spinner control to specify the **start/finish row** (or **start/finish column**).

Direction

Use this group to select the direction for importing data of the specified range: *Down* or *Up*.

Sheet

Use this group to define whether the specified range will be taken from the **default** Excel sheet or from a **custom** sheet (select **sheet number** or **sheet name** using the corresponding drop-down lists).
Range	X
Range Type	
Col	▼ Col A ▼
Start	Finish
Where data started	Where data finished
Start Row	Finish Row 10
Direction	
Own	© Up
Sheet	
O Default Sheet	
Custom Sheet	
Sheet Number	T
Sheet Name	Sheet 1
	OK Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.3.2 Access/DBF/XML Datapacket

Set correspondence between the source MS Access columns and the target SQL Server table columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the **Destination Columns** list;
- select the corresponding column of the source MS Access table in the Source Columns list;
- click the + Add button to set correspondence between the selected columns;
- the pair of columns appears in the list below;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

Use the **Auto Fill** button to set correspondence between the source and target columns automatically on the basis of their order.

When importing data from a DBF file, the additional **Skip deleted records** option appears. Selecting this checkbox allows you to skip records marked for deletion.

Import Data Wizard Import Data Set the accordance betw	een source and target table columns		_ □	×
SQL Manager	Destination Columns EmployeeKey FirstName CurrentFlag SalesPersonFlag DepartmentName StartDate EndDate V	+ Add Auto Fill - Remove X Clear	Source Columns EmployeeKey ParentEmployeeKey EmployeeNationalIDAlternate ParentEmployeeNationalIDAl SalesTerritoryKey FirstName	eł te
SQL Server	Destination Columns ParentEmployeeKey EmployeeNationalIDAlternateKey ParentEmployeeNationalIDAlternateKey SalesTerritoryKey LastName MiddleName	Source = Employe = ParentE = Employe = ParentE = SalesTe = FirstNar	Columns eeKey imployeeKey eeNationalIDAlternateKey imployeeNationalIDAlternateKe erritoryKey me	a]
Help <u>T</u> emplates	•	< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cance	I

To remove a correspondence, select the pair of columns in the list below and press the **Remove** button.

To remove all correspondences, press the **X Clear** button.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.3.3 TXT

Set correspondence between the source text file columns and the target SQL Server table columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the Columns list;
- double-click in the text viewer area to add vertical separators delimiting the source column bounds;
- click the area between the separators to assign the column to the selected target table column the selected source column gets black highlight;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

If necessary, you can choose to **skip** a defined number of the source file lines using the **Skip Lines** spinner control (e.g. if you need to exclude column headers from the imported data range).

📑 Import Data Wizard	- 🗆 ×
Import Data	
Set the accordance betw	en source and target table columns
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Columns P S S Employeek 0 11 ParentEmp 11 18 Skip Lines 1 ParentEmp 60 37 1 18 1 SalesTerrit 97 18 1 2 7 2 MiddleNam 145 17 3 14 5 MiddleNam 145 17 Name Style 162 10 Title 172 34 Salest the target column in the list, and then double click in the tart viewer area to add
	separators, delimiting the source column bounds. Click between the separators to assign the correspondence. Proceed to the next column when done.
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

To clear all correspondences, press the **X Clear** button.

Note: if you cannot see the content of the source text file properly, you should select the appropriate Charset to be used for processing data.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.3.4 CSV

Set correspondence between the target table columns and the source CSV file columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the **Columns** list;
- proceed to the source grid viewer area: click a caption to assign the column to the selected target table column;
- the selected column of the source file gets gray highlight;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

If the source CSV file and the destination SQL Server table have the same order of columns, you can use the **Auto Fill** button to set correspondence between them automatically.

Note that the CSV delimiter is specified at the <u>Selecting source file name and format</u> [572] step of the wizard.

The **Col(s)** control indicates the currently selected source file column. You can also use this spinner control for quick column selection.

If necessary, you can choose to **skip** a defined number of the source file rows using the **Row(s)** spinner control of the **Skip** group (e.g. if you need to exclude column headers from the imported data range).

🖺 Import Data Wizard					_	-	×	:
Import Data								
Set the accordance betw	een source and target table	e co	olumns					
210	Columns A EmployeeKey ParentEmployee		Auto <u>F</u> il Column	I <u>× C</u> lea	ar All	Row(s)	1	<u> </u>
	EmployeeNation		Column_1	Column_2	Column_3	Column_4	Colui	^
SQL		h	EmployeeKe 1	ParentEmplo 18	EmployeeNa 14417807	null	Sale:	
Manager	FirstName		2	7	253022876	null	11	
for SQL Server	LastName MiddleName		3	3	509647174	null	11	
	Name Style	μ	5	3	112457891	null	11	
	Title		6	267	480168528	null	11	
	HireDate		7 <	112	24756624	null	11 >	~
		,	Charset	Unicode (U	TF-8)			~
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel								

To remove a correspondence, select the column in the **Columns** list and press the \times **Clear** button.

Note: if you cannot see the content of the source text file properly, you should select the appropriate **Charset** to be used for processing data.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.3.5 HTML

Set correspondence between the target table columns and the source HTML file columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the **Columns** list;
- proceed to the source grid viewer area: select the **Table** from which you intend to import data and click a column to assign the column to the selected target table column;

- the selected column of the source file gets gray highlight;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

If the source HTML file and the destination SQL Server table have the same order of columns, you can use the **I** Auto Fill button to set correspondence between them automatically.

The **Col** control indicates the currently selected source file column. You can also use this spinner control for quick column selection.

If necessary, you can choose to **skip** a defined number of the source file rows using the **Row** spinner control of the **Skip** group (e.g. if you need to exclude column headers from the imported data range).

E Import Data Wizard				_	_	×
Import Data						
Set the accordance betwe	een source and target table	columns				
SQL SQL Server	Columns EmployeeKey ParentEmployee EmployeeNation ParentEmployee SalesTerritoryKi FirstName LastName MiddleName MiddleName HireDate BirthDate LoginID	Auto <u>F</u> i Table 1 EmployeeKe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 <	Col ParentEmplo 18 7 14 3 3 267 112 112 23	ear × 1 1 • EmployeeNa 14417807 253022876 509647174 112457891 112457891 112457891 480168528 24756624 24756624 309738752	Clear All Row 1 ParentEmplo null null null null null null null nu	Sale: ∧ 11
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•		< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Car	icel

To remove a correspondence, select the column in the **Columns** list and press the \times **Clear** button.

To remove all correspondences, press the 🎇 Clear All button.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.3.6 XML Generic

In order to set mapping of a Generic XML document, you should enter the relative **XPath** (the path must be specified in the XPath format). Press the **Fill Grid** button to get the grid filled with text and attribute values of the selected node.

Note: if the source XML document contains huge amount of data, building the tree may take a long time.

Set correspondence between the source XML file columns and the target SQL Server table columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the Columns list;
- proceed to the source grid viewer area: click a column to assign the column to the selected target table column;
- the selected column of the source file gets gray highlight;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

You can use the **I** Auto Fill button to set correspondence between the source and target columns automatically according to their order (mapping is started from the first attribute value in this case).

The **Col(s)** control indicates the currently selected source file column. You can also use this spinner control for quick column selection.

If necessary, you can choose to **skip** a defined number of the source file lines using the **Row(s)** spinner control of the **Skip** group (e.g. if you need to exclude node headers from the imported data range).

📑 Import Data Wizard				_	-	×
Import Data						
Set the accordance betw	een source and target table	e columns				
SQL Server	Columns EmployeeKey ParentEmployee EmployeeNation ParentEmployee SalesTerritoryKe FirstName LastName MiddleName NameStyle Title HireDate BirthDate	Auto I Skip XPath /L Node name ROW ROW ROW ROW ROW ROW ROW	Eili Col(s) Col(ear X C 13 R 13 R 13 R 13 R 10	lear All low(s) (0 ParentEmplo 18 7 14 3 267 112 442	Empl A 1441 2530 5096 1124 1124 4801 2475
Help Templates	•		< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Car	ncel

To remove a correspondence, select the column in the **Columns** list and press the \times **Clear** button.

To remove all correspondences, press the **X** Clear All button.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.3.7 MS Excel/Word, ODF

Specify ranges in the grid for the target and source columns:

- select a column of the target SQL Server table in the **Columns** list;
- proceed to the **Sheet** grid: click a column to assign the column to the selected target table column;
- the selected column of the source file gets gray highlight;
- repeat the operation for all the columns you need to be included in the import process.

If the source file and the tiodestination SQL Server table have the same order of columns, you can use the **4 Auto Fill** button to set correspondence between them automatically.

The **Col** control indicates the currently selected source file column. You can also use this control for quick column selection.

If necessary, you can choose to **skip** a defined number of the source file rows using the

Skip spinner control (e.g. if you need to exclude column headers from the imported data range).

📑 Import Data Wizard					_		×
Import Data Set the accordance betwo	Import Data Set the accordance between source and target table columns						
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Columns EmployeeKey ParentEmployee EmployeeNation ParentEmployee SalesTerritoryKe FirstName LastName MiddleName NameStyle Title HireDate BirthDate		Auto Fill Col B Export EmployeeKe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	ParentEmplo 18 7 14 3 3 267 112 112	ar % (Skip 1 EmployeeNa 14417807 253022876 509647174 112457891 112457891 480168528 24756624 24756624	Clear All ParentEmplo null null null null null null null nu	Sal A 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1
LoginID ✓ ✓ Help Templates ✓ Y <							

To remove a correspondence, select the column in the Columns list and press the $\ref{eq:constraint}$ Clear button.

To remove all correspondences, press the **X** Clear All button.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.4 Adjusting data formats

This step of the wizard provides a number of options for setting common formats for all imported data:

Date & Time formats: Short date, Long date, Short time, Long time;
Separators: Decimal, Thousand, Date, Time;
Boolean True (specify the text that will be displayed for the boolean TRUE values);
Boolean False (specify the text that will be displayed for the boolean FALSE values);
NULL values (specify the text that will be displayed for the NULL values).

For more information refer to the Format specifiers 30 page.

🖹 Im	nport Data Wizard			- 🗆 🗙
Imp	ort Data			
	Adjust common data form	nats for import		
		Date & Time formats		Separators
		Short date	dd/MM/yyyy	Decimal ,
Mill		Long date	d MMMM yyyy 'r.'	Thousand #160
		Short time	h:mm	Date .
	SQL	Long time	h:mm:ss	Time :
	Manager for	Boolean True	Boolean False	Null Values
	SQL Server	True	False	Null
H	lelp <u>T</u> emplates	▼	< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting advanced column formats</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.5 Setting advanced column formats

This step of the wizard allows you to set **formats** each column separately.

Select a column in the list and adjust **format options** that will be applied to this column only.

Import Data Wizard Import Data Set formats for definite in	nport columns	7		- • ×
EFF SQL for SQL Server	Column Name EmployeeKey ParentEmploye EmployeeNatio ParentEmploye SalesTerritorył FirstName LastName MiddleName NameStyle Title HireDate BirthDate	Formats Generator value Constant value Null value Left quotation Quotation action Character case Replacements Text to find	0 → Generator □ Default val □ Right quota As Is As Is As Is Character Replace with Ignore	step 0
Help <u>T</u> emplates	LoginD		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

Specify **Generator value** and **Generator step** for incremental data generation into the specified column, or enter a **Constant value** which will be set for all records in the field.

Specify the **NULL value** which will be used for the records where the value is NULL.

If necessary, specify the **default value**.

Use the **Left** / **Right quotation** edit boxes to specify left/right quotation marks. Use the **Quotation action** drop-down list to select whether the quotation marks should be *added*, *removed*, or left '*As is*'.

Use the **Character case** drop-down list to select the case that will be used for string values of the column: *Upper, Lower, UpperFirst, UpperFirstWord,* or 'As is'.

Use the **Character set** drop-down list to select which charset will be used for string data in the column: *ANSI*, *OEM*, or *As is*.

The **Replacements** area allows you to set the text you need to be replaced during data import into the selected column. Press the **Plus** + button to specify a new replacement options using the **Add Replacement** dialog.

Add Replacement	×
Text to find	1-866-SQL-4-YOU
Replace with	1-866-775-4968
Ignore case	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

To edit a replacement, click the **Edit** button. To remove a replacement, click the **– Minus** button.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting import mode</u> step of the wizard.

8.2.6 Setting import mode

This step of the wizard allows you to define the records processing mode as *Insert All*, *Insert New*, *Update*, *Update or Insert*, *Delete*, *Delete or Insert* mode:

- **Insert all**: all records from the source file are inserted into the tables irrespective of whether any records exist in the destination table or not
- **Insert new**: already existing records are skipped, and new records are inserted into the destination table
- **Update**: all existing records are updated from the source file
- **Update or insert**: already existing records are updated and new records are inserted into the destination table
- Delete: already existing records are deleted
- **Delete or insert**: existing records are deleted and new records are inserted into the destination table

📑 Import Data Wizard			- 🗆 X
Import Data			
Set import and data write	type		
SQL Manager	Import mode Insert all Insert new Import type Single commands Universal mode Bulk insert	○ Update ○ Update or insert ☑ Keep identity	O Delete O Delete or insert
for SQL Server	Key columns Available columns ParentEmployeeKey EmployeeNationalIDAlter ParentEmployeeNational SalesTerritoryKey	rnateKey	elected columns EmployeeKey
Help Templates	FirstName_	✓ Mack	Next > Cancel

Here is an **example** of some import modes offered by Import Data Wizard:

All import modes (except for the **Insert All** mode) are based on key values information. In order to perform import operations with these modes used, you need to have matches between the source file key column(s) and the destination table key column(s). For example, your source file contains three rows with the key values 1, 2, 3, and your destination table contains three rows with the key values 1, 2, 4.

Destination table

:	ID 💌	DATA 👻
۶		а
	2	b
	4	f

Source file data

	А	В
1	1	с
2	2	d
3	3	e

If you use the **Insert new** import mode, in this case only the row with key value 3 will be inserted into the destination table.

If you use the **Update** import mode, then the rows with key values 1, 2 will be updated. If you use the **Update or insert** import mode, then rows 1, 2 will be updated and the row with key value 3 will be inserted.

It is applied to all other import modes, except for the **Insert all** mode. For all these modes (except for the **Insert all** mode) it is obligatory to select the primary key columns. This column (or columns) is used as key column to identify specific data in the target database.

]	Inse	rt ne	ew	U	pdate			U in	pdate o Isert	or		Dele	ete		Del	ete o	r inse	ert
	≣ ID	•	DATA	. 3	ID 💌	DATA	•	:	ID 💌	DATA	-	≣ ID	▼ DATA	-	≣ ID	-	DATA	-
	₽	1	а	>	1	с		₽	1	с		₽	4 f		₽	3	e	
		2	b		2	d			2	d						4	f	
		3	e		4	f			3	e								
		4	f						4	f								

The key columns for these operations are defined in the **Key columns** area.

Single commands / Universal mode / Bulk insert type

The *Single commands* import mode is performed with the Single Commands method used and serves to generate and execute single SQL commands on the server, whereas the *Bulk insert* mode uses native commands for a particular server: *BULK INSERT* for Microsoft® SQL Server[™]. With the help of the *Single commands* import mode your data can be imported considerably faster as compared to the *Universal* mode which is used for backward compatibility.

Keep identity

This option specifies that the values for an identity column are present in the file being imported.

Use **Import mode** to select whether to insert all records, or to update/delete existing ones. Note that for updating/deleting existing records in the target table you should move its key columns from the **Available columns** list to the **Selected columns** list.

The **Key columns** area allows you to select the columns of the table to be used as the key columns for the import process.

To select a column, you need to move it from the **Available columns** list to the **Selected columns** list. Use the **Selected columns** list. Use the **Selected columns** list to another.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Customizing common options</u> and step or to the <u>Customizing bulk insert options</u> step of the wizard if you have selected **Bulk insert** as the import type.

8.2.7 Customizing bulk insert options

Use this step of the wizard to set bulk insert options. The detailed description of these options is given below.

🖷 Import Data Wizard		- 🗆 X
Import Data		
Customize bulk insert option	ons	
EFF SQL Manager for SQL Server	Bulk options Keep nulls Fire triggers Bulk insert file name Bulk insert field terminator Note that bulk insert file name must server.	C:\Users\tio\AppData\Loca\Temp\temp.bir
Help Templates	•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Keep nulls

This option specifies that NULL columns should retain a null value during the bulk copy operation, rather than have any default values for the columns being inserted.

Fire triggers

This option specifies that any insert triggers defined on the destination table will execute during the bulk copy operation.

Bulk insert file name

Type in or use the \blacksquare button to specify the name and path to the bulk insert file name using the **Save As...** dialog. If *data_file* is a remotely stored file, specify the Universal Naming Convention (UNC) name.

Bulk insert field terminator

Specify the field terminator to be used for *char* and *varchar* data types.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Customizing common options</u> [590] step of the wizard.

8.2.8 Customizing common options

Use this step of the wizard to set common import options. The detailed description of these options is given below.

📑 Import Data Wizard		_		×
Import Data				
Customize common import option	S			
SQL SQL Server	Imit Commit when done Commit after each block Commit changes manually ock size 100 - ord count mport all records mport only 1 - record(s)			
Help Templates -	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext	>	Cance	1

Commit

Commit when done

Commits the transaction when all records are imported.

Commit after each block

Inserts the *COMMIT* statement after a defined number of records.

Commit changes manually

Select this option if you intend to commit the transaction manually.

Block size

Use the spinner control to define the number of records in each committed block.

Record count

Import all records

Specifies that all records of the source file will be imported.

Import only ... record(s)

Specifies the number of records to be imported.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>last step</u> 592 of the wizard.

8.2.9 Importing data

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all import options have been set, and you can start the import process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

📑 Import Data Wizard				_		×
Import Data						
Click the Run button to sta	art Import process					
	Import fir	nished	successfully!			
	Processed:					296
	Inserted	296	Updated			0
	Deleted	0	Errors			0
SOL	Commited	296	Time		0	:00:34
Manager for SQL Server	22.04.2024 14:58 - Importing data 22.04.2024 14:59 - Import finished succ	essful	ly! etion			
Help Templates	•	<	Back Ru	ın	Clos	e

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the import process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the import process.

After the operation is completed, you can view the total number of *processed* records, the number of *inserted/updated/deleted* records, the number of *committed* records, the number of *errors*, elapsed *time*, and the *log* of operations and errors (if any).

8.3 Export as SQL Script

Export as SQL Script Wizard allows you to export data from a <u>table</u> [192] / <u>view</u> [246] or from a query result to SQL script as a number of INSERT statements. You can save your settings as a <u>template</u> [934] any time for future use.

To start the wizard, right-click the object in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u> [56] group and proceed to the **Export Data as SQL Script...** item within this group.

Alternatively, you can open the **Data** tab of <u>Table Editor</u>^[200] / <u>View Editor</u>^[246] or the **Result** (s) tab of <u>Query Data</u>^[426] / <u>Design Query</u>^[442], right-click the <u>grid</u>^[465] there, then select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u>^[469] group and proceed to the **Export <object_name> as SQL Script...** item within this group, or use the **Export as SQL Script** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u>^[915].

	New Table	Ctrl+N			
	Edit Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+O			
	Rename Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+R			
	Drop Table 'Employee' S	hift+Del			
B	Duplicate Table 'Employee'				
	Tasks		►		
	Data Manipulation		•	-	Export Data
~	Table Properties			P	Export Data as SQL Script
۵	Grants for Table 'Employee'			-	Import Data
	Script to New SQL Editor		•		Bulk Insert
	Script to Clipboard		۲		
2	Refresh Tables	F5			
8	Database Registration Info				
1	New Tab from Here				
	Rename Current Tab				
	Delete Current Tab				
\mathbf{p}	Find Object	Ctrl+F			

- <u>Selecting destination DBMS</u> 594
- <u>Setting destination file name</u> 595
- Setting BLOB options 596
- <u>Selecting column to export</u> 597
- Editing the result table definition 598
- Setting export options 599
- Exporting as SQL Script 600

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Export Data Wizard</u> <u>Import Data Wizard</u> <u>Bulk Insert Wizard</u> <u>Using templates</u> अभे

8.3.1 Selecting destination DBMS

This step of the wizard allows you to define the **destination server** you need to export data for. The result script will be generated in compliance with the specifications of the selected DBMS:

DB2
 InterBase/Firebird
 Microsoft® SQL Server
 MySQL
 Oracle

PostgreSQL

Export as SQL Script Wize	ard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] — 🗆 🗙
Export as SQL Script	
Choose type of destinati	on server
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the Export as SQL Script! This wizard allows you to get a complete data dump of the table or query result in a file as a set of "INSERT" statements. The wizard will guide you through the process of creating the result SQL script file. Destination server DB2 InterBase/Firebird MySQL MySQL Oracle PostgreSQL
	Selected records only
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Add CREATE TABLE statement

Check this option to add the CREATE TABLE statement to the result script.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting destination file name</u> [595] step of the wizard.

8.3.2 Setting destination file name

Specify whether the result script will be loaded to Execute Script and or saved to a file.

File name

Type in or use the \blacksquare button to specify the path to the file and the file name.

If necessary, select the **File charset** using the corresponding drop-down list.

Enter the **Table name** and the **Schema name** to be included in the result SQL script. Schema name should only be specified for the DBMS in which this object is implemented.

Export as SQL Script Wiz	ard - [AdventureWor	ks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] — 🗆 🗙
Export as SQL Script		
Specify the script destin	ation and the table nar	ne
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Script destination Automatically Save to file File name File <u>c</u> harset Table name (as it w Employee	load to Execute <u>s</u> cript C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\HumanResources Unicode (UCS-2)
	Sch <u>e</u> ma name (as i	t will be represented in the SQL script file, if needed)
	HumanResources	
Help Templates	•	< Back Next > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting BLOB options</u> step of the wizard.

8.3.3 Setting BLOB options

BLOB options

In this group of options you can determine whether BLOB and binary fields are *not to be extracted*, *extracted as strings*, or *extracted into a separate file* (available for *DB2*, *InterBase/Firebird*, *MS SQL*, *Oracle* <u>destination</u> <u>servers</u> [594]). If the latter is selected, you also need to specify the **File name** (the *.*blo* file where the BLOB data will be stored) and the location of the file on your local machine using the 🔲 button.

Compress file

Check this option if you wish to compress the file containing BLOB data.

Compression

Define the desired compression level to be applied for the file: *None*, *Fastest*, *Default*, *Best*.

Export as SQL Script Wiza	Export as SQL Script Wizard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - X				
Export as SQL Script					
Select BLOB columns ext	raction method				
Ē	BLOB options O Don't extract BLOB and binary fields Image: Extract BLOB and binary fields as strings O Extract BLOB and binary fields into file (supported only SQL Script)				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	File name C:\Users\aas\Desktop\dbo_DimEmployee.sql.blo Compress file Compression				
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>Back</u> <u>N</u> ext > Cancel				

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting columns to export</u> and step of the wizard.

8.3.4 Selecting columns to export

This step of the wizard allows you to select the table $\operatorname{column}(s)$ to be exported to SQL script.

To select a column, you need to move it from the **Available columns** list to the **Selected columns** list. Use the **Selected columns** list. Use the **Selected columns** list to another.

Export as SQL Script W	ïzard - [AdventureWorks on do	om_SERVER\TSERV2005] — 🗆 🗅	×
Select columns to exp	ort		
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Available columns BaseRate VacationHours DepartmentName StartDate	Selected columns	*
Help Template	s v	< Back Next > Cancel	

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Editing table definition</u> [598] step of the wizard.

8.3.5 Editing table definition

This step is available only if the **Add CREATE TABLE statement** option was checked on the <u>Selecting destination DBMS</u> [594] step of the wizard. It allows you to view/edit the SQL script for creating the table.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code folding** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query Data area</u> 429 and <u>Using the context menu</u> 430.



Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting export options</u> step of the wizard.

8.3.6 Setting export options

Specify common export options according to your needs.

If necessary, you can choose to **Replace non-print characters in strings with spaces**.

Quote identifiers - setting brackets in the statements.

W Use multi insert statements - script with multiple inserts.

Records in block

Use the spinner control to define the number of records in each committed block.

Insert COMMIT after each block

Check this option to add the *COMMIT* statement after a defined number of records.

Export as SQL Script Wiza	rd - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - 🗌 🗙
Export as SQL Script	
Edit the table definition	
EFF SQL SQL Server	Replace non-print characters in strings with spaces Quote identifiers Use multi insert statements Data options Records in a block 500 Insert COMMIT after each block
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the Next button to proceed to Exporting as SQL Script 600.

8.3.7 Exporting as SQL Script

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all export options have been set, and you can start the export as SQL script process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Export as SQL Script Wizard - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005] - 🗌 🗙				
Export as SQL Script				
Click "Run" to start Export	process			
	Process completed successfully!			
20	100 %			
SQL Manager for SQL Server	====================================			
	×			
	└ Load generated script into Script Editor			
	Close the Wizard after successful completion			
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>R</u> un Close			

Load generated script into Script Editor

Check this option to load the result script to Execute Script 619.

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the export process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the export as SQL script process.

8.4 Bulk Insert Wizard

Bulk Insert Wizard allows you to use the Transact-SQL *BULK INSERT* statement to load a data file into a database <u>table</u> [192] / <u>view</u> [246] in a user-specified format. This statement copies data from a file to a table, appending the records to already existing data in the table. The file must be accessible to the server and the filename must be specified from the point of view of the server. You can save your settings as a <u>template</u> [934] any time for future use.

To start the wizard, right-click the table/view in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u> [56] group and proceed to the **Bulk Insert...** item within this group.

Alternatively, you can open the **Data** tab of <u>Table Editor</u> [200] / <u>View Editor</u> [246], right-click the <u>grid</u>[465] there, then select the **Data Manipulation** <u>context menu</u>[469] group and proceed to the **Bulk Insert to <object_name>...** item within this group, or use the **Bulk Insert** item of the Navigation bar.

New Table	Ctrl+N			
Edit Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+O			
Rename Table 'Employee'	Ctrl+R			
Drop Table 'Employee' S	Shift+Del			
Duplicate Table 'Employee'				
Tasks		►		
Data Manipulation		•	-	Export Data
Table Properties			P	Export Data as SQL Script
Grants for Table 'Employee'			-	Import Data
Script to New SQL Editor		•		Bulk Insert
Script to Clipboard		•		
Refresh Tables	F5			
Database Registration Info				
New Tab from Here				
Rename Current Tab				
Delete Current Tab				
Find Object	Ctrl+F			
	New Table Edit Table 'Employee' Rename Table 'Employee' Drop Table 'Employee' Duplicate Table 'Employee' Tasks Data Manipulation Table Properties Grants for Table 'Employee' Script to New SQL Editor Script to New SQL Editor Script to Clipboard Refresh Tables Database Registration Info New Tab from Here Rename Current Tab Delete Current Tab Find Object	New TableCtrl+NEdit Table 'Employee'Ctrl+ORename Table 'Employee'Ctrl+RDrop Table 'Employee'Shift+DelDuplicate Table 'Employee'Shift+DelDuplicate Table 'Employee'TasksData ManipulationTable PropertiesGrants for Table 'Employee'Script to New SQL EditorScript to ClipboardF5Database Registration InfoF5Database Registration InfoRename Current TabDelete Current TabCtrl+F	New TableCtrl+NEdit Table 'Employee'Ctrl+ORename Table 'Employee'Ctrl+RDrop Table 'Employee'Shift+DelDuplicate Table 'Employee'Imployee'TasksImployee'Data ManipulationImployee'Table PropertiesImployee'Grants for Table 'Employee'Imployee'Script to New SQL EditorImployee'Script to ClipboardImployee'Refresh TablesF5Database Registration InfoImployee'New Tab from HereImployee'Rename Current TabImployeeDelete Current TabImployeeFind ObjectCtrl+F	New TableCtrl+NEdit Table 'Employee'Ctrl+ORename Table 'Employee'Ctrl+RDrop Table 'Employee'Shift+DelDuplicate Table 'Employee'Image: Ctrl+RTasksImage: Ctrl+RData ManipulationImage: Ctrl+RTable PropertiesImage: Ctrl+RGrants for Table 'Employee'Image: Ctrl+RScript to New SQL EditorImage: Ctrl+RScript to ClipboardImage: Ctrl+RNew Tab from HereImage: Ctrl+RRename Current TabImage: Ctrl+RDelete Current TabImage: Ctrl+RFind ObjectCtrl+F

- <u>Selecting a table or view and the data file</u> 603
- <u>Setting bulk insert options</u> 604
- Customizing data file format 606
- Viewing the result SQL statement 608
- Running bulk insert 608

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Export Data Wizard</u> विजी <u>Import Data Wizard</u> विगी <u>Export as SQL Script</u> विजी <u>Using templates</u> विजी

8.4.1 Selecting a table or view and the data file

This step of the wizard allows you to select the target $\frac{\text{table}}{192}$ (or $\frac{\text{view}}{246}$) and specify the data file that contains data to load into the specified table or view.

Table or view

Use the drop-down list to select the target table or view.

Data file

Select whether the data file is located *on the server* or *in the network*. Note that it is obligatory to specify a valid path from the server on which SQL Server is running. If the data file is a remote file, you should specify the Universal Naming Convention (UNC) name.

File name

Type in or use the 🚵 button to specify the full path to the data file for bulk insert using the **Open file...** dialog.

Bulk Insert Wizard				_		×		
Bulk Insert								
Select the data file and th	ie name of the table	or view to bulk load da	ta into					
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the E This wizard allow user-specified fo The wizard will g view. Table or view Data file On server File name	the Bulk Insert Wizard! I allows you to import data file into a database table or view in a fied format. will guide you through the process of importing data into the table or w Employee (HumanResources) fiver On network c:\ems-c.dat						
	Note: The path to the data file must be specified relative to the server on which SQL Server is running. If data file is a remote file, specify the Universal Naming Convention (UNC) name.							
Help Templates	•	<	<u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Can	cel		

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting bulk insert options</u> [604] step of the wizard.

8.4.2 Setting bulk insert options

Data file type

Use this drop-down list to select the data file type value to be used to perform the load operation. Possible data file type values are: *char*, *native*, *widechar* and *widenative*.

Batch size (rows)

Specify the number of rows in a batch. Each batch is copied to the server as one transaction. If this operation fails, SQL Server commits or rolls back the transaction for every batch.

Kilobytes per batch

Specify the approximate number of kilobytes (KB) of data in each batch.

Rows per batch

This value indicates the number of rows in each batch.

Bulk Insert Wizard			_		×
Bulk Insert					
Select options for bulk in	sert				
	Bulk insert options Data	file format			
	Data file type	char	~		
<u>G</u> T	Batch size (rows)	0			
- 	Kilobytes per batch	0			
SQL	Rows per batch	0			
Manager	Check constraints				
SQL Server	Fire triggers				
	Keep identity				
	Keep nulls				
	Table lock				
	Max errors	10			
	Error file				
Haln Tampistas		< Back N	evts	Can	cel
<u>Templates</u>			ext >	Can	Cel

Check constraints

Enable this option to specify that all constraints on the target table or view must be checked during the bulk insert operation. If disabled, any CHECK constraints are ignored, and after the operation the constraint on the table is marked as not-trusted. This might be necessary if the input data contains rows that violate constraints. **Note**: UNIQUE, PRIMARY KEY, FOREIGN KEY and NOT NULL constraints are always enforced.

Fire triggers

Use this option to specify that any insert triggers defined on the destination table execute during the bulk load operation. If triggers are defined for *INSERT* operations on the target table, they are fired for every completed batch.

Keep identity

Use this option to specify that identity value or values in the imported data file are to be used for the identity column. If this option is not checked, the identity values for this column are verified but not imported, and SQL Server automatically assigns unique values based on the seed and increment values specified during table creation.

W Keep nulls

Use this option to specify that empty columns should retain a null value during the bulk load operation, instead of having any default values for the columns inserted.

Table lock

Use this option to specify that a table-level lock is acquired for the duration of the bulk load operation. Holding a lock for the duration of the bulk load operation reduces lock contention on the table and may significantly improve performance.

Max errors

Specifies the maximum number of syntax errors allowed in the data before the bulk insert operation is canceled. Each row that cannot be imported by the bulk load operation is ignored and counted as one error.

Note: This option is not applied to constraint checks and to converting *money* and *bigint* data types.

Error file

Specify the file used to collect rows that have formatting errors and cannot be converted to an OLEDB rowset. These rows are copied into this error file from the data file "as is". The error file is created when the command is executed.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Customizing data file format</u> for step of the wizard.

8.4.3 Customizing data file format

Code page

Use this drop-down list to select the code page of the data in the data file: ACP, OEM or RAW. This option is relevant only if the data contains *char*, *varchar* or *text* columns with character values greater than 127 or less than 32.

- **ACP**: columns are converted from the ANSI/Microsoft Windows code page (ISO 1252) to the SQL Server code page
- **OEM**: columns are converted from the system OEM code page to the SQL Server code page
- RAW: no conversion is performed

Field terminator

Use the drop-down list to specify the field terminator to be used for *char* and *widechar* data files: *tab character* ((t), *comma* (,) or *semicolon* (;).

Row terminator

Use the drop-down list to select the row terminator to be used for *char* and *widechar* data files: *newline character* (\n) or *return character* (\r) .

Bulk Insert Wizard		– 🗆 X						
Bulk Insert								
Select options for bulk insert								
	Bulk insert options Data	a file format						
	Code page	OEM ~						
	Field terminator	\t ~						
	Row terminator	\n v						
SQL	First row							
for SQL Server	Last row							
	Sort order	CAENChamp, flootformation yml						
	Format hie	C.VEMSVemp_noatrormat-c.Xmi						
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel						

First row

Specify the number of the first row to load.

Last row

Specify the number of the last row to load. If this parameter is set to 0, the last row to load is the last row in the specified data file.

Sort order

{ column_name [ASC | DESC] } [,... n]

This string specifies the way the data in the data file are sorted. Bulk insert operation performance is improved in case the data are sorted according to the clustered index on the table. The column names supplied must be valid columns in the destination table. By default, the bulk insert operation assumes the data file is unordered.

Format file

Specify the full path of a format file. A format file describes the data file. The format file should be used in the following cases:

- The data file contains greater or fewer columns than the table 192 or view 246
- The columns are in a different order
- The column delimiters vary
- There are other changes in the data format

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Viewing the result SQL statement</u> as step of the wizard.

8.4.4 Viewing the result SQL statement

This step of the wizard allows you to browse **the result SQL statement**.

If necessary, you can edit the definition of the new object.



When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the last step and of the wizard.

8.4.5 Running bulk insert

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all bulk insert options have been set, and you can start the process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Bulk Insert Wizard		_		×
Bulk Insert				
Click the Run button to star	t bulk insert			
	Click "Run" to start bulk insert.			
	0 %			
SQL				
for				
SQL Server				
	Close the Wizard after successful completion			
Help Templates	✓ < <u>B</u> ack <u>R</u> u	n	Cano	;el

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the bulk insert process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the bulk insert process.



9 Tools

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides a number of powerful tools that allow you to perform various operations over your databases. The following *common database tools* are available in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

Dependency Tree 612

Allows you to view all the object dependencies in one diagram.

Visual Database Designer

Allows you to lay out your database schema visually.

Execute Script 619

Executes SQL scripts in the database.

Extract Database Wizard

Extracts the table metadata and/or data to an SQL script which can be executed later on another machine to restore the database structure and/or data.

Print Metadata 643

Creates powerful metadata reports in the WYSIWYG mode ready for printing.

<u>HTML Report</u>ब्ह्ती Creates powerful metadata reports in the HTML format.

Reports management 659

Tools for efficient management of reports: creating, editing, viewing, printing.

SQL Monitor 616

Displays all the SQL statements executed while working in SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Using templates 934

Facilitates using SQL Manager wizards.

See also:

<u>Getting Started</u> [41] <u>Database Explorer</u> [63] <u>Database Management</u> [94] <u>Database Objects Management</u> [178] <u>Query Management Tools</u> [424] <u>Data Management</u> [462] <u>Import/Export Tools</u> [530] <u>Server Tools</u> [718] <u>Personalization</u> [824] <u>External Tools</u> [909] <u>How To...</u> [957]

9.1 Dependency Tree

The **Dependency Tree** tool allows you to view all the object dependencies in one diagram.

To call the **Dependency Tree** window, select the **Tools | Dependency Tree** <u>main</u> <u>menu[915]</u> item, or use the **Dependency Tree** button on the main <u>toolbar[917]</u>.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	Tools	;	<u>S</u> ervices	Option	s	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp
		2	C	uery Data			F12	
		¥.	D	esign Query	,			
		ĩ,	s	QL Monitor		Shi	ift+Ctrl+M	
		₹	E	xecute Scrip	ot	Sh	ift+Ctrl+S	
			E	xtract Datab	ase			
		ețe	С	ompare Data	abases			
		8	P	rint Metadata	1			
		ø	S	earch in Met	adata	0	Ctrl+Alt+F	
		∎}	Н	TML Report				
			R	eport Design	ner			
			D	ependency ·	Tree			

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 612
- <u>Viewing dependency tree</u>
 614

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also: Database and Server Objects Management। गिरौ

9.1.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Dependency Tree**.
Database	*
AdventureWorks on local	•
General	*
Refresh	
😓 Print	
🖉 Print setup	
The save as picture	
🛃 Restore default size	
Object	*
Previous object	
Hide subobjects	
Select object	
Diagram Layout	*
1 Show all	•
🤢 Show all	
Show depending on Root	
E Chavy Deat dependence	

The **Navigation bar** of the **Dependency Tree** window allows you to:

Database

less select a database for browsing object dependencies

General

- isplayed dependency tree
- 📚 print the diagram
- set printing options using the **Print Setup** dialog
- save the current diagram as a picture
- restore the default size and position of the window

Object

- navigate by switching to the previous object
- navigate by switching to the next object
- 🖾 show/hide subobjects
- 🚔 <u>select</u> िग्मे a root object

Diagram layout

- show all objects
- show objects depending on Root
- show Root depends on objects

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Dependency Tree** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select O *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or O *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Hint: Items of the **Object** pane of the **Navigation bar** are also available in the context menu of the **Dependency Tree** area.

9.1.2 Viewing dependency tree

To view dependencies of an object, click the **Select object** <u>Navigation bar and item</u>. Then select the required object in the **Select Object** dialog window. The dependency tree will appear in the main area of the window.



While the tree of dependencies is being built, the progress bar [17] is displayed in the status area at the bottom of the window.



The *root* object is marked out with a blue frame.

The objects that *the root object depends on* are located to the left of the root object. The objects that *depend on the root object* are located to the right of the root object.

Object dependencies are denoted as regular arrows from the left to the right (->). A *cyclic dependency* (i.e. when the object already has some other depending object(s)) is denoted as a line ending with a cross (-x).

You can switch between objects by selecting them in the diagram. The selected object becomes the root object. To make an object root, you can also right-click it in the diagram area and select **Set as Root** from the **context menu**. The context menu of an object also allows you to *edit* it using the corresponding editor.

The history of selected root objects is also available: you can move back and forward through this history using the **Previous object** and the **Next object** links on the <u>Navigation bar[612]</u> or toolbar[614].

Hint: To show/hide subobjects (e.g. table <u>triggers</u> 236), <u>foreign keys</u> 221), click the **Show subobjects** / **Hide subobjects** item on the <u>Navigation bar</u> 612.

See also: Select Object dialog कि

9.2 SQL Monitor

SQL Monitor allows you to view the log of all operations performed over databases and database objects in SQL Manager for SQL Server. The content of the window is read-only.

To open the **SQL Monitor** window, select the **Tools** | $\frac{1}{2}$ **SQL Monitor** $\frac{\text{main menu}}{\text{main menu}}$ item, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+M* $\frac{1}{100}$.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	Services	<u>O</u> ptions	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp	
		2	Query Data		F12		
		M	Design Query				
		١ <u>م</u>	SQL Monitor	Sł	nift+Ctrl+M		

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 616
- Working with SQL Monitor 617

See also: SQL Monitor options

9.2.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **SQL Monitor**.



The Navigation bar of SQL Monitor allows you to:

General

- clear the content of the window
- save the content to a *.txt file using the **Save as...** dialog
- P search for a string using the Find Text [925] dialog
- 将 search again

b configure SQL Monitor using the <u>SQL Monitor</u> هها الله و المعنية (المعنية المعن معنية المعنية الم المعنية المعن مالية المعنية المعني مالية المعنية المعنية المعنية المعنية المعنية المعني

restore the default size and position of the window

🔁 specify that the window is displayed on top of other child windows

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **SQL Monitor**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

9.2.2 Working with SQL Monitor

The working area of **SQL Monitor** lists the log of database operations and SQL queries as items, each consisting of 3 parts: *Executed* (the date and time of the operation), *Operation* (SQL statement sent to the server), *Result* (the result of the operation).

Items of the **context menu** of SQL Monitor area provide access to various functions for working with the window content. The context menu contains standard text-processing functions (*Copy*, *Select All*), <u>spelling checking</u> and functions for working with the content as a whole, e.g. you can set *markers*, *move the cursor to a particular line*, *save* the content to a file or as a <u>favorite query</u> of configure the editor using the <u>properties</u> of the corresponding <u>hot keys</u> set.

😥 SQL Monitor			_ • •
i 🖻 📙 🔎 🧢 🔒 🍐 🖻 –			-
Coursel A	1 [12.04.2013 12:32:22	2.137]	
General	2 Operation : SELEC	Skin Misorint	Alt+End object_i
Clear contents	3 [12.04.2013 12:32	ordp miliphine /	
Reve to file	4 Result : "OK"	Skip All Misprints Ctrl+/	Alt+End
	5	Correct All Possible Misprints Alt	+Home
P Find	6 [12.04.2013 12:32		
le Gale Monitor options	7 Operation : SELEC	Add To Dictionary	es i INNEL
range Always on Top	8 [12.04.2013 12:32	Correct With	
Restore default size	9 Result : "OK"		
	11 [12 04 2013 12:32	Markers	•
	12 Operation : SELEC	Go to Line Number	Alt+G
	13 [12.04.2013 12:32	Linda	CHu7
	14 Result : "OK"	Ondo	Curtz
	15	Redo Shift-	+Ctrl+Z
	16 [12.04.2013 12:32	Сору	Ctrl+C
	17 Operation : SELEC		descendia
	18 [12.04.2013 12:32	Select All	Ctn+A
	19Result : "OK"	Eind	Ctrl+F
	20	Saarah Naxt	E2
	21 [12.04.2013 12:32	Search Next	
	22 Operation : SELEC	Incremental Search	Ctrl+I a ca_compre
	24 Regult : "OK"	Save	Ctd+S
	25	Save	our o
	26 [12.04.2013 12:32	Save as Favorite Query	
	27 Operation : SELEC	Preview	ame as ftr
	28 [12.04.2013 12:32		
	29Result : "OK"	Print	
	30	Properties	
	31 [12.04.2013 12:32		
	32		BDOM
18: 2	Insert Highlighting		.::

Implementation of the Find Text 925 dialog and Incremental search 917 bar contributes to more efficient work with the content of SQL Monitor.

9.3 Execute Script

Using **Execute Script** editor you can view, edit and execute SQL scripts.

To open Execute Script editor, select the **Tools | Secute Script** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding $\frac{1}{2}$ <u>toolbar</u> [917] button. You can also use the *Shift+Ctrl+S* <u>shortcut</u> [952] for the same purpose.



In the script area you can view and edit the SQL script text. For your convenience syntax highlight and code completion features are implemented.

- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 619
- Working with Execute Script area
- Using Script Explorer 623
- <u>Script execution</u> 624

Note: Execute Script does not show results returned upon SELECT queries execution. Please use <u>Query Data and for that purpose instead</u>.

See also: Query Data Execute Script options Editor Options ଜଣ୍ମ

9.3.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Execute Script**.



The Navigation bar of Execute Script allows you to:

Destination

select a host
select a database for the script

General

- ▶ <u>execute</u> 624) the current script
- \$ execute a script from file

- là create a new script
- Ioad a script from an *.sql file using the Open Script dialog
- save the current script
- ker save the script to an *.sql file using the **Save as...** dialog
- 🚦 hide/show SQL Explorer 623ो
- 📝 enable/disable result log
- 🥮 configure Execute Script within the <u>Script Options</u>ब्छी section of the <u>Environment</u> <u>Options</u>ब्छी dialog
- restore the default size and position of the editor window

Explorer

🗄 browse the tree objects used in the script using the Script Explorer 🖾 pane

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Execute Script**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

See also:

<u>Working with Execute Script area</u> िटने <u>Using Script Explorer</u> िट्डी <u>Script execution</u> िटने

9.3.2 Working with Execute Script area

The **Editor area** of Execute Script is provided for efficient working with SQL scripts in text mode.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented:

- using object links [433] allowing you to open the object in the associated editor;
- ability to display line numbers;
- code folding for statements and clauses;
- customizable margins and gutters;
- formatting code for better representation and more.

The **context menu** of Execute Script area contains <u>execution</u> [524] commands, most of the standard text-processing functions (*Cut, Copy, Paste, Select All*), <u>spelling checking</u> [882] and functions for working with the script as a whole, e.g. you can enable/disable parsing, toggle *bookmarks* and *comments, move the cursor to a particular line, change the case* of selected text, *load/save* the content from/to a file or save as a <u>favorite query</u> [90], <u>configure</u> [869] the editor using the **Properties** item or *preview/print* the text of the script. Most of these operations can be also performed with the corresponding <u>hot keys</u> [952] used.

Implementation of the Find Text [925] / Replace Text [927] dialogs and Incremental search [917] bar contributes to more efficient work with the SQL code.

👂 Execute Script [Untitled]					
🗋 📑 🔹 🚍 🔹 🍯 🕨 💼 📑 AdventureWorks on TESTER2\SQL2017 💿 📑 📑 📑 🔹					
Script					
CREATE EXTERNAL FILE FORMAT EmsDe	Delimit				
	fi Add to Dictionary				
FORMAT_TIPE = DELIMITEDTEXT,	Correct with				
1719 FIELD_TERMINATOR = ' ',	Execute Script F9				
1720 DATE FORMAT = 'MM/dd/yyyy'					
1721 USE_TYPE_DEFAULT = FALSE, 1722 ENCODING = 'UTF8'					
1723),	Toggle Bookmarks				
1724 DATA_COMPRESSION = 'org.apac	ci 🔚 Go to Line Number dec'				
1725); 1726 GO	S Undo				
1727	C Redo				
1728	K Cut				
1729 Definition for external file :	Сору				
1731	Paste				
CREATE EXTERNAL FILE FORMAT text					
I FORMAT TYPE = DELIMITEDTEXT	O Find				
FORMAT OPTIONS (
1736 FIELD_TERMINATOR = ' ',					
1737 DATE_FORMAT = 'MM/dd/yyyy' 1739 USE_TYPE_DEFAILT = FAISE					
1739 ENCODING = 'UTF8'					
1740),	Save as Favorite Query				
1741 DATA_COMPRESSION = 'org.apacl	Export Data of Selected Query				
1743 GO	Preview				
1744	Print				
1745 1746 Definition for indices :	Quick Code				
1747					
1748	rioperiles				
1750 ADD CONSTRAINT Contact ug	1750 ADD CONSTRAINT Contact ug				
< >>					
Liset Highlighting Unicode (UCS.2)					

For your convenience the possibility to use **macros** is implemented.

To *start recording* a macro, click the \bullet **Record** button available in the status bar area, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+R* shortcut.

To *stop recording*, click the **Stop** button, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+R* shortcut.

To *call* the recorded macro, use the **Play** button, or use the *Shift+Ctrl+P* shortcut.

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbar</u> िग भे <u>Using Script Explorer</u> िव्ये <u>Script execution</u> िव्ये <u>Managing Favorite queries</u> <u>Execute Script options</u> । ।

9.3.3 Using Script Explorer

The **Explorer** group on the <u>Navigation bar</u> and displays the tree of objects, used in the current script and allows you to get to the required script fragment quickly by clicking the object in the tree.



Hint: When you click a node in the **Script Explorer** tree, the corresponding SQL statement is highlighted in the editor area. If you double-click a node, the corresponding SQL statement is highlighted, and the current focus is switched to the editor area (the

cursor appears after the highlighted statement).

See also: Using Navigation bar and Toolbar Working with Execute Script area Database and Server Objects Management । गरहो

9.3.4 Script execution

When all the script parameters are set, you can immediately **execute the script** in **Execute Script**.

To execute a script, click the **Execute script** item of the <u>Navigation bar script</u> or <u>toolbar</u> or <u>toolbar</u>



Note: If the **Execute selected text separately** option (see the <u>Tools | Execute</u> <u>Script</u> [839] section of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog) is enabled (by default) and a text fragment is currently selected, only this fragment is executed when you click *Execute script* on the <u>Navigation bar</u> [619] or press *F9*. If this option is disabled, the whole script is executed, but you can still execute the selected fragment using the corresponding *Execute Selected Only* item of the <u>context menu</u> [621] or by pressing *Ctrl+F9*.

If the SQL syntax is correct, the script is executed and the 'Done!' information message appears.

Informati	ion 📧
1	Done Don't show this message
	ОК

If the syntax contains errors or script cannot be executed, the corresponding error message is displayed in the status bar area at the bottom of the editor window.

Hint: When you select an item from the error list (in the status bar area), the corresponding SQL statement is highlighted in the editor area. If you double-click an item, the corresponding SQL statement is highlighted, and the current focus is switched to the editor area (the cursor appears after the highlighted statement).

Note: Execute Script does not show results returned upon SELECT queries execution. Please execute[434] such queries in <u>Query Data[426]</u> to see the result dataset.

See also: Using Navigation bar and Toolbar Working with Execute Script area Using Script Explorer

9.4 Extract Database Wizard

Extract Database Wizard allows you to extract database objects and/or data to an SQL script, e.g. for backup purposes.

To start the wizard, select the **Tools | ि Extract Database...** <u>main menu</u> शिर्ड item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> ि tree and select the **Tasks | ि Extract Database...** item from the <u>context menu</u> 54.



- Selecting a database for extraction 626
- Specifying destination file name 627
- <u>Setting extraction mode 628</u>
- <u>Setting BLOB options</u>
 ⁶²⁹
- Selecting objects for metadata extraction 630
- <u>Selecting objects for data extraction</u>
 ⁶³²
- Customizing script options 633
- Start of extraction process 635
- <u>Using templates</u>
 934

See also:

<u>Execute Script</u> िग9 <u>Database Objects Management</u> । गिरहो Using templates ^[934]

9.4.1 Selecting source database

This step of the wizard allows you to select the **source database** from which metadata and/or data are to be extracted.

If necessary, check the \blacksquare **Extract all metadata and data of the database** option to simplify the wizard.

😤 Extract Database Wizard			- • X
Extract Database			
Select the source databa	se		
Image: DescriptionSQL <td< th=""><th>Welcome to the This wizard allor script. The wizard will g structure and da <u>H</u>ost Database</th><th>Extract Database Wizard! ws you to extract the database structure and tabl guide you through the process of selecting object ata, and setting extract options. iccalhost/sqlexpress dventureWorks on localhost/sqlexpress [hetadata and data of the database. Server objects</th><th>e data into SQL s to extract AdventureWor are not extracted.</th></td<>	Welcome to the This wizard allor script. The wizard will g structure and da <u>H</u> ost Database	Extract Database Wizard! ws you to extract the database structure and tabl guide you through the process of selecting object ata, and setting extract options. iccalhost/sqlexpress dventureWorks on localhost/sqlexpress [hetadata and data of the database. Server objects	e data into SQL s to extract AdventureWor are not extracted.
Help <u>T</u> emplates	·	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Specifying destination file name</u> [627] step of the wizard.

9.4.2 Specifying destination file name

Script destination

This group of options allows you to specify whether the result SQL script will be automatically loaded to Execute Script and or saved into a file.

File name

Set a name for the result *.*sql* file and type in or use the \blacksquare **Save as...** button to specify the path to this file on your local machine or on a machine in the LAN.

File charset

If necessary, use the drop-down list to select the character set to be applied to the output file.

😤 Extract Database Wizard		
Extract Database		
Select the script destinatio	n	
SQL Manager for SQL Server	You can select file to Script destination Automatically lo Save to file File name File charset	ad to Script Editor C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\AdventureWorks
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Depending on whether you have checked the \square **Extract all metadata and data of the database** option at the <u>Selecting source database</u> \square step, upon pressing the **Next** button you will either proceed to the <u>next step of the wizard</u> \square , or you will be immediately forwarded to the <u>Setting BLOB options</u> \square step, and then to the <u>Customizing script options</u> \square step of the wizard.

9.4.3 Setting extraction mode

This step allows you to specify the **extraction mode**: choose whether *database objects*, *server objects* and/or *data* only are to be extracted.

To make system objects available for extraction, use the \blacksquare Allow selecting system objects to extract option.

🚼 Extract Database Wizard		- • •		
Extract Database				
Select database compone	nts to extract			
SQL Manager for SQL Server	You can extract server objects, database structure, and table data appropriate options. Which components would you like to extract? © Extract database objects © Extract server objects © Extract data Milow selecting system objects to extract	ta. Select		
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel				

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting BLOB options</u> step of the wizard.

9.4.4 Setting BLOB options

BLOB options

In this group of options you can determine whether BLOB fields are *not to be extracted*, *extracted as strings*, or *extracted into a separate file*. If the latter is selected, you also need to specify the **File name** (the *.*blo* file where the BLOB data are to be stored) and the location of the file on your local machine using the **I Save as...** button.

Compress file

Check this option if you wish to compress the file containing BLOB data.

Compression

Define the desired compression level to be applied for the file: *None*, *Fastest*, *Default*, *Best*.

民 Extract Database Wizard		
Extract Database		
Select BLOB fields extrac	tion method	
Image: A constraint of the const	You can select to additional file, or y BLOB options Don't extract Extract BLC Extract BLC File name Compression	extract BLOB fields from your tables either into strings, or into you can skip BLOB fields extraction.
Help Templates	•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Note: If you choose to **Extract BLOB fields into file** then afterwards the result SQL file can be restored only by using the SQL Manager for SQL Server Execute Script [619] tool.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Selecting objects for structure extraction</u> [30].

9.4.5 Selecting objects for structure extraction

This step of the wizard allows you to **select objects for metadata extraction**.

Note that this step is only available if the **Extract all metadata and data of the database** option was unchecked when <u>selecting the source database</u>

Extract all objects

Adds all objects of the database to structure extraction process.

Extract all objects of schema...

Adds all objects of a schema to structure extraction process.

Schema name

Use the drop-down list to select the schema to extract all objects from.

Extract selected objects

Adds only selected objects to structure extraction process.

Objects to extract

Use the drop-down list to select the type of objects to be extracted. To select an object, you need to move it from the **Available** list to the **Selected** list. Use the Description of the Description of the term of ter

😤 Extract Database Wizard					• 🗙
Extract Database					
Select database objects t	o extract their structure				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	 Extract all objects Extract all objects of so Schema name Extract selected objects Objects to extract Available ProductPhoto (Product ProductProductPhoto ProductReview (Product ProductSubcategory (ProductVendor (Purch ProductVendor _new (PurchaseOrderDetail PurchaseOrderHeaded 	hema s Tables tion) (Productive uction) Productive nasing) Purchasi (Purchas er (Purchi +		elected Product (Production) ProductCategory (Product ProductCostHistory (ProductDescription (ProductDescription (ProductDescription (ProductDescription (ProductDescription (ProductDescription)) ProductInventory (ProductInventory (ProductDescription)) ProductListPriceHistory (ProductModel (Production))	ction) ductio fuctior iction) ction) (Produ n)
Help Templates	·		< <u>B</u> ack	Next > C	ancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Selecting objects for data extraction</u> [632].

9.4.6 Selecting server objects for extraction

This step of the wizard allows you to **select objects for metadata extraction**.

Note that this step is only available if the **Extract all metadata and data of the database** option was unchecked when <u>selecting the source database</u>

Extract all objects

Adds all objects of the database to structure extraction process.

Extract all objects of schema...

Adds all objects of a schema to structure extraction process.

Schema name

Use the drop-down list to select the schema to extract all objects from.

Extract selected objects

Adds only selected objects to structure extraction process.

Objects to extract

Use the drop-down list to select the type of objects to be extracted.

To select an object, you need to move it from the **Available** list to the **Selected** list. Use the **Selected** list or drag-and-drop operations to move the objects from one list to another.

民 Extract Database Wizard		
Extract Database		
Select server objects to e	xtract their structure	
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	 Extract all server obj Extract selected server objects to extract Available bulkadmin dbcreator securityadmin server_role_1 server_role_2 server_role_3 serveradmin setupadmin setupadmin test_role_1 	jects ver objects Server Roles Selected
Help <u>T</u> emplates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Selecting objects for data extraction</u> [632].

9.4.7 Selecting objects for data extraction

This step of the wizard allows you to **select tables for data extraction**.

Note that this step is only available if the $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}$ **Extract all metadata and data of the database** option was unchecked when <u>selecting the source database</u> [626].

Extract data of the selected tables

Adds only selected tables to data extraction process. To select a table, you need to move it from the **Available** list to the **Selected** list. Use the 2 $\fbox{2}$ 2 buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the tables from one list to another.

Extract data of all tables

Adds all tables of the database to data extraction process.

Extract data of tables selected on the previous step

Adds only the tables selected for metadata extraction 630.

😤 Extract Database Wizard			- • -
Extract Database			
Select database objects to	o extract their data		
	 Extract all tables Extract data of tables selected to Extract selected tables 	extra	ict structure
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Available EmployeePayHistory (HumanR EMPLOYEES (HumanResourc ErrorLog Illustration (Production) Individual (Sales) JobCandidate (HumanResourc Location (Production) ProductProductPhoto (Product		Selected Product (Production) ProductCategory (Production) ProductCostHistory (Production) ProductDescription (Production) ProductDocument (Production) ProductInventory (Production) ProductListPriceHistory (Produ ProductModel (Production) ProductModelProductDescripti
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•	< <u>E</u>	ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Customizing script options</u> [33] step of the wizard.

9.4.8 Customizing script options

This step allows you to customize common **script options** and **data options** for the extraction process.

Script options

Generate "CREATE DATABASE" statement

Check this option to add the CREATE DATABASE statement to the result script.

Generate DROP statements

Check the option to add the DROP statements for the extracted objects in the result

script.

With IF statements

Check this option to add the *IF* keyword to the *DROP* statements in the result script.

W Use IF EXISTS clause for DROP statement

Check this option to add the *IF EXISTS* clause to the *DROP* statements in the result script, if available.

Create empty procedures

This option specifies whether procedures with empty bodies are included in the result script or not.

Extract dependent objects

This option determines objects' $\frac{dependencies}{g21}$ usage in the extraction process. Check the option to extract all objects that the selected objects depend on.

😤 Extract Database Wizard - [a	ayz_copy on win10\sql2016]	• • ×
Extract Database		
Select additional options fo	or destination script	
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Script options Generate CREATE DATABASE statement Generate DROP statements With IF statements Use IF EXISTS clause for DROP statement Create empty procedures Extract dependent objects Data options Records in a block Include each block into BEGIN TRANSACTIONCOMMIT Abort extraction on error	
Help Templates	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

Data options

Records in a block / Insert "COMMIT" statement after each block

These controls allow you to define whether the *COMMIT* statement is added to the script or not, and to specify the number of records in each block to be supplemented with this statement.

Abort extraction on error

This option determines whether the extraction process should be stopped or forced to continue if an error occurs.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the last as step of the wizard.

9.4.9 Start of extraction process

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all extraction options have been set, and you can start the extraction process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

😰 Extract Database Wizard		- • •
Extract Database		
Click "Finish" to extract m	etadata	
	Process completed successfully!	
	100 %	
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Completed Extracting data for Purchasing.Vendor Completed Extracting data for Purchasing.VendorAddress Completed Extracting data for Purchasing.VendorContact Completed Extracting data for Production.WorkOrder Completed Extracting data for Production.WorkOrderRouting	
	Completed Process completed successfully! END OF LOG	(E) •
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> inish	Close

Close the wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the extraction process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the extraction process.

636	SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual
-----	--

9.5 Database Comparer Wizard

Compare Databases Wizard creates an SQL script that provides database structure synchronization. To launch the wizard use the **Tools |** in **Compare Databases...** item of the <u>main menu [915]</u>.



- <u>Selecting source database</u>
- <u>Selecting target database</u>638
- <u>Selecting type of the synchronization script</u> [639]
- Defining options for the destination script 640
- <u>Performing operation</u> 641

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

9.5.1 Selecting source database

Use this step to define source database for comparing.

🧃 Database Con	nparer Wizaro	d - [AdventureWorks on	ka\sql2014] - [AdventureWorks on 💼 💷 💌			
Database Co	mparer					
Select the source database						
SQL SQL for SQL s	ager Server	Welcome to the Database This wizard allows you to from one database into a This wizard will guide you databases, and selection Source host Source database	se Comparer Wizard! to compare databases and create a script to deploy changes another one. Su through the process of specifying the source/target g the type of synchronization script. (a) ka\sql2014 AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014 [AdventureWorks]			
Help Templates Cancel						

Source host

Define host where source database is located.

Source database

Select source database from the drop-down list.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting target database</u> [538] step.

9.5.2 Selecting target database

Use this step to define target database for comparing.

🗓 Database Comparer Wizard - [AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014] - [AdventureWorks on o 💼 🔳 📧						
Database Comparer						
Specify the target databa	ase					
RIP	At this step you are ch	noosing target database				
	<u>T</u> arget host	🥥 olivia 💌				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Target database	AdventureWorks on olivia [AdventureWorks]				
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ Cancel						

Target host

Define host where target database is located.

Target database

Select target database from the drop-down list.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting type of the synchronization script</u> and step.

9.5.3 Selecting type of synchronization script

Specify the direction of the selected databases comparing.

👘 Database Comparer Wizard - [AdventureWorks on localhost] - [AdventureWorks on loc 💼 🔳 🗾					
Database Comparer					
Select the type of synchro	onization script				
	You can modify the target database, i.e. perform source-to-target synchronization, or vice versa. Generate script that transforms Target database into source database				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Source database into target database Source database: AdventureWorks on localhost Target database: AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress Script is executed on database: AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress				
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel				

Target database into source database

Enables reverse comparing: the synchronization script will contain statements which make the <u>target</u> [686] database identical to the <u>source</u> [684] one.

Source database into target database.

Enables direct comparing: the synchronization script will contain statements which make the <u>source</u> [684] database identical to the <u>target</u> [686] one.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining options concerned destination script</u> [640] step.

9.5.4 Defining options for destination script

Use this step to define additional option for destination script.

🗓 Database Comparer Wizard - [AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014] - [AdventureWorks on o 💼 🔳 🗾						
Database Comparer						
Select additional options	for destination script					
Sol Scipt destination Image: Sol Sol Sol Server Subserver Subserver Subserver Subserver Subserver Subserver Subserver Subserver						
Help Templates Cancel						

Automatically load to Script Editor

With this option is enabled, the synchronization script will not be saved. It will be loaded to Execute Script [619].

Save to file

Use this option if you need to save the synchronization script to a file.

File name

Defines the name of the file to save the synchronization script to. Click the \blacksquare **Save** button to locate file using the standard dialog or type the file name and it's location manually.

File charset

Specified character set will be used when saving the script to file.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Performing operation</u> [641] step.

9.5.5 Performing operation

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start comparing databases.

🗓 Database Comparer Wizar	d - [AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014] - [AdventureWorks on o 👝 😐 💌		
Database Comparer			
Click "Run" to compare o	latabases		
	Process completed successfully!		
	100 %		
SQL Manager for SQL Server	======= START OF LOG ===== Connecting to AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014 Connecting to AdventureWorks on olivia Refreshing database Comparing Objects Comparing Dijects Comparing Tables Comparing Procedures Comparing UDFs Comparing UDFs Comparing UDTs Comparing UDTs Comparing Schemas Comparing Symmetric Keys To Close the Wizard after successful completion		
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>R</u> un Close		

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the process is completed. If the option is disabled then you can repeat the operation with the same or redefined parameters.

Click the **Run** button to run the backup database operation.

Use the <u>templates</u> button to save current settings to template or to restore settings from an existing template.

9.6 Print Metadata

Print Metadata allows you to generate and print metadata reports of any database/ server object(s).

To open the window, select the **Tools |** \clubsuit **Print Metadata** <u>main menu [915]</u> item, or use the \clubsuit **Print Metadata** button on the main <u>toolbar [917]</u>. Alternatively, you can right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks |** \clubsuit **Print Metadata** item from the <u>context menu [54]</u>.



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 643
- Printing options
 645
- Print Preview 646

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also:

<u>Database and Server Objects Management</u> <u>Print Metadata options</u> हिनी

9.6.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Print Metadata**.



The Navigation bar of the Print Metadata window allows you to:

Servers

- select a server instance for the printing report
- 号 select a database for the printing report

General

- print metadata of the selected object(s)
- preview 646 the printing report
- restore the default size and position of the window

Database

✓ filter database objects by type

Server

filter server objects by type

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Print Metadata** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child** forms group.

9.6.2 Printing options

The **Print Metadata** window allows you to select the database objects for printing metadata.

To select an object, you need to move it from the **Available objects** list to the **Objects** for printing list. Use the Description of drag-and-drop operations to move the objects from one list to another.

After you select one or several objects, the **Printing Options** pane appears at the bottom.

Printing Options

Select an object in the **Objects for printing** list and specify items to be included into the printing report: *DDL*, *Description* (for all database objects), *Columns/Params*, *Foreign Keys*, *Checks*, *Indexes*, *Triggers* (for tables).

🖶 Pi	Print Metadata - [testing-ms\SQL2017]							
	🕴 🖵 testing-ms\SQL2017 🔹 🔹 AdventureWorks_dev on as 🔹 🚔 🖻 🔳 🚔 Show 🔹 🖵 Show 🔹 📰 💂							
Ava	Available Tables Tables for Printing							
Nam	ie	Description	^		Nai	ne	Description	
	DimDate					AdventureWorksDWBuild	table description!	
	DimDate2					DatabaseLog		
	DimDepartmentGroup					DimAccountTotal		
	DimEmployee					DimCurrency		
	DimGeography			Ľ		DimCustomer		
	DimOrganization							
	DimProduct							
, 📭	DimProductCategory							
	DimProductSubcategory			<				
	DimPromotion							
	DimReseller							
	DimSales							
	DimSalesTerritory				Pri	nting Options		
	DimScenario				~	Columns/Params	Triggers	
	FactAdditionalInternatio				~	Foreign Keys		
	FactCallCenter				-	Checks	Description	
	FactCurrencyRate				R	Indices		
	E 15.		×					

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbar</u>643 <u>Print Preview</u>646

9.6.3 Print Preview

You can 2 make a preview of the printing report and 2 print metadata for objects of the selected type using the corresponding items of the <u>Navigation bar</u> [643] (or <u>toolbar</u>[645]).



The toolbar of the **Preview** window allows you to:

- start printing the report;
- open a previously saved printing report;
- save the current report to an external *.fp3 file;
- export the preview content to any of the available formats: HTML file, Excel file, Text file, RTF file, CSV file, HTML file, BMP image, Excel table (OLE), JPEG image, TIFF image (use the for this purpose);
- search for text within the printing report;
- adjust zoom options;
- enable/disable printing report outline;
- enable/disable printing report thumbnails;
- specify page settings;
- edit the page using Report Designer [665];
- navigate within the printing report pages;
- close the **Preview** window.

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbar</u>ब्स्अ <u>Printing options</u>ब्स्डि

9.7 Search in Metadata

The **Search in Metadata** tool is implemented for quick search within the scope of database metadata. The tools allows you to set various search conditions and view the results.

To launch the **Search in Metadata** tool, select the **Tools |** Search in Metadata main menu [915] item, or use the Ctrl+Alt+F shortcut [952].



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 647
- <u>Setting search conditions</u>
 ⁶⁴⁹
- Viewing search results 650

<u>Availability</u>:

Full version (for Windows)Yes

Lite version (for Windows) No

Note: To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u>^[23] page.

See also:

Database Objects Management 178

9.7.1 Using navigation bar and toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Search in Metadata**.



The Navigation bar of the Search in Metadata tool allows you to:

Database

📙 select a database for searching

General

🕼 set <u>search conditions</u>ब्यि ᄰ - go to next search match 🖻 restore the default size and position of the window

Explorer

browse the tree of found database objects

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Search in Metadata** tool. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **()** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar
only) or **•** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> b) in the **Bar style** for child forms group.

9.7.2 Setting search condition

The **Search in Metadata** dialog allows you to set search conditions. It opens each time the **Search in Metadata** tool is launched.

Search in Metadata			
Text to search employee	employee		
Database 🔒 Adve	entureWorks on tio\sql2014		
Options	Direction		
Case sensitive	Eorward		
Whole words only Regular expressions			
	OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp		

Text to search

Enter a search string in this box. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered search strings.

Database

Use the drop-down list to select a database for the search operation.

Options

Search in DDL

Check this option to search for the specified text in full object DML statements. If the option is unchecked, the quick search is made in object names only.

Other search options are similar to those provided by the **Find Text** dialog. For detailed description of the search options refer to the Find Text dialog page, page.

When all the options are set, click OK. The **Search in Metadata [search string]** report window will display the search progress and <u>results</u> [50].

See also: Find Text dialog 925

9.7.3 Viewing search result

The **Search in Metadata** window allows you to view the search progress and results fetched from the database.

🕼 Search In Metadata - [employee] - [AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014]			
🕴 🔒 Databases 🔻 🕼 🔎		-	
Database	View [vEmployee (HumanResources)] 1 SET ANSI_NULLS ON		
AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014	2 SET QUOTED_IDENTIFIER ON 3 GO		
General ♠ Image: Search Image: Search match Image: Restore default size	<pre>4 5 CREATE VIEW [HumanResources].[vEmployee] 6 AS 7 SELECT e.[EmployeeID], 8</pre>	Е	
Explorer AdventureWorks on ka\sq	<pre>10 C.[MiddleMane], 11 C.[LastName], 12 C.[Suffix], 13 e.[Title] AS [JobTitle], 14 C.[Phone],</pre>		
	<pre>15 c.[EmailAddress], 16 c.[EmailPromotion], 17 a.[AddressLine1], 18 a.[AddressLine2],</pre>		
FROM [HumanRes INNER JOIN [Huma E INNER JOIN [Huma E a.[EmployeeID] EXEC sp_addexter EXEC sp_addexter VEmployeeDepartment wemployeeDepartment	19 a.[City], 20 sp.[Name] AS [StateProvinceName], 21 a.[PostalCode], 22 cr.[Name] AS [CountryRegionName], 23 c.[AdditionalContactInfo] 24 FROM [HumanResources].[Employee] e 25 INNER JOIN [Person].[Contact] c ON c.[Cont 26 INNER JOIN [HumanResources].[EmployeeAddre 27 ea.[EmployeeID]	actID] = e. ass] ea ON e.	
VJobCandidate (Humar VSalesPerson (Sales)	28 INNER JOIN [Person].[Address] a ON ea.[Add 29 INNER JOIN [Person].[StateProvince] sp ON < Ⅲ Process completed successfully!	iressID] = a. sp.[StatePrc • •	

After the search is complete, the **Explorer** group on the <u>Navigation bar</u> 64^{3} displays the tree of database objects in which the search string is found, and allows you to view metadata of the required object or its fragment quickly by clicking enclosed object branches in the tree.

The **Object <object_name>** area is provided for viewing metadata of the objects, with the search string highlighted.

For your convenience the **syntax highlight**, **code completion** and a number of other features for efficient SQL editing are implemented. For details see <u>Working with Query</u> Data area 429 and <u>Using the context menu</u> 430.

9.8 HTML Report Wizard

HTML Report wizard allows you to generate a detailed HTML report of the selected database objects.



- Selecting database and directory 652
- Selecting object types 652
- Specifying CSS for HTML report 654
- Setting additional report options 656
- <u>Creating HTML report</u>
 657
- Using templates 934

<u>Availability</u>: **Full** version (for Yes Windows) **Lite** version (for No Windows)

Note: To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u> [23] page.

See also:

<u>Database and Server Objects Management</u> गिरो <u>Using templates</u> ब्रिअ

9.8.1 Selecting database and directory

At this step of the wizard you should select the **source database** and **output directory** for the HTML report.

Source host

Define host where source database is located.

Source database

Use the drop-down list of <u>registered</u> [11] and <u>connected</u> [68] databases to select the source database for the report.

Output directory

Type in or use the B button to specify the path to the output directory for the result HTML files using the **Browse for Folder** dialog.

📲 HTML Report Wizard - [AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014]			
HTML Report			
Select the source databa	se and the destination folder		
EFFECTIVE CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR CONTRACTO	Welcome to the HTML Report Wizard! This wizard allows you to create a detailed HTML report about your database. Source host ka\sql2014 Source database AdventureWorks on ka\sql2014 [AdventureWorks] Output directory C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\HTML Reports		
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel		

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting object types</u> [52] step of the wizard.

9.8.2 Selecting object types

Use this step of the wizard to select *the types of database objects* to be included in the result HTML report.

To select a database object, you need to move it from the **Available objects** list to the **Selected objects** list. Use the **Delta Context** Delta Delta

📲 HTML Report Wizard - [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]				
HTML Report				
Select database objects t	o include in report			
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Available objects Foreign Keys Checks Checks Sequences Users Roles Assemblies Schemas DDL Triggers Schemas DDL Triggers Synonyms Partition Functions Partition Schemes Elimeter Full-Text Catalogs Aggregates Mul. Scheme Calloctions		Selected objects Tables Views Procedures UDFs UDTs Triggers Indices	
Help Templates	•	< <u>B</u> a	ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel	

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the next step allowing you to select *the types of server objects* to be included in the result HTML report.

To select a server object, you need to move it from the **Available objects** list to the **Selected objects** list. Use the **Selected objects** list. Use the **Selected objects** list to move the objects from one list to another.

🐴 HTML Report Wizard - [Ad	ventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpre	ss]	- • •
HTML Report			
Select server objects to in	iclude in report		
EFFE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Available objects Operators Proxies Credentials Inked Servers Endpoints DDL Triggers Server Roles DTS Packages	Selected objects Logins Backup Devices Jobs Schedules Alerts	5
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•	< Back <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Specifying CSS</u> [654] step of the wizard.

9.8.3 Specifying CSS

This step of the wizard allows you *to edit the CSS (Cascading Style Sheet) file* that will be used by the result HTML report.

On the CSS Text Tab you can edit the CSS file.

🐴 HTML Report Wizard - [Ad	dventureWorks on ka\sql2014]
HTML Report	
Specify Cascading Style	Sheet (CSS) for HTML report
	CSS Preview CSS Text
	1 pody
	2 {
	3 margin: Opx Opx Opx Opx;
	4 padding: 0px 0px 0px 0px;
201	5 background: #fcfcec;
SQL	6 color: #000000;
Manager	7 font-family: Verdana, Arial,
for	8 Helvetica, sans-serif;
SQL Server	9 font-size: 70%;
	10 width: 100%;
	11 }
	12
	13
	14 div#nsbanner
	15 {
	<pre>16 position: relative;</pre>
	17 left: Opx;
	18 padding: Opx Opx 5px Opx;
	19 border-bottom: 1px solid #
<u>H</u> eip <u>l</u> emplates	✓ < <u>Back</u> Next > Cancel

The *CSS Preview* tab allows you to view the HTML report with the defined style. You can select one of the pre-installed templates from the **Templates** drop-down list or select the Custom template and edit it on the *CSS Text* tab.

🐴 HTML Report Wizard - [Ad	dventureWorks on ka\sql2014]	- • •			
HTML Report	HTML Report				
Specify Cascading Style 9	Sheet (CSS) for HTML report				
	CSS Preview CSS Text				
27	Template Olive				
E E	Table: Address	(E)			
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Schema Person				
Descriptions Street address information for customers, employees, and vendors.					
Fields					
	PK Name Data type Not Uniqu	e Row Co GUID			
* AddressID int * *					
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel			

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting additional report options</u> as the point wizard.

9.8.4 Setting additional report options

Use this step of the wizard to set additional HTML report options.

📲 HTML Report Wizard - [AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]			
HTML Report			
Select additional report of	otions		
	Report header		
SOL	localhost\sqlexpress/AdventureWorks - AdventureW(🔺		
Manager	Report footer		
for SQL Server	This file was generated with SQL Manager for SQL		
DDL font size small large (size display also depends on browser settings)			
Help Templates Cancel			

If necessary, you can set optional text to **Report header** and **Report footer** of the result HTML report. For your convenience the default header and footer text is already available. If necessary, you can edit this text according to your needs.

DDL font size

This control allows you to set the font size for the DDL section. Move the slider between the **small** and **large** threshold values to select the required font size value within this scope. Note that the text size also depends on your browser settings.

Click the Next button to proceed to Creating HTML report 657.

9.8.5 Creating HTML report

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

🐴 HTML Report Wizard - [Ad	dventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]	- • ×
HTML Report		
Click the Finish button fo	creating report	
	Process completed successfully!	
20	100 %	
	Generating report for 'Department1'	
901	Generating report for 'Document' Generating report for 'Documents'	(≡)
Manager	Generating report for 'Documents1' Generating report for 'Employee'	
for	Generating report for 'EMPLOYEE'	
SQL Server	Generating report for 'Employee_new' Generating report for 'EMPLOYEE_UPD'	
	Generating report for 'EmployeeAddress'	
	Generating report for 'EmployeeDepartmentHistory' Generating report for 'EmployeePavHistory'	
	Generating report for 'EMPLOYEES'	
	Generating report for 'ErrorLog'	· · · ·
	Show report after generating	
	Close the Wizard after successful completion	
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> inish	Close

Show report after generating

This option opens the result report in your default browser after generating.

Close the wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the creating HTML report process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the process.

9.9 Reports management

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides several tools for efficient *reports management*:

Create Report Wizard 659

This tool is used to simplify the process of creating reports.

Report Designer

It is a basic tool for creating powerful reports.

Report Viewer

Allows you to view created reports.

Reports can be stored either in the database (table msmreports will be created to store them) or in a directory on your hard drive specified on the <u>Directories registration Info</u> dialog.

9.9.1 Create Report Wizard

Using **Create Report Wizard** you can create a report containing required datasets, bands and fields on them, with a definite report style applied.

To start the wizard, select the **Database | New Object...** <u>main menu [915]</u> item, then select **Report** in the <u>Create New Object [180]</u> dialog. Alternatively, you can right-click the **Reports** node of the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Report...** item from the <u>context menu [56]</u>.



- <u>Specifying report name and options</u>
- <u>Selecting report bands</u>
- <u>Selecting report style</u> 662
- Specifying paper settings 663
- Specifying margins 663
- Specifying other page settings [664]

Yes
No

Windows)

Note: To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u>^[23] page.

See also:

<u>Report Designer</u>ब्ल्डी <u>Report Viewer</u>ब्ल्रि

9.9.1.1 Specifying database name and report options

Select the source **database** for adding a report and choose the action you need to perform: either *create a new report* or *import an existing report from file*.

Set the **name** for the new report and specify the save options for it:

Save to database

The report will be created on the server inside the database.

Save to file

If this option is selected, the report will be saved as a *.fr3 file to the directory specified on the <u>Directories</u> [121] page of the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [116] dialog.

Create Report Wizard		
Create Report Wizard		
Choose your report option	18	
SQL Manager	Welcome to the Create Report Wizard! This wizard will take you through the steps of creating a "data-aware" report. The finished report will be saved to your database and can be edited later. Database AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress [AdventureWork Report creation method New report	
SQL Server	Save options Report name	newreport
	 Save to datab 	base
	Save to file (*	.fr3)
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting report bands</u> and step of the wizard.

9.9.1.2 Selecting report bands

This step of the wizard allows you to select the bands to be included in the report. To select a band, you need to move it from the **Available Bands** list to the **Report Bands** list. Use the Image: Image and Imag

Use the **Edit** button to create datasets for 'data' bands using <u>Design Query</u> 442.

Create Report Wizard			— ×
Create Report Wizard			
Select the bands which yo	ou need for your report		
	Available Bands	1	Report Bands
	Report title		Master data
Ren	Page header		Report summary
	Page footer		
	Master header		
201	Additional Master footer		
Manager	Detail header		
for	🔳 Detail data		
SQL Server	Detail footer		
	Subdetail header		
	Subdetail data		
	Subdetail footer		
	Group header		
	Group footer		
Help		< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel

Brief information about bands functionality is listed below. See **FastReport Help** for more information.

Name	Functionality
Report title	Prints once at the beginning of report
Report summary	Prints once at the end of report
Page header	Prints at the top of each page
Page footer	Prints at the bottom of each page
Master header	Prints at the beginning of master list
Master data	Data rows of master list

662 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Master footer	Prints at the end of master list
Detail header	Prints at the beginning of detail list
Detail data	Data rows of detail list
Detail footer	Prints at the end of detail list
Subdetail header	Prints at the beginning of subdetail list
Subdetail data	Data rows of subdetail list
Subdetail footer	Prints at the end of subdetail list
Group header	Prints at the beginning of each group
Group footer	Prints at the end of each group

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting report style</u> [662] step of the wizard.

9.9.1.3 Selecting report style

Select the report style by clicking one of the images illustrating the styles available for the report.



Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Specifying paper settings</u> of the wizard.

9.9.1.4 Specifying page settings

9.9.1.4.1 Specifying paper settings

Specify report options: paper size and orientation, page margins [663], other settings [664].

Create Report Wizard		×
Create Report Wizard		
Choose your page setting	gs and click the Finish button.	
	Paper Margins Other	
SOL	Size Orientation A4 210 x 297 mm Width, mm	
Manager for SQL Server	Height, mm	
	Open the report after the wizard has finished	
	Click "Finish" to create report	
Help	< <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> inish Cancel	

Use the **Margins** tab to <u>specify margins</u> [663] for the result report.

Open the report after the wizard has finished

If this option is checked, the report will be opened in <u>Report Designer</u> [665] after generating.

When you are done, click the **Finish** button to run the report generation process.

9.9.1.4.2 Specifying margins

Stretch to print area

If this option is checked, the size of report is adjusted to the print area. If this option is unchecked, you can specify the *left*, *right*, *top* and *bottom* margins (in millimeters).

Create Report Wizard		×
Create Report Wizard		
Choose your page setting	is and click the Finish button.	
	Paper Margins Other	
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Page margins Stretch to print area Left, mm 0 Top, mm 0 Bottom, mm	
	Open the report after the wizard has finished	
	Click "Finish" to create report	
Help	< <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> inish Cancel	

Use the **Other** tab to <u>specify other page settings</u> [664] for the result report.

W Open the report after the wizard has finished

If this option is checked, the report will be opened in <u>Report Designer</u> after generating.

When you are done, click the **Finish** button to run the report generation process.

9.9.1.4.3 Specifying other page settings

Options

Print to previous page

This option allows to use white space on a previous page. This option can be used in case when a report template consists of several pages or when printing batch (composite) reports.

Two-pass report

If this option is selected, report's formation will be performed in two steps. During the first pass, a report is formed, and is divided into pages, but the result is not saved anywhere. During the second pass a standard report formation with saving a result in the stream is performed.

Page numbering

This option allows to print a page numbers.

Columns

Number

This parameter specifies the number of columns for multi-column reports' printing.

Gap, mm

This parameter specifies the width of the gap between columns.

Create Report Wizard		×
Create Report Wizard		
Choose your page setting	s and click the Finish button.	
	Paper Margins Other	
200	Options	Columns
E E	Print to previous page	Number 0
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Two-pass report	Gap, mm 0 <mark>,</mark> ♥
	Open the report after the wiza	rd has finished
	Click "Finish" to create report	
Help		< <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> inish Cancel

Open the report after the wizard has finished

If this option is checked, the report will be opened in <u>Report Designer</u> [665] after generating.

When you are done, click the **Finish** button to run the report generation process.

9.9.2 Report Designer

Report Designer allows you to create and edit reports. This tool can be opened after completion of <u>Create Report Wizard</u> किछी to design a new report. To edit an already existing project, use the appropriate <u>Navigation bar</u> किछी item of <u>Report Viewer</u> (जन्हे).

This module is provided by Fast Reports, Inc. (http://www.fast-report.com) and has its

own help system. Press the F1 key in the Report Designer to call the FastReport help.



Please find the instructions on how to create a simple report in the **Report Designer** below:

- <u>Adding dialog form</u>676
- Adding database and query components 670
- Adding report data 672
- Viewing the report 674
- Saving the report 675

Note: The **Object Inspector** which allows you to edit report object properties, can be shown/hidden by pressing the **F11** key.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Create Report Wizard</u>ब्डिभे <u>Report Viewer</u>बिरी

9.9.2.1 Basic elements

Report designer's working area consists of the following elements: *Main menu*ब्लि, *Report Tree*ब्लि, *Data Tree*ब्लि, *Workspace*ब्लि, and *Object inspector*ब्लि.

Main menu

File Edit Report View Help

Report Tree

This element is located by default in the top left part of the window. You can view report structure as a tree.



Report tree has the following tabs you can switch between: *Code*, *Data*, *Page* and *Dialog Page*.

Code

Allows working with the report script.

Data

Displays data structure of the report.

Page

Displays printing form of the report.

Form

Displays dialog form of the report.

Data Tree

This element is located by default in the bottom left part of the window. Structure of the data defined with the **III ADOTable** and **III ADOQuery** is displayed here as a tree.



Workspace

Main working space is located in the center of the window.



Object Inspector

Allows viewing and changing properties of the selected object. By default this element is located in the right part of the window.

ZeosMyDatabase1: TfrxZeosMyD 💌								
Properties Events								
Connected	✓ True	*						
Database								
DatabaseNam	e sakila	h						
Description								
Encoding	etNone							
Host	DOOM_SERVER							
HttpProxy								
HttpProxyEna	b 🗌 False	Ξ						
HttpProxyTra	n: 🗌 False							
Login	root							
LoginPrompt	□ False							
Name	ZeosMyDatab							
Params	(TStrings)							
Port	3306							
SSHEnabled	False							
SSHHost								
SSHKeyFile		Ŧ						

Note: Object Inspector can be opened by pressing the **F11** keyboard button.

9.9.2.1.1 Toolbars

Common toolbars are located in the top part of the window.

) 📂 🗔 🛕		🖥 🖄 🖡	🔲 f.	¥	þ	ß	1	9	61	13 I	1	ŧ	100%	•		
	' Tr Ari	ial		•	10	•	B	I	U	T	<u>A</u> 🕸	~ ~	-	1		
] 🔛 🔛 🔛			🆄 🖉		1	•										

Depending on the tab selected in the Report Tree $\overline{\text{ke7}}$ elements of the side toolbar can differ.

k A ■

For **Data** tab:

For Page tab:

l, 4 k (*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*)
(*) A Α ~ Ð Σ **V** ۵ OLE 1 1 43

For **DialogPage** tab:

k Α abl = ab **V** ۲ ≡ 0 = 0 (**XV**) ~ 0k***** #_ 80 =

9.9.2.2 Adding database and query components

To start working with report you need to define data source.

🖀 FastReport - Untitled.fr3						_ 0 🗙					
File Edit Report View Help											
•		• B	Ι	<u>u</u> T _T	A 🖭 🗞	≣ ≣ ≣					
Code Data Page1											
A			1	100	1						
E Report						/Data (Va (Fu (Cl \					
ADODatabase1	-	AC		ADO =		Data					
ADO Page1		ADODat		Edit		NationalIDNum					
- 46	2		¥	Cut	Ctrl+X						
ADODatabase 1: TfrxADODatabase	¥.			Сору	Ctrl+C	ManagerID					
/Properties Events			۴.	Paste	Ctrl+V	Title					
Connected True 💌	-		\times	Delete		I MaritalStatus					
DatabaseName Provider=SQLNCLI.				Select A	ll Ctrl+A						
Description						HireDate					
LoginPrompt False	2		۳.	Bring to	Front	SalariedElag					
Connected			2	Send to	Back	 ↓ ↓ 					
Indicates if the database connection is active			_			Create field					
		< III.			•	Create caption					
Pixels 32,00; 20,00 I 28,00; 28,	00	ADO	Data	ase1		h.					

Adding database component

In order to add the *Database* component:

- proceed to the **Data** tab of <u>Report tree</u> 667;
- pick the III ADO Database component on the toolbar (on the left);
- click within the working area the corresponding ADODatabase1 icon appears in the area;
- use the Edit item of the component context menu item;
- in the appeared window define database connection parameters using the connection string or the standard windows dialog window that can be opened by pressing the ellipsis button. **SQL Native Client** should be specified as data provider;
- make sure that the **Connected** property value in the <u>Object Inspector</u> (666) is set to *True*.

Adding table component

In order to add the *Table* component:

- proceed to the Data tab of <u>Report tree</u> [666];
- pick the I ADOTable component on the toolbar (on the left);
- click within the working area the corresponding *ADOTable1* icon appears in the area;
- Define the following options in the <u>Object Inspector</u> and <u>Database</u> (select any defined **ADODatabase**) and <u>TableName</u> (select a table from the connected database). Once TableName is specified, all columns from this table are displayed in the <u>Data Tree</u> and <u>Data T</u>

Adding query component

In order to add the *Query* component:

- proceed to the **Data** tab of <u>Report tree</u> [666];
- pick the 🔝 ADO Query component on the toolbar (on the left);
- click within the working area the corresponding ADOQuery1 icon appears in the area;
- use the Object Inspector to define the following properties: **Database** (select any defined **ADODatabase**) and **SQL** (press the ellipsis button to open Query Data where you can define query text).

See also:

<u>Adding dialog form</u>बिन्ही <u>Adding report data</u>बिन्दी <u>Viewing the report</u>बिन्दी <u>Saving the report</u>बिन्ही

9.9.2.3 Adding report components

To start working with the printing form of the report proceed to the **Page** tab of the <u>Report Tree</u> [666].

📲 F	astRe	eport - Untitled.fr3			
File	Ed	it Report View	Help		
	þ	😼 🚨 🗎 🛅	≧ Ω 尨 ǚ ≧ " ♥ 冗 弡 ▓[璽 薄 75% ▼		
		• Tr Arial	• 10 • B I U Tr A 🖄 🗞 🗉 🖷 🗐 🔤 🗰		
			→ 🏡 🔔 🊃 1 🔹		
k	/ C o	ode (Data) Page 1			
3		Baca1	1 1 2 1 3 1 4 1 5 1 6 1 7 1 8 1 9 1 10 11 12 1	13	
Q	1	Page1 A	ReportTitle: ReportTitle1	<u> </u>	/Data (Va (Fu (Cl)
T		A Memo1	E DeprtmentID Name GroupName		
		···· A Memo2			DepartmentID
Ě		A Memo3	T N MesterData: MasterData1		····· 📃 Name
		Report Litle	[ADOTable1 [ADOTable1."Name"] [ADOTable1."GroupNan	r	GroupName
		Report Summary			
A		Page Header	- PageFooter: PageFooter1	Ε	
		Page Footer	signed) . S		
-		Header			
Σ		Footer			
		Master Data	ne z -		
		Detail Data			
		Subdetail Data	signed)	-	
OLE		Data 4th level			
R		Data 5th level			
		Data 6th level			
	[8]	Group Header	e S		
		Group Footer	-		
		Child			
		Column Header	ait 🛫 7		
		Column Footer	<u>φ</u>		
		Overlay	- 9		✓ Create field
		Vertical bands	۲		Create caption
Centi	meter	S iiU,64; 13,58	Page1		H.

You can customize report view using bands. Each band can define specified data.

Adding bands

In order to add a band to the report:

- proceed to the **Page1** tab of <u>Report Tree</u> 666;
- pick the ➡ **Insert Band** component on the toolbar (on the left);
- select the band to be added to the report;
- click within the working area the corresponding element appears in the area;
- set element properties within the **Properties Inspector**.

Each band appears in the <u>Report Tree</u> [666] as a node.

Table and report data should be added as **Master Data** and column headers as **Group Header**.

Adding report data

In order to add data to the report:

• proceed to the **Data** tab within the panel on the right side of the window;

- pick a field within the **I** Data tree and drag it to the working area;
- add all necessary elements one by one using drag-and-drop operation for each of them.

See also:

<u>Adding dialog form</u>बिंग् <u>Adding database and query components</u>बिंग्ले <u>Viewing the report</u>बिंग् <u>Saving the report</u>बिंग्डी

9.9.2.4 Viewing the report

Viewing the report

To preview the newly created report, select the **File | Preview** main menu item or use the corresponding **Preview** toolbar button. You can also use the Ctrl+P shortcut [952] for the same purpose. This mode allows you to view, edit and print the result report.

To print the report, use the 🖨 **Print** toolbar button or the corresponding context menu item.

Treview			×
🔿 💕 🖬 🖾 🗛 🖸	👌 100% - 🔍 🔲 🗐 🗐 🔍	I I I I I Close	
DeprtmentID	Name	GroupName	
1	Engineering	Research and Development	
2	Tool Desian	Research and Development	
3	Sales	Sales and Marketing	Ξ
4	Marketing	Sales and Marketing	
5	Purchasing	Inventory Management	
6	Research and Development	Research and Development	
7	Production	Manufacturing	
8	Production Control	Manufacturing	
9	Human Resources	Executive General and Administration	
10	Finance	Executive General and Administration	
11	Information Services	Executive General and Administration	
12	Document Control	Quality Assurance	
13	Quality Assurance	Quality Assurance	
14	Facilities and Maintenance	Executive General and Administration	
15	Shipping and Receiving	Inventory Management	
16	Executive	Executive General and Administration	
•		•	-
Page 1 of 1			зđ

It is also possible to preview/print the report using <u>Report Viewer</u> [677].

To export report

- press the spress the spress
- select needed file format to export report into;
- specify file name and location in the appeared dialog.

See also:

<u>Adding dialog form</u>बिंग्ले <u>Adding database and query components</u>बिंग्ले <u>Adding report data</u>बिंग्ट्री <u>Saving the report</u>बिंग्डी

9.9.2.5 Saving the report

When all report parameters are set, you can save the report to an external *.fr3 file on your local machine or on a machine in the LAN.

To save the report, select the **File | Save** main menu item or use the corresponding **Save Report** toolbar button. You can also use the Ctrl+S shortcut short the same purpose.

If necessary, you can add the report to the database using <u>Create Report Wizard</u> and perform preview/print operations using <u>Report Viewer</u>.

See also: Adding dialog formଜେଶି Adding database and query componentsଜେଶି Adding report dataଜେନ୍ଥି Viewing the report ଜେନ୍ୟି

9.9.2.6 Adding dialog form

To add a dialog form, select the File | New Dialog main menu item in Report Designer.

The new dialog appears within the *DialogPage1* tab of the designer. Use the available RAD tools to add necessary interface elements to the dialog.



To call the dialog, proceed to the **Code** tab and supply the corresponding statement (PascalScript), e.g. begin DialogPage1.ShowModal; end.

Using the **Language** drop-down list you can select the script language to be used for the event handler: *PascalScript* (by default), *C++Script*, *BasicScript*, *JScript*.

For instance, the following C++ Script code can be used as the handler for the OnClick event of the 'Show' button to open <u>ADOQuery</u> [672]:

{
ADOQuery1.Active = true;
}

See also:

<u>Adding database and query components</u> िंग्ले <u>Adding report data</u> िंग्ये <u>Viewing the report</u> िंग्ये Saving the report िंग्डे

9.9.3 Report Viewer

Using **Report Viewer** you can view, edit, save and print reports.

Possible report operations are described on the <u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbar</u> [678] page.

🖫 Report - [newrepor	t] - [Adventure	eWorks on localhost\sqlexpress]		
🕴 😑 Databases 💌 💽	newreport	- 🗟 🗖 🔒 🛃 📚 (2	,
Object	*	DepartmentID	Name	GroupName
AdventureWorks	on locall	1	Engineering	Research and Developm
		2	Tool Design	Research and Developme
and no wroport		3	Sales	Sales and Marketing
General	*	4	Marketing	Sales and Marketing ≡
Defrech		5	Purchasing	Inventory Management
Fdit report		6	Research and Development	Research and Developm
Save report		8 7	Production	Manufacturing
Save report as		8	Production Control	Manufacturing
Rrint		9	Human Resources	Executive General and Administration
Restore default siz	ze	10	Finance	Executive General and Administration
		11	Information Services	Executive General and Administration
		12	Document Control	Quality Assurance
		13	Quality Assurance	Quality Assurance
		14	Facilities and Maintenance	Executive General and Administration
		15	Shipping and Receiving	Inventory Management
		16	Executive	Executive General and Administration
				•
			III	►

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Create Report Wizard</u>চ্চিগ <u>Report Designer</u>চ্চিগ

9.9.3.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Report Viewer**.



The Navigation bar of Report Viewer allows you to:

Object

- 号 select a database
- 🌇 select a report for viewing

General

- a refresh the content of the window
- 😰 edit report using <u>Report Designer</u>ब्ली
- Image: Save the current report

- \mathbf{k} save the report to a *.fr3 file using the **Save as...** dialog
- line report
- restore the default size and position of the viewer window

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Report Viewer** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

9.10 Server-level principals

Principals are individuals, groups, and processes that can request SQL Server resources.

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides management tools for the following *server-level* security principals:

Logins 681

680

Allows you to manage SQL Server logins.

Server Roles Manager

Allows you to manage SQL Server roles.

Adding Logins

In order to add a new login:

- select the **Tools | Login Manager** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding toolbar button to open Login Manager [68];
- select the Add login... item of the context menu or within the Navigation bar;
- define login properties and permissions using Login Editor 354

or

- right-click the **Logins** node (**Server Objects**) or any object within this node in <u>DB</u> <u>Explorer</u> [63] and select the **New Login** context menu item, or use the *Ctrl+N* <u>shortcut</u> [952];
- define login properties and permissions using Login Editor 354.

Editing Login Properties

In order to edit an existing login:

- select the **Tools | Login Manager** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding toolbar button to open Login Manager [681];
- select the Edit login... item of the context menu or within the Navigation bar;
- edit the login properties and permissions using Login Editor 354

or

- right-click the Logins node (Server Objects) or any object within this node in <u>DB</u> <u>Explorer</u> [63] and select the Edit Login <object_name> context menu item, or use the Ctrl+O shortcut [952];
- edit the login properties and permissions using Login Editor [354].

Deleting Logins

In order to delete an existing login:

- select the **Tools | Login Manager** main menu [915] item or use the corresponding toolbar button to open Login Manager [681];
- right-click the login to delete and select the **Delete Login** item of the **context menu** or within the **Navigation bar**;
- confirm deleting in the dialog window

or

right-click the login to delete within the Logins node (Server Objects) in <u>DB Explorer</u>
 and select the **Drop Login <object_name>** context menu item, or use the Shift+Del shortcut [952];

• confirm deleting in the dialog window

Allocating Server Roles

In order to allocate server roles to logins:

- select the **Tools | Server Roles** <u>main menu</u> [915] item or use the corresponding stoolbar button;
- select a server role, and add logins to the Server Role Members list using <u>Server Roles</u> <u>Manager</u>[693].

See also:

<u>Server Log Viewer</u> हारी <u>Activity Monitor</u> हि20 Resource Governor हा औ

9.10.1 Logins

Microsoft® SQL Server[™] uses two ways to validate connections to SQL Server databases:

Windows Authentication which uses Windows-level principals

and

SQL Server Authentication which uses logins to validate the connection.

A **login** is an indivisible principal which is used to connect to the server and use its resources.

- Login Manager 681
- Login Editor 354

See also:

<u>Server Roles</u> 693

9.10.1.1 Login Manager

The **Login Manager** allows you to browse the list of existing logins on each of available instances of SQL Server, and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Tools | Login Manager** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Logins** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].

8 📮 Login Manager								×		
Servers \$	Login Name		Туре		Access Denied	Default Database	Default Langu	age 🔺		
	DOOM_SERVER\SQL	Serve	r2005MSFT Windows	Group		master	us_english	_		
DOOM_SERVI	BOOM_SERVER\SQL	Serve	r2005MSSC Windows	Group		master	us_english			
Conservation A	BOOM_SERVER\SQL	Serve	r2005SQLA Windows	Group		master	us_english			
General	🖁 💭 emsdomain\aakud		Windows	User		master	us_english			
Refresh	, 💐 emsdomain\aschel	ф.	Add Login	User		master	us_english			
Add login	EMSDOMAIN\igorp	a	Edit Login	User		master	us_english			
	EMSDOMAIN\kmn	8-	Delete Login	User		master	us_english	=		
ale Eait login	EMSDOMAIN\nb	-38		User		master	us_english			
Delete login	EMSDOMAIN\tio	2	Refresh F5	User		master	us_english			
Export list	8 login		Columno	1		master	us_english			
Restore default size	SYST AUTHORITY/SYST		Columns	User		master	us_english			
	💐 sa	-	Export List			master	us_english			
	Screens	_	Standard	1		master	us_english			
	8 tester		Standard	1		master	us_english	-		
	•									

The list displays the existing logins as a grid with the following columns: Login Name, Type , Access Denied, Default Database, Default Language, Create Date, Update Date.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new server login and specify its properties using Login Editor^[354], *edit*, *delete* the selected login, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u>^[534] the list of logins to any of supported output file <u>formats</u>^[935].

Logins management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Login Manager**.

See also: Login Editor^[354] Server Roles

9.10.2 Grant Manager

Grant Manager allows you to set the user access grants for certain <u>database objects</u> गिरो : <u>schemas</u> गिरुगे, <u>tables</u> गिरुगे, <u>views</u> 248, <u>procedures</u> 253, <u>synonyms</u> 275, <u>aggregates</u> 278, <u>XML</u> <u>schema collections</u> 281, <u>assemblies</u> 304, etc.

'Global' user privileges define the user access rights to all the database objects on the server. Granting privileges on the selected database objects allows a user to perform the defined operation over the selected objects.

To open Grant Manager, select the Tools | Grant Manager main menu [915] item.



- Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu [684]
- <u>Setting object permissions</u>
 ⁶⁸⁶
- <u>Managing column permissions</u>
 [688]
- Filtering objects in list 689
- Setting database permissions 690
- <u>Viewing effective permissions</u>
 ⁶⁹²

Managing grants

To define grants on database objects:

- select the **Tools | Grant Manager** <u>main menu</u> জাৱী item, or use the corresponding 🐲 toolbar button to open **Grant Manager**;
- select the object type using the drop-down list on the toolbar;
- select a User 295 or Role Both from the Privileges for pane of the Navigation bar 684;
- edit <u>user 295</u>/<u>role</u> 301 privileges using **Grant Manager**

or

- right-click an object within the Users/Roles node in <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Grants for <object_name>** context menu item;
- edit user 295/role 301 privileges using Grant Manager 688

See also:

<u>Login Manager</u>ଛେ୩ <u>Server Roles</u>ଛେ୬ <u>User Editor</u>ହେ୫ Role Editor3୦୩

Login Editor 354

9.10.2.1 Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu

The **Navigation bar**, **Toolbar** and **context menu** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Grant Manager**.



The Navigation bar of Grant Manager allows you to:

Database

📙 select a database for grants management
General

- refresh the content of the window
- 💑 call <u>User Editor</u>295 to add a new database user
- 🞥 call <u>User Editor</u>295ी to edit an existing user
- 🎭 delete a database user
- 🖀 call <u>Role Editor</u>छनी to add a database role
- 都 call <u>Role Editor</u>301 to edit an existing database role
- S delete a database role
- 🍄 view <u>effective permissions</u>छि? on the object
- restore the default size and position of the window

Privileges for

ቖ select an existing database <u>user</u>विकी/<u>role</u>छगी to grant privileges to

Legend

✓ view the legend

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of **Grant Manager**. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select **(a)** *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or **(a)** *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

The **context menu** is aimed at facilitating your work: you can perform a variety of operations using context menu items.

The context menu of Grant Manager allows you to:

- grant a permission on a securable to the selected principal;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on a securable to the selected principal;
- deny a permission on a securable to the selected principal;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission;
- grant all permissions on a securable to the selected principal;
- grant all permissions (with Grant Option) on a securable to the selected principal;
- deny all permissions on a securable to the selected principal;
- revoke all previously granted or denied permissions on a securable;
- grant a permission on all objects to the selected principal;
- grant a permission (with Grant Option) on all objects to the selected principal;
- deny a permission on all objects to the selected principal;
- revoke a previously granted or denied permission on all objects;
- apply sorting of objects in grid (by type);
- apply sorting of objects in grid (by name);
- view effective permissions 692 on the object.



<u>Setting object permissions</u> <u>Managing column permissions</u> <u>Filtering objects in list</u> <u>Setting database permissions</u> <u>Viewing effective permissions</u> ଡେଥି

9.10.2.2 Managing database-specific privileges

9.10.2.2.1 Object permissions

The **Object Permissions** tab allows you to define privileges on specified database objects.

To edit the privileges of a <u>user</u>[295]/<u>role</u>[301] on an object of a database, select the database using the **Database** panel of the <u>Navigation bar</u>[684], then select a <u>user</u> or <u>role</u> from the **Privileges for** list available within the <u>Navigation bar</u>[684] or <u>toolbar</u>[685]. Then select the type of objects to be displayed in the main working window using the combo-box at the top.

The **Object Name** column contains the list of objects of the selected type; each subsequent column corresponds to the permission which can be granted on the selected object:

Select, Insert, Update, Delete, References, Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition (for tables [192], views [246]);

Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition, Execute (for procedures 253); References, Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition, Execute (for UDFs 253); References, Control, Take ownership, View definition, Execute (for UDTs 263); Select, Insert, Update, Delete, Control, Take ownership, View definition, Execute (for synonyms 275);

Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition, Execute (for <u>aggregates</u> विष्ठ), <u>XML schema</u> <u>collections</u> विही);

Select, Insert, Update, Delete, References, Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition , Execute (for <u>schemas</u> [189]);

Alter, Control, View definition, Impersonate (for <u>users</u> 295);

Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition (for roles soil);

References, Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition, Execute (for <u>assemblies</u> 30वे); References, Alter, Control, Take ownership, View definition (for <u>full-text catalogs</u> 31ते, <u>symmetric keys</u> 322ो, <u>asymmetric keys</u> 325ो, <u>certificates</u> 329ो, <u>message types</u> 33वे, <u>contracts</u> 33ते, <u>queues</u> 289ो, <u>services</u> 340Ì, <u>routes</u> 343Ì, <u>remote service bindings</u> 346Ì).

	- A @ @ (2. 9. 9. 9	60										
	Database-specific privileges							_					
Database ²	Object Permissions Database Per	missions	_	_	_		_	_	_				
🔒 AdventureWorks on 💌		Cranted onl		-									
Ceneral \$		_ Granted oni	У	E	iter								
General	Object Name	Select	Insert	Update	Delete	References	Alter	Control	Take				
Refresh		CONTRACT		opulli	Delete				ship				
Restore default size	Address (Person)	•	•	1	1								
Add user	ADDRESS (HR)		•	•	Grant								
Add role	ADDRESS (HumanResources)	•	8	Grant with (Grant Option							
Edit role	AddressType (Person)	•	•		Revoke								
Delete role	ADDRESSTYPE (HR)		•		Denv								
Effective permissions on	ADDRESSTYPE (HumanReso	un	•		,								
	AWBuildVersion	•	•	•	Grant All Grant All Grant All with Grant Option Revoke All Deny All								
Privileges for *	BillOfMaterials (Production)	•	•	6									
ser/Role	Contact (Person)	•	•	1									
🖉 public 👘	ContactCreditCard (Sales)	•	•	••									
E test_applicatio	ContactType (Person)	•	•		Crant on Al								
Users	CountryRegion (Person)	•	•										
Bill Street	CreditCard (Sales)	•	•	i	Grant on All with Grant Option								
	Culture (Production)	•	•	_	Revoke on	All							
	Currency (Colon)		^	8	Deny on All								
Legend *	Column normissions of upor	role 'public'	on table		Sort by Typ	e							
	Column Name	Select			Sort by Nar	ne							
Revoked (not set)	AddressID	Geneci	Opd		,								
Granted	AddressLine1			89	Effective Pe	ermissions on 'A	ddress (P	erson)' for	'public'				
Granted with grant optior	City												
Denied	StateProvinceID					_							
Has grants for columns	E DagtalCada					—							

The list of objects can be configured in several ways: you can specify that <u>only granted</u> <u>objects</u> are displayed in the grid, or define an object name to <u>filter</u> and the objects by that name.

Right-click a cell to grant a specific permission on a certain object. To grant a permission on an object, you should find the object in the **Object Name** list and the column with the corresponding permission. Note that the cells that are highlighted gray do not admit to setting grants for an obvious reason (e.g. you cannot execute a table). The <u>context</u> <u>menu</u> [885] of a cell contains possible permissions that can be granted:

- 🔵 Grant
- 悬 Grant with Grant Option

Deny (prevents the principal from inheriting the permission through its group or role memberships)

- *Revoke* (removes a previously granted or denied permission)
- Ο Grant All
- 🥵 Grant All with Grant Option
- 🛑 Deny All
- 🖌 Revoke All
- 🍍 Grant on All
- a Grant on All with Grant Option 🚨
- Deny on All
- 🖌 Revoke on All

Hint: You can also assign privileges by double-clicking the respective cell - in this case the grant status is changed in the following order: *Grant* -> *Grant* with *Grant* Option -> *Deny* -> *Revoke*.

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu</u>ଛେଏ <u>Managing column permissions</u>ଛେଏ <u>Filtering objects in list</u>ଛେଏ <u>Setting database permissions</u>ଛେଏ <u>Viewing effective permissions</u>ଛେଏ

9.10.2.2.2 Managing column permissions

The **Column permissions of user/role <principal_name> on <securable_name>** area displays the grid with table/view columns and the privileges that can be granted to the selected <u>user 295</u> or <u>role 307</u>.

Use items of the <u>context menu</u>^[685] to grant/deny/revoke permissions on columns.

Da	Database-specific privileges															
Ob	Object Permissions Database Permissions															
	All objects Granted only Filter															
	Object Name	Select	Insert	Update	Dele	te References	Alter	Control	Take Owner ship	• []]						
	Product (Production)	• "	•	==		==				-						
٠									Þ							
С	olumn permissions of user/ro	le 'public'	on table	Produc	t'											
	Column Name	Select	Upd	late R	eferer	ICES										
	ProductID	٨	6						7							
	Name		6	•		Grant										
	ProductNumber	٥	a 😒 🔒 Grant with Grant Option						1			nt with Grant Option				
	MakeFlag	Revoke														
	FinishedGoodsFlag	8				Denv		=								
	Color	٨	6	•		beny	-									
	SafetyStockLevel	٨	6	•	••	Grant All										
	ReorderPoint	٨	6	•	۹	Grant All with G										
	StandardCost	٨	6	•		Revoke All										
	ListPrice	٥	6	•	•	Denv All										
	Size	۵	6	•					-							
	SizeUnitMeasureCode	٥	8	•	8	Grant on All										
	WeightUnitMeasureCode	٨	8		8	Grant on All with	n Grant (Option								
	Weight	٥	8)		Revoke on All										
	DaysToManufacture	٥	8	•	2	Denv on All										
	ProductLine	2	6		-					-						

If permissions on a column have been defined (for a *table* or *view*), the corresponding permission cell of the table/view contains a specific icon \blacksquare .

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu</u>ଜଃୟ୍ଧି <u>Setting object permissions</u>ଜେଷ୍ପ<u>Filtering objects in list</u>ଜେଷ୍ପ <u>Setting database permissions</u>ଜେଷ୍ପ<u>Viewing effective permissions</u>ଜେଅ

9.10.2.2.3 Filtering objects in list

In large databases with huge amount of objects it may be difficult to find the required object. For this purpose you are provided with several tools for *filtering objects in list*:
the **Object type** control: select the required object type from the drop-down list (e.

g. Tables);

- the Filter panel: enter a character string to filter the object names by that string (note that the filter is case-sensitive);
- the **Granted only** option: check this option to display objects with at least one granted operation.

Da	Database-specific privileges												
<u>O</u> bj	Object Permissions Database Permissions												
	All objects Granted only Filter Co												
	Object Name		Select	Insert	Update	Delete	References	Alter	Control	Take Owner ∆ ship	View Definition	Execute	Impersona te
	Contact (Person)		٠	•	0								
	ContactCreditCard	l (Sales)	•	•	0								
	ContactType (Per	son)	•	•	8								
	CountryRegion (P	erson)	•	•									
	CountryRegionCu	rrency (Sa	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu</u>ଜେଣ୍ <u>Setting object permissions</u>ଜେଷ <u>Managing column permissions</u>ଜେଷ <u>Setting database permissions</u>ଜେଷ <u>Viewing effective permissions</u>ଜେଅ

9.10.2.2.4 Database permissions

The **Database Permissions** tab allows you to define privileges on execution of statements within the specified database.

To edit the database permissions of a <u>user 295</u>/<u>role</u> soft, select the database using the **Database** panel of the <u>Navigation bar</u> [84], then select a *user* or *role* from the **Privileges** for list available within the <u>Navigation bar</u> [684] or <u>toolbar</u> [685].

Database-specific privileges	
Object Permissions Database Permissions	
Statement	Permission
ALTER ANY APPLICATION ROLE	
ALTER ANY ASSEMBLY	
ALTER ANY ASYMMETRIC KEY	• E
ALTER ANY CERTIFICATE	0
ALTER ANY CONTRACT	
ALTER ANY DATABASE DDL TRIGGER	•
ALTER ANY DATABASE EVENT NOTIFICATION	
ALTER ANY DATASPACE	Grant
ALTER ANY FULLTEXT CATALOG	e Grant with Grant Option
ALTER ANY MESSAGE TYPE	Revoke
ALTER ANY REMOTE SERVICE BINDING	Denv.
ALTER ANY ROLE	
ALTER ANY ROUTE	S Grant All
ALTER ANY SCHEMA	Grant All with Grant Option
ALTER ANY SERVICE	Revoke All
ALTER ANY SYMMETRIC KEY	B Deny All
ALTER ANY USER	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Right-click a cell next to the required statement to grant its execution privilege to the selected <u>user [295]</u> or <u>role [301]</u>. The <u>context menu [685]</u> of a cell contains possible permissions that can be granted:

- Grant
- Grant with Grant Option
- *Revoke* (removes a previously granted permission)
- Deny
- Grant All
- Grant All with Grant Option
- Revoke All
- Deny All

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu</u> Setting object permissions <u>Managing column permissions</u> <u>Filtering objects in list</u> ଜଃବା <u>Viewing effective permissions</u> ଡେଅ

9.10.2.3 Viewing effective permissions

An effective permission is the one which is:

- granted directly to the principal, and not denied, or
- implied by a higher-level permission held by the principal and not denied, or
- granted to or held by, a <u>role</u> and or group of which the principal is a member, and not denied.

The **Grants Tree** tab of the **Effective Permissions** dialog displays the entire list of permissions granted to the user and its role on a definite object in the form of a tree. For your convenience the **Refresh**, **Expand/Collapse** buttons are available at the bottom of the dialog window.

Effective Permissions on 'Person.Address' for '	public'	×
Grants Tree		
Permission	Column	Status
		8
🦾 ổ public		8
DELETE		8
🦾 💰 public		0
		•
🦾 🕵 public		•
		۵
🦾 🕵 public		۵
SELECT		•
🦾 🕵 public		•
	AddressLine1	•
🦾 🕵 public	AddressLine1	•
Refresh Expand Collapse		Close

The **Current Effective Permissions** tab of the **Effective Permissions** dialog displays a list of the permissions effectively granted to the specified principal on a definite object.



<u>Using Navigation bar, Toolbar and context menu</u> ଜେମ୍ମ <u>Setting object permissions</u> ଜେଖି <u>Managing column permissions</u> ଜେଖି <u>Filtering objects in list</u> ଜେଖି <u>Setting database permissions</u> ଜେଖି

9.10.3 Server Roles

The **Server Roles manager** allows you to browse the list of SQL Server **roles**, and to define login membership states for each of the roles.

To launch the tool, select the **Tools | Server Roles** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Server Roles** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].



The upper list displays the server roles as a grid with the following columns: Server Role Name, Members Count.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of server roles to any of supported output file <u>formats</u> [935].

Server roles management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Server Roles manager**.

The lower area allows you to define login membership, i.e. to select the <u>logins</u> and that will belong to the selected server role. The server roles determine the tasks that can be performed through the selected <u>login</u> [687].

To select a login, you need to move it from the **Available Logins** list to the **Server Role Members** list. Use the **Server Role** buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the logins from one list to another.

See also: Logins 681

9.11 Database Designer

695

Database Designer is provided for visual presentation of databases, database objects and relations between objects. It also allows you to create, edit and drop tables and table columns, set relations between tables and perform other operations you may need to achieve your purpose.

To open the designer, select the **Tools | ■ Database Designer** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or use the **■ Database Designer** button on the main <u>toolbar</u> [917].



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbars 6961
- Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane 700
- Using context menus 701
- Adding/removing objects to/from diagram
- Incremental search 704
- Creating new objects 704
- Creating relations 705
- Working with diagram pages 706
- Reverse engineering 707
- Printing diagram
- Saving/loading diagram 711
- Setting diagram options 712

<u>Availability</u>: **Full** version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also:

Database Objects Management 178 Database Designer options 847

9.11.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbars

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbars** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Visual Database Designer**.

Database	*
AdventureWorks on dooM_SERVE	•
General	*
b Diagram options	
Restore default size	
Navigator	*
	Ŧ
4 III >	
Database Objects	\$
ADDRESS (HR)	
ADDRESS (HumanResources)	=
Address (Person)	
ADDRESSTYPE (HR)	
ADDRESSTYPE (HumanResources	
Address lype (Person)	
AWBuildVersion (dbo)	
BillOfMatenals (Production)	
E Contact (Person)	Ŧ

The Navigation bar of Visual Database Designer allows you to:

Database

📙 select a database for building the diagram

General

- edit <u>diagram options</u>
- 🛃 restore the default size and position of the window छिडी
- refresh objects in the diagram

Navigator

use <u>Diagram Navigator</u>700

Database Objects

🔑 <u>search</u>ग्रिये for objects in the diagram using the <u>Database Objects</u>ग्रिये pane

🕈 add 703 objects to the diagram using the Database Objects 700 pane

The **Toolbars** of **Visual Database Designer** provide quick access to most tools for working with diagrams.

To enable the <u>toolbars</u> [17], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (Toolbar) (if you need the toolbars only) or (Toolbar) (if you need both the toolbars and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

The **main toolbar** (by default, the toolbar is located at the top of the diagram area) contains a number of tools (including items of the **Navigation bar**, <u>context menu</u> for), tools for <u>printing diagram</u> rol, etc.) allowing you to:

- select the database for building the diagram;
- create a new diagram;
- <u>open</u>711 an existing diagram;
- <u>save</u> [711] the current diagram to a *.*msd* file;
- <u>save</u> 711 the current diagram as an image;
- activate the <u>Incremental search</u>704 panel;
- adjust diagram zoom for optimal representation: zoom in, zoom out, fit model;
- switch cursor mode: select / select rectangle to fit;
- open the <u>Print Setup</u> rog dialog;
- print ros the diagram;
- show Print Preview 708;
- arrange objects in the diagram;
- extract metadata of all objects in the diagram and load the script to Execute Script [61];
- perform <u>Reverse Engineering</u> 707);
- refresh objects in the diagram;
- view/edit <u>diagram options</u> 712];
- specify a predefined zoom value;
- restore the default size and position of the window.

🔋 🖯 Databases 🔹 🖄 🚳 🥰 📄 🌔 🤌 🎧 🗉 🏣 💷 🎤 🔎 🔎 🖉 👹 🦢 Ӣ 🗧 🕵 🜬 😥 🦺 100% 🕞 💂

The **Pages** toolbar (by default, the toolbar is located at the top of the diagram area) contains tools for working with <u>diagram pages</u> allowing you to:

- add a new page;
- delete the current page;
- delete all pages.



The **Alignment Palette** (by default, the toolbar is located on the left side of the diagram area) allows you to:

align left/right edges of selected objects;

- align tops/bottoms of selected objects;
- align horizontal/vertical centers of selected objects;
- space selected objects equally horizontal/vertical.



The **New object** toolbar (by default, the toolbar is located on the left side of the diagram area) allows you to:

- set the cursor mode to Select;
- create a <u>new object</u> 704 (table, view, function, procedure or comment);
- create a new <u>relation</u> 7051.



See also:

<u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> <u>Wing context menus</u> <u>Adding/removing objects to/from diagram</u> <u>Adding/removing objects to/from diagram</u> <u>Adding/removing objects</u> <u>Incremental search</u> <u>Creating new objects</u> <u>Creating new objects</u> <u>Creating relations</u> <u>Creating relations</u> <u>Creating relations</u> <u>Norking with diagram pages</u> <u>Reverse engineering</u> <u>Printing diagram</u> <u>Printing diagram</u> <u>Frinting diagram</u> <u>Frinting</u>

Setting diagram options 712

9.11.2 Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane

To navigate within the large diagram, use the **Navigator** tool available on the <u>Navigation</u> <u>bar</u>[696]. It allows you to see the whole diagram in a reduced scale and to perform a number of operations over the diagram objects.



A mouse click in the **Navigator** area sets the center of the visible diagram area. The area currently visible in the main diagram area is outlined in a red bounding rectangle.

Using the **Navigator** you can work with the diagram objects in the same way as in the main diagram area: $add \sqrt{703}/remove$ and rocorrectored rocorrector

The **Database Objects** pane available on the <u>Navigation bar</u> allows you to browse the list of available <u>database objects</u> [178] that can be added to the diagram.

Database Objects	*
ADDRESS (HR)	
ADDRESS (HumanReso	ources) E
Address (Person)	
ADDRESSTYPE (I	
ADDRESSTYPE (Find Object in Diagram
AddressType (Per 🕂	Add New Objects
AWBuildVersion (d	As Tree
BillOfMaterials (Pro	As free
Contact (Person)	Sort by Schema, Name
ContactCreditCard	Sort by Name, Schema
ContactType (Pers	
E CountryRegion (Pe	Refresh

Select and drag an object to the diagram area or double-click it to $\frac{add}{ro3}$ the object to the diagram.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to:

 \swarrow find the selected object in the diagram (if the object is found, it will be highlighted in the diagram area);

+ add new objects to the diagram by <u>Reverse engineering</u> [707];

toggle objects representation mode: as a tree / as a list;

 \checkmark select the sorting mode applied to the objects in the list: by schema, name / by name, schema;

refresh the list.

See also:

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u>ନ୍ତିଶ <u>Adding/removing objects to/from diagram</u>703 <u>Creating new objects</u>704 <u>Creating relations</u>703 Working with diagram pages708

9.11.3 Using context menus

The **context menu** of the diagram area contains a number of items available in the <u>Navigation bar</u>िक्ते and <u>toolbars</u>कि and allows you to:

- select all objects in the diagram area;
- select headers of all objects;
- select all columns of all objects;
- adjust diagram zoom for optimal representation: zoom in, zoom out, select rectangle to fit, fit model, specify a predefined zoom value;
- set the cursor mode to Select or create a new table 704, view 246, procedure 253, function 253 relation 705, or comment 704;
- configure the grid [712]: draw grid, snap to grid;
- adjust the diagram <u>style</u> 712: draw primary key columns separately, draw entities icons, draw attributes icons, draw only names of entities, draw foreign key names;
- perform <u>Reverse Engineering</u> 707;
- extract metadata of the diagram objects to Execute Script 619;
- view/edit <u>diagram options</u> 712.



The **context menu** of an entity contains items for working with the object and allows you to:

- <u>edit</u> 178 the object using its editor;
- create 704 a new object using its editor;
- <u>drop</u> 178 the object from the database;
- show/hide object subitems;
- <u>remove</u> 703 the object from the diagram.



The **context menu** of a column contains items for working with the object and its columns and allows you to:

- <u>edit</u>213 the selected column using its editor (<u>Column Editor</u>214);
- <u>create</u>213 a new column;
- drop 213 the selected column;
- <u>edit</u> 178 the object using its editor;
- create 704 a new object using its editor;
- $\frac{\text{drop}}{178}$ the object from the database;
- show/hide object subitems;
- <u>remove</u> 703 the object from the diagram.



See also: Using Navigation bar and Toolbars Adding/removing objects to/from diagram Incremental search Creating new objects Creating relations Tool

9.11.4 Working with diagram objects

9.11.4.1 Adding/removing objects to/from diagram

- To *add* an object to the diagram:
- drag it from the <u>Database Explorer</u> [63] tree to the diagram area (the whole schema can be dragged)

or

• drag it from the <u>Database Objects</u> roll pane (available on the <u>Navigation bar</u> [696]) to the diagram area or simply double-click this object in the list.

To add objects by <u>Reverse engineering</u>, you can right-click within the **Database Objects** list and select the **# Add new objects...** context menu item.

To remove an object from the diagram, select it in the diagram area, then right-click its title and choose the **Remove <object_name>** item from the <u>context menu</u> [702], or just press the **Del** key.



<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u> ଡେଣି <u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> ୮୦୦ <u>Using context menus</u> ୮୦୦ <u>Creating new objects</u> ୮୦୦ <u>Creating relations</u> ୮୦୦ <u>Reverse engineering</u> ୮୦୦ <u>Database Objects Management</u> 178

9.11.4.2 Incremental search

To **search** for an object within the diagram:

- right-click the required object in the <u>Database Objects</u> and select the *P* Find **Object in Diagram** item from the context menu
- or
 - click the 🗐 **Incremental Search** button on the main <u>toolbar</u> [698] or use the *Ctrl+F* <u>shortcut</u> [952] to activate the <u>Incremental Search</u> [917] panel in the status bar area of the designer window.

Incremental Search:	Emp
---------------------	-----

Type a string in the edit-box, and the object having the name with the closest match will be highlighted in the diagram area.

See also:

Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects paneroo

9.11.4.3 Creating objects

To <u>create</u> 178 a new object using Visual Database Designer:

- press on of the Create buttons: Create table, Create view, Create function, Create procedure on the <u>New object toolbar</u> [699];
- click the desired point on the diagram to place the new object at;
- specify object properties using its editor.



Hint: To create a new object, you can also select the corresponding item from the <u>context menu</u> roll. The context menus also allow you to <u>edit 178</u> and <u>drop 178</u> database objects.

See also:

<u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> Adding/removing objects to/from diagram Incremental search Creating relations তিঃ

9.11.4.4 Creating relations

To establish a new relation (which is the foreign key 22^{1} in terms of database management):

- press the **Create relation** button on the <u>New object toolbar</u> [699];
- click the entity where the referential constraint should be created;
- click the referred entity;
- specify new foreign key properties using Foreign key Editor 2221.



Hint: To create a relation, you can also use the corresponding item of the <u>context menu</u> [70f].

Once the relation is created, it is displayed as a line between two entities in the diagram area. The style the line is drawn is determined by the diagram notation. The **context menu** of this line allows you to $edit_{22}$ the foreign key using Foreign key Editor_22 or drop_22 the foreign key from the database.

· · · · · ·				: :	• •	• • •	• •	• •	• •	• •	• •	• •	
								• •	•••	• •	• •	• •	
· · · · · ·		· · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · ·	· · ·	· ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · ·	
Edit Foreign Key "FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_DepartmentID" Drop Foreign Key "FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_DepartmentID" EmployeeDepartmentHistory (HumanPesources)													
			· · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			· · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
			· · ·	· · · ·	· ·		•••	· ·	· ·	· ·	· · ·		
-	K_Emplo	K_EmployeeDep FK_EmployeeDe iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartm FK_EmployeeDepartm Resources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHi FK_EmployeeDepartmentH iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistor	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_De FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_D	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_De	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Departmen FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Departme iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_D FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_ iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_Depa FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_Dep iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_Department FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_Department iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_DepartmentID FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_DepartmentI iResources)	K_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_DepartmentID" FK_EmployeeDepartmentHistory_Department_DepartmentID" iResources)

<u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> <u>Adding/removing objects to/from diagram</u> <u>Incremental search</u> <u>Creating new objects</u> <u>National</u>

9.11.5 Working with diagram pages

You can create several **pages** in one diagram to split the model into several subject groups, e.g. for better comprehension.

To manage diagram pages, right-click on the tabs at the bottom of the diagram area and select the required popup menu items for *adding*, *deleting* and *renaming* pages.



Hint: Page management items are also available on the <u>Pages toolbar</u> [698] of Visual Database Designer.

See also:

<u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> 7001 Adding/removing objects to/from diagram 7031

9.11.6 Reverse engineering

The **reverse engineering** operation builds relationship diagram on the basis of the current database's structure. The objects are arranged automatically within the diagram model.

To start the reverse engineering process, press the **Reverse Engineer** button on the main toolbar [998], or use the corresponding item of the context menu [701].



The **Preparing Reverse Engineering** dialog allows you to select <u>schemas</u> containing objects to reverse engineer.

Preparing Reverse Engineeri	ng	-
Select schemas to reverse en	ngineer from	
🖽 dbo 🖽 HR 🖽 HumanResources		
Person Production		
田 Purchasing 田 Sales 田 schema1	Select All Deselect All	
	ОК	Cancel

For your convenience the *Select All* and *Deselect All* items are available in the context menu of the schemas list.

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u> छिले <u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> गिणे <u>Adding/removing objects to/from diagram</u> गिजे

9.11.7 Printing diagram

Visual Database Designer allows you to print and preview the diagram.

To preview the diagram:

- press the **Print Preview** button on the toolbar [698];
- preview the diagram using the Print Preview 708 window.

To setup print options:

- press the Jerint Setup button on the toolbar [698], or use the corresponding link on the Navigation bar [696];
- set printing options using the Print Setup 709 dialog and press OK.

To print the diagram:

- press the 📚 **Print** button on the <u>toolbar</u>698;
- set printing options using the Print Setup rol dialog and press the **Print** button.

9.11.7.1 Print Preview

The **Print Preview** dialog allows you to see the diagram layout in WYCIWYG mode before it will be printed.

Use the navigation buttons or the spinner control to navigate within the preview pages. Click the **Print options...** button to call the <u>Print Setup</u> dialog. If necessary, specify the **preview zoom** according to your preferences. Click the **Print all** button to start printing.



Print Setup dialog 709

9.11.7.2 Print Setup dialog

The **Print Setup** dialog of **Visual Database Designer** provides two tabs for setting printing options: **Printer** and **Page options**.

The **Printer** tab of the **Print Setup** dialog allows you to:

- specify the printer (use the Choose printer button to select a printer which is not set by default on your system; the name, driver, port fields display the selected printer details);
- specify print layout: print using a defined *scale factor* or arrange diagram at a defined number of pages horizontally and vertically;
- set other print options.

Print setup
Printer Page options
Printer
Name: \\automation1c\Canon MF3200 Series Choose printer
Driver:
Port:
Print layout
O Use scale factor 100
Arrange diagram at 1 pages horizontally and 1 pages vertically
Print options
Skip empty pages Print page borders
Print only selected objects
All pages
Pages from 0 to 0 T
OK Cancel

The **Page options** tab of the **Print Setup** dialog allows you to:

- specify page margins (in millimeters): Top margin, Bottom margin, Left margin, Right margin;
- specify **Page header** and **Page footer**: enter the header/footer running titles *text*, set left/center/right *align*.

Print setup		×					
Printer Page options							
Left margin (Page header	Top margin (mm 10 - 1 mm) 10 - 1 10 - 1 Bottom margin (mr) 10 💌 Right margin (mm) m)					
🔘 Left align	Center align	Right align					
Page footer Page #PAGE of #PCOUNT							
🔘 Left align	Center align	Right align					
		OK Cancel					

Hint: It is also possible to set macros in the Page header and Page footer fields:
#PCOUNT stands for the quantity of pages;
#PAGE - the number of the current page;
#DATE denotes the current date;
#TIME denotes the current time.

See also:

Print Preview 708

9.11.8 Saving/loading diagram

Use the **Save Diagram** and the **Open Diagram** buttons on the main toolbar [99] to save the diagram as a *.msd file for future use or to load the previously saved diagram.

🔒 Databases 🕶 🗋 🤔	📮 • 📰 🥕 🔎		
	Save as		

If necessary, you can save the diagram as an image: click the \overline{a} Save as Picture button on the main toolbar [698].

<u>Using Navigation bar and Toolbars</u> ि% <u>Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane</u> 700ो <u>Using context menus</u> 701ो <u>Adding/removing objects to/from diagram</u> 703ी

9.11.9 Setting diagram options

Using the **Diagram Options** dialog you can setup the behavior and look of each diagram page.

To open this dialog, use the 🌵 **Page options** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u>छिछ or on the <u>main</u> toolbar छिछी, or select the corresponding item from the <u>context menu</u> गिगे.

See detailed description of each option on the <u>Database Designer</u> [847] page of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog.

igram Options for P	age 'New page'		-			
Visual settings Model notation	IDEF1x (Integration DEF	inition for information modeling)	•			
Draw PRIMARY K	KEY fields separately Draw FOREIGN KEY name					
Draw entities icon	s	V Draw attribute information	ı			
🔽 Draw attributes ic	ons	Draw page borders				
Draw only names of entities						
Grid options						
V Show grid	Grid siz	e X 10 🚔 Y	10 🚔			
Snap to grid						
Element: Workspace	Font name	1 Verdana	style			
Table	Font size		old			
View	Font color	Black 🔻 …				
Function						
Function Procedure	Brush color	White V	alic			
Function Procedure Relation Field Primary key	Brush color	White ▼… Ital Black ▼… U	alic nderline			
Function Procedure Relation Field Primary key	Pen color • Pen color t objects on the page		alic nderline pply to All			

Apply changes to all existent objects on the page

If this option is selected, the current settings will be applied to all objects of the page.

Using Diagram Navigator and DB Objects pane



10 Services

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides a number of powerful tools for working with your database server.

Server-level principals 680

Tools for managing server-level security principals

Server Log Viewer 817

A convenient tool to browse the server logs

Activity Monitor 820

A convenient tool to get information about connections and the locks that they hold

Resource Governor 813

A tool for managing SQL Server workload and resources

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides graphical user interface for most SQL Server objects and native services.

The following *tools* for SQL Server objects and services management are available in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

Backup Devices 743

Provides tools for working with backup devices: <u>Backup devices manager</u> [743], <u>Backup Device properties</u> [743].

Database Snapshots 804

Provides tools for working with database snapshots: <u>Snapshots manager</u> (804), <u>Snapshot</u> properties (805).

Linked Servers 807

Provides tools for working with linked servers: <u>Linked servers manager</u>ब्लि, <u>Linked Server</u> <u>Editor</u>विष्ठी.

DTS Packages 810

Provides tools for working with DTS packages: <u>DTS Packages manager</u> हिगी, <u>DTS Package</u> properties 421.

Jobs 782

Provides tools for working with jobs: <u>Jobs manager</u> 784, <u>Job Editor</u> 368.

Job History 785

Provides a convenient tool to browse the list of recent jobs: <u>Job History</u> 786.

Alerts 788

Provides tools for working with alerts: <u>Alerts manager</u> 7901, <u>Alert Editor</u> 13801.

Operators 791

Provides tools for working with operators: Operators manager [793], Operator Editor [386].

Shared Schedules 794

716 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Provides tools for working with schedules: <u>Shared schedules manager</u>त्रिक, <u>Schedule</u> <u>Editor</u> व्रिग्हो.

Proxies 797

Provides tools for working with proxies: Proxies manager 8001, Proxy Editor 3911.

Credentials 395

Provides a powerful tool for working with credentials: Credential Editor 3951.

Endpoints 402

Provides a powerful tool for working with endpoints: Endpoint Editor 4021.

DDL Triggers 412

Provides a powerful tool for working with DDL triggers: DDL Trigger Editor 412.

Target Servers 801

Provides a convenient tool for target servers management: <u>Target Servers manager</u> 802

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides graphical interface for a number of database maintenance operations. The following *specific database tools* are available in SQL Manager:

Attach Database Wizard Allows you to attach an existing database to the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server[™].

Detach Database Wizard Allows you to detach a database from the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server[™].

Backup Database Wizard 718

Creates backup copies of entire databases, transaction logs and files/filegroups.

Restore Database Wizard 732

Restores entire databases, transaction logs and files/filegroups from previously created backups.

Shrink Database Wizard 755 Reduces data and transaction log files.

Indices Management Wizard 760 Allows you to reorganize, rebuild, and disable indexes.

Statistics Update Wizard

Updates database statistics.

<u>Check Database Wizard</u> [773] Checks the allocation, structural, and logical integrity of all database objects.

<u>Grant Manager</u>682 Allows you to grant/revoke privileges on database objects.

Using templates 934

Facilitates using SQL Manager wizards.

See also: <u>Getting Started</u> [41] <u>Database Explorer</u> 63] <u>Database Management</u> [94] <u>Database Objects Management</u> [178] <u>Query Management Tools</u> [424] <u>Data Management</u> [462] <u>Import/Export Tools</u> [530] <u>Database Tools</u> [611] <u>Personalization</u> [824] <u>External Tools</u> [909] <u>How To...</u> [957]

10.1 Backup Database

Backup Database Wizard allows you to perform the database backup operation on your SQL Server system (the *BACKUP DATABASE* Transact-SQL statement is issued).

This operation is used to create a backup copy of an entire database, transaction log or files/filegroups.

To run the wizard, select the **Services | ackup Database...** <u>main menu</u> अभि item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> (छि tree and select the **Tasks | Backup Database...** item of the <u>context menu</u> [54].



- <u>Selecting database to backup</u> 718
- <u>Setting backup type and options</u> 719
- <u>Selecting database files to backup</u> 721
- <u>Selecting backup devices</u> 721
- <u>Setting schedule options</u>
 729
- <u>Setting media options</u>
- <u>Setting advanced backup options</u>
- Setting data transfer and/or transaction log backup options 727
- Running database backup 730

See also: <u>Restore Database</u> 732 <u>Using templates</u> 934

10.1.1 Selecting database to backup

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** containing the database for backup.

ᇶ Backup Database Wizard -	[AdventureWorks on	aschel\sql2014]			
Backup Database					
Select connection and database to backup					
SQL Manager	Welcome to the Back This wizard allows yo The wizard will back	cup Database Wizard! ou to backup a database to backup devices. up a database using MSSQL routines.			
SQL Server	Host Database	aschel\sql2014 AdventureWorks on aschel\sql2014 [AdventureWorks]			
	Danouso				
Help Templates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel			

Host

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance where the database resides.

Database

Use the drop-down list of all registered databases on the selected host to specify the database to backup.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting backup type and options</u> right step of the wizard.

10.1.2 Setting backup type and options

This step of the wizard allows you to set up basic **options** pertaining to the database backup operation.

Database recovery model

This label displays the recovery model defined for the database.

Backup name

Enter a name for the current backup.

Backup description

👼 Backup Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on aschel\sql2014]					
Backup Database					
Select backup type and s	Select backup type and set backup options				
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Database recovery model Backup name Backup description Backup type Database - full Database - differential Transaction log Restart interrupted backup (for Copy only	Full AdventureWorks backup or backups to multiple tape volumes)			
Help <u>T</u> emplates	·	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel		

Enter any optional text to describe the backup operation.

Backup type

Use this parameter to define the backup type:

Database - full (a full database backup which backs up the entire database including the transaction log)

Database - differential (a differential backup which records only the changes made to the data in the database after the last full database backup)

Transaction log (a sequence of log backups provided for a continuous chain of transaction information to support recovery forward from database, differential, or file backups)

Restart interrupted backup

Specifies that SQL Server restarts an interrupted backup operation. This option may save time because it restarts the backup operation from the point it was last interrupted. **Note:** This option can only be used for backups directed to tape media and for backups that span multiple tape volumes. A restart operation never occurs on the first volume of the backup.

Copy only

This option specifies that the backup does not affect the normal sequence of backups. A copy-only backup does not affect the overall backup and restore procedures for the database. You can create a copy-only backup for any type of backup.
Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting database files to backup</u> has been of the wizard.

10.1.3 Selecting database files to backup

This step allows you to **select files** of the database to backup.

To add a file to the backup, select it in the list and set the respective flag in the **Backup** column.

To add all files to the backup, check the **Backup all files** option.

🝘 Backup Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on aschel\sql2014]					
Backup Database	Backup Database				
Select database files to b	ackup				
	V Backup all files				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	File/Group Name MOFG1 MOFG12 PRIMARY AdventureWorks_Data fg1 fs1	Backup			
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel			

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting backup devices</u> step of the wizard.

10.1.4 Selecting backup devices

Use this step of the wizard to specify the **devices** to backup the database to. Note that all the selected backup devices must be of the same type.

To add a device, click the **Add Item** button and select a media type from the menu. Alternatively, you can use the context menu of the **Backup Device** list area for the same purpose. Select the required backup device using the corresponding dialog.

To remove a device from the list, select it and click the **Delete Item** button.

To browse the selected device, click the **Device Content** button.

Using the **Add Item** menu and items of the context menu you can also *create a new device* and specify its properties using the <u>New Logical Backup Device</u> and a file, *a tape* or *set mirroring* of backup media.

For backups performed on the SQL Server 2014 adding *Windows Azure URL* is possible as well.



The URL format is used for creating backups to the Windows Azure Blob storage service.

Backup Database Wizard - Backup Database Select backup devices (N	[AdventureWorks on aschel\sql20 lote that all selected devices must be)14] : of the same type - disk,	tape or pipe)	
	Backup Device Name	Is Mirror	Add Item -	
	Add Device	e	Delete Item	
SQL Manager	Add File Add Tape			
SQL Server	Add Windows Add Mirror	Azure URL		
	Delete Item Device Conte	ent		
Append to media Overwrite media				
Help Templates	•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u>	lext > Cancel	

723 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

Disk backup devices are files on hard disks or other disk storage media are the same as regular operating system files. Referring to a disk backup device is the same as referring to any other operating system file. You can define disk backup devices on a local disk of a server, or on a remote disk on a shared network resource, and they can be as large or as small as needed. The maximum file size is the free disk space available on the disk.

Tape backup devices are used in the same way as disk devices, but the tape device must be connected physically to the computer running an instance of SQL Server, and if a tape backup device is filled during the backup operation, but more data still needs to be written, SQL Server prompts for a new tape and continues the backup operation. To back up SQL Server data to tape, use a tape backup device or tape drive supported by the Microsoft Windows platform. Additionally, use only the tapes recommended by the drive manufacturer for the specific tape drive.

Write mode

Append to media / Overwrite media

Select whether the media should be appended or overwritten during the backup operation.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting schedule options</u> step of the wizard.

10.1.5 Setting media options

This step is only available if the **Append to media** option was selected on the <u>Setting</u> <u>backup type and options</u> step of the wizard.

At this step you can specify whether the application should check the name and password combination for the media. To enable this feature, check the corresponding option and enter a **name** and a **password** for the media.

🐖 Backup Database Wizard -	🖗 Backup Database Wizard - [new_db on merlin\sql2008]			
Backup Database				
Set media options				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Check that media has the Media name Media password	following name and password newdb		
<u>H</u> elp <u>I</u> emplates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel	

The following step is only available if the O **Overwrite media** option is selected on the <u>Setting backup type and options</u> [719] step of the wizard.

At this step you can set a number of options pertaining to the media being overwritten.

😹 Backup Database Wizard - [new_db on merlin\sql2008]				
Backup Database				
Set media options				
SOI	 Format media Don't backup to existing it contains unexpired to a contains unexpired to a contain and passwore Media info parameters Media name 	media, if: backup sets d don't match the following values		
Manager for SQL Server	Media password Re-enter password			
	Media description Backup set expiration date	03.05.2015		
Help Templates	•	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel		

V Format media

Specifies that the media header should be written on all volumes used for this backup operation. Any existing media header is overwritten. This option invalidates the entire media contents, ignoring any existing content.

NB: Use this option carefully. Formatting one backup device or medium renders the entire media set unusable. For example, if a single tape belonging to an existing striped media set is initialized, the entire media set is rendered useless.

Don't backup to existing media if...

If the option is selected, the media will be first examined for any existing unexpired backup sets and for the correctness of the password. If the password is incorrect or the media contains any unexpired backup sets, the current media will not be used for backup.

Media name

Enter the name of the media.

Media password

Enter the password for the media.

Re-enter password

Repeat the password to avoid misprints.

Media description

Supply any optional text to describe the media.

Backup set expiration date

Define expiration date for the current backup set.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting advanced backup options</u> [726] step of the wizard.

10.1.6 Setting advanced media options

This step offers **advanced options** that may be useful for the database backup operation.

🖗 Backup Database Wizard -	🖗 Backup Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on avu\sql2008]				
Backup Database					
Set backup options					
Image: Constraint of the second sec	Block size Default To restore from CD (2048) Other Other Image: Continue on error Backup compression Image: Continue on error Image: Continue on error Image: Continue on error Image: Continue on error Image: Continue on error	Tape after backup Keep open Rewind Rewind and unload media			
Help Templates		Back Next > Cancel			

Block size

Define the size of a data block. Possible values are: *Default*, *To restore from CD* (2048), *Other* (i.e. you can specify an arbitrary value).

Tape after backup

Specify whether the tape should be *rewound*, *rewound* and *unloaded*, or *kept open* when the backup operation is completed.

If necessary, you can set a password for the backup: enter the password twice in the respective edit fields.

Verify backup when finished

Check this option to enable backup verification.

Perform checksum before writing to media

This option enables/disables checksum verification before writing to the backup media.

Continue on error

This option determines whether the backup operation will be stopped or forced to continue if an error occurs.

Backup compression

Defines the values that are used to specify the backup compression option.

For backups performed on SQL Server 2014 and higher the following options are available as well.

Credential for Windows Azure	CR1	•			
Encryption	AES-128	•			
Encryptor	MasterC	•			
Encryption is allowed if Format option is set. Encryptor is a protected by master key certificate or an EKM asymmetric key from master database.					

Credential for Windows Azure

This field is available only when creating a backup to the Windows Azure Blob storage service. Use the drop-down list to select the <u>credential</u> of accessing the Windows Azure storage.

Encryption

Use this drop-down list to specify encryption for a backup. You can specify an encryption algorithm to encrypt the backup with or specify <No encryption> to not have the backup encrypted.

Note: Encryption option is allowed only if the \mathbb{V} **Format media** option has been set on the previous step 723.

Encryptor

If you choose to encrypt you also have to specify the encryptor. Encryptors can be a master key <u>certificate</u> or an EKM <u>asymmetric key</u> [325] from a master database.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting data transfer and/or</u> transaction log backup options 727 step of the wizard.

10.1.7 Setting data transfer and/or transaction log backup options

This step offers some **additional options** that may be useful for setting up database backup operation: data transfer options and/or transaction log backup options.

Data transfer options

(only displayed for SQL Server 2008 and higher)

🐖 Backup Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on avu\sql2008]				
Backup Database				
Set advanced options				
ControlSQLManagerforSQLSQL	 Data transfer options Buffer count Max transfer size, KByte Note: if specified value is 0 then Transaction log backup options Truncate inactive log items No truncate inactive log items No recovery (leaves database in Undo file name 	1024 128 the default value will be used s se in restoring state) read-only and standby mode)		
Help Templates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel	

Buffer count

Specifies the total number of I/O buffers to be used for the backup operation.

Max transfer size

Specifies the largest unit of transfer in bytes to be used between SQL Server and the backup media.

Note: If 0 is specified (by default), the default values will be used.

Transaction log backup options

(only displayed if the <a>Transaction log is selected at the <u>Setting backup type and</u> options options [719] step).

Truncate inactive log items

The log is truncated after all the records within one or more virtual log files become inactive.

No truncate inactive log items

Specifies that the log not be truncated and causes the Database Engine to attempt the backup regardless of the state of the database. This option allows backing up the log in situations where the database is damaged.

No recovery (leaves database in restoring state)

Backs up the tail of the log and leaves the database in the RESTORING state. This is useful when failing over to a secondary database or when saving the tail of the log before a restore operation.

Standby (leaves database in read-only and standby mode)

Backs up the tail of the log and leaves the database in a read-only and STANDBY state. Using standby mode requires a standby file, specified by **Undo file name**.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>last step</u> [730] of the wizard.

10.1.8 Setting schedule options

Using this step you can create a **scheduled** backup by selecting the **Oreate schedule** option and defining the scheduling parameters.

Schedule name

Enter a name of the new backup schedule.

Enabled

Check this option to enable the scheduled backup immediately after its creation.

Backup Database Wizard -	[AdventureWorks on as	schel\sql2014]
Backup Database		
Set schedule options		
	Backup now	 Create schedule
200	Schedule name	Weekly_sun Veekly_sun
	 Execution Type Start when SQL Sector 	erver Agent starts
SOL	Start when CPU us	sage is low
Manager	Start once on	▼ 00:00:00
for SQL Server	Recurrent execution	on
	Recurring Interval	Daily Frequency Duration
	Occurs	
	Daily	Every Tweek(s) on
	Weekty	Mon Tue Wed Thur
	Monthly	Fri Sat 🔽 Sun
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Execution Type

This panel allows you to define the execution behavior of the schedule:

Start when SQL Server Agent starts

The scheduled backup operation will be started each time upon the SQL Server Agent startup.

Start when CPU usage is low

The scheduled backup operation will be started each time when the CPU usage is low.

Start once on...

The scheduled backup operation will be started only once on the defined date at the specified time.

Recurrent Execution

The scheduled backup operation will be started recurrently.

The following tabs allow you to setup the schedule routine:

Recurring Interval

This tab allows you to set the schedule recurrence periodicity in days: you can run your schedule *daily*, *weekly*, *monthly*, every several days, or on a certain day(s) of the week.

Daily Frequency

This tab allows you to set the schedule recurrence periodicity in hours: you can run your schedule once at a specified time, or run it every few hours or minutes after the specified interval.

Duration

This tab allows you to set the schedule lifetime: you can set the schedule start date and the expiration date in the respective edit fields.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting media options</u> [723] step of the wizard.

10.1.9 Running database backup

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the backup database process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Backup Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on aschel\sql2014]				
Backup Database				
Click "Run" to backup a (database			
	Process completed successfully!			
	100 %			
SQL	WITH COMPRESSION, FORMAT,			
Manager for SQL Server	INIT, NAME = N'AdventureWorks backup', NOUNLOAD, SKIP, ENCRYPTION (ALGORITHM = AES 192, SERVER CERTIFICATE = MasterC)			
	Backing up database 'AdventureWorks' Processed 17136 pages for database 'AdventureWorks', file 'AdventureWorks Done End of operation			
	======================================			
	▼ ∢ Ⅲ			
Show SQL Close the Wizard after successful completion				
Help Templates V Close Close				

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the process is completed.

Show SQL

This option enables/disables SQL statements displayed within the **Operations** tab.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the backup database operation.

10.2 Restore Database

732

Restore Database Wizard allows you to perform the database restore operation on your SQL Server system (the *RESTORE DATABASE* Transact-SQL statement is issued).

This operation is used to rebuild a damaged or corrupted database that has been backed up using <u>Backup Database Wizard</u> 718. You can restore an entire database, part of a database, specific files and filegroups, transaction logs.

To run the wizard, select the **Services** | **Provide Restore Database...** <u>main menu and item</u>, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Tasks** | **Provide Restore Database...** item of the <u>context menu</u>. Alternatively, you can right-click the **Databases** node and select the **Tasks** | **Provide Restore Database...** context menu item.



- <u>Selecting destination database</u> 732
- Setting restore type and recovery options 734
- <u>Selecting backup set to restore</u> 736
- <u>Selecting files to restore</u> 739
- Setting advanced restore options 740
- <u>Running database restore</u>

See also:

<u>Backup Database</u>718 <u>Using templates</u>934

10.2.1 Selecting destination database

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** to restore database, and to provide **authentication** parameters.

📴 Restore Database Wizard					-	_		×
Restore Database								
Set connection properties	s and select destination	on databas	se					
	Welcome to the Re	store Data	base Wiz	ard!				
-	The wizard will res	store a dat	abase us	ing MSSQL ro	utines.			
E E	Server <u>n</u> ame	dooM_S	ERVER\T	SERV2005				~
SQL	Authentication O <u>W</u> indows auth	entication		() <u>s</u> al :	Server auth	ientica	tion	
for	User name	screens	;					
SQL Server	Pa <u>s</u> sword	•••••	••					
	Trust server ce	rtificate						
	Restore as							
	New database Detabase name	•		Existin	ng database	•		
	Register after	restoring						~
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•			< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	•	Can	cel

Server name

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance name to restore database to.

Authentication

Specify the type of Microsoft® SQL Server[™] authentication to be used for the connection: the built-in **[®] Windows authentication** or **[®] SQL Server authentication**.

If 'SQL Server' has been selected as the *authentication type*, you should also provide *authorization* settings: **User name** and **Password**.

Trust server certificate

If you use this option, the connection process skips the trust chain validation. In this case, the application connects even if the certificate can't be verified.

Restore as

Select <a>New database if you want to create a new database, or select <a>Existing database to restore to an existing database.

Database name

Enter a name for the new database or select the database to restore to from the drop-

down list of all available databases on the specified host.

Register after restoring

This option indicates that the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [16] dialog for the newly restored database will appear immediately after restoring the database (you need to register the database to start working with it in SQL Manager). If you intend to register the database later, uncheck this option.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting restore type and recovery options</u> radius step of the wizard.

10.2.2 Setting restore type and recovery options

Use this step of the wizard to define a **restore type** and set **recovery options**.

Restore type

This group of options allows you to specify the restore type to be used for the restore operation.

Database

Full restore or differential restore of entire database or individual files and filegroups. Files and filegroups can be restored either from a file or filegroup backup operation, or from a full database backup operation.

Transaction log

Specifies that a transaction log backup will be used to restore this database. SQL Server checks the backed up transaction log to ensure that the transactions are being loaded into the correct database and in the appropriate sequence.

Recovery without restore

Select this option to execute the database recovery only.

Recovery from database snapshot

Select this option to restore the database from a previously saved snapshot 804.

Restart interrupted restore

This option specifies that SQL Server should restart a restore operation that has been interrupted. The restore operation is restarted from the point it was interrupted.

🕼 Restore Database Wizard -	[new_db on tio\sql2014]
Restore Database	
Select restore type and re	covery options
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	Restore type Image: Database Transaction log Recovery without restoring data Restore from database snapshot From snapshot Restart interrupted restore (to restore from multiple tape volumes) Recovery options Recovery (rollbacks all uncommitted transactions)
	No recovery (leaves the database in the restoring state)
	Standby (leaves database in read-only and standby mode)
	Undo file name
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Recovery options

This group of options allows you to specify the recovery options to be applied to the restore operation.

Recovery

This option specifies that the restore operation rolls back any uncommitted transactions. After the recovery process the database is ready for use.

No recovery

This option specifies that the restore operation does not roll back any uncommitted transactions.

Note: When this option is selected, the database is not usable in this intermediate, non-recovered state.

When used with a file or filegroup restore operation, this option forces the database to remain in the restoring state after the restore operation. This is useful in either of the following situations:

- a restore script is being run and the log is always being applied;
- a sequence of file restores is used and the database is not intended to be usable between two of the restore operations.

Standby

This option allows the database to be brought up for read-only access between transaction log restores and can be used with either warm standby server situations or

special recovery situations in which it is useful to inspect the database between log restores.

Undo file name

Specify the undo file name, so that the recovery effects can be undone. The size required for the undo file depends on the volume of undo actions resulting from uncommitted transactions. The same undo file can be used for consecutive restores of the same database.

NB: If free disk space is exhausted on the drive containing the specified undo file name, the restore operation stops.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting backup set to restore</u> right step of the wizard.

10.2.3 Selecting backup set to restore

At this step of the wizard you need to **select a backup media** to restore the database from.

You can specify a backup set manually by adding devices to the device list.

To add a device, click the **Add Item** button and select a media type from the menu. Select the required backup device using the corresponding dialog.

To remove a device from the list, select it and click the **Delete Item** button.

摩 Restore Database Wizard -	🝘 Restore Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on tio\sql2014]				
Restore Database					
Select backup set to rest	ore (add all devices for multiple family	media set)			
SQL Manager for	Select Backup Set Backup Device Name	Add Item			
SQL Server	Backup number	1			
	Media name				
	Credential for Windows Azure				
Help Templates		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel			

Using the **Add Item** menu you can add a *logical device*, a *file*, or a *tape*.

For restoring performed on the SQL Server 2014 adding *Windows Azure URL* is possible as well.

Select URL
Enter Windows Azure URL
https://mystorageaccount.blob.core.windows.net/mye
OK Cancel

Specify the location and the file name for the Windows Azure Blob in the URL format.

Also you need to specify **Credential for Windows Azure** which is the <u>credential ast</u> to access the storage.

Backup number

Identifies the backup set to be restored. For example, 1 indicates the first backup set on the backup medium and 2 indicates the second backup set.

Media name

Specify the name for the media. If provided, the media name must match the <u>media name</u> [723] on the backup volume(s); otherwise, the restore operation terminates. If no media name is given, no check for matching media name on the backup volume(s) is performed. **NB:** Consistently using media names in backup and restore operations provides an extra safety check for the media selected for the restore operation.

Media password

Supply the password for the media set. If a <u>password</u> $\sqrt{723}$ was provided when the media set was formatted, that password must be supplied to access any backup set on that media set.

Backup password

Provide the password for the backup set. If a <u>password</u> was provided when the backup set was <u>created</u> to perform any restore operation from the backup set.

To select a whole backup set, click the **Select Backup Set...** button and select a set in the corresponding dialog.

ä	î	Select Backup Set							×
	Show backup sets from Logical device								
				AW	AW				
	(🕥 File					2		
	(Tape							
	(🔿 Windows Azure (JRL						
		Credential				•			
	(Backups of datab	ase				-	Show	
	•	Finished on	 Backup Type Transaction Loss 	Database Name	Size (KB)	Number 💌	Backup Name	T	Backup
	·	22.05.2014 10.07.3	8 Database	AdventureWorks	2004		AdventureWorks	backup	
		22.00.2014 11.41.0	Database	Avenueventa	1001000		Automation	odokup	
•			1					Þ	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel								

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting files to restore</u> step of the wizard.

10.2.4 Selecting files to restore

This step allows you to **select files** that will be used to restore the database.

By default the application restores all files. It is indicated by the \blacksquare Restore all files option selected. To select files manually, you should uncheck this option.

To add a file to the restore, select it in the list and set the respective flag in the **Restore** column.

To add all files to the restore, check the **Restore all files** option.

You can also edit file paths by clicking the corresponding rows of the **Physical File Name and Path** column.

Restore Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on tio\sql2014]								
Restore Database								
Select files to restore (you can add new file locations if need)								
	 Restore all files Partial database restor 	e						
	File/Group Logical Name	Restore	Physical File Name and Path					
SQL	AdventureWork	 ✓ ✓ 	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\M					
for SQL Server	AdventureWork		C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\M:					
<u>H</u> elp <u>Templates</u> < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel								

Partial database restore

This option specifies a partial restore operation. Application or user errors often affect an isolated portion of the database, such as a table. Examples of this type of error include an invalid update or a table dropped by mistake. To support recovery from these events, SQL Server provides a mechanism to restore part of the database to another location so that the damaged or missing data can be copied back to the original database.

The granularity of the partial restore operation is the database filegroup. The primary file and filegroup are always restored, along with the files that you specify and their corresponding filegroups.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Setting advanced restore options</u> at step of the wizard.

10.2.5 Setting advanced restore options

This step offers some **additional options** that are specific for each restoration mode.

Preserve database replication settings

This option specifies that the replication settings are preserved upon restoration of a published database to a server other than that on which it was created. It prevents replication settings from being removed when a database or log backup is restored on a warm standby server and the database is recovered.

Restrict access for database to dbo only

This option restricts access to the newly restored database to members of the *db_owner*, *dbcreator*, or *sysadmin* roles.

🕼 Restore Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on tio\sql2014]								
Restore Database								
Set advanced and transaction log restore options								
	Preserve database re	plication settings						
	Restrict access for da	atabase to dbo only						
	Tape after restoring Keep open	Rewind	Rewind and unload					
SQL Manager for SQL Server	 Transaction log restore Restore all records of Restore all records of Restore all records of Restore all records of Mark name 	options of transaction log of transaction log befor 00:00:00 of transaction log up t	ore					
	Look for marks at o	r after	Continue on error					
Help Implates Cancel								

Tape after restoring

Specify whether the tape should be *rewound*, *rewound* and *unloaded*, or *kept open* when the restoration is completed.

Transaction log restore options

This section is available only if the **Transaction log** restore type was selected at the <u>Setting restore type and recovery options</u> step.

Restore all records of transaction log

Select this option to make a complete restore from transaction log backup.

Restore all records of transaction log before

This option indicates that database restore is based on the transaction log records added before specified date. Pick date and specify time in the fields below.

Restore all records of transaction log up to marked transaction

Use this option to restore database to the state when marked transaction was committed.

Mark name

Specify the needed mark in the field.

Look for marks at or after

You need to define the start date time point to search for the marked transaction from.

Perform checksum

This option enables/disables checksum verification before restoring from the backup media.

Continue on error

This option determines whether the restore operation will be stopped or forced to continue if an error occurs.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the last step 741 of the wizard.

10.2.6 Running database restore

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the restore database process.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

😰 Restore Database Wizard - [AdventureWorks on tio\sql2014]								
Restore Database								
Click "Run" to restore a database								
Click "Run" to restore a database.								
	0 %							
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Image: Show SQL Close the Wizard after successful completion							
Help Templates	<u>H</u> elp <u>I</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>R</u> un Cancel							

At this step of the wizard you are provided with an ability to view the **number of connections to the database**.

Click the **Refresh** button to update the number of connections to the database. Click the **Clear** button to kill all connections to the database you need to restore.

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the process is completed.

Show SQL

This option enables/disables SQL statements displayed within the **Operations** tab when running database restore 741.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to run the restore database operation.

10.3 Backup Devices

A **Backup device** is a tape drive or a disk drive used in <u>backup</u> [718] and <u>restore</u> [732] operations. When creating a backup, you must <u>select a backup device</u> [721] where the data will be written. Microsoft SQL Server 2005 (and higher) can back up databases, transaction logs, and files to disk and tape devices.

To open a list of backup devices on a server select the **Services | Backup Devices...** <u>main menu</u>



- <u>Backup devices manager</u>743
- Backup Device properties 745

See also: Backup Database Restore Database Backup Devices 366

10.3.1 Backup devices manager

The **Backup devices manager** allows you to browse the list of SQL Server **backup devices** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | Backup Devices** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or rightclick the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Backup Devices** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].

🖼 Backup Devices								
🔋 😡 DOOM_SERVER\TSERV2005 🔹 💿 🙀 🙀 🙀 🙀								
Servers *	Device name Type	Physical name						
	AdventureWorks_Fi File	C/Drogram Files/Microsoft SOL Server/MSSQL.3/MSSQL/Backup/Adventur						
DOOM_SERVER\T	DemoDB_test File	C: Add Device						
General \$	TestDB_backup File	C: 🙀 Rename Device						
	TestDB_device File	Te 🙀 Delete Device						
Refresh	Device contents: AdventureWo	rks_FL Refresh Show Auto Show						
Add device	Header	A						
Rename device	Media name	Columns						
Delete device	Number of media families	Export List						
Export List	Family sequence number							
Restore default size	Media sequence number	1						
_	Media description	▼ 						
	Drag a column header here to group b	y that column						
	Finished on 💌 Backup Type	DB Name 💌 Backup Name 🔍 Size (KB) 🔍 Nur 🗏						
	04.07.2012 10:13:05 Database	AdventureWorks AdventureWorks_backup_20120704101301 169037						
	04.07.2012 10:16:11 Database	AdventureWorks Full Backup 169036						
	24.12.2012 11:35:53 Database	AdventureWorks AdventureWorks Full Backup 169044						
	24.12.2012 12:03:37 Database	AdventureWorks AdventureWorks Full Backup 169044						
	 ▲ 	•						

The list displays the existing backup devices as a grid with the following columns: *Device name*, *Type*, *Physical name*.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new backup device and specify its properties using the <u>New Logical Backup Device</u> (a) dialog, *rename*, *delete* the selected backup device, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> (3) the list of backup devices to any of supported output file <u>formats</u> (3).

Backup devices management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Backup devices manager**.

The **Device contents** area allows you to view the contents of the selected backup device: *Media name*, *Number of media families*, *Family sequence number*, *Media description*.

To display the actual contents, press the **Show** button. If necessary, you can check the $\boxed{\mathbf{W}}$ **Auto show** option - in this case the contents of each backup device will be retrieved upon the backup device selection in the list.

The lower list displays the backup [718] operation(s) with the following attributes: Finished on Backup type DB Name Backup Name Size (KB) Number Expire on Backup description Device Type Created on Created by

If more convenient, you can change the order 467 of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

Hint: These properties are also available within the modal <u>Backup Device Properties</u> [745] dialog which is called through the **Backup Device Contents...** context menu item of the backup device alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63].

10.3.2 Backup Device properties

The **Backup Device Properties** dialog allows you to browse the **backup device** contents and the <u>backup</u> ris operation(s) with this backup device used.

To open the dialog, right-click the backup device in <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Backup Device Contents...** context menu item.

Backup Device Properties - AdventureWorks_Full on dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005							
Header	•						
Media name							
Number of media families 1	E						
Family sequence number 1							
Media sequence number 1							
Media description	*						
Drag a column header here to group by that column	Â						
Finished on 🔹 Backup Type 💌 DB Name 💌 Backup Name 🔍 Size (KB) 💌 Number 💌 Expir	re on 💌 😑						
04.07.2012 10:13:05 Database AdventureWorks AdventureWorks_backup_20120704101301 169037 1							
04.07.2012 10:16:11 Database AdventureWorks AdventureWorks Full Backup 169036 2 04.07	7.2012						
24.12.2012 11:35:53 Database AdventureWorks AdventureWorks Full Backup 169044 3 24.12	2.2012						
24.12.2012 12:03:37 Database AdventureWorks AdventureWorks Full Backup 169044 4 24.12	2.2012 🚽						
<u>O</u> K <u>H</u> elp							

The **Device contents** area allows you to view the contents of the backup device: *Media name*, *Number of media families*, *Family sequence number*, *Media description*.

The lower list displays the <u>backup</u> 71 operation(s) as a grid with the following columns: Finished on, Backup type, DB Name, Backup Name, Size (KB), Number, Expire on, Backup description, Device Type, Created on, Created by. If more convenient, you can <u>change</u> the order 467 of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

10.4 Attach Database

Attach Database Wizard allows you to attach an existing database that is made up of one or more files to the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server[™] (with SQL Server routines used).

This operation is used to attach a database with the specified name and using the specified data files.

To run the wizard, select the **Services** | **Attach Database...** <u>main menu attach</u> item, or right-click the **Databases** node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Tasks** | **Attach Database...** context menu item.



- <u>Setting connection properties</u> 747
- Defining database files and general options 748
- <u>Attaching database</u>749

See also: Detach Database

Using templates 934

10.4.1 Setting connection properties

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** to attach database to, and to provide **authentication** parameters.

📮 Attach Database Wizard — 🗆 🗙								
Attach Database								
Set connection properties for a database								
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the A This wizard allow Explorer. The wizard will at Server <u>n</u> ame Authentication <u>W</u> indows aut <u>U</u> ser name Pa <u>s</u> sword	ttach Database Wizard! Is you to attach a database ar ttach a database using MSSQ dooM_SERVER\TSERV200 thentication screens •••••••	nd register it in the Da L routines. 05	entication	~			
Help Templates ▼ < Back Next > Cancel								

Server name

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance name to attach database to.

Authentication

Specify the type of Microsoft® SQL Server[™] authentication to be used for the connection: the built-in **[®] Windows authentication** or **[®] SQL Server authentication**.

If 'SQL Server' has been selected as the *authentication type*, you should also provide *authorization* settings: **User name** and **Password**.

Trust server certificate

If you use this option, the connection process skips the trust chain validation. In this case, the application connects even if the certificate can't be verified.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining database files and general options</u> rate step of the wizard.

10.4.2 Defining database files and general options

Use this step of the wizard to **select the files** to attach to the server as a database.

MDF file name with path

Use the 🚵 button to specify the path and name of the file to attach to the server. Then press the **Get All Files** button to add the database files to the file list.

📮 Attach Database Wizard – 🗆 🗙									
Attach Database									
Set attaching database MDF file name and load file list									
	MDF file name with path								
	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL S	erver\MSSQL16.SQL202	2\MSSQL\[DA/ATA(ver 📄				
	Get All Files								
	File Name		Status						
SQL	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL16.SQL20: OK			<					
Manager	C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL S	ОК							
SQL Server									
	Database name	AdventureWorks							
	Database owner				\sim				
	Register database								
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel									

Database name

Enter the name of the database to be attached.

Database owner

Use the drop-down list to select the database owner.

Register Database

This option indicates that the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [16] dialog for the new database will appear immediately after attaching the database (you need to register the database to start working with it in SQL Manager). If you intend to register the database later, uncheck this option.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Attaching database</u> 74 step of the wizard.

10.4.3 Attaching database

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the attach database process.

🛃 Attach Database Wizard — 🗆 🗙								
Attach Database								
Click "Run" to attach a da	tabase							
	Process completed successfully!							
20	100 %							
SQL Manager for SQL Server	======================================	^						
	Close the Wizard after successful completion	~						
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>R</u> un Close								

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to complete the operation.

10.5 Detach Database

Detach Database Wizard allows you to detach a database from the instance of Microsoft® SQL Server[™] (with SQL Server routines used).

This operation is used to detach the specified database with or without updating statistics before the database is detached.

To run the wizard, select the **Services |** \P **Detach Database...** <u>main menu [915]</u> item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks |** \P **Detach Database...** item of the <u>context menu [54]</u>.



- <u>Setting connection properties</u> 751
- <u>Selecting the database</u>
- <u>Detaching database</u>753

See also: <u>Attach Database</u>म्मि <u>Using templates</u>छिभे

10.5.1 Setting connection properties

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** to detach database from, and to provide **authentication** parameters.

📴 Detach Database Wizard — 🗌 🗙								
Detach Database								
Set connection properties for a database								
Welcome to the Detach Database Wizard! This wizard allows you to detach a database from server. The wizard will detach a database using MSSQL routines								
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Server name dooM_SERVER\TSERV2005 Authentication OWindows outhestination	~						
	User name tester	7						
	Pa <u>s</u> sword •••••							
Trust server certificate								
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel								

Server name

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance name to detach database from.

Authentication

Specify the type of Microsoft® SQL Server[™] authentication to be used for the connection: the built-in **[®] Windows authentication** or **[®] SQL Server authentication**.

If 'SQL Server' has been selected as the *authentication type*, you should also provide *authorization* settings: **User name** and **Password**.

Trust server certificate

If you use this option, the connection process skips the trust chain validation. In this case, the application connects even if the certificate can't be verified.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting the database</u> $\overline{p_{52}}$ step of the wizard.

10.5.2 Selecting the database

At this step of the wizard you should **specify the database** to be detached from the instance of SQL Server.

Use the **Database** drop-down list to select the database to be detached. Note that you can detach a database only if it has no active connections and it is not enabled for replication. To clear the current connections to the database, use the corresponding **Clear connections** button.

😺 Det	tach Database Wizard			_ 0 🔀
Det	tach Database			
	Select detaching databas	e		
		Database	new_db	
	H	You can detach the 1.It has no active c 2.It is not enabled f	e database only if onnections. or replication.	
	SQL	Number of connect	ions to the database	0
	Manager	Enabled for replicat	lion	No
	SQL Server	Refresh		Clear connections
		Update statistic	s before detaching	
Unregister database				
Ŀ	<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates		< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel

Press the **Refresh** button to get the current status of the selected database.

Update statistics before detaching

Check this option to update the database statistics before detaching the database.

Unregister database

Using this option you can unregister the database (if it has been $\frac{\text{registered}}{\text{Manager}}$).

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Detaching database</u> step of the wizard.

10.5.3 Detaching database

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the detach database process.

😺 Detach Database Wizard						
Detach Database						
Click "Finish" to detach a database						
SQL for SQL SQL	Process completed successfully!					
	100 %					
	====== START OF LOG ===== Operation started Detaching database 'new_db' Done Database file names are: C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL.3\MSSQL\DATA\new_db.mdf C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL.3\MSSQL\DATA\new_db_log.LDF End of operation ====== END OF LOG ======					
	Close the Wizard after successful completion					
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>Finish</u> Close					

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a $\underline{\text{template}}_{934}$ for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to complete the operation.

10.6 Shrink Database

755

Shrink Database Wizard allows you to perform database shrinking on your SQL Server system (the *DBCC SHRINKDATABASE* and *SHRINKFILE* Transact-SQL statements are issued).

This operation is used to reduce any file within the database to remove unused pages. Both data and transaction log files can be reduced, or shrunk.

To run the wizard, select the **Services | ^[]** Shrink **Database...** <u>main menu [915]</u> item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | ^[]** Shrink **Database...** item of the <u>context menu [54]</u>.



- Selecting database and setting shrink mode 755
- Defining shrink action for database
- Defining shrink action for files 757
- Shrinking database 758

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also: Using templates 934

10.6.1 Selecting database and setting shrink mode

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** containing the database for shrinking, and to select the **shrink mode**.

🎬 Shrink Database Wizard					×		
Shrink database files							
Select host and database.							
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the S This wizard allow The wizard will sh <u>H</u> ost <u>D</u> atabase <u>S</u> hrink	hrink Wizard! s you to shrink da nrink a database u dooM_SERV AdventureWo	atabase or files. using MSSQL routi ER\TSER\/2005 orks on dooM_SE	nes. RVER\TSERV2005 [Adve	nt.		
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates			< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Can	cel		

Host

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance where the database resides.

Database

Use the drop-down list of all registered databases on the selected host to specify the database to shrink.

Shrink

Select the preferable shrink mode: **Database** (SHRINKDATABASE) or **Files** (SHRINKFILE).

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Defining shrink action for database</u> step of the wizard (if you have selected the *Database* shrink mode), or to the <u>Defining shrink action</u> for files shrink mode).

10.6.2 Defining shrink action for database

This step of the wizard provides you with information on the **allocated** and **free space**, and allows you to specify the **shrink action** for the database.
🎬 Shrink Database Wizard			×
Shrink database files			
Select option for database.	Database info		
-	Currently allocated space	206,74 MB	
	Available free space	11,94 MB	
SQL Manager	Reorganize file before relea	sing free unused space	
for SQL Server	Max free space in files after sh	nrinking 0 🔦 %	
Help Templates	V	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Can	cel

Database info

This group displays the *currently allocated space* and the *available free space* values pertaining to the database being shrunk.

Shrink action

Reorganize file before releasing free unused space

This action causes the file to be reorganized before free space is released.

Max free space in files after shrinking

Specify the percentage of free space that will be left in the database file after the database is shrunk.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Shrinking database</u> 758 step of the wizard.

10.6.3 Defining shrink action for files

This step of the wizard provides you with information on the **allocated** and **free space**, and allows you to specify the **shrink action** for each of the database files.

🎬 Shrink Database Wizard	
Shrink database files	
Select files and specify s	hrink action for each.
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Name Size, MB Free, MB Image: Size of the state of
Help Templates	Shrink action for file Release unused space Reorganize pages before releasing unused space Empty file by migrating the data to other file in the same filegroup MB Empty file by migrating the data to other file in the same filegroup Image: All the same filegroup All the same filegroup Cancel

Shrink action for file

Release unused space

The free unused space is released explicitly (default).

Reorganize pages before releasing unused space This action causes the pages to be reorganized before unused space is released.

• Empty file by migrating the data to other file in the same filegroup This action migrates all data from the selected file to other files in the same filegroup. In this case placing data on the file is not allowed.

If necessary, you can change the default value of the *target_size* edit-box to enforce shrinking the file to the specified size.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Shrinking database</u> 758 step of the wizard.

10.6.4 Shrinking database

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the shrink database/files process.

If necessary, you can edit the result script before execution.

🚰 Shrink Database Wizard	
Shrink database files	
Click "Finish" for script execution.	
1 DBC 2 GO 3 DBC 4 GO 4 GO 4 CO 4 CO 4 CO 4 CO 4 CO 4 CO 4 CO 4 C	C SHRINKFILE (N'AdventureWorks_Data', 176, C SHRINKFILE (N'AdventureWorks_Log', 29, TH = * * * for script execution.
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼	< <u>B</u> ack <u>Finish</u> Cancel

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to execute the result script and complete the operation.

10.7 Indices Management

760

Indices Management Wizard allows you to perform index management operations in your SQL Server database: *reorganizing*, *rebuilding*, *disabling* (the *ALTER INDEX REORGANIZE* ... *REBUILD* ... *DISABLE* Transact-SQL statements are issued).

When indexes have pages in which the logical ordering based on the key value, does not match the physical ordering inside the data file, these indexes are called *fragmented*. Highly fragmented indexes may considerably decrease query performance. Index fragmentation is remedied by either reorganizing or by rebuilding an index.

To run the wizard, select the **Services | Indices Management...** <u>main menu</u> भित्रे item, or right-click the database alias in the DB Explorer छि tree and select the **Tasks | Indices Management...** item of the <u>context menu</u> 54.



- <u>Selecting database for indices management</u> 718
- <u>Selecting tables that contain indexes</u> 719
- <u>Specifying actions and setting options</u>
- Editing and executing the result script 721

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also:

<u>Indices</u>विश्व <u>Using templates</u>विश्वी

10.7.1 Selecting database for indices management

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** containing the database for indexes management.

🞬 Indices Management V	Vizard 💌
Indices Management	
Select host and data	lase
E SQL Manager for SQL Server	Welcome to the Indices Management Wizard! This wizard allows you to remedy index fragmentation by either its reorganizing or rebuilding. The wizard will rebuild, reorganize or disable indices. Host Ocalhost\sqlexpress Database AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress [AdventureWork:]
Help <u>T</u> empla	tes ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Host

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance where the database resides.

Database

Use the drop-down list of all registered databases on the selected host to specify the database to manage indexes in.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting tables</u> at the wizard.

10.7.2 Selecting tables

This step of the wizard allows you to **select tables** containing indexes.

To select a table, you need to move it from the **Available Tables** list to the **Selected Tables** list. Use the **Description Description Description**

Tindices Management Wiza	rd		×
Indices Management			
Select the tables which co	ontain indices to work with		
SQL SQL Server	Avaliable Tables Avaliable Tables EMPLOYEE_UPD (schema1) EmployeeAddress (HumanRese EmployeeDepartmentHistory (H EmployeePayHistory (HumanR EMPLOYEES (HumanResource ErrorLog ErrorLog_new Illustration (Production) Individual (Sales) JobCandidate (HumanResource) Location (Production) Immsmreports ProductModelProductDescription		Selected Tables Product (Production) ProductCategory (Production) ProductCostHistory (Production) ProductDescription (Production) ProductDocument (Production) ProductListPriceHistory (Productic) ProductModel (Production) ProductModel (Production)
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•	< <u>B</u> a	ck <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Specifying actions and setting options</u> at profession of the wizard.

10.7.3 Specifying actions and setting options

Use this step of the wizard to specify an **action** for each index and set the respective **parameters**.

The upper area lists all **indexes** of the tables selected at the previous step 76th.

The **Fragmentation** column indicates the current fragmentation percentage of each index (*avg_fragmentation_in_percent*); the **Action** column allows you to specify one of the available actions to be performed over the selected index: *REBUILD*, *REORGANIZE*, *DISABLE*.

Indices Man Specify ac	agement tion and parame	eters for each index				
SQL		Table Image: Product (Prod Image: Product (Prod	Index AK_Product_ProductNumt AK_Product_rowguid PK_ProductListPriceHistor PK_ProductInventory_Pro PK_Product_ProductID	Fragmentatio 66,67 66,67 66,67 28,57 14,29	Action REBUILD REBUILD REBUILD REORGANIZE REORGANIZE	A III
Mar ^{for} SQL	hager Server	ProductModel ProductModel ProductModel Parameter	PK_ProductModel_Produc PK_ProductModel_Produc AK_ProductModel_Name	0 0 	/alue	-
		FILLFACTOR	EY		0	

The lower area lists the **parameters** that can be defined for the specified action (except for *DISABLE*).

• REBUILD:

PAD_INDEX

This parameter sets the percentage of free space in the intermediate level pages during index creation.

FILLFACTOR

This parameter sets the percentage of free space in the leaf level of each index page during index creation.

STATISTICS_NORECOMPUTE

This option specifies whether out-of-date index statistics should be automatically recomputed.

ONLINE

This option determines whether concurrent user access to the underlying table or clustered index data and any associated non-clustered indexes is allowed during index operations.

ALLOW_ROW_LOCKS

This option determines whether row locks are used in accessing index data.

ALLOW_PAGE_LOCKS

This option determines whether page locks are used in accessing index data.

MAXDOP

This parameter sets the maximum number of processors the query processor can use to execute a single index statement. Fewer processors may be used depending on the current system workload.

• REORGANIZE:

LOB_COMPARISON

Besides reorganizing one or more indexes, large object data types (LOBs) that are contained in the clustered index or underlying table can be compacted when an index is reorganized. The data types *image*, *text*, *ntext*, *varchar(max)*, *nvarchar(max)*, *varbinary (max)*, and *xml* are large object data types. Compacting this data can cause better disk space use.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to Editing and executing the result script 764.

10.7.4 Editing and executing the result script

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the indexes management process.

If necessary, you can edit the result script before execution.

🎬 Indices Management Wiza	rd 💽
Indices Management	
Edit and execute script	
Image: A constraint of the const	BEGIN TRANSACTION GO ALTER INDEX [PK_ProductInventory_ProductID_Loc REORGANIZE WITH (LOB_COMPACTION = ON); GO COMMIT GO BEGIN TRANSACTION GO BEGIN TRANSACTION COLUMN COMMIT GO COMMIT GO COMMIT COLUMN COMMIT COLUMN COMMIT COLUMN COMMIT COLUMN COLUM
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>Finish</u> Cancel

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> 334 for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to execute the result script and complete the operation.

10.8 Update Statistics

Statistics Update Wizard allows you to perform the update statistics operation in your SQL Server database (the *UPDATE STATISTICS* statement is issued).

This operation is used to updates the statistics for the specified table(s) and view(s).

To run the wizard, select the **Services | Support Update Statistics...** <u>main menu</u> **DE** item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> **DB** tree and select the **Tasks | DE DE Statistics...** item of the <u>context menu</u> **Select DE CONTEXT CONTEXT**



- <u>Selecting database for statistics update</u>767
- <u>Selecting tables and views</u> 767
- <u>Specifying update statistics options</u>
- Editing and executing the result script 771
- ٠

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also: <u>Tables</u> 192 <u>Indices</u> 228 <u>Using templates</u> 934 767 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

10.8.1 Selecting database for statistics update

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the **host/instance** containing the database for statistics update.

\\ 🖀 Statistics Up	pdate Wizard		
Update Sta	atistics		
Select ho	ost and database		
SQ Ma for SQL	L inager . Server	Welcome to the This wizard allo one or more sta The wizard will <u>H</u> ost <u>D</u> atabase	e Statistics Update Wizard! bws you to update information about the distribution of key values for atistics groups in the specified tables or indexed views. update statistics. indexed views. update statistics. indexed views. update statistics. AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress [AdventureWork:]
Help	Templates	·	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Host

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance where the database resides.

Database

Use the drop-down list of all registered databases on the selected host to specify the database to update statistics.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting tables and views</u> at the vizard.

10.8.2 Selecting tables and views

This step of the wizard allows you to **select tables and views** to update statistics for.

To select a table/view, you need to move it from the **Available** list to the **Selected** list. Use the **Selected** list is buttons or drag-and-drop operations to move the objects from one list to another.

Statistics Update Wizard				—
Update Statistics				
Select tables and views				
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Avaliable ProductProductPhoto (Production) ProductReview (Production) ProductSubcategory (Production) ProductVendor (Purchasing) ProductVendor_new (Purchasing) PurchaseOrderDetail (Purchasing) SalesOrderDetail (Sales) SalesOrderHeader (Sales) SalesOrderHeader (Sales) SalesPerson (Sales) SalesPersonQuotaHistory (Sales) SalesReason (Sales)			Selected Product (Production) ProductCategory (Production) ProductCostHistory (Production) ProductDescription (Production) ProductDocument (Production) ProductInventory (Production) ProductListPriceHistory (Productic ProductModel (Production) ProductModel (Production) ProductModelProductDescriptionC
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	•	<	<u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Specifying update statistics options</u> step of the wizard.

10.8.3 Specifying update statistics options

Use this step of the wizard to set **options** for each table/view.

The main area lists all **tables** and **views** selected at the previous step 767.

The **Option** column allows you to specify one of the available options to be applied to the selected object: *ALL, COLUMNS, INDEX.*

👸 Statistics Update Wizard		•••
Update Statistics		
Specify option for each ta	ble or view	
Control of the test of tes	Name Product (Production) ProductCategory (Production) ProductCostHistory (Production) ProductDescription (Production) ProductDocument (Production) ProductInventory (Production) ProductListPriceHistory (Production) ProductModel (Production) ProductSample Name Name No recompute	Option COLUMNS INDEX ALL ALL COLUMNS INDEX ALL ALL T
Help Templates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Options

This group allows you to set update statistics options for tables.

Fullscan

Use this option to specify that all table rows should be read to gather the statistics. This option provides the same behavior as *SAMPLE 100 PERCENT*.

Sample

This option allows you to specify the percentage of the table, or the number of rows to sample when collecting statistics for each table. When *0 PERCENT* or *ROWS* is specified, the result is an empty statistics set.

Resample

Select this option to specify that statistics will be gathered using an inherited sampling ratio for all existing statistics including indexes. If the sampling ratio creates too few rows being sampled, the Database Engine automatically corrects the sampling based on the number of existing rows in the table.

No recompute

This option specifies that automatic recomputation of the statistics that become out of date will be disabled.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Selecting indexes</u> step of the wizard.

10.8.4 Browsing indices

This step of the wizard allows you to **browse indexes** to be included into the UPDATE STATISTICS statement. This step appears only if INDEX option was selected on the Specifying update statistics options real step at least for one table.

For you convenience the indexes are represented in the form of a tree with objectscontainers as tree nodes.

The statistics Update Wizard	×
Update Statistics	
You can select indices for statistics update	
Image: Solution conversion of the second conversecond conversion of the second conversion	
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Ca	ncel

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to <u>Selecting statistics</u> 770 step.

10.8.5 Browsing statistics

This step of the wizard allows you to **browse statistics** to be included into the UPDATE STATISTICS statement. This step appears only if COLUMN option was selected on the Specifying update statistics options at least for one table.

For you convenience the statistics are represented in the form of a tree with objectscontainers as tree nodes.

🎬 Statistics Update Wizard		×
Update Statistics		
You can select statistics fo	r update	
SQL Manager for SQL Server	 Production.Product WA_Sys_0000007_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000008_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000009_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000000C_5535A963 WA_Sys_000000D_5535A963 WA_Sys_000000E_5535A963 WA_Sys_000000F_5535A963 WA_Sys_00000010_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000011_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000012_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000013_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000014_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000014_5535A963 WA_Sys_0000014_5535A963 	
Help <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Ca	incel

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to Editing and executing the result $\frac{\text{script}}{77}$

10.8.6 Editing and executing the result script

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the update statistics process.

If necessary, you can edit the result script before execution.

🚰 Statistics Update Wizard	
Update Statistics	
Edit and execute script	
SQL SQL Server	UPDATE STATISTICS [Production].[Product] WITH FULLSCAN, COLUMNS; UPDATE STATISTICS [Production].[ProductCatego: WITH FULLSCAN, INDEX; U UPDATE STATISTICS [Production].[ProductCostHi: WITH FULLSCAN, INDEX; Click "Finish" for script execution.
Help <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>Einish</u> Cancel

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to execute the result script and complete the operation.

10.9 Check Database

Check Database Wizard allows you to perform the check database operation on your SQL Server system (the *DBCC CHECKDB* Transact-SQL statement is issued).

This operation is used to check the allocation, structural, and logical integrity of all the objects in the specified database.

To run the wizard, select the **Services | b Check Database...** <u>main menu</u> भिष्ठे item, or right-click the database alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> बि **Tasks | b Check Database...** item of the <u>context menu</u> 54



- <u>Selecting database to check</u>774
- Specifying arguments and options 774
- Editing and executing the result script 776

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

See also: Using templates 934 774 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual

10.9.1 Selecting database to check

This step of the wizard allows you to select the **host/instance** containing the database for checking.

🔐 Che	eck Database Wizard			×						
Check Database										
	Select host and database									
		Welcome to the This wizard allo the objects in th	e Check Database Wizard! ows you to check the allocation, structural, and logical integrity of al he specified database							
	SQL Manager for SQL Server	<u>H</u> ost <u>D</u> atabase	Iocalhost\sqlexpress AdventureWorks on localhost\sqlexpress [AdventureWork:	•						
Ŀ	<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel									

Host

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the host/instance where the database resides.

Database

Use the drop-down list of all registered databases on the selected host to specify the database to run integrity checks for.

Click the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>Specifying arguments and options</u> at step of the wizard.

10.9.2 Specifying arguments and options

Use this step of the wizard to **specify arguments** and **options** for the check database operation.

🌛 Check Database Wizard - [a	ayz_copy on win10\sql2016]								
Check Database									
Specify argument and options									
Image: Constraint of the second sec	Arguments Arguments None Disable intensive checks of nonclustered indexes for user tables Repair with data loss Fast repair Repair and rebuild indexes All errors No info messages Use exclusive database lock Estimate needed tempdb space only (no check) Physical only Purity of data Max degree of parallelism								
Help Templates	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel								

Arguments

Disable intensive checks of nonclustered indexes for user tables

This argument (*NOINDEX*) specifies that intensive checks of non-clustered indexes for user tables should not be performed; therefore, the overall execution time is decreased.

Repair with data loss

When this argument (*REPAIR_ALLOW_DATA_LOSS*) is used, all reported errors are repaired. These repairs can cause data loss.

Fast repair

This argument (*REPAIR_FAST*) enables fast repair of errors which is maintained for backward compatibility.

Repair and rebuild indexes

This argument (*REPAIR_REBUILD*) performs all repairs performed by *REPAIR_FAST* and includes time-consuming repairs such as rebuilding indexes. These repairs can be performed without risk of data loss.

Options

All errors

This option (ALL_ERRORMSGS) displays an unlimited number of errors per object.

No info messages

This option (*NO_INFOMSGS*) suppresses all informational messages.

✓ Use exclusive database lock

If this option (*TABLOCK*) is used, the *DBCC CHECKDB* statement obtains locks instead of using an internal database snapshot. This includes a short-term database exclusive lock.

Estimate only

This option (*ESTIMATEONLY*) displays the estimated amount of *tempdb* space that is required to run DBCC CHECKDB with all the other specified options. The actual database check is not performed in this case.

Physical only

This option (*PHYSICAL_ONLY*) limits the checking operation to the integrity of the physical structure of the page and record headers, the physical structure of B-trees and the allocation consistency of the database. Designed to provide a small overhead check of the physical consistency of the database, this check can also detect torn pages, checksum failures, and common hardware failures that can compromise a user's data.

Purity of data

If this option (*DATA_PURITY*) is enabled, the *DBCC CHECKDB* statement checks the database for column values that are not valid or out-of-range.

Max degree of parallelism

Use this option to set the degree of threads per execution. The default value for Max degree of parallelism is set to 0, this means there is no limit to the number of processors.

When you are done, click the **Next** button to proceed to Editing and executing the result script $\overline{1776}$.

10.9.3 Editing and executing the result script

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that all necessary options have been set, and you can start the check database process.

If necessary, you can edit the result script before execution.

🚰 Check Database Wizard	
Check Database	
Edit and execute script.	
EEE SQL Manager for SQL Server	<pre>1 DBCC CHECKDB ([AdventureWorks], REPAIR_ALLOW_] 2 WITH 3 ALL_ERRORMSGS E </pre>
	▼
	Click "Finish" for script execution.
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates	▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>E</u> inish Cancel

If necessary, you can save a $\underline{\text{template}}^{[934]}$ for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to execute the result script and complete the operation.

10.10 Instance Manager

The **Instance Manager** tool allows you to check *SQL Server* services statuses on local and remote servers, stop or start them and configure some properties.

Note: To manage an instance you must have *Local Administrator* privileges on the host where the SQL Server service is running.

To launch this tool use the Services | Instance Manager item of main menu [915].



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 778
- Start/Stop service 779
- <u>Configure service</u>780

<u>Availability</u>:

Full version (for Windows)

Yes No

Lite version (for Windows)

Note: To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u>^[23] page.

10.10.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Instance Manager**.



The Navigation bar of Instance Manager allows you to:

Host

select a server instance for managing services

Service

🕺 select a service for configuring

Service Management

- start the selected service
- stop the selected service
- lateral refresh the content of the window
- ✓ apply changes
- restore the default size and position of the window

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Resource Governor** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (i), open the <u>Environment Options</u> (2) dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (2) section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (1)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

10.10.2 Start/Stop Service

Use this tab to start/stop the selected service.



To stop/start the service click the **Stop/Start Service** button. Be aware that all users connected to the databases will be disconnected on stopping the server.

Log messages

This log shows all messages during server startup and shutdown.

Click the **Clear Log** button to clean all messages.

10.10.3 Configure Service

On the **Configure Service** tab you can set some service parameters.

781 SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual



Service Settings

Launch service on system start

Check this option to set the *Automatic* launch type of the selected service. If this option is unchecked then the launch type is *Manual*.

Display name

Specify the service name displayed in the Computer Management Console.

Service description

Provide the description for the selected service. This description will be displayed in the Computer Management Console.

Service parameters

In this field you can view the path to the service executable file.

To apply changes click the \checkmark button on the toolbar or navigation bar.

10.11 SQL Server Agent services

10.11.1 Jobs

A **job** is a specified set of operations performed sequentially by SQL Server Agent. A job can perform a wide range of activities, including running Transact-SQL scripts, command-line applications, Microsoft ActiveX scripts, Integration Services packages, Analysis Services commands and queries, or Replication tasks. Jobs can run repetitive or <u>scheduled</u> T794 tasks, and they can automatically notify <u>operators</u> 791 of job status by generating <u>alerts</u> 788.

SQL Server Agent **jobs** can be used to simplify SQL Server administration and make it more efficient by automating routine administrative tasks.

Before using SQL Server jobs, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	Sen	/ices	<u>O</u> ptions	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> el	p
			e	Back	up Databas	e		
			P	Rest	ore Databa	se		
			fe	Back	up Devices			
			Qg	Attac	h Database			
			Q9	Deta	ch Databas	e		
			æ	Shrin	k Database			
			8	Indic	es Manager	ment		
			-	Update Statistics				
			٠	Check Database				
				Instance Manager				
				SQL Server Agent		5	Jobs	
			8	Data	base Snaps	hots		Job History
			ø	Linke	d Servers			Alerts
			R	DTS Packages			8	Operators
			*	Resource Governor			80	Shared Schedules
			0	Server Log Viewer			8	Proxies
			b	Activ	ity Monitor			Target Servers

- Jobs manager 784
- Job Editor 368

Creating Jobs

To create a new job:

- right-click the **Jobs** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Job** item from the <u>context</u> menu [56];
- define job properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Job Editor</u> [368].

or

- select the **Database | New Object...** <u>main menules</u> item;
- select **Job** in the <u>Create New Object</u> [180] dialog;
- define job properties using <u>Job Editor</u> [368].

Hint: To create a new job, you can also select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Jobs** <u>main menu</u> [915] item to open the **Jobs manager** and select the **Add Job...** item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new job with the same properties as one of existing jobs has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click a job in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Duplicate Job <job_name>...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the server to create a new job and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the job.

Editing Jobs

To edit an existing job:

- select the job for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the job name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Job <job_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the job;
- edit job properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Job Editor</u> [368].

To change the name of a job:

- select the Job to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the job alias and select the **Rename Job <job_name>...** item from the <u>context menu</u>[56];
- edit the job name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Dropping Jobs

To drop a job:

- select the job to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the **Drop Job <job_name>...** context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u> (952): *Ctrl+N* to create a new job; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected job; *Ctrl+R* to rename the job; *Shift+Del* to drop the object.

To create, edit, rename and drop jobs, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Jobs manager</u> 184.

See also: Job History (78ର୍ଚି Job Editor (368)

10.11.1.1 Jobs manager

The **Jobs manager** allows you to browse the list of **jobs** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Jobs** <u>main menu</u> भित्रे item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> किं tree and select the **Tasks | Jobs** item from the <u>context menu</u> 53.



The list displays the existing jobs as a grid with the following columns: Job Name, Owner, Status, Category, Description, Enabled, Last Run Status, Last Run Date, Next Run Date, Schedules.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Hint: Enabled/disabled jobs are differentiated in the list by their icons: icons for disabled jobs are grayed out.

Note: Job events and properties are partially listed within the Job 369 tab of Job Editor 368.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new job and specify its properties using <u>Job Editor</u>[368], *start* an idle job, *stop* a running job, *edit*, *delete* the selected job, show job history [785], *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also export [531] the list of jobs to any of supported output file formats [935].

Jobs management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Jobs manager**.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

10.11.2 Job History

The **Job History** window allows you to view the list of recent jobs and the results of their execution.

Before using job history, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.



Viewing job history 7861

• Filtering job history list 787

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

See also:

<u>Jobs manager</u>784 <u>Jobs Editor</u>३68

10.11.2.1 Viewing job history

The **Job History** window allows you to browse the list of recently tried **jobs** and manage this list efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Job History** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Job History** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].

Image: Doom_SERVERITSERV2001 History for Image: Doom_SERVERITSERV2 Image: Open constraints Image: Doom_SERVERITSERV2 Image: Open constraints Image: Open constraints <th>🙀 Job History</th> <th></th> <th>- • •</th>	🙀 Job History		- • •
History for A Image: Doom_SERVER\TSERV: (All Jobs) (All Jobs) (All Jobs) Image: Decemption of Mathematic Mathem	DOOM_SERVER\TSERV200!	(All Jobs) 🔹 😥 🖓 💽 🗸 🍓 🕨 🔳	2
Image: Doom_SERVERNTSERV: (All Jobs) (All Jobs) (All Jobs) General (All Jobs) General (All Jobs) (All Jobs) (All Jobs) General (All Jobs) (All Jobs) <th>History for *</th> <th>Run Date Job Name Run Status</th> <th>Duration Retries S</th>	History for *	Run Date Job Name Run Status	Duration Retries S
Job Add job Image: Add job Image: Columns → Export List → Export L	Image: Control of the control of t	Index.com Index.com	Image: Story of Story
Stop job	Job Add job Edit job Delete job Start job Stop job	Message The job succeeded. The Job was invoked by User step to run was step 1 (check).	Columns Export List

The list displays the recent jobs as a grid with the following columns: Run Date, Job Name , Run Status, Duration, Retries, Sent Email, Sent Pager, Net Sent, Server.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to <u>filter jobs</u> [787] in list, *clear* the history of all jobs or of the selected job, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the job history list to any of supported output file <u>formats</u> [935], add, edit and delete jobs.

Job history list management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Job History** window.

The **Steps** area displays the list of steps defined for the selected job, with the following attributes pertaining to each step: *Step ID*, *Step Name*, *Run Status*, *Error ID*, *Severity*, *Run Date*, *Duration*, *Retries*.

At the bottom of the **Job History** window the **Message** area is located. It allows you to view the details of the selected step execution.

10.11.2.2 Filtering job history list

The **Job History Filter** dialog is a filtering facility implemented in **Job History** list for your convenience.

To open the dialog, right-click within the **Job History** list and select the **Filter...** context menu item, or use the corresponding item of the **Navigation bar**.

Job History Filter	—
Execution Date Interval	Run Status
From 09.04.2013 🔻 To 💌	Any
Execution Day Time	○ Failed
From 00:00:00 To 00:00:00	Succeeded
Running	Canceled
Minimum Run Duration 00:00:00	In-progress message
Minimum Number of Retries	O Unknown
Execution Error	
Error ID 3612 ution Times:%hs CPU tir	ne = %lu ms, elapsed time = %lu ms. 💌
Error Severity 17: Insufficient Resources	•
<u>Clear</u>	K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

The Job History Filter dialog provides the following options for flexible Job History list

filtering:

Execution Date Interval

From ... To ... Set the date interval criteria using the **date editor** which is activated when you click the Arrow-Down element of the combo-box.

Execution Day Time

From ... To ... Set the day time interval criteria using the spinner controls.

Running

Minimum Run Duration Minimum Number of Retries Specify the minimum duration and number of job retries criteria using the spinner controls.

Run Status

Select the job run status criterion:

- 🧿 Any
- 🖲 Failed
- Succeeded
- Canceled
- In-progress message
- 🖲 Unknown

Execution Error

This group allows you to specify criteria for the jobs that have been run with errors: *Error ID, Error message, Error Severity*.

Hint: If necessary, you can reset the current filter criteria using the **Clear** button.

10.11.3 Alerts

An **alert** is as an automated response to one or more events. You can define an alert to specify how SQL Server Agent should respond to their occurrence. An alert can respond to an event by notifying an administrator or running a job rescal, or both. An alert can also forward an event to the Microsoft Windows application log on a different computer. By defining alerts, database administrators can monitor and manage SQL Server more effectively.

Before using SQL Server alerts, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

Database

e	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	Sen	vices Options Window			<u>H</u> e	lp
			æ	Back	tup Databas	se		
			P	Rest	ore Databa	se		
			e	Back	up Devices	;		
			٩,	Attac	h Database	ə		
			Q 9	Deta	ch Databas	e		
			æ	Shrin	k Database	ə		
			2	Indic	es Manage	ment		
			畿	Upda	ate Statistics	S		
			&	Chec	k Database	e		
				Insta	nce Manag	er		
				SQL	Server Age	ent 🕨 🕨	-	Jobs
			₿	Data	base Snaps	shots	•	Job History
			1	Linke	ed Servers			Alerts
			DTS Packages		8	Operators		
			*	Resource Governor		4	Shared Schedules	
			0	Serv	er Log View	ver	8	Proxies
			b	Activ	ity Monitor		#	Target Servers

- Alerts manager 790
- Alert Editor 380

Creating Alerts

To create a new alert:

- right-click the **Alerts** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Alert** item from the <u>context</u> <u>menu</u> [56];
- define alert properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Alert Editor</u> 380.
- or
 - select the Database | New Object... main menu [915] item;
 - select Alert in the <u>Create New Object</u> 180 dialog;
 - define alert properties using <u>Alert Editor</u> 380.

Hint: To create a new alert, you can also select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Alerts** <u>main menu [915]</u> item to open the **Alerts manager** and select the **Add Alert...** item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new alert with the same properties as one of existing alerts has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click an alert in the <u>DB Explorer</u> altere and select the

Duplicate Alert <alert_name>... context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard 182 allows you to select the server to create a new alert and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the alert.

Editing Alerts

To edit an existing alert:

- select the alert for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the alert name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Alert <alert_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the alert;
- edit alert properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Alert Editor</u> 380.
- To change the name of an alert:
 - select the alert to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
 - right-click the alert alias and select the **Rename Alert <alert_name>...** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
 - edit the alert name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Dropping Alerts

To drop an alert:

- select the alert to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Alert <alert_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u> [952]:

Ctrl+N to create a new alert; Ctrl+O to edit the selected alert; Ctrl+R to rename the alert; Shift+Del to drop the object.

To create, edit, rename and drop alerts, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Alerts manager</u> [790].

See also: Alert Editor³⁸⁰

10.11.3.1 Alerts manager

The **Alerts manager** allows you to browse the list of **alerts** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Alerts** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Alerts** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].

💄 Alerts											• •
🗄 😨 DOOM_SERVER\TSERV2005 🔹 🔹 💩 🍇 🗃											
Servers	\$	Alert Name	Туре	Enabled	Error C	ode S	Severity	Last Occ	urrence	Last Response	Count
	_	arror	Event	1	1082	0)				0
DOOM_SERVER\T	•	a information	Event	v	0	1	0	13.04.201	3 0:03:15		22
Conoral		notification	Event	V		7	/				0
General	<u>^</u>	aperformance	Event	1	0	2	Add Alert.		3 14:49:50		56054
Refresh	1						Edit Alert.				
Add alert	1					₿;	Delete Ale	ert			
🛃 Edit alert	1					2	Refresh	F5			
🌲 Delete alert											
Export list							Columns	•			
Restore default size						-	Export Lis	st			
		•		III							۱.

The list displays the alerts as a grid with the following columns: Alert Name, Type, Enabled, Error Code, Severity, Last Occurrence, Sent Pager, Net Sent, Server.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Hint: Enabled/disabled alerts are differentiated in the list by their icons: icons for disabled alerts are grayed out.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new alert and specify its properties using <u>Alert Editor</u> (380), *edit*, *delete* the selected alert, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also export [531] the list of alerts to any of supported output file formats [935].

Alerts management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Alerts manager**.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

10.11.4 Operators

An **operator** is the object that represents a single SQL Server operator. SQL Server operators receive <u>alert</u> [788] and <u>job</u> [782] status notification in response to events generated by the server. You can assign <u>alert notifications</u> [386] and <u>job notifications</u> [374] for any operator defined for the instance of SQL Server.

Before using SQL Server operators, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.



- Operators manager 793
- Operator Editor³⁸⁶

Creating Operators

To create a new operator:

- right-click the **Operators** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Operator** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- define operator properties using the appropriate tabs of Operator Editor [386].
- or
 - select the **Database | New Object...** main menu
 - select **Operator** in the <u>Create New Object</u> [180] dialog;
 - define operator properties using Operator Editor 386.

Hint: To create a new operator, you can also select the Services | SQL Server Agent | Operators <u>main menu and item</u> to open the **Operators manager** and select the **Add Operator...** item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new operator with the same properties as one of existing operators has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click an operator in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the
Duplicate Operator <operator_name>... context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the server to create a new operator and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the operator.

Editing Operators

To edit an existing operator:

- select the operator for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the operator name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Operator <operator_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the operator;
- edit operator properties using the appropriate tabs of Operator Editor [386].
- To change the name of an operator:
 - select the operator to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
 - right-click the operator alias and select the **Rename Operator <operator_name>...** item from the <u>context menu</u>[56];
 - edit the operator name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Dropping Operators

To drop an operator:

- select the operator to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Operator <operator_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u>[952]: *Ctrl+N* to create a new operator; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected operator; *Ctrl+R* to rename the operator; *Shift+Del* to drop the object.

To create, edit, rename and drop operators, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of Operators manager [793].

See also:

Operator Editor 386

10.11.4.1 Operators manager

The **Operators manager** allows you to browse the list of **operators** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Operators** <u>main menu</u> পিট item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> জিটা tree and select the **Tasks | Operators** item from the <u>context menu</u> জিটা.

8 Operators									- • •
DOOM_SERVER\TSERV2	005		- 🗟 🔒	r 🎭 🔱	: 🖂				
Servers	*	0	perator name MSXOperator	Enabled	E-mail	Pager		Net send	Last e-mail date
	•	8	Operator1_dsd Operator2_nb	√	support@sqlmanagen.net	269 269	84	192.168.66.52 Add Operator	
General	*	: 🤶	Operator3_nm		nm@sqlmanager.ne aschel@sqlmanage	269	2	Edit Operator	
Add operator		8	Operator5_ayz	V	ayz@sqlmanager.ne	209	& ⊒	Delete Operator	-
Edit operator								Columns I	
Export list							-	Export List	
		•			m				4

The list displays the operators as a grid with the following columns: Operator name, Enabled, E-mail, Pager, Net send, Last e-mail date, Last pager date, Last net send date.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Hint: Enabled/disabled operators are differentiated in the list by their icons: icons for disabled operators are grayed out.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new operator and specify its properties using <u>Operator Editor</u> (*delete*), *edit*, *delete* the selected operator, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> (1) the list of operators to any of supported output file <u>formats</u> (1).

Operators management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Operators manager**.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

10.11.5 Schedules

Shared schedules are multipurpose items that contain ready-to-use schedule information. You can create a shared schedule once, and then reference it in a subscription or property page when you need to specify schedule information.

Before using SQL Server schedules, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.



- Shared schedules manager 796
- Schedule Editor 376

Creating Schedules

To create a new schedule:

- right-click the **Schedules** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Schedule** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- define schedule properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Schedule Editor</u> (37ର). or
 - select the **Database | New Object...** main menu [915] item;
 - select **Schedule** in the <u>Create New Object</u> 180 dialog;
 - define schedule properties using Schedule Editor 376.

Hint: To create a new schedule, you can also select the Services | SQL Server Agent | Shared Schedules <u>main menulation</u> item to open the Schedules manager and select the Add Schedule item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new schedule with the same properties as one of existing schedules has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu_item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> [182].

Alternatively, you can right-click a schedule in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Duplicate Schedule <schedule_name>...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the server to create a new schedule and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the schedule.

Editing Schedules

To edit an existing schedule:

- select the schedule for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the schedule name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Schedule <schedule_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the schedule;
- edit schedule properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Schedule Editor</u> [376].

To change the name of a schedule:

- select the schedule to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the schedule alias and select the **Rename Schedule** <schedule_name>... item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- edit the schedule name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Dropping Schedules

To drop a schedule:

- select the schedule to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Schedule <schedule_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u> [952]: *Ctrl+N* to create a new schedule; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected schedule; *Ctrl+R* to rename the schedule; *Shift+Del* to drop the object.

To create, edit and drop schedules, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Shared schedules manager</u>

See also:

Schedule Editor 376

10.11.5.1 Shared schedules manager

The **Schedules manager** allows you to browse the list of **shared schedules** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Shared Schedules** main <u>menu</u> [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Shared Schedules** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].

🖷 Shared Schedules						- • •
UOCALHOST\SQI	EXPRES	SS	- 2 🖷 🖷 🌆 🗖			
Servers	*	ID	Name	Run Type E	nabled	Created
		A 10	CollectorSchedule_Every_10min	Repeated running	V	10.02.2012 21:06:47
LOCALHOST\SC	⊋LI ▼	4	CollectorSchedule_Every_15min	Repeated running	V	10.02.2012 21:06:47
Connert	^	E 5	CollectorSchedule_Every_30min	Repeated running	1	10.02.2012 21:06:47
General	*	* 🛅 2	CollectorSchedule_Every_5min	Repeated running	1	10.02.2012 21:06:47
Refresh		🕮 6	CollectorSchedule_Every_60min	Repeated running	V	10.02.2012 21:06:47
Add schedule		20 7	CollectorSchedule_Every_6h	Repeated running	V	10.02.2012 21:06:47
		1	RunAsSQLAgentServiceStartSchedule	Run when SOL Sen	<u></u>	10.02.2012 21:05:57
		🖣 8	syspolicy_purge_history_schedule	Add Schedule	V	04.04.2013 12:26:34
Delete schedule		- 8		Edit Schedule		
Export list		19		Delete Schedu		
Restore default si	ze					
				Refresh F	5	
				Columns	•	
				Export List		

The list displays the shared schedules as a grid with the following columns: *ID*, *Name*, *Run Type*, *Enabled*, *Created*.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Hint: Enabled/disabled schedules are differentiated in the list by their icons: icons for disabled schedules are grayed out.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new schedule and specify its properties using <u>Schedule Editor</u> [376], *edit*, *delete* the selected schedule, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of schedules to any of supported output file <u>formats</u> [935].

Schedules management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Schedules manager**.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

10.11.6 Proxies

A Microsoft® SQL Server Agent **proxy** defines the security context for a job 782 step. A proxy provides SQL Server Agent with access to the security <u>credentials</u> 395 for a Microsoft Windows user. Each proxy can be associated with one or more subsystems. A

Datal

job step [370] that uses the proxy can access the specified subsystems by using the security context of the Windows user. Before SQL Server Agent runs a job step [370] that uses a proxy, SQL Server Agent impersonates the credentials [395] defined in the proxy, and then runs the job step by using that security context.

SQL Server **proxies** can be used to help database administrators ensure that each job step runs with the minimum permissions required to perform its task.

Before using SQL Server proxies, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.

base <u>View Tools</u> <u>Services</u> <u>Options</u> <u>Windows</u> <u>H</u> elp	
Backup Database	
Restore Database	
Backup Devices	
Attach Database	
Detach Database	
Shrink Database	
Indices Management	
Update Statistics	
Check Database	
Instance Manager	
SQL Server Agent Jobs	
🛃 Database Snapshots 🧯 Job His	tory
👘 Linked Servers 💄 Alerts	
DTS Packages S Operate	ors
Resource Governor Shared	Schedules
Server Log Viewer	•
Activity Monitor	Servers

- Proxies manager 800
- Proxy Editor 391

Creating Proxies

To create a new proxy:

- right-click the **Proxies** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) or any object within this node in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Proxy** item from the <u>context</u> <u>menu</u> [56];
- define proxy properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Proxy Editor Bank</u>.

or

- select the Database | New Object... main menu [915] item;
- select **Proxy** in the <u>Create New Object</u> 180 dialog;
- define proxy properties using <u>Proxy Editor</u> 391.

Hint: To create a new proxy, you can also select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Proxies** <u>main menu</u>[915] item to open the **Proxies manager** and select the **Add Proxy...** item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new proxy with the same properties as one of existing proxies has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click a proxy in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Duplicate Proxy <proxy_name>...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the server to create a new proxy and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the proxy.

Editing Proxies

To edit an existing proxy:

- select the proxy for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the proxy name for quick <u>search</u> [83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Proxy <proxy_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the proxy;
- edit proxy properties using the appropriate tabs of <u>Proxy Editor</u> [391].

To change the name of a proxy:

- select the proxy to rename in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the proxy alias and select the Rename Proxy <proxy_name>... item from the <u>context menu</u>[56];
- edit the proxy name using the **Rename Object...** dialog.

Dropping Proxies

To drop a proxy:

- select the proxy to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Proxy <proxy_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following shortcuts [952]:

Ctrl+N to create a new proxy; Ctrl+O to edit the selected proxy; Ctrl+R to rename the proxy; Shift+Del to drop the object.

To create, edit and drop proxies, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of <u>Proxies manager</u> हाली.

See also:

Proxy Editor 391

10.11.6.1 Proxies manager

The **Proxies manager** allows you to browse the list of **proxies** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Proxies** $\underline{\text{main menu}}^{\text{pl5}}$ item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> $\boxed{63}$ tree and select the **Tasks | Proxies** item from the <u>context menu</u> $\boxed{53}$.



The list displays the proxies as a grid with the following columns: *Proxy Name*, *Enabled*, *Description*, *Credential Identity*.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Hint: Enabled/disabled proxies are differentiated in the list by their icons: icons for disabled proxies are grayed out.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new proxy and specify its properties using <u>Proxy Editor</u> (391), *edit*, *delete* the selected proxy, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also export [331] the list of proxies to any of supported output file formats [935].

Proxies management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Proxies manager**.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows)

Note: To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u>^[23] page.

10.11.7 Target Servers

Multiserver administration which consists in automating administration across multiple instances of SQL Server is performed when there is a necessity to manage two or more servers and to schedule information flows between enterprise servers for data warehousing.

In a multiserver system, there is at least one **master server** and at least one **target server**.

A master server distributes jobs [782] to target servers, and receives events from them. A master server also stores the central copy of job definitions for jobs that are run on target servers. Target servers connect periodically to the master server to update their schedule [794] of jobs. If a new job exists on the master server, the target server downloads the job. After the target server completes the job, it reconnects to the master server and reports the status of the job.

Before using target servers, make sure that the **SQL Server Agent** service is running.



• Working with Target Servers manager 802

 Availability:

 Full version (for
 Yes

 Windows)
 Vindows)

 Note:
 To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

10.11.7.1 Target Servers manager

The **Target Servers manager** is intended for easy and efficient management of target servers when multiserver administration is performed. The **Target Servers manager** allows you to browse the list of **target servers** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | SQL Server Agent | Target Servers** main menu [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks** | **Target Servers** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].



The list displays the target servers as a grid with the following columns: *Server Name*, *Location*, *Enlist Date*, *Last Poll Date*, *Poll Interval*.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new target server using the **Add New Target Server** dialog, *delete* the selected target server, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u>[531] the list of target servers to any of supported output file <u>formats</u>[935].

Target servers management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Target Servers manager**.

The **Add New Target Server** dialog allows you to register a new target server.

'DOOM_SERVER\TSERV	2005' - Create Target Server 🛛 🔜
Target server	MERLIN\SQL2008
Location	
	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Target server

Type in or use the drop-down list to select the server instance to be registered.

Location

Specify the target server location.

10.12 Database Snapshots

Database snapshots were implemented in Microsoft® SQL Server 2005, and they are available only in the Enterprise Edition of Microsoft® SQL Server 2005 and higher. A **Database snapshot** is a read-only, static view of a database (the source database). Multiple snapshots can exist on a source database and always reside on the same server instance as the database. Each database snapshot is transactionally consistent with the source database as of the moment of the snapshot's creation.

Snapshots can be used for reporting purposes. Also, in the event of a user error on a source database, you can revert the source database to the state it was in when the snapshot was created. Data loss is confined to updates to the database since the snapshot's creation.



• <u>Managing database snapshots</u>804

10.12.1 Managing database snapshots

The **Snapshots manager** allows you to browse the list of **database snapshots** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | Database Snapshots** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Database Snapshots** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].



The list displays the existing database snapshots as a grid with the following columns: Snapshot Name, Source Database, Create Date, Source Used Pages (MB), Snapshot Used Pages (MB). If more convenient, you can change the order 467 of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new snapshot and specify its properties using the <u>Add New Database Snapshot</u> [805] dialog, *delete* the selected snapshot, or *refresh* the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> [531] the list of database snapshots to any of supported output file <u>formats</u>[935].

Database snapshots management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Snapshots manager**.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

10.12.2 Database snapshot properties

The **Add New Database Snapshot** dialog opens automatically when you create a new database snapshot and allows you to define the new snapshot parameters.

To call the dialog, right-click within the snapshots list in the <u>Snapshots manager</u> and select the **Add Snapshot...** context menu item.

'DOOM_SERVER\TSERV2005' - Create Database Snapshot					
Source databas	e	DemoDB 💌			
Snapshot name		DemoDB_20130416			
Files					
Name	File Nan	le			
Magazina DemoDB	C:\Progr	am Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL.3\MSSQL\DATA\DemoDB_20130416.ss			
Register dat	tabase sn	apshot OK Cancel Help			

Source database

Use the drop-down list to select the source database for the new snapshot.

Snapshot name

By default, the snapshot name is generated by the application automatically on the basis of the source database name and the snapshot creation date. You can modify the name for the new snapshot, or leave the name unchanged. Note that each database snapshot requires a unique database name.

The **Files** area lists the database file(s) of the new database snapshot. The file name contains the name of the source database file and the snapshot creation date.

Register database

This option indicates that the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [116] dialog for the new database will appear immediately after the database snapshot is created (you need to register the database to start working with it in SQL Manager). If you intend to register the database later, uncheck this option.

10.13 Linked Servers

A **Linked server** is a virtual server that can be defined to SQL Server 2005 (and higher) with all the information required to access an OLE DB data source. A Linked server configuration enables SQL Server to execute commands against OLE DB data sources on remote servers. Linked servers provide a number of features: remote server access; the ability to issue distributed queries, updates, commands and transactions on heterogeneous data sources; the ability to address diverse data sources universally.



- Linked servers manager⁸⁰⁸
- Linked Server Editor 398

Creating Linked Servers

To create a new linked server:

- right-click the Linked Servers node (within the Server Objects branch) or any object within this node in the DB Explorer [63] tree and select the New Linked Server item from the <u>context menu</u> [56];
- define linked server properties using the appropriate tabs of Linked Server Editor [398].

or

- select the **Database | New Object...** main menu [915] item;
- select **Linked Server** in the <u>Create New Object</u> 180 dialog;
- define linked server properties using Linked Server Editor [398].

Hint: To create a new linked server, you can also select the Services | Linked Servers main menu [915] item to open the Linked servers manager and select the Add Linked Server item from the context menu or on the Navigation bar.

To create a new linked server with the same properties as one of existing linked servers has:

- select the Database | Duplicate Object... menu item;
- follow the instructions of <u>Duplicate Object Wizard</u> 182.

Alternatively, you can right-click a linked server in the <u>DB Explorer</u> and select the **Duplicate Linked Server <linked_server_name>...** context menu item.

Duplicate Object Wizard [182] allows you to select the server to create a new linked server and to edit the result SQL statement for creating the linked server.

Editing Linked Servers

To edit an existing linked server:

- select the linked server for editing in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree (type the first letters of the Linked Server name for quick <u>search</u>[83]);
- right-click the object and select the Edit Linked Server <linked_server_name> context menu item, or simply double-click the linked server;
- edit linked server properties using the appropriate tabs of Linked Server Editor [398].

Dropping Linked Servers

To drop a linked server:

- select the linked server to drop in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree;
- right-click the object and select the Drop Linked Server linked_server_name>... context menu item;
- confirm dropping in the dialog window.

Note: If more convenient, you can also use the following <u>shortcuts</u> (152): *Ctrl+N* to create a new linked server; *Ctrl+O* to edit the selected linked server; *Shift+Del* to drop the object.

To create, edit and drop linked servers, you can also use the **context menu** and the **Navigation bar** of Linked servers manager [808].

See also:

Linked Server Editor 398

10.13.1 Linked servers manager

The **Linked servers manager** allows you to browse the list of **linked servers** and manage them efficiently.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | Linked Servers** <u>main menu</u> मिठी item, or rightclick the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> ि tree and select the **Tasks | Linked Servers** item from the <u>context menu</u> 53.

🥟 Linked Servers						×
DOOM_SERVER\TSERV20	005 🗸 🙀 💏 💏 😒	2				=
Servers *	Server Name	SQL Server	Provider DTSPackageDS	Data Source SO	Location Provider String	C
General *	SQL Server	Add Linke	Microsoft.Jet.O ed Server	LEDB.4.0 SQL Server	Provider=Microsoft.Je	
 Refresh Add linked server Edit linked server Delete linked server Export list Restore default size 	Linked Server Conte	Edit Linke Belete Lii Show cor Refresh Columns Export Lii	ed Server Inked Server Intent F5 • st		Show Conten	its

The list displays the existing linked servers as a grid with the following columns: Server Name, SQL Server, Provider, Data Source, Location, Provider String, Catalog.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *create* a new linked server and specify its properties using <u>Linked Server Editor</u>[398], *edit*, *delete* the selected linked server, retrieve its *content*, *refresh* the list, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u>[537] the list of linked servers to any of supported output file <u>formats</u>[935].

Linked servers management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **Linked servers manager**.

To display the actual linked server contents, press the **Show Contents** button.

Hint: Linked server contents are also available within the $\underline{Content}_{402}$ tab of $\underline{Linked Server}_{\overline{Editor}^{\overline{398}}}$.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

10.14 DTS Packages

In SQL Server 2000, **Data Transformation Services (DTS)** is a component built to take data from one OLE DB data source, perform certain operations and store it in a destination OLE DB data source. DTS consists of **packages** which define a particular set of work that forms a logical work item. **DTS Packages** contain multiple connections to data sources, tasks to be performed, workflows. Examples of tasks include copying data from source to destination connections, transforming data from a source connection and placing the transformed data in the destination connection, executing a set of Microsoft ActiveX scripts or Transact-SQL statements against a connection.

In SQL Server 2005 (and higher), **Integration Services** (**SSIS**) packages are provided for data warehousing purposes.

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides running **Data Transformation Services (DTS)** packages that were developed by using SQL Server 2000 tools. These can be run in SQL Server 2005 and higher, alongside **Integration Services (SSIS**) packages.



- DTS packages manager 811
- DTS package properties 421

See also: DTS Packages Editor421

10.14.1 DTS Packages manager

The **DTS Packages manager** allows you to browse the list of **DTS packages** and manage them efficiently.

Using this tool you can include SQL Server 2000 DTS packages in SQL Server 2005 (and higher) data transformation solutions. A package can include both Execute Package tasks and Execute DTS 2000 Package tasks because each type of task uses a different version of the run-time engine.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | DTS Packages** main menu [915] item, or rightclick the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | DTS Packages** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].

🙀 DTS Packages									
	ERV2005 -	2 🕨 📑 📑 🖂							Ŧ
Servers	*	Name	Owner	Descrip	tion	Creation Date	ID	Size	24.064
DOOM_SERVER\TS	SERV 🔻		Ru	n Package		24.01.2001 10.21.00	100402200-0001		24 004
General	*		📑 Imp	ort Package					
Refresh			P Ex	port Package					
Run package			Co	lumns 🕨					
Import package			📑 Ex	port List					
Export package					1 				
Export list		Create Date		Version ID			Δ	Description	
Restore default size		24.07.2007 16:27:5	8	{27D9AF59-A2EF-	4EE3-	-88AA-A0FCC45EC268	3}		
		🔁 24.07.2007 16:27:6	8	{606D4877-BA19-4	480F-/	A1D5-C06837D81F23}			

The list displays the existing DTS packages as a grid with the following columns: *Name*, *Owner*, *Description*, *Create Date*, *ID*, *Size*.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *run* a package, *import* a package, *export* the selected DTS package, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also <u>export</u> and the list of DTS packages to any of supported output file <u>formats</u> as a second seco

DTS packages management tools are also available through the **Navigation bar** of the **DTS Packages manager**.

At the bottom of the **DTS Packages manager** window the info area is located. It displays common information pertaining to the selected package: *creation date*, *version ID* and *description*.

Hint: These properties are also available within the modal <u>DTS Package properties</u> [421] dialog which is called through the **DTS Package Properties...** context menu item of the DTS package alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63].

If you need to remove a package, right-click the package in the information area and select the **Delete** popup menu item.

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

10.15 Resource Governor

Resource Governor is a tool that implements the *Resource Governor* technology introduced in SQL Server 2008 which enables you to manage SQL Server workload and resources by specifying limits on resource consumption by incoming requests.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | Resource Governor** <u>main menu</u> जिते item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> 63 tree and select the **Tasks | Resource Governor** item from the <u>context menu</u> 53.



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 814
- <u>Working with Resource Governor</u>

 ⁸¹⁴

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix^[23] page.

10.15.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Resource Governor**.



The Navigation bar of Resource Governor allows you to:

Servers

select a server instance for managing resources

General

- ✓ compile changes
- lateration in the content of the window
- restore the default size and position of the window

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Resource Governor** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> (i, open the <u>Environment Options</u> (1), proceed to the <u>Windows</u> (1) section there and select (1) *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or (1) *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> (1)) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

10.15.2 Working with Resource Governor

The **Resource Governor** window consists of three basic areas: **Resource Governor Configuration**, **Resource Pools** and **Workload Groups**.

Image: Cocal HostisglexPress Image: Second Seco
Resource Governor Configuration
Resource Governor enabled
Classifier function (in master database)
Resource Pools
Resource Pool Name Minimum CPU % Maximum CPU % Minimum Memory % Maximum Memory %
📲 default 0 100 0 100
😵 internal 0 100 <u>0</u> 100
🚰 pool1 25 100 🕂 Add Resource Pool 100
📲 test 25 100 🛥 Delete Resource Pool 99
Export List
Workload Groups V Show all workload groups
Workload Group Name Importance Max Memory Grant for Max CPU Use Limit for Memory Grant Time-out Max Degree of Paralleli Memory Grant Time-out
Medium 25 0 0 0 0
7 internal Medium 25 0 0 0 0
Medium 25 0 0 0 0
۰ m

Resource Governor Configuration

Resource Governor enabled

This option enables/disables Resource Governor.

Classifier function

Use the drop-down list to select the <u>user-defined function</u> whose return values will be used for classifying sessions that are then routed to the appropriate workload group.

To create a new function, click the 1 button. To refresh the function list, click the 2 button.

Note: If there are pending changes in Resource Governor configuration, you will need to reconfigure Resource Governor to apply these changes using the corresponding **Reconfigure** button.

The **Resource Pools** list displays the resource pools as a grid with the following columns: *Resource Pool Name, Minimum CPU (%), Maximum CPU (%), Minimum Memory (%), Maximum Memory (%).* If more convenient, you can <u>change the order</u> (467) of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

To set a value, click in the cell you need, and type in the required value, or use the spinner control for this purpose.

Right-click an item within the **Resource Pools** list to call the **context menu** allowing you to $\frac{1}{2}$ add a new resource pool, $\frac{1}{2}$ delete the selected resource pool, or export solution is to any of supported output file formats solution.

The **Workload Groups** list displays the workload groups as a grid with the following columns: Workload Group Name, Importance, Max Memory Grant for Request (%), Max CPU Use Limit for Request (sec), Memory Grant Time-out for Request (sec), Max Degree of Parallelism, Max Number of Requests, Resource Pool. If more convenient, you can change the order 407 of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

Show all workload groups

If this option is selected, all workload groups are displayed in the list, otherwise only those associated with the currently selected resource pool.

To set a value, click in the cell you need, and type in the required value, or use the spinner control for this purpose.

To associate a workload group with a resource pool, click in a cell of the *Resource Pool* column and select the resource pool you need from the drop-down list.

Right-click an item within the **Workload Groups** list to call the **context menu** allowing you to $\frac{1}{2}$ add a new workload group, = delete the selected workload group, or export state to any of supported output file formats state.

To apply changes, use the $\frac{5}{5}$ **Compile** item available within the <u>Navigation bar</u> [814] and <u>toolbar</u> [814].

10.16 Server Log Viewer

Server Log Viewer allows you to analyze SQL Server server logs in a simple way, providing the ability to sort, filter and group log statements.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | Server Log Viewer** main menu [915] item, or right-click the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Server Log Viewer** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 818
- Working with Server Log Viewer 818

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) Note: To compare all features of the Full and the Lite versions of SQL Manager, refer to the Feature Matrix [23] page.

10.16.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Server** Log Viewer.

Servers	*
	-
General	*
E Select log	
Refresh	
🤌 Load log	
Export log	
🌱 Filter	
Restore default size	

The Navigation bar of Server Log Viewer allows you to:

Servers

select a server instance to view server logs

General

- 🔚 select a log
- is a set of the content of the window is a set of the window is a se
- Ioad a log from an external *.txt file
- 🚽 export log to an external *.txt file
- 🌱 filter logs in the list
- restore the default size and position of the window

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Server Log Viewer** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select O *Toolbar* (if you need the toolbar only) or O *Both* (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Hint: Items of the **General** pane of the **Navigation bar** are also available in the *context menu* of the **Server Log Viewer** area.

10.16.2 Working with Server Log Viewer

The **Server Log Viewer** window displays the list of server logs as a grid, and allows you to manage them efficiently.

ption 'user options' changed fro tbase 'xtraLargeDB_20130416'. tbase 'TEST_20130416'.	om O to		Type 🖵 Server	Log Source 💌 Current	Ê			
ption 'user options' changed fro abase 'xtraLargeDB_20130416'. abase 'TEST_20130416'.	om O to	Log	Type -	Log Source 💌 Current				
ption 'user options' changed fro abase 'xtraLargeDB_20130416'. abase 'TEST_20130416'.	m 0 to	0. Run the SQL	Server	Current				
abase 'xtraLargeDB_20130416'. abase 'TEST_20130416'.		SQL	Senver					
abase 'TEST_20130416'.	1 n			Current				
	8-	Select Log	Server	Current				
abase 'AdventureWorks_201304	4 🔊	Refresh	Server	Current	1			
abase 'DemoDB_20130416'.	0	Load Log	Server	Current	1			
s encountered 2 occurrence(s)		Export Log	Server	Current	1			
s encountered 2 occurrence(s)		Export Log	Server	Current	1			
s encountered 2 occurrence(s)		Filter	Server	Current	-			
Selected row details: Date 16.04.2013 11:31:59,160 Log Ourset								
	abase 'DemoDB_20130416'. s encountered 2 occurrence(s) s encountered 2 occurrence(s) is encountered 2 occurrence(s)	abase 'DemoDB_20130416'. s encountered 2 occurrence(s) s encountered 2 occurrence(s) s encountered 2 occurrence(s)	abase 'DemoDB_20130416'. Image: DemoDB_20130416'. s encountered 2 occurrence(s) Image: Demode Text Control of the second sec	abase 'DemoDB_20130416'. Server s encountered 2 occurrence(s) Export Log s encountered 2 occurrence(s) Filter s encountered 2 occurrence(s) Server s encountered 2 occurrence(s) Server	abase 'DemoDB_20130416'. Image: Constraint of the server of the serv			

The list displays the server logs as a grid with the following columns: *Date, Source, Message, Log Type, Log Source.* If more convenient, you can <u>change the order</u> of the columns by dragging their headers horizontally.

Click a column caption to **sort** items by values of this column in the ascending or the descending mode.

If necessary, you can **group the data in grid** by any of the columns. This operation is performed by dragging the column header to the gray **"Group by" box** area at the top. When grouping by a column is applied to the grid, all the rows are displayed as subnodes to the grouping row value. To reverse grouping, just drag the column header back.

Right-click an item within the list to call the **context menu** allowing you to *select* a log, *refresh* the list, load a log, export log and filter the logs in the grid.

Server logs management tools are also available through the <u>Navigation bar</u> बाबी and <u>toolbar</u> बाबी of **Server Log Viewer**.

The lower area displays the following server log details: Date Log Source Message

10.17 Activity Monitor

Activity Monitor allows you to get information about users connections to the Database Engine and the locks that they hold.

Use **Activity Monitor** when troubleshooting database locking issues, and to terminate a deadlocked or otherwise unresponsive process.

To launch the tool, select the **Services | Activity Monitor** <u>main menu</u> [915] item, or rightclick the host alias in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **Tasks | Activity Monitor** item from the <u>context menu</u> [53].



- Using Navigation bar and Toolbar 821
- Working with Activity Monitor

Availability: Full version (for Yes Windows) Lite version (for No Windows) **Note:** To compare all features of the **Full** and the **Lite** versions of SQL Manager, refer to the <u>Feature Matrix</u>^[23] page.

10.17.1 Using Navigation bar and Toolbar

The **Navigation bar** and **Toolbar** provide quick access to tools implemented in **Activity Monitor**.



The Navigation bar of Activity Monitor allows you to:

Servers

select a server instance for monitoring activity

General

- refresh the content of the window
- restore the default size and position of the window

Items of the **Navigation bar** are also available on the **ToolBar** of the **Activity Monitor** window. To enable the <u>toolbar</u> [917], open the <u>Environment Options</u> [825] dialog, proceed to the <u>Windows</u> [829] section there and select (if you need the toolbar only) or (if you need both the toolbar and the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915]) in the **Bar style for child** forms group.

10.17.2 Working with Activity Monitor

The Activity Monitor window consists of two basic areas: Active Process and All Locks

<u>م</u> 🔄	Activity Monitor																
A	Active Process																
(A	I Process	es) 🔻	Show system	em process		Filter by	y status (All)			•]						
Pro	ocess	Is System	Status	Execution Co	nt	Blocki	Blocked	CPU	Pł	hysical	ю	Wait Type		Wait Time	Comm	and	-
0	1	V	background		0		0	369267	i		0				0 RESO	URCE MOI	N
0	2	V	background		0		0	749406			0	LAZYWRITER_	SLEEP		46 LAZY	WRITER	Ξ
0	3	V	suspended		0		0	12500(ŀ	(il F	Process	JE	29	68 LOG \	NRITER	
O	4	>	background		0		0	609				COL Test	_DEADLOCK_S	38	28 LOCK	MONITOR	L
0	5	v	background		0		0	0		-	Sno	wSQLText	EUP	18934518	59 SIGN/	AL HANDLE	9
0	6	V	sleeping		0		0	0		C	Colu	imns 🕨 🕨			0 TASK	MANAGER	1
0	7	>	sleeping		0		0	0		an -	=vn/	ortliet			0 TASK	MANAGER	<u> </u>
0	8	v	sleeping		0		0	0	Ļ	•	- ^p	ont List			0 UNKN	IOWN TOK	E
0	9	v	background		0		0	0			0	BROKER_TRAN	ISMITTER	18934597	18 BRKR	TASK	_
0	10	v	background		0		0	0			0	ONDEMAND_T	ASK_QUEUE	18934601	09 TASK	MANAGER	1
0	11	v	background		0		0	10984		204	402	CHECKPOINT_	QUEUE	118	90 CHEC	KPOINT	
0	12	v	sleeping		0		0	0			0				0 TASK	MANAGER	
1				1										1		Þ	
	LUCKS								-								
	By proc	esses	F	ilter by object	(All ob	jects)	•										
Pro	ocess ID	Database	ID Databa	ise C	Object	ID (Object Name	Inde	зx			Index ID Lo	ock Type	Mode S	tatus	Owner	-
56		7	Advent	ureWorks 0)	((internal)					0 D	B 9	; o	RANT	STWS	
57		7	Advent	ureWorks 0)	((internal)	_				0 D	B S	s (RANT	STWS	_
57		1	master	1	11515	1018	dEmployee					0 T/	AB S	ich-S C	RANT	Xact	-
58		4	msdb	0)		(internal)					0 D	B S	; (C	RANT	STWS	-
•																•	

Hint: Background/suspended/sleeping processes are differentiated in the list by their icons next to the *Process ID* values.

The **Active Process** list displays the processes as a grid with the following columns: Process ID, Is System, Status, ExecutionContext, Blocking, Blocked By, CPU, Physical IO, Wait Type, Wait Time, Command, Application, Open Transactions, Database, User, Net Address, Net Library, Host, Memory Usage, Login Time, Last Batch.

For your convenience several filtering facilities are implemented: you can filter the rows in the **Active Process** list by process ID, by system/non-system attribute, or by status (*background, suspended, sleeping, running*). Use the corresponding controls in the upper area.

The **All Locks** list provides the following attributes of each lock: *Process ID*, *Database ID*, *Database*, *Object ID*, *Object name*, *Index*, *Index ID*, *Lock type*, *Mode*, *Status*, *Owner*, *Resource*.

If necessary, you can filter the rows in the **All Locks** list by processes or display all objects/internal.

Right-click an item within the **Active Process** or **All Locks** lists to call the **context menu** allowing you to *kill* a process, show *SQL text*, or show/hide columns of the list. Using the context menu you can also export all the list of processes to any of supported output file formats allows.

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development



11 Options

SQL Manager for SQL Server provides you with capabilities for flexible personalization of the application.

Please see the chapters below to learn how to use personalization tools effectively.

- Environment Options 825
- Editor Options 869
- Save Settings 885
- Localization 890
- Keyboard Templates 894
- Find Option dialog 906

The **Options** menu allows you to export all program settings to a *.*reg* file for future use, e.g. when you need to move the settings to another machine (see <u>Save Settings</u> [885] for details).

Hint: Each of the SQL Manager Options dialogs is provided with the **Reset to defaults button**. You can use it either to **Reset current category** or to **Reset all categories**.

See also: <u>Getting Started</u> [41] <u>Database Explorer</u> [63] <u>Database Management</u> [94] <u>Database Objects Management</u> [178] <u>Query Management Tools</u> [424] <u>Data Management</u> [462] <u>Import/Export Tools</u> [530] <u>Database Tools</u> [511] <u>Server Tools</u> [718] <u>External Tools</u> [509] <u>How To...</u> [957]

11.1 Environment Options

Environment Options allow you to customize general options of the SQL Manager application.

To open the **Environment Options** window, select the **Options | b Environment Options...** <u>main menu</u> **b** item, or use the **b Environment Options** button on the main <u>toolbar</u> **b** 17.



See also:

Editor Options Visual Options

11.1.1 Preferences

Show splash screen at startup

Displays the splash screen of SQL Manager for SQL Server at the application startup.

Restore desktop on connect (for refreshed on connect databases)

This option determines whether the previously opened windows and their positions should be restored upon connection to the database.

Do not restore if 'Refresh objects on connection' database registration option is off

Check this option to perform restoring desktop operation if the 'Refresh objects on connection' option of the <u>Database registration info</u> is on.

Disable multiple instances

Checking this option prevents one from running multiple instances of SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Show desktop panel (for MDI Environment style only)

Displays <u>Desktop Panel</u> [47] when no child windows are open.

Environment Options	
Preferences	Preferences
Confirmations Co	 Show splash screen at startup Restore desktop on connection to database Do not restore if 'Refresh objects on connection' database registration option is off Disable multiple instances Show desktop panel (for MDI environment only)
	Reset all toolbars and menus OK Cancel Help Apply

If necessary, you can **reset all toolbars and menus** of the application using the corresponding button.

Hint: The **Reset to Defaults** button which is common for all sections of the **Environment Options** dialog opens a menu with items allowing you to discard all changes and reset options of the *current category* or of *all categories* to their defaults.

11.1.1.1 Full mode activation

Note that when using **the FREE Lite version of SQL Manager for SQL Server** (which contains functional limitations) you can activate a 30-day period of fully-functional usage. During this period you will get the splash screen displaying the number of days left every time you start the application. After the period expires, you will be able to continue using the Lite version.



To activate the 30-day Full version mode, please enable the \boxed{V} Show Full Version features option available on the <u>Preferences</u> page of the **Environment Options** dialog (note that this option is only available in the Lite version of SQL Manager).

11.1.2 Confirmations

Confirm saving the object (or document) upon closing the editor

If this option is selected, the program requires confirmation each time you want to save changes in a database object or document.

Confirm dropping of object

If this option is selected, the program requires confirmation of dropping 178 a database object.

Confirm exit from SQL Manager

If this option is selected, you are prompted for confirmation each time when you exit the application.

Environment Options		×
Preferences	Confirmations	
Confirmations Appearance Tools Tools Grid Grid Gobal Shortcuts Find Option	 Confirm saving the object (or document) upon closing the editor Confirm dropping of object Confirm exit from SQL Manager Confirm deleting records Confirm metadata changing (Changing Metadata window) Confirm metadata changing (Changing Metadata window) Confirm addition into spell checking dictionary Confirm transformation of misprint into substitution Confirm transaction commit Confirm transaction rollback Confirm rebuilding of dependent objects metadata on closing the editor (if required) Transaction confirmation in Query Data and Design Query Disable transaction confirmation on closing the editor Default action on closing the editor 	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply	

Confirm deleting records

This option enables/disables a confirmation dialog for deleting records.

Confirm metadata changing (Changing Metadata Window)

This option enables/disables the <u>Changing Metadata</u> [923] window.

Confirm addition into spell checking dictionary

Enable this option if you wish to be prompted for adding a word to the dictionary which is used for checking words spelling (see <u>Spell Checking</u> 82).

Confirm transformation of misprint into substitution

If this option is selected, you need to confirm replacing a misprinted word with a corresponding substitution word (see <u>Spell Checking</u> [822]).

Confirm transaction commit

If this option is selected, the program requires confirmation on attempt to commit a transaction.

Confirm transaction rollback

If this option is selected, the program requires confirmation on attempt to rollback a transaction.

Confirm transaction commit on closing data in object editors

If this option is selected, the program prompts to commit the transaction upon closing the 'Data' tab in object editors.
Confirm rebuilding of dependent objects metadata on closing the editor (if required)

This option enables/disables a confirmation dialog for rebuilding the dependent objects after comiling.

Transaction confirmation in Query Data and Design Query

Disable transaction confirmation on closing the editor

If this option is checked, no transaction confirmation will be required on closing <u>Query</u> <u>Data</u>[426] and <u>Design Query</u>[442]. Specify the **default action** (*Commit* or *Rollback*) and this action will be performed automatically each time when you exit **Design Query** or **Query Data**.

11.1.3 Appearance

Theme

Select the main color theme for the application: Light, Blue or Dark.

Environment style

This group allows you to define the basic window environment - *MDI* (like Microsoft®)
Office) or *Floating windows* (like Borland® Delphi IDE).

Windows restrictions

This option allows you to set the number of editors (<u>Table Editor</u> 200, <u>Query Data</u> 426, etc.) that can be opened simultaneously.

Zoom options

This group of options is only available if **Environment Style** is set to *Floating windows environment*. It allows you to set maximization size for child windows:

- Full screen
- Restricted by Main Form
- Restricted by Main Form and DB Explorer
- Justified my Main Form and DB Explorer

Bar style for child forms

Here you can define the location of action buttons:

within the Navigation bar (on the left) and/or
on the Toolbar.

If necessary, you can also 🗹 Enable floating toolbars for your application.

Environment Options		×					
Preferences	Appearance						
Confirmations	Theme Slue						
🕀 🍖 Tools	Environment style						
TI Fonts	MDI environment (like Microsoft Office applications)	 MDI environment (like Microsoft Office applications) 					
Grid	O Floating windows environment (like Borland Delphi IDE)						
Global Shortcuts	Windows restrictions						
Find Option	Number of open editors is restricted						
	Zoom options						
	O Full screen						
	O Restricted by Main Form						
	Restricted by Main Form and DB Explorer						
	Justified by Main Form and DB Explorer						
	Bar style for child forms						
	O Navigation bar						
	O Toolbar						
Reset to Defaults	<u>Q</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	Apply					

11.1.4 Tools

Miscellaneous

Show only connected databases in drop-down menu

If this option is checked, only <u>connected</u> बिधे databases are displayed in drop-down menus of such tools as <u>Design Query</u> [42], <u>Execute Script</u> [ता श्रे, etc.

Don't fill server lists in connection forms

If this option is checked, the server list will be filled up with the names of most recently used servers that are stored locally in the Windows registry. Otherwise, SQL Manager will scan the network to fill in the server lists in connection forms.

Allow using parameters in query text

This feature allows you to specify different values within a query in a <u>popup dialog</u> 459 just before the query execution. Use the colon (':') character before an identifier (e.g. :P1) to specify a parameter within the query.

Show collation in table DDL only if it is different from database collation

If this option is selected then collation in table DDL is not displayed in case it is equal to database collation.

Close DDL to Files progress form after successful execution

If this option is checked the Apply Changes dialog (that indicates the writing DDL to files process) is closed automatically if operation is succeeded.

Environment Options		\times
Environment Options Preferences Confirmations Appearance Tools Tools Collect Editors Collect Editors	Tools Miscellaneous Show only connected databases in drop-down menu Don't fill server lists in connection forms Allow using parameters in query text Show collation in table DDL only if it is different from database collation Close DDL to Files progress form after successful execution Object name display style <schema>.<name> <schema>.<name> <chema>.<name> <chema>.<name> <chema>. New tool form should be opened for Opatabase oursently selected in DB Explorer</chema></name></chema></name></chema></name></schema></name></schema>	×
Global Shortcuts	Database currently selected in DB Explorer O Database selected in currently focused form	
Reset to Defaults	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply	

Object name display style

Here you can select the format in which object names will be displayed in some object editors, headers of object editors, <u>Select Object dialog</u> [951], <u>Print metadata</u> [643].

<schema>.<name>

Display object name in the "<schema_name>.<object_name>" format.

Instant (<schema>) with hiding the 'dbo' schema

Display object name in the "<object_name> (<schema_name>)" format. 'dbo' schema name is omitted.

New tool form should be opened for

This option defines which database should be selected in the launched tool. **Database currently selected in DB Explorer**

Tool will be opened with the database focused in the DB Explorer selected.

Database selected in currently focused form

Tool will be opened with the database which is selected in the current form.

11.1.4.1 Timeouts

This page allows you to set timeouts for some operations performed in SQL Manager. Timeouts are necessary for preventing program hang-up upon execution of a SQL statement due to transaction interlocking. You can set timeouts for *changing metadata*, *refreshing database objects* and *data tabs*.

Environment Options		×
Preferences	Timeouts	
Confirmations		
Appearance	Timeouts, seconds, 0 - unlimited	
Tools	Changing metadata	120 🚔
	Refreshing database objects	60 🚔
DB Explorer	Data tab of object editors, Query Data, Design Query and Execute Script	30 📥
Object Editors	,,, _,, _	
🖓 Query Data		
🗌 🖳 🔁 SQL Monitor		
😳 🐺 Execute Script		
🕀 🔛 Design Query		
🔲 🔚 Default data options		
⊡ ⊡ Database Designer		
Print Metadata		
Data Export		
SQL Server Reference		
TI Fonts		
Grid Grid		
Localization		
Global Shortcuts		
Find Option		
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	Apply

Refresh of objects can also be terminated after timeout expiration if there is an active transaction that has made any changes to metadata.

11.1.4.2 DB Explorer

General options

Show hosts in DB Explorer

Shows/hides database hosts in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

Show table subobjects

Shows/hides <u>table</u> subobjects (columns, indexes, etc.) in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree.

Sort by aliases

Use this option to apply sorting registered hosts and databases by their aliases in the \underline{DB} Explorer [63] tree.

Rename objects by editing in place

Allows you to edit object names in <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] by selecting any object and clicking its alias one more time.

Hide empty schemas

This option allows you to specify whether <u>schemas</u> [189] containing no objects will be displayed in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree.

Environment Options				×
Preferences	DB Explorer			
Preferences Confirmations Appearance Tools DB Explorer Object Editors Query Data SQL Monitor Execute Script Design Query Default data options	DB Explorer General options Expand on connel Show hosts in DB Explorer Tables Show table subobjects Views Sort by aliases DDFs Rename objects by editing in place Triggers Hide empty schemas Indices Recent objects count 10 Table details in SQL Assistant Assemblies			on connection
⊟t [®] Database Designer i⊟ Print Metadata	Columns	○ Triggers	DDL Syno	Triggers nyms ion Eunctions
Data Export	O Foreign keys	◯ Table in fo	Partit	ion Schemes fext Catalogs
TI Fonts	Checks	ODefinition	Aggr	egates Schema Collections
Global Shortcuts	OIndices	O Description	Sym Asyn Certi Defa Rules K	netric Keys imetric Keys ficates ults same Types
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u>	elp <u>A</u> pply

Recent objects count

Defines the number of objects displayed within the Recent 80 menu of the DB Explorer 63.

Table details in SQL Assistant

These options switch the <u>SQL Assistant</u>^[85] mode for displaying <u>table</u>^[192] details (*columns*, *Foreign keys*, *checks*, *indexes*, *triggers*, *table info*, *definition* or *description*).

Expand on connection

This group of options allows you to specify the node(s) indicating type(s) of objects that will be expanded within <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] upon successful connection to the database.

See also: Database Explorer 63

11.1.4.2.1 Search

Here you can set search options for DB Explorer search string:



Search by categories

This option determines the search scope when the Find Item feature is used: if this option is selected, the search is performed within the currently selected category (node in the tree) only.

Use case sensitive search

If this option is selected, the search string case is considered when using the Search Panel.

Environment Options		×
Preferences	^	Search
Confirmations		Search options
Tools		Search by categories
P Timeouts		Use case sensitive search
DB Explorer		Don't search in collapsed nodes
Search		Start-with search
Object Editors		
Query Data		
SQL Monitor		
Execute Script		
Design Query		
Detabase Designer		
Data Export		
SQL Server Reference		
TI Fonts		
🖶 📰 Grid		
Localization		
Global Shortcuts		
Eind Option	~	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		<u>Q</u> K <u>Cancel H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply

Don't search in collapsed nodes

Enable the option to search within the expanded nodes only.

Start-with search

Check this option to search for objects those names begin with the defined searched string.

11.1.4.3 Object Editors

All

Convert created objects' names to lower case

Enable this option if you need to convert the names of all newly created objects to the lower case automatically.

Always open the first tab

If this option is checked, the first tab is activated by default on opening an object in its editor.

Table Editor

Show Object Explorer

Enables/disables the Object Explorer panel within the Navigation bar 2011 of Table Editor 2001.

Do not retrieve record count for a table

Check this option to disable retrieving record count for tables (with this feature enabled, opening large tables may take much time).

Environment Options		×
Preferences Confirmations Description Appearance Tools Description Descriptio	Object Editors All Convert created objects' names to lower case Always open the first tab	
Object Editors Query Data SQL Monitor SQL Monitor SQL Monitor Design Query Default data options Database Designer Print Metadata Data Export SQL Server Reference TI Fonts Grid Localization	Table Editor Show Object Explorer Do not retrieve record count for a table Object list style Tree List, sorted by namespace Ignore case Procedure Editor Get info messages in Procedure Editor on execution a procedure	
Eeset to Defaults ▼	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply	

Object list style

These options allow you to define the style of the combo-boxes used to select database objects (e.g. *Table or view* in <u>Trigger Editor</u> 237). Objects can be represented as a *tree*, a *list sorted by namespace* or a *list sorted by name*. Use the **Ignore case** option to enable/disable case sensitive sorting.

Procedure Editor

Get info messages in Procedure Editor on execution of a procedure

This option enables/disables information messages returned upon procedure execution 258ो in <u>Procedure Editor</u> 253ो.

See also:

Database and Server Objects Management

11.1.4.4 Query Data

Show actual execution plan on query execution

If this option is checked, the <u>query plan</u> 432 is displayed automatically upon query execution in <u>Query Data</u> 426.

Show result for each query

With this option checked, when you <u>execute</u> [434] two or more queries (divided by "GO"), the result of each query will be displayed one by one. Otherwise, only the result of the last query will be displayed.

Show results on Edit tab

If this option is checked, the **Results** tab is displayed as a separate tab.

Execute selected text separately

Check this option to allow $\underline{execution}$ 434 of the selected statement separately.

Write only successfully executed queries to database SQL log file

If this option is checked, unsuccessful queries will not be saved to the Query Data log file (see <u>Setting log options 121</u>) in the <u>Database Registration Info 116</u> dialog).

	×
Image: Preferences Preferences Confirmations Appearance Appearance Tools Show actual execution plan on query execution Show result for each query Show results on Edit tab Show results on Edit tab Execute selected text separately Write only successfully executed queries to database SQL log file Don't save queries automatically for the next session Always save changes in Favorite Queries before closing Open server cursor Same queries for all databases Refresh DB Explorer upon successful DDL statement execution Get info messages 	×
Image: Construction Image: Construction Imag	:lp <u>A</u> pply

Don't save queries automatically for the next session

If this option is checked, the SQL query text will not be saved. Otherwise, it will be saved in Windows registry and will be therefore available in the next application sessions.

Always save changes in Favorite Queries before closing

This option enables/disables saving changes in SQL queries marked as <u>Favorite</u> automatically upon closing the editor.

Same queries for all databases

With this option enabled, <u>Query Data</u> [426] stores all queries in a shared repository, so that switching to another database does not cause loading queries of that database (applying this option does not affect currently opened copies of Query Data). The value of the option can be changed freely without any risk to lose the query repository content.

Refresh DB Explorer upon successful DDL statement execution

If this option is selected, the content of $\underline{DB \text{ Explorer}}$ is refreshed each time a DDL statement is $\underline{\text{executed}}$ successfully in $\underline{\text{Query Data}}$.

Open server cursor

This option determines whether the application should attempt to open server cursor. If this option is ON, the result dataset is processed with server resources, otherwise it's processed on the client side.

Get info messages

This options enables receiving of server messages and PRINT command results.

See also:

Query Data 426

11.1.4.5 SQL Monitor

SQL log

This group of options allows you to enable logging of all <u>SQL Monitor</u> [16] events to a file. Check the **Log SQL Monitor events to file** option, specify the path to the log file using the l button, and enter a name for the *.*sql* file. To clear the log file after it reaches some definite size, check the **Clear log file when it is greater than...** option and set the maximum file size (in Kilobytes).

Environment Options	×
Preferences	SQL Monitor
Confirmations	
Appearance	SQL log
🖶 🗮 Tools	✓ Log SQL Monitor events to file
	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\sqlmonitoring.sql
🗈 🗄 DB Explorer	
Object Editors	Clear log file when it is greater than (KB)
Query Data	Show time of operation
SQL Monitor	
🛛 📴 Execute Script	Always show on top
🕀 🔛 Design Query	
Default data options	
·····티() Database Designer	
Print Metadata	
Data Export	
SQL Server Reference	
TI Fonts	
Grid	
Localization	
Global Shortcuts	
Find Option	
Reset to Defaults	OK Cancel Help Apply

Show time of operation

If this option is checked, the execution time of logged operations is added.

Always show on top

Select this option if you want to display the <u>SQL Monitor</u> window in the foreground permanently.

See also:

SQL Monitor 616

11.1.4.6 Execute Script

Abort script execution on error

If this option is checked, script execution is aborted if an error occurs.

Show statements explorer

With this option checked, $\underline{\text{Execute Script}}$ are step loaded script to enable fast navigation in the $\underline{\text{Script}}$ $\underline{\text{Explorer}}$ tool.

Show message when done

Displays a message box on finishing script execution.

Show info messages (slower execution)

Select this option to enable information messages when working with scripts. This causes slower script execution.

Execute selected text separately

If a text fragment is currently selected in Execute Script, only this fragment is executed when you click *Execute script* on the Navigation bar or press *F9*. If this option is disabled, the whole script is executed, but you can still execute the selected fragment using the corresponding *Execute Selected Only* item of the context menu selected or by pressing *Ctrl+F9*.

Don't clear error list on selected text execution

If this option is checked, the error list is not cleared upon execution of the selected statement.

Environment Options		×
Environment Options Preferences Confirmations Appearance Tools DB Explorer DB Explorer Search Object Editors Query Data Execute Script Execute Script Design Query	^	Execute Script Abort script execution on error Show statements explorer Show message when done Show info messages (slower execution) Execute selected text separately Don't clear error list on selected text execution Disable all code features in Execute Script Register newly created databases
Besign outbry Besign outbry Style & Color Palette Default data options Default data options Database Designer Print Metadata Data Export SQL Server Reference TI Fonts Grid Data Options Print Data	~	Transaction options Rollback on abort Start transaction automatically if needed
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		OK Cancel Help Apply

Register newly created databases

If a script contains the CREATE DATABASE statement, it will be registered after script execution.

Disable all code features in Execute Script

This option disables code completion, code folding, highlight and all options that are set on the <u>Quick Code</u> are page in Execute Script. For options that are set on the <u>Highlight</u> are page, the defaults will be applied.

Transaction options

Rollback on abort

This option is only available if the Abort script on error option is checked. This option evokes automatic rollback when script execution is aborted.

Start transaction automatically if needed

If the option is enabled then transaction starts automatically after statements is executed. Otherwise, the BEGIN statement is required for transaction to start.

See also: Execute Script बि19

11.1.4.7 Design Query

General options

Allow SELECT queries only

When this option is checked, the *INSERT*, *UPDATE* and *DELETE* statements are not allowed in <u>Design Query</u> [442].

Select condition row

Displays the selected condition in different rows on the **Criteria** and **Grouping Criteria** tabs of <u>Design Query</u> [442].

Drag column name

Displays the dragged column name in the editor area.

W Hide selection when inactive

Hides the selection when the <u>Design Query</u> 442 window is inactive.

Show column types

Displays the column data type next to the column name in the table box.

Union all by default

Check this option to use the UNION ALL expression in <u>Design Query</u> [442] by default. The UNION keyword allows you to include the results of two SELECT statements in one resulting table.

The *ALL* parameter incorporates all rows into the results, including duplicates. If not specified, duplicate rows are removed.

Allow owner prefix for dbo objects

Adds the schema name to the table name in the 'Table' box caption (for [dbo] schema objects)

Show actual execution plan on query execution

If this option is checked, the <u>query plan</u> 457 is displayed within the corresponding tab of the <u>Design Query</u> 42 window.

Environment Options		×
Preferences Confirmations Appearance Tools Timeouts DB Explorer Object Editors Query Data Query Data SQL Monitor Execute Script Default data options Default data options Print Metadata Data Export SQL Server Reference TF Fonts Grid Localization String Option	Design Query General options Allow SELECT queries only Select condition row Drag column name Hide selection when inactive Show column types Union all by default Allow owner prefix for dbo objects Show actual execution plan on query exec Visible tabs Criteria Selection Group criteria Sorting	ecution Script format Keywords format As is v Functions format As is v
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	<u>о</u> к	<u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply

Visible tabs

These options specify which <u>Design Query</u> [442] tabs are available and which are not. Use the check boxes to make the corresponding tabs visible/invisible.

Script format

These options specify case formatting of keywords and functions in query text within the <u>Edit</u> 454 tab: As is keeps the original case, Uppercase sets all the keywords/functions to the upper case, Lowercase sets all the keywords/functions to the lower case, and First upper sets the first letters of all keywords/functions to the upper case.

Additionally, you can set styles and color for all **Design Query** objects by using <u>Style &</u> <u>Color Palette</u> [842].

See also: Design Query 442

11.1.4.7.1 Style & Color Palette

Style

These options specify the way various <u>Design Query</u> [442] elements look: the **Condition button**: *Flat*, *3DLook*, *Raised*; **object borders**: *Bump*, *Etched*, *Raised*, *Sunken*. If necessary, you can also specify **flatness** for objects and buttons using the corresponding options.

V XP tables style

This option determines the appearance of non-client areas of tables in <u>Design Query</u> [442].

Show icons on tabs

With this option selected, you can see icons next to the tab names in <u>Design Query</u> [442].

Environment Options		×
Preferences	Style & Color Palette	
Confirmations	Style	
	Condition button style Pained	
E Tools	Raised	
P Timeouts	Object border kind Raised	~
🕀 🗄 DB Explorer	Flat object's buttons	
Object Editors	Flat objects	
📄 📝 Query Data	Windows style of tables	
SQL Monitor	Show icons on tabs	
- 🐺 Execute Script		
🖻 🔛 Design Query	Color palette	
🛄 Style & Color Palette	Active condition row	Field text
Default data options	Condition text	Selected field text
Ello Database Designer	Condition item text	Work space
Print Metadata		
Data Export		Field
SQL Server Reference	Active table caption*	Operation
Erid	Active table caption text*	Group
	Inactive table caption*	Predicate
Global Shortcuts	Inactive table caption text*	Subguery
Find Option	· _	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	<u></u> Ωκ	Cancel <u>H</u> elp Apply

Color palette

These options define the colors of various <u>Design Query</u>[442] elements.

Active condition row (at the <u>Criteria</u> 448) and <u>Grouping criteria</u> 452) tabs):

	<u>All</u>	of the following are met		
	1.	HR.DEPARTMENT.DEPARTMENTID	=	HR.EMPLOYEE.DEPT_ID
4	2.	HR.EMPLOYEE.IS ACTIVE = 1		

Condition text (at the <u>Criteria</u> [448] and <u>Grouping criteria</u> [452] tabs):



Condition item text (at the Criteria 448) and Grouping criteria 452) tabs):

All of the following are met		
1 HR.DEPARTMENT.DEPARTMENTID	=	HR.EMPLOYEE.DEPT_ID
$2.^{VS} HR.EMPLOYEE.IS ACTIVE = 1$		

Table client area (in the diagram area 444):

	HR.EMPLOYEE	X
	HIRE_DATE	
	SALARY	
	DETAILS	
	→ 🗹 DEPT_ID	
	MANAGER_ID	
	<u></u>	
DEPT_ROOM 👻		

Active table caption (in the diagram area [444]):



Inactive table caption (in the <u>diagram area</u>[444]):

HR.EMPLOYEE	
EMP_ID	
POSITION	
FIRST_NAME	
LAST_NAME	
GENDER	
MARITAL_STATUS	
✓ BIRTH_DATE	DEPARTMENTID 15
✓ HIRE_DATE	{ ✓ NAME
✓ IS_ACTIVE	∫ ✓ GROUPNAME
SALARY SALARY	/ MANAGERID
✓ DETAILS	/ DEPT_PHONE
DEPT_ID	↓ DEPT_ROOM
MANAGER_ID	DEPT_ADDRESS

Column text (in the <u>diagram area</u> [444]):



Selected column text (in the diagram area 444):



Work space (in the <u>diagram area</u>[44]):

IS_ACTIVE	DEPT_PHONE
SALARY SALARY	DEPT_ROOM
✓ DETAILS	DEPT_ADDRESS
DEPT_ID	↓ ا
MANAGER_ID	4

Column (at the Criteria 448) and Grouping criteria 452 tabs):

All of the following are met	
1. HR.DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTID 2. HR.EMPLOYEE.IS ACTIVE =	= <u>HR.EMPLOYEE.DEPT ID</u>

Operation (at the Criteria 448 and Grouping criteria 452 tabs):

 All of the following are met	
1. HR.DEPARTMENT.DEPARTMENTID	= HR.EMPLOYEE.DEPT ID
2. HR.EMPLOYEE.IS ACTIVE	1

Group (at the Grouping criteria 452 tab):

<u>All</u> of th	he following are met
1. MA	X HR.EMPLOYEE.SALARY =

Predicate (at the <u>Criteria</u> [448] and <u>Grouping criteria</u> [452] tabs when a <u>subquery</u> [445] is used):

	<u>All</u> of the following are met		
	1. <u>HR.DEPARTMENT.DEPARTMENTID</u>	>= <u>A</u>	LL (SELECT HR.DEPARTMENT.)
٠	III		۱. ۲

Subquery (at the Criteria 448) and Grouping criteria 452) tabs when a subquery 443 is used):

	All of the following are met		
	1. <u>HR.DEPARTMENT.DEPARTMENTIC</u>) >= <u>ALL</u>	<u>(SELECT HR.DEPARTMENT.</u> く ^し か
۲	III		F

Click an item to select a color for the corresponding element using the **Color** dialog where you can specify the required color from the palette.

11.1.4.8 Default Data Options

Default data options for newly registered databases



Asynchronous query execution

Check this option to allow executing queries in background mode (asynchronously).

W Use transactions in Data tab of object editors, Query Data and Design Query

If this option is enabled, a transaction is active until the 'Data' tab is closed or the 'Commit' button is pressed; all edited records are blocked until the transaction is committed. If this option is disabled, the transaction starts and is immediately committed (autocommit) on saving each record which is blocked only for a short period of time.

Use separate connections for each data view within a database

Uncheck this option to use separate connection for each data view within a database. Note that this option is only available when the *Use transactions in Data tab of object editors, Query Data and Design Query* option is enabled.

11.1.4.9 Database Designer

Visual settings

Automaticalliy open last diagram file

Allows to load the diagram from last loaded file.

Model notation

When you work in <u>Database Designer</u>छिडी, you can choose one of the following modeling notations:

- Integration DEFinition for Information Modeling (IDEF1X);
- Information Engineering (IE).

The *IDEF1X* and *IE* notations use different symbols to represent relationships between entities (and tables).

Environment Options				>	×	
Preferences	Database Designe	r				
Confirmations	Automatically ope	Automatically open last diagram file				
☐ —	Visual settings		-			
P Timeouts	Model notation	EF1x (Integration DEFin	ition for information mode	eling) 🗸 🗸		
B Explorer Draw primary key columns separately						
Object Editors	Draw entities in	cons				
Query Data	Draw only nam	es of entities ey name				
Design Query Default data options Default data prions	Grid options ✓ Show grid ✓ Snap to grid	Gr	id size X 10	▲ Y 10 ▲		
Print Metadata	Style & Color					
Data Export	Element	Font name	T Verdana			
SQL Server Reference	Workspace Selected item	▲ Font size	10	Font style		
🗄 🧱 Grid	View	Font color	Black	- DOM		
Localization	Function Procedure	Brush color	White	Italic		
Find Option	Relation Column	✓ Pen color	Black	Underline		
				Apply to All		
Reset to Defaults		<u>0</u>	K <u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply		

Draw PRIMARY KEY columns separately

Separates Primary key columns from other columns with a horizontal line.

:	Department (HumanResources)				
:	•	DepartmentID: smallint	•		
:		GroupName: dbo.Name DepartmentID	•		
:	j	ModifiedDate: datetime Primary key			
:	:	Not Null	:		

Draw entities icons

Displays icons at the left of each entity header according to its type.

· ·	Department (HumanResources))
	DepartmentID: smallint	1::
	♦ Name: dbo.Name	- · ·
	GroupName: dbo.Name	1.1
	ModifiedDate: datetime	- · ·
• •	·L	<u> </u>

Draw attributes icons

Displays icons at the left of each attribute according to its type (Primary key, Foreign key, ordinary column).

•	:	:	R	Department (HumanResources)	:	:	•
•	÷	:	ø	DepartmentID: smallint	:	:	•
		\neg	٥	Name: dbo.Name			•
:	:	1	¢	GroupName: dbo.Name	:	:	:
•		·	৵	ModifiedDate: datetime		•	•
•	•	÷l		GroupName	·	:	•
				Type: dbo.Name			
•	·	·	·	Not Null	·	·	•
•	·	•	•		•	•	•

Draw only names of entities

Displays only entity headers, columns are hidden.

·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	•	·
•	•	·		-	D	-	-			-	~	•	1	ш			-	a F	20	-			-	~	- 1		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•
•	Г		-	۲	P	e	P		L		e	II.	Ľ	п	u		a		e	-	J		-		•)		·	·	•	·	·	·	·	•	•	•	·	•
•		·		•	•	•	•	•	•	2		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	·	•
:	L	-		ò	E	m	p	lo	v	e	el	De	ep	a	rt	m	ıe	n	t٢	lis	st	01	r٧	. (Ή	u	m	a	nF	٦e	s	o	ur	·C	es	5)	٦	:
			٢E	0																																1		
•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

Draw FOREIGN KEY name

Displays foreign key names for the corresponding relations.



Draw page borders

Displays borders on the diagram page which are the borders used when printing pages with the diagram.

Grid options

Show grid

Displays dots in the diagram area to make the grid visible.

Snap to grid

Automatically aligns entities on the form with the nearest grid line. You cannot place an entity in between grid lines.

Grid size

Sets grid spacing in pixels along the x- and y-axes. Specify a higher number to increase grid spacing.

Entity header font

Select a font type and size to display entity headers.

Attributes font

Select a font type and size to display attributes.

Additionally, you can set color for all <u>VDBD</u> additionally, you can set color for all <u>VDBD</u> diagram objects using the **Style and Color** section.

This section allows you to customize the default appearance of the diagram.

Select a diagram element from the list:

- Workspace
- Selected item
- Table
- View
- Function
- Procedure
- Relation
- Column
- Primary key
- Unique column
- Foreign key
- Autoincrement column
- Not null column
- Comment

Then you can specify the following style settings for each element:

- Font name
- Font style
- Font size
- Font color
- Brush color
- Pen color

See also:

Visual Database Designer

11.1.4.10 Print Metadata

Default paper size

Define the default paper size for reports created with the Print Metadata 643 tool used: A4 (210 x 297 mm) Letter (8 1/2 x 11 ")

Environment Options	×
Preferences	Print Metadata
Confirmations	Default paper size
Tools	A4 (210 x 297 mm)
Fineouts	O Letter (8 1/2 x 11 ")
B DB Explorer B DB Explorer B DB Explorer B DB Explorer	
📄 📝 Query Data	
SQL Monitor	
Execute Script	
Default data options	
Print Metadata	
SQL Server Reference	
TI Fonts	
Grid	
Global Shortcuts	
Find Option	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	OK Cancel Help Apply

See also:

Print Metadata 643

11.1.4.11 Data Export

This page allows you to customize formats applied to exported and data.

Environment Options					×	
Environment Options Preferences Confirmations Appearance Tools DB Explorer Object Editors Query Data Execute Script Design Query	Data Export Data formats Integer format Float format Date format dd.MM.yyyy Time format DateTime format dd:MM:yyyy h:mm Currency format					
Design Query Default data options Data Export SQL Server Reference TT Fonts	Boolean True true Boolean False false Null string null					
Grid Global Shortcuts Find Option		<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel	Help	Apply	

Data formats

Edit the format masks to adjust the result format in the way you need: Integer format, Float format, Date format, Time format, DateTime format, Currency format, Boolean True, Boolean False, Null string.

Auto save format strings

Select this option to save specified format strings automatically.

These settings can also be specified at the <u>Adjusting data formats</u> ब्रिओ step of <u>Export Data</u> <u>Wizard</u> ब्रिओ.

Fore more details see Format specifiers 930.

See also:

Export Data Wizard 531

11.1.4.12 SQL Server Reference

Using this page you can set which Microsoft® SQL Server[™] reference system will be further used in SQL Manager for SQL Server:

- Microsoft Document Explorer (SQL Server 2008 Help)
- Microsoft Document Explorer (SQL Server 2005 Help)

Microsoft HTML Help (SQL Server 2000 and earlier versions)

For SQL Server 2005/2008 documentation you should also specify the location of **Microsoft Document Explorer**: use the button to browse for the file on your hard disk.

Environment Options	×						
Preferences	SQL Server Reference						
Confirmations							
Appearance	Use specified SQL Server reference system						
Tools	O Microsoft Document Explorer (SQL Server 2008 Help)						
Fimeouts	Microsoft Document Explorer (SQL Server 2005 Help)						
🖪 🗄 DB Explorer	Microsoft HTML Help (SQL Server 2000 and earlier versions)						
Object Editors							
Query Data	Microsoft Document Explorer path						
SQL Monitor							
🛛 🐺 Execute Script	C.Nrogram files/common Files/Microsoft Shared/Help 8/dexplore.exe						
🗄 🔛 Design Query	Open this help topic						
🔤 Default data options	MS SOLCC V9						
Database Designer	IIIO.OKEOU.TO						
Print Metadata							
Data Export	This help system is opened when 'Original help' (Ctrl+F1) command is executed in Query Data.						
SQL Server Reference							
TI Fonts							
Grid Grid							
Localization							
🛛 🗁 Global Shortcuts							
Find Option							
<u></u>							
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	OK Cancel Help Apply						

Optionally you can set the help topic to be opened by default at the help system startup. To do so, check \mathbb{V} **Open this help topic** and enter the help topic identifier in the editable area below.

11.1.5 Fonts

This section of the **Environment Options** dialog allows you to specify fonts used in the application.

The box below displays the *sample text* with the selected font applied.

Environment Options				—						
Preferences	Fonts									
Confirmations	System font name									
Tools	[™] Arial Unicode MS			•						
Fonts	System font size	8 🔻	8 🔻							
Grid	Sample Text 12345									
Find Option	Grid font name									
	™nn Arial	-								
	Grid font size	10 👻]							
	Drag a column header	r here to group by	that column							
	ID - FIRST_NAME -	LAST_NAME	GENE IS_A	■ SALAR` ■ BIRTH_D ■						
	1 Gustavo	Achong	M	14500,35 15.05.1972						
	2 Roberto	Nelson	M	14000 03.06.1977						
	3 Margaret	Smith	F 🔽	15030,99 16.02.1986						
	4 Leslie	Johnson	F	13000,01 29.10.1972						
	•	"	1	•						
Reset to Defaults		<u>о</u> к	Cancel	Help Apply						

System font name

Defines the font used by SQL Manager for SQL Server. Select the font name from the drop-down list of available system fonts.

T Arial Unicode MS		•
Ari	al Rounded MT Bold	BIUS
T Arabic Typesetting		
'팝 Arial		
T Arial Black		
T Arial Narrow		=
Trial Rounded MT B	old	
T Arial Unicode MS		
T Baskerville Old Face	9	
T Batang		
T BatangChe		
T Bauhaus 93		
T Bell MT		
T Berlin Sans FB		
T Berlin Sans FB Demi	i	
T Bernard MT Conden	sed	-

System font size

Defines the font size used by SQL Manager for SQL Server. Type in or use the drop-down list to select the required value.

Grid font name

Defines the font used for displaying data in the <u>Data Grid</u> 465. Select the font name from the drop-down list of available system fonts.

Grid font size

Defines the font size used for displaying data in the <u>Data Grid</u> 465. Type in or use the dropdown list to select the required value.

In the sample grid you can view how the data grid will look like with the configured font.

11.1.6 Grid

General options

Striped grids

Displays the odd grid rows in a different color defined by the **Strip** option available on the <u>Color & Formats</u> page.

Show editor immediately

Allows editing the cell value right after the cell is clicked.

Always show editor

Set this option to make the cell editors always active.

Enable auto-search in grid

If this option is checked, the cursor is automatically forwarded to the closest match when you start typing.

Row multi-selection

With this option set, multiple rows can be selected in grid 465.

Invert selection

Determines whether a single cell within the focused row or the entire row is highlighted when focused.

Column auto-width

With this option set, column widths are changed in order to display all columns without using the horizontal scroll bar. If the content a column is still too large to display without a need to resize the grid, then the column values are truncated and the hidden characters are replaced with an ellipsis at the end.

Cell auto-height

If the widths of the columns are insufficient to display the full content, then text clipping occurs. Set this option to prevent this. If this option is set, the cell content is displayed in multiple lines where necessary. You can set the number of lines to display using the **Cell max line count** option.

Environment Options		—
Preferences Confirmations Confirmations Confirmations Confirmations Confirmations Colors Confirmations Color & Formats Color & Formats Advanced Column Options Coloralization Coloralizat	Grid General options Striped grids Show editor immediately Aways show editor Enable auto-search in grid Column auto-width Cell auto-height Cell max line count	Grid layout preference Autofit column widths Save and restore layout Restore sorting (except SQL sort) Root level options Show "Group By" box Show indicator Show navigator Show "New Item Row"
Find Option	Detail level options Show "Group By" box Show indicator Show navigator Show "New Item Row" Hide tabs for single detail	Selection Row selection Cell selection Row/cell multi-selection
Reset to Defaults	<u></u> ΩK	Cancel Help Apply

Grid layout preference

Autofit column widths

Use this option to shrink the grid columns so that the longest visible column value fits.

Save and restore layout

Use this option to keep the original grid width. Check the **Restore sorting** option to apply defaults to sorting (except for SQL sorting) as well.

Root level options

These options are applied to the main view 473 of the grid. See Grid View 463 for details.

Detail level options

These options are applied to the <u>detail view</u> [473] of the grid. See <u>Grid View</u> [465] for details.

Show "Group by" box

Displays the gray area above the column caption allowing one to group at a in the grid.

Show indicator

Activates/deactivates the row indicator pane at the left.

:≣	DEPAR 👻	NAME 💌	GROUPNAME	MANAG 👻
	1	Administration	Executive General and Administration	4
ð,	2	Marketing	Sales and Marketing	
h	दे 3	Purchasing	Sales and Marketing	12
	4	Human Resources	Executive General and Administration	35

Show navigator

Activates/deactivates the data navigator similar to the <u>navigation pane</u> at the top of the grid. The navigator is available at the bottom of detail level view.

:	DEPAR 👻	NAME 💌	GROUPNAME	MANAG 👻
	1	Administration	Executive General and Administration	4
►	2	Marketing	Sales and Marketing	7
	3	Purchasing	Sales and Marketing	12
	4	Human Resources	Executive General and Administration	35 -
H		►		+

Show "New item row"

Displays an empty row at the bottom of a view which is a convenient way for adding data to the grid.

Hide tabs for single detail

This option is useful when only one view is present on the detail level. When the option is enabled, the view tab is hidden.

Selection

If the **O Row selection** is selected then the whole record in the table is selected in the table on clicking the cell. Otherwise, only the clicked cell is selected (**O Cell selection** option).

Check the **Row/cell multi-selection** option to enable the selection of multiple cells or rows in the grid with the *Shift* button.

See also: Grid View 465

11.1.6.1 Data Options

Limit options in table and view editors

Define the number of records to be selected on opening the **Data** tab of <u>Table Editor</u> and <u>View Editor</u> 246:

Select all records from a table*

Select only ... records* (you should set the number of records using the corresponding spinner control)

Advanced

Load visible rows mode if records more than...*

Set this option to switch to the **Load visible rows** mode when the number of records in the dataset exceeds the specified value.

String columns width (chars)

Using this option you can limit string columns width that may improve performance on large datasets.

Environment Options	×
Preferences Confirmations Appearance Grid Grid Print Data Color & Formats Advanced Column Options Localization Global Shortcuts XK Find Option	Data Options Limit options in table and view editors Select all records from a table * Select only 1000 records * Advanced Load visible rows mode if records more than * 3000 r String columns width (chars) 0 r Default grid mode 0 r Image: Output of the second sec
Reset to Defaults	Note: Changing the options marked with the asterisk (*) symbol does not influence the way data are viewed in currently opened windows. These options are used as default values for Data Options parameters for newly registered databases. To change the options for registered databases please use Database Registration Info dialog.

Default grid mode

Load all rows*

The grid loads all records from a dataset. This option increases the grid performance by reloading only changed dataset records when updating. In this mode all features (automatic sorting, filtering and summary calculations) are available.

Load visible rows*

The grid loads only a fixed number of dataset records into memory. This option minimizes dataset loading time. Automatic sorting, filtering, summary calculations are not available in this mode.

The **Default grid mode** options allow you to define the grid mode which will be used by default.

With the **Load all rows** option enabled, when loading data, all the records are loaded into grid buffers. In this mode opening the tables with many records may take a considerable amount of time. But in this case you can make use of some advantages: in the filter drop-down list the column headers are displayed with the values for quick filtering; it is possible to open several sub-levels at the same time when viewing data in master-detail view, etc.

In case opening and other operations with an object consisting of many records takes sufficient time, the **Load visible rows** mode should be used instead. It can be set individually for each table and saved between sessions (can be set through the <u>context</u> <u>menu</u>[472] of the grid).

Note: Changing the options marked with the asterisk (*) sign does not affect the way data are viewed in currently opened windows. These options are used as default values for Data Options parameters for newly registered databases. To change the options for registered databases, please use the <u>Database Registration Info</u> 123 dialog.

See also:

EMS SQL Manager FAQ 31

11.1.6.2 Print Data

Save/restore following print data properties

These options specify which <u>Print Data</u> [485] properties will be saved between work sessions (e.g. if you tick off the *Page settings* item, those settings will be saved and stored between the sessions).

You can save/restore the following **Print Data properties**: Card view representation, Detail view representation, Expanding, Formatting, Level options, "On every page" options, Pagination, Preview options, Image options, Selection options, Report size options, Showing grid elements, Page number format, Page settings, Report title.



11.1.6.3 Color & Formats

Display formats

Integer columns

Defines the format for displaying TINYINT, SMALLINT, INTEGER and BIGINT columns.

Float columns

Defines the format for displaying FLOAT, DOUBLE and DECIMAL columns.

Datetime columns

Defines the format for displaying DATETIME columns.

Date columns

Defines the format for displaying DATE columns.

Time columns

Defines the format for displaying *TIME* columns.

For more information refer to the Format specifiers [930] page.

Environment Options		×						
Preferences	Color & Formats							
Confirmations Appearance Tools	Display formats Integer columns	#,###,##0 ~						
T] Fonts	Float columns Datetime columns	~						
Print Data	Date columns Time columns	×						
Advanced Column Options Localization Global Shortcuts Find Option	Colors Grid White V Row \$00D77800 V Strip \$00E1FFFF V	NULL values Text Null Font color Black •···						
	<u><u>o</u>ĸ</u>	<u>Cancel H</u> elp <u>Apply</u>						

Colors

Options of this group allow you to set colors for basic $\underline{\operatorname{grid}}_{465}$ elements. Use the ellipsis button to open the **Color** dialog allowing you to select the required color from the palette.

Grid

Defines the background color of the data grid.

Row

Defines the color of the selected row in the data grid.

Strip

Defines the color of the odd rows (applied if the **Striped grids** option is set on the Grid [855] page).

NULL values

Text

Defines the text that stands for NULL values in grid 465.

Font color

Defines the font color for displaying NULL values in the $\underline{\text{grid}}_{465}$. Use the ellipsis button to open the **Color** dialog allowing you to select the required color from the palette.

11.1.6.4 Advanced

Advanced options

Cell hints for clipped text

Indicates whether a hint box is displayed when hovering over a cell containing clipped text.

Focus cell on cycle

Determines whether the focus moves to the next row after it reaches the right-most cell within the current row.

Focus first cell on new record

Determines whether the focus moves to the first cell of a newly created row.

Next cell on pressing Enter

Determines whether the current view columns can be navigated by using the **Enter** key.

Show navigator hints

Indicates whether a hint box is displayed when hovering over navigation buttons.

MRU list in column filter

Enables showing of *Most Recently Used* items when filtering columns.

Expand buttons for empty details

Specifies whether to display expand buttons within master rows that do not have associated details.

Card width

Defines the width of the card used in Card View 481 mode.

Preferences Confirmations Windows	Advanced	
Environment Options Preferences Confirmations Vindows Tools Grid Grid Color & Formats Color & Formats Color & Formats Color & Formats Global Shortcuts Find Option Find Option	 Cell hints for clipped text Focus cell on cycle Focus first cell on new record Next cell on pressing Enter Show navigator hints MRU list in column filter Card width 200 	Grid lines Horizontal Vertical Detail tabs position Top Left Card layout direction Horizontal Vertical
	Form view Large memo editor Number of lines Word wrap in memo editor Word wrap in string editor	Show cell buttons On cell editor activation For focused record Always Cancel Help Apply

Form view

Large memo editor

Sets the number of lines for text-typed columns when viewing data in Form view [484].

Word wrap in memo editor

Determines whether long strings are wrapped within the memo editor area.

Word wrap in string editor

Determines whether long strings are wrapped within the string editor area.

Grid lines

Determines whether to display *vertical* and *horizontal* lines between cells.

Detail tabs position

Specifies the position of the tabs in detail level views: top or left.

Card layout direction

Specifies the direction of cards in Card View mode: horizontal or vertical.

Show edit buttons

Indicates when the edit buttons are displayed: never, for focused record or always.

11.1.6.5 Column Options

Common options

Auto-select text

Determines whether all text within an editor is automatically selected when the editor gets focus.

Hide selection on losing focus

Determines whether the visual indication of the selected text remains when the editor loses focus.

Memo editor options

Inserting Return characters

Specifies whether a user can insert return characters into text.

Inserting Tab characters

Specifies whether a user can insert tab characters into text.

Word wrap in grid

Determines whether long strings are wrapped in grid.

Popup memo editors

Turns on popup memo editors for text BLOB type fields.

Environment Options	
Preferences Preferences Confirmations Confirmations Tools Tools Tools Grid Grid	Column Options Common options Q Auto-select text Hide selection on losing focus Memo editor options
Data Options Print Data Color & Formats Advanced Column Options Localization Global Shortcuts Find Option	 Inserting Return characters Inserting Tab characters Word wrap in grid Popup memo editors
	Spin editor options Use Ctrl+Up instead of Up to increase value Show large increment buttons Increment Large increment 10
	Spin editor buttons' position Vertical Horizontal / left and right Horizontal / right
Reset to Defaults	OK Cancel Help Apply
Spin editor options

Use Ctrl+Up instead of Up to increase value

Allows you to use *Ctrl+Up* and *Ctrl+Down* key combinations for editing spinner values (for *INTEGER* column values).

Show large increment buttons

Determines whether fast buttons (for large increment) are visible within the editor.

Increment

Specifies the increment value for the spin editor (spinner control).

Large increment

Specifies the large increment value for the spin editor (spinner control).

Spin editor buttons' position

Specifies the position of spin editor (spinner control) buttons: vertical, horizontal / left and right or horizontal / right.

11.1.7 Localization

The **Localization** section of the **Environment Options** dialog is provided for managing the localization files of SQL Manager for SQL Server.

You can create your own *.*Ing* files similar to those available in the *%program_directory %\Languages* folder, add them to the list of available languages and set the new language as the program interface language.

Default directory

Use the Bexplorer button to specify the directory where the *.lng files are to be stored by default.

Choose program language

Use the drop-down list of available languages to select the interface language to be applied to the application.

Auto scan languages on startup

When checked, the directory with localization files will be scanned automatically at the application startup; all the languages found will be added to the list of available languages.

Available Languages

Lists all the languages available for localization and the corresponding *.lng files. Doubleclick a language in the list to edit its name or the *.lng file.

Add Defaults

This button is used to search for *. Ing files in the **Default directory** and add all of them to the **Available Languages** list.

Add

Opens the Add language [933] dialog where you can specify your own localization file and set

the language name.

Edit

Opens the <u>Edit language</u> dialog where you can change the language name or select another localization file for the specified language.

Delete

Removes the selected language from the **Available languages** list (without confirmation).

Environment Options			×	
Preferences	Localization			
Confirmations	Default directory		C:\Program Files\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server	
🖶 🥎 Tools	Choose program lang	uage	Default	
- II Fonts	🗸 Auto scan langua	ges on startup		
Grid Grid	Available Languagee			
Localization	Language Name	Language File		
Global Shortcuts	Default	(none)		
	English	C:\Program Files\E	EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Languages\english.Ing	
	German	C:\Program Files\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Languages\german.lng		
	Russian	C:\Program Files\	EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Languages\Russian.In	
	Add Detaults	Add	<u>E</u> dit <u>D</u> elete	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		<u>о</u> к	Cancel Help Apply	

See also:

Localization 890

11.1.8 Global Shortcuts

This section allows you to view/edit shortcuts most needed actions when working with SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Preferences	Global Shortcuts			
Confirmations	Shortcut Name	Shortcut		
📲 🔨 Tools	Windows			
TI Fonts	··· Window List	Ctrl+Alt+0		
Grid Grid	··· Next Window	F6		
	··· Previous Window	Ctrl+F6		
Global Shortcuts	Set Defaults to All Windows	Ctrl+Alt+D		
Find Option	DB Explorer			
	Connect to Database Shift+Ctrl+C			
	Disconnect from Database	Shift+Ctrl+D		
	Register Database	Shift+Alt+R		
	··· Unregister Database	Shift+Alt+U		
	Refresh	F5		
	- Find Object	Ctrl+F		
	Find Next Object	F3		
	··· New Object	Ctrl+N		
	Edit Object	Ctrl+O		
	Drop Object	Shift+Del		
	Rename Object Ctrl+R			
	New Sub Folder Shift+Ctrl+S			

To edit shortcut, select the required action click the ellipsis button and press the preferred key combination to assign it with the action.

Edit Shortcut		x
Shift+Ctrl+D		
<u>о</u> к	Cancel	Help

Common SQL Manager Shortcuts are listed in the <u>SQL Manager shortcuts</u> [952] section.

11.1.9 Find Option

The **Find Option** section allows you to search for options available within the **Environment Options** dialog easily and quickly.

Option

In this field you can enter the name of the option to search for within SQL Manager *Environment Options*.

Environment Options						×
Preferences	Find Option	1				
Confirmations	Option	show				
🕀 🐪 Tools	Available Op	tions	Option Kind	Category	Group	
Grid	Show splash	screen at startu	P Environment Option	Preferences		
Localization	Show only co	onnected databas	e Environment Option	: Tools		=
Find Option	Show hosts i Show table s	n DB Explorer ubobjects	Environment Option Environment Option	EDB Explorer	General options General options	
	Refresh obje	ct on <mark>show</mark> ing in	St Environment Option	EXPLORE	General options	
	Show hint		Environment Option	EDB Explorer	General options	
	Show Object Show actual	Explorer execution plan or	Environment Option Environment Option	EObject Editors		
	Show result f	or each query	Environment Option	sQL Editor		
	Show results Show statem	on Edit tab ents explorer	Environment Option Environment Option	१ SQL Editor १ SQL Script		
	Show messa	ge when done	Environment Option	sQL Script		
	Always show	operation on top	Environment Option Environment Option	१ SQL Monitor १ SQL Monitor		-
	·				Show Option	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼			<u>о</u> к	Cancel	Help Apply	

The **Available options** area lists all options of the *Environment Options* category according to the specified name. The **Option Kind**, **Category** and **Group** columns specify option type and location.

Select the required option in the list and click \swarrow **Show Option** to open the corresponding section where you can view/edit the value of this option. For your convenience the required option is marked with an animated \aleph icon.

11.2 Editor Options

Editor Options allow you to set the parameters of viewing and editing SQL statements within $\underline{\text{Query Data}}$ and other SQL editing tools of the SQL Manager application.

To open the **Editor Options** window, select the **Options | Editor Options...** <u>main menu</u> । जो item, or use the **Editor Options (a)** button on the main <u>toolbar</u> जित

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	Tools	Services	<u>O</u> pti	ions	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp
				华	Env	ironment Opti	ons
				Editor Options			
				ж	Find	I Option	



- Display 873
- <u>SQL Formatter</u> 878
- Key Mapping 880
- Spell Checking 882
- Find Option 883

See also: Environment Options

11.2.1 General

Editor options

Auto indent

If this option is checked, each new indention is the same as the previous one when editing SQL text.

Indents and outdents are used in the process of text editing to make the source code easier to read.

Insert mode

If this option is checked, the insert symbols mode is on by default.

Find text at cursor

If this option is checked, the **Text to find** field in the $\underline{Find Text}$ back dialog is automatically filled with the text on which the cursor is set.

Always show hyperlinks

If this option is checked, hyperlinks are displayed in the editor window. To open a link, click it with the *Ctrl* key pressed.

Double click line

If this option is checked, double-clicking the line on which the cursor is set selects the

whole line.

Trim trailing spaces

If this option is checked, all spaces after the last symbol in line will be trimmed.

Fixed line height

Prevents line height calculation. If this option is checked, the default line height is taken.

Persistent blocks

Keeps marked blocks selected even when the cursor is moved with the arrow keys used, unless a new block is selected.

Fixed column move

If this option is checked, the caret keeps its horizontal position when moved between lines.

Optimal fill

Check this option to enable optimal algorithm of filling text content in the working area of the editor.

Unindent keep align

Keeps align for the lines that are not indented.

Smart caret

This option determines the caret movement (up, down, line start, line end). The caret is moved to the nearest position on the screen.

Resolve aliases

Enables/disables the syntax highlight and code completion features for aliases.

Editor Options			—
General	General		
	Editor options Auto indent Insert mode Find text at cursor Atways show hyperlinks Double click line Trim trailing spaces Fixed line height Persistent blocks Fixed column move Optimal fill Unindent keep align Smart caret Resolve aliases Collapse level Undo limit 50 —	 Overwrite blocks Show caret in read only mode Copy to clipboard as RTF Drag and drop text Group undo Group redo Cursor beyond EOL Enable column selection Hide cursor on type Hide dynamic (no focus) Collapse empty lines Scroll to the last line only Seek variables Tab mode Use Tab character Tab stops 4 	Word wrap Variable horizontal scrollbar Float markers Undo after save Disable selection Draw current line focus Hide selection (no focus) Greedy selection Keep selection mode Select search result Smart paste Disable all code features Comment symbols Martin Block indent
			Help Apply

Overwrite blocks

Replaces a marked block of text with whatever is typed next. If **Persistent Blocks** is also selected, the text you enter is appended to the currently selected block.

Show caret in read only mode

Displays/hides the caret in read-only mode.

Copy to clipboard as RTF

If this option is checked, the selected text is copied in RTF format.

Drag and drop text

This option allows to drag and drop selected text.

Group undo

This option allows you to undo multiple actions of the same kind.

Group redo

This option allows you to redo multiple actions of the same kind.

Cursor beyond EOL

If this option is checked, the horizontal position of a cursor is kept. If you move the cursor (using the *Up* and *Down* arrow keys) onto a line having length less than the current cursor horizontal position, it will be positioned after the last symbol of the line.

Enable column selection

Enables/disables column selection mode.

Hide cursor on type

Hides/displays mouse cursor within the working area while a user is typing some text.

Hide dynamic (no focus)

Hides dynamic highlights when an editor is not focused.

Collapse empty lines

Collapses empty lines after a text range when this range has been collapsed.

Scroll to the last line only

When the option is enabled, you can scroll to the last line of the text only, otherwise you can scroll to the end of the page.

Seek variables

Disables code completion feature for variables.

Word wrap

When on, text is wrapped at the right margin of the editor area to fit in the visible area.

Variable horizontal scrollbar

If this option is checked, the horizontal scrollbar varies according to the current content of the editor.

Float markers

When enabled, markers are linked to the text, and they will move with the text while the text is being edited; otherwise the markers are linked to the caret position, and stay unchanged while the text is being edited.

Undo after save

Keeps undo buffer unchanged after saving.

Disable selection

Disables any selection when editing.

Draw current line focus

Draws the focus rectangle around the current line when the editor has focus.

W Hide selection (no focus)

Hides the selection when the editor loses focus.

Greedy selection

Selects an extra column/line in column/line selection modes.

Keep selection mode

Enables selection for caret movement commands (like in BRIEF).

Select search result

Determines whether the search result should be selected.

Smart paste

When this option is enabled, the editor gets both Unicode and ANSI content from the clipboard, converts them using the selected character set and selects the best text to be pasted. This allows getting correct text copied from both ANSI and Unicode applications

disregarding the currently selected keyboard language.

Disable all code features

This option disables code completion, code folding, highlight and all options that are set on the <u>Quick Code</u> and page. For options that are set on the <u>Highlight</u> and all options that are set defaults will be applied.

Collapse level

Specifies the level of text ranges that will be affected by the "Collapse all" command.

Undo limit

Defines the maximum number of changes possible to be undone.

Tab mode

Specifies the way the TAB key is processed. Possible values are: *Use tab character* (inserts a tab character); *Insert spaces* (inserts space characters); *Dialog behaviour* (when the edit control is in a dialog, the focus is switched to the next control); *Smart tab* (tabs to the first non-white space character in the preceding line).

Tab stops

Defines the tab length used when editing a text.

Comment symbols

Defines the symbols which will be used to comment code fragments.

Block indent

Specify the number of spaces to indent a marked block.

Hint: The **Reset to Defaults** button which is common for all sections of the **Editor Options** dialog opens a menu with items allowing you to discard all changes and reset options of the *current category* or of *all categories* to their defaults.

11.2.2 Display

Default editor fonts

Use these options to set the *fonts and size* used in the editor. If the \mathbb{Z} **Show only fixed-width fonts** option is checked, only fonts with fixed width are displayed in the **Font** dialog.

Gutter

Show line numbers

If this option is checked, line numbers are displayed in the SQL text editor window.

Gutter auto width

Enable this option to specify that the gutter width will be adjusted automatically.

Display line state

If this option is checked, a colored line indicating the state of all altered lines in the text is displayed at the gutter of the editor window.

Use code folding

Check this option to enable to code folding feature of Query Data.

Width

Defines the gutter width in the editor window.

If the \blacksquare Show only fixed-width fonts option is checked, only fonts with fixed width are displayed in the **Font** dialog.

Select the appropriate **Numbering style** from the dropdown list.

Editor Options				×
General Display SQL Formatter Key Mapping BC Spell Checking	Display Default editor fonts Font The Courier N Size 10	lew 🗸 🗌 Show only fix	ed-width fonts	
₩	Gutter Show line numbers Gutter auto width Font Size Right margin	Display line state Use code folding lew Show only fix Numbering style Code staples	Width ed-width fonts Default	30 💌
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	Visible Positi Word break	on 80 ♥ Visible ✓ Single color Sample Text 12345 <u>QK</u> <u>C</u> ancel	Offset	2 ↓ Apply

Right margin

Visible

Makes the right text margin visible.

Word break

Allows breaking the words at the right margin.

Position

Defines the position of the right text margin in the editor window.

Code staples

🗹 Visible

Makes the code staples visible in the editor window.

Single color

Check the option to apply a single color for code staples.

Offset

Specify the offset value for code staples.

11.2.2.1 Color Scheme

Scheme

Select the default color scheme for all editors: Default (Light) or Dark.

Editor Options		×
General Display Color Scheme Code Completion Sol Formatter	Color Scheme	alic
Key Mapping Spell Checking	Selected text Search mark SQL Subset SQL Subset SQL	00FF ~
	<pre>Symbol CREATE TABLE sql_srv_table (int_field INTEGER NOT NULL default 0, char_field CHAR(25) NOT NULL default 'ABC' j GO</pre>	
Reset to Defaults	<u>Q</u> K <u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pp	oly

The **Element list** contains all elements available in SQL editors of the program. For your convenience the preview area (located below the Element list) illustrates the changes being made to each of the elements

Controls for changing the properties of the item selected in the Element list are located on the right. Use the following instructions for each of the elements.

V Bold

Highlights the element with bold.

🗹 Italic

Makes the element text cursive.

Foreground
Select the foreground color for the element.

Background

Select the background color for the element.

Effects

Enables additional effects for the element text.

See also:

Code Completion 876

11.2.2.2 Code Completion

Automatic features

Code completion

If this option is checked, then on typing the first word characters in the SQL text editor you will be offered some variants for the word completion in a popup list (an analogue of the **Code Insight** feature in **Delphi IDE**).

Sensitivity

This option allows you to set the number of characters to be typed before code completion is activated.

Delay

Using this option you can change the time after which completion variants popup.

Parameters completion

If this option is checked, the Delphi-like hint for key words is enabled.

Group by type

If enabled, the items in the code completion list are sorted by type, otherwise they are sorted by name.

Show information hints

This option enables/disables information hints.

Accept by Space key too

Check this option to enable Code Completion list to close with the selected item input when pressing the space bar.

Code parameters

If this option is checked, the Delphi-like hint for key words is enabled.

Auto launch keyboard templates

Allows you to use keyboard templates for faster typing frequently used expressions (see <u>Keyboard Templates</u> (see).

Editor Options			×
General Display Color Scheme Color Scheme Color Scheme Color Scheme Color Scheme Color Scheme Key Mapping Spell Checking Find Option	Code Completion Automatic features Code completion Parameters completion Group by type Sort column names Show information hints	Sensitivity (char) 2 Delay (sec) 1 Accept by Space key too Auto launch keyboard templates	Databases A Tables Indices Fields Users Procedures UDFs Views
	Completion list object Databases Tables Indices Fields Users Procedures UDFs Views Roles Sequences Triggers Visable element	Bold Italic ✓ Foreground #FF80FF Background ✓ Effects #000000 Dotted Line ✓	Roles Sequences Triggers Schemas UDTs Assemblies Rules External Table SQL keywords SQL functions
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	Help Apply

Completion list object

The list contains all objects for which you can set quick code parameters. For your convenience the preview area (located to the right of the Completion list object list) illustrates the changes being made to each of the objects.

If you press the Disable element button, the standard settings will be applied to this object; the button text will change to Enable element. If you press this button, you will be able to change font and color attributes for this object.

Controls for changing the properties of the item selected in the Completion list object list are located on the right.

See also:

Color Scheme 875

11.2.3 SQL Formatter

SQL Formatter is a feature implemented in SQL Manager for SQL Server and is a useful tool for formatting SQL queries and scripts, making SQL statements easy to read. SQL Formatter is introduced in <u>Query Data</u> [426], <u>Execute Script</u> [519] and some object editors.

The **Settings** tab of the **SQL Formatter** section allows you to enable this feature and apply SQL formatting to subqueries, if necessary.

Format SQL query

Check this option to enable SQL formatting.

Format subquery

Enables SQL formatting for subqueries.

Editor Options	
Editor Options General Display SQL Formatter SQL Words Key Mapping Spell Checking Kind Option	SQL FormatSQL query Format subquery
	<u>OK</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp <u>Apply</u>

See also: Query Data 426

11.2.3.1 SQL Words

The **SQL words** page of the **SQL Formatter** section allows you to select the key words for each action of SQL formatter and to set formatting parameters.

Wrap first element

Wraps the selected text at a specific column. Select the SQL key words after which formatting should be applied.

Params in line/list

Allows you to display the parameters followed by the defined key words in list or in line.

Editor Options			
General	SQL Words		
General Display SQL Formatter SQL Words Key Mapping Spell Checking Find Option	SQL Words Wrap first element SELECT FROM WHERE GROUP BY HAVING ORDER BY INTO INSERT VALUES UPDATE SET	Params in line/list SELECT FROM WHERE GROUP BY HAVING ORDER BY INTO INSERT VALUES UPDATE SET	OR - AND Left Separate Right Keywords case Default Upper Lower Capitalize Identifiers case Default Upper
	DELETE	DELETE	C Lower
	EXECUTE	EXECUTE	Capitalize
	Space before bracket		Indent in list 2
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		<u>o</u> ĸ	Cancel Help Apply

OR - AND

Set the placement of the AND an OR operators according to the operands followed by them. See the example below.

Left

WHERE

AND ... AND ... AND ...

Separate

WHERE

...

AND

AND

Right

WHERE

... AND ... AND ... AND

The **Keywords case** / **Identifiers case** options allow you to define the case of the corresponding items.

You can choose UPPER, lower, Capitalize. Default case means that the name of the identifier/keyword remains "AS IS".

Space before bracket

Adds a "space" character before the opening bracket and after the closing one.

Space into brackets

Adds a "space" character after the opening bracket and before the closing one.

Indent in list

Sets the size of indent relatively to the previous string.

11.2.4 Key Mapping

For your convenience **key mapping** is provided in SQL Manager for SQL Server. On this page you can set the <u>shortcuts</u> for various commands/operations according to your needs.

Use the **Commands** list on the right to select the command for which you need to make a shortcut, then place cursor into the **Key** editor and press the key combination you find useful (use *Ctrl Alt Shift* buttons). After setting the shortcut, press the **New** button to add it to the list of existing **Key combinations**. If the specified shortcut is already assigned to another command/operation, an error message with the command/operation will be returned.



Note: It is possible to set more than one key combination for the same command/ operation (e.g. *Ctrl-K*, *Ctrl-H*) using the **Add** button.

If necessary, you can export the current Key mapping list to an external file by pressing the **Export** button.

Manage the shortcuts within the Key combinations list using the **Delete** (to remove the selected item) and the **Clear** (to remove all shortcuts for this command/operation) buttons.

It is also possible to save a custom key mapping scheme, if necessary:

- set the shortcuts for the appropriate commands/operations;
- click the **Save As...** button;
- input the new scheme name in the corresponding dialog.

To delete a scheme, select it in the **Scheme name** drop-down list and press the **Delete** button.

See also: Query Data SQL Manager shortcuts ୭୦୦ଅ

11.2.5 Spell Checking

Spell checking is a new feature implemented in SQL Manager for SQL Server for your convenience.

Set the necessary Spell checker mode:

Highlighting

In this mode incorrectly spelled and misprinted words are highlighted in the editor.

Autocorrection

In this mode incorrectly spelled and misprinted words are replaced with the corresponding words from the **Substitutions** list automatically.

None

In this mode the spelling checker is disabled.

Use the **Add...** button to add a new item to the **Substitutions** list, the **Edit...** button to alter the selected substitution, and the **Delete** button to remove the selected substitution from the spelling checker vocabulary.

Editor Options		
Editor Options	Substitutions	Spell checker mode Highlighting Autocorrection None Add Case sensitivity Support case consistency with substitution Edit V Ignore case while spell checking Delete V Keep the misprint case when replacing Misprints Add Auto Edit Delete Check later alter alter altre
	for 🔻	<u>OK</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply

Case sensitivity

Support case consistency with substitution

If this option is selected, the spelling checker uses the case of words-substitutions when performing a replacement.

Ignore case while spell checking

Check this option to disable case checking.

Keep the misprint case when replacing

Check this option if you do not wish to change the case of the replaced word.

Misprints

Controls of this group allow you to manage the spelling checker vocabulary: use the **Add...** button to add a new misprint to the vocabulary, the **Auto** button to use the default list of misprints, the **Edit...** button to change the selected misprint, the **Delete** button to remove the selected misprint from the vocabulary, and the **Clear** button to empty the list of misprints for the currently selected substitution.

It is also possible to exclude a misprint from spell checking without deleting the misprint. This misprint will therefore remain in the vocabulary, but it will be ignored by the spelling checker.

To mark a misprint as excluded, you need to move it from the **Check** list to the **Ignore** list. Use the **Delta Context** Delta Delta

11.2.6 Find Option

The **Find Option** section allows you to search for options available within the **Editor Options** dialog easily and quickly.

Option

In this field you can enter the name of the option to search for within SQL Manager *Editor Options*.



The **Available options** area lists all options of the *Editor Options* category according to the specified name. The **Option Kind**, **Category** and **Group** columns specify option type and location.

Select the required option in the list and click \swarrow **Show Option** to open the corresponding section where you can view/edit the value of this option. For your convenience the required option is marked with an animated \aleph icon.

11.3 Save Settings

Save Settings Wizard allows you to export the settings of SQL Manager for SQL Server - wholly or partially - to a single *.*reg* file which can be applied afterwards to SQL Manager for SQL Server installed on another machine, or it can be used to backup previous settings.

To start the wizard, select the **Options | Save Settings** <u>main menu</u> [915] item.

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	Services	<u>O</u> pti	ions	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp
				4	Env	ironment Opt	tions
				2	Edit	or Options	
				2	Visu	al Options	
				NK NK	Find	Option	
				i.	Exte	ernal Tools	
				•	Кеу	board Templ	ates
				2	Obj	ect Template	S
				H.	Sav	e Settings	
				15	Sele	ect Program I	anguage

- Specifying destination file 885
- <u>Selecting settings</u>888
- Selecting databases 887
- Saving settings

To apply saved settings you need to open the created *.reg file, then press the OK button in the window appeared. All settings will be applied automatically (they will be added in the Windows Registry).

11.3.1 Specifying destination file

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the location of the destination file.

Filename

Use the \blacksquare button to set the path to the *.*reg* file where the application settings are to be saved.

Note: If the target file already exists, the application will show a <u>warning</u> 48 dialog where you can choose the action you need.

🕞 Save Settings Wizard			- • •					
Save Settings								
Select the file name and	Select the file name and location							
	Welcome to the S This wizard allow The wizard will he	Save Settings Wizard! /s you to save program settings into a file. elp you to select file name and settings to save.						
SQL Manager for SQL Server	Filename	C:\EMS\SQL Manager for SQL Server\Ms1	ManagerSettings.					
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel								

Press the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>next step</u> [886] of the wizard.

11.3.2 Selecting settings

This step of the wizard allows you to specify the information you need to be saved to the result file: Database registration info, Favorite objects, Tabs, Environment options, Editor options, Visual options, Keyboard templates, Object templates, External tools list, Form placements, MRU lists, Favorite queries stored in registry.

🕞 Save Settings Wizard					
Save Settings					
Select settings to save					
EFF SQL Manager for SQL Server	Settings to save Database registration info Favorite objects Tabs Favorite objects Favorite objects Favorite objects Visual options Keyboard templates Object templates Form placements	 MRU lists Favorite queries stored in registry 			
<u>H</u> elp <u>T</u> emplates ▼ Cancel					

Press the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>next step</u> [887] of the wizard.

11.3.3 Selecting databases

This step of the wizard allows you to select the database(s) to save the registration settings.

To select a database, you need to move its alias from the **Available Databases** list to the **Selected Databases** list. Use the **Selected Databases** list. Use the **Selected Databases** list to move the databases from one list to another.

Press the **Next** button to proceed to the <u>last step</u>^[888] of the wizard.

11.3.4 Saving settings

This step of the wizard is intended to inform you that the saving settings operation has been configured, and the wizard is ready to save the application settings to the specified file.

The log area allows you to view the log of operations and errors (if any).

R Save Settings Wizard		- • •					
Save Settings							
Click the Finish button to save settings							
	Process completed successfully!						
200	100 %						
	Saving ealtor options Done! Saving visual options	•					
SQL Manager	Done! Saving keyboard templates Done! Saving object templates						
SQL Server	Done! Saving external tools list Done! Saving form placements Done!	E					
	Saving MRU lists						
	Done! ====================================	·					
	Close the Wizard after successful completion						
Help Templates							

Close the Wizard after successful completion

If this option is selected, the wizard is closed automatically when the export process is completed.

If necessary, you can save a <u>template</u> [934] for future use.

Click the **Finish** button to start saving settings.

11.4 Localization

When using SQL Manager for SQL Server, your are provided with multi-language interface support. You can change the program language, specify the directories for your localization files easily, edit existing localizations and create your own localization files.

Changing Program Language

In order to select the program interface language:

- select the Options | Select Program Language ... main menu [915] item;
- select the interface language in the <u>Select Language</u> [92] dialog;
- click **OK** to apply the language and close the dialog.

Editing Program Localization

In order to edit the interface localization:

- open one of the program windows (e.g. <u>Table Editor</u> 2001, <u>Query Data</u> 426) where you wish to edit the localization of captions and hints;
- use the Shift+Ctrl+L keyboard shortcut [952] to open the Localization Editor [890] window;
- edit window captions and hints as necessary;
- click the **Save** button on the toolbar [17].

Note: The <u>Localization Editor</u> window is only available if the currently selected language is different from the default.

Creating New Localization Files

In order to create a new localization file:

- create a new localization file similar to those located in the %program_directory% \Languages folder;
- select the Options | Environment Options main menu [915] item;
- proceed to the Localization [865] section of the Environment Options dialog;
- click the **Add** button;
- set the language name and the path to the new *.*lng* file within the <u>Language Info</u> <u>Editor</u>[933] dialog.

The new language is added to the list of available languages. Now you can set it as the interface language using the <u>Select Program Language and L</u>

See also:

<u>Localization</u> हिन्ही <u>Language Info Editor</u> छिउ औ

11.4.1 Localization Editor

The **Localization Editor** window allows you to edit the captions and hints of any SQL Manager window, if the selected program language is different from the default one.

To call this window, use the Shift+Ctrl+L shortcut [952] in any child window of SQL Manager

for SQL Server.

The working area of the window contains the element names and the corresponding strings divided by the "=" character. These strings are what you see in the program as menu items, window captions, button hints, etc. Edit them to change the program appearance. Be careful and do not edit the identifiers that stand before the "=" character - this will not produce any effect.

For your convenience the **Find** and **Replace** features are provided - the corresponding \swarrow toolbar [917] buttons are used to call the Find Text [928] dialog or the Replace Text [927] dialog respectively. The **Search Again** \swarrow button enables the repeated search for the text that was last searched.

Tocalization Editor - <fmdbexplorer></fmdbexplorer>	
E 🗩 🔎 🦀 🔎	
aServerProperties.Caption=Server Properties	*
aServerProperties.Hint=Server Properties	
aShowFields.Caption=Show Fields	
aShowFields.Hint=Show Fields	
aShowForeignKeys.Caption=Show Foreign Keys	
aShowForeignKeys.Hint=Show Foreign Keys	
aShowChecks.Caption=Show Checks	
aShowChecks.Hint=Show Checks	
aShowIndices.Caption=Show Indices	
aShowIndices.Hint=Show Indices	
aShowTriggers.Caption=Show Triggers	
aShowTriggers.Hint=Show Triggers	
aShowTableStatus.Caption=Show Table Info	
aShowTableStatus.Hint=Show Table Info	
aShowTableDDL.Caption=Show DDL	
aShowTableDDL.Hint=Show DDL	
aShowTableComment.Caption=Show Table Status	-
< III	4
1: 1 Insert	.::

When you are done with editing, click the **Save** \square button on the toolbar to apply the changes you have made.

See also: Select Program Language 8921 Localization 8651

11.4.2 Select Program Language

The **Select Language** dialog allows you to select a language for SQL Manager for SQL Server localization.

To open this dialog, select the **Options | 📑 Select Program Language...** <u>main menu</u> আর্চা item.



The dialog displays the list of available languages configured on the <u>Environment Options</u> | <u>Localization</u> [865] page. Select a language from the list and click **OK** to confirm your choice and close the dialog.

Select Language
Default - no localization (English)
English
German
Russian

See also: Localization Editor Localization

11.5 Keyboard Templates

The **Keyboard Templates** window allows you to create new keyboard templates for quicker typing regularly used expressions and to edit the existing ones.

To open this window, select the **Options | Keyboard Templates...** main menu



To add a new keyboard template, click the **Add Template...** button, set the template name and define the template expression. In the upper right area of the window you can change the **case** of the template expression (*As is, Uppercase, Lowercase, First upper*).

You can deactivate an existing template by selecting it from the list on the left and removing the **Active** flag of the template.

Keyboard Templates				×
Acti Template △ ♥ (* ♥ += ♥ -= ♥ /* ♥ /*	Add Template Edit Template Delete Template	Case of Templates As is Uppercase Lowercase First upper		
♥ CT ♥ DEL ♥ DT Ø IIS Ø IV Edit Tei Ø SEL Delete	Cursor Author	<u> </u>	Date <u>C</u> lipboard	Marker
V TT VUP V {	<			=
Reset to defaults]		<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	Help

If necessary, you can also edit the template name using the **Edit Template...** button, delete the template using the **Delete Template** button or edit the template expression within the **Expansion** area of the window. For faster editing you can use the *Cursor*, *Author*, *Time*, *Date*, *Clipboard*, *Marker* buttons.

Hint: Add/edit/delete template items are also available in the *context menu* of the template list on the right.

Old style

This option specifies whether the selected keyboard template expansion should conform to the template specifications used in the earlier versions of SQL Manager for SQL Server.

Once you have defined the templates, you can use them in <u>Query Data</u> [426]. First of all, make sure that the **Auto launch keyboard templates** option is selected on the <u>Quick</u> <u>Code</u> [876] page of the <u>Editor Options</u> [869] dialog. When <u>editing SQL text</u> [429] in Query Data, type a template name and use the Ctrl+J <u>shortcut</u> [952]: the text associated with the template (**Expansion**) will be inserted automatically.

Hint: The **Reset to defaults** button which is available at the bottom of the **Keyboard Templates** dialog allows you to discard all changes and restore the settings to their defaults.

See also: <u>Quick Code</u>ଛମ୍ଖ <u>SQL Manager shortcuts</u>୭5ଥି

11.6 Object Templates

The **Object Templates** window allows you to preset the definition template for the name and/or body of an object to be created.

To open this window, select the **Options |** 월 **Object Templates...** main menu जिते item.



Select an object in the tree and set its template using the editor area.

Columns	Procedures for Select	
Views	Template for naming generated selecting procedure Available tags: {table_name} {table_name}_S Template for generated selecting procedure Available tags: {full_name}, {table_name}, {table_schema}, {in_params}, {columns}, {where_clause} CREATE PROCEDURE {full_name} { in_params} 3 AS BEGIN 5 SET NOCOUNT ON	^
Find Option	<pre>6 SET XACT_ABORT ON 7 8 SELECT 9 {fields} 10 FROM 11 {table_schema}.{table_name} 12 WHERE 13 {where_clause} 14 LEND </pre>	>

Columns - template is defined within the common form of the <u>Column Editor</u> 214; *Views* - set the template of a new <u>view</u> छिन्ने;

Procedures - set the template of a new procedure

Procedures for Select - set the template for <u>select procedure</u> [898] created from table; Insert Procedures - set the template for <u>insert procedure</u> [898] created from table; Update Procedures - set the template for <u>update procedure</u> [898] created from table; Delete Procedures - set the template for <u>delete procedure</u> [898] created from table; Functions - set the template of a new <u>function</u> [897];

Triggers - template is defined within the common form of the <u>Trigger Editor</u> [237]; *DB Object Names* - set the template for the name of a newly created <u>database object</u> [899]; *Server Object Names* - set the template for the name of a newly created <u>server object</u> [905].

11.6.1 Views/Functions/Procedures templates

For <u>Views</u> [246], <u>Procedures</u> [253] and <u>Functions</u> [259] templates you can set the default definitions within the *Views*, *Procedures* and *Functions* tabs correspondingly.

Object Templates		×
Columns	Views	
Views Procedures Procedures for Select Vipdate Procedures Vipdate Pr	Template for new view Available tags: {full_name} 2 AS 3 SELECT 4 FROM 5 WHERE	~
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	< <u>OK</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply	

For the name of an object being created you can use the {full_name} tag which stands for the [schema_name].[object_name].

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

Object names templates are defined within the <u>DB Object Names</u> [899] tab.

11.6.2 SIUD Procedures templates

For <u>Select</u>[242], <u>Insert</u>[243], <u>Update</u>[244] and <u>Delete</u>[245] procedures <u>created from table</u>[240] templates can be defined within the corresponding tabs of the Object Templates window.

🖥 Object Templates		×
Columns	Procedures for Select	
	Template for naming generated selecting procedure Available tags: {table_name} {table_name}_S	
Functions Triggers	Template for generated selecting procedure Available tags: {full_name}, {table_name}, {table_schema}, {in_params}, {columns}, {where_clause}	
DB Object Names Column Names Foreign Key Names Check Names Index Names Trigger Names	CREATE PROCEDURE {full_name} {in_params} AS BEGIN S SET NOCOUNT ON 6 SET XACT ABORT ON	^
	<pre>7 8 SELECT 9 {fields} 10 FROM 11 {table_schema}.{table_name} 12 WHERE 13 {where_clause}</pre>	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	<u>QK</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp	> `

For each procedure type you can define the name template of the generated procedure. The available for naming $\{table_name\}$ tag stands for the name of the table from which the procedure is being created.

Within the procedure editor window you are to specify the template for procedure definition. The following tags can be used:

{full_name} - stands for [schema_name].[procedure_name];

{table_name} - name of the table from which the procedure is being created;

{*table_schema*} - schema which contains the table;

{in_params} - input parameters of the procedure;

{columns} (for select, insert procedures) - list of table columns;

{*where_clause*} (for select, update, delete procedures) - where clause of the select/ update/delete statement;

{values} (for insert procedure) - values to be inserted in the table;

{*set_clause*} (for update procedure) - set clause used in the update statement.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

Object names templates are defined within the <u>DB Object Names</u> [899] tab.

11.6.3 Database Object Names

On the **DB Object Names** tab you can define templates for names of the newly created database objects [187].

🌃 Object Templates			×	
Columns	DB Object Names			
Views Views Procedures Views Insert Procedures	Set templates for naming new Available tags: {num}	database objects		
Update Procedures	Object Type	Name Template	^	
Delete Procedures	Table	table{num}		
	lew View	view{num}		
	rocedure	procedure{num}		
DB Object Names	Ser-Defined Function	function{num}		
Column Names	Keined Type	type{num}		
- Foreign Key Names	Sequence	sequence{num}		
	🕹 User	user{num}		
- 🛃 Index Names	🛃 Role	role{num}		
Trigger Names	Sembly	assembly{num}		
E Server Object Names	[Schema	schema{num}		
Find Option	🚈 DDL Trigger	trigger{num}		
	Synonym	synonym{num}		
	Partition Function	partition_function{num}		
	Partition Scheme	partition_scheme{num}		
	Full-Text Catalog	ftcatalog{num}		
	Aggregate	aggregate{num}		
	Mi Schema Collection	xml_schema_collection{num}	×	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	<u>A</u> pply	

Select the **Object Type** and define its **Name Template**. You can use the $\{num\}$ tag which stands for the ordinal number of the newly created object.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

11.6.3.1 Column Names

Use the **Column Names** tab to set the template for the name of the newly created $\frac{\text{column}}{214}$.

Object Templates		×
 Object Templates Columns Views Procedures Procedures for Select Insert Procedures Update Procedures Update Procedures Functions Triggers DB Object Names Foreign Key Names Index Names Server Object Names Find Option 	Column Names Template for naming new columns Available tags: {table name}, {table schema}, {num}, {num for dup} column{num}for_dup}	×
Reset to Defaults	<u>QK</u> <u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp <u>Apply</u>	

The following tags are available:

{table_name} - the name of the table in which the column is created; {table_schema} - the name of the schema that contains the table; {num} - the ordinal number of a column with the same name; {num_for_dup} - the number of a column which is applied if the column with the same name (without an ordinal number) already exists.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

11.6.3.2 Foreign Key Names

Use the **Foreign Key Names** tab to set the template for the name of the newly created foreign key [222].
Object Templates	×
Columns	Foreign Key Names
Views Procedures Procedures for Select Views Update Procedures View Delete Procedures Functions Triggers DB Object Names Column Names Column Names Check Names Nindex Names Server Object Names Server Object Names Find Option	Template for naming new foreign keys Available tags: <u>{table_name}</u> , <u>{table_schema}</u> , <u>{num}</u> , <u>{num for_dup}</u> , <u>{ref_table_name}</u> , <u>{ref_table_schema}</u> , <u>{columns}</u> , <u>{ref_columns}</u> {table_name}_fk{num_for_dup}
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	OK Cancel Help Apply

The following tags are available:

{table_name} - the name of the table in which the foreign key is created;

{table_schema} - the name of the schema that contains the table;

{num} - the ordinal number of a foreign key with the same name;

{num_for_dup} - the number of a foreign key which is applied if the foreign key with the same name (without an ordinal number) already exists;

{ref_table_name} - the name of the table which is referenced using the foreign key
(foreign table name);

{*ref_table_schema*} - the name of the schema containing the table referenced by the foreign key;

{columns} - names of columns on which the foreign key is created;

{*ref_columns*} - the name of the column referenced by the foreign key.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

11.6.3.3 Check Names

Use the **Check Names** tab to set the template for the name of the newly created $\frac{check}{226}$.

🖀 Object Templates		×
Columns	Check Names	
Views Procedures Procedures for Select Procedures Vipdate Procedures Functions Triggers DB Object Names Column Names Check Names Names Server Object Names Frigger Names Frigger Names Frigger Names Find Option	Template for naming new check constraints Available tags: <u>{table name}, {table schema}, {num}, {num for dup}</u> {table_name}_ck{num_for_dup}	
<u>R</u> eset to Defaults ▼	OK Cancel Help Apply	

The following tags are available:

{table_name} - the name of the table in which the check is created;

{table_schema} - the name of the schema that contains the table;

{num} - the ordinal number of a check with the same name;

 $\{num_for_dup\}$ - the number of a check which is applied if the check with the same name (without an ordinal number) already exists.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

11.6.3.4 Index Names

Use the **Index Names** tab to set the template for the name of the newly created index 228.

Object Templates		×
Columns	Index Names	
Columns Columns Views Procedures Procedures for Select Views Procedures Update Procedures Column S Column Names Check Names	Template for naming new indices Available tags: <u>{table_name}, {table_schema}, {num}, {num}</u> {table_name}_{index_type}{num_for_dup} Index type tag value Primary key constraint Unique constraint Unique index XML index Index	for dup} , {index type} , {clustered} , {columns} pk uq idxml
Find Option	Clustered tag value Clustered index Non-clustered index	
Reset to Defaults	<u>о</u> к	Cancel <u>H</u> elp <u>A</u> pply

The following tags are available:

{table_name} - the name of the table in which the index is created;

{table_schema} - the name of the schema that contains the table;

{num} - the ordinal number of an index with the same name;

{num_for_dup} - the number of an index which is applied if the index with the same name (without an ordinal number) already exists;

{index_type} - tag value of the index type which is defined in the Index type tag value; {clustered} - tag value that which defines if the index is clustered (tag value is specified in the Clustered tag value);

{columns} - names of columns on which the index is created.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

Index type tag value

Here you can specify templates for **tags** added to default names of several index types: *Primary key constraint, Unique constraint, Unique index, XML index, Clustered, Index.*

Clustered tag value

Here you can specify templates which will be applied for *clustered* and *non-clustered* indices.

11.6.3.5 Trigger Names

Use the **Trigger Names** tab to set the template for the name of the newly created trigger 237.

🖥 Object Templates				×				
Columns	Trigger Names							
Views Views Procedures Procedures for Select Vipdate Procedures Vipdate Procedures Functions Triggers DB Object Names Column Names Check Names Index Names Vipder	Template for naming new triggers Available tags: <u>{table_name}, {table_schema}, {num}, {num for_dup}, {trig_type}, {trig_events}</u> {table_name}_tr{trig_events}{num_for_dup}							
	Trigger type tag value After Instead of							
	Trigger events tag parts Insert Update	i u						
	Delete	d						
	[<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ance	l <u>H</u> elp	Аррју				

The following tags are available:

{table_name} - the name of the table in which the trigger is created;

{table_schema} - the name of the schema that contains the table;

{num} - the ordinal number of a trigger with the same name;

{num_for_dup} - the number of a trigger which is applied if the trigger with the same name (without an ordinal number) already exists;

 ${trig_type}$ - tag value of the trigger type which is defined in the **Trigger type tag value**;

{trig_events} - tag value of the trigger events which are defined in the **Trigger events** tag parts.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

Trigger type tag value

Here you can specify templates for trigger type tags added to default names of *After* and *Instead of* trigger types.

Trigger events tag parts

Here you can specify templates for trigger events tag parts added to trigger events: *Insert, Update, Delete.*

11.6.4 Server Object Names

On the **Server Object Names** tab you can define templates for names of the newly created <u>server objects</u> [353].



Select the **Object Type** and define its **Name Template**. You can use the $\{num\}$ tag which stands for the ordinal number of the newly created object.

Click the tag to insert it at the cursor position.

11.7 Find Option dialog

906

The **Find Option** dialog allows you to search for SQL Manager options easily.

To open this dialog, select the **Options | Find Option** main menu



Option

In this field you can enter the name of the option to search for within the entire set of SQL Manager options.

ж	Find Option			
	₽ 2			-
	Option time			
	Available Options	Option Kind	Category	Group
	Datetime columns	Environment option	Color & Formats	Display formats
	Time columns	Environment option	Color & Formats	Display formats
	Remote query timeout (in second	Server option	Connections	Remote server conne
	Remote login timeout (in seconds	Server option	Misc Server Settings	Network settings
	Optimize fetching for connection	Register database op	Data Options	Advanced
>				
U				
	I			

The **Available options** area lists all options by categories according to the specified name. The **Option Kind**, **Category** and **Group** columns specify option type and location. Select the required option in the list and click \checkmark **Show Option** to open the corresponding dialog where you can view/edit the value of this option. For your convenience the required option is marked with an animated \Re icon.

907	SQL Manager for SQL Server - User's Manual
-----	--



12 External Tools

When using SQL Manager for SQL Server, you can add **external Windows applications** to make your work more efficient.

- External Tools dialog [911]
- External Tool Info editor [913]

<u>D</u> atabase	<u>V</u> iew	<u>T</u> ools	<u>S</u> ervices	<u>O</u> ptions	<u>W</u> indows	H	elp	
		8	Show SQL Ed	itor	F12			
		🖬 I	New SQL Edit	or	Shift+F12			
		× :	Show Query E	Builder				
		<u>ا</u>	New Query B	uilder				
		6	SQL Monitor	Shi	ift+Ctrl+M			
		😼 s	SQL Script	Sh	ift+Ctrl+S			
		🔁 I	New SQL Scr	ipt	Shift+F9	۲		
		💽 E	Extract Datab	ase				
		ആം	Compare Data	bases				
		😓 F	Print Metadata	i				
		<u>6</u> 5	Search in Met	adata (Ctrl+Alt+F			
		P 🖓 🕨	HTML Report					
		E P	Report Desigr	ier				
			Dependency 1	Free				
		8 ₀ I	.ogin Manage	r				
		ی 😒	Grant Manage	er				
		😵 🤹	Server Roles					
			/isual Databa	se Designe	er			
		[DDL to Files			F		
		E	External Tools	;		•	2	SQL Query for SQL Server
							3	DB Comparer for SQL Server
								Data Pump for SQL Server
							3	Data Generator for SQL Server

Adding External Tools

In order to add an external program:

• select the **Options | External Tools...** main menu

- click the **Add...** button in the **External Tools** [911] dialog;
- specify parameters of the new external tool within the External Tool Info [913] editor;
- confirm adding the new external tool by clicking **OK** in the <u>External Tool Info</u> additor and the <u>External Tools</u> and

This adds the icon and the title of the application you have selected to the **Tools** | **External Tools** submenu. Now you can run this tool quickly without closing SQL Manager.

Removing External Tools

In order to remove an external program:

- select the **Options | External Tools...** <u>main menulats</u> item;
- select the tool to be removed in the **Tools** list of the External Tools [911] dialog;
- press the **Del** key or click the **Delete** button within the dialog;
- click \mathbf{OK} to confirm removing the tool and closing the dialog.

The selected tool has been removed and is no longer accessible from the **Tools** | **External Tools** submenu.

See also:

<u>Getting Started</u> <u>Database Explorer</u> <u>Batabase Management</u> <u>Database Management</u> <u>Database Objects Management</u> <u>Database Objects Management</u> <u>Database Objects Management</u> <u>Management</u> <u></u>

12.1 External Tools dialog

The **External Tools** dialog allows you to manage the list of external applications which can be easily run from within SQL Manager environment.

To open this dialog, select the **Options | External Tools...** main menu and item.



Tools

Lists all added external applications.

Add...

Opens the <u>External Tool Info</u> adding a new tool to the **Tools | External Tools** submenu.

Edit...

Opens the <u>External Tool Info</u> and execution parameters of the tool currently selected in the **Tools** list.

Delete

Removes the selected tool from the list of SQL Manager for SQL Server external tools.



To change the order of tools in the list, use the \bigcirc \bigcirc arrow buttons at the bottom area of the dialog, or use the Ctrl+Shift+Up / Ctrl+Shift+Down shortcuts solutions. You can also dragand-drop items within the list box to change their positions.

See also: External Tool Info editor

12.2 External Tool Info editor

The **External Tool Info** editor allows you to set common parameters of running added external programs from within SQL Manager environment. This dialog is used both when adding external tools and editing their parameters (see <u>Add External Tool</u> and <u>External Tool</u> and <u>External Tools</u> and <u>External</u>).

Title

Enter the title to be displayed in the **Tools | External Tools** submenu of SQL Manager.

Hot Key

Press a key or a key combination to set it as a hot key for running the tool.

Program

Use the 🚵 **Explorer** button to specify the path to the *.exe file of the external program.

Working Dir

Set the default working directory of the program.

Parameters

This box stores parameters for the program execution (if required).

New External Tool		×								
Title	Data Export for SQL Server	Hot key Ctrl+Alt+C								
Program	C:\Program Files\EMS\Data Expo	ort for SQL Server\MsExport.exe 🛛 📔								
Working folder	C:\Program Files\EMS\Data Expo	C:\Program Files\EMS\Data Export for SQL Server\								
Parameters										
	<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp								

See also:

External Tools dialog 911



13 Appendix

13.1 Program interface

Main menu

The main menu allows you to perform various **Database** operations, open <u>To-Do List</u> [33] and activate/deactivate <u>Database Explorer</u> [63], <u>SQL Assistant</u> [85] and various <u>toolbars</u> [91] within the **View** menu, manage your databases using items of the **Tools** and **Services** menus, <u>customize</u> [824] the application using the **Options** menu, manage SQL Manager **Windows** using <u>Window List</u> [939] and other tools, view the Tip of the Day and access Registration [25] information and product documentation, <u>update</u> [944] the product to the latest version using the corresponding items available within the **Help** menu.



Note: To learn how to configure SQL Manager menus, refer to the <u>Customize toolbars and</u> <u>menus</u> [940] page.

Navigation bars in object editors and program tools

Navigation bars are interface elements that enable users to quickly locate tools they need. Navigation bar items are displayed within a group with the help of links. A typical Navigation bar of SQL Manager contains links to commonly accessed tools (*refresh*, *print*, *restore default size* of the window), *options* pertaining to the editor or tool, and specific tools.

Object	*
8 AdventureWorks or	n dooM_SERVER
Employee	•
General	*
Refresh	
≽ Print	
- Table Editor options	
Restore default size	
Tools	*
Indices management	
🛃 Update statistics	
Fruncate table	
E Dependency tree	
Explorer	*

Navigation bar panes (groups) can be **expanded**/**collapsed**. When expanded, a pane provides access to its links; when collapsed, panes are displayed as headers only. To expand/collapse a pane, click the pane header. The * * icons indicate the current pane state (collapsed/expanded respectively).

Object	×
General	*
🛃 Refresh 凝 Print	
Data Manipulation	×
Explorer	*

Note: Depending on the current tab selection, Navigation bars in most of the program tools expand to one or more additional panes with tab-specific actions that can be useful for working with the object or service.

Note: To configure the Navigation bars, you can use the Navigation bar section of the Visual Options dialog.

Hint: Most items of the Navigation bars are also available on the Toolbars and .

Toolbars in the main program window, object editors and program tools

A **toolbar** is a horizontal row or vertical column of selectable image buttons that give the user a constantly visible reminder of and an easy way to select certain application functions. Most SQL Manager editors and tools are supplemented with toolbars.

i 🖯 Databases 🔻 🐬 🖳 🗟 🖕 🛃 🦺 Employee 🔹 🔹 😒 🗸 😽 😨 🔹 🛃 😼

To enable the **toolbars** in SQL Manager for SQL Server, open the Environment Options [825] dialog, proceed to the Windows [829] section there and select () Toolbar (if you need the toolbar only) or () Both (if you need both the toolbar and the Navigation bar [915]) in the **Bar style for child forms** group.

Hint: Most SQL Manager toolbars are dockable, i.e. you can place a toolbar to any available location within the parent window.

To learn how to configure toolbar items, refer to the <u>Customize toolbars and menus</u>网的 page.

Progress bars

A **progress bar** is an interface element that conveys the progress of a task or service. Several SQL Manager editors (e.g. <u>Execute Script</u> [319]),tools (e.g. <u>Dependency Tree</u> [512]) and wizards (e.g. <u>Import Data Wizard</u> [571]) are supplemented with progress bars indicating the progress of lengthy operations.

The graphic of SQL Manager progress bars is accompanied by a textual representation of the progress in the percent format.

69 %

Splitters

Splitter controls are used to resize docked controls at run time. In SQL Manager for SQL Server the splitter controls are used on the main form, <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], and in program tools and editors as a separator between the working area and <u>Navigation bars</u> [915], status bars, etc.



Incremental Search bar

Incremental search bar is the tool which is available in the status bar area of some SQL Manager tools. The bar is normally called through the Ctrl+I <u>shortcut</u> [952]. Type in the first letters of the search string, and the corresponding string will be highlighted in the search scope.

Search:

13.2 Viewing object DDL structure

The **DDL** (Data Definition Language) tab displays the SQL statement for creating the object with all its subobjects, if any. This text is read-only. If you want to change the object definition, use the appropriate editor tabs instead, or copy the text to the Windows Clipboard to paste it in the <u>Query Data 426</u> or <u>Execute Script 619</u>.

```
Columns Foreign Keys Checks Indices Triggers Properties Dependencies Data Description DDL Permissions
   CREATE TABLE dbo.DimEmployee (
     EmployeeKey int IDENTITY(1, 1) NOT NULL,
2
      ParentEmployeeKey int NULL,
3
4
      EmployeeNationalIDAlternateKey nvarchar(15) COLLATE SQL Latinl General CP1 CI AS NUL
      ParentEmployeeNationalIDAlternateKey nvarchar(15) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI ;
5
6
      SalesTerritoryKey int NULL,
      FirstName nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latinl General CP1 CI AS NOT NULL,
7
      LastName nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NOT NULL,
8
     MiddleName nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL_Latinl_General_CP1_CI_AS NULL,
9
     NameStyle bit NOT NULL,
10
     Title nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NULL,
11
12
     HireDate date NULL,
13
     BirthDate date NULL,
     LoginID nvarchar(256) COLLATE SQL_Latinl_General_CP1_CI_AS NULL,
14
15
      EmailAddress nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NULL,
      Phone nvarchar(25) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NULL,
16
17
      MaritalStatus nchar(1) COLLATE SQL_Latinl_General_CP1_CI_AS NULL,
      EmergencyContactName nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latinl General CP1 CI AS NULL,
18
19
      EmergencyContactPhone nvarchar(25) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NULL,
20
      SalariedFlag bit NULL,
      Gender nchar(1) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NULL,
21
22
      PayFrequency tinyint NULL,
23
      BaseRate money NULL,
24
      VacationHours smallint NULL,
     SickLeaveHours smallint NULL,
25
      CurrentFlag bit NOT NULL,
26
27
      SalesPersonFlag bit NOT NULL,
      DepartmentName nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latinl General CP1 CI AS NULL,
28
      StartDate date NULL,
29
30
      EndDate date NULL.
      Status nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Latin1 General CP1 CI AS NULL,
31
      EmployeePhoto varbinary (max) NULL,
32
      DepartmentID int NULL,
33
34
      CONSTRAINT PK DimEmployee EmployeeKey PRIMARY KEY CLUSTERED (EmployeeKey)
  白
       WITH (
36
          PAD INDEX = OFF, IGNORE DUP KEY = OFF, STATISTICS NORECOMPUTE = OFF,
37
          ALLOW ROW LOCKS = ON, ALLOW PAGE LOCKS = ON),
      CONSTRAINT FK DimEmployee DimEmployee FOREIGN KEY (ParentEmployeeKey)
38
39
      REFERENCES dbo.DimEmployee (EmployeeKey)
      ON UPDATE NO ACTION
40
      ON DELETE NO ACTION,
41
<
```

Hint: If more convenient, you can use the **Save DDL to file** and **Open DDL in Query Data** items available on the DDL pane within the <u>Navigation bar</u> of object editors.

13.3 Editing object description

The **Description** tab allows you to view and edit the comment for the object (optional).

Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	Triggers	Properties	Dependencies	D <u>a</u> ta	Description	DD <u>L</u>	Permis <	>
Employee information such as salary, department, and title.											^
											¥
<										>	
	60: 1	Mo	odified	Inser	t						

You can save changes made in this area by clicking the **Save Description** item on the <u>Navigation bar</u> [915].

If the changes have not been saved, on attempt to select another tab of the editor you will be prompted for an action whether changes in the object description should be saved or discarded.

Note: Changing object description is performed by means of *sp_updateextendedproperty 'MS_Description'*.

13.4 Browsing object dependencies

The **Dependencies** tab allows you to view objects that depend on the object being edited, and the objects that the edited object depends on.



Hint: To open a dependent object or a depending object in its editor, you can simply double-click the object alias in the **Objects that <object_name> depends on** and **Objects that depend on <object_name>** lists.

See also: Dependency Tree ସେଥି

13.5 Setting object permissions

The **Permissions** tab allows you to view the permissions currently allocated for this object, and to grant permissions and the object to any of the existing principals.

Colu <u>m</u> ns	Foreign <u>K</u> eys	Checks	Indices	Triggers	Properties	De	Dependencies		cies D <u>a</u> ta		cription	DDL	Permis	< >
	Grantee	S	elect	Insert	Update	Delete		e Refere		ces Alter		C	ontrol	Tak
💦 Roles	Roles .													
public			•											
test_a	pplication_role												٦	
La Users	3						•	Grant						
Bill							2	Grant	with Gr	rant O	ption			
guest			•				•	Deny						
INFOR	MATION_SCHEM	1A						Revok	e					
sys														
tester		2	2	2		•	Grant All							
		•					2	Grant	All with	Gran	t Option			
							•	Deny	All					
<				[~			Revok	e All					>
	Column Nam	e	9	Select	Updat	е		0						^
Emple	oyeeKey			•	•			Grant on All						
Parer	ntEmployeeKey			•	•			Grant on All with Grant Option			n			
Emple	EmployeeNationalIDAlternateKey		у	•	•			Deny On All						
Parer	ParentEmployeeNationalIDAlternat			•	•			Revok	e On Al	I				
Sales	TerritoryKey			•	•					-				
First	lame			•	•									
Last	lame			•	•									
Middl	oNomo													×

For details see Grant Manager 682).

13.6 Changing Metadata window

The **Changing Metadata** window is used to trace the errors and edit SQL statements during their compilation. The compilation window appears each time metadata is changed, both when the compilation is successful and when there are compilation errors. To hide this window for successful metadata changes, select the **I Don't show this window on success** option.

Compile SQL

This area displays the SQL statement pending to be executed to perform metadata changing. In this area you can view and edit the SQL statement. In case of a compilation error the **Error** tab also becomes visible - here you can view the error description returned by the server.

Commit

This button starts execution of the statement(s). Click it to commit the current transaction. This button is available only if there were no errors in compilation.

Rollback

This button cancels the script execution and allows you to return to the previous stage (editor window or $\underline{DB \ Explorer}$ [63]).

Rollback and Recompile

This button calls for recompilation with the changes you made in the **Compile SQL** area. Use this button after correcting the SQL statement.

Changing Metadata					
Compile SQL					
1	DROP INDEX [AK_Employee_LoginID] ON [HumanResources].[Emp.]				
2	GO				
з					
	ALTER TABLE [HumanResources]. [Employee]				
5	ADD CONSTRAINT [AK_Employee_LoginID]				
6	UNIQUE NONCLUSTERED ([LoginID])				
	OWITH (
8	PAD_INDEX = OFF,				
9	IGNORE_DUP_KEY = OFF,				
10	STATISTICS_NORECOMPUTE = OFF,				
11	$ALLOW_ROW_LOCKS = ON$,				
12	$ALLOW_PAGE_LOCKS = ON)$				
13	ON [PRIMARY]				
14	GO				
15					
16	EXEC sp_addextendedproperty 'MS_Description', N'Unique non				
17	GO				
•	4				
	Copy information to clipboard Commit Rollback				
	Don't show this window on success Rollback and Recompile				

If necessary, you can **copy information to clipboard** and save it in a text editor afterwards (the button is only enabled when a compilation error occurs).

If you want this window to appear only in case of an error, uncheck the **Confirm metadata changing (Changing Metadata Window)** option (checked by default) available within the **Confirmations** section of the Environment Options **1** dialog.

13.7 Find Text dialog

The **Find Text** dialog is provided for quick and flexible searching for specified text within the working area of SQL Manager editors.

Text to find

Enter a search string in this box. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered search strings.

Options

Case sensitive

This option can be used to differentiate uppercase characters from lowercase ones during the search process.

Whole words only

Use this option to search for words only (with this option off, the search string might be found within longer words.)

Regular expressions

Recognizes regular expressions in the **Text to find** field.

For example, you can type "empl*" to search for metadata containing the "empl" substring; enter "^emp" to search for words starting with "emp" or "^emp|emp\$" to search for the string "emp" at the beginning or at the end of the string.

Note: The syntax of regular expressions that can be used in the **Text to find** field is similar to that used in Perl regular expressions. Comprehensive information about it can be found at <u>http://perldoc.perl.org/perlre.html#Regular-Expressions</u>.

Find Text						
Find Find in metadata						
Text to find Employee	•					
Options	Direction					
Case sensitive	<u> E</u> orward E Orward Orwa					
<u>Whole words only</u> Begular expressions	Backward					
<u>Regular expressions</u>						
Scope	Origin					
Obal	Erom cursor					
Selected text	<u>Entire scope</u>					
Mark search result with stack marker						
OK Show <u>A</u> ll	Cancel <u>H</u> elp					

Direction

Forward

Searches from the current position to the end of the working area.

Backward

Searches from the current position to the beginning of the working area.

Scope

Global

Searches within the entire working area, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting.

Selected text

Searches only within the currently selected text, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting. You can use the mouse or block commands to select a block of text.

Origin

From cursor

The search starts at the cursor's current position, and then proceeds either forward to the end of the scope, or backward to the beginning of the scope depending on the *Direction* setting.

Entire scope

The search covers either the entire block of selected text or the entire script (no matter where the cursor is in the Editor area) depending upon the *Scope* options.

Mark search result with stack marker

The option toggles marking search results. If this option is selected, stack markers are set at all search positions - this makes it possible to jump from one marker (search result) to another within the text.

Click the **Show All** button to highlight every occurrence of the search string.

13.8 Replace Text dialog

The **Replace Text** dialog is provided for searching and replacing text within the working area of SQL Manager editors.

Text to find

Enter a search string in this box. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered search strings.

Text to replace

This box allows you to enter a string to replace the search string. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered strings. To replace the search string with an empty string, leave this input box blank.

Options

Case sensitive

This option can be used to differentiate uppercase characters from lowercase ones during the search process.

Whole words only

Use this option to search for words only (with this option off, the search string might be found within longer words.)

Regular expressions

Recognizes regular expressions in the **Text to find** field.

Replace with template

This option requires the **Regular expressions** option selection.

Enable this option to use regular expressions in the **Text to replace** field. Expression used in this field will be applied to each string that matches the **Text to find** expression.

Note: The syntax of regular expressions that can be used in the **Text to find** and the **Text to replace** fields is similar to that used in Perl regular expressions. Comprehensive information about it can be found at http://perldoc.perl.org/perlre.html#Regular-Expressions.

Prompt on replace

Check this option if you wish to be prompted before replacing upon each occurrence of the search string. When this option is off, the search string is replaced automatically.

Replace Text 📃							
Text to find	Bill		•				
Text to replace	William		•				
Options Case sensitive		Direction					
Whole words of	only	Eorward					
<u>R</u> egular expressions Replace with template <u>P</u> rompt on replace		© Backward					
Scope		Origin					
Olobal		Erom cursor					
Selected text		Entire scope					
Mark search result with stack marker							
ок	Replace A	Cancel <u>H</u> elp					

Direction

Forward

Searches and replaces from the current position to the end of the working area.

Backward

Searches and replaces from the current position to the beginning of the working area.

Scope

Iobal

Searches and replaces within the entire working area, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting.

Selected text

Searches and replaces only within the currently selected text, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting. You can use the mouse or block commands to select a block of text.

Origin

From cursor

The search and replace process starts at the cursor's current position, and then proceeds either forward to the end of the scope, or backward to the beginning of the scope depending on the *Direction* setting.

Entire scope

The search and replace process covers either the entire block of selected text or the entire script (no matter where the cursor is in the Editor area) depending upon the *Scope*

options.

Mark search result with stack marker

The option toggles marking search results. If this option is selected, stack markers are set at all search positions - this makes it possible to jump from one marker (search result) to another within the text.

Click the **Replace All** button to replace every occurrence of the search string. If you have checked the **Prompt on replace** option, the confirmation dialog box appears upon each occurrence of the search string.

13.9 Format specifiers

The following format specifiers are supported in the format string:

Float/Integer format

0

930

Digit place holder. If the value being formatted has a digit in the position where the '0' appears in the format string, then that digit is copied to the output string. Otherwise, a '0' is stored in that position in the output string.

#

Digit placeholder. If the value being formatted has a digit in the position where the '#' appears in the format string, then that digit is copied to the output string. Otherwise, nothing is stored in that position in the output string.

.

Decimal point. The first '.' character in the format string determines the location of the decimal separator in the formatted value; any additional '.' characters are ignored.

<u>′</u>.

Thousand separator. If the format string contains one or more ',' characters, the output will have thousand separators inserted between each group of three digits to the left of the decimal point. The placement and number of ',' characters in the format string does not affect the output, except to indicate that thousand separators are wanted.

E+

Scientific notation. If any of the strings 'E+', 'E-', 'e+', or 'e-' are contained in the format string, the number is formatted using scientific notation. A group of up to four '0' characters can immediately follow the 'E+', 'E-', 'e+', or 'e-' to determine the minimum number of digits in the exponent. The 'E+' and 'e+' formats cause a plus sign to be output for positive exponents and a minus sign to be output for negative exponents. The 'E-' and 'e-' formats output a sign character only for negative exponents.

Date/Time format

С

Displays the date using the format using the Short Date Format, followed by the time using the Long Time Format. The time is not displayed if the date-time value indicates midnight precisely.

d

Displays the day as a number without a leading zero (1-31).

dd

Displays the day as a number with a leading zero (01-31).

ddd

Displays the day as an abbreviation (Sun-Sat) using the strings of the Short Day Names.

dddd

Displays the day as a full name (Sunday-Saturday) using the strings of the Long Day Names.

ddddd

Displays the date using the Short Date Format.

ddddd

Displays the date using the Long Date Format.

е

Displays the year in the current period/era as a number without a leading zero (Japanese, Korean and Taiwanese locales only).

ee

Displays the year in the current period/era as a number with a leading zero (Japanese, Korean and Taiwanese locales only).

g

Displays the period/era as an abbreviation (Japanese and Taiwanese locales only).

gg

Displays the period/era as a full name. (Japanese and Taiwanese locales only).

m

Displays the month as a number without a leading zero (1-12). If the m specifier immediately follows an h or hh specifier, the minute rather than the month is displayed.

mm

Displays the month as a number with a leading zero (01-12). If the mm specifier immediately follows an h or hh specifier, the minute rather than the month is displayed.

mmm

Displays the month as an abbreviation (Jan-Dec) using the strings given of the Short Month Names.

mmmm

Displays the month as a full name (January-December) using the strings of the Long Month Names.

уу

Displays the year as a two-digit number (00-99).

уууу

Displays the year as a four-digit number (0000-9999).

h

Displays the hour without a leading zero (0-23).

hh

Displays the hour with a leading zero (00-23).

n

Displays the minute without a leading zero (0-59).

nn

Displays the minute with a leading zero (00-59).

S

Displays the second without a leading zero (0-59).

SS

Displays the second with a leading zero (00-59).

Z

Displays the millisecond without a leading zero (0-999).

zzz

Displays the millisecond with a leading zero (000-999).

t

Displays the time using the Short Time Format.

tt

Displays the time using the Long Time Format.

am/pm

Uses the 12-hour clock for the preceding h or hh specifier, and displays 'am' for any hour before noon, and 'pm' for any hour after noon. The am/pm specifier can use lower, upper, or mixed case, and the result is displayed accordingly.

a/p

Uses the 12-hour clock for the preceding h or hh specifier, and displays 'a' for any hour before noon, and 'p' for any hour after noon. The a/p specifier can use lower, upper, or mixed case, and the result is displayed accordingly.

ampm

Uses the 12-hour clock for the preceding h or hh specifier, and displays the contents of the TimeAMString global variable for any hour before noon, and the contents of the TimePMString global variable for any hour after noon.

/

Displays the date separator character using the Date Separator.

:

Displays the time separator character using the Time Separator.

'xx'/"xx"

Characters enclosed in single or double quotes are displayed as-is, and do not affect formatting.

13.10 Language Info Editor

The **Language Info Editor** dialog allows you to set the language name and specify the corresponding *.*lng* localization file. This dialog is opened when you add or edit a language (see Environment Options | Localization [865]).

Language Name

The name of the language that is displayed in the <u>Select Program Language</u> [892] dialog and within the **Available Languages** list of the <u>Environment Options</u> | <u>Localization</u> [865] section.

Language File

The *.*lng* file containing the translated string resources. See the %*program_directory*% *Languages* folder to find already existing localization files.

Adding a language

The *Add language* dialog allows you to specify your own localization file and set the language name.

Add Language	— ———————————————————————————————————
Language Name	French
Language File	C:\SQL Manager\French.Ing
	OK Cancel Help

Editing a language

The *Edit language* dialog allows you to change the language name or select another localization file for the specified language.

Edit 'English' Language					
Language Name	English				
Language File	C:\SQL Manager\English.Ing	2			
	OK Cancel Help				

13.11 Using templates

For your convenience the ability to use templates is provided by SQL Manager for SQL Server. A template is a named collection of wizard options stored in a file.

Instead of performing a long chain of routine steps all the time you can save all the options of the wizard for future use as a template file. Select the **Templates | Save Template** drop-down menu item, specify the template file name and set an optional comment for the template file.

When starting the wizard next time, you can load the template by selecting the **Templates | Load Template** drop-down menu item.

Note that saving/loading of templates is possible at any step of the wizard.

13.12 Supported file formats

MS Excel 97-2003

The most popular e-table format used by Microsoft® Excel (*.*xls*). The result files are fully compatible with Microsoft® Excel versions 97-2000, 2003 and XP.

MS Access 97-2003

File of Microsoft® Access format (*.*mdb*) with an ADO connection used.

MS Word 97-2003

One of the most popular text processing formats used by Microsoft® Word (*.*doc*). The result files are fully compatible with Microsoft® Word versions 97-2000, 2003 and XP.

RTF

935

Rich Text Format (*.rtf) supported by many text processing programs (e.g. WordPad).

ITML

Hyper Text Markup Language file format (*.*html*, *.*htm*), complete compatibility with HTML 4.0 specification.

PDF

A standard format in electronic publishing (*.pdf).

Text file

Plain text file format (*.txt).

CSV file

Comma-Separated Value file format (*.csv).

OIF file

Data Interchange File (*.dif) format.

SYLK

Symbolic Links (*.slk) file format.

Note: all the text formats including *Text file*, *CSV*, *DIF*, *SYLK* are usually used as working or interchange formats.

LaTeX

A specific file format (*.tex) which is a popular (especially among mathematicians and physicists) macroextension of TeX pack developed by D.Knut.

XML

A markup language for documents containing structured information (*.xml).

OBF

Database file format (*.*dbf*) used by dBASE and a number of xBASE applications.

MS Excel

The contemporary e-table format used by Microsoft® Excel 2007 (*.xlsx). The result files are fully compatible with Microsoft® Excel 2007.

MS Access

File of Microsoft® Access 2007 format (*.accdb) with an ADO connection used.

MS Word

The contemporary text processing format used by Microsoft Word 2007 (*.*docx*). The result files are fully compatible with Microsoft Word 2007.

ODF Spreadsheets

OASIS Open Document Format for Office Applications - open document file format for spreadsheets (*.ods) used by a number of applications including OpenOffice.org and KOffice.

ODF text

OASIS Open Document Format for Office Applications - open document file format for word processing (*.*odt*) documents used by a number of applications including OpenOffice.org and KOffice.
13.13 To-Do List

The **To-Do List** window allows you to make up a list of tasks for the database.

To call this window, select the **View | To-Do List** <u>main menu</u> मित्री item, or use the Shift+Ctrl+T <u>shortcut</u> मिट्टी.



The task list is displayed in a form of a grid. Its columns (*Action, Priority, User, Category*) correspond to the task parameters. Click the column caption to sort the task list by the current parameter or change the sorting direction. Use the Navigation bar and context menu to *add*, *edit*, and *delete* to-do items.

📜 To-Do Items - [AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005]								
🔋 🛢 Databases 🔻 🚉 📝 🖳	🗄 🛢 Databases 🗸 📴 📴 🔛 🔄 🛃							
Database 🄝	Action	Priority	User	Category				
AdventureWorks on doom SEE V	Export tables of schema [Info] to xis	3	screens	Data manipulation				
Connect	Backup database DemoDB and transaction	log 1	Admin	Maintenance				
General X	Update table dbo.Employee	2	dbo	Data manipulation				
Add item	Run Indoces Management for Database Ad	ventureWorks 4	screens	Maintenance				
Edit item		Add Item Ins						
🖳 Delete item	< 🖻 🖻	Edit Item Enter						
🖳 Delete all	-	Delete Item Del						
🛃 Restore default size		Delete All Ctrl+Del						
Export List		Export List						

Database

Select the database to apply the task list to. When switching between the databases you can view different task lists.

To add a task to this list, click the **Add Item** link on the Navigation bar, or select **Add Item** from the context menu. You can also use the *Ins* key for the same purpose. Define the task parameters and click **OK** to add the new task to the list.

New 1	To-Do Item			>	×
Text					
Run Indices	Management for Da	tabase Adventure	Works		^
					×
<				 >	
	51: 1	Modified	Insert		
<u>P</u> riority	4	<u>U</u> ser name	screens		
Cate <u>q</u> ory	Maintenance			 ~	^
		<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp	

Text

Optional text to describe the task.

Priority

Set a numeric value to indicate the priority of the task.

User Name

The database User name this task is applied to.

Category

Set a category for the task. Using categories may be useful for grouping tasks.

To modify a task, select the task in the list and click the **Edit Item** link of the Navigation bar, or select **Edit Item** in the context menu. You can also use the *Enter* key for the same purpose.

To remove a task, select the task in the list and click the **Delete Item** link of the Navigation bar, or select **Delete Item** in the context menu. You can also use the *Del* key for the same purpose.

To remove all tasks from To-Do List, click the **Delete all** link of the Navigation bar, or select **Delete all** in the context menu. You can also use the *Ctrl+Del* <u>shortcut</u> [952] for the same purpose.

13.14 Windows List

The **Windows List** panel allows you to browse the list of windows that are currently opened within SQL Manager for SQL Server IDE.

To activate this panel as a DB Explorer tab [77], select the **Windows | Window List** main menu[915] item, or use the Ctrl+Alt+0 shortcut[955].

Window List					
AdventureWorks on doom_SERVER\TSERV2005					
dEmployee (HumanResources)					
[I HumanResources					
uspUpdateEmployeeHireInfo (Huma	anR	esources)			
AdventureWorks on MERLIN\SQL2008					
Dependency Tree		Bring To Front			
- Field newreport		Close Window			
😥 Query Data - [AdventureWorks	_	Canada			
- 🕹 tester		Cascade			
🔤 udfMinimumDate		Minimize All			
🖶 🖵 Background Processes		Restore All			
Execute Script [Untitled]		Tile Horizontal			
		Tile Vertical			
🖻 🍖 testing-ms\SQL2022		Cat Dafaulta ta All'Miadaura - Otal			
Activity Monitor	31	Set Defaults to All Windows Ctri-	+Alt+D		
	*	Close All			
ıre	*	Close All Database Windows			
		i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			

If necessary, you can right-click within the list area to call the **popup menu** which allows you to bring a window to foreground, close windows one by one or in groups, and to arrange the windows according to your preferences.

13.15 Customize toolbars and menus

940

For your convenience SQL Manager for SQL Server provides **toolbars** and **menus** that you can customize, so the commands you use frequently are readily available and easily identifiable.

The **Customize** dialog allows you to create and personalize SQL Manager menus and toolbars [917].

To call this dialog, click **More buttons...** on the right side of any <u>toolbar</u> (1), then click **Add or Remove Buttons** and select **Customize...** from the drop-down menu. Alternatively, you can right-click any toolbar and select the **Customize...** popup menu item.

×	Database
×	Options
×	Tools
×	Windows
×	Windows Bar
~	Services
	Customize

Toolbars

Toolbars

This list displays all currently existing toolbars of SQL Manager (both *default* and *user-defined* toolbars). Check/uncheck the box at a toolbar name to show/hide the toolbar.

New...

Use this button to add a new user-defined toolbar to the **Toolbars** list. Set a name for the newly created toolbar and dock it by dragging it to any permitted location within the application window.

Rename...

Use this button to rename the selected user-defined toolbar.

Delete

Use this button to delete the selected user-defined toolbar.

Customize	
Toolbars Commands Options	
Toolb <u>a</u> rs:	
Main Menu	<u>N</u> ew
Database Options	Rename
▼ Tools ▼ Windows	Delete
Vindows Bar	
	Close

Commands

This tab allows you to browse the list of all commands available within the menus and toolbars of the application window. Selecting categories in the **Categories** list displays commands of the selected category (e.g. 'Database' or 'Tools') in the **Commands** list.

If necessary, you can pick a command and drag it to any $\underline{toolbar}$ to create a button for this command.

Toolbars	Commands	Optio	ons
Categories	:	Con	omman <u>d</u> s:
Default			S Attach Database
Database View			Detach Database
Tools	=		Jobs
Services Options		8	Operators
Windows		"	Alerts
Help Menus			Job History
	<u> </u>		Paolaun Databasa
Descriptior	1		

Options

Personalized Menus and Toolbars

Menus show recently used commands first

This option determines whether the most frequently used items will be placed in menus at first position.

If this option is enabled, frequently used menu items are "promoted" and displayed higher on the list. Unused and infrequently used menu items are visually suppressed and appear "collapsed".

Show full menus after a short delay

This option is available only if the **Menus show recently used commands first** option is selected.

If this option is enabled, infrequently used menu items (if they appear "collapsed") will be automatically expanded after a delay upon setting mouse cursor (or upon selection with the Up/Down keys) on the bottom of the menu. Otherwise, the menu expands only after clicking its bottom-most button (or using the Ctrl+Down shortcut set).

Reset my usage data

Resets the lists of recently used commands in the toolbars and menus.

Toolbars	Commands	Options		
Personali	zed Menus and	Toolbars		
Men	us show recent	tly used con	nmands first	
√ S	how f <u>u</u> ll menus	after a sho	rt delay	
Reset	my usage data			
		_		
Other —				
Larg	e icons			
V Shov	v Tool <u>T</u> ips on t	oolbars		
🗸 S	how s <u>h</u> ortcut k	eys in Tool	Tips	
<u>M</u> enu ar	nimations:	(None)	•	

Other

Large icons

This option displays larger icons on the parent window toolbars [917].

Show ToolTips on toolbars

If this option is selected, ToolTips (hints) popup when the mouse cursor is positioned over a toolbar parber parber parbolic term of the selected over the

Show shortcut keys in ToolTips

If this option is selected, the corresponding <u>shortcuts</u> are displayed in ToolTips (hints) for toolbar buttons.

Menu animations

Use the drop-down list to specify the menu animation effects: *None* (no animation) *Random* (random choice: *Unfold*, *Slide*, *Fade*) *Unfold* (unfolding menus) *Slide* (sliding menus) *Fade* (menus fade in when appearing)

13.16 SQL Manager Direct

SQL Manager Direct is a feature of SQL Manager for SQL Server which provides you with quick access to the related Internet resources and allows you to keep your SQL Manager version up-to-date.

To open the **SQL Manager Direct** window, select the **Help | SQL Manager Direct** item from the main menu [915].



Links to <u>sqlmanager.net</u> resources provided by the **SQL Manager Direct** window are grouped into several sections:

- SQL Manager for SQL Server News
- General Information
- Downloads
- Related Products

Upon a link selection you will be immediately forwarded to the corresponding resource.

SQL Manager for SQL Server News

This section takes you directly to the latest EMS news column. Using the links you can get up-to-date news, product information and downloads from <u>sqlmanager.net</u>.

General Information

This section offers a number of links to product news, features, <u>Feature Matrix</u>^[23], <u>system</u> requirements^[22], testimonials and much more.

Downloads

Using links of this section you can download other product versions from the <u>download</u> <u>page</u>.

Related Products

This section allows you to browse the list of related products developed by EMS Database Management Solutions, Inc.



Use the 🙆 횓 buttons to navigate in the same way as you normally do it using a web browser.

Click the **Update** button to refresh the page.

Automatically poll network in interval (in days)

If this option is selected, the page is refreshed automatically after the specified time interval. Use the spinner control to set the interval (in days).

In the Status area at the bottom of the SQL Manager Direct window you can find the

status of your request to the <u>sqlmanager.net</u> website.

13.17 Database Login dialog

The **Log in Database** dialog appears on attempt to <u>connect</u> [95] to a database if the **Login prompt before connection** option is enabled on the <u>Options</u> [118] page of the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [118] dialog.

Log in Database		×		
Database Authentication	AdventureWorks on doom_SERVE	R\TSERV2005		
○ <u>W</u> indows authentication				
<u>U</u> ser name	screens			
Pa <u>s</u> sword	•••••			
	<u>o</u> ĸ	Cancel		

Specify *authentication* type and *user name / password* (if necessary) and click **OK** to start working with the database.

13.18 Overwriting existing output file

If a file having the same name as specified for an output file generated by SQL Manager already exists, a warning dialog is displayed.

Warning			×
	The file 'C:\E:	xports\HR_EMPLO	YEE.xls' already exists.
	Overwrite	Make Unique	Cancel

You can **Overwrite** the file, **Make it Unique**, or **Cancel** both and change the path or file name manually.

The application makes the file unique by adding the current timestamp to the specified file name if the \mathbb{Z} Add Timestamp to filename option is enabled, or by adding a simple numeric postfix to the file name if this option is disabled.

13.19 Script conversion

The **Script conversion** dialog allows you to select encoding to be used for script conversion upon loading script to one of SQL Manager editors (<u>Query Data 426</u>], <u>Execute</u> <u>Script 619</u>) from an external file.

Scri	pt Conv	version		×
Se	lect the	e encoding for script conve	ersion	
	Window	s default	macroman (Mac West European) Simplified Chinese (Hong Kong, PRC)	*
0	Databas	e default	swe7 (7bit Swedish)	Ξì
۲	Other er	ncoding	Unicode (UCS-2)	-
Pre	eview			
1	SET	ANSI NULLS ON		
2	SET	QUOTED_IDENTIFIER (N	
з	GO			
4				
		ATE PROCEDURE [Human	nResources].[uspUpdateEmployeeHire]	1
6		<pre>@EmployeeID [int],</pre>		
7		<pre>@Title [nvarchar](</pre>	50),	
8		@HireDate [datetime	e],	
9		@RateChangeDate [da	atetime],	
10		<pre>@Rate [money],</pre>		Ŧ
•	III		4	
			QK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

Windows default

Specifies that the standard Windows encoding will be used for the script conversion.

Database default

Specifies that the default encoding of the database will be used for the script conversion.

Other encoding

Allows you to select the encoding that will be used for the script conversion.

Preview

This area displays the script with the current encoding parameters applied.

13.20 SQL Server Folders

SQL Server Folders dialog allows you to browse directories on the server.

🎬 SQL S	erver Folders X
🖃 💷 C:	
÷.	\$Recycle.Bin
÷	Backups
÷.	Documents and Settings
÷.	inetpub
	local
÷.	PerfLogs
D	Program Files
. È.	Program Files (x86)
D	ProgramData
. È	Recovery
Ē.	stuff
D	System Volume Information
Ē.	Users
÷.	Windows
<	>
C:\	
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

This dialog is accessible from the <u>Database properties</u> | <u>Filestream files and filegroups</u> [154], <u>Server Properties</u> | <u>Database Settings</u> [171] and <u>Full-text catalog editor</u> [319].

13.21 Select Object dialog

The **Select Object** dialog appears each time the application requests a database object selection, e.g. upon a root object selection for the <u>Dependency Tree [612]</u> tool, or when choosing an object to be added to a <u>project [81]</u>.

🚰 Select Object - AdventureWorks2008 on MERLIN\SQL2008 [AdventureWorks2008]						
Table	*	Tables		HumanResou	rces	•
🐴 View						
Procedure						
Here User-Defined Function		Department	Employee	EmployeeDe	EmployeeDa	
💁 User-Defined Type		(HumanRes	(HumanRes	(HumanRes	(HumanRes	
🛃 Trigger				((
Index 2	Ξ					
S User			01-10			
🖇 Role		(HumanRes	Sniπ (HumanRes			
Assembly		(11411411400	(110110111000			
🔄 DDL Trigger	1	-				
🐴 Synonym						
Partition Function	ľ					
Partition Scheme						
🤷 Full-Text Catalog						
E Aggregate						
ML Schema Collection						
🤌 Symmetric Key						
🦑 Asymmetric Key	Ŧ					
			<u>о</u> к	Cano	el <u>H</u> el;	>

First select the object type in the list on the left-hand side of the window. Pick the object you need and click \mathbf{OK} the apply your selection.

13.22 SQL Manager shortcuts

Database management:

Shift+Alt+RRegister a database using Register Database WizardShift+Alt+UUnregister the selected databaseShift+Ctrl+CConnectShift+Ctrl+DDisconnect from a database

Database objects management:

- *Ctrl+N* Create a new object (the object type depends on the current selection)
- *Ctrl+0* Edit the selected object in its editor
- Ctrl+R Rename the selected object

Shift+Del Drop the selected object

Ctrl+Shift+C Collapse the current <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree branch and switch selection to the parent tree node

SQL Manager tools:

F11	View/hide <u>Database Explorer</u> នៅ
Ctrl+F	Search for an item in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree
Shift+Ctrl+T	Open the <u>To-Do List</u> [937] window
F12	Show <u>Query Data</u> 426
Shift+F12	Open a new instance of <u>Query Data</u> 426
Shift+Ctrl+M	Open <u>SQL Monitor</u> ြေရ
Shift+Ctrl+S	Open <u>Execute Script</u> ରୀର
Shift+Ctrl+L	Open Localization Editor
Ins	Add a new table subobject (the subobject type depends on the current tab
	selection)
Ctrl+I	Start <u>incremental search</u> 917

Query Data and Execute Script (fixed and default):

F9	Execute query/script
Alt+F9	Execute selected only
Ctrl+Alt+F9	Execute under cursor
Ctrl+Alt+F2	Reset execution point (Query Data only)
Shift+Ctrl+ <d< td=""><td>iToggle bookmark #<digit></digit></td></d<>	iToggle bookmark # <digit></digit>
git >	
Ctrl+ <digit></digit>	Go to bookmark # <digit></digit>
Ctrl+Q	Go to next bookmark
F2	Drop marker to current position
Ctrl+Z;	Undo
Alt+BkSp	
Shift+Ctrl+Z;	Redo
Shift+Alt+BkS	
р	
Ctrl+F	Search for text using the Find Text [925] dialog
Ctrl+R	Replace text using the <u>Replace Text</u> [927] dialog

Search next F3 Ctrl+I Start incremental search Alt+G Go to line number (an input number dialog prompts for the number) Ctrl+L Load a script from an external file Ctrl+S Save the script to an external file Show original help SQL Server Books Online Ctrl+F1 *Shift+Ctrl+F* Format the SQL text using SQL Formatter Alt + < symbol > Switch to the query with < & symbol > in its name (Query Data only)Insert a keyboard template 894 Ctrl+J Toggle guery results display mode (at the Edit tab or at a separate one) Ctrl+D Ctrl+Alt+Left Switch to the next tab of Ouery Data 426 *Ctrl+Alt+RightSwitch* to the previous tab of <u>Query Data</u> 426 Ctrl+Alt+PgUp Switch to the last tab of Query Data 426 Ctrl+Alt+PqDo Switch to the first tab of Query Data 426 wn *Shift+Ctrl+LefSelect* the previous word t *Shift+Ctrl+Rig* Select the next word ht *Shift+Home* Select text to the beginning of the line Select text to the end of the line Shift+End Shift+PageUp Select one page up Shift+PageDo Select one page down wn Shift+Ctrl+Pa Select text to the first line on the page aeUp *Shift+Ctrl+Pa* Select text to the last line on the page aeDown *Shift+Ctrl+Ho* Select text to the absolute beginning me Shift+Ctrl+En Select text to the absolute end d *Shift+Alt+Left* Select column symbol-by-symbol to the left *Shift+Alt+RighSelect* column symbol-by-symbol to the right Shift+Alt+Up Select column upwards Shift+Alt+DowSelect column downwards Shift+Ctrl+Alt Select column word-by-word to the left +Left Shift+Ctrl+Alt Select column word-by-word to the right +Riaht *Shift+Alt+Ho* Select column to the first char of line me Shift+Alt+End Select column to the last char of line Shift+Alt+Pag Select column to the beginning of the page eUp *Shift+Alt+Pag* Select column to the end of the page eDown Shift+Ctrl+Alt Select column from the current cursor position to the beginning of the first +Home line Shift+Ctrl+Alt Select column from the current cursor position to the beginning of the last +End line Scroll up one line with cursor position unchanged Ctrl+Up Ctrl+Down Scroll down one line with cursor position unchanged

Toggle case of a current word Alt+Down, Alt+Up *Ctrl+Alt+Up* Toggle case to upper of a current selection or char Ctrl+Alt+Dow Toggle case to lower of a current selection or char n *Ctrl+G,Ctrl+F* Collapse block at current line *Ctrl+G*,*Ctrl+E* Expand block at current line *Ctrl+G*,*Ctrl+M* Collapse all blocks in the text *Ctrl+G,Ctrl+P* Expand all blocks in the text Ctrl+=Collapse/expand the nearest block Esc Collect marker (jump back) Shift+Esc Swap marker to current position *Shift+Ctrl+B* Jump to matching bracket (change range side) *Shift+Ctrl+I* Indent selected block *Shift+Ctrl+U*; Unindent selected block Shift+Tab Comment/uncomment selected block Ctrl+/ Ctrl+Space Show code completion *Shift+Ctrl+Sp* Show code parameters ace Ctrl+Alt+Spac Show character map е Show tables Ctrl+Alt+T Ctrl+Alt+V Show views Ctrl+Alt+M Show synonyms Ctrl+Alt+G Show defaults Ctrl+Alt+L Show rules Ctrl+Alt+H Show users Ctrl+Alt+A Show assemblies Show UDTs Ctrl+Alt+Y Ctrl+Alt+W Show SQL keywords Ctrl+Alt+N Show SQL functions Ctrl+C; Copy selection to Clipboard Ctrl+Ins Ctrl+X: Cut selection to Clipboard Shift+Del Ctrl+V: Paste Clipboard to current position Shift+Ins Ctrl+Del Delete current selection Ctrl+T Delete from cursor to the next word Delete from cursor to the beginning of the word Ctrl+BkSp Ctrl+B Delete from cursor to the beginning of the line *Shift+Ctrl+Y* Delete from cursor to the end of the line Ctrl+Y Delete the current line Ctrl+M; Break line at current position, move caret to a new line Enter: Shift+Enter Insert Tab char Ctrl+Alt+I Shift+Ctrl+P Plav macro Shift+Ctrl+R Start macro recording Alt+End Skip misprint Ctrl+Alt+End Skip all misprints Correct all misprints Alt+Home

Print Data View:

Ctrl+0	Load a printing report from a file
Ctrl+S	Save the report to file
Ctrl+P	Open the <u>Print</u> 504ो dialog
Ctrl+Home	Go to the first page
Ctrl+Up	Go to the previous page
Ctrl+Down	Go to the next page
Ctrl+End	Go to the last page
Ctrl+D	Open <u>Report Formatter</u> 491
Ctrl+\	Zoom 100%
Ctrl+0	Zoom page width
Ctrl+1	Whole page
Ctrl+2	Two pages
Ctrl+4	Four pages
Ctrl+W	Widen to source width
Ctrl+M	Show/hide margins
Ctrl+K	Set background color for the report

Working with windows, menus and tabs:

Switch to the next tab 58
Open <u>Windows List</u> ୭૩୭
Set defaults to all windows
Switch to the previous window
Switch to the next window
Close the active window
Expand a collapsed menu
move to the next <u>tab</u> 77 in DB Explorer
move to the previous tab 77 in DB Explorer



14 How To...

The succeeding pages of this chapter are intended to provide you with brief instructions on how to perform this or that operation correctly using **SQL Manager for SQL Server**.

Work with Databases

Work with Database Objects

<u>Group objects</u> ७६मे <u>Find objects</u> ७६मे <u>View dependecies</u> ७६मे <u>Get an object DDL</u> ७६मे

Work with Data

View tables with many records [966] Set data filter [966] Sort and group data [967] Export/import data [967] Export data as SQL Script [968] Edit data of master-detail tables [968] Add image to table [968] Set data display format [969]

Work with Queries and Scripts

<u>Create SQL statements rapidly</u> (जिये) <u>Control a query productivity</u> (जिये) <u>Work with several queries at once</u> (जिये) <u>Save most frequently used queries</u> (जिये) <u>Execute queries with parameters</u> (जिये) <u>Export query results into file</u> (जिये) <u>Execute scripts</u> (जिये) <u>Execute a large SQL script</u> (जिये) <u>Make SQL script work faster</u> (जिये) <u>Customize work with Query/Script text</u> (जिये) <u>View executed queries and scripts</u> (जिये) <u>Create a simple report in Report Designer</u> <u>Create a scheduled job</u> <u>Transfer program settings</u> <u>Update SQL Manager</u> <u>Report bugs and suggestions</u> **Transfer**

See also:

<u>Getting Started</u> 41 <u>Database Explorer</u> 63 <u>Database Management</u> 94 <u>Database Objects Management</u> 178 <u>Query Management Tools</u> 424 <u>Data Management</u> 462 <u>Import/Export Tools</u> 530 <u>Database Tools</u> 61 <u>Server Tools</u> 71ର <u>Personalization</u> 824 <u>External Tools</u> 909

14.1 Work with Databases

14.1.1 Connect to a database

If you want to connect to a database that has not been registered yet then perform the following operations:

- 1. Launch the <u>Register Database wizard</u> hy selecting the **Database | Register Database...** <u>main menu</u> [915] item.
- 2. If a host where the database is located has not been registered yet then type in its name in the **Server name** field on the <u>first step</u> and of the wizard. Otherwise, select the necessary host from the drop-down list.

Note: To register several databases at once uncheck the \bigcirc **Register a single database** option. In this case you will proceed to the <u>Selecting databases</u> [113] step of the wizard where you are to define databases you want to be registered.

- 3. On the last step 113 of the wizard set database name and specify specific options.
- 4. The registered database(s) is/are now displayed in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63]. To connect to the database double-click its alias or select the **Connect to Database** item of the database <u>context menu</u> [54].

14.1.2 Create a database

To create a database on the registered server perform the following operations:

- 1. Launch the <u>Create Database wizard</u> or by selecting **Database** | **Create Database** main menu [915] item.
- 2. On the <u>first step</u> or specify a name for a newly created database.
- 3. On the <u>second step</u> set the necessary **connection parameters** for the database being created. Use the corresponding boxes and options: *Server name*, *Authentication*, *User name* and *Password*.
- 4. Define the data files and transaction log files on the third form and the fourth form steps correspondingly. The primary data file is the starting point of the database and points to the other files in the database. The recommended file name extension for primary data files is *.*mdf*. Log files hold all the log information that is used to recover the database. The recommended file name extension for log files is *.*ldf*. If you use the SQL Server 2008 (or higher) then define filestream files and filegroups on the next step formation to store unstructured data (such as text documents, images, videos, etc.) on the file system.
- 5. On the <u>next step</u> [106] set recovery model and collation. A *recovery model* is a database property that controls the basic behavior of backup and restore operations for a database. Collation controls the way string values are sorted.
- 6. Click the **Finish** button to view the result SQL statement. If you have checked the **Register After Creating** box on the <u>first step of the wizard</u> of then the <u>Database</u> <u>Registration Info</u> dialog will appear after creating a new database.

14.1.3 Edit database connection parameters

If you have made a mistake when <u>creating</u> [97] and <u>registering</u> [111] a database or the information provided is incomplete then it can be edited using the <u>Database Registration</u> <u>Info</u> [116] dialog. You can view this information both for connected or disconnected database.

To open the dialog, select the database or any of its objects in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree,

then select the **Database | ि Database Registration Info...** <u>main menu</u> शिही item, or right-click the database alias in <u>DB Explorer</u> ि and use the **Database Registration Info...** <u>context menu</u> 54 item.

The connection parameters can be changed on the **Connections** tab of the dialog. Here you can define or redefine the following properties in the corresponding boxes: *Server* name, User name, Password, Database name, Database alias, Font charset and OLE DB Provider.

14.1.4 Make work with a database faster

If your database contains too many objects or if a connection to the database is slow you can increase work speed by uncheking the \blacksquare **Refresh objects on connection** option when registering database or editing the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [18]. Also you can uncheck the \blacksquare **Restore desktop on connect** option in the <u>Preferences</u> [826] section of the <u>Environment Options</u> [825].

14.1.5 Design a visual database structure

To design your database visually you may use the <u>Visual Database Designer</u> [695]. It allows you to create, edit and drop tables and table columns, set relations between tables and perform other operations you may need to achieve your purpose.

To create a new object right-click within the diagram area and then choose the **Create** item of the context menu. After that a new object will appear on a diagram.

After you have finished designing your diagram you can click a Compile button to create this structure physically.

14.1.6 View an ER diagram

The relationship diagram is built using the <u>reverse engineering</u> $\overline{107}$ operation.

- To view an ER diagram of a scheme you should follow the steps:
- 1. Run <u>Visual Database Designer 695</u>1;
- 2. Click the **equation Reverse Engineer** button on the <u>main toolbar</u> [698] or use the corresponding item of the <u>context menu</u> [701].
- 3. Choose schemas to reverse engineer from.

The created diagram can be saved as a *.*msd* file (\square Save Diagram button) or as an image (\blacksquare Save as Picture button).

14.1.7 Backup a database

A database backup is created by means of the <u>Backup Database Wizard</u> Tish. To launch it choose **Services** | **Packup Database** main menu

Using this wizard you can define the necessary backup parameters and options, such as the database for backup, backup type (*Full, Differential* or *Transaction log*), files of the database to backup, physical or logical devices, media options (*append* or *overwrite* media), data transfer and/or transaction log options and others.

You can also choose to create a backup now or create a schedule to run a database backup automatically.

14.1.8 Restore a database from a backup

Use the <u>Restore Database Wizard</u> 132 to restore a database from a backup. To launch the wizard and set restore options choose the **Services | Restore Database** <u>main menu</u> [915] item.

Using this wizard you can define the necessary restore parameters, such as database to restore, restore type (*Database*, *Transaction log*, *Recovery without restore* or *Recovery from database snapshot*), recovery options, backup media to restore a database from, database files, and some other options.

14.1.9 Create a database copy

In order to create a copy of the whole database or of separate objects you can:

- 1. Extract DB objects structure and data into SQL script using the Extract Database <u>Wizard</u> [626]. The result script can be used to copy or restore your database. If the **Generate CREATE DATABASE statement** option was not checked while <u>customizing</u> <u>script options</u> [633] then you need to create a database before performing the extract script. It is better to execute a script from file using the <u>Execute Script</u> [619].
- 2. Create a database backup with the help of the <u>Backup Database Wizard</u> 718. Then run the <u>Restore Database Wizard</u> 732 and select the **New database** as a destination database.
- 3. Create copies of separate database objects by using the Duplicate Object Wizard 1821.

14.1.10 Document a database

There are several ways to document a database:

- 1. You can generate a detailed HTML report of the selected database objects using HTML Report Wizard [65].
- 2. You can generate and print metadata [43] reports of any database object(s). Generated reports can be exported to any of the available formats: HTML file, Excel file, Text file, RTF file, CSV file, HTML file, BMP image, Excel table (OLE), JPEG image, TIFF image.
- 3. You can save the <u>Visual Database Designer</u> [695] diagram as a *.msd file for future use. A diagram is saved with the objects XML files. If necessary, you can also save the diagram as an image.

14.1.11 Save metadata reports to file

To save a metadata report in a file of any supported format (*.txt, *.csv, *.pdf, *.html) you should do the following:

- 1. Open the Print Metadata 643 window by selecting the **Tools |** Reference Print Metadata item of the main menu [915].
- 2. Mark the needed objects and define printing settings and click the A **Preview** button on the <u>navigation bar or toolbar</u> [43].
- 3. In the opened Preview window click **Export** and select from the drop-down list the needed file format for report saving. When done, specify file name and location.

14.1.12 Log database changes

If you want to perform metadata changes logging and SQL query logging you need to:

- 1. Check the **I** Enable log of metadata changes and specify the path to the *.sql file to store the metadata logs.
- 2. Check the **Enable log of Query Data queries** and specify the path to the *.sql file

to store the logs of SQL queries: date/time of query execution, SQL text, execution result or errors (if any).

This can be done in the <u>Database Registration Info | Logs</u> [121] window.

14.1.13 Get an SQL dump

To get an SQL dump (an *.sql file) of your database use the Extract Database Wizard kield that will extract database objects and/or data to an SQL script, e.g. for backup purposes.

14.1.14 Reduce database size

Database size reducing can be done by means of the <u>Shrink Database Wizard</u> [755]. It allows reducing the size of data files and log files in the specified database. This operation is used to reduce any file within the database to remove unused pages. Both data and transaction log files can be reduced.

Note: You can shrink a database only if there are no active connections to this database and it is now involved in the replication.

14.1.15 Transfer database from one server to another

Source Server is a server where a database is located. **Target Server** is a server to which the database should be moved.

If versions of the source and target servers are the same

You can transfer a database in one of the following ways:

- 1. Copy database files from the source server directory to the target server directory. This can be done without SQL Manager for SQL Server. Then attach to explore the complete list of the files for copying use the <u>Data files</u> [148], <u>Log files</u> [150] and <u>Filestream</u> <u>files and filegroups</u> [154] sections of the <u>Database Properties</u> [133] dialog.
- 2. Create a full backup of a database using the <u>Backup Database Wizard</u> [718] and save it to the **file** (this option is set at the step of <u>selecting backup devices</u> [721]), copy the backup file to any directory of the target server to which the server has read access and then restore the database to a new one using the <u>Restore Database Wizard</u> [732] (this option is set at the step of <u>selecting destination database</u> [732] step).

Note: To perform file copying you need to stop the server or perform the <u>detach</u> <u>database</u> [751] operation and then the <u>attach database</u> [747] operation. Both actions will cause the temporary database offline state.

If versions of the source and target servers are different

Extract database objects structure and data into Execute Script using the Extract Database Wizard and execute the script for the target server using Execute Script and ...

Note: If you choose not to use the CREATE DATABASE statement during the script execution, you should create a new database before executing a script at the target server.

Note: If versions of the source and target servers are different, in most cases you will have to edit the script manually for it to be executed successfully.

Note: To transfer databases from other formats or servers to the SQL Server, use our

EMS Data Pump for SQL Server tool.

14.2 Work with Database Objects

14.2.1 Group objects

964

If you want to group objects you can do it in one of the following ways: Using projects at (situated in the <u>DB Explorer</u> at tree):

- 1. Click create **New Sub Folder** in the **Favorite Objects** folder using the corresponding item of the context menu
- 2. Define its name and drag-and-drop necessary objects there or use the **Add Object** item of the created folder context menu. Pick the objects to add to folder from the appeared dialog.

Using <u>DB Explorer</u> ରୌ tabs:

- 1. Right-click the necessary object in the DB Explorer [63].
- 2. Choose the **New Tab from Here** item of the <u>object context menu</u>⁵⁶ and define the name of the tab.
- 3. Now your objects are stored on the separate tab of a <u>DB Explorer</u> [63³].

Note: If object is not a tree node, it cannot be placed on separate tab.

14.2.2 Find objects

In order to search for objects you need you can:

- 1. Call the **Find Object** dialog by right-clicking the **Database** alias, any database object group nodes or objects in the **DB Explorer** tree and select the **Find Object...** <u>context</u> <u>menu</u>^[53] item.
- 2. Call the **Find Object** dialog by using the *Ctrl+F* <u>shortcut</u>[952].
- 3. Type in the first letters in the edit-box of the <u>Search Panel</u> (83), and the corresponding object will be highlighted in the tree, as displayed in the picture below.

Note: Objects among which the search is performed should be updated and the object node should be expanded.

14.2.3 View dependecies

If you want to view all the object dependencies then:

1. Use a <u>dependencies tab</u> [921] in the <u>Table Editor</u> [200].

2. Use the Dependency Tree 612 tool.

These tools may be useful when you can't find an object that prevents your from dropping a table.

14.2.4 Get an object DDL

Просмотреть DDL объекта можно одним из следующих способов:

- 1. Дважды щелкните по объекту, чтобы открыть редактор объекта, затем перейдите на вкладку <u>DDL [919]</u>.
- 2. Выберите Script to Query Data | Create в контекстном меню объекта.

Для редактирования DDL объекта можно открыть в <u>редакторе запросов</u>426, нажав на панели инструментов **I Open DDL in Query Data**.

14.2.5 Store objects definitions in VCS

If you want your objects to be under version control system, perform the following steps.

- 1. Proceed to the DDL to Files 125 tab of the Database Registration Info 116 dialog and enable the W Write object definition to a file after compilation option.
- Define the directory which will be used for storing object file names in the Root folder for storing object definitions field. In order to make files be under version control this directory must be a working copy.
- 3. Choose object types and add files for storing objects definitions using the <u>Options for</u> <u>storing object definitions</u> and <u>Object file names</u> correspondingly. These files can be added to version control system.
- 4. Use the following fields of the <u>DDL to Files</u> tab to define version control system commands on actions performed with objects files:

• OS command after creating a file

Enter any command that will be executed after a file with object definition is created.

If you are using version control system then, for example, the following command can be entered: $svn add \{file_name\}$ (for Subversion revision control system) where $\{file_name\}$ stands for the respective newly created name of a file with object definition.

• OS command before updating a file

Enter any command that will be executed before a file with object definition is updated.

If you are using version control system then, for example, the following command can be entered: *ss checkout {file_name} -C-* (for Visual Source Safe revision control system) where *{file_name}* stands for the respective name of a file with object definition being updated.

• OS command after deleting a file

Enter any command that will be executed after a file with object definition is deleted. If you are using version control system then, for example, the following command can be entered: *svn del {file_name}* (for Subversion revision control system) where *{file_name}* stands for the respective name of a file with object definition being deleted.

14.3 Work with Data

14.3.1 View tables with many records

If your table contains a lot of records you can minimize dataset loading time by:

- 1. Setting the number of records to be selected;
- 2. Enabling **•** Load visible records in order to load only a fixed number of dataset records into memory.

These options can be set only for the selected database on the <u>Data Options</u> [123] page of the <u>Database Registration Info</u> [116].

Default settings for newly registered databases can be defined on the <u>Grid | Data Options</u> बिडने page of the <u>Environment Options</u> बिटने dialog.

You can set the maximum number of visible records in the Record Limit counter

200 Conted on the Data View toolbar. Press **Enter** or click the data grid to apply changes.

If the number of records exceeds the maximum number, the **Fetch all** button becomes active. It allows viewing all records in a table.

Use the Grid Mode tab of the <u>Data View context menu</u> 472 to set the display mode. You can choose among the *Load All Rows, Load Visible Rows* and *Default* modes.

14.3.2 Set data filter

Quick Filtering (by the current value in a cell)

Open the context menu of the needed column and choose the **Quick Filter** item. Then choose a <u>filter condition</u> [469] in the opened submenu.

Filtering by Column

TITLE 7	-
(AII)	
(Custom)	
(Blanks)	
(NonBlanks)	
Mr.	
Ms.	
Sr.	
Sra.	
(NonBlanks) Mr. Ms. Sr. Sra.	

Open the drop-down list on the column title and choose a filter condition from the list. You can set advanced conditions by using the **Custom...** menu item. When choosing this item, the special <u>window for setting filter conditions</u> opens.

Advanced Filtering

You can set advanced filter options by pressing the button \square on the <u>toolbar</u> 463 of the Data View and set filter parameters in the <u>Filter Builder</u> 519. Apply the set conditions by pressing the **Apply** button.

If a filter is set for a table, the special bar appears in the lower part of the table where

you can see filter conditions and the history of filter changes opened by pressing the drop-down list.



Disable Filtering

To cancel filtering, open the context menu of the column and choose the **Disable filter** item.

Or press the 🔝 button on the filter toolbar.

14.3.3 Sort and group data

In order to sort data, do the following:

- 1. Open data at the **Data** or **Results** tab.
- 2. Choose the column by which you need to sort data and click the column title.
- 3. If the column was not sorted, the first click will sort it in the ascending order and the second one in the descending order.

Note: To cancel the sorting, open the context menu by right-clicking the necessary column and choose the **Clear Sorting** item, or press the *Ctrl* button and click the column title.

To enable grouping, drag the column title to the special grouping bar above the grid.



Note: To disable grouping, drag the column title from the group bar back to the table.

14.3.4 Export/import data

You can *export* data from a database table into an external <u>file of any supported format</u> ा अडी by means of the <u>Export Data Wizard</u>ा उगे.

There are several ways to launch Export Data Wizard:

- 1. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab, press **Export Data** on one of the Data View toolbars 463.
- 2. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab, choose **Data Manipulation** | **Export Data** in the Data Grid context menu [472].
- 3. Open the <u>table context menu</u> [56] in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], choose the **Data Manipulation** [**State Provide Set Data** item.

4. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab and use the shortcut **Shift+Ctrl+E**.

- You can import data from external sources into a table or view using <u>Import Data</u> <u>Wizard</u> जिन्नी:
- 1. Open the **Data** tab, press the **Timport Data** button on one of the Data View toolbar [463].
- 2. Open the **Data** tab, choose **Data Manipulation |** The **Data** in the **Data** Grid

context menu 472.

- 3. Open the <u>table context menu</u> कि in the <u>DB Explorer</u> कि, choose the **Timport Data** item.
- 4. Open the **Data** tab and use the shortcut **Ctrl+I**.

Note: Export and import data tools are available in full version of SQL Manager for SQL Server only.

14.3.5 Export data as SQL Script

You can export data from a database table into SQL script with INSERT INTO statements in one of the following ways:

- 1. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab, press the **Export Data as SQL Script** on one of the **Data View** toolbars 463 and set export parameters in the opened Export as SQL Script Wizard 593.
- 2. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab, choose **Data Manipulation** | **Export Data as SQL Script** in the <u>Data Grid context menu</u> [472] and set export parameters in the opened <u>Export as SQL Script Wizard</u> [593].
- 3. Open the <u>table context menu</u> ि in the <u>DB Explorer</u> ि , choose the **Data Manipulation** | **Export Data as SQL Script** item and set export parameters in the opened <u>Export</u> as SQL Script Wizard जि .

Note: In order to extract table DDL (CREATE TABLE statement), check the $\boxed{\blacksquare}$ Add CREATE TABLE statement box at the <u>Step 1</u> [594].

14.3.6 Edit data of master-detail tables

You can work with data in multi-level mode, that is you can view and modify it in several related tables simultaneously.

To manage grid levels, right-click the grid and select the **Grid Levels** context menu[472] group. Click **Add Grid Level** in the menu to run the <u>Create Grid Level wizard</u> [474]. After the level is added you can edit data of the related tables.

14.3.7 Add image to table

If you want to add an image to a table then do the following:

- 1. Open the table on the Data tab.
- 2. Go to the BLOB View section (the navigation buttons are located in the bottom part of the window) and then proceed to the Image tab.
- 3. If there are several BLOB fields, choose the required field from the Select BLOB Column drop-down list on the toolbar of the Blob View tab 465 and press the P Load from File button on the same toolbar.
- 4. Choose the needed image file in the appeared dialog.

	Photo -	ŀ	NSI
	Photo	xt	Image
Г	Logo	<u> </u>	mago

Note: Adding images to table is possible only if table contains at least one **BLOB field** 505.

14.3.8 Set data display format

To set the format for displaying data open the **Options |** from the <u>main program menu</u>। , proceed to the <u>Color & Formats</u> किंगे tab and define or choose the display format for some data types in the **Display formats** section.

14.4 Work with Queries and Scripts

14.4.1 Create SQL statements rapidly

There are two options for creating SQL queries rapidly:

In the DB Explorer

970

- 1. Right-click a table in the DB Explorer 63
- 2. Choose Script to New Query Data context menu item.
- 3. Select the necessary query type.

In the Design Query

- 1. Open <u>Design Query</u> 442].
- 2. On the **Design Query** tab drag an object from the <u>DB Explorer</u> [71] tree to the diagram area.
- 3. Choose necessary columns to include in the query by checking the corresponding box located to the left from the column name in the list, or just by double-clicking it. To include all columns of the table/view, check the box located to the left of the table/ view caption.
- 4. <u>Associate two objects</u> [446] by their columns. Drag a column from one object list to another. This will set a link between these objects by the selected columns. It is indicated by a bidirectional arrow between the linked columns.
- 5. <u>Edit link properties</u> 446. Double-click the linking arrow or right-click it and select the **Property** popup menu item. The **Link properties** dialog allows you to change the association condition by choosing it from the drop-down list.
- 6. You can view and edit your SQL statement on the **Edit** tab of the <u>Design Query</u> [442].

14.4.2 Control a query productivity

You can view a query productivity on the <u>query plan</u> [432]. It allows you to view the sequence of actions performed by the database server in the process of the query execution, and the amount of system resources used for the query execution. To view the **Plan** of a query, open the query in **Query Data** and use the **Bhow estimated execution plan** item of the <u>Navigation bar</u> [428] or <u>toolbar</u> [428]. If necessary, you can specify that the **Plan** tab appears automatically upon query execution in <u>Query Data</u> [426]: select the **Show actual execution plan on query execution** option available within the <u>Tools</u> [<u>Query Data</u> [837] section of the <u>Environment</u> <u>Options</u> [825] dialog.

14.4.3 Work with several queries at once

Query Data 426 provides a possibility to open and edit several queries. You can create tabs in the lower part of the **Query Data**, each tab may contain a separate query. There are several ways for creating tabs:

1. Open duery Data and choose di Add New Query on one of the toolbars 426.

- 2. Open decision 2. Ope
 - Query1 2 3 4 5

existing tab.	 Ē	Add New Query	Ctrl+N

3. Use the shortcut **Ctrl + N**.

Note: Each tab can be renamed and any query can be added to Favorite Queries 90.

14.4.4 Save most frequently used queries

Use the Favorite Queries [90] feature to store your most frequently used SQL queries. To access the list of your favorite queries you can use the **Favorite Queries** node of DB Explorer or create a separate tab for your Favorite queries.

Using the context menu you can create a new Favorite query or edit an existing one using Favorites editor [439], open any of the existing queries in Query Data [426] or remove a query if you don't need it any longer.

14.4.5 Execute queries with parameters

If you want to use queries with parameters then you should check \blacksquare Allow using parameters in query text option in the Environment Options | Tools 30.

This feature allows you to specify different values within a query in a popup dialog 459 just before the query execution. Use the colon (':') character before an identifier (e.g. :P1) to specify a parameter within the query.

14.4.6 Export query results into file

When executing queries, their results can be displayed on the **Edit** or **Results** tab in the Data View 463.

You can copy data from database tables into an external file of any supported format as in one of the following ways:

- 1. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab, press **Export Data** on one of the Data View toolbars and define export parameters in the opened <u>Data Export Wizard</u> [53].
- 2. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab, choose **Data Manipulation** | **Export Data** in the <u>Data Grid context menu</u> [472] and define export parameters in the opened <u>Data Export</u> <u>Wizard</u> [531].
- 3. Open the <u>table context menu</u> [56] in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63], choose the **Export Data** item and define export parameters in the opened <u>Data Export Wizard</u> [53].
- 4. Open the **Data** or **Results** tab and use the shortcut Ctrl+E.

14.4.7 Execute scripts

Execute Script [and allows you to create, view, edit and execute SQL scripts. To open Execute Script select the **Tools** | **Execute Script...** main menu [and item. This tool is intended for work with a great number of SQL statements and with scripts that are stored in files. For instance, you can execute a script directly from a file without loading it to the Editor window. This reduces memory usage. However Execute Script allows just to estimate whether the execution of script statements will be successful, but it does not return query result.

Note: To execute SQL scripts you should use <u>Execute Script</u> [619], not <u>Query Data</u> [428]. The latter is intended for creating, editing and executing SQL statements. It also provides a possibility to view query result, perform various operations with it (data import, data export, etc.) and manage transactions.

14.4.8 Execute a large SQL script

If you need to execute a large SQL script it's not necessary to load it from file to the <u>Execute Script</u> [619] window as it can take a lot of time. Instead you can execute script directly from *.sql, *.zsql or *.txt file. In order to do this click the **Execute script** from file button of the <u>Navigation bar and Toolbar</u> [619] in <u>Execute Script</u> [619].

14.4.9 Make SQL script work faster

In order to make the SQL script work faster, you can disable some functions.

Parsing

Choose and disable the Hide explorer item on one of Execute Script toolbars 619.

Automatic Creation of Hierarchical Text Structure

Uncheck the **Use code folding** box in the <u>Display</u> [873] section of the **Editor options**.

Syntax Highlight and Quick Code for Aliases

Choose **Options** | **Editor options** in the <u>main program menu [915]</u>, proceed to the <u>General</u> [869] tab and uncheck the **Resolve aliases** box - the <u>syntax highlight</u> [875] and <u>guick code</u> [876] for aliases will be disabled.

14.4.10 Customize work with Query/Script text

To customize work with a query/script text you may:

Use Internal Link

This means that the name of the object existing on a database is highlighted in a query/ script text. Such an object can be opened by holding the *Ctrl* key and clicking the object with a mouse.

Add Text Template

Keyboard templates [894] allow you to type regularly used expressions and edit the existing ones quicker. Once you have defined the templates, you can use them in Query Data [426]. When editing SQL text [429] in Query Data, type a template name and use the Ctrl+J shortcut [952]: the text associated with the template will be inserted automatically.

Use Automatic Completion (Object List)

You can call the autocompletion list by starting entering the first characters of the text and using the shortcut Ctrl + Space.

Customize Autocompletion List

Choose **Options | Editor** options in the <u>main program menu</u> शिंगे, proceed to the <u>Quick</u> <u>Code</u> शिंगे tab and define the list and quick code parameters.

Apply Automatic Formatting of Query/Script

Choose **Quick Code | Format** in the Query Data/Execute Script <u>context menu</u> or the *Shift+Ctrl+F* shortcut to apply automatic formatting.

Set Font and Query/Script Format at the Display tab

Choose **Options | Editor Options** in the <u>main program menu</u> (वाडी, proceed to the <u>Display</u> (वन्द्रे) tab and define common font and format parameters for Query Data/Execute Script.
Set Font and Query/Script Format at the Highlight tab

Choose **Options | Editor Options** in the <u>main program menu</u> المجارة, proceed to the <u>Highlight</u> المحالة محالة المحالة محالة المحال

Note: If some font parameters are defined on the **Highlight** tab, they will be applied to the query/script text and not the ones defined on the **Display** tab.

14.4.11 View executed queries and scripts

To view all queries and scripts sent to the server you need to launch <u>SQL Monitor</u> [616]. It will show you the log of database operations and SQL queries as items, each consisting of 3 parts: *Executed* (the date and time of the operation), *Operation* (SQL statement sent to the server), *Result* (the result of the operation).

Note: SQL Monitor only displays scripts and queries executed in SQL Manager for SQL Server during current session.

14.5 Create a simple report in Report Designer

To create a report using <u>Report Designer</u>665]:

- 1. Select the Tools | 🖾 Report Designer main menu item.
- 2. In the opened **Report Designer** select the **File | New Report** main menu item, or click the **New Report** item of the navigation bar. The following objects will be added to the newly created report: **ReportTitle**, **MasterData** and **PageFooter**.
- 3. <u>Connect to data source</u> ढिन्ले.

974

- 4. Add <u>ADOTable</u> ଜେମ୍ପ or <u>ADOQuery</u> ଜେମ୍ପ object.
- 5. Link ADOTable 670 or ADOQuery 670 with ADODatabase 670.
- 6. Place database fields on the Page1. Move the required fields from Data Tree 667 to Band MasterData.

14.6 Create a scheduled job

SQL Server provides a possibility to run jobs automatically without user interaction, i.e. you can define event or date to start the job.

A job can be scheduled by creating a new schedule for the job, or by attaching an existing schedule to the job.

There are two ways to create a new schedule

- right-click the **Schedules** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Schedule** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56] and configure schedule options in the <u>Schedule Editor</u> [794].
- right-click the **Jobs** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Job** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56]. In the <u>Job Editor</u> [782] when <u>Managing job schedules</u> [373] right-click within the work area to call the **context menu** and select the **Add Schedules...** item. Configure parameters of the new schedule in the **New Schedule** dialog.

To attach an existing schedule right-click the **Jobs** node (within the **Server Objects** branch) in the <u>DB Explorer</u> [63] tree and select the **New Job** item from the <u>context menu</u> [56] . In the <u>Job Editor</u> [782] when <u>Managing job schedules</u> [373] right-click within the work area to call the **context menu** and select the **Add Existing Schedule** item. Then choose the necessary schedule from the list.

14.7 Transfer program settings

If you want to apply current program settings (wholly or partially) to SQL Manager for SQL Server installed on another machine you can save them into a single **.reg* file. This can be done by means of the <u>Save Settings Wizard</u> [885].

Note: <u>Favorite Queries</u> are not saved in this case. To get access to your queries from another machine please <u>store</u> (439) them in the database. To save a favorite query in a database select the *Database* from the drop-down list in the **Storage** field when creating or editing a favorite query.

14.8 Update SQL Manager

SQL Manager for SQL Server can be updated in the following ways:

- 1. Download the SQL Manager for SQL Server distribution package from the <u>download</u> page, then extract archive to the preferable directory (e.g. c:\unzipped). Close SQL Manager for SQL Server if it's opened and run *MsManagerFullSetup.exe* or *MsManagerLiteSetup.exe*.
- 2. Select the **Help |** <u>SQL Manager Direct</u> [944], then press the **Update** button. If new SQL Manager for SQL Server version is released it will be offered for downloading. Click Yes in the dialog window to update SQL Manager for SQL Server automatically.

14.9 Report bugs and suggestions

- 1. Before reporting bugs and suggestions make sure you are using the latest version of the SQL Manager for SQL Server.
- 2. If so then you may contact us via Members Area on http://www.sqlmanager.net/, via Help main menu or by sending an email to support@sqlmanager.net/.
- 3. Please, don't forget to mention your OS version, SQL Server version and program version.
- 4. Describe the steps to reproduce the bug in detail and illustrate them with screenshots.

Credits

Software Developers:

Alexander Zhiltsov

Alexey Butalov

Dmitry Goldobin

Dmitry Schastlivtsev

Nicolay Sezganov

Technical Writers:

Dmitry Doni
Semyon Slobodenyuk
Olga Ryabova

Cover Designer:

Tatyana Makurova

Translators:

Anna Shulkina
Sergey Fominykh

Team Coordinators:

Alexander Zhiltsov Alexander Chelyadin Roman Tkachenko